Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics

Sandra Pinelas Zuzana Došlá Ondřej Došlý Peter E. Kloeden *Editors*

Differential and Difference Equations with Applications

ICDDEA, Amadora, Portugal, May 2015, Selected Contributions



Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics

Volume 164

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/10533

This book series features volumes composed of select contributions from workshops and conferences in all areas of current research in mathematics and statistics, including OR and optimization. In addition to an overall evaluation of the interest, scientific quality, and timeliness of each proposal at the hands of the publisher, individual contributions are all refereed to the high quality standards of leading journals in the field. Thus, this series provides the research community with well-edited, authoritative reports on developments in the most exciting areas of mathematical and statistical research today. Sandra Pinelas • Zuzana Došlá Ondřej Došlý • Peter E. Kloeden Editors

Differential and Difference Equations with Applications

ICDDEA, Amadora, Portugal, May 2015, Selected Contributions



Editors Sandra Pinelas Departamento de Ciências Exatas e Naturais Academia Militar Amadora, Portugal

Ondřej Došlý Department of Mathematics and Statistics Masaryk University Brno, Czech Republic Zuzana Došlá Department of Mathematics and Statistics Masaryk University Brno, Czech Republic

Peter E. Kloeden School of Mathematics and Stastistics Huazhong University of Science and Technology Wuhan China

 ISSN 2194-1009
 ISSN 2194-1017 (electronic)

 Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics
 ISBN 978-3-319-32855-3

 ISBN 978-3-319-32855-3
 ISBN 978-3-319-32857-7 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016947464

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland

Preface

For 5 days, May 18–22, 2015, more than 170 mathematicians from 50 countries attended the International Conference on Differential and Difference Equations and Applications, held at the Military Academy, Amadora, Portugal.

The scientific aim of this conference was to bring together mathematicians working in various disciplines of differential and difference equations and their applications. There were 6 plenary lectures, 22 main lectures, and 131 communications about the current research in this field. This volume contains 41 selected original papers which are connected to research lectures given at the conference. Each paper has been carefully reviewed.

We take this opportunity to thank all the participants of the conference and the contributors to these proceedings. Our special thanks belong to the Military Academy for the sincere hospitality. We are also grateful to the Scientific and Organizing Committees for all the effort in the preparation of the conference.

These proceedings are dedicated in memory of Professor George Sell (1937–2015). Professor George Sell had been invited to the ICDDEA 2015 as a plenary speaker, but was unable to come and died shortly afterwards.

We hope that this volume will serve researchers in all fields of differential and difference equations.

Amadora, Portugal Brno, Czech Republic Brno, Czech Republic Wuhan China Sandra Pinelas Zuzana Došlá Ondřej Došlý Peter E. Kloeden

Contents

Algebraic Properties of the Semi-direct Product of Kac–Moody and Virasoro Lie Algebras and Associated Bi-Hamiltonian Systems Alexander Zuevsky	1
Analytical-Numerical Solutions for First-Order Periodic Boundary Value Problems Using the Reproducing Kernel Algorithm Ayed Al e'damat, Mohammed Al-Smadi, Iryna Komashynska, Ali Ateiwi, and Ala' Alrawajfi	9
Existence of the Mild Solutions for Nonlocal Fractional Differential Equations of Sobolev Type with Iterated Deviating Arguments Alka Chadha and Dwijendra N. Pandey	25
On Source Identification Problem for Telegraph Differential Equations Allaberen Ashyralyev and Fatma Çekiç	39
On a One-Equation Turbulent Model with Feedbacks H.B. de Oliveira and A. Paiva	51
On Stationary Solutions of KdV and mKdV Equations A.V. Faminskii and A.A. Nikolaev	63
A Filippov-Type Existence Theorem for Some Nonlinear <i>q</i> -Difference Inclusions Aurelian Cernea	71
Complex-Valued Fractional Derivatives on Time Scales Benaoumeur Bayour and Delfim F.M. Torres	79
Uniform Stabilization of a Hybrid System of Elasticity: Riesz Basis Approach M. Driss Aouragh	89

Monotone Iterative Technique for Systems of Nonlinear Caputo Fractional Differential Equations Faten Toumi	99
Oscillatory Solutions of Boundary Value Problems Felix Sadyrbaev	109
An Issue About the Existence of Solutions for a Linear Non-autonomous MTFDE M. Filomena Teodoro	119
Magnetohydrodynamic Flow of a Power-Law Fluid over a Stretching Sheet with a Power-Law Velocity Gabriella Bognár	131
Existence of Mild Solutions for Impulsive Fractional Functional Differential Equations of Order $\alpha \in (1, 2)$ Ganga Ram Gautam and Jaydev Dabas	141
Nonlinear Dynamical Systems in Modeling and Control of Infectious Disease Md. Haider Ali Biswas and Md. Mohidul Haque	149
Analysis of Difference Approximations to Delay Pseudo-Parabolic Equations Gabil M. Amiraliyev, Mustafa Kudu, and Ilhame Amirali	159
Oscillations of Delay and Difference Equations with Variable Coefficients and Arguments I.P. Stavroulakis	169
On Asymptotic Classification of Solutions to Nonlinear Regular and Singular Third- and Fourth-Order Differential Equations with Power Nonlinearity I.V. Astashova	191
Some Properties of a Generalized Solution for 3-D Flow of a Compressible Viscous Micropolar Fluid Model with Spherical Symmetry Ivan Dražić and Nermina Mujaković	205
Nonoscillatory Solutions of the Four-Dimensional Neutral Difference System Jana Krejčová	215
Comparison Theorems for Weighted Focal Points of Conjoined Bases of Hamiltonian Difference Systems Julia Elyseeva	225
Interpolation Method of Shalva Mikeladze with Following Applications Liana Karalashvili	235

Contents

Parabolic Obstacle Problem with Measurable Coefficients in Morrey-Type Spaces Lubomira G. Softova	245
Chebyshev Spectral Approximation for Diffusion Equations with Distributed Order in Time Maria Luísa Morgado and Magda Rebelo	255
On Polarization Dynamics in Ferroelectric Materials M. Driss Aouragh, M. Hadda and M. Tilioua	265
On a Discrete Number Operator Associated with the 5D Discrete Fourier Transform M.K. Atakishiyeva, N.M. Atakishiyev, and J. Méndez Franco	273
Finite Difference Formulation for the Model of a Compressible Viscous and Heat-Conducting Micropolar Fluid with Spherical Symmetry N. Mujaković and N. Črnjarić–Žic	293
An Optimal Control Problem in Mathematical and Computer Models of the Information Warfare Nugzar Kereselidze	303
Forward Attractors in Discrete Time Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems Peter E. Kloeden, Thomas Lorenz, and Meihua Yang	313
Asymptotic Stability Regions for Certain Two Parametric Full-Term Linear Difference Equation Petr Tomášek	323
Limit Point Criteria for Second-Order Sturm–Liouville Equations on Time Scales Petr Zemánek	331
Continuous Dependence of the Minimum of a Functional on Perturbations in Optimal Control Problems with Distributed and Concentrated Delays Phridon Dvalishvili and Tamaz Tadumadze	339
Existence of Positive Solutions for a System of Fractional Boundary Value Problems	349
Reid's Construction of Minimal Principal Solution at Infinity for Linear Hamiltonian Systems Peter Šepitka and Roman Šimon Hilscher	359
On Numerical Regularity of Trisection-Based Algorithms in 3D Sergey Korotov, Ángel Plaza, José P. Suárez, and Pilar Abad	371

A Nonclassical and Nonautonomous Diffusion Equation Containing Infinite Delays Tomás Caraballo, Antonio M. Márquez-Durán, and Felipe Rivero	385
On a Weak Solvability of a System of Thermoviscoelasticity of Oldroyd's Type Victor Zvyagin and Vladimir Orlov	401
Well-Posedness and Spectral Analysis of Hyperbolic VolterraEquations of Convolution TypeN.A. Rautian and V.V. Vlasov	411
Difference Equations and Boundary Value Problems	421
Discrete Dirac-Kähler and Hestenes Equations Volodymyr Sushch	433
A Remark on the Fractional Step Theta Scheme for the Nonstationary Stokes Equations Werner Varnhorn and Florian Zanger	443

Contributors

Pilar Abad Division of Mathematics, Graphics and Computation (MAGiC), IUMA, Information and Communication Systems, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Canary Islands, Las Palmas, Spain

Ala' Alrawajfi Department of Financial and Administrative Sciences, Ma'an College, Al-Balqa Applied University, Ma'an, Jordan

Mohammed Al-Smadi Department of Applied Science, Ajloun College, Al-Balqa Applied University, Ajloun, Jordan

Ilhame Amirali Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Art and Science, Düzce University, Düzce, Turkey

Gabil M. Amiraliyev Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Art and Science, Erzincan University, Erzincan, Turkey

M. Driss Aouragh FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, Errachidia, Morocco

Allaberen Ashyralyev Department of Mathematics, Fatih University, Istanbul, Turkey

I. V. Astashova Faculty of Mechanics and Mathematics, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

N. M. Atakishiyev Instituto de Matemáticas, Unidad Cuernavaca Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Morelos, Mexico

M. K. Atakishiyeva Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico

Ali Ateiwi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, Ma'an, Jordan

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan

Contributors

Benaoumeur Bayour University of Chlef, Chlef, Algeria

Md. Haider Biswas Mathematics Discipline, Khulna University, Khulna, Bangladesh

Gabriella Bognár University of Miskolc, Miskolc, Hungary

Tomás Caraballo Dpto. Ecuaciones Diferenciales y Análisis Numérico, Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain

Fatma Çekiç Department of Mathematics, Fatih University, Istanbul, Turkey

Aurelian Cernea Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

Alka Chadha Department of Mathematics, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, India

N. Crnjaric-Žic Faculty of Engineering, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

Jaydev Dabas Department of Applied Science and Engineering, IIT Roorkee, Saharanpur, India

Ivan Dražic Faculty of Engineering, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

Phridon Dvalishvili Faculty of Exact and Natural Sciences, Department of Computer Sciences, I. Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia

Ayed Al e'damat Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, Ma'an, Jordan

Julia Elyseeva Department of Applied Mathematics, Moscow State University of Technology, Moscow, Russia

A. V. Faminskii Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, Moscow, Russia

M. Filomena Teodoro CEMAT, Instituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon University, Lisboa, Portugal

CINAV, Naval Academy, Base Naval de Lisboa, Almada, Portugal

J. Méndez Franco Instituto de Matemáticas, Unidad Cuernavaca Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Morelos, Mexico

Ganga Ram Gautam Banaras Hindu University, DST-Centre for Interdisciplinary Mathematical Sciences, Institute of Science, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, India

M. Hadda EST Meknès, Meknès, Morocco

FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, Errachidia, Morocco

Md. Mohidul Haque Mathematics Discipline, Khulna University, Khulna, Bangladesh

Johnny Henderson Department of Mathematics, Baylor University, Waco, TX, USA

Roman Šimon Hilscher Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Liana Karalashvili School of Informatics, Engineering and Mathematics, The University of Georgia, Tbilisi, Georgia

Nugzar Kereselidze Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Sukhumi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia

Peter E. Kloeden School of Mathematics and Statistics, Huazhong University of Science & Technology, Wuhan, China

Iryna Komashynska Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan

Sergey Korotov Department of Computing, Mathematics and Physics, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway

Jana Krejčová University of Economics, Prague, Czech Republic

Mustafa Kudu Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Art and Science, Erzincan University, Erzincan, Turkey

Thomas Lorenz Applied Mathematics, RheinMain University of Applied Sciences, Wiesbaden, Germany

Rodica Luca Department of Mathematics, Gh. Asachi Technical University, Iași, Romania

Antonio M. Márquez-Durán Departamento de Economía, Métodos Cuantitativos e Historia Económica, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

Maria Luísa Morgado CMAT-Centro de Matemática, Pólo UTAD, Department of Mathematics, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro (UTAD), Quinta de Prados, Vila Real, Portugal

Nermina Mujakovic Department of Mathematics, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

N. Mujakovic Department of Mathematics, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

A. A. Nikolaev Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, Moscow, Russia

H. B. de Oliveira Faculty of Sciences and Technology, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Centro de Matemática, Aplicações Fundamentais e Investigação Operacional (CMAFCIO), Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal

Vladimir Orlov Department of Mathematics, Voronezh State University, Voronezh, Russia

A. Paiva Faculty of Sciences and Technology, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Dwijendra N. Pandey Department of Mathematics, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, India

Ángel Plaza Division of Mathematics, Graphics and Computation (MAGiC), Information and Communication Systems (IUMA), University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Canary Islands, Spain

N. A. Rautian Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Magda Rebelo Centro de Matemática e Aplicações (CMA) and Departamento de Matemática, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Quinta da Torre, Caparica, Portugal

Felipe Rivero Departamento de Análise, Instituto de Matemática e Estatística, Universidade Federal Fluminense, Niterói, RJ, Brazil

Felix Sadyrbaev Institute of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia

Peter Šepitka Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Lubomira G. Softova Department of Civil Engineering, Design, Construction and Environment, Second University of Naples, Naples, Italy

I. P. Stavroulakis Department of Mathematics, University of Ioannina, Ioannina, Greece

José P. Suárez Division of Mathematics, Graphics and Computation (MAGiC), Information and Communication Systems (IUMA), University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Canary Islands, Spain

Volodymyr Sushch Koszalin University of Technology, Koszalin, Poland

Tamaz Tadumadze Faculty of Exact and Natural Sciences, Department of Mathematics, I. Vekua Institute of Applied Mathematics, I. Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia

M. Tilioua FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, Errachidia, Morocco

Petr Tomášek Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Brno University of Technology, Brno, Czech Republic

Delfim F.M. Torres Department of Mathematics, Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications (CIDMA), University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal

Faten Toumi Département de Mathématiques, Faculté des Sciences de Tunis, Université El Manar, Tunis, Tunisia

Alexandru Tudorache Faculty of Computer Engineering and Automatic Control, Gh. Asachi Technical University, Iași, Romania

Werner Varnhorn Institute of Mathematics, Kassel University, Kassel, Germany

Alexander V. Vasilyev National Research Belgorod State University, Belgorod, Russia

Vladimir B. Vasilyev Lipetsk State Technical University, Lipetsk, Russia

V. V. Vlasov Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Meihua Yang School of Mathematics and Statistics, Huazhong University of Science & Technology, Wuhan, China

Florian Zanger Department of Mathematics, Heinrich-Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

Petr Zemánek Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Alexander Zuevsky Institute of Mathematics, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Prague, Czech Republic

Victor Zvyagin Research Institution of Mathematics, Voronezh State University, Voronezh, Russia

Algebraic Properties of the Semi-direct Product of Kac-Moody and Virasoro Lie Algebras and Associated Bi-Hamiltonian Systems

Alexander Zuevsky

Abstract We discuss the semi-direct product of Virasoro and affine Kac-Moody Lie algebras and associated Verma modules, coadjoint orbits, Casimir functions, and bi-Hamiltonian systems.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 53C15, 53C57, 58F05, 58F07

The Semi-direct Product of Virasoro Algebra 1 with the Kac-Moody Algebra

This paper is a continuation of the paper [8] where we studied bi-Hamiltonian systems associated to the three-cocycle extension of the algebra of diffeomorphisms on a circle. In this note, we review results showing that certain natural problems (classification of Verma modules, classification of coadjoint orbits, determination of Casimir functions) [3, 5, 7] for the central extensions of the Lie algebra $Vect(S^1) \ltimes$ \mathcal{LG} reduce to the equivalent problems for Virasoro and affine Kac–Moody algebras (which are central extensions of Vect(S^1) and \mathscr{LG} , respectively). Such properties are not true in general for any semi-direct product of Lie algebras. This occurs in this very particular case because the Lie algebras of Virasoro and affine Kac-Moody are related by what is called the Sugawara construction. Let G be a Lie group and \mathcal{G} its Lie algebra. The group $Diff(S^1)$ of diffeomorphisms of the circle is included in the group of automorphisms of the loop group LG of smooth maps from S^1 to G. The semi-direct product $\text{Diff}(S^1) \ltimes \text{LG}$ of these two groups can thus be constructed. For any pairs $(\phi, \psi) \in \text{Diff}(S^1)^2$ and $(g, h) \in LG^2$, the composition law of the group $\operatorname{Diff}(S^1) \ltimes \mathscr{LG}$ is $(\phi, a) \cdot (\psi, b) = (\phi \circ \psi, a.b \circ \phi^{-1})$. The Lie algebra of $\operatorname{Diff}(S^1) \ltimes LG$ is the semi-direct product $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1) \ltimes \mathscr{LG}$ of the Lie algebras $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)$ and \mathscr{LG} .

A. Zuevsky (🖂)

Institute of Mathematics, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Prague, Czech Republic e-mail: zuevsky@yahoo.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), Differential and Difference Equations with Applications, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164,

Let us recall the Lie algebras that were involved in this paper. Let \mathscr{G} be a Lie algebra and $\langle .,. \rangle$ a nondegenerated invariant bilinear form. Vect(S^1) is the Lie algebra of vector fields on the circle and \mathscr{LG} the loop algebra (i.e., the Lie algebra of smooth maps from S^1 to \mathscr{G}); Vect(S^1)^{\mathbb{C}} is the Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by the elements $L_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ with the relations $[L_m, L_n] = (n - m)L_{n+m}$. We denote by $\mathscr{LG}_{\mathbb{C}}$ the Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by the elements $g_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}, g \in \mathscr{G}$ where $(\lambda g + \mu h)_n$ is identified with $\lambda g_n + \mu h_n$ with the relations $[g_n, h_m] = [g, h]_{n+m}$. The semi-direct product of Vect(S^1) with \mathscr{LG} is as a vector space isomorphic to $C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R}) \oplus C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathscr{G})$. The Lie bracket of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ has the form

$$[(u, a), (v, b)] = (uv' - u'v, va' - ub' + [a, b])$$

for any $(u, v) \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R})^2$ and any $(a, b) \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathscr{G})^2$, where prime denote derivative with respect to a coordinate on S^1 . The Lie algebra $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1) \ltimes \mathscr{LG}$ can be extended with a universal central extension $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ by a two-dimensional vector space. Two independent cocycles are given by

$$\omega_{\operatorname{Vir}}((u,a),(v,b)) = \int_{S^1} u'''v,$$
$$\omega_{K-M}((u,a),(v,b)) = \int_{S^1} \langle a',b \rangle.$$

We denote by (u, a, χ, α) the elements of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ with $u \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R}), a \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathscr{G})$, and $(\chi, \alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. The Lie bracket of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ reads (see [3])

$$[(u, a, \phi, \alpha), (v, b, \xi, \beta)] = \left(uv' - u'v, [a, b] - ub' + va', \int_{S^1} u'''v, \int_{S^1} \langle a', b \rangle \right).$$

The algebra $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ can be also represented as the semi-direct product of Virasoro algebra on the affine Kac–Moody algebra. We denote by c_{Vir} and c_{K-M} the elements (0, 0, 1, 0) and (0, 0, 0, 1), respectively. If $\mathscr{G} = \mathbb{R}$, then the Lie algebra $\text{Vect}(S^1) \ltimes$ \mathscr{LR} has a universal central extension $\widetilde{\mathscr{IU}}(\mathbb{R})$ by a three-dimensional vector space. The third independent cocycle is given by

$$\omega_{\rm sp}((u,a),(v,b)) = \int_{S^1} (ub'' - va'').$$

We denote by $(u, a, \chi, \alpha, \gamma, \delta)$ elements of $\mathscr{FU}(\mathbb{R})$ with $u \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R}), a \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathscr{G})$, and $(\chi, \alpha, \gamma) \in \mathbb{R}^3$. The Lie bracket of $\mathscr{FU}(\mathbb{R})$ is given by

$$[(u, a, \phi, \alpha, \gamma), (v, b, \xi, \beta, \delta)] = \left(uv' - u'v, [a, b] - ub' + va', \int_{S^1} u'''v, \int_{S^1} \langle a', b \rangle, \int_{S^1} (ub'' - va'') \right).$$

An algebraic equivalent $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ is defined to be the Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} with generators $L_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $g_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}, g \in \mathscr{G}$ and two central elements c_{Vir} and c_{K-M} satisfying the relations $[L_m, L_n] = (n - m)L_{n+m} + (n - m)^3 \delta_{n, -m} c_{\text{Vir}}$, $[L_m, g_n] = ng_{n+m}, [g_m, h_n] = [g, h]_{n+m} + (n - m)\langle g, h \rangle \delta_{n, -m} c_{K-M}$. This is a graded Lie algebra with weights for L_n and g_n equal n and zero weights of c_{Vir} and c_{K-M} . Similarly, an equivalent $\widetilde{\mathscr{FU}}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C})$ of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathbb{R})$ is the Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} with generators $L_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and three central elements $c_{\text{Vir}}, c_{\text{sp}}$, and c_{K-M} satisfying the relations $[L_m, L_n] = (n - m)L_{n+m} + (n - m)^3 \delta_{n, -m} c_{\text{Vir}}$, $[L_m, a_n] = na_{n+m} + n^2 \delta_{n, -m} c_{\text{sp}}, [a_m, a_n] = (n - m)\delta_{n, -m} c_{K-M}$. This Lie algebra is endowed with the grading weights n for L_n and a_n and zero for $c_{\text{Vir}}, c_{\text{sp}}$, and c_{K-M} .

2 The Universal Enveloping Algebra of $\mathcal{SU}(\mathcal{G})$

In some very particular cases, the modified generalized enveloping algebra of a semi-direct product $\mathscr{K} \ltimes \mathscr{H}$ of two Lie algebras is isomorphic to the tensor product of some modified generalized enveloping algebras of \mathscr{K} and of \mathscr{H} . Let $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ be the central extension of \mathscr{H} with the two-cocycle $\omega_{\mathscr{H}}$. Denote by \cdot the action of the Lie algebra \mathscr{K} on the Lie algebra $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$. Let us introduce the semi-direct product $\mathscr{K} \ltimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ which is a central extension of $\mathscr{K} \ltimes \mathscr{H}$ by a two-cocycle $\omega'_{\mathscr{H}}$ with $\omega'_{\mathscr{H}}((0,h_1),(0,h_2)) = \omega_{\mathscr{H}}(h_1,h_2)$. A two-cocycle $\omega_{\mathscr{K}}$ on \mathscr{H} defines also a two-cocycle $\omega'_{\mathscr{K}}$ by $\omega'_{\mathscr{H}}((g_1,h_1),(g_2,h_2)) = \omega_{\mathscr{K}}(g_1,g_2)$ of $\mathscr{K} \ltimes \mathscr{H}$. Let I be the natural inclusion of $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ into $\mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{K} \ltimes \mathscr{H}}$. We call the action of \mathscr{K} on \mathscr{H} realizable in $\mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}}$ when (1) there exists a map $F : \mathscr{K} \to \mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}}$ and a two-cocycle α on \mathscr{K} such that for any pair (g_1,g_2) in $\mathscr{H}^2 F([g_1,g_2]) = [F(g_1),F(g_2)] + \alpha(g_1,g_2)\mathbf{1}$, (2) the map F satisfies the compatibility condition, for any $g \in \mathscr{K}$ and $h \in \mathscr{H}$ with the anti-commutator $[F(g), I(h)] = I(g \cdot h)$, of the algebra $\mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}}$.

Theorem 1. If the action of \mathscr{K} is realizable in $\mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}}$, then we have the isomorphism $\mathscr{U}_{\omega'_{\mathscr{H}},\omega'_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}\ltimes\mathscr{H}} \simeq \mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}-\alpha}^{\mathscr{H}} \otimes \mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\mathscr{H}}.$

2.1 The Case of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$

Let \mathscr{G} be a simple complex Lie algebra and C_{φ} its dual Coxeter number. Introduce the $\{K_1, \ldots, K_n\}$ as a basis of \mathscr{G} and the dual basis $\{K_1^*, \ldots, K_n^*\}$ with respect to the Killing form $\langle \ldots \rangle$. We apply Theorem 1 for $\mathscr{K} = \operatorname{Vect}(S^1)$, $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{L}\mathscr{G}$, $\omega_{\mathscr{K}} =$ $\xi \omega_{\operatorname{Vir}}$, and $\omega_{\mathscr{H}} = \beta \omega_{K-M}$. In this case, $\omega'_{\mathscr{H}} = \beta \omega_{K-M}$. For $\eta = \beta + C_{\varphi} \neq 0$, the Sugawara construction [1] delivers a map F: $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathscr{U}_{\omega_{\mathscr{G}}}^{\mathscr{L}\mathscr{G}}$ defined by $F(L_n) = (\beta + \eta)^{-1} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j=1,\ldots,n} : (K_j)_i (K_j^*)_{n-i}$; i.e., the action of $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)$ is realizable in $\mathscr{U}_{\beta\omega_{K-M}}^{\mathscr{L}\mathscr{G}}$, with $\alpha = \beta\omega_{Vir}/12\eta$ (here, dots denote the normal ordering). Thus, we obtain

Proposition 1. If $\eta \neq 0$, then $\mathscr{U}_{\xi \omega_{\mathrm{Vir}},\beta \omega_{K-M}}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})} \simeq \mathscr{U}_{(\xi-\alpha)}^{\mathrm{Vect}(S^1)_{\mathbb{C}}} \otimes \mathscr{U}_{\beta \omega_{K-M}}^{\mathscr{LG}}$.

The Lie algebra $\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{C}}(S^1)$ acts on the Heisenberg algebra by $L_n.a_m = ma_{n+m} + \delta_{n,-m}m^2c_{K-M}$. In this case, one has $\omega'_{\mathscr{H}} = \beta\omega_{\mathscr{H}} + \gamma\omega_{\operatorname{sp}}$. The map $F : \operatorname{Vect}(S^1)_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathscr{FU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C})$ is defined by $F(L_n) = (2\beta)^{-1}\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} : a_ia_{n-i} : +\gamma\beta^{-1}a_n$, for a cocycle $\alpha' = (\alpha + \gamma^2\beta^{-1})\omega_{\operatorname{Vir}}$. For $\widetilde{\mathscr{FU}_{\mathbb{C}}}(\mathscr{C})$, we obtain

Proposition 2. For $\beta \neq 0$, we have $\mathscr{U}_{\xi\omega_{\operatorname{Vir}},\beta\omega_{K-M},\gamma\omega_{\operatorname{sp}}}^{\mathscr{FU}(\mathbb{C})} \simeq \mathscr{U}_{\theta\omega_{\operatorname{Vir}}}^{\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)_{\mathbb{C}}} \otimes \mathscr{U}_{\omega_{K-M}}^{\mathscr{LG}}$, with $\theta = \xi - \frac{1}{12} - \frac{\gamma^2}{\beta}$.

2.2 Representations of $\mathcal{SU}(\mathcal{G})$

First, we have

Proposition 3. A positive energy representation V of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ with nonvanishing β Id-action of c_{K-M} results in a pair of commuting representations of Virasoro and affine Kac–Moody Lie algebras.

Thus, we see that positive energy representations of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ are representations of Virasoro and affine Kac–Moody Lie algebra with commuting actions. This proposition determines whether a $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ Verma module is a sub-module of another Verma module of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$.

Let \mathfrak{h} be a Cartan algebra of \mathscr{G} with a basis $\{h_1, \ldots, h_k\}$. The Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{k} of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ is generated by the elements $\{c_{\operatorname{Vir}}, c_{K-M}, u_0, (h_1)_0, \ldots, (h_k)_0\}$. A Verma module $V_{\lambda}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})}$ of $\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})$ is associated to any linear form $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$. Verma modules $V_{\nu}^{\operatorname{Vir}}, V_{\mu}^{K-M}$ are associated to linear forms ν, μ over the spaces generated by c_{Vir} and u_0, c_{K-M} and $\{(h_1)_0, \ldots, (h_k)_0\}$, correspondingly. For any $\lambda \in \mathfrak{k}^*$, the Verma module $V_{\lambda}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})}$ is a positive energy representation. Thus, $V_{\lambda}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})}$ is Virasoro and affine Kac–Moody algebra module. The generator e of $V_{\lambda}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})}$ brings about a Verma module $V_{\nu}^{\operatorname{Vir}}$ for Virasoro algebra. It generates also a Verma module $V_{\nu}^{\operatorname{Vir}}$ for the affine Kac–Moody algebra. The linear form ν satisfies $\nu(u_0)e = \lambda(u_0 - F(u_0))e$, i.e., $(u_0 - (\beta + \eta)^{-1} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j=1...n} : (K_j)_i(K_j^*)_{-i} :)e = \nu(u_0)e$. Suppose the action of a Casimir element of \mathscr{G} is given by acts by $D(\lambda)Id$ for $D(\lambda) \in \mathbb{C}$. We then have $(u_0 - (\beta + \eta)^{-1} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j=1...n} : (K_j)_k(K_j^*)_{-i} :).e = (u_0 - (\beta + \eta)^{-1} \sum_{j=1...n} : (K_j)_{0}(K_j^*)_{0} :).e, (\lambda(u_0) - \frac{D(\lambda)}{2\eta})e$. This implies $\nu(u_0) = \lambda(u_0) - \frac{D(\lambda)}{2\eta}$. The other values of μ and ν can be computed by the same method.

Proposition 4. Let λ be a linear form over \mathfrak{h} with nonvanishing $\lambda(c_{K-M})$. Then

$$V_{\lambda}^{\mathscr{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathscr{G})} \simeq V_{\nu}^{\operatorname{Vir}} \otimes V_{\mathbb{C}}^{K-M} \mu,$$

where $\mu(e_i) = \lambda(e_i)$, i = 1, ..., n, defines μ , $\mu(c_{K-M}) = \lambda(c_{K-M})$, and $\nu(c_{Vir}) = \lambda(c_{Vir}) - \frac{\beta}{12\eta}$ defines ν , $\nu(u_0) = \lambda(u_0) - \frac{D(\lambda)}{2\eta}$.

3 The Kirillov–Kostant Structure of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$

Now we consider Kirillov–Kostant Poisson brackets of the regular dual of the semidirect product of Virasoro Lie algebra with the affine Kac–Moody Lie algebra. Let \mathscr{H} be a Lie algebra with a nondegenerated bilinear form $\langle .,. \rangle$. A function $f : \mathscr{H} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called regular at $x \in \mathscr{H}$ if there exists an element $\nabla f(x)$ such that $f(x + \epsilon a) = f(x) + \epsilon \langle \nabla f(x), a \rangle + o(\epsilon)$, for any $a \in \mathscr{H}$. For two regular functions $f,g : \mathscr{H} \to \mathbb{R}$, we define the Kirillov–Kostant structure as a Poisson structure on \mathscr{H} with $\{f,g\}(x) = \langle x, [\nabla f(x), \nabla g(x)] \rangle$. Then for any $e \in \mathscr{G}$, the second Poisson structure $\{f,g\}_e(x) = \langle e, [\nabla f(x), \nabla g(x)] \rangle$. A nondegenerated bilinear form on $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ and $\operatorname{Vect}(S^1) \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{LG}}$ is defined by

$$\langle (u_1, a_1, \beta_1, \xi_1), (u_2, a_2, \beta_2, \xi_2) \rangle = \int_{S^1} u_1 u_2 + \int_{S^1} \langle a_1, a_2 \rangle + \xi_1 \xi_2 + \beta_1 \beta_2.$$

We denote by $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})'$ the subset of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ of elements (u, a, ξ, β) with nonvanishing β . Let $u' = u - \frac{\|a\|^2}{2\beta}$. We denote by $(\operatorname{Vect}(S^1) \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{IG}})'$ the subset of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)} \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{IG}}$ composed of elements (u, a, ξ, β) with $\beta \neq 0$. Let $\mathscr{I}(u, a, \xi, \beta) =$ (u', a, ξ, β) be a map from $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})'$ to $(\operatorname{Vect}(S^1) \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{IG}})'$. For nonvanishing β , let $\widetilde{\mathscr{I}}(u, a, \xi, \beta, \gamma) = \left(u' - \frac{\gamma}{\beta}a', a, \xi - \frac{\gamma^2}{\beta}, \beta\right)$ be a map from $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Vect}(S^1)} \oplus \widetilde{\mathbb{LG}}$.

Theorem 2. \mathscr{I} and $\widetilde{\mathscr{I}}$ are Poisson maps.

4 Casimir Functions and Coadjoint Orbits for $\mathcal{SU}(\mathcal{G})$

Now we determine Casimir functions on $\widetilde{\mathscr{FU}(\mathscr{G})}'$ and $\widetilde{\mathscr{FU}(\mathbb{R})}$.

Proposition 5. Let \mathscr{C}_{Vir} , \mathscr{C}_{K-M} $\mathscr{C}_{\mathscr{A}}$ be Casimir functions for Virasoro, affine Kac–Moody, and the Heisenberg Lie algebras \mathscr{A} correspondingly. Let $\mathscr{S}_{P}\mathscr{U}(\mathscr{G})$, $\widehat{\mathscr{S}_{P}\mathscr{U}(\mathbb{R})}$ be Poisson submanifolds of $\mathscr{SU}(\mathscr{G})$ and $\widehat{\mathscr{SU}(\mathbb{R})}$ defined by $\xi = 0$.

Then the functions $\mathscr{C}_{\text{Vir}}(u',\xi)$, $c(u,a,\beta,\xi) = \mathscr{C}_{K-M}(a,\beta)$, and $\int_{S^1} |u'|^{1/2}$ are Casimir functions on $\mathscr{FU}(\mathscr{G})'$. In particular, the functions $c_{\mathscr{A}}(u,a,\beta,\xi) = \mathbf{C}_{\mathscr{A}}(a,\beta)$, $\mathscr{C}_{\text{Vir}}(u' - \frac{\gamma^2}{\beta}a',\xi)$, and $\int_{S^1} |u' - \frac{\gamma^2}{\beta}a'|^{1/2}$ are Casimir functions on $\mathscr{FU}(\mathbb{R})'$.

Let $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ be a central extension of a Lie algebra \mathscr{H} and H be a Lie group with Lie algebra \mathscr{H} . Then H acts on $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}^*$ by the coadjoint action along coadjoint orbits.

Proposition 6. The coadjoint actions of the groups $\text{Diff}(S^1) \ltimes \text{LG}$ and $\text{Diff}(S^1) \ltimes L\mathbb{R}^*_+$ are given by

$$\begin{aligned} Ad^{*}(\phi,g)^{-1}(u,a,\xi,\beta) &= \left((u \circ \phi)\phi'^{2} + \xi S(\phi) + \langle g^{-1}g',a\rangle\phi'^{2} \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\beta \parallel g^{-1}g' \parallel^{2}, \phi'Ad(g^{-1})a \circ \phi + \beta g^{-1}g',\xi,\beta \right), \\ \left((u \circ \phi)\phi'^{2} + \xi S(\phi) + \langle g'g^{-1},a\rangle\phi'^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\beta(g'g^{-1})^{2} + \gamma g''g^{-1}, \right. \\ &+ \phi'Ad(g^{-1})a \circ \phi + \beta g^{-1}g' - \gamma g''g^{-1},\xi,\beta,\gamma). \end{aligned}$$

5 Dispersive Water Wave System and Other Particular Cases

It has been showed in [8] that the dispersive water wave system equation [2, 4, 6] is a bi-Hamiltonian system related to the semi-direct product of Kac–Moody and Virasoro Lie algebras and the hierarchy for this system was found. In this section, some results of [8] are obtained from another point of view. We have

Proposition 7. The functions $\{\phi_1 (A(u + B\frac{da}{dx} + C)) | \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$ commute pairwise for the Sugawara $\{.,.\}'_{Sug}$ and e-braket $\{.,.\}_e$ with e = (1,0,0,2,0), and $A = (\xi - \frac{\gamma}{\beta - 2\lambda})^{-2}$, $B = -\frac{\gamma}{\beta - 2\lambda}$, $C = -\frac{\|a\|^2}{2\beta - 4\lambda} - \lambda$.

The function $\lambda \mapsto \phi_1 \left(A(u + B\frac{da}{dx} + C) \right)$ has an asymptotic development. The coefficients of this development form a hierarchy. The first term of this development is $\int_{S^1} u$, and the second one is $\int_{S^1} (u^2 + \gamma u + ||a||^2)$. A linear combination of these two terms gives the Hamiltonian of equations $H(u, a) = \int_{S^1} (u^2 + ||a||^2)$.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank the organizers of the International Conference on Differential and Difference Equations and Applications 2015, Departamento de Ciências Exatas e Naturais, Military Academy, Amadora, Portugal.

Algebraic Properties of the Semi-direct Product...

References

- Etingof, P.I., Frenkel, I.B., Kirillov, A.A., Jr.: Lectures on Representation Theory and Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov Equations. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 58. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1998)
- Harnad, J., Kupershmidt, B.A.: Symplectic geometries on T*G, Hamiltonian group actions and integrable systems. J. Geom. Phys. 16(2), 168–206 (1995)
- 3. Kirillov, A.: Infinite dimensional Lie groups; their orbits, invariants and representations. The geometry of moments. Lect. Notes Math. **970**, 101–123 (1982)
- 4. Kupershmidt, B.A.: Mathematics of dispersive water waves. Commun. Math. Phys. **99**(1), 51–73 (1985)
- 5. Segal, G.: The geometry of the KdV equation. Int. J. Mod. Phys. 6(16), 2859–2869 (1991)
- Vishik, S.M., Dolzhansky, F.V.: Analogues of the Euler-Poisson equations and magnetic hydrodynamics connected to Lie groups. Reports of the Academy of Science of the USSR, vol. 238(5) (1978) [in Russian]
- 7. Witten, E.: Coadjoint orbits of the Virasoro Group. Commun. Math. Phys. 114, 1–53 (1988)
- 8. Zuevsky, A.: Hamiltonian structures on coadjoint orbits of semidirect product $G = Diff_+(S^1) \ltimes C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R})$. Czechoslov. J. Phys. **54**(11), 1399–1406 (2004)

Analytical-Numerical Solutions for First-Order Periodic Boundary Value Problems Using the Reproducing Kernel Algorithm

Ayed Al e'damat, Mohammed Al-Smadi, Iryna Komashynska, Ali Ateiwi, and Ala' Alrawajfi

Abstract This paper proposes an efficient numerical algorithm to obtain an approximate solution of first-order periodic boundary value problems. This new algorithm is based on a reproducing kernel Hilbert space method. Its exact solution is calculated in the form of series in reproducing kernel space with easily computable components. In addition, convergence analysis for this method is discussed. In this sense, some numerical examples are given to show the effectiveness and performance of the proposed method. The results reveal that the method is quite accurate, simple, straightforward, and convenient to handle a various range of differential equations.

Keywords Analytical-numerical solutions • Reproducing kernel algorithm • Periodic boundary condition • Boundary value problems

AMS subject classifications: 34K28, 34K13, 34B15, 47B32.

A. Al e'damat

M. Al-Smadi Department of Applied Science, Ajloun College, Al-Balqa Applied University, Ajloun 26816, Jordan

I. Komashynska Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Amman 11942, Jordan

A. Ateiwi (⊠) Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, P.O. Box 20, Ma'an, Jordan

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Amman 11942, Jordan e-mail: ateiwi@hotmail.com

A. Alrawajfi Department of Financial and Administrative Sciences, Ma'an College, Al-Balqa Applied University, P.O. Box 194, Ma'an, Jordan

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_2

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, P.O. Box 20, Ma'an, Jordan

1 Introduction

Boundary value problems (BVPs) with periodic boundary conditions have become a focus of research in many fields of physics, engineering, and mathematics, including molecular dynamics, mechanical systems, computer simulations, and composite materials with a periodic microstructure and so on. When such problems are solved numerically, the periodicity condition is often imposed strongly; in other words, the values on periodic edges are required to match exactly. For typical examples, see [18, 19].

The purpose of this paper is to extend the application of the reproducing kernel Hilbert space method (RKHM) to provide approximate solution of a class of first-order periodic BVPs of the following form:

$$u'(x) + g(x)u(x) = f(x, u(x)); \quad 0 \le x \le 1,$$
(1)

subject to the periodic boundary condition

$$u(0) - u(1) = 0, (2)$$

where g(x) is continuous function, $f(x, u) \in W_2^1[0, 1]$, $u = u(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ is an unknown function to be determined, $||f(x, u(x)) - f(x, \overline{u}(x))||_{W_2^1} \leq M ||u(x) - \overline{u}(x)||_{W_2^1}$ for $x \in [0, 1]$, $M \in \mathbb{R}$, f(x, u) is linear or nonlinear function of u depending on the problem discussed, and $W_2^2[0, 1]$ and $W_2^1[0, 1]$ are reproducing kernel spaces defined in the next section. Throughout this paper, we assume that the BVP models (1) and (2) have a unique smooth solution on the given interval [0, 1].

The numerical solvability of BVPs with periodic boundary conditions of different orders has been pursued in literature. To mention a few, Peng [22] has discussed the existence and multiplicity of the positive solutions for first-order periodic BVPs. Al-Smadi et al. [4] have developed an iterative method for systems of first-order periodic BVPs based on the RKHM. Lia [20] has presented the existence of positive solution for fourth-order periodic BVPs. On the other hand, this method has been implemented in several operator, differential, integral, and integrodifferential equations side by side with their theories for instance, singular BVPs [12], singularly perturbed multipantograph delay equations (Geng and Qian, 2014), partial differential equations [17], Fredholm-Volterra integrodifferential equation [2, 5, 6], Fredholm integrodifferential equation ([1, 3, 14]), Volterra integrodifferential equation [7, 8], Fredholm-Volterra integral equation [11], operator equations [21], Fuzzy differential equations [9], and others [10, 15, 16]. The basic motivation of this paper is to apply the RKHM to develop an approach for obtaining the representation of exact and approximate solutions for a class of periodic BVPs (1) and (2), whereas the condition for determining solutions can be imposed in reproducing kernel space. However, this approach is simple, needs less effort to achieve the results, and is effective.

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, reproducing kernel spaces are presented in order to construct their reproducing kernel functions. In Sect. 3, representations of exact solution for BVPs (1) and (2) together with some essential results are introduced. Meanwhile, an iterative method for solving first-order periodic BVPs is described based on these reproducing kernel spaces. Subsequently, the analysis of the method is discussed in Sect. 4. In Sect. 5, numerical examples are simulated to show the reasonableness of our theory and to demonstrate the high performance of the proposed method. Finally, some conclusions are summarized in the last section.

2 Preliminaries and Materials

In this section, we utilize the reproducing kernel concept to construct the space $W_2^2[0, 1]$ in which every function satisfies the periodic boundary condition (2) and formulate its reproducing kernel function. Besides, we present some basic results and remarks in the reproducing kernel theory and its applications.

Definition 1. Let *E* be a nonempty abstract set. A function $K : E \times E \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is a reproducing kernel of the Hilbert space \mathscr{H} if:

- 1. For each $x \in E, K(\cdot, x) \in \mathcal{H}$.
- 2. For each $x \in E$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$, $\langle \varphi, K(\cdot, x) \rangle = \varphi(x)$.

The last condition is called *the reproducing property*: the value of the function φ at the point *x* is reproducing by the inner product of φ with $K(\cdot, x)$.

Remark 1. A Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of functions on a set *E* is called a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS) if there exists a reproducing kernel *K* of \mathcal{H} . That is, a Hilbert space which possesses a reproducing kernel is called the RKHS.

Definition 2. The Hilbert space $W_2^m[0,1]$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, is called a reproducing kernel if for each fixed x in [0, 1], there exist $K(x, y) \in W_2^m[0, 1]$ such that $\langle u(y), K(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^m} = u(x)$ for any $u(y) \in W_2^m[0, 1]$ and $y \in [0, 1]$.

Definition 3. The reproducing kernel space $W_2^2[0, 1]$ defined as $W_2^2[0, 1] = \{u(x) : u'(x) \text{ is absolutely continuous real-valued function, <math>u''(x) \in L^2[0, 1], \text{ and } u(0) = u(1)\}$. The inner product and norm in $W_2^2[0, 1]$ are given, respectively, by

$$\langle u(x), v(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = u(0)v(0) + u'(0)v'(0) + \int_0^1 u''(t)v''(t)dt,$$
(3)

and $||u|| = \langle u, u \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$, where $u, v \in W_2^2[0, 1]$.

Remark 2. The space $W_2^2[0,1]$ is a complete reproducing kernel space, and its reproducing kernel function K(x, y) can be written as

$$k(x, y) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{4} c_i(x) y^{i-1}, \ y \le x, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{4} d_i(x) y^{i-1}, \ y > x, \end{cases}$$
(4)

where $c_i(x)$ and $d_i(x)$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4 will be given by the following assumptions:

Let's assume that $K(x, y) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ satisfies the generalized differential equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^4 k(x,y)}{\partial y^4} = \delta(y-x), & \frac{\partial^2 k(x,1)}{\partial y^2} = 0, k(x,0) + \frac{\partial^3 k(x,0)}{\partial y^3} + c_1 = 0, \\ \frac{\partial k(x,0)}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial^2 k(x,0)}{\partial y^2} = 0, & \frac{\partial^3 k(x,1)}{\partial y^3} + c_1 = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5)

where δ is the Dirac delta function.

On the other hand, for $x \neq y$, K(x, y) is the solution of the constant differential equation $\frac{\partial^4 k(x,y)}{\partial y^4} = 0$, subject to the boundary conditions (5). That is, the characteristic equation is given by $\lambda^4 = 0$ and the eigenvalues are $\lambda = 0$ with multiplicity 4. Hence, the general solution can be written as in Eq. (4).

In addition, assume that K(x, y) satisfies the equations $\frac{\partial^m k(x,x+0)}{\partial y^m} = \frac{\partial^m k(x,x-0)}{\partial y^m}$ for m = 0, 1, 2, and $\frac{\partial^3 k(x,x+0)}{\partial y^3} - \frac{\partial^m k(x,x-0)}{\partial y^m} = -1$. Through the last descriptions together with the boundary conditions (5), the unknown coefficients $c_i(x)$ and $d_i(x)$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4 are uniquely obtained.

However, the representation of the reproducing kernel function K(x, y) in $W_2^2[0, 1]$, using Mathematica software package, is provided by

$$K(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{48} \left[x^{3}y \left(6+3y-y^{2} \right) + 3x^{2}y \left(-6-3y+y^{2} \right) + 6xy \left(2+y+y^{2} \right) - 8 \left(-6+y^{3} \right) \right], y \le x, \\ \frac{1}{48} \left[48+6xy \left(2-3y+y^{2} \right) + 3x^{2}y \left(2-3y+y^{2} \right) - x^{3} \left(8-6y-3y^{2}+y^{3} \right) \right], y > x. \end{cases}$$
(6)

Here, it should be noted that the kernel function K(x, y) is unique, symmetric, and nonnegative for any fixed $x \in [0, 1]$. For detailed method for obtaining the reproducing kernel function, we refer to [12].

Theorem 1. An arbitrary bounded set of $W_2^2[0, 1]$ is a compact set of C[0, 1].

Proof Let $\{u_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a bounded set of $W_2^2[0,1]$ such that $||u_n(x)|| < M$, where *M* is positive constant. From representation of K(x, y), we have $|u^{(i)}(x)| = |\langle u(x), \partial_x^i K(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^2}| \le \partial_x^i ||K(x, y)||_{W_2^2} ||u(x)||_{W_2^2}$. Since $\partial_x^i K(x, y)$, i = 1, 2, ... is uniformly bounded about *x* and *y*, we have $|u^{(i)}(x)| \le M_i ||u(x)||_{W_2^2}$. Accordingly, $||u(x)||_c \le M$. Now, we need to prove that $\{u_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a compact set of C[0, 1], that is, $\{u_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ are equicontinuous functions. From the property of K(x, y), we have

$$|u_n(x_1) - u_n(x_2)| = \left| \langle u(y), K(x_1, y) - K(x_2, y) \rangle_{W_2^2} \right|$$

$$\leq ||u(x)||_{W_2^2} ||K(x_1, y) - K(x_2, y)||_{W_2^2} \leq M \left\| K(x_1, y) - K(x_2, y)_{W_2^2} \right\|.$$

By "mean-value theorem of differentials" and the symmetry of K(x, y), it follows that

$$|K(x_2, y) - K(x_1, y)| = |K(y, x_2) - K(y, x_1)| = \left|\frac{d}{dx}K(y, x)\right|_{x=\eta} |x_2 - x_1| \le N |x_2 - x_1|.$$

Thus, if $\gamma \leq |x_2 - x_1| \leq \frac{\epsilon}{NM}$, then one can get $|u_n(x_1) - u_n(x_2)| < \epsilon$.

Definition 4. The reproducing kernel space $W_2^1[0, 1]$ defined as $W_2^1[0, 1] = \{u(x) : u'(x) \text{ is absolutely continuous real-valued function, <math>u'(x) \in L^2[0, 1]\}$. The inner product and norm in $W_2^1[0, 1]$ are given, respectively, by

$$\langle u(x), v(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = u(0)v(0) + \int_0^1 u'(t)v'(t)dt,$$
(7)

and $||u|| = \langle u, u \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$, where $u, v \in W_2^1[0, 1]$.

In 2006, Lin and Cui have proved that the space $W_2^1[0,1]$ is a complete reproducing kernel and its reproducing kernel is given by

$$G(x, y) = \begin{cases} (1+y), y \le x, \\ (1+x), y > x. \end{cases}$$
(8)

3 Adaptation of Reproducing Kernel Algorithm

In this section, the formulation of a linear differential operator and the implementation method are presented in $W_2^2[0, 1]$. After a while, the construction of orthogonal function systems is introduced based on the use of the Gram-Schmidt orthogonalization process in order to obtain exact and approximate solutions of periodic BVPs (1) and (2). To do this, we define a differential operator L: $W_2^2[0,1] \rightarrow W_2^1[0,1]$ such that Lu(x) = u'(x) + g(x)u(x). Thus, the periodic BVPs (1) and (2) can be converted into the form

$$\begin{cases} Lu(x) = f(x, u(x)), \ 0 \le x \le 1, \\ u(0) - u(1) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(9)

where $u(x) \in W_2^2[0,1]$ and $f(x,y) \in W_2^1[0,1]$ as $y = y(x) \in W_2^2[0,1]$, $y \in (-\infty,\infty)$, $x \in [0,1]$.

Corollary 1 The operator L: $W_2^2[0,1] \rightarrow W_2^1[0,1]$ is a bounded linear operator.

Proof It is so easy to see that L is a linear operator. Thus, it is enough to show that L is a bounded operator. From Definition 4, we have

$$\|Lu\|_{W_2^1}^2 = \langle Lu, Lu \rangle_{W_2^1} = [(Lu)(0)]^2 + \int_0^1 [(Lu)'(x)]^2 dx.$$

By reproducing property of K(x, y), we have

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} u(x) = \langle u(y), \ K(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^2}, \\ (Lu)(x) = \langle u, \ LK(x, y) \rangle \right\}_{W_2^2}, \\ (Lu)'(x) = \langle u, \ LK(x, y) \rangle' \right\}_{W_2^2}.$$

By Schwarz inequality, we get

$$|(Lu)(x)| = \left| \left\langle u, \ LK(x, y) \right\rangle \right\rangle_{W_2^2} \le \|LK(x, y)\|_{W_2^2} \|u\|_{W_2^2} = M_1 \|u\|_{W_2^2},$$

and

$$|(Lu)'(x)| = \left| \langle u, (LK(x, y))' \rangle_{W_2^2} \right| \le \|(LK(x, y))'\|_{W_2^2} \|u\|_{W_2^2} = M_2 \|u\|_{W_2^2},$$

where $M_1, M_2 > 0$ are positive constants.

Thus $[(Lu)(0)]^2 \le M_1^2 ||u||_{W_2^2}^2$, $[(Lu)'(x)]^2 \le M_2^2 ||u||_{W_2^2}^2$ and $\int_0^1 [(Lu)'(x)]^2 dx \le M_2^2 ||u||_{W_2^2}^2$. That is,

$$\|(Lu)(x)\|_{W_{2}^{1}}^{2} = [(Lu)(0)]^{2} + \int_{0}^{1} [(Lu)'(x)]^{2} dx \le (M_{1}^{2} + M_{2}^{2}) \|u\|_{W_{2}^{2}}^{2} = M \|u\|_{W_{2}^{2}}^{2},$$

where $M = M_1^2 + M_2^2 > 0$.

Now, we construct an orthogonal system of functions $\{\psi_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of $W_2^2[0, 1]$ by setting $\Phi_i(x) = G(x, x_i)$ and $\Psi_i(x) = L^* \Phi_i(x)$, where $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is dense on [0, 1]

and L^* is the conjugate operator of *L*. Consequently, in terms of the properties of G(x, y), one obtains $\langle u(x), \Psi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle u(x), L^* \Phi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle Lu(x), \Phi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = Lu(x_i), i = 1, 2, ...$

Lemma 1 The fact $\Psi_i(x) = \frac{d}{dy} K(x, y) |_{y=x_i}, i = 1, 2, ...$ holds.

Proof From reproducing property of, we can obtain that $\Psi_i(x) = \langle \Psi_i(y), K(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle L^* \Phi_i(x), K(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle \Phi_i(x), LK(x, y) \rangle_{W_2^1} = LK(x, x_i) = \frac{d}{dy} K(x, y) |_{y=x_i}.$

Lemma 2 If $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is dense on [0, 1]; then $\{\Psi_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is a complete system of $W_2^2[0, 1]$.

Proof For each fixed $u(x) \in W_2^2[0,1]$, let $\langle u(x), \Psi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = 0$. That is, $\langle u(x), \Psi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle u(x), L^* \Phi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle Lu(x), \Phi_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = Lu(x_i) = 0$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots$ Therefore, Lu(x) = 0 from the density of $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ on [0, 1], as well as u(x) = 0 from the existence of L^{-1} and the continuity of u(x).

The orthonormal system functions $\{\overline{\Psi}_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of $W_2^2[0, 1]$ can be derived from Gram-Schmidt orthogonalization process of $\{\Psi_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ as follows:

$$\overline{\Psi}_i(x) = \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} \Psi_k(x), \qquad (10)$$

where β_{ik} are orthogonalization coefficients $\beta_{ii} > 0$, i = 1, 2, ..., n that are given by

$$\beta_{ij} = \frac{1}{\|\Psi_i\|}, \quad \text{for} \quad i = j = 1,$$

$$\beta_{ij} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\|\Psi_i\|^2 - \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\langle \Psi_i, \overline{\Psi}_k \rangle_{W_2^2} \right)^2}} \quad \text{for} \quad i = j \neq 1, \text{ and}$$
$$\beta_{ij} = \frac{-\sum_{j=k}^{i-1} \langle \Psi_i, \overline{\Psi}_k \rangle_{W_2^2} \beta_{jk}}{\sqrt{\|\Psi_i\|^2 - \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \left(\langle \Psi_i, \overline{\Psi}_k \rangle_{W_2^2} \right)^2}} \quad \text{for} \quad i > j.$$

Theorem 2. For each u(x) in $W_2^2[0,1]$, the series $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle u(x), \overline{\Psi}_i(x) \rangle \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$ is convergent in the sense of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{W_2^2}$. On the other hand, if $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is dense on [0, 1] and $u(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ is the solution of problem model (9), then u(x) satisfy the following form:

A. Al e'damat et al.

$$u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{i} \beta_{ik} f(x_k, u(x_k)) \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \qquad (11)$$

and the approximate solution can be obtained by

$$u_n(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} f(x_k, u(x_k)) \overline{\Psi}_i(x),$$
(12)

where $u_0(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ (u_0 fixed).

Proof Since $u(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$, u(x) can be expanded in the form of Fourier series about $\{\overline{\Psi}_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ as $u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle u(x), \overline{\Psi}_i(x) \rangle \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$, and since the space $W_2^2[0, 1]$ is the Hilbert space, then the series $u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle u(x), \overline{\Psi}_i(x) \rangle \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$ is convergent in the norm $\|.\|_{W_2^2}$. From the Fourier series expansion and by Eq. (7), u(x) can be written as

$$u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle u(x), \overline{\Psi}_i(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} \overline{\Psi}_i(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \langle u(x), \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} \Psi_k(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} \langle u(x), \Psi_k(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} \overline{\Psi}_i(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} \langle u(x), L^* \Phi_k(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^i \langle \beta_{ik} L u(x), \Phi_k(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} \overline{\Psi}_i(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} L u(x_k) \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^i \beta_{ik} f(x_k, u(x_k)) \overline{\Psi}_i(x).$$

Therefore, the form in Eq. (11) is the exact solution of Eq. (9). By truncating the series in Eq. (11), we obtain the th-truncated series approximate solution as in Eq. (12). So, the proof of the theorem is complete.

Lemma 3. If $u(x) \in W_2^2[0,1]$, then there exists a positive constant *M* such that $||u^{(i)}(x)||_c \le M ||u(x)||_{W_2^2}$, i = 0, 1, where $||u(x)||_c = \max_{0 \le x \le 1} |u(x)|$.

Proof For any $x_1, x_2 \in [0, 1]$, we have $u^{(i)}(x_1) = \langle u(x_2), \partial_{x_1}^i K(x_1, x_2) \rangle_{W_2^2}, i = 0, 1$. By the expression form of K(x, y), it follows that $\|\partial_x^i K(x, y)\|_{W_2^2} \leq M_i, i = 0, 1$. Thus, $|u^{(i)}(x_1)| = |\langle u(x_2), \partial_{x_1}^i K(x_1, x_2) \rangle_{W_2^2}| \leq \|\partial_{x_1}^i K(x_1, x_2)\|_{W_2^2} \|u(x_2)\|_{W_2^2} \leq \cdots M_i \|u(x)\|_{W_2^2}, i = 0, 1$. Hence, $\|u^{(i)}(x)\|_c \leq \max_i \{M_i\} \|u(x)\|_{W_2^2}, i = 0, 1$. The proof is complete.

Corollary 2. The approximate solution $u_n(x)$ and its derivative $u'_n(x)$ are converging uniformly to the exact solution u(x) and its derivative u'(x) as $n \to \infty$, respectively.

Proof Form Lemma 3, for any $x \in [0, 1]$, it easy to see that $\left|u_n^{(i)}(x) - u^{(i)}(x)\right| = \left|\left\langle u_n(x) - u(x), \partial_x^i K(x, x)\right\rangle_{W_2^2}\right| \le \left\|\partial_x^i K(x, x)\right\|_{W_2^2} \|u_n(x) - u(x)\|_{W_2^2} \le M_i \|u_n(x) - u(x)\|_{W_2^2},$ i=0, 1.

Hence, if $||u_n(x) - u(x)||_{W_2^2} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, then the approximate solution $u_n(x)$ and its derivative $u'_n(x)$ are converging uniformly to the exact solution u(x) and its derivative u'(x) as $n \to \infty$, respectively. So, the proof of the theorem is complete.

Remark 3. In order to solve Eq. (1) numerically using the RKHS technique, we have the following two cases:

- Case 1: If Eq. (1) is linear, then the exact and approximate solutions can be obtained directly from Eqs. (11) and (12), respectively.
- Case 2: If Eq. (1) is nonlinear, then in this case the exact and approximate solutions can be obtained by using the following algorithm:

Algorithm 1 According to Eq. (11), the representation of the solution of problem (1) can be denoted by

$$u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \qquad (13)$$

where $B_i = \sum_{k=1}^{i} \beta_{ik} f(x_k, u_{k-1}(x_k))$. In fact, $B_i, i = 1, 2, ...,$ in Eq. (13) are unknown, so we will approximate them using the known A_i as follows: For a numerical computations, let the initial function $u_0(x_1) = 0$, set $u_0(x_1) = u(x_1)$, and define the *n*-term approximation to $y_s(x)$ by

$$u_n(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n A_i \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \qquad (14)$$

where the coefficients A_i of $\overline{\Psi}_i(x)$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, are given by

$$\begin{cases} A_{1} = \beta_{11}f(x_{1}, u_{0}(x_{1})), u_{1}(x) = A_{1}\overline{\Psi}_{1}(x), \\ A_{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{2}\beta_{2k}f(x_{1}, u_{k-1}(x_{k})), u_{2}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{2}A_{i}\overline{\Psi}_{i}(x), \\ u_{n-1}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1}A_{i}\overline{\Psi}_{i}(x), A_{n} = \sum_{k=1}^{n}\beta_{nk}f(x_{1}, u_{k-1}(x_{k})). \end{cases}$$
(15)

Consequently, the unknown coefficients B_i , i = 1, 2, ..., in Eq. (13) will be approximate using the known coefficients A_i , i = 1, 2, ..., given in Eq. (14).

However, in the iterative process of the series (14), we can guarantee that the approximation $u_n(x)$ satisfies the periodic boundary condition (2).

4 Convergence Analysis of the Method

In this section, we will prove that the iterative formula (14) is convergent to the exact solution of Eq. (9) in the sense of the norm of $W_2^2[0, 1]$. In fact, this result is fundamental in the RKHS theory and its applications. The remaining lemmas are collected in order to prove the pre-recent theorem.

Lemma 4 If $||u_n(x) - u(x)||_{W_2^2} \to 0$, $x_n \to y$, $(n \to \infty)$, and f(x, z) is continuous in [0, 1] with respect to x, z for $x \in [0, 1]$, $z \in (-\infty, \infty)$, then the following are held in the sense of the norm of $W_2^2[0, 1]$:

(a) $u_{n-1}(x_n) \to u(y) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$ (b) $f(x_n, u_{n-1}(x_n)) \to f(y, u(y)), \text{ as } n \to \infty.$

Proof For part (a), note that

$$|u_{n-1}(x_n) - u(y)| = |u_{n-1}(x_n) - u_{n-1}(y) + u_{n-1}(y) - u(y)|$$

$$\leq |u_{n-1}(x_n) - u_{n-1}(y)| + |u_{n-1}(y) - u(y)|.$$

By reproducing property of K(x, y), we have $u_{n-1}(x_n) = \langle u_{n-1}(x), K(x_n, x) \rangle_{W_2^2}$ and $u_{n-1}(y) = \langle u_{n-1}(x), K(y, x) \rangle_{W_2^2}$. Thus,

$$|u_{n-1}(x_n) - u_{n-1}(y)| = \left| \langle u_{n-1}(x), K(x_n, x) - K(y, x) \rangle_{W_2^2} \right|$$

$$\leq ||u_{n-1}(x)||_{W_2^2} ||K(x_n, x) - K(y, x)||_{W_2^2}.$$

From the symmetry of K(x, y), it follows that $||K(x_n, x) - K(y, x)_{W_2^2}|| \to 0$ as $x_n \to y$, $n \to \infty$. Hence, $|u_{n-1}(x_n) - u_{n-1}(y)| \to 0$ as soon as $x_n \to y$, $(n \to \infty)$. On the other hand, for any $x \in [0, 1]$, by using Corollary 2, it holds that $|u_{n-1}(y) - u(y)| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore, $u_{n-1}(x_n) \to u(y)$ in the sense of $||\cdot||_{W_2^2}$ as $x_n \to y$ and $n \to \infty$. Thus, for part (b), by means of the continuation of $f(\cdot)$, it is obtained that $f(x_n, u_{n-1}(x_n)) \to f(y, u(y))$ as $x_n \to y$ and $n \to \infty$.

Lemma 5 For the approximate solution $u_n(x)$ in iterative formula (14), the following relations hold:

(a) $Lu_n(x_j) = f(x_j, u_{j-1}(x_j)), j \le n$, (b) $Lu_n(x_j) = Lu(x_j), j \le n$.

Proof For part (a), the proof will be obtained by mathematical induction. For $j \le n$, we have

Analytical-Numerical Solutions for First-Order Periodic Boundary Value...

$$Lu_n(x_j) = \sum_{i=1}^n A_i L\overline{\Psi}_i(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n A_i \langle L\overline{\Psi}_i(x), \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = \sum_{i=1}^n A_i \langle \overline{\Psi}_i(x), L^* \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n A_i \langle \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \Psi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2}.$$

That is,

$$Lu_n(x_j) = \sum_{i=1}^n A_i \langle \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \Psi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2}.$$
 (16)

Multiplying both sides of Eq. (15) by β_{jl} , summing for *l* from 1 to *j*, and using the orthogonality of $\{\overline{\Psi}_i(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ yields that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{j} \beta_{jl} L u_n(x_l) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i \left\langle \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \sum_{l=1}^{j} \beta_{jl} \Psi_l(x) \right\rangle_{W_2^2} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \left\langle \overline{\Psi}_i(x), \overline{\Psi}_j(x) \right\rangle_{W_2^2}$$
$$= A_j = \sum_{l=1}^{j} \beta_{jl} f(x_l, u_{l-1}(x_l)).$$

If j = 1, then $Lu_n(x_1) = f(x_1, u_0(x_1))$. Besides, if j = 2, then $\beta_{21}Lu_n(x_1) + \beta_{22}Lu_n(x_2) = \beta_{21}f(x_1, u_0(x_1)) + \beta_{22}f(x_2, u_1(x_2))$, that is, $Lu_n(x_2) = f(x_2, u_1(x_2))$. Thus $Lu_n(x_j) = f(x_j, u_{j-1}(x_j))$ for $j \le n$.

 $Lu_n(x_2) = f(x_2, u_1(x_2)). \text{ Thus } Lu_n(x_j) = f(x_j, u_{j-1}(x_j)) \text{ for } j \le n.$ For part (b), from Corollary 2 as well as by taking limits in Eq. (14), we have $u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \overline{\Psi}_i(x).$ Thus, $u_n(x) = P_n u(x)$, where P_n is an orthogonal projector from the space $W_2^2[0, 1]$ to $\text{Span}\{\Psi_1, \Psi_2, \dots, \Psi_n\}$. Therefore, $Lu_n(x_j) = \langle Lu_n(x), \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = \langle u_n(x), L^* \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle P_n u(x), \Psi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle u(x), P_n \Psi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle u(x), \Psi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle u(x), L^* \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^2} = \langle Lu(x), \Phi_j(x) \rangle_{W_2^1} = Lu(x_j).$ So, the proof of the lemma is complete.

Lemma 6 The sequence $\{u_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in the iterative formula (14) is monotone increasing in the sense of $\|\cdot\|_{W_2^2}$.

Theorem 3. Suppose that $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is dense on a compact interval [0,1] and $||u_n(x)||_{W_2^2}$ is bounded in formula (14), then the *n*-term approximate solution $u_n(x)$ in the iterative formula (14) is convergent to the exact solution u(x) of Eq. (9) in the space $W_2^2[0,1]$ and $u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \overline{\Psi}_i(x)$, where $A_i, i = 1, 2, ...$ are given by Eq. (14).

Proof First of all, we will prove the convergence of $u_n(x)$. From iterative formula (14), we infer that $u_{n+1}(x) = u_n(x) + A_{n+1}\overline{\Psi}_{n+1}(x)$. By the orthogonality of $\{\overline{\Psi}(x)\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$, it follows that $\|u_{n+1}\|_{W_2^2}^2 = \|u_n\|_{W_2^2}^2 + (A_{n+1})^2 = \|u_{n-1}\|_{W_2^2}^2 + (A_n)^2$

+ $(A_{n+1})^2 = \cdots = \|u_0\|_{W_2^2}^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (A_i)^2$. From Lemma 6, the sequence $\|u_n\|_{W_2^2}$ is monotone increasing, and from the boundedness of $\|u_n\|_{W_2^2}$, we have $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (A_i)^2 < \infty$, that is, $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \in l^2$ (i = 1, 2, ...). Hence, $\|u_n\|_{W_2^2}$ is convergent as $n \to \infty$.

Let m > n; for $(u_m - u_{m-1}) \perp (u_{m-1} - u_{m-2}) \perp \cdots \perp (u_{n+1} - u_n)$, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_m(x) - u_n(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 &= \|u_m(x) - u_{m-1}(x) + u_{m-1}(x) - \dots + u_{n+1}(x) - u_n(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 \\ &\leq \|u_m(x) - u_{m-1}(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 + \dots + \|u_{n+1}(x) - u_n(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 \\ &= \sum_{i=n+1}^m (A_i)^2 \to 0, \ (n \to \infty) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Considering the completeness of $W_2^2[0, 1]$, there exists $u(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ such that $u_n(x) \to u(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ in sense of $\|.\|_{W^2}$.

Secondly, we will prove that u(x) is the solution of Eq. (9). Since $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is dense on compact interval [0, 1], thus for any $x \in [0, 1]$, there exists subsequence $\{x_{n_j}\}$ such that $x_{n_j} \to x$, as $j \to \infty$. From Lemma 5, $Lu_n(x_{n_j}) = f(x_{n_j}, u_{j-1}(x_{n_j}))$. Hence, let $j \to \infty$; we have Lu(x) = f(x, u(x)). That is, u(x) is solution of Eq. (9). The proof is complete.

Theorem 4. Assume that $u_n(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ is the solution of BVP (9) and $r_n(x) = ||u(x) - u_n(x)||_{W_2^2}$ is an error function, where $u_n(x)$ is the approximate solution that is given by iterative formula (14). Then the sequence of number $\{r_n\}$ is monotone decreasing in the sense of $||.||_{W_2^2}$ and $r_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

Proof Based on the previous results, it is obvious that

$$\|r_n(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 = \|u(x) - u_n(x)\|_{W_2^2}^2 = \left\|\sum_{i=n+1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{i} \beta_{ik} F(x_k, u_{k-1}(x_k), Tu_{k-1}(x_k)) \overline{\Psi}_i(x)\right\|_{W_2^2}^2$$
$$= \left\|\sum_{i=n+1}^{\infty} A_i \overline{\Psi}_i(x)\right\|_{W_2^2}^2 = \sum_{i=n+1}^{\infty} (A_i)^2,$$

and $||r_{n-1}(x)||_{W_2^2}^2 = \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} (A_i)^2$. Thus, $||r_n(x)||_{W_2^2} \le ||r_{n-1}(x)||_{W_2^2}$. Consequently, the error r_n is monotone decreasing in the sense of $||.||_{W_2^2}$. The proof is complete.

5 Applications and Test Problems

In this section, some numerical examples are studied to demonstrate the performance, accuracy, and applicability of the present method for both linear and nonlinear problems. Results obtained are compared with the exact solution of each example and are found to be in good agreement with each other. In the process of computation, all the symbolic and numerical computations performed by using Mathematica software package.

Example 1 Consider the following linear equation

$$u'(x) + u(x) = x^{2} + x - 1, 0 \le x \le 1,$$
(17)

subject to periodic boundary condition

$$u(0) - u(1) = 0 \tag{18}$$

The exact solution is u(x) = x(x-1).

Using RKHS method, taking $x_i = \frac{i-1}{n-1}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n. The numerical results at some selected grid points for n = 51 are given in Table 1.

To show the accuracy of the present method for our tested problems, we report two types of error. The first one is the absolute error, $Abs_n(x)$, and the second one is the relative error, $Rel_n(x)$, which are defined, respectively, by $Abs_n(x) =$ $|u(x) - u_n(x)|$, $Rel_n(x) = \frac{Abs_n(x)}{|u(x)|}$, where $x \in [0, 1]$, $u_n(x)$ is the *n*-term approximation of u(x) obtained by the RKHS method, and $u(x) \in W_2^2[0, 1]$ is the exact solution.

Example 2 Consider the following nonlinear equation

$$u'(x) + u(x)e^{-u(x)} = \frac{2x - 1 + \ln(x^2 - x + 1)}{x^2 - x + 1}, 0 \le x \le 1,$$
(19)

subject to periodic boundary condition

$$u(0) - u(1) = 0 \tag{20}$$

x_i	u(x)	$u_{51}(x)$	$Abs_{51}(x)$	$\operatorname{Rel}_{51}(x)$
0.16	-0.1344	-0.13440010447668405	1.04477×10^{-7}	7.77356×10^{-7}
0.32	-0.2176	-0.21760010031925470	1.00319×10^{-7}	4.61026×10^{-7}
0.48	-0.2496	-0.24960009873547984	9.87355×10^{-8}	3.95575×10^{-7}
0.64	-0.2304	-0.23040009968473152	9.96847×10^{-8}	3.95575×10^{-7}
0.80	-0.1600	-0.16000010319136138	1.03191×10^{-7}	6.44946×10^{-7}
0.96	-0.0384	-0.03840010934533122	1.09345×10^{-7}	2.84753×10^{-6}

 Table 1
 Numerical results for Example 1
x_i	u(x)	$u_{51}(x)$	Abs ₅₁ (<i>x</i>)	$\operatorname{Rel}_{51}(x)$
0.16	-0.1443323708899199	-0.1443322995528097	7.13371×10^{-8}	4.94256×10^{-7}
0.32	-0.2453891602615295	-0.2453890219359414	1.38326×10^{-7}	5.63699×10^{-7}
0.48	-0.2871488812901222	-0.2871487102608685	1.71029×10^{-7}	5.95612×10^{-7}
0.64	-0.2618843796306403	-0.2618842287680727	1.50863×10^{-7}	5.76066×10^{-7}
0.80	-0.1743533871447777	-0.1743532975615985	8.95832×10^{-8}	5.13802×10^{-7}
0.96	-0.0391567152011939	-0.0391566982754902	1.69257×10^{-8}	4.32255×10^{-7}

Table 2 Numerical results for Example 2

The exact solution is $u(x) = \ln (x^2 - x + 1)$.

Using RKHS method, taking $x_i = \frac{i-1}{n-1}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n. The numerical results at some selected grid points for n = 51 are given in Table 2.

6 Conclusion

The main concern of this work has been to propose an efficient algorithm for the solutions of first-order periodic BVPs. The goal has been achieved by introducing the RKHS method to solve this class of differential equations. We can conclude that the RKHS method is a powerful and efficient technique in finding approximate solution $u_n(x)$ for linear and nonlinear problems. In the proposed algorithm, the solution u(x) and the approximate solution $u_n(x)$ are represented in the form of series in $W_2^2[0, 1]$. Moreover, the approximate solution and its derivative converge uniformly to the exact solution and its derivative, respectively.

References

- Abu Arqub, O., Al-Smadi, M., Shawagfeh, N.: Solving Fredholm integro-differential equations using reproducing kernel Hilbert space method. Appl. Math. Comput. 219, 8938–8948 (2013)
- Abu Arqub, O., Al-Smadi, M.: Numerical algorithm for solving two-point, second-order periodic boundary value problems for mixed integro-differential equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 243, 911–922 (2014)
- Abu-Gdairi, R., Al-Smadi, M.: An efficient computational method for 4th-order boundary value problems of Fredholm IDEs. Appl. Math. Sci. 7(96), 4761–4774 (2013)
- Al-Smadi, M., Abu Arqub, O., El-Ajou, A.: A numerical iterative method for solving systems of first-order periodic boundary value problems. J. Appl. Math. 2014, 135465 (2014). p. 10
- Al-Smadi, M., Abu Arqub, O., Momani, S.: A computational method for two point boundary value problems of fourth-order mixed integrodifferential equations. Math. Probl. Eng. 2013, 832074 (2013). p. 10
- Abu Arqub, O., Al-Smadi, M., Momani, S.: Application of reproducing kernel method for solving nonlinear Fredholm-Volterra integro-differential equations. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2012, 839836 (2012). p. 16

- 7. Al-Smadi, M., Abu Arqub, O., Shawagfeh, N.: Approximate solution of BVPs for 4th-order IDEs by using RKHS method. Appl. Math. Sci. 6, 2453–2464 (2012)
- Altawallbeh, Z., Al-Smadi, M., Abu-Gdairi, R.: Approximate solution of second-order integrodifferential equation of Volterra type in RKHS method. Int. J. Math. Anal. 7(44), 2145–2160 (2013)
- 9. Abu Arqub, O., Al-Smadi, M., Momani, S., Hayat, T.: Numerical solutions of fuzzy differential equations using reproducing kernel Hilbert space method. Soft Computing. **2015**, 1–20 (2015). doi:10.1007/s00500-015.1707-4
- Al-Smadi, M., Altawallbeh, Z.: Solution of system of Fredholm integro-differential equations by RKHS method. Int. J. Contemp. Math. Sci. 8(11), 531–540 (2013)
- 11. Cui, M., Du, H.: Representation of exact solution for the nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations. Appl. Math. Comput. **182**, 1795–1802 (2006)
- Geng, F.: Solving singular second order three-point boundary value problems using reproducing kernel Hilbert space method. Appl. Math. Comput. 215, 2095–2102 (2009)
- Geng, F.Z., Qian, S.P.: Solving Singularly Perturbed Multipantograph Delay Equations Based on the Reproducing Kernel Method. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2014, 794716 (2014). p. 6
- Komashynska, I., Al-Smadi, M.: Iterative reproducing kernel method for solving second-order integrodifferential equations of Fredholm type. J. Appl. Math. 2014, 459509 (2014). p. 11
- Komashynska, I., Al-Smadi, M., Abu Arqub, O., Momani, S.: An efficient analytical method for solving singular initial value problems of nonlinear systems. Appl. Math. Inform. Sci. 10(2), 647–656. In press.
- Komashynska, I., Al-Smadi, M., Ateiwi, A., Al e'damat, A.: An oscillation of the solution for a nonlinear second-order stochastic differential equation. J. Comput. Anal. Appl. 20(5), 860–868 (2016)
- 17. Lin, Y., Cui, M., Yang, L.: Representation of the exact solution for a kind of nonlinear partial differential equations. Appl. Math. Lett. **19**, 808–813 (2006)
- Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S.: Remarks on first and second order periodic boundary value problems. Nonlinear Anal. 8, 281–287 (1984)
- 19. Lakshmikantham, V.: Periodic boundary value problems of first and second order differential equations. J. Appl. Math. Simulat. **2**, 131–138 (1989)
- Lia, Y.: Positive solutions of fourth-order periodic boundary value problems. Nonlinear Anal. 54, 1069–1078 (2003)
- 21. Li, C., Cui, M.: The exact solution for solving a class nonlinear operator equations in the reproducing kernel space. Appl. Math. Comput. **143**, 393–399 (2003)
- 22. Peng, S.: Positive solutions for first order periodic boundary value problem. Appl. Math. Comput. **158**, 345–351 (2004)

Existence of the Mild Solutions for Nonlocal Fractional Differential Equations of Sobolev Type with Iterated Deviating Arguments

Alka Chadha and Dwijendra N. Pandey

Abstract This paper investigates a nonlocal differential equation of Sobolev type of fractional order with iterated deviating arguments in Banach space. The sufficient condition for providing the existence of mild solution to the nonlocal Sobolevtype fractional differential equation with iterated deviating arguments is obtained via technique of fixed-point theorems and analytic semigroup method. Finally, an example is given to explain the applicability of the abstract results developed.

Keywords Fractional calculus • Caputo derivative • Fractional differential equation • Nonlocal conditions • Deviated argument

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 26A33, 34K37, 34K40, 34K45, 35R11, 45J05, 45K05.

1 Introduction

Recently, the investigation of fractional differential equation has been picking up much attention from researchers. This is due to the fact that fractional differential equations have various applications in engineering and scientific disciplines, for example, fluid dynamics, fractal theory, diffusion in porous media, fractional biological neurons, traffic flow, polymer rheology, neural network modeling, viscoelastic panel in supersonic gas flow, real system characterized by power laws, electrodynamics of complex medium, sandwich system identification, nonlinear oscillation of earthquake, models of population growth, mathematical modeling of the diffusion of discrete particles in a turbulent fluid, nuclear reactors, and theory of population dynamics. Also, the fractional differential equation is an important

A. Chadha (🖂) • D.N. Pandey

Department of Mathematics, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee 247667, India e-mail: alkachaddha03@gmail.com; alkachadda23@gmail.com; dwij.iitk@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), Differential and Difference Equations with Applications, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_3

tool to describe the memory and hereditary properties of various materials and phenomena. The details on the theory and its applications may be found in books [11, 14, 16, 18] and references cited therein. In addition, there is considerably interest on the part of mathematics in the examination of differential equation with a deviated argument, both in connection with problems in the hypothesis of control system and because of the intrinsic richness and beauty of such equations. Differential equations with deviated argument have extraordinary applications in the hypothesis of self-oscillating systems, problems connected with combustion in rocket motion, the hypothesis of automatic control, a series of biological problems, and the problem of long-range planning in economics and in numerous other fields of sciences and technology, the quantity of which is consistently extending. For more studies of such types of equations, we refer to monograph [7] and papers [8, 19, 20] and references cited therein.

On the other hand, the abstract evolution equations with nonlocal conditions have been studied by many authors. The existence of a solution for abstract Cauchy differential equation with nonlocal conditions in a Banach space has been considered first by Byszewski [3]. In physical science, the nonlocal condition may be connected with better effect in applications than the classical initial condition since nonlocal conditions are normally more exact for physical estimations than the classical initial condition. For the study of nonlocal evolution equation, we refer to [3–5, 9, 10] and references cited therein.

Our main aim of this paper is to examine the Sobolev-type nonlocal differential equation of fractional order with iterated deviating arguments in Banach space X illustrated by

$${}^{c}D_{t}^{p}[\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}z(t)] = \mathbb{L}z(t) + \mathbb{H}(t, z(t), z(d_{1}(t, z(t)))), \ 0 \le t \le T_{0},$$
(1)

$$z(0) = z_0 + h(z), \ z_0 \in \mathbb{X}$$
(2)

where $d_1(\tau, z(\tau)) = b_1(\tau, z(b_2(\tau, \dots, z(b_m(\tau, z(\tau))) \dots))), m \in \mathbb{N}, {}^cD_t^\beta$ is the fractional derivative in Caputo derivative of order $\beta, \beta \in (0, 1)$, and $T_0 \in (0, \infty)$. In (1), we assume that the operators $\mathbb{L} : D(\mathbb{L}) \subset \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{B} : D(\mathbb{B}) \subset \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$, and $\mathbb{E} : D(\mathbb{E}) \subset \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{Z}$ are closed operators, where \mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y} , and \mathbb{Z} are the Hilbert spaces such that \mathbb{Z} is continuously and densely embedded in \mathbb{X} ; the state $y(\cdot)$ takes its values in \mathbb{X} . Thus, function $\mathbb{H} : [0, T_0] \times \mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ is an appropriate function, and *h* is a map from some space of functions satisfying some conditions to be stated later. For more studies of Sobolev-type differential equations, we refer to papers [1, 2, 5, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17] and references cited therein.

We divide the article into three parts. Section 2 presents some basic definitions, lemmas, and theorems. Section 3 focuses on existence result of mild solution to consider system by virtue of the theory of semigroup via fixed-point technique. Section 4 considers an application for illustrating the discussed abstract results.

2 Preliminaries

In this section, some essential facts about semigroup theory, fractional calculus, theorems, and lemmas which will be required to obtain our result are stated.

Definition 2.1 ([16]). Let $z \in L^1([0, T_0], \mathbb{R}^+)$. The fractional integral $(\mathbb{J}_{0,t}^\beta)$ of function *z* with order β is defined by

$$\mathbb{J}_{0,t}^{\beta} z(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\xi)^{\beta-1} z(\xi) d\xi,$$
(3)

where Γ denotes the classical gamma functions. We can also write $\mathbb{J}^{\beta} z(t) = (g_{\beta} * z)(t)$, here

$$g_{\beta}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta)} t^{\beta-1}, & t > 0, \\ 0, & t \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(4)

The notation * stands the convolution of functions and $\lim_{\beta \to 0} g_{\beta}(t) = \delta(t)$, δ means delta Dirac function.

Definition 2.2 ([16]). The fractional derivative in Riemann-Liouville sense is given by

$${}^{RL}D^{\beta}_{0,t}z(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\beta)} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \int_0^t (t-\xi)^{n-\beta-1} z(\xi) d\xi, \ t>0, \ \beta>0, \ \beta\in(n-1,n), \ n\in\mathbb{N},$$
(5)

and $z \in C^{n-1}([0, T_0], X)$.

Definition 2.3 ([16]). The Caputo fractional derivative is given by

$${}^{c}D_{0,t}^{\beta}z(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\beta)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\xi)^{n-\beta-1} z^{n}(\xi) d\xi, \quad n-1 < \alpha < n,$$
(6)

where $z \in C^{n-1}((0, T_0); \mathbb{X}) \cap L^1((0, T_0); \mathbb{X})$.

Throughout the paper, we assume that $(\mathbb{X}, \|\cdot\|), (\mathbb{Y}, \|\cdot\|)$, and $(\mathbb{Z}, \|\cdot\|)$ are Banach spaces. The symbol $C([0, T_0], \mathbb{X})$ represents the space of continuous functions $z : [0, T_0] \to \mathbb{X}$ which is a Banach space with the following norm:

$$||z||_{[0,T_0]} = \sup\{||z(t)|| : t \in [0, T_0]\}.$$

The notation $L(\mathbb{X})$ stands for the Banach space of bounded linear operators $f : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ endowed with the norm $||f||_{L(\mathbb{X})} = \sup\{||f(y)|| : ||y|| = 1\}$. Now, we impose the following data on operators \mathbb{L} and \mathbb{B} :

- (C1) $\mathbb{E}: D(\mathbb{E}) \subset \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{B}: D(\mathbb{B}) \subset \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ are linear operators and $\mathbb{L}: D(\mathbb{L}) \subset \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Z}$ is closed.
- (C2) $D(\mathbb{B}) \subset D(\mathbb{L}), Im(\mathbb{B}) \subset D(\mathbb{E})$, and \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{B} are bijective operators.
- (C3) The operators \mathbb{E}^{-1} : $\mathbb{Z} \to D(\mathbb{E}) \subset \mathbb{Y}$ and \mathbb{B}^{-1} : $\mathbb{Y} \to D(\mathbb{B}) \subset \mathbb{X}$ are assumed to be linear, bounded, and compact operators.

By the hypothesis (C3), it follows that $\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}$ is closed and injective. Thus, its inverse is also closed, i.e., $\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}$ is closed. By the hypothesis (C1)–(C3) and closed graph theorem, we conclude the boundedness of the linear operator $\mathbb{L}\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}$. Therefore, $\mathbb{L}\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}$ generates a semigroup { $S(t), t \ge 0$ }, $S(t) := e^{-\mathbb{L}\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}}$. Thus, without loss of generality, we may assume that $\mathbb{N}_0 := \sup_{t\ge 0} \|S(t)\| < \infty$ and $\mathbb{W}_1 = \|\mathbb{E}^{-1}\|, \mathbb{W}_2 = \|\mathbb{B}^{-1}\|$.

According to previous definitions, the system (1)-(2) is equivalent to the following integral equation

$$[\mathbb{EB}]z(t) = [\mathbb{EB}]z(0) + \int_0^t \frac{(t-\xi)^{\beta-1}}{\Gamma(\beta)} [\mathbb{L}z(\xi) + \mathbb{H}(\xi, z(\xi), z(h_1(\xi, y(\xi))))]d\xi, \quad (7)$$

provided the integral in (7) exists for a.e. $t \in [0, T_0]$.

In this work, $\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{LB}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1} : D(\mathbb{M}) \subset \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$ is assumed to be a generator of a compact analytic semigroup $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}$ of uniformly bounded linear operators. Thus, it follows that there exists a positive constant $\mathbb{N}_0 \ge 1$ such that $||S(t)|| \le \mathbb{N}_0$ for each $t \ge 0$. We assume that $0 \in \rho(\mathbb{M})$, $\rho(\mathbb{M})$ means resolvent set of \mathbb{M} . Therefore, we may determine the fractional power \mathbb{M}^{α} for $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ as a closed linear operator with domain $D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$ with inverse $\mathbb{M}^{-\alpha}$. Moreover, the subspace $D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$ is a dense subset of \mathbb{X} with the norm $||z||_{\alpha} = ||\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}z||$ for $z \in D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$. Thus, it is not difficult to show that $D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$ is a Banach space with supremum norm. Hence, we signify the space $D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$ by \mathbb{X}_{α} endowed with the α -norm $(|| \cdot ||_{\alpha})$. We also have that $\mathbb{X}_{\eta} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{X}_{\alpha}$ for $0 < \alpha < \eta$ which implies the continuity of embedding mapping. Thus, we may define $\mathbb{X}_{-\alpha} = (\mathbb{X}_{\alpha})^*$ for each $\alpha > 0$, dual space of \mathbb{X}_{α} , is a Banach space endowed with the norm

$$||z||_{-\alpha} = ||\mathbb{M}^{-\alpha}z||, \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{X}_{-\alpha}.$$

For more details on the fractional powers of closed linear operators, we refer to the book by Pazy [15].

Now, we present the following lemma follows from the results [6, 21] which will be used to establish the required result.

Lemma 2.1 ([15]). Let us assume that \mathbb{M} generates an analytic semigroup $S(t), t \ge 0$, and $0 \in \rho(\mathbb{M})$. Then,

- (a) $S(t) : \mathbb{X} \to D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}) \ \forall \ t > 0, \ \alpha \ge 0.$
- (b) $S(t)\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}z = \mathbb{M}^{\alpha}S(t)z$ for each $z \in D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$.
- (c) For each t > 0,

Existence of the Mild Solutions for Nonlocal Fractional Differential Equations...

$$\|\frac{d^{j}}{dt^{j}}\mathcal{S}(t)\| \leq \mathbb{N}_{j}, \quad j = 1, 2,$$
(8)

where \mathbb{N}_i , j = 1, 2 are some positive constants.

- (d) The operator $\mathbb{M}^{\alpha} \mathcal{S}(t)$ is bounded and $\|\mathbb{M}^{\alpha} \mathcal{S}(t)\| \leq \mathbb{N}_{\alpha} t^{-\alpha} e^{-\delta t}$ for each t > 0.
- (e) For each $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $z \in D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$, then $\|\mathcal{S}(t)z z\| \leq C_{\alpha}t^{\alpha}\|\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}z\|$.

Remark 2.1 ([5]). The operator $(\mathbb{M})^{-\alpha}$ is a linear bounded operator in \mathbb{X} such that $D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}) = Im(\mathbb{M}^{-\alpha}).$

We denote by $C_{T_0}^{\alpha} = C([0, T_0], \mathbb{X}_{\alpha})$ Banach space of all continuous function $z : [0, T_0] \to \mathbb{X}_{\alpha}$ endowed with the following norm

$$\|z\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}} = \sup_{0 \le t \le T_0} \|z(t)\|_{\alpha} \quad \forall \ z \in \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}.$$

Now, we consider the space

$$\mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha-1} = \{ z \in \mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha} : \| z(\tau_1) - z(\tau_2) \| \le \mathcal{L} |\tau_1 - \tau_2|, \quad \forall \quad \tau_1, \tau_2 \in [0, T_0] \},$$
(9)

which is Banach space with norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha}}$.

According to Definition 2.4 in [5], we provide the definition of mild solution to system (1)-(2).

Definition 2.4. A function $z \in C([0, T_0], \mathbb{X})$ is called a mild solution of system (1)–(2) if $z(0) = z_0 + h(z)$ and following integral equation

$$z(t) = \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)[\mathbb{EB}][z_0 + h(z)] + \int_0^t (t - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t - \vartheta) \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_1(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) d\vartheta, \quad t \in [0, T_0], \quad (10)$$

is satisfied by $z(\cdot)$, where

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t) &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \mathcal{S}(t^{\beta} \zeta) d\zeta, \\ \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t) &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \beta \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \zeta \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \mathcal{S}(t^{\beta} \zeta) d\zeta, \\ \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) &= \frac{1}{\beta} \zeta^{-1 - \frac{1}{\beta}} \psi_{\beta}(\zeta^{\frac{-1}{\beta}}) \geq 0, \\ \psi_{\beta}(\zeta) &= \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{k-1} \zeta^{-\beta k-1} \frac{\Gamma(k\beta + 1)}{k!} \sin(k\pi\beta), \ \zeta \in (0, \infty), \end{split}$$

and $\varphi_{\beta}(\zeta)$ denotes probability density function defined on $(0, \infty)$, i.e., $\varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \ge 0$, $0 < \zeta < \infty$ with $\int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) d\zeta = 1$.

Remark 2.2 ([21]). For each $v \in [0, 1]$

$$\int_0^\infty \zeta^\nu \varphi_\beta(\zeta) d\zeta = \int_0^\infty \zeta^{-\beta\nu} \psi_\beta(\zeta) d\zeta = \frac{\Gamma(1+\nu)}{\Gamma(1+\beta\nu)}.$$
 (11)

Lemma 2.2 ([5]). Let us assume that $S(t), t \ge 0$ is a semigroup of uniformly bounded linear operators generated by operator \mathbb{M} . Then, the operator $\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)$ and $\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t), t \ge 0$, are bounded linear operators such that

- (1) We have $\|\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)z\| \leq \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0 \|z\|$ and $\|\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t)z\| \leq \frac{\mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0}{\Gamma(\beta)} \|z\|$ for each $z \in \mathbb{X}$.
- (2) The families { $\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)$, $t \ge 0$ } and { $\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t)$, $t \ge 0$ } are strongly continuous, i.e., for $0 \le \tau_1 < \tau_2 \le T_0$ and $z \in \mathbb{X}$, we have $\|\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_2)z \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_1)z\| \to 0$ and $\|\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_2)z \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_1)z\| \to 0$ as $\tau_2 \to \tau_1$.
- (3) The $\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)$ and $\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t)$, $t \geq 0$, are both compact operators if S(t), $t \geq 0$, is compact.
- (4) For each $z \in \mathbb{X}$, $0 < \eta < 1$, and $0 < \alpha < 1$, we have $\mathbb{MV}_{\beta}(t)z = \mathbb{M}^{1-\eta}\mathbb{V}_{\beta}\mathbb{M}^{\eta}z$ for $t \in [0, T_0]$. We also have $\|\mathbb{M}^{\alpha}\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t)\| \leq \frac{\beta\mathbb{W}_1\mathbb{W}_2\mathbb{N}_{\alpha}\Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))}t^{-\alpha\beta}$ for each $t \in (0, T_0]$.
- (5) For any $z \in \mathbb{X}_{\alpha}$ and fixed $t \geq 0$, we have $\|\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)z\|_{\alpha} \leq \mathbb{W}_{1}\mathbb{W}_{2}\mathbb{N}_{0}\|z\|_{\alpha}$ and $\|\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t)z\|_{\alpha} \leq \frac{\mathbb{W}_{1}\mathbb{W}_{2}\mathbb{N}_{0}}{\Gamma(\beta)}\|z\|_{\alpha}$.

Lemma 2.3. For each $\phi \in L^p([0, T_0], \mathbb{X})$ and $p \in [1, \infty)$,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_0^{T_0} \|\phi(\vartheta + \epsilon) - \phi(\vartheta)\|^p d\vartheta = 0,$$
(12)

where $\phi(s) = 0$ for $s \notin [0, T_0]$.

3 Main Result

In this segment, the sufficient condition for providing the existence of the α -mild solution for system (1)–(2) is derived. To prove the required result, we have to impose the following assumptions on the data of the system (1)–(2).

(J1) The nonlinear function $\mathbb{H} : [0, T_0] \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha-1} \to \mathbb{X}$ is a Hölder continuous function, and there exist constants $L_{\mathbb{H}} > 0$ and $\theta_1 \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\| \mathbb{H}(t, z_1, w_1) - \mathbb{H}(s, z_2, w_2) \| \le L_{\mathbb{H}}(|t-s|^{\theta_1} + \| z_1 - z_2 \|_{\alpha} + \| w_1 - w_2 \|_{\alpha-1}),$$
(13)

for each $(t, z_1, w_1), (s, z_2, w_2) \in [0, T_0] \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha-1}$.

(J2) The functions $b_i : [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha-1} \to [0, \infty)$, $(i = 1, \dots, m)$ are continuous functions, and there are positive constants L_{b_i} and $0 < \theta_2 \le 1$ such that

$$|b_i(t, z_1) - b_i(s, z_2)| \le L_{b_i}(|t - s|^{\theta_2} + || z_1 - z_2 ||_{\alpha - 1}),$$
(14)

for all (t, z_1) , $(s, z_2) \in [0, T_0] \times \mathbb{X}_{\alpha - 1}$.

(J3) $h \in C(\mathbb{X}_{\alpha}, \mathbb{X}_{\alpha})$ is a nonlinear function, and there exists positive constant L_h such that

$$\|h(w_1) - h(w_2)\|_{\alpha} \le L_h \|w_1 - w_2\|_{\alpha}, \tag{15}$$

for each $w_1, w_2 \in \mathbb{X}_{\alpha}$.

Now, we consider the following space

$$\mathcal{S}^{\alpha} = \{ z \in \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0} \cap \mathcal{C}^{\alpha-1}_{T_0} : \| z \|_{\alpha} \le R \},$$

$$(16)$$

where R > 0 is a constant to be defined later. It is clear that S^{α} is a closed and bounded subset of $C_{T_0}^{\alpha-1}$ which is complete.

Theorem 3.1. If the assumptions (J1)–(J3) are fulfilled and $z_0 \in D(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha})$ with

$$K^* = \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0 \|\mathbb{EB}\| L_h + \frac{\mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_\alpha \Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))} L_F(2+\mathcal{L}L_b) \frac{T_0^{\beta(1-\alpha)}}{\beta(1-\alpha)} < 1, \quad (17)$$

then the system (1)–(2) admits at least one α -mild solution on [0, T_0].

Proof. Firstly, we consider the map $\Upsilon : S^{\alpha} \to S^{\alpha}$ defined by

$$(\Upsilon z)(t) = \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z)) + \int_{0}^{t} (t - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t - \vartheta) \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) ds, \ t \in [0, T_{0}].$$
(18)

Clearly, it is easy to show that $\Upsilon : C^{\alpha}_{T_0} \to C^{\alpha}_{T_0}$ by using the fact that \mathbb{H} and b_i are continuous functions. Now, it remains to show that $\Upsilon_z \in C^{\alpha-1}_{T_0}$. To this end, let $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in [0, T_0]$ with $\tau_1 < \tau_2$. Then, we get

$$\begin{split} \|(\Upsilon z)(\tau_{2}) - (\Upsilon z)(\tau_{1})\|_{\alpha-1} &\leq \|(\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{2}) - \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{1}))[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z))\|_{\alpha-1} \\ &+ \|\int_{0}^{\tau_{2}}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta)^{\beta-1}\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta)\mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))d\vartheta \\ &- \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}}(\tau_{1} - \vartheta)^{\beta-1}\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{1} - \vartheta)\mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))d\vartheta\|_{\alpha-1}, \\ &\leq \|(\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{2}) - \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{1}))[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z))\|_{\alpha-1} \\ &+ \|\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta)^{\beta-1}\mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta)\mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))d\vartheta\|_{\alpha-1} \end{split}$$

$$+ \| \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} (\tau_{2} - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta) \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) d\vartheta$$

$$- \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} (\tau_{1} - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{1} - \vartheta) \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) d\vartheta \|_{\alpha - 1}.$$
(19)

From the first term of the above inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} [\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{2}) - \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(\tau_{1})]\mathbb{M}^{\alpha-1}[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z)) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}\varphi_{\beta}(\zeta)[\mathcal{S}(\tau_{2}^{\beta}\zeta) - \mathcal{S}(\tau_{1}^{\beta}\zeta)]\mathbb{M}^{\alpha-1}[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z))d\zeta. \end{split}$$

Also, we have that for each $z \in X$

$$[\mathcal{S}(\tau_2^{\beta}\zeta) - \mathcal{S}(\tau_1^{\beta}\zeta)]z = \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \frac{d}{ds} \mathcal{S}(s^{\beta}\zeta)zds = \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \beta \zeta s^{\beta-1} \mathbb{M} \mathcal{S}(s^{\beta}\zeta)zds.$$

Therefore, we estimate the first term as

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \| \mathcal{S}(\tau_{2}^{\beta} \zeta) - \mathcal{S}(\tau_{1}^{\beta} \zeta) \| \| \mathbb{M}^{\alpha - 1} [\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}](z_{0} + h(z)) \| d\zeta$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \| \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \| [\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \| \frac{d}{ds} \mathcal{S}(s^{\beta} \zeta) \| ds] \| [\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}] \| \| z_{0} + h(z) \|_{\alpha - 1} d\zeta,$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \mathbb{W}_{1} \mathbb{W}_{2} [\mathbb{N}_{1}(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})] \| [\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}] \| \times \| z_{0} + h(z) \|_{\alpha - 1} d\zeta,$$

$$\leq K_{1}(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) d\zeta,$$

$$= K_{1}(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1}),$$
(20)

where $K_1 = \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_1 \|[\mathbb{EB}]\| \|z_0 + h(z)\|_{\alpha-1}$. The second term can be estimated

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} \| (\tau_{1} - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{1} - \vartheta) - (\tau_{2} - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(\tau_{2} - \vartheta) \|_{\alpha - 1} \| \\ & \times \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \| d\vartheta, \\ & \leq \| \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \| \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \| \left[\frac{d}{d\zeta} S((\zeta - \vartheta)^{\beta} \zeta) \right]_{\zeta = \tau_{2}} \\ & - \frac{d}{d\zeta} S((\zeta - \vartheta)^{\beta} \zeta) |_{\zeta = \tau_{1}}] \mathbb{M}^{\alpha - 2} \| \\ & \times \| \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \| d\zeta d\vartheta, \end{split}$$

$$\leq \mathbb{W}_{1}\mathbb{W}_{2}\int_{0}^{\tau_{1}}\int_{0}^{\infty}\varphi_{\beta}(\zeta)\left[\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\|\mathbb{M}^{\alpha-2}\frac{d^{2}}{d\varsigma^{2}}\mathcal{S}((\varsigma-\vartheta)^{\beta}\zeta)\|d\varsigma\right]N_{\mathbb{H}}d\zeta d\vartheta,$$

$$\leq \mathbb{W}_{1}\mathbb{W}_{2}\int_{0}^{\tau_{1}}\int_{0}^{\infty}\varphi_{\beta}(\zeta)\left[\|\mathbb{M}^{\alpha-2}\|\mathbb{N}_{2}(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})\right]N_{\mathbb{H}}d\zeta d\vartheta,$$

$$\leq K_{2}(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1}), \qquad (21)$$

where $K_2 = \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \| \mathbb{M}^{\alpha-2} \| \mathbb{N}_2 N_{\mathbb{H}} T$. The third integral is estimated as

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \| (\tau_2 - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta} (\tau_2 - \vartheta) \|_{\alpha - 1} \| \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_1(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \| d\vartheta \\ &\leq \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \int_0^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \| \mathbb{B}^{-1} \mathbb{E}^{-1} \| \| \left[\beta (\tau_2 - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \zeta \mathbb{M} \mathcal{S}((\tau_2 - \vartheta)^{\beta} \zeta) \right] \mathbb{M}^{\alpha - 2} \| \\ &\times \| \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_1(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \| d\zeta d\vartheta, \\ &\leq \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \int_0^{\infty} \varphi_{\beta}(\zeta) \| \frac{d}{d\zeta} \mathcal{S}((\zeta - \vartheta)^{\beta} \zeta) |_{\zeta = \tau_2} \mathbb{M}^{\alpha - 2} \| N_{\mathbb{H}} d\zeta d\vartheta, \\ &\leq K_3(\tau_2 - \tau_1), \end{split}$$
(22)

where $K_3 = \mathbb{N}_1 \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \| \mathbb{M}^{\alpha-2} \| N_{\mathbb{H}}$.

Thus, from the inequality (19) to (22), we obtain that

$$\| (\Upsilon y)(\tau_2) - (\Upsilon y)(\tau_1) \|_{\alpha - 1} \le \mathcal{L}(\tau_2 - \tau_1),$$
(23)

for a positive suitable constant $\mathcal{L} = \sum_{l=1}^{3} K_l$. Therefore, we conclude that $(\Upsilon y) \in \mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha-1}$. Hence, we deduce that the operator $\Upsilon : \mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha-1} \to \mathcal{C}_{T_0}^{\alpha-1}$ is a well-defined map. Next, we prove that $\Upsilon : \mathcal{S}^{\alpha} \to \mathcal{S}^{\alpha}$. For $0 \leq t \leq T_0$ and $z \in \mathcal{S}^{\alpha}$, we get that

 $\| (\Upsilon z)(t) \|_{\alpha}$

$$\leq \| \mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)[\mathbb{EB}](z_{0} + h(z))\|_{\alpha} + \int_{0}^{t} \| (t - \vartheta)^{\beta - 1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t - \vartheta) \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))\|_{\alpha} d\vartheta,$$

$$\leq \mathbb{W}_{1} \mathbb{W}_{2} \mathbb{N}_{0} \|\mathbb{EB}\| \cdot \|y_{0} + h(y)\|_{\alpha} + \frac{\mathbb{W}_{1} \mathbb{W}_{2} \mathbb{N}_{\alpha} N_{\mathbb{H}} \Gamma(2 - \alpha) T_{0}^{\beta(1 - \alpha)}}{(1 - \alpha) \Gamma(1 + \beta(1 - \alpha))}.$$
(24)

We choose $R = \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0 \|\mathbb{EB}\| \cdot \|z_0 + h(z)\|_{\alpha} + \frac{\mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_\alpha N_{\mathbb{H}} \Gamma(2-\alpha) T_0^{\beta(1-\alpha)}}{(1-\alpha) \Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))}$ such that

$$\|(\Upsilon y)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}} \leq R.$$

Therefore, we conclude that $\Upsilon(S^{\alpha}) \subset S^{\alpha}$. Next, we will show that Υ is a contraction mapping. For y, $z \in S^{\alpha}$, and $0 \le t \le T_0$, we get that $\|(\Upsilon y)(t) - \nabla y(t)\| \le T_0$. $(\Upsilon z)(t) \|_{\alpha}$

$$\leq \|\mathbb{U}_{\beta}(t)[\mathbb{EB}][h(y) - h(z)]\|_{\alpha} + \|\int_{0}^{t} (t-\vartheta)^{\beta-1} \mathbb{V}_{\beta}(t-\vartheta)[\mathbb{H}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta), y(d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)))) - \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))] d\vartheta\|_{\alpha},$$

$$\leq \mathbb{W}_{1} \mathbb{W}_{2} \mathbb{N}_{0} \|\mathbb{EB}\|L_{h}\|y-z\|_{\alpha} + \frac{\beta \mathbb{W}_{1} \mathbb{W}_{2} \mathbb{N}_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\vartheta)^{\beta(1-\alpha)-1} \times \|\mathbb{H}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta), y(d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)))) - \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))\| d\vartheta.$$
(25)

Now, we estimate

$$\| \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta), y(d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)))) - \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \|$$

$$\leq L_{\mathbb{H}}[\|y(\vartheta) - z(\vartheta)\|_{\alpha} + \|y(d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta))) - z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))\|_{\alpha-1}]$$

$$\leq L_{\mathbb{H}}[\|y(\vartheta) - z(\vartheta)\|_{\alpha} + \|\mathbb{M}^{-1}\| \cdot \|y(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))) - z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))\|_{\alpha}$$

$$+ \|y(d_{1}(\tau, y(\tau))) - y(d_{1}(\tau, z(\tau)))\|_{\alpha-1}].$$
(26)

Let

$$d_j(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)) = b_j(\vartheta, z(b_{j+1}(\vartheta, \cdots, z(\vartheta, b_m(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))) \cdots))), \ j = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \ z \in S^{\alpha},$$

with $d_{m+1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)) = \vartheta$ [20, p. 2183]. Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)) - d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))| &= |b_{1}(\vartheta, y(d_{2}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)))) - b_{1}(\vartheta, z(d_{2}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))||_{\alpha-1}, \\ &\leq L_{b_{1}} \|y(d_{2}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta))) - z(d_{2}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))\|_{\alpha-1}, \\ &\leq L_{b_{1}} [\|y(d_{2}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta))) - y(d_{2}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))\|_{\alpha-1}], \\ &\leq L_{b_{1}} [\mathcal{L}|b_{2}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))) - z(d_{2}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))\|_{\alpha-1}], \\ &\leq L_{b_{1}} [\mathcal{L}|b_{2}(\vartheta, y(d_{3}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta))) - b_{2}(\vartheta, z(d_{3}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta))))| \\ &+ \|\mathbb{M}\|^{-1} \|y - z\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_{0}}}], \\ &\cdots \\ &\leq [L^{m-1}L_{b_{1}}\cdots L_{b_{m}} + L^{m-2}L_{b_{1}}\cdots L_{b_{m-1}} + \cdots + \mathcal{L}L_{b_{1}}L_{b_{2}} \\ &+ L_{b_{1}}]\|\mathbb{M}\|^{-1} \|y - z\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_{0}}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, we get

$$\| \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta), y(d_{1}(\vartheta, y(\vartheta)))) - \mathbb{H}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta), z(d_{1}(\vartheta, z(\vartheta)))) \|$$

$$\leq L_{\mathbb{H}}(2 + \mathcal{L}L_{b} \|\mathbb{M}\|^{-1}) \|y - z\|_{C_{T_{0}}^{\alpha}},$$

$$\leq L_{\mathbb{H}}(2 + \mathcal{L}L_{b}) \|y - z\|_{\mathcal{C}_{T_{0}}^{\alpha}},$$
(28)

where $L_b = [L^{m-1}L_{b_1}\cdots L_{b_m} + L^{m-2}L_{b_1}\cdots L_{b_{m-1}} + \cdots + \mathcal{L}L_{b_1}L_{b_2} + L_{b_1}] > 0.$ Thus, from the inequalities (25) and (28), we obtain $\|(\Upsilon y)(t) - (\Upsilon z)(t)\|_{\alpha}$

$$\leq [\mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0 \| \mathbb{E} \mathbb{B} \| L_h + \frac{\beta \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_\alpha \Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))} L_{\mathbb{H}}(2+\mathcal{L}L_b) \frac{T^{\beta(1-\alpha)}}{\beta(1-\alpha)}] \| y - z \|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}},$$

$$= K^* \| y - z \|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}}.$$
(29)

Taking supremum of t over $[0, T_0]$ and getting

$$\|(\Upsilon y) - (\Upsilon z)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}} \le K^* \|y - z\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}_{T_0}}.$$
(30)

Since $K^* = \mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_0 \|\mathbb{EB}\| L_h + \frac{\mathbb{W}_1 \mathbb{W}_2 \mathbb{N}_\alpha \Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta(1-\alpha))} L_{\mathbb{H}}(2 + \mathcal{L}L_b) \frac{T^{\beta(1-\alpha)}}{(1-\alpha)} < 1$. It implies that Υ is a contraction mapping on S^{α} with constant $K^* < 1$. Therefore, there exists a fixed point of the mapping Υ by Banach fixed-point theorem which is just a mild solution for the problem (1)–(2).

4 Example

We consider the following nonlocal differential problem

$${}^{c}D_{t}^{\beta}[w_{uu}(t,u) - w_{uuuu}(t,u)] + \frac{\partial^{2}w(t,u)}{\partial u^{2}} = \widetilde{H}(u,w(t,u)) + \widetilde{G}(t,u,w(t,u)),$$
$$u \in \mathbb{S}, \ t \in [0,T],$$
(31)

$$w(0,u) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} C_s w(t_s, u), \quad x \in [0, \pi],$$
(32)

$$w(t,0) = w(t,\pi) = 0, \quad 0 < t \le 1,$$
(33)

where ${}^{c}D_{t}^{\beta}$ denotes the fractional derivative in Caputo sense of order $\beta \in (0, 1]$, $C_{s} > 0$ are constants for $s = 1, \dots, n$.

Take $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{Z} = L^2[0, \pi]$ and $\mathbb{S} = [0, \pi]$. Let us consider the operator $\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{B}, \mathbb{L}$ on domains and ranges which is contained in $L^2[0, \pi]$ defined by

$$\mathbb{E}w = w'', \quad \mathbb{B}w = w - w'' \ (\mathbb{E}\mathbb{B}w = w'' - w''''), \quad \mathbb{L}w = -w'', \quad (34)$$

and domains $D(\mathbb{E})$, $D(\mathbb{B})$, $D(\mathbb{L})$ which are given by

 $\{w \in \mathbb{X} : w, w', w'', w'''' \text{ are absolutely continuous, } w'''' \in \mathbb{X}, w(0) = w(\pi) = 0\}.$ (35) Thus, the operators have the following expression:

$$\mathbb{E}w = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m^2(w, w_m) w_m, \quad \mathbb{B}w = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (1+m^2)(w, w_m) w_m, \quad (36)$$

and $\mathbb{L}w = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (-m^2)(w, w_m)w_m$ with $w_m(t) = (\sqrt{2/\pi})\sin(mt)$, $m = 1, \cdots$, as the orthogonal set of eigenfunctions of \mathbb{L} . Moreover, we have

$$\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}w = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m^2(1+m^2)}(w, w_m)w_m,$$
(37)

$$\mathbb{LB}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}w = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{-1}{1+m^2} (w, w_m)w_m,$$
(38)

$$S(t)z = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \exp(\frac{-At}{1+m^2})(z, w_m)w_m.$$
 (39)

Clearly, the operator $\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}$ is bounded and compact such that $\|\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}\| \leq 1$. It is also well known that $\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{L}\mathbb{B}^{-1}\mathbb{E}^{-1}$ generates a strongly continuous semigroup S(t) on $L^2[0, \pi]$ with $\|S(t)\| \leq e^{-t} \leq 1$.

Let $w(t) = w(t, \cdot), h(w) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} C_s w(t_s, u)$. Now, we define the function \mathbb{H} : $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ as

$$\mathbb{H}(t,\vartheta,\zeta)(u) = \widetilde{H}(u,\zeta) + \widetilde{G}(t,u,\vartheta), \text{ for } u \in (0,\pi),$$
(40)

where $\widetilde{H}: [0,1] \times \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ is defined as

$$\widetilde{H}(u,\zeta) = \int_0^u \mathcal{K}(u,y)\zeta(y)dy,$$
(41)

and $\widetilde{G}: \mathbb{R}_+ \times [0, 1] \times \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ satisfies following condition

$$\|\widetilde{G}(t,u,\vartheta)\| \le W(u,t)(1+\|\vartheta\|_{1/2}),\tag{42}$$

where Q is continuous in t and $Q(\cdot, t) \in \mathbb{X}$. Now, from the definition of \mathbb{H} and h, it can be easily shown that \mathbb{H} and h satisfy the assumption (J1)-(J3). Applying the result of Theorem 3.1, we can get that the system (31)-(33) admits a unique mild solution on [0, T].

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the referee for important remarks and suggestions. The work of the first author is supported by the Indian Institute of Technology, Roorkee, IIT Roorkee Heritage , CSIR, New Delhi, with Ref number-TG/8753/14 - HRD and the University Grants Commission (UGC), Government of India, New Delhi, under grant number 6405-11-61.

References

- 1. Agarwal, S., Bahuguna, D.: Existence of solutions to Sobolev-type partial neutral differential equations. J. Appl. Math. Stoch. Anal. **2006**, 10 pp. (2006)
- Balachandran, K., Karunanithi, S.: Regularity of solutions of Sobolev type semilinear integrodifferential equations in Banach spaces. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2003(114), 8 pp. (2003)
- 3. Byszewski, L.: Theorems about the existence and uniqueness of solutions of a semilinear evolution nonlocal Cauchy problem. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **162**, 497–505 (1991)
- 4. Byszewski, L., Lakshmikantham, V.: Theorem about the existence and uniqueness of a solution of a nonlocal abstract Cauchy problem in a Banach space. Appl. Anal. 40, 11–19 (1990)
- Debbouche, A., Nieto, J.J.: Sobolev type fractional abstract evolution equations with nonlocal conditions and optimal multi-controls. Appl. Math. Comput. 245, 74–85 (2014)
- 6. El-Borai, M.: Some probability densities and fundamental solutions of fractional evolution equations. Chaos Solitons Fractals **14**, 433–440 (2002)
- 7. Elsgolc, L.E., Norkin, S.B.: Introduction to the Theory of Differential Equations with Deviating Argument. Academic, New York (1973)
- 8. Gal, C.G.: Nonlinear abstract differential equations with deviated argument. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **333**, 971–983 (2007)
- Feckan, M., Wang, J.R., Zhou, Y.: Controllability of fractional intergro-differential equations of Sobolev type with nonlocal conditions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 156, 79–95 (2013)
- Kerboua, M., Debbouche, A., Baleanu, D.: Approximation controllability of Sobolev type nonlocal fractional stochastic dynamic systems in Hilbert spaces. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2013, 10 pp. (2013)
- 11. Kilbas, A.A., Srivastava, H.M., Trujillo, J.J.: Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2006)
- Li, F., Liang, J., Xu, H.K.: Existence of mild solutions for fractional integro-differential equations of Sobolev type with nonolocal conditions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 391, 510–525 (2012)
- Mahmudov, N.I.: Approximate controllability of fractional Sobolev type evolution equations in Banach spaces. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2013, 9 pp. (2013)
- 14. Miller, K.S., Ross, B.: An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations. Wiley, New York (1993)
- Pazy, A.: Semi-Groups of Linear Operator and Applications of Partial Differential Equations. Springer, New York (1983)
- Podlubny, I.: Fractional Differential Equations, Mathematics in Science and Engineering, vol. 198. Academic, San Diego (1999)
- 17. Radhakrishnan, B., Mohanraj, A., Vinoba, V.: Existence of solutions for nonlinear impulsive neutral integro-differential equations of Sobolev type with nonlocal conditions in Banach spaces. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. **2013**, 13 pp. (2013)
- 18. Samko, S.G., Kilbas, A.A., Marichev, O.I.: Fractional Integrals and Derivatives: Theory and Applications, Gordon and Breach Science Publisher, Yverdon (1993)
- 19. Stevic, S.: Solutions converging to zero of some systems of nonlinear functional differential equations with iterated deviating arguments. Appl. Math. Comput. **219**, 4031–4035 (2012)
- Stevic, S.: Globally bounded solutions of a system of nonlinear functional differential equations with iterated deviating argument. Appl. Math. Comput. 219, 2180–2185 (2012)
- Zhou, Y., Jiao, F.: Existence of mild solutions for fractional neutral evolution equations. Comput. Math. Appl. 59, 1063–1077 (2010)

On Source Identification Problem for Telegraph Differential Equations

Allaberen Ashyralyev and Fatma Çekiç

Abstract In the present paper, the source identification problem for a telegraph equation with unknown parameter p

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2 u(t)}{dt^2} + \alpha \frac{du(t)}{dt} + Au(t) = p + f(t) \ (0 \le t \le T), \\ u(0) = \varphi, u'(0) = \psi, u(T) = \xi \end{cases}$$
(1)

in a Hilbert space H with the self-adjoint positive definite operator A is investigated. Operator approach permitted us to establish stability estimates for the solution of the problem (1). In applications, three source identification problems for telegraph equations are investigated.

Keywords Inverse problem • Telegraph equation • Stability

AMS subject classifications: 35R30, 35L20, 35B35

1 Introduction

The differential equations with parameters play a very important role in many branches of science and engineering. Some examples were given in temperature over-specification by Dehghan [12], robotic chemistry (chromatography) by Kimura and Suzuki [19], and physics (optical tomography) by Gryazin, Klibanov, and Lucas [18].

The source identification problem for partial differential equations has been studied extensively by many researchers (see [1-11, 13-16, 20-22, 24, 26-28] and the references therein). However, such problems were not well investigated in general.

A. Ashyralyev (⊠) • F. Çekiç

Department of Mathematics, Fatih University, 34500 Buyukcekmece, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: aashyr@fatih.edu.tr; fatmacekic@msn.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_4

Our goal in this paper is to investigate telegraph equations with parameter. It is known that various boundary value problems for telegraph equations with parameter can be reduced to source identification problem for the differential equation (1) in a Hilbert space *H* with self-adjoint positive definite operator *A* and $A \ge \delta I$. Here $\delta > 0, \alpha > 0$, and

$$\delta > \frac{\alpha^2}{4}.$$
 (2)

The pair $\{u(t), p\}$ is called a solution of problem (1) if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) u(t) is twice continuously differentiable function on [0, T]. The derivatives at the endpoints of the segment are understood as the appropriate unilateral derivatives.
- (ii) The element u(t) belongs to D(A) for all $t \in [0, T]$, and the function Au(t) is continuous on [0, T].
- (iii) u(t) satisfies the equation and boundary conditions (1), $p \in H$.

It is clear that for finding a solution u(t) of problem (1), it is useful to apply the substitution

$$u(t) = v(t) + A^{-1}p,$$
(3)

where v(t) is the solution of the following nonlocal boundary value problem for the differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2 v(t)}{dt^2} + \alpha \frac{dv(t)}{dt} + Av(t) = f(t) \ (0 \le t \le T), \\ v(T) = v(0) + \xi - \varphi, v_t(0) = \psi \end{cases}$$
(4)

and p is the unknown element defined by formula

$$p = A\left(\xi - v(T)\right). \tag{5}$$

The present paper is organized as follows. Section 1 is introduction. In Sect. 2, the main theorem on stability of problem (1) is established. In applications, theorems on the stability inequalities for the solution of three source identification problems for the telegraph equations are established.

2 The Main Theorem

Let *H* be a Hilbert space, *A* be a positive definite self-adjoint operator with $A \ge \delta I$, where $\delta > 0$. Let $\alpha > 0$ and

$$\delta > \frac{\alpha^2}{4}.\tag{6}$$

Throughout this paper, $\{c(t), t \ge 0\}$ is a strongly continuous cosine operator function defined by the formula

$$c(t) = \frac{e^{itB^{1/2}} + e^{-itB^{1/2}}}{2}.$$

Then, from the definition of the sine operator function s(t)

$$s(t)u = \int_0^t c(s)u \, ds,$$

it follows that

$$s(t) = B^{-1/2} \frac{e^{itB^{1/2}} - e^{-itB^{1/2}}}{2i}.$$

Here $B = A - \frac{\alpha^2}{4}I$. For the theory of cosine operator function, we refer to [17] and [23].

Now, let us give some lemmas that will be needed below.

Lemma 1. The estimates hold:

$$\|c(t)\|_{H \to H} \le 1, \|B^{1/2}s(t)\|_{H \to H} \le 1, \|B^{-1/2}\|_{H \to H} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta - \frac{\alpha^2}{4}}}.$$
 (7)

Lemma 2. Assume that

$$1 > \left(1 + \frac{\frac{\alpha}{2}}{\sqrt{\delta - \frac{\alpha^2}{4}}}\right)e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T}.$$
(8)

Then, the operator

$$I - \left(c(T) + \frac{\alpha}{2}s(T)\right)e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T}$$

has inverse

$$P = \left\{ I - \left(c(T) + \frac{\alpha}{2} s(T) \right) e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T} \right\}^{-1},$$

and the following estimate

$$||P||_{H \to H} \le M \tag{9}$$

holds, where $M = M(\delta, \alpha) > 0$.

Firstly, the solvability of problem (1) in the space C(H) of the continuous *H*-valued functions $\varphi(t)$ defined on [0, T], equipped with the norm

$$||u||_{C(H)} = \max_{0 \le t \le T} ||\varphi(t)||_{H}$$

is investigated. We will prove the following main theorem on continuous dependence of the solution on the given data.

Theorem 1. Suppose that $\varphi, \xi \in D(A)$ and $\psi \in D(A^{\frac{1}{2}})$. Let conditions (6) and (8) be satisfied and f(t) be continuously differentiable function on [0, T]. Then, for the solution (u(t), p) of problem (1) in $C(H) \times H$ the following stability inequalities

$$c \|u\|_{C(H)} + \|A^{-1}p\|_{H} \leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\|\varphi\|_{H} + \|\xi\|_{H} + \|A^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi\|_{H} + \|f\|_{C(H)} \right],$$
$$\left\| \frac{d^{2}u}{dt^{2}} \right\|_{C(H)} + \|Au\|_{C(H)} + \|p\|_{H} \leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\left\| A\varphi \right\|_{H} + \|\varphi\|_{H} + \|A^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi\|_{H} + \|A\xi\|_{H} + \|\xi\|_{H} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \|f'(t)\|_{H} + \|f(0)\|_{H} \right].$$

hold, where $M(\delta, \alpha)$ is independent of $f(t), t \in [0, T]$ and φ, ψ, ξ .

Proof of Theorem 1 is based on formulas (3) and (5) and the following theorem on well posedness of nonlocal boundary value problem (4).

Theorem 2. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 1 hold. Then, for the solution v(t) of problem (4) in C(H) the stability estimates

$$\|v\|_{C(H)} \le M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\|\varphi\|_{H} + \|\psi\|_{H} + \|\xi\|_{H} + \|f\|_{C(H)} \right],$$
(10)

$$\left\| \frac{d^{2}v}{dt^{2}} \right\|_{C(H)} + \|Av\|_{C(H)}$$

$$\leq M(\delta, \alpha) \Big[\|A\varphi\|_{H} + \|\varphi\|_{H} + \left\|A^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi\right\|_{H} + \|A\xi\|_{H} + \|\xi\|_{H}$$

$$+ \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \|f'(t)\|_{H} + \|f(0)\|_{H} \Big]$$

$$(11)$$

hold, where $M(\delta, \alpha)$ does not depend on $f(t), t \in [0, T]$ and φ, ψ, ξ .

Proof. First, we obtain the formula for solution of problem (4) under the assumption (6). We have the following formula

$$v(t) = e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}c(t)v(0) + \frac{\alpha}{2}e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}s(t)v(0) + e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}s(t)\psi + \int_{0}^{t}e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}(t-z)}s(t-z)f(z)dz$$
(12)

for the mild solution of initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2 v(t)}{dt^2} + \alpha \frac{d v(t)}{dt} + A v(t) = f(t) \ (0 \le t \le T), \\ v(0) \text{ is given, } v'(0) = \psi. \end{cases}$$

Applying condition $v(T) = v(0) + \xi - \varphi$, and formula (12), we get

$$v(0) = \left(c(T) + \frac{\alpha}{2}s(T)\right)e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T}v(0) + e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T}s(T)\psi + \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}(T-z)}s(T-z)f(z)dz + \varphi - \xi.$$
 (13)

By Lemma 2, under the assumption (8), there exists of inverse

$$P = \left\{ I - \left(c(T) + \frac{\alpha}{2} s(T) \right) e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T} \right\}^{-1}.$$

Therefore, using (13), we obtain

$$v(0) = P\left\{e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T}s(T)\psi + \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}(T-z)}s(T-z)f(z)dz + \varphi - \xi\right\}.$$
 (14)

Consequently, the solutions of problem (4) satisfy formulas (12) and (14).

Second, we obtain estimate (10). Using formulas (14) and (12) and estimate (7), we obtain

$$\|v(0)\|_{H} \le M_{1}(\delta, \alpha) \left[\|\varphi\|_{H} + \left\| A^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi \right\|_{H} + \|\xi\|_{H} + \max_{0 \le t \le T} \|f(t)\|_{H} \right],$$
$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \|v(t)\|_{H} \le M_{2}(\delta, \alpha) \left[\|v(0)\|_{H} + \left\| A^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi \right\|_{H} + \max_{0 \le t \le T} \|f(t)\|_{H} \right].$$

Estimate (10) follows from these estimates.

Third, we obtain estimate (11). Applying A to formula (14) and estimates (7), we get

$$\begin{split} \|Av(0)\|_{H} &\leq \|P\|_{H \to H} \left\{ \left\| A^{\frac{1}{2}} B^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{H \to H} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T} \left\| B^{\frac{1}{2}} s(T) \right\|_{H \to H} \left\| A^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi \right\|_{H} + \|A\varphi\|_{H} \\ &+ \|A\xi\|_{H} + \|AB^{-1}\|_{H \to H} \left[\|f(T)\|_{H} + e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}T} \|c(T)\|_{H \to H} \|f(0)\|_{H} \right] \end{split}$$

$$\times \left\| AB^{-1} \right\|_{H \to H} \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}(T-z)} \left\| c(T-z) \right\|_{H \to H} \left[\frac{\alpha}{2} \left\| f(z) \right\|_{H} + \left\| f'(z) \right\|_{H} \right] dz \right\}$$

$$\le M_{1}(\delta, \alpha) \left\{ \left\| A\varphi \right\|_{H} + \left\| A\xi \right\|_{H} + \left\| A^{1/2}\psi \right\|_{H} + \left\| f(0) \right\|_{H} + \int_{0}^{T} \left\| f'(t) \right\|_{H} dt \right\}.$$
(15)

Applying A to formula (12) and using an integration by parts, we can write the formula

$$Av(t) = e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}c(t)Av(0) + \frac{\alpha}{2}e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}A^{\frac{1}{2}}s(t)A^{\frac{1}{2}}v(0) + A^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}s(t)A^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi + e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}AB^{-1}\left[e^{\frac{\alpha}{2}t}f(t) - c(t)f(0) - \int_{0}^{t}e^{\frac{\alpha}{2}z}c(t-z)\left[\frac{\alpha}{2}f(z) + f'(z)\right]dz\right].$$

Using the last formula and estimates (7), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|Au(t)\|_{H} &\leq \|c(t)\|_{H \to H} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t} \|Av(0)\|_{H} \\ &+ \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}s(t)\|_{H \to H} \|A^{1/2}B^{-\frac{1}{2}}\|_{H \to H} \left|\frac{\alpha}{2e^{\frac{\alpha}{2}t}}\right| \|A^{\frac{1}{2}}v(0)\|_{H} \\ &+ \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}s(t)\|_{H \to H} \|A^{1/2}B^{-\frac{1}{2}}\|_{H \to H} |e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}| \|A^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi\|_{H} \\ &+ \|AB^{-1}\|_{H \to H} \left[\|f(t)\|_{H} + e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}t}\|c(t)\|_{H \to H} \|f(0)\|_{H}\right] \\ &+ \|AB^{-1}\|_{H \to H} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}(t-z)} \|c(t-z)\|_{H \to H} \left[\frac{\alpha}{2} \|f(z)\|_{H} + \|f'(z)\|_{H}\right] dz \\ &\leq M_{3}(\delta, \alpha) \left[\|Av(0)\|_{H} + \|A^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi\|_{H} + \|f(0)\|_{H} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \|f'(t)\|_{H}\right] \end{split}$$

for any $t \in [0, T]$. Then, we get

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \| Av(t) \|_{H}$$

$$\leq M_{3}(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| Av(0) \|_{H} + \| A^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi \|_{H} + \| f(0) \|_{H} + \max_{0 \le t \le T} \| f'(t) \|_{H} \right].$$
(16)

Estimate

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \|Au(t)\|_{H}$$

$$\leq M_{4}(\delta, \alpha) \left\{ \|A\varphi\|_{H} + \|A\xi\|_{H} + \|A^{1/2}\psi\|_{H} + \|f(0)\|_{H} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f'(t)\|_{H} dt \right\}$$

follows from estimates (11), (15) and (16). Finally, estimate for $\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left\| \frac{d^2 u}{dt^2} \right\|_H$ follows from the last estimate and the triangle inequality. Theorem 2 is proved. Now, we will consider three applications of Theorem 1.

First, we consider the nonlocal boundary value problem for telegraph equation

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt}(t,x) + \alpha u_{t}(t,x) - (a(x)u_{x})_{x} + \delta u(t,x) = p(x) + f(t,x), \\ 0 < t < T, 0 < x < l, \\ u(0,x) = \varphi(x), u_{t}(0,x) = \psi(x), u(T,x) = \xi(x), 0 \le x \le l, \\ u(t,0) = u(t,l), u_{x}(0,x) = u_{x}(t,l), 0 \le t \le T. \end{cases}$$

$$(17)$$

Problem (17) has a unique smooth solution (u(t, x), p(x)) for the smooth $a(x) \ge a > 0, x \in (0, l), \delta > 0, a(l) = a(0), \varphi(x), \psi(x), \xi(x), (x \in [0, l] and <math>f(t, x)(t \in (0, T), x \in (0, l))$ functions. This allows us to reduce boundary value problem (17) to abstract boundary value problem (1) in a Hilbert space $H = L_2[0, 1]$ with a self-adjoint positive definite operator A^x defined by formula

$$A^{x}u(x) = -(a(x)u_{x})_{x} + \delta u \tag{18}$$

with domain

$$D(A^{x}) = \{u(x) : u(x), u_{x}(x), (a(x)u_{x})_{x} \in L_{2}[0, 1], u(1) = u(0), u_{x}(1) = u_{x}(0)\}.$$

Theorem 3. Let conditions (6) and (8) be satisfied. Then, for the solution $\{u(t, x), p(x)\}$ of problem (17), we have the following stability inequalities

$$\| u \|_{C(L_{2}[0,1])} + \| (A^{x})^{-1} p \|_{L_{2}[0,1]}$$

$$\leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \varphi \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} + \| \psi \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} + \| \xi \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f(t) \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} \right],$$

$$\max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| u'' \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} + \| u \|_{C(W_{2}^{2}[0,1])} + \| p \|_{L_{2}[0,1]}$$

$$\leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \varphi \|_{W_{2}^{2}[0,1]} + \| \psi \|_{W_{2}^{1}[0,1]} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f'(t) \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} + \| \xi \|_{W_{2}^{2}[0,1]} + \| f(0) \|_{L_{2}[0,1]} \right],$$
(19)

where $M(\delta, \lambda)$ is independent of $\varphi(x), \psi(x), \xi(x)$, and f(t, x). Here, the Sobolev space $W_2^2[0, 1]$ is defined as the set of all functions f defined on [0, 1] such that f and second order derivative function f'' are both locally integrable in $L_2[0, 1]$, equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W_{2}^{2}[0,1]} = \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f(x)|^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f_{xx}(x)|^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and the Sobolev space $W_2^1[0, 1]$ is defined as the set of all functions f defined on [0, 1] such that f and first order derivative function f' are both locally integrable in $L_2[0, 1]$, equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W_{2}^{1}[0,1]} = \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f(x)|^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f_{x}(x)|^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Proof. Problem (17) can be written in abstract form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2 u(t)}{dt^2} + \alpha \frac{du(t)}{dt} + Au(t) = f(t) \ (0 \le t \le T), \\ u(0) = \varphi, u'(0) = \psi, u(T) = \xi \end{cases}$$
(21)

in a Hilbert space $L_2[0, l]$ of all square integrable functions defined on [0, l] with self-adjoint positive definite operator $A = A^x$ defined by formula (18). Here, f(t) = f(t, x) and u(t) = u(t, x) are known and unknown abstract functions defined on [0, l] with the values in $H = L_2[0, l]$. Therefore, estimates (19) and (20) follow from estimates of Theorem 1.

Second, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded open domain with smooth boundary $S, \overline{\Omega} = \Omega \cup S$. In $[0, T] \times \Omega$, we consider the nonlocal boundary value problem for the telegraph equation

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt}(t,x) + \alpha u_{t}(t,x) - \sum_{r=1}^{n} (a_{r}(x)u_{x_{r}})x_{r} = p(x) + f(t,x), \\ x = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \in \Omega, 0 < t < T, \\ u(0,x) = \varphi(x), \frac{\partial u(0,x)}{\partial t} = \psi(x), u(T,x) = \xi(x), x \in \overline{\Omega}, \\ u(t,x) = 0, x \in S, 0 \le t \le T, \end{cases}$$
(22)

where $\alpha_r(x)$, $(x \in \Omega)$, $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(x)$, $\xi(x)$, $(x \in \overline{\Omega})$ and f(t, x), $(t \in (0, T))$, $x \in \Omega$ are given smooth functions and $\alpha_r(x) > 0$, $\delta \ge 0$. We introduce the Hilbert spaces $L_2(\overline{\Omega})$ of the all square integrable functions defined on $\overline{\Omega}$, equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})} = \left\{ \int \cdots \int_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} |f(x)|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_n \right\}^{1/2}$$

Problem (22) has a unique smooth solution (u(t, x), p(x)) for the smooth functions $\varphi(x), \psi(x), a_r(x)$ and f(t, x). This allows us to reduce the problem (22) to the abstract boundary value problem (1) in the Hilbert space $H = L_2(\overline{\Omega})$ with a self-adjoint positive definite operator A^x defined by formula

$$A^{x}u(x) = -\sum_{r=1}^{n} (a_{r}(x)u_{x_{r}})_{x_{r}}$$
(23)

with domain

$$D(A^{x}) = \left\{ u(x) : u(x), u_{x_{r}}(x), (a_{r}(x)u_{x_{r}})_{x_{r}} \in L_{2}(\overline{\Omega}), 1 \le r \le n, u(x) = 0, x \in S \right\}.$$

Theorem 4. Let conditions (6) and (8) be satisfied. Then, for the solution $\{u(t, x), p(x)\}$ of problem (22) the stability inequalities

$$\begin{split} \| u \|_{C(L_{2}(\overline{\Omega}))} + \| (A^{x})^{-1} p \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ &\leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \xi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \varphi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \psi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f(t) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \right] \\ &\max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| u'' \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| u \|_{C(W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega}))} + \| p \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ &\leq M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \varphi \|_{W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \psi \|_{W_{2}^{1}(\overline{\Omega})} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f'(t) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ &+ \| \xi \|_{W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| f(0) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \right] \end{split}$$

hold, where $M(\delta, \alpha)$ does not depend on $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(x)$, $\xi(x)$ and f(t, x). Here and in future, the Sobolev space $W_2^2(\overline{\Omega})$ is defined as the set of all functions f defined on $\overline{\Omega}$ such that f and all second order partial derivative functions f_{x_r,x_r} , r = 1, ..., n are both locally integrable in $L_2(\overline{\Omega})$, equipped with the norm

$$||f||_{W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega})} = ||f||_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \left(\int \cdots \int_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \sum_{r=1}^{n} |f_{x_{r},x_{r}}|^{2} dx_{1} \cdots dx_{n}\right)^{1/2}$$

and the Sobolev space $W_2^1(\overline{\Omega})$ is defined as the set of all functions f defined on $\overline{\Omega}$ such that f and all first order partial derivative functions $f_{x_r}, r = 1, ..., n$ are both locally integrable in $L_2(\overline{\Omega})$, equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W_2^1(\overline{\Omega})} = \|f\|_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})} + \left(\int \cdots \int_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \sum_{r=1}^n |f_{x_r}|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_n\right)^{1/2}$$

The proof of Theorem 4 is based on Theorem 1 and the symmetry properties of the operator A^x defined by formula (23) and the following theorem on the coercivity inequality for the solution of the elliptic differential problem in $L_2(\overline{\Omega})$.

Theorem 5. For the solutions of the elliptic differential problem [25]

$$\begin{cases} A^{x}u(x) = \omega(x), x \in \Omega\\ u(x) = 0, x \in S, \end{cases}$$

the following coercivity inequality holds

$$\sum_{r=1}^n \|u_{x_rx_r}\|_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})} \le M_1 ||\omega||_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})}.$$

Here M_1 *does not depend on* $\omega(x)$ *.*

Third, in $[0, T] \times \Omega$, the boundary value problem for the multidimensional telegraph equation

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt}(t,x) + \alpha u_t(t,x) - \sum_{r=1}^n (a_r(x)u_{x_r})x_r + \delta u = p(x) + f(t,x), \\ x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega, 0 < t < T, \\ u(0,x) = \varphi(x), \frac{\partial u(0,x)}{\partial t} = \psi(x), u(T,x) = \xi(x), x \in \overline{\Omega}, \\ \frac{\partial u(t,x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, x \in S, 0 \le t \le T \end{cases}$$

$$(24)$$

with the Neumann condition is considered. Here, **n** is the normal vector to S, $a_r(x) \ge a > 0$, $(x \in \Omega)$, $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(x)$, $\xi(x)$ $(x \in \overline{\Omega})$, and f(t,x) $(t \in (0,T), x \in \Omega)$ are given smooth functions and $\delta > 0$. Problem (24) has a unique smooth solution (u(t,x), p(x)) for the smooth functions $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(x)$, $\xi(x)$, $a_r(x)$ and f(t,x). This allows us to reduce the problem (24) to the abstract boundary value problem (1) in the Hilbert space $H = L_2(\overline{\Omega})$ with a self-adjoint positive definite operator A^x defined by formula

$$A^{x}u(x) = -\sum_{r=1}^{n} (a_{r}(x)u_{x_{r}})_{x_{r}} + \delta u$$
(25)

with domain

$$D(A^{x}) = \left\{ u(x) : u(x), u_{x_{r}}(x), (a_{r}(x)u_{x_{r}})_{x_{r}} \in L_{2}(\overline{\Omega}), 1 \le r \le n, \frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, x \in S \right\}.$$

Theorem 6. Let conditions (6) and (8) be satisfied. Then, for the solution $\{u(t, x), p(x)\}$ of problem (24), the following stability inequalities

$$\begin{split} \| u \|_{C(L_{2}(\overline{\Omega}))} &+ \| (A^{x})^{-1} p \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ \leq & M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \xi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \varphi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \psi \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f(t) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \right] \\ & \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| u'' \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| u \|_{C(W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega}))} + \| p \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ \leq & M(\delta, \alpha) \left[\| \varphi \|_{W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| \psi \|_{W_{2}^{1}(\overline{\Omega})} + \max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \| f'(t) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \\ &+ \| \xi \|_{W_{2}^{2}(\overline{\Omega})} + \| f(0) \|_{L_{2}(\overline{\Omega})} \right], \end{split}$$

hold, where $M(\delta, \alpha)$ does not depend on $\varphi(x), \psi(x), \xi(x)$ and f(t, x).

The proof of Theorem 6 is based on Theorem 1 and the symmetry properties of the operator A^x defined by formula (24) and the following theorem on the coercivity inequality for the solution of the elliptic differential problem in $L_2(\overline{\Omega})$.

Theorem 7. For the solutions of the elliptic differential problem

$$\begin{cases} A^{x}u(x) = \omega(x), x \in \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, x \in S, \end{cases}$$

the following coercivity inequality holds [25]

$$\sum_{r=1}^n \|u_{x_rx_r}\|_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})} \le M_1(\delta) ||\omega||_{L_2(\overline{\Omega})}.$$

Here $M_1(\delta)$ *is independent of* $\omega(x)$ *.*

References

- Akyildiz, F., Tatar, S., Ulusoy, S.: Existence and uniqueness for a nonlinear inverse reactiondiffusion problem with a nonlinear source in higher dimensions. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 36, 2397–2402 (2013)
- 2. Ashyralyev, A.: On a problem of determining the parameter of a parabolic equation. Ukr. Math. J. **62**, 1200–1210 (2010)
- Ashyralyyev, C.: High order approximation of the inverse elliptic problem with Dirichlet-Neumann conditions. Filomat 28, 947–962 (2014)
- Ashyralyev, A., Agirseven, D.: On source identification problem for a delay parabolic equation. Nonlinear Anal. Modell. Control 19, 335–349 (2014)

- 5. Ashyralyev, A., Ashyralyyev, C.: On the problem of determining the parameter of an elliptic equation in a Banach space. Nonlinear Anal. Modell. Control **19**, 350–366 (2014)
- Ashyralyev, A., Ashyralyyeva, M.A.: On source identification problem for a hyperbolicparabolic equation. Contemp. Anal. Appl. Math. 3(1), 88–103 (2015)
- 7. Ashyralyev, A., Erdogan, A.: Well-posedness of the right-hand side identification problem for a parabolic equation. Ukr. Math. J. **66**, 165–177 (2014). doi:10.1007/s11253-014-0920-0
- 8. Ashyralyev, A., Sobolevskii, P.: New Difference Schemes for Partial Differential Equations. Birkhäser Verlag, Basel (2004)
- 9. Ashyralyev, A., Erdogan, A., Demirdag, O.: On the determination of the right-hand side in a parabolic equation. Appl. Numer. Math. **62**, 1672–1683 (2012)
- 10. Blasio, G.D., Lorenzi, A.: Identification problems for parabolic delay differential equations with measurement on the boundary. J. Inv. Ill-Posed Probl. **15**, 709–734 (2007)
- 11. Daoudi-Merzagui, N., Tabet, Y.: Existence of multiple positive solutions for a nonlocal boundary value problem with sign changing nonlinearities. Filomat **27**, 485–497 (2013)
- 12. Dehghan, M.: Determination of a control parameter in the two-dimensional diffusion equation. Appl. Numer. Math. **37**, 489–502 (2001)
- 13. Eidelman, Y.: Boundary value problems for differential equations with parameters. Ph.D. thesis, Voronezh State University (1984) [In Russian]
- Erdogan, A.: A note on the right-hand side identification problem arising in biofluid mechanics. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2012 (2012). Article Number: 548508(2012). doi:10.1155/2012/5485082012
- 15. Erdogan, A., Ashyralyev, A.: On the second order implicit difference schemes for a right hand side identification problem. Appl. Math. Comput. **226**, 212–228 (2014)
- Erdogan, A., Sazaklioglu, A.: A note on the numerical solution of an identification problem for observing two-phase flow in capillaries. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 37, 2393–2405 (2014)
- 17. Fattorini, H.O.: Second Order Linear Differential Equations in Banach Spaces. Notas de Matematica, North-Holland (1985)
- Gryazin, Y., Klibanov, M., Lucas, T.: Imaging the diffusion coefficient in a parabolic inverse problem in optical tomography. Inverse Prob. 25, 373–397 (1999)
- 19. Kimura, T., Suzuki, T.: A parabolic inverse problem arising in a mathematical model for chromatography. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 53, 1747–1761 (1993)
- Orlovsky, D., Piskarev, S.: On approximation of inverse problems for abstract elliptic problems. J. Inv. Ill-Posed Probl. 17, 765–782 (2009)
- 21. Orlovsky, D., Piskarev, S.: Approximation of the Bitsadze-Samarskii inverse problem for an elliptic equation with the dirichlet conditions. Differ. Equ. **49**, 895–907 (2013)
- Ozbilge, E., Demir, A.: Identification of the unknown coefficient in a quasi-linear parabolic equation by a semigroup approach. J. Inequ. Appl. 2013 (2013). Article number 212. doi: 10.1186/1029-242X-2013-212
- Piskarev, S., Shaw, Y.: On certain operator families related to cosine operator function. Taiwan. J. Math. 1, 3585–3592 (1997)
- Safari, A.R., Mekhtiyev, M., Sharifov, Y.: Maximum principle in the optimal control problems for systems with integral boundary conditions and its extension. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2013 (2013). Article Number 946910. doi: 10.1155/2013/946910
- Sobolevskii, P.E.: Difference methods for the approximate solution of differential equations. Voronezh State University Press, Voronezh, Russia (1975) [In Russian]
- Tinaztepe, R., Tatar, S., Ulusoy, S: Identification of the density dependent coefficient in an inverse reaction-diffusion problem from a single boundary data. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2014(21), 1–14 (2014).
- Shakhmurov, V.B., Sahmurova, A..: Abstract parabolic problems with parameter and application. Appl. Math. Comput. 219, 9561–9571 (2013)
- 28. Wu, B., Wu, S.: Existence and uniqueness of an inverse source problem for a fractional integrodifferential equation. Comput. Math. Appl. **68**, 1123–1136 (2014)

On a One-Equation Turbulent Model with Feedbacks

H.B. de Oliveira and A. Paiva

Abstract A one-equation turbulent model is derived in this work on the basis of the approach used for the k-epsilon model. The novelty of the model consists in the consideration of a general feedback forces field in the momentum equation and a rather general turbulent dissipation function in the equation for the turbulent kinetic energy. For the steady-state associated boundary value problem, we prove the uniqueness of weak solutions under monotonous conditions on the feedbacks and smallness conditions on the solutions to the problem. We also discuss the existence of weak solutions and issues related with the higher integrability of the solutions gradients.

Keywords Turbulence • k-epsilon model • Feedback forces • Uniqueness

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 76F60, 93A30, 35Q35, 76D03

1 Introduction

The Navier–Stokes equations were proposed by Navier in 1822, and later on, in 1845, due to the clarifying work made by Stokes, these equations found a phenomenological justification on the basis of the principles of fluid mechanics. Since then, these equations are used to describe Newtonian fluid flows, which, in the case of incompressible and homogeneous fluids, can be written as

H.B. de Oliveira

Faculty of Sciences and Technology, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Centro de Matemática, Aplicações Fundamentais e Investigação Operacional (CMAFCIO), Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal e-mail: holivei@ualg.pt

A. Paiva (🖂) Faculty of Sciences and Technology, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal e-mail: ana-paiva@hotmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_5

div
$$\mathbf{u} = 0,$$
 (1)
 $\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{div}(\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{u}) = \mathbf{f} - \frac{1}{\rho} \nabla p + \nu \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}), \quad \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{u}^T \right),$ (2)

where $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2, u_3)$ is the velocity field, p is the pressure, ρ is the constant (positive) density, and \mathbf{f} denotes the external forces field. The tensor $\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u})$ is the symmetric part of $\nabla \mathbf{u}$ and accounts for the different strains in the fluid. The positive factor ν expresses the ratio of the internal forces in the fluid, called dynamic viscosity, to the mass density ρ , and is usually called kinematic viscosity. In 1883, Reynolds has succeeded to prove the importance of a threshold value separating the laminar flow regime from the turbulent one within a similar fluid. Nowadays, this value is known as the Reynolds number, and it is usually defined as the ratio of inertial forces to viscous forces $Re = \frac{u(l) l}{v} \equiv \frac{(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}}{v \Delta \mathbf{u}}$, where l and u(l) are characteristic length and velocity scales. It was Stokes, even before Reynolds, who observed the inadequacy of (1) and (2) to model certain flow regimes that could probably result from eddies which rendered the motion more chaotic. However, it seems to have been Reynolds the first to study the mechanical significance of the existence of such eddies. The approach made by Reynolds was to assume that the flow has two different scales, leading to the supposition that it is possible to decompose the quantities in the Navier–Stokes equations in average and fluctuating, or aleatory, values (Reynolds hypothesis). The idea associated to this decomposition was to filter the Navier–Stokes equations in time intervals large enough, in comparison to the temporal scale of the flow, but small enough in comparison with the time scale of the average of the flow. Therefore, the velocity of a molecule was decomposed into two components:

$$\mathbf{u} = \overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}',\tag{3}$$

where \mathbf{u}' represents the fluctuating, or relative velocity, and $\overline{\mathbf{u}}$ represents an average velocity. Underlying this decomposition is a filter, or an average, concept that can be mathematically defined as a Reynolds operator [15], i.e., an operator $\mathscr{R} : \mathbb{R}^3 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^3$ defined by $\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) = \overline{\mathbf{u}}$ and satisfying to the following properties:

$$\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u} + \lambda \mathbf{v}) = \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) + \lambda \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v}) \quad \forall \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{R}^3 \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R};$$
(4)

$$\mathscr{R}(\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u})) = \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \quad \forall \ \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^3; \tag{5}$$

$$\mathscr{R}(\partial \mathbf{u}) = \partial \left(\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \right) \quad \forall \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^3; \tag{6}$$

$$\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}\otimes\mathbf{v})=\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u})\otimes\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})+\mathscr{R}((\mathbf{u}-\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}))\otimes(\mathbf{v}-\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})))\quad\forall\ \mathbf{u},\ \mathbf{v}\in\mathbb{R}^{3}.$$
(7)

Observe that (5) implies that $\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}') = \mathbf{0}$ for any $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, and from (7) we have $\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})) = \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathscr{R}(\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \otimes \mathbf{v}) = \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})$ which makes $\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})) = \mathscr{R}(\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}) \otimes \mathbf{v})$. Since the tensorial product is not commutative, we have, in general, $\mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v})) \neq \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{v} \otimes \mathscr{R}(\mathbf{u}))$. However, this inequality is

not observed when the Reynolds averaged Navier–Stokes equations (RANS) are derived in the scalar form. The definition of Reynolds operator described above is used to filter the Navier–Stokes equations (1) and (2) in a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, which represents the volume occupied by the fluid on the time $t \in [0, T]$. After some algebraic manipulations, we obtain the so-called RANS equations

$$\operatorname{div}\overline{\mathbf{u}} = 0, \tag{8}$$

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\mathbf{u}}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\overline{\mathbf{u}} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{u}}) = \overline{\mathbf{f}} - \frac{1}{\rho} \nabla \overline{p} + \nu \operatorname{div} \mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}) - \operatorname{div}(\overline{\mathbf{u}' \otimes \mathbf{u}'}).$$
(9)

Equation (9) looks the same as the momentum equation (2), with the addition of a term involving the average of a product of fluctuating parts of the velocity. The additional term

$$\mathbf{R} := -\overline{\mathbf{u}' \otimes \mathbf{u}'},\tag{10}$$

often called the Reynolds stress tensor, can be seen as the average of changes in \mathbf{u}' due to the particle transport with the fluid movement. Therefore, the tensor (10) acts like an effective stress and cannot be determined from the classical principles. As we do not have any way to know directly its magnitude, the modeling of its effect is usually done in terms of known quantities or quantities that we can determine. This is known in the literature as the closing problem of turbulence, and, as a result, many schemes have been developed to approximate the Reynolds stress tensor.

2 The $k - \epsilon$ Turbulent Model

Reynolds has made experiments suggesting that the tensor (10) was somehow related with $\nabla \overline{\mathbf{u}}$, which, by reasons of symmetry, can now be considered in the form $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}))$. However, the application \mathbf{F} cannot be arbitrarily chosen, because the model should give the same results regardless of the considered referential. In analogy with the Stokes law for laminar flows, Boussinesq has proposed that $\mathbf{R} = v_T \mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})$ (Boussinesq turbulence hypothesis), where v_T was denoted by eddy or turbulent viscosity. By a simple comparison of the traces of the last expression with (10), it can be readily seen that the Boussinesq hypothesis must be rewritten in the form

$$\mathbf{R} = -\frac{2}{3}k\mathbf{I} + \nu_T \mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}), \quad k := \frac{1}{2}|\overline{\mathbf{u}'}|^2, \quad (11)$$

where k is called turbulent kinetic energy, a new unknown in the problem that needs also to be modeled. In 1942, Kolmogorov [10] proposed a model in which the turbulence was described by $v_T = \rho \frac{k}{f}$ and $l = k^{\frac{1}{2}}/f$, where l is a length scale, suggesting that k and f, the characteristic frequency of the energy-containing

movements, should be determined by transport equations. Inspired by the previous model of his own, Prandtl [14] proposed, in 1945, that $v_T = \rho k^{\frac{1}{2}} l$, suggesting also that the turbulent kinetic energy was determined from a transport equation, but the length scale l should be algebraically prescribed. Later on, during the 1970 decade, Launder and Spalding [11] observed the importance of the turbulent dissipation $\epsilon := v |\nabla \mathbf{u}'|^2$, a new quantity, in determining the rate of dissipation of the turbulent kinetic energy in the turbulent flow process, which, again by means of symmetry, can be written as $\epsilon := v |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}')|^2$. The turbulent dissipation ϵ is determined by the first process in the energy cascade, which consists in the transfer of energy from the largest eddies to the smaller ones. Assuming these large eddies are characterized by length scale l_0 , velocity scale u_0 , and time scale $t_0 = l_0/u_0$ and have energy of $1/2\rho u_0^2$, then the rate of transfer of energy can be supposed to scale as $u_0^2/t_0 = u_0^3/l_0$. Consequently, ϵ scales as u_0^3/l_0 and independently of v. Therefore, it is reasonable to model ϵ and consequently the turbulent viscosity (in view of Prandtl's hypothesis), as

$$\epsilon = C_D \frac{k^{\frac{3}{2}}}{l}, \quad \nu_T = \rho k^{\frac{1}{2}} l \Rightarrow \nu_T = C_\mu \frac{k^2}{\epsilon}, \quad \text{where } \epsilon := \nu |\overline{\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}')}|^2, \quad (12)$$

 C_D is a closure constant, and C_{μ} is a constant related with the kinematic viscosity and determined by experimental measures of k and ϵ . To derive an equation for the transport of the turbulent kinetic energy, we start by considering (1) the velocity field decomposed in the form (3). Then, subtracting (9) to this equation, we obtain

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}' = 0. \tag{13}$$

Likewise, we subtract the RANS equations (9) to the momentum equation (2), where all the quantities are decomposed as in (3). Then, we multiply the resulting equation by \mathbf{u}' and we apply the filter produced by the Reynolds operator. Using the properties set forth at (4)–(7) and some vectorial calculus together with (10), (11)₂, and (13), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial t} + \overline{(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}') \cdot \nabla \frac{|\mathbf{u}'|^2}{2}} = \mathbf{R} : \mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}) - \frac{1}{\rho} \operatorname{div}(\overline{p'\mathbf{u}'}) + \nu \,\overline{\mathbf{u}' \cdot \operatorname{div} \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}')}.$$
(14)

By using the hypothesis that convection by random fields produces diffusion for the mean [12], the second term of the left-hand side of (14) can be approximated by $\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla k - \operatorname{div} (v_D \nabla k)$, where $v_D := v_D(k, \epsilon)$ is the turbulent diffusivity. For the last two terms, it is used an ergodicity hypothesis [4] asserting that, over a long period of time, the remaining time on a given region in space is proportional to the region volume. This allows us to use the approximations $\overline{\mathbf{u}' \cdot \operatorname{div} \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}')} \simeq |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}')|^2 \simeq \epsilon$ and div $(\overline{p'\mathbf{u}'}) \simeq 0$. Using this information, we obtain the following transport equation for *k*

On a One-Equation Turbulent Model with Feedbacks

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla k = \operatorname{div} \left(\nu_D \nabla k \right) + \nu_T |\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})|^2 - \epsilon , \quad \nu_D := \nu_D(k, \epsilon).$$
(15)

The usual process to derive an equation for the evolution of the turbulent dissipation ϵ starts by applying the rotational to the RANS equation (9), and then working with calculus tools, the following is obtained:

$$\frac{\partial \varepsilon}{\partial t} - 2\nu \left(\overline{\operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}' \cdot \operatorname{rot}(\mathbf{u}' \times \operatorname{rot} \overline{\mathbf{u}})} \right) - 2\nu \left(\overline{\operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}' \otimes \operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}'} : \nabla \overline{\mathbf{u}} \right) - 2\nu \left(\overline{(\operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}' \otimes \operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}')' : \nabla \mathbf{u}'} \right) + \left(\overline{(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}') \cdot \nu \nabla |\operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}'|^2} \right) = -2\nu^2 |\nabla \operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}'|^2.$$
(16)

The second term of the left-hand side can be neglected because the terms involved approximately cancel one each other. Using an arguing similar to the Boussinesq hypothesis, the second term is approximated by $2\nu Ck |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{\bar{u}})|^2$. The last term is approximated by $\mathbf{\bar{u}} \cdot \nabla \varepsilon - \operatorname{div} (\nu_D \nabla \varepsilon)$ by the application of the convection-diffusion hypothesis [12] similarly as it was done for the *k*-equation. Finally, the fourth term on the left-hand side and the term on the right-hand side are usually approximated by $C\frac{\varepsilon^2}{k}$ to avoid the need of another equation in order to close the problem [4, 12]. After all, we arrive in the following evolution equation:

$$\frac{\partial \varepsilon}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla \varepsilon = \operatorname{div} \left(\nu_D(k, \varepsilon) \nabla \varepsilon \right) + C_1 k |\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})|^2 + C_2 \frac{\varepsilon^2}{k}, \quad (17)$$

where C_1 and C_2 are positive constants that can be determined from the experiments.

3 Feedback Forces Fields

In this section we consider, for simplicity, 1-equation models comprised by Eqs. (8), (9), (11), (12), and (15), and we assume the turbulent dissipation ϵ depends only on *k*. Observe that the consideration of 1-equation models is acceptable in the sense that the equation for ϵ may be discarded by prescribing an appropriate length scale. This assumption has also implications on the turbulent viscosity and on the turbulent diffusivity, defined at (12) and (15), in the sense that now they only depend on *k*. We consider here the case when the external forces field depends on the own velocity, i.e., we assume that the vector field **f**, in the momentum equation (2), is replaced by

$$\mathbf{g} - \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}). \tag{18}$$

Now, in (18), \mathbf{g} is an external forcing term that depends only on the space and time variables, and $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})$ is the feedback forces field that may have different signs, according to each application where it is considered. Probably the best-known situation happens for fluid flows in a rotating frame, where the Coriolis force

 $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = 2\Omega \times \mathbf{u}$ must be considered, being Ω , here, the angular velocity vector. Another example is the Lorentz force $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{B}) = -\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}$ considered to model turbulent flows controlled by a magnetic field \mathbf{B} , where \mathbf{J} is the total electric current intensity, given by Ohm's law $\mathbf{J} = \sigma(-\nabla \Phi + \mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B})$. Here, σ is the conductivity, a material-dependent parameter, and Φ is the electric potential, which in turn satisfies to the Poisson equation $\Delta \Phi = \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B})$ (see, e.g., [9]). However, our main motivation comes from the study of flows through porous media. In this field of the applications, it is important to consider the Darcy and Forchheimer terms to model the drag due to the flow through the porous medium.

Here, we gather this drag in the function $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = C_D \mathbf{u} + C_F |\mathbf{u}|\mathbf{u}$, where C_D and C_F are the Darcy and Forchheimer parameters, positive constants that depend on the permeability and porosity of the medium. The mathematical modeling of turbulence in porous media considers the simultaneous application of time and volume-average operators. When this procedure is applied to the continuity and momentum equations, they come as in (8) and (9), with the peculiarity that the Darcy and Forchheimer terms come in the form $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{\bar{u}}) = C_D \mathbf{\bar{u}} + C_F |\mathbf{\bar{u}}|\mathbf{\bar{u}}$. This procedure is being applied to many situations of turbulent fluids through porous media, as is the case of turbulent combustion in porous media or turbulent impinging jets in porous media (see, e.g., [5]). The underlying idea of considering this double-decomposition concept corresponds, in a certain sense, to consider a feedback forces field

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = \overline{\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})} + \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})', \quad \overline{\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})} = \mathbf{f}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}), \quad \overline{\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})' \cdot \mathbf{u}'} = h(|\overline{\mathbf{u}}|)k.$$
(19)

The best example of this situation is a drag's force purely Darcy $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = C_D \mathbf{u}$ for which $h(|\overline{\mathbf{u}}|) = 2C_D$. A more complex example of a feedback forces field satisfying to (19) is given by the generalized Forchheimer force

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = h(|\mathbf{u}|)\mathbf{u}, \quad h(|\mathbf{u}|) = |\overline{\mathbf{u}}|^{2n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (20)

The Reynolds averaged process for the momentum equation, considered with a feedback forces field satisfying to (18) and (19) and assuming the Reynolds stresses, is given by $\mathbf{R} = v_T \overline{\mathbf{D}}$, and the turbulent viscosity, defined by (12), depends only on k, leads us to

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\mathbf{u}}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\overline{\mathbf{u}} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{u}}) = \overline{\mathbf{g}} - \mathbf{f}(\overline{\mathbf{u}}) - \frac{1}{\rho} \nabla \overline{\rho} + \operatorname{div}\left((\nu + \nu_T(k))\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})\right).$$
(21)

The same procedure used to derive the *k*-equation, and assuming, in addition, the turbulent diffusivity, given by (15), depends also only on *k*, allows us to write

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla k = \operatorname{div} \left(\nu_D(k) \nabla k \right) + \nu_T(k) |\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})|^2 + h(|\overline{\mathbf{u}}|)k - \epsilon(k).$$
(22)

Although the term $h(|\overline{\mathbf{u}}|)k$ does not bring any difficulty to our analysis, we may avoid its presence in Eq. (22) by considering a general feedback forces field satisfying to (19), but with (19)₃ replaced by

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})' \cdot \mathbf{u}' = 0. \tag{23}$$

This situation happens, for instance, when we consider the Coriolis force $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) = 2\Omega \times \mathbf{u}$. In this case, the same procedure used to derive (22) allows us to write, in view of (23),

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla k = \operatorname{div} \left(\nu_D(k) \nabla k \right) + \nu_T(k) |\mathbf{D}(\overline{\mathbf{u}})|^2 - \epsilon(k).$$
(24)

4 A Stationary Problem

In this section, we consider a stationary version of the problem formulated by the Eqs. (8), (21), and (24),

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0},\tag{25}$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{u}) = \mathbf{g} - \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) - \frac{1}{\rho} \nabla p + \operatorname{div}\left((\nu + \nu_T(k))\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u})\right), \quad (26)$$

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla k = \operatorname{div} \left(\nu_D(k, \epsilon) \nabla k \right) + \nu_T |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u})|^2 + g - \epsilon(k) , \qquad (27)$$

where for the sake of simplifying the notation, we have omitted the bars over the filtered quantities. Observe also that in the last but one term of Eq. (27), we are considering a more general situation than in (24). We shall consider the problem posed by the Eqs. (25)–(27) in a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2, 3, with a compact boundary denoted by $\partial\Omega$. The problem (25)–(27) is supplemented by the following Dirichlet boundary conditions:

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}, \quad k = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega. \tag{28}$$

For the analysis we make in this work, we assume the turbulent viscosity and the turbulent diffusivity are bounded

$$0 \le \nu_T(k) \le C_T, \quad c_D \le \nu_D(k) \le C_D, \tag{29}$$

where C_T , c_D , and C_D are positive constants. The following weak formulation of the problem gives us the notion of the solutions we are interested in to look for.

Definition 1. Let Ω be a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^d , d = 2, 3, and assume that both conditions in (29) are fulfilled. In addition, assume that

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega)$$
 and $g \in L^q(\Omega)$ with $\frac{2d}{d+2} \le q < d'$. (30)

We say the couple (\mathbf{u}, k) is a weak solution to the problem (25)–(28), if $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{V}$, $k \in W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$, with $\frac{2d}{d+2} \leq q < d'$, $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{L}^1(\Omega)$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} ((\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v} \, d\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} (\nu + \nu_T(k)) \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}) : \nabla \mathbf{v} \, d\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v} \, d\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, d\mathbf{x}$$
(31)

for any $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{V} \cap \mathbf{L}^d(\Omega)$, $\varepsilon(k)\varphi \in L^1(\Omega)$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla k) \varphi \, d\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} \nu_D(k) \nabla k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, d\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} \varepsilon(k) \varphi \, d\mathbf{x}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \nu_T(k) |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u})|^2 \varphi \, d\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} g \, \varphi \, d\mathbf{x}$$
(32)

for any $\varphi \in W_0^{1,q'}(\Omega)$, with q' > d, and $k \ge 0$ and $\varepsilon \ge 0$ a.e. in Ω .

In [6, 7] we prove two distinct existence results for the problem (25)–(28) in the sense of Definition 1. For the first existence result, we assume growth conditions both on the feedback $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})$ and on the function $\varepsilon(k)$ that describe the turbulent dissipation (see [6]). For the second, we consider the case in which these terms are strongly nonlinear, i.e., without assuming any restrictions on its growth (see [7]). We have already established local higher integrability results for the gradients of \mathbf{u} and of k.

Both proofs use an iterative scheme to uncouple the Navier–Stokes equations from the equation for the turbulent kinetic energy. The analysis of the decoupled equations follows the approach of [1, 2], with respect to the truncation of the feedbacks, and the arguing of [3] for the treatment of the L^1 terms.

Theorem 1. Let Ω be a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^d , d = 2, 3, with a Lipschitzcontinuous boundary $\partial \Omega$, and let (\mathbf{u}, k) be a weak solution to the problem (25)–(28) in the conditions of Definition 1.

- 1. If $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{L}^{r}(\Omega)$, with r > 2, and $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}) \le C|\mathbf{u}|^{s}$ for $0 \le s \le \frac{d+2}{d-2}$ if $d \ne 2$ or any $s \ge 0$ if s = 2, then there exists $\sigma > 2$ such that $\nabla \mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)$. 2. If $g \in L^{r}(\Omega)$, with r > d', and $|\varepsilon(k)| \le C|k|^{s}$ with $0 \le s \le 2 - \frac{2(d-2)}{d(d-1)}$ if $d \ne 2$ or
- 2. If $g \in L^{r}(\Omega)$, with r > d', and $|\varepsilon(k)| \le C|k|^{s}$ with $0 \le s \le 2 \frac{2(d-2)}{d(d-1)}$ if $d \ne 2$ or any $s \ge 0$ if d = 2, then there exists $\tau > \frac{d}{d-1}$ such that $\nabla k \in L^{\tau}(\Omega)$ as long as $\nabla \mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)$ for $\sigma > \frac{2d(d-1)}{(d-1)^{2}+1}$.

The following result of global higher integrability that, for the reason of lack of space, cannot be shown here will be proved elsewhere.

The proof of this result adapts the arguments of [16] (see also [8]) for the Navier– Stokes equations together with the reasoning of [13] (see also [3]) for the equation for the turbulent kinetic energy.

5 On the Uniqueness

We will prove the uniqueness by imposing conditions on the monotony of $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u})$ and $\varepsilon(k)$, as well as by imposing the Lipschitz continuity of $v_T(k) \in v_D(k)$.

Theorem 2. Let Ω be a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^d , d = 2, 3, with a Lipschitzcontinuous boundary $\partial \Omega$, and let (\mathbf{u}, k) be a weak solution to the problem (25)–(28) in the conditions of Theorem 1. If the following conditions are fulfilled for all $\mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2 \in \mathbf{V}$ and for all $k_1, k_2 \in W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$,

$$(\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}_1) - \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{u}_2)) \cdot (\mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2) \ge 0, \qquad (\varepsilon(k_1) - \varepsilon(k_2)) (k_1 - k_2) \ge 0, \tag{33}$$

$$|\nu_T(k_1) - \nu_T(k_2)| \le C_{L_1}|k_1 - k_2|, \qquad |\nu_D(k_1) - \nu_D(k_2)| \le C_{L_2}|k_1 - k_2|, \quad (34)$$

where C_{L_1} and C_{L_2} are positive constants and then the weak solution (**u**, *k*) is unique.

Remark 1. As we shall see in the proof, the above result is obtained under smallness assumptions on $\|\nabla \mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)}$ and $\|\nabla k\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)}$ for $\sigma, \tau > 2$ if d = 2 or $\sigma, \tau \ge 2$ if $d \ne 2$, when compared with the kinematic viscosity ν and with the turbulent diffusivity lower bound c_D [see (29)₂].

Proof. Being (\mathbf{u}_1, k_1) and (\mathbf{u}_2, k_2) two solutions of the problem, we start by subtracting the corresponding equation (31) of the weak formulation where in both is taken $\mathbf{v} := \mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2$ for the test function.

After some algebraic manipulations and using the assumptions $(29)_2$ and $(33)_1$ together with Korn's inequality, we obtain

$$\frac{\nu}{C_K^2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2)|^2 d\mathbf{x} \leq -\int_{\Omega} (\nu_T(k_1) - \nu_T(k_2)) \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}_2) : \nabla(\mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2) d\mathbf{x} -\int_{\Omega} \left((\mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2) \cdot \nabla \right) \mathbf{u}_2 \cdot (\mathbf{u}_1 - \mathbf{u}_2) d\mathbf{x} := I_1 + I_2,$$
(35)

where C_K is the Korn's inequality constant. To estimate the term I_1 , we use Hölder's and Sobolev's inequalities together with assertion 1 of Theorem 1, which states that $\sigma > 2$,

$$I_{1} \leq \|k_{1} - k_{2}\|_{L^{2^{*}}(\Omega)} \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)} \|\nabla (\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}$$

$$\leq C_{1} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla (\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}, \quad C_{1} = C(d, \Omega, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)}).$$

For I_2 , we use Hölder's and Sobolev's inequalities, this in the case of $d \leq 4$, to obtain

$$I_{2} \leq \|\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2^{*}}(\Omega)}^{2} \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)} \leq C_{2} \|\nabla (\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2},$$
where $C_2 = C(d, \Omega, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_2\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)})$. Now, gathering the estimates of I_1 and I_2 in (35), we obtain, after the use of Cauchy's inequality with suitable ϵ ,

$$C_{\mathbf{u}} \| \nabla(\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2}) \|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq C_{I} \| \nabla(k_{1} - k_{2}) \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}, \ C_{\mathbf{u}} = \left(\frac{\nu}{2C_{K}^{2}} - C_{2} \right), \ C_{I} = \frac{C_{1}^{2}}{2\nu}.$$
(36)

Next, we subtract the Eq. (32) corresponding to k_1 and k_2 and taking for test function, in both, $\varphi = k_1 - k_2$. After some simplifications and using the assumptions (29)₁ and (33)₂, we obtain

$$c_{D} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(k_{1} - k_{2})|^{2} d\mathbf{x} \leq -\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u}_{1} \cdot \nabla k_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla k_{2})(k_{1} - k_{2}) d\mathbf{x}$$

-
$$\int_{\Omega} (\nu_{D}(k_{1}) - \nu_{D}(k_{2})) \nabla k_{2} \cdot \nabla(k_{1} - k_{2}) d\mathbf{x}$$

+
$$\int_{\Omega} (\nu_{T}(k_{1}) |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}_{1})|^{2} - \nu_{T}(k_{2}) |\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{u}_{2})|^{2})(k_{1} - k_{2}) d\mathbf{x} := J_{1} + J_{2} + J_{3}.$$
 (37)

After a simplification of J_1 , we use Hölder's and Sobolev's inequalities, observing that $\tau > \frac{d}{d-1}$, to have

$$\begin{aligned} J_{1} &\leq \|\mathbf{u}_{1}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)} \|\nabla(k_{1}-k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|k_{1}-k_{2}\|_{L^{2^{*}}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \|\mathbf{u}_{1}-\mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2^{*}}(\Omega)} \|\nabla k_{1}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} \|\nabla(k_{1}-k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C_{1} \|\nabla(k_{1}-k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{2} \|\nabla(\mathbf{u}_{1}-\mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla(k_{1}-k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C_{J_{1}} \|\nabla(k_{1}-k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \quad \text{by (36)}, \quad C_{J_{1}} = C_{1} + C_{2} \sqrt{C_{I}/C_{\mathbf{u}}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $C_1 = C(d, \Omega, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_1\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)})$ and $C_2 = C(d, \Omega, \|\nabla k_1\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)})$. As for the term J_2 , we use assumption (34)₂ together with Hölder's and Sobolev's inequalities, the last again in the case of $\tau > \frac{d}{d-1}$, in the following way

$$J_{2} \leq C_{L_{2}} \|k_{1} - k_{2}\|_{L^{2^{*}}(\Omega)} \|\nabla k_{2}\|_{L^{r}(\Omega)} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C_{J_{2}} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2},$$

where $C_{J_2} = C(C_{L_2}, d, \Omega, \|\nabla k_2\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)})$. The term J_3 is firstly simplified, and then we use the assumptions (29) and (34)₁ together with Hölder's and Sobolev's inequalities, and yet observing that $\sigma > 2$,

$$\begin{aligned} J_{3} &\leq C_{L_{1}} \|k_{1} - k_{2}\|_{L^{2^{*}}(\Omega)}^{2} \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &+ C_{T} \|k_{1} - k_{2}\|_{L^{2^{*}}(\Omega)} \|\nabla (\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1} + \nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C_{1} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{2} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla (\mathbf{u}_{1} - \mathbf{u}_{2})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C_{J_{3}} \|\nabla (k_{1} - k_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \quad \text{by (36)}, \quad C_{J_{3}} = C_{1} + C_{2} \sqrt{C_{I}/C_{\mathbf{u}}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $C_1 = C(C_{L_1}, d, \Omega, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_1\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)})$ and $C_2 = C(C_T, \Omega, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_1\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)}, \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_2\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\sigma}(\Omega)})$. Now, gathering the estimates of J_1, J_2 , and J_3 in (37), we obtain $(c_D - C_J) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (k_1 - k_2)|^2 d\mathbf{x} \leq 0$, where $C_J = \sum_{i=1}^{3} C_{J_i}$. As a consequence, it follows, by Sobolev's inequality, that $k_1 = k_2$ a.e. in Ω , as long as $c_d > C_J$. Consequently it follows from (36) that also $\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{u}_2$ a.e. in Ω , as long as $\nu > 2C_2C_K^2$, where C_2 is the constant from the estimate of I_2 .

References

- Antontsev, S., Díaz, J.I., de Oliveira, H.B.: Stopping a viscous fluid by a feedback dissipative field: I. The stationary Stokes problem. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 6, 439–461 (2004)
- Antontsev, S., Díaz, J.I., de Oliveira, H.B.: Stopping a viscous fluid by a feedback dissipative field: II. The stationary Navier–Stokes problem. Rend. Mat. Acc. Lincei s. 9 15, 257–270 (2004)
- 3. Boccardo, L., Gallouët, T.: Strongly nonlinear elliptic equations having natural growth terms and L^1 data. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. **19**, 572–579 (1992)
- Chacón-Rebollo, T., Lewandowski, R.: Mathematical and Numerical Foundations of Turbulence Models and Applications. Springer, New York (2014).
- de Lemos, M. S.: Turbulence in Porous Media Modelling and Applications. Elsevier, London (2012)
- 6. de Oliveira, H.B., Paiva, A.: Well-posedness of a stationary turbulent *k*–epsilon model with applications in porous media. Submitted.
- 7. de Oliveira, H.B., Paiva, A.: Existence for a one-equation turbulence k-epsilon model with strong nonlinearities. Submitted.
- Druet, P.-E., Naumann, J., Wolf, J.: A Meyer's type estimate for weak solutions to a generalized stationary Navier–Stokes system. Humboldt-Universität, Berlin. Preprint 2008-6 (2008)
- Kenjeres, S., Hanjalic, K.: On the implementation of effects of Lorentz force in turbulence closure models. Int. J. Heat Fluid 21, 329–337 (2000)
- Kolmogorov, A.N.: In: Tikhomirov, V. (ed.) Selected Works of A. N. Kolmogorov, vol. 1. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht (1991)
- 11. Launder, B., Spalding, D.: Mathematical Models of Turbulence. Academic, London (1972)
- Mohammadi, B., Pironneau, O.: Analysis of the K-Epsilon Turbulence Model. Wiley-Masson, Paris (1993)
- Naumann, J.: Existence of weak solutions to the equations of stationary motion of heatconducting incompressible viscous fluids. Progr. Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. 64, 373–390 (2005)
- Prandtl, L.: In: Oertel, H. (ed.) Prandtl-Essentials of Fluid Mechanics. Springer, New York (2008)
- Rota, G.-C.: Reynolds Operators. In: Bellman, R. (ed.) Stochastic Processes in Mathematical Physics and Engineering, pp. 70–83. American Mathematical Society, Rhode Island (1964)
- 16. Wolff, M.: A global L^k -gradient estimate on weak solutions to nonlinear stationary Navier– Stokes equations under mixed boundary conditions. Humboldt-Universität, Berlin. Preprint 96-3 (1996)

On Stationary Solutions of KdV and mKdV Equations

A.V. Faminskii and A.A. Nikolaev

Abstract Stationary solutions on a bounded interval for an initial-boundary value problem to Korteweg–de Vries and modified Korteweg–de Vries equation (for the last one both in focusing and defocusing cases) are constructed. The method of the study is based on the theory of conservative systems with one degree of freedom. The obtained solutions turn out to be periodic. Exact relations between the length of the interval and coefficients of the equations which are necessary and sufficient for the existence of nontrivial solutions are established.

Keywords KdV equation • Stationary solutions

AMS subject classifications: 35Q53, 34B15

Both Korteweg-de Vries equation (KdV)

 $u_t + au_x + u_{xxx} + uu_x = 0$

and modified Korteweg-de Vries equation (mKdV)

$$u_t + au_x + u_{xxx} \pm u^2 u_x = 0$$

(the sign "+" stands for the focusing case and the sign "-" for the defocusing one) describe propagation of long nonlinear waves in dispersive media. We assume a to be an arbitrary real constant. If these equations are considered on a bounded interval (0, L), then for well posedness of an initial-boundary value problem besides an initial profile, one must set certain boundary conditions, for example,

$$u\big|_{x=0} = u\big|_{x=L} = u_x\big|_{x=L} = 0$$

(see [5, 7, 8, 11] and others).

A.V. Faminskii (🖂) • A.A. Nikolaev

Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, Miklukho-Maklai str. 6, Moscow 117198, Russia e-mail: afaminskii@sci.pfu.edu.ru; anikolaev.rudn@yandex.ru

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_6

It follows from the results of Faminskii and Larkin [9] that such a problem for KdV equation possesses certain internal dissipation: under some relations between a and L and sufficiently small initial data solution decay at large time. Similar properties hold for mKdV equation. In order to answer the question if the smallness is essential, one has to construct non-decaying solutions. The simplest case of such solutions is stationary solutions: u = u(x). In this situation the considered equations are reduced to the following ordinary differential equations:

$$u''' + au' + uu' = 0, (1)$$

$$u''' + au' + u^2 u' = 0, (2)$$

$$u''' + au' - u^2 u' = 0, (3)$$

and the boundary conditions-to the following ones:

$$u(0) = u(L) = u'(L) = 0.$$
(4)

The goal of the present paper is to investigate the existence of nontrivial solutions to these problems under different relations between a and L. The method of the study is based on the qualitative theory of conservative systems with one degree of freedom (see, for example, [4]).

The first example of such a solution by this method for Eq. (1) was constructed in the case a = 0 and L = 2 in [10]. In the recent paper [6] and also for Eq. (1), such solutions were constructed for a = 1 and $L \in (0, 2\pi)$, and exact formulas via elliptic Jacobi functions were obtained. In the present paper, these special functions are not used.

Lemma 1. If $u \in C^3[0, L]$ is a solution to any problems (1), (4), or (2), (4), or (3), (4), then it is infinitely smooth and periodic with period L.

Proof. Integrating each of the Eqs. (1)–(3), we obtain that the function *u* satisfies an equation

$$u'' + F'(u) = 0, \quad F(0) = 0, \quad F \in C^{\infty}.$$
 (5)

The following [4] introduces a "full energy" $E(x) \equiv \frac{1}{2}(u'(x))^2 + F(u(x))$. Then, (5) yields that $E'(x) \equiv 0$, that is, $E(x) \equiv \text{const.}$ By virtue of (4) E(L) = 0, therefore, E(0) = 0 and so u'(0) = 0. The end of the proof is obvious.

Further let a fundamental period for a nontrivial periodic function denotes a minimal possible positive value of a period.

By a symbol $u_{a,T}$, denote a nontrivial solution to any of considered problems with the fundamental period *T*.

Theorem 1. If $aL^2 \neq 4\pi^2$, then there exists a unique solution $u_{a,L}$ to problem (1), (4). If $aL^2 = 4\pi^2$, such a solution does not exist. **Theorem 2.** If $aL^2 < 4\pi^2$, then there exists a unique up to the sign solution $u_{a,L}$ to problem (2), (4). If $aL^2 \ge 4\pi^2$, such solutions do not exist.

Theorem 3. If $aL^2 > 4\pi^2$, then there exists a unique up to the sign solution $u_{a,L}$ to problem (3), (4). If $aL^2 \le 4\pi^2$, such solutions do not exist.

Remark 1. If $aL^2 \neq 4\pi n^2$ for certain natural $n \geq 2$, then obviously the function $u(x) \equiv n^2 u_{a/n^2,L}(nx)$ is a solution to problems (1), (4) with the fundamental period T = L/n. If $aL^2 < 4\pi n^2$ for certain natural *n*, then the function $u(x) \equiv nu_{a/n^2,L}(nx)$ is a solution to problems (2), (4) with the fundamental period T = L/n. In particular, nontrivial solutions to problems (1), (4) and (2), (4) exist for any *a* and positive *L*. If $aL^2 \leq 4\pi^2$, then nontrivial solutions to problems (3), (4) do not exist.

Further for convenience we pass from the segment [0, L] to the segment [-1, 1]. For $x \in [-1, 1]$ in the case of Eq. (1), make a substitution $y(x) \equiv \frac{L^2}{4}u(\frac{L}{2}(x+1))$, while in the case of Eqs. (2) and (3), substitution $y(x) \equiv \frac{L}{2}u(\frac{L}{2}(x+1))$. Then, for $b = \frac{L^2}{4}a$, these equations transform, respectively, to the following ones:

$$y''' + by' + yy' = 0, (6)$$

$$y''' + by' + y^2y' = 0, (7)$$

$$y''' + by' - y^2 y' = 0, (8)$$

and consider periodic solutions to these equations with the fundamental period T = 2 such that

$$y(-1) = y'(-1) = 0.$$
 (9)

We apply the following lemma in the spirit of the qualitative theory of conservative systems with one degree of freedom.

Lemma 2. Consider an initial value problem

$$y'' + F'(y) = 0,$$
 $y(-1) = y'(-1) = 0,$ (10)

where $F \in C^{\infty}$, F(0) = 0. Then, a nontrivial periodic solution to problem (10) with the fundamental period T = 2 exists if and only if $F'(0) \neq 0$, and there exists $y_0 \neq 0$ such that $F(y_0) = 0$, $F'(y_0) \neq 0$, F(y) < 0 for $y \in (0, y_0)$ if $y_0 > 0$, F(y) < 0 for $y \in (y_0, 0)$ if $y_0 < 0$ and

$$\int_{0}^{y_0} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{-2F(y)}} = 1 \quad \text{if } y_0 > 0, \qquad \int_{y_0}^{0} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{-2F(y)}} = 1 \quad \text{if } y_0 < 0.$$
(11)

Proof. First of all note that similarly to (5) $E(x) \equiv \frac{1}{2}(y'(x))^2 + F(y(x)) \equiv 0$ if y(x) is a solution to problem (10). Due to uniqueness of solutions to the initial value problem, the condition $F'(0) \neq 0$ is necessary for the existence of nontrivial solutions.

Consider, for example, the case F'(0) < 0. If the function F is negative $\forall y > 0$, then it is easy to see that there is no periodic solution to problem (10). Therefore, the existence of positive y_0 such that $F(y_0) = 0$, F(y) < 0 for $y \in (0, y_0)$ is necessary.

Uniqueness of the solution implies that the function y(x) is even (if exists). Then, it is easy to see that it possesses the following properties: y'(x) > 0 for $x \in (-1, 0)$, y'(x) < 0 for $x \in (0, 1)$, and $y(0) = y_0$, y'(0) = 0. Again due to the uniqueness, $F'(y_0) \neq 0$.

Therefore, for $x \in [0, 1]$ the function y(x) satisfies the following conditions:

$$\frac{dy}{dx} = -\sqrt{-2F(y)}, \quad y(0) = y_0, \quad y(1) = 0.$$

Integrating we obtain that $\int_0^{y_0} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{-2F(y)}} = 1.$

It is easy to see that under these assumptions, the desired solution exists. The case F'(0) > 0 is considered in a similar way (then $y_0 < 0$).

Now we can prove our theorems.

Proof (*Theorem* 1). Equation (6) is equivalent to equation

$$y'' + by + \frac{1}{2}y^2 = c \tag{12}$$

for certain real constant c. Therefore, construction of a solution transforms to search of a constant c such for a function

$$F(y) \equiv \frac{1}{6}y^3 + \frac{b}{2}y^2 - cy = \frac{1}{6}y(y^2 + 3by - 6c) \equiv \frac{1}{6}yF_0(y)$$

the hypothesis of Lemma 2 is satisfied. Note that $F'(y) = \frac{1}{2}y^2 + by - c$. Therefore, the condition $F'(0) \neq 0$ implies that $c \neq 0$.

Real simple nonzero roots of the function F_0 exist if and only if $D = 9b^2 + 24c > 0$, and then these roots are expressed by formulas $y_0 = \frac{1}{2}(-3b + \sqrt{D})$ and $y_1 = -\frac{1}{2}(3b + \sqrt{D})$.

It is easy to see that if c > 0, then for any *b* the root $y_0 > 0$, F(y) < 0 for $y \in (0, y_0)$, $F'(y_0) \neq 0$. If $c \in (-3b^2/8, 0)$, then for b > 0 the root $y_0 < 0$, F(y) < 0 for $y \in (y_0, 0)$, $F'(y_0) \neq 0$.

Therefore, we have to find the constant c for which condition (11) is satisfied. Note that

$$-2F(y) = \frac{1}{3}y(y_0 - y)(y - y_1).$$

After the change of variable $y = y_0 t$, each of the Eq. (11) reduces to an equation

$$I(b,c) \equiv \sqrt{3} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)(y_0t-y_1)}} = 1.$$

Since $y_0t - y_1 = \frac{1}{2}(\sqrt{D} - 3b)t + \frac{1}{2}(\sqrt{D} + 3b)$, it is easy to see that for the fixed *b*, the function I(b, c) monotonically decreases. Moreover, $\lim_{c \to +\infty} I(b, c) = 0$ and for b > 0

$$\lim_{c \to -\frac{3}{8}b^2 + 0} I(b, c) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{b}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}(1-t)} = +\infty, \ \lim_{c \to 0} I(b, c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t}(1-t)} = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}},$$

for b = 0

$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \lim_{c \to 0+0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2c}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)(t+1)}} = +\infty,$$

for b < 0

$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|b|}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{t\sqrt{1-t}} = +\infty.$$

Therefore, the desired value of c exists and is unique if $b \neq \pi^2$, while for $b = \pi^2$ such a value does not exist.

Remark 2. The substitution $u(x) = a_0 + v(x - x_0)$ under the appropriate choice of the parameters a_0 and x_0 transforms any periodic solution of Eq. (1) with the period L to solution of an equation $v''' + (a + a_0)v' + vv' = 0$ satisfying conditions v(0) = v'(0) = v(L) = v'(L) = 0. Therefore, any solution of Eq. (1) with the fundamental period L can be expressed in this way by the functions $u_{a+a_0,L}$. Solutions similar to functions $u_{a,L}$ were considered also in [13]. In [2] representation of periodic solutions of Eq. (1) is given via elliptic Jacobi functions. The advantage of our approach is that it can give transparent description of solutions.

Consider, for example, the case b > 0. Then, for $b \in (0, \pi^2)$ the constructed solution of problems (6), (9) is an even "hill" of the height $y_0 = \frac{1}{2}(-3b + \sqrt{9b^2 + 24c}) > 0$, while for $b > \pi^2$, an even "hole" of the depth $y_0 < 0$. Note that $I_c(b,c) < 0$, $I_b(b,c) < 0$. Therefore, the equation I(b,c) = 1 determines a smooth decreasing function c(b). Since $I(\pi^2, 0) = 1$, we have that $c(\pi^2) = 0$. Return to Eq. (1). Let a > 0. If $u_0 = \frac{1}{2}(-3a + \sqrt{9a^2 + 384cL^{-2}})$, where $c = c(L^2a/4)$, then for $L < 2\pi/\sqrt{a}$, the solution $u_{a,L}$ to problems (1), (4) is a "hill" of the height $u_0 > 0$ and for $L > 2\pi/\sqrt{a}$, a "hole" of the depth $u_0 < 0$ (the center in both cases is at the point L/2). In addition, $u_0 \to +\infty$ as $L \to 0$, $u_0 \to 0$ as $L \to 2\pi/\sqrt{a}$, $u_0 \to 0$ as $L \to +\infty$.

Proof (Theorem 2). Equation (7) is equivalent to equation

$$y'' + by + \frac{1}{3}y^3 = c \tag{13}$$

for certain real constant c. Let

$$F(y) \equiv \frac{1}{12}y^4 + \frac{b}{2}y^2 - cy = \frac{1}{12}y(y^3 + 6by - 12c) \equiv \frac{1}{12}yF_0(y).$$

Note that the substitution $z(x) \equiv -y(x)$ leads to an equation similar to (13), where *c* is replaced by (-c). Therefore, further it is sufficient to assume that c > 0 (if c = 0, then F'(0) = 0).

Similarly to the proof of Theorem 1, we need to find the roots of the function F_0 . We apply Cardano formulas. Let $D = 8b^3 + 36c^2$,

$$p = \sqrt[3]{6c + \sqrt{D}}, \quad q = \sqrt[3]{6c - \sqrt{D}} \quad \text{if } D \ge 0,$$

$$p = \sqrt[3]{6c + i\sqrt{|D|}} = \sqrt{2|b|}e^{\frac{i}{3}\arccos(3c/\sqrt{2|b|^3})}, \quad q = \overline{p} \quad \text{if } D < 0.$$

The function F_0 has a real root $y_0 = p + q > 0$. Moreover, if D > 0 there are two complex conjugate roots with negative real parts and if $D \le 0$ (it is possible only for b < 0), two negative real roots y_1 and y_2 ($y_1 = y_2$ if D = 0).

According to Viète formulas, $y_1 + y_2 = -y_0$, $y_1y_2 = 6b - y_0y_1 - y_0y_2 = 6b + y_0^2$ and then

$$-2F(y) = \frac{1}{6}y(y_0 - y)(y^2 + y_0y + y_0^2 + 6b).$$

After the change of variable $y = y_0 t$, the first equation (11) reduces to an equation

$$I(b,c) \equiv \sqrt{6} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)(y_0^2 t^2 + y_0^2 t + y_0^2 + 6b)}} = 1.$$

It is easy to see that for the fixed *b* the function $y_0(c)$ monotonically increases and $y_0(c) \to +\infty$ as $c \to +\infty$ (note that $y_0 = \sqrt{8|b|} \cos(\frac{1}{3} \arccos(3c/\sqrt{2|b|^3}))$ if D < 0). Then, for the fixed *b* the function I(b, c) monotonically decreases and $\lim_{c \to +\infty} I(b, c) = 0$. Moreover, if $c \to 0 + 0$, then $y_0(c) \to 0$ for $b \ge 0$ and $y_0(c) \to \sqrt{6|b|}$ for b < 0. Therefore,

$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)}} = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}} \quad \text{if } b > 0,$$
$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \lim_{c \to 0+0} \frac{\sqrt{6}}{\sqrt[3]{12c}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t^3)}} = +\infty \quad \text{if } b = 0,$$
$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|b|}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{t\sqrt{1-t^2}} = +\infty \quad \text{if } b < 0.$$

Hence, the desired positive value of c exists and is unique if $b < \pi^2$, while for $b \ge \pi^2$, such a value does not exist.

Proof (Theorem 3). Equation (8) is equivalent to equation

$$y'' + by - \frac{1}{3}y^3 = c \tag{14}$$

for certain real constant c. Let

$$F(y) \equiv -\frac{1}{12}y^4 + \frac{b}{2}y^2 - cy = -\frac{1}{12}y(y^3 - 6by + 12c) \equiv -\frac{1}{12}yF_0(y).$$

As in the proof of Theorem 2, consider only the case c > 0.

Again apply Cardano formulas. Let $D = -8b^3 + 36c^2$,

$$p = \sqrt[3]{-6c + \sqrt{D}}, \quad q = \sqrt[3]{-6c - \sqrt{D}} \quad \text{if } D \ge 0,$$

$$p = \sqrt[3]{-6c + i\sqrt{|D|}} = \sqrt{2b}e^{\frac{i}{3}\left(\pi + \arccos(3c/\sqrt{2b^3})\right)}, \quad q = \overline{p} \quad \text{if } D < 0.$$

If D > 0 then the function F_0 has a real root $y_0 = p + q < 0$ and two complex conjugate roots y_1 and y_2 . If D = 0 then again the function F_0 has a real root $y_0 = p + q < 0$ and a double real root $y_1 = y_2 > 0$. Both these two cases do not satisfy the hypothesis of Lemma 2 since F'(0) < 0.

It remains to consider the case D < 0 (it is possible only if b > 0), then $c \in (0, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}b^{3/2})$. Here the function F_0 has three distinct real roots, where a root $y_0 = p + q = \sqrt{8b}\cos(\frac{\pi}{3} + \frac{1}{3}\arccos(3c/\sqrt{2b^3})) > 0$, a root $y_1 < 0$, a root $y_2 > y_0$. We have that $y_1 + y_2 = -y_0$, $y_2y_2 = -6b + y_0^2$ and then

$$-2F(y) = \frac{1}{6}y(y_0 - y)(6b - y_0^2 - y_0y - y^2).$$

After the change of variable $y = y_0 t$, the first equation (11) reduces to an equation

$$I(b,c) \equiv \sqrt{6} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)(6b-y_0^2(1+t+t^2))}} = 1.$$

Similarly to the previous theorem for the fixed *b*, the function $y_0(c)$ monotonically increases; therefore, unlike the previous theorem, the function I(b, c) also monotonically increases. It is easy to see that

$$\lim_{c \to 0+0} I(b,c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{t(1-t)}} = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}},$$

$$\lim_{c \to \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}b^{3/2} = 0} I(b,c) = \sqrt{\frac{3}{b}} \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{(1-t)\sqrt{t(t+2)}} = +\infty.$$

Hence, the desired positive value of c exists and is unique if $b > \pi^2$, while for $b \le \pi^2$, such a value does not exist.

Remark 3. In [1, 3, 12] periodic solutions of Eqs. (2) and (3) were considered in the case when the constant c = 0 in Eqs. (13) and (14). Therefore, the periodic solutions constructed in the present paper do not coincide with solutions from that papers.

Acknowledgements The first author was supported by Project 333, State Assignment in the field of scientific activity implementation of Russia.

References

- 1. Angulo, J.: Non-linear stability of periodic travelling-wave solutions for the Schrödinger and modified Korteweg–de Vries equation. J. Differ. Equ. **235**, 1–30 (2007)
- Angulo J., Bona, J.L., Scialom, M.: Stability of cnoidal waves. Adv. Differ. Equ. 11, 1321–1374 (2006)
- Angulo, J., Natali, F.: Positivity properties of the Fourier transform and the stability of periodic travelling-wave solutions. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 40, 1123–1151 (2008)
- 4. Arnold, V.I.: Ordinary Differential Equations. Springer, Berlin (1992)
- Bona, J.L., Sun, S.M., Zhang, B.-Y.: A nonhomogeneous boundary-value problem for the Korteweg–de Vries equation posed on a finite domain. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 28, 1391–1436 (2003)
- 6. Doronin, G.G., Natali F.M.: An example of non-decreasing solution for the KdV equation posed on a bounded interval. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. 1 **352**, 421–424 (2014)
- 7. Faminskii, A.V.: On a initial boundary value problem in a bounded domain for the generalized Korteweg–de Vries equation. Funct. Differ. Equ. **8**, 183–194 (2001)
- Faminskii, A.V.: Global well-posedness of two initial-boundary-value problems for the Korteweg–de Vries equation. Differ. Integr. Equ. 20, 601–642 (2007)
- 9. Faminskii, A.V., Larkin, N.A.: Initial-boundary value problems for quasilinear dispersive equations posed on a bounded interval. Electron J. Differ. Equ. 1, 1–20 (2010)
- Goubet, O., Shen, J.: On the dual Petrov–Galerkin formulation of the KdV equation on a finite interval. Adv. Differ. Equ. 12, 221–239 (2007)
- 11. Khablov, V.V.: Well-posed boundary-value problems for the modified Korteweg–de Vries equation. Trudy Semin. S.L. Soboleva 2, 137–148 (1979) [in Russian]
- 12. Natali, F.: Unstable snoidal waves. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 82, 810-830 (2010)
- Neves, A.: Isoinertial family of operators and convergence of KdV cnoidal waves to solitons. J. Differ. Equ. 244, 875–886 (2008)

A Filippov-Type Existence Theorem for Some Nonlinear *q*-Difference Inclusions

Aurelian Cernea

Abstract We study two classes of boundary value problems associated to nonlinear q-difference inclusions and our aim is to show that Filippov's ideas can be suitably adapted in order to obtain the existence of solutions for the problems considered. Note that for a differential inclusion defined by a lipschitzian set-valued map with nonconvex values, Filippov's theorem consists in proving the existence of a solution starting from a given "quasi" solution. Moreover, the result provides an estimate between the "quasi" solution and the solution obtained. In this way we improve some existing results in the literature.

Keywords Difference inclusion • Set-valued map • Existence of solution

AMS subject classifications: 34A60

1 Introduction

In the last years, we may see a strong development of the study of boundary value problems associated to q-difference equations and inclusions as one can see in [1–3, 7, 8] etc. A reason is that in numerical analysis instead of the standard discretization of the ordinary differential equations based on the arithmetic progression, it can be used as the q-discretization related to geometric progression. These alternative methods lead to q-difference equations which at limit $q \rightarrow 1$ correspond to the classical differential equations. On the other hand, the q-difference equations are also useful in the theory of quantum groups [6].

In this note we consider the following problems:

$$D_q^3 x(t) \in F(t, x(t)), \quad t \in J, \quad x(0) = 0, \quad D_q x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0,$$
 (1)

$$D_q^2 x(t) \in F(t, x(t)), \quad t \in J, \quad x(0) = \eta x(1), \quad D_q x(0) = \eta D_q x(1),$$
 (2)

A. Cernea (🖂)

Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Bucharest, Academiei 14, 010014 Bucharest, Romania e-mail: acernea@fmi.unibuc.ro

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_7

where D_q, D_q^2, D_q^3 denotes the first, the second, and the third order q-derivative, respectively, $I = [0, 1], J = \{q^n, n \in \mathbf{N}\} \cup \{0, 1\}, q \in (0, 1), \eta \neq 1$ and $F: I \times \mathbf{R} \to \mathscr{P}(\mathbf{R})$ is a set-valued map not necessarily convex valued.

Existence results for problems (1) and (2) were obtained in [1] and in [2], respectively, for convex as well as nonconvex set-valued maps. All the results in [1, 2] are obtained using fixed point techniques.

The aim of this note is to show that Filippov's ideas [5] can be suitably adapted in order to obtain the existence of solutions for problems (1) and (2). Recall that for a differential inclusion defined by a Lipschitzian set-valued map with nonconvex values, Filippov's theorem [5] consists in proving the existence of a solution starting from a given "quasi" solution. Moreover, the result provides an estimate between the "quasi" solution and the solution obtained. In this way we improve some results in [1, 2].

The paper is organized as follows: in Sect. 2 we recall some preliminary results that we need in the sequel, and in Sect. 3, we prove our main results.

2 Preliminaries

Let (X, d) be a metric space. Recall that the Pompeiu–Hausdorff distance of the closed subsets $A, B \subset X$ is defined by

$$d_H(A, B) = \max\{d^*(A, B), d^*(B, A)\}, d^*(A, B) = \sup\{d(a, B); a \in A\},\$$

where $d(x, B) = \inf_{y \in B} d(x, y)$.

We denote by $C(J, \mathbf{R})$ the Banach space of all continuous functions from J to \mathbf{R} with the norm $||x(.)||_C = \sup_{t \in J} |x(t)|$ and $L^1(I, \mathbf{R})$ is the Banach space of integrable functions $u(.): I \to \mathbf{R}$ endowed with the norm $||u(.)||_1 = \int_0^1 |u(t)| dt$.

We recall next some basic facts from q-calculus [6].

For $q \in (0, 1)$ the q-derivative of a real-valued function f is defined by

$$D_q f(t) = \frac{f(t) - f(qt)}{(1 - q)t}, \quad D_q f(0) = \lim_{t \to 0} D_q f(t).$$

The higher-order q-derivatives are given by

$$D_q^0 f(t) = f(t), \quad D_q^n f(t) = D_q D_q^{n-1} f(t), \quad n \in \mathbf{N}.$$

For example, $D_q(t^k) = [k]_q t^{k-1}$ where $[k]_q = \frac{q^k - 1}{q-1}, k \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, $D_q(t^2) = (1+q)t$.

Note that for *f* differentiable at *t*, we have $\lim_{q\to 1^-} D_q f(t) = f'(t)$.

For $y \ge 0$ denote $J_y = \{yq^n, n \in \mathbf{N}\} \cup \{0\}$ and define the *q*-integral of the function $f : J_y \to \mathbf{R}$ by

A Filippov-Type Existence Theorem for Some Nonlinear q-Difference Inclusions

$$I_q f(y) = \int_0^y f(s) d_q s = \sum_{n=0}^\infty y(1-q) q^n f(yq^n),$$

provided that the series converges. If $b_1 = yq^{n_1}$, $b_2 = yq^{n_2}$, $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, one defines

$$\int_{b_1}^{b_2} f(s)d_q s = I_q f(b_2) - I_q f(b_1) = (1-q) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n [b_2 f(b_2) - b_1 f(b_1)].$$

Similarly, one has

$$I_q^0 f(t) = f(t), \quad I_q^n f(t) = I_q I_q^{n-1} f(t), \quad n \in \mathbf{N}.$$

Note that $D_q I_q f(t) = f(t)$ and if f is continuous at t = 0, then $I_q D_q f(t) = f(t) - f(0)$. In particular, it follows that if $D_q I_q f(t) = g(t)$, then $f(t) = I_q g(t) + c$ with $c \in \mathbf{R}$ arbitrary.

The product rule and the integration by parts formula are

$$D_q(gh)(t) = D_q g(t)h(t) + g(qt)D_q h(t),$$

$$\int_0^x f(t)D_q g(t)d_q t = [f(t)g(t)]_0^x - \int_0^x D_q f(t)g(qt)d_q t.$$

At the limit $q \rightarrow 1-$, the above statements correspond to their counterparts in standard calculus.

We recall the next two technical results are proven in [1] and in [2], respectively.

Lemma 1. Let $f: J \to \mathbf{R}$ be continuous. The solution of the problem

$$D_q^3 x(t) = f(t), \quad x(0) = 0, \quad D_q x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0$$

is given by $x(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s, q) f(s) d_q s$, where G(., ., .) is the Green's function given by

$$G(t, s, q) = \begin{cases} qs(1-t)[q^2s(1+t) - (1+q)t] & \text{if } 0 \le s < t \le 1, \\ t^2(1-qs)(q^2s-1) & \text{if } 0 \le t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Denote $M := \max_{t,s \in I} |G(t,s,q)|$.

Lemma 2. Let $f: J \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$ be continuous. The solution of the problem

$$D_q^2 x(t) = f(t), \quad x(0) = \eta x(1), \quad D_q x(0) = \eta D_q x(1)$$

is given by $x(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t, s, q) f(s) d_q s$, where $G_1(., ., .)$ is the Green function given by

$$G_1(t, s, q) = \frac{1}{(\eta - 1)^2} \begin{cases} \eta(\eta - 1)(qs - t) + \eta & \text{if } 0 \le t < s \le 1, \\ (\eta - 1)(qs - t) + \eta & \text{if } 0 \le s \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Denote $M_1 := \max_{t,s \in I} |G_1(t, s, q)|$.

Definition 1.

- a) A function $x(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$ is a solution of problem (1.1) if there exists a function $f(.) \in L^1(J, \mathbf{R})$ that satisfies $f(t) \in F(t, x(t))$ a.e. (J) and $x(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s, q) f(s) d_q s$, where G(., ., .) is defined in Lemma 1.
- b) A function $x(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$ is a solution of problem (1.2) if there exists a function $f(.) \in L^1(J, \mathbf{R})$ satisfying $f(t) \in F(t, x(t))$ a.e. (J) and $x(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t, s, q) f(s) d_q s$, where $G_1(., ., .)$ is defined in Lemma 2.

3 The Main Results

First we recall a selection result (e.g., [4]) which is a version of the celebrated Kuratowski and Ryll-Nardzewski selection theorem.

Lemma 3. Consider X a separable Banach space, B is the closed unit ball in X, $H : J \rightarrow \mathscr{P}(X)$ is a set-valued map with nonempty closed values, and $g : J \rightarrow X, L : J \rightarrow \mathbf{R}_+$ are measurable functions. If

$$H(t) \cap (g(t) + L(t)B) \neq \emptyset$$
 a.e. (J),

then the set-valued map $t \to H(t) \cap (g(t) + L(t)B)$ has a measurable selection.

In order to prove our results, we need the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis.

- i) $F(.,.): I \times \mathbf{R} \to \mathscr{P}(\mathbf{R})$ has nonempty closed values and F(.,x) is measurable for any $x \in \mathbf{R}$.
- ii) There exists $L(.) \in L^1(I, (0, \infty))$ such that F(t, .) is L(t)-Lipschitz in the sense that

$$d_H(F(t, x_1), F(t, x_2)) \le L(t)|x_1 - x_2| \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in \mathbf{R}.$$

Denote $L_0 = \int_0^1 L(s) ds$.

Theorem 1. Assume that the hypothesis is satisfied and $ML_0 < 1$. Let $y(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$ be such that y(0) = 0, $D_q y(0) = 0$, y(1) = 0 and there exists $p(.) \in L^1(I, \mathbf{R}_+)$ verifying $d(D_q^3 y(t), F(t, y(t))) \le p(t)$ a.e. (J).

Then, there exists x(.), a solution of problem (1) satisfying for all $t \in J$

A Filippov-Type Existence Theorem for Some Nonlinear q-Difference Inclusions

$$|x(t) - y(t)| \le \frac{M}{1 - ML_0} \int_0^1 p(t) dt.$$
 (3)

Proof. The set-valued map $t \to F(t, y(t))$ is measurable with closed values and

$$F(t, y(t)) \cap \{D_q^3 y(t) + p(t)[-1, 1]\} \neq \emptyset \quad a.e. (J).$$

It follows from Lemma 3 that there exists a measurable selection $f_1(t) \in F(t, y(t))$ *a.e.* (*J*) such that

$$|f_1(t) - D_q^3 y(t)| \le p(t) \quad a.e. \ (J)$$
(4)

Define $x_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s, q) f_1(s) d_q s$ and one has

$$|x_1(t) - y(t)| \le M \int_0^1 p(t) d_q t \le M \int_0^1 p(t) dt$$

We claim that it is enough to construct the sequences $x_n(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R}), f_n(.) \in L^1(J, \mathbf{R}), n \ge 1$ with the following properties:

$$x_n(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s, q) f_n(s) d_q s, \quad t \in J,$$
(5)

$$f_n(t) \in F(t, x_{n-1}(t))$$
 a.e. (J), (6)

$$|f_{n+1}(t) - f_n(t)| \le L(t)|x_n(t) - x_{n-1}(t)|$$
(7)

for almost all $t \in J$.

If this construction is realized, then from (4)–(7) we have, for $t \in J$,

$$|x_{n+1}(t)-x_n(t)| \leq M(ML_0)^n \int_0^1 p(t)dt \quad \forall n \in \mathbf{N}.$$

Indeed, assume that the last inequality is true for n - 1 and we prove it for n. One has

$$\begin{aligned} |x_{n+1}(t) - x_n(t)| &\leq \int_0^1 |G(t, t_1, q)| \cdot |f_{n+1}(t_1) - f_n(t_1)| d_q t_1 \\ &\leq M \int_0^1 L(t_1) |x_n(t_1) - x_{n-1}(t_1)| d_q t_1 \\ &\leq M \int_0^1 L(t_1) d_q t_1 M (ML_0)^n \int_0^1 p(t) dt \\ &\leq M \int_0^1 L(t_1) dt_1 M (ML_0)^n \int_0^1 p(t) dt = M (ML_0)^{n+1} \int_0^1 p(t) dt. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\{x_n(.)\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the Banach space $C(J, \mathbf{R})$, hence converging uniformly to some $x(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$. Therefore, by (7), for almost all $t \in J$, the sequence $\{f_n(t)\}$ is Cauchy in **R**. Let f(.) be the pointwise limit of $f_n(.)$.

Moreover, one has

$$|x_n(t) - y(t)| \le |x_1(t) - y(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |x_{i+1}(t) - x_i(t)|$$

$$\le M \int_0^1 p(t) dt + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (M \int_0^1 p(t) dt) (ML_0)^i = \frac{M \int_0^1 p(t) dt}{1 - ML_0}.$$
 (8)

On the other hand, from (4), (7), and (8), we obtain for almost all $t \in J$

$$|f_n(t) - D_q^3 y(t)| \le \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |f_{i+1}(t) - f_i(t)| + |f_1(t) - D_q^3 y(t)| \le L(t) \frac{M \int_0^1 p(t) dt}{1 - ML_0} + p(t).$$

Hence, the sequence $f_n(.)$ is integrably bounded and therefore $f(.) \in L^1(J, \mathbf{R})$.

Using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and taking the limit in (5), (6), we deduce that x(.) is a solution of (1). Finally, passing to the limit in (8), we obtained the desired estimate on x(.).

It remains to construct the sequences $x_n(.), f_n(.)$ with the properties in (5)–(7). The construction will be done by induction.

Since the first step is already realized, assume that for some $N \ge 1$, we already constructed $x_n(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$ and $f_n(.) \in L^1(J, \mathbf{R})$, n = 1, 2, ..., N satisfying (5), (7) for n = 1, 2, ..., N and (6) for n = 1, 2, ..., N - 1. The set-valued map $t \to F(t, x_N(t))$ is measurable. Moreover, the map $t \to L(t)|x_N(t) - x_{N-1}(t)|$ is measurable. By the Lipschitzianity of F(t, ...), we have that for almost all $t \in J$

$$F(t, x_N(t)) \cap \{f_N(t) + L(t) | x_N(t) - x_{N-1}(t) | [-1, 1]\} \neq \emptyset.$$

Lemma 3 yields that there exists a measurable selection $f_{N+1}(.)$ of $F(., x_N(.))$ such that

$$|f_{N+1}(t) - f_N(t)| \le L(t)|x_N(t) - x_{N-1}(t)|$$
 a.e. (J).

We define $x_{N+1}(.)$ as in (5) with n = N + 1. Thus, $f_{N+1}(.)$ satisfies (6) and (7) and the proof is complete.

The assumption in Theorem 1 is satisfied, in particular, for y(.) = 0 if we assume that $d(0, F(t, 0)) \le p(t)$ a.e. (J). We obtain the following consequence of Theorem 1.

Corollary 1. Assume that the hypothesis is satisfied, $d(0, F(t, 0)) \leq L(t)$ a.e. (I) and $ML_0 < 1$. Then, there exists x(.) a solution of problem (1) satisfying for all $t \in J$

A Filippov-Type Existence Theorem for Some Nonlinear q-Difference Inclusions

$$|x(t)| \le \frac{ML_0}{1 - ML_0}.$$
 (9)

Remark 1. A similar result to the one in Corollary 1 may be found in [1], namely, Theorem 5, but without a priori estimates as in (9).

With the same proof as the proof of Theorem, we obtain a similar result for problem (2).

Theorem 2. Assume that the hypothesis is satisfied and $M_1L_0 < 1$. Let $y(.) \in C(J, \mathbf{R})$ be such that $y(0) = \eta x(1)$, $D_q y(0) = \eta D_q y(1)$ and there exists $p(.) \in L^1(I, \mathbf{R}_+)$ verifying $d(D_a^2 y(t), F(t, y(t))) \leq p(t)$ a.e. (J).

Then, there exists x(.) a solution of problem (2) satisfying for all $t \in J$

$$|x(t) - y(t)| \le \frac{M_1}{1 - M_1 L_0} \int_0^1 p(t) dt.$$

References

- 1. Ahmad, B., Nieto, J.J.: Basic theory of nonlinear third-order *q*-difference equations and inclusions. Math. Model. Anal. **18**, 122–135 (2013)
- Ahmad, B., Ntouyas S.K.: Boundary value problems for *q*-difference inclusions. Abstract Appl. Anal. 2011, 1–15 (2011). ID 292860
- Ahmad, B., Alsaedi, A., Ntouyas S.K.: A study of second-order q-difference equations with boundary conditions. Adv. Differ. Equ. 2012, 1–35 (2012)
- 4. Aubin, J.P., Frankowska, H.: Set-Valued Analysis. Birkhauser, Basel (1990)
- 5. Filippov, A.F.: Classical solutions of differential equations with multivalued right hand side. SIAM J. Control **5**, 609–621 (1967)
- 6. Kac, V., Cheung, P.: Quantum Calculus. Springer, New York (2002)
- Ntouyas, S.K., Sitthiwirattham, T., Taribon, J.: Existence results for q-difference inclusions with three-point boundary conditions involving different numbers of q. Discuss. Math. Differ. Incl. Control Optim. 34, 41–59 (2013)
- Sitthiwirattham, T., Taribon, J., Ntouyas, S.K.: Three-point boundary value problems of nonlinear second-order *q*-difference equations involving different numbers of *q*. J. Appl. Math. 2013, 1–12 (2013). ID 763786

Complex-Valued Fractional Derivatives on Time Scales

Benaoumeur Bayour and Delfim F.M. Torres

Abstract We introduce a notion of fractional (noninteger order) derivative on an arbitrary nonempty closed subset of the real numbers (on a time scale). Main properties of the new operator are proved and several illustrative examples given.

Keywords Fractional calculus • Calculus on time scales • Complex-valued operator • Hilger derivative of noninteger order

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 26A33; 26E70

1 Introduction

The study of fractional (noninteger) order derivatives on discrete, continuous and, more generally, arbitrary nonempty closed set (i.e., a time scale) is a well-known subject under strong current development. The subject is very rich and several different definitions and approaches are available, either in discrete [1], continuous [11], and time-scale settings [2]. In continuous time, i.e., for the time scale $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$, several definitions are based on the classical Euler Gamma function Γ . For the time scale $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$, the Gamma function is nothing else than the factorial, while for the qscale, one has the q-Gamma function Γ_q [9]. For the definition of Gamma function on an arbitrary time scale \mathbb{T} , see [6]. Similarly to [2, 3], here we introduce a new notion of fractional derivative on an arbitrary time scale \mathbb{T} that does not involve Gamma functions. Our approach is, however, different from the ones available in the literature [2–5]. In particular, while in [2–5] the fractional derivative at a point

B. Bayour

D.F.M. Torres (🖂)

University of Chlef, B.P. 151, Hay Es-salem, Chlef, Algeria e-mail: b.benaoumeur@gmail.com

Department of Mathematics, Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications (CIDMA), University of Aveiro, 3810-193, Aveiro, Portugal e-mail: delfim@ua.pt

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_8

is always a real number, here, in contrast, the fractional derivative at a point is, in general, a complex number. For example, the derivative of order $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ of the square function t^2 is always given by $t^{\alpha} + (\sigma(t))^{\alpha}$, where $\sigma(t)$ is the forward jump operator of the time scale, which is in general a complex number (e.g., for $\alpha = 1/2$ and t < 0) and a generalization of the Hilger derivative $(t^2)^{\Delta} = t + \sigma(t)$.

The text is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we recall the notion of Hilger/delta derivative. Our complex-valued fractional derivative on time scales is introduced in Sect. 3, where its main properties are proved and several examples given.

2 Preliminaries

A time scale \mathbb{T} is an arbitrary nonempty closed subset of the real numbers \mathbb{R} . For $t \in \mathbb{T}$, we define the forward jump operator $\sigma : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ by $\sigma(t) = \inf\{s \in \mathbb{T} : s > t\}$, and the backward jump operator $\rho : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is defined by $\rho(t) := \sup\{s \in \mathbb{T} : s < t\}$. Then, one defines the graininess function $\mu : \mathbb{T} \to [0, +\infty[$ by $\mu(t) = \sigma(t) - t$.

If $\sigma(t) > t$, then we say that *t* is right scattered; if $\rho(t) < t$, then *t* is left scattered. Moreover, if $t < \sup \mathbb{T}$ and $\sigma(t) = t$, then *t* is called right dense; if $t > \inf \mathbb{T}$ and $\rho(t) = t$, then *t* is called left dense. If \mathbb{T} has a left-scattered maximum *m*, then we define $\mathbb{T}^{\kappa} = \mathbb{T} \setminus \{m\}$; otherwise $\mathbb{T}^{\kappa} = \mathbb{T}$. If $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$, then $f^{\sigma} : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by $f^{\sigma}(t) = f(\sigma(t))$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$.

Definition 1 (The Hilger Derivative [8]). Let $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}$. We define $f^{\Delta}(t)$ to be the number (provided it exists) with the property that given any $\epsilon > 0$ there is a neighborhood U of t (i.e., $U = (t - \delta, t + \delta) \cap \mathbb{T}$ for some $\delta > 0$) such that

$$\left| \left[f(\sigma(t)) - f(s) \right] - f^{\Delta}(t) \left[\sigma(t) - s \right] \right| \le \epsilon \left| \sigma(t) - s \right|$$

for all $s \in U$. We call $f^{\Delta}(t)$ the Hilger (or delta) derivative of f at t.

For more on the calculus on time scales, we refer the reader to the books [7, 8].

3 Complex-Valued Fractional Derivatives on Time Scales

Let $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ with \mathbb{T} a given time scale. We introduce here a new definition of fractional (noninteger) delta derivative of order $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ at a point $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\kappa}$.

Definition 2 (The Delta Fractional Derivative of Order α). Assume $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ with \mathbb{T} a time scale. Let $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\kappa}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. We define $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ to be the number (provided it exists) with the property that given any $\epsilon > 0$ there is a neighborhood U of t (i.e., $U = (t - \delta, t + \delta) \cap \mathbb{T}$ for some $\delta > 0$) such that

$$\left| \left[f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) \right] - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \left[\sigma(t)^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha} \right] \right| \le \epsilon \left| \sigma(t)^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha} \right| \tag{1}$$

for all $s \in U$. We call $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ the delta derivative of order α of f at t or the delta fractional (noninteger order) derivative of f at t. Moreover, we say that f is delta differentiable of order α on \mathbb{T}^{κ} provided $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ exists for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\kappa}$. Function $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}$: $\mathbb{T}^{\kappa} \to \mathbb{C}$ is then called the delta derivative of order α of f on \mathbb{T}^{κ} .

Remark 1. In (1) we use f^{α} to denote the power α of f. It is clear that the new derivative coincides with the standard Hilger derivative in the integer order case $\alpha = 1$. Differently from $\alpha = 1$, in general $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ is a complex number.

Theorem 1. Assume $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ with \mathbb{T} a time scale. Let $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\kappa}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the following proprieties hold:

1. If f is continuous at t and t is right scattered, then f is delta differentiable of order α at t with

$$f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}}.$$
(2)

2. If t is right dense, then f is delta differentiable of order α at t if and only if the limit

$$\lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}}$$

exists as a finite number. In this case

$$f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}}.$$
(3)

3. If f *is delta differentiable of order* α *at t, then*

$$f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) = f^{\alpha}(t) + (\sigma(t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha})f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t).$$

Proof. 1. Assume f is continuous at t and t is right scattered. By continuity,

$$\lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}} = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}}.$$

Hence, given $\epsilon > 0$, there is a neighborhood U of t such that

$$\left|\frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}} - \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}}\right| \le \epsilon$$

for all $s \in U$. It follows that

$$\left|f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} [\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}]\right| \le \epsilon |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|$$

for all $s \in U$. Hence, we get the desired result (2).

2. Assume f is differentiable at t and t is right dense. Let $\epsilon > 0$ be given. Since f is differentiable at t, there is a neighborhood U of t such that

$$\left|\left[f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s)\right] - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)\left[\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}\right]\right| \le \epsilon \mid \sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha} \mid$$

for all $s \in U$. Since $\sigma(t) = t$, we have that

$$\left| \left[f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) \right] - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \left[t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha} \right] \right| \le \epsilon \mid \sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha} \mid$$

for all $s \in U$. It follows that $\left|\frac{f^{\alpha}(t)-f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha}-s^{\alpha}}-f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)\right| \leq \epsilon$ for all $s \in U$, $s \neq t$, and we get the desired equality (3). Assume $\lim_{s\to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t)-f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha}-s^{\alpha}}$ exists and is equal to X and $\sigma(t) = t$. Let $\epsilon > 0$. Then, there is a neighborhood U of t such that

$$\left|\frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}} - X\right| \le \epsilon$$

for all $s \in U$. Because $|f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - X(t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha})| \le \epsilon |t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}|$ for all $s \in U$,

$$f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = X = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}}$$

3. If $\sigma(t) = t$, then $\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha} = 0$ and

$$f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) = f^{\alpha}(t) = f^{\alpha}(t) + (\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha})f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t).$$

On the other hand, if $\sigma(t) > t$, then by item 1

$$f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) = f^{\alpha}(t) + (\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}) \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma(t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}}$$
$$= f^{\alpha}(t) + (\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}) f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$$

and the proof is complete.

Example 1. If $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$, then (3) yields that $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is delta differentiable of order α at $t \in \mathbb{R}$ if and only if $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}}$ exists, i.e., if and only if f is fractional differentiable at t. In this case we get the derivative $f^{(\alpha)}$ of [10].

Example 2. If $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$, then item 1 of Theorem 1 yields that $f : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ is deltadifferentiable of order α at $t \in \mathbb{Z}$ with

$$f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{f^{\alpha}(t+1) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{(t+1)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}}.$$

Example 3. If $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by $f(t) \equiv \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, then $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \equiv 0$. Indeed, if t is right scattered, then by item 1 of Theorem $\int f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\lambda^{\alpha} - \lambda^{\alpha}}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = 0$; if t is right dense, then by (3) we get $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{\lambda^{\alpha} - \lambda^{\alpha}}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}} = 0$.

Example 4. If $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$, $t \mapsto t$, then $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}} \equiv 1$ because if $\sigma(t) > t$ (i.e., t is right scattered), then $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = 1$; if $\sigma(t) = t$ (i.e., t is right dense), then $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}} = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}} = \frac{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}} = 1$.

Example 5. Let $g: \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}, t \mapsto \frac{1}{t}$. We have $g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = -\frac{1}{(t\sigma(t))^{\alpha}}$. Indeed, if $\sigma(t) = t$, then $g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = -\frac{1}{t^{2\alpha}}$; if $\sigma(t) > t$, then

$$g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - g^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{\sigma(t)}\right)^{\alpha} - \left(\frac{1}{t}\right)^{\alpha}}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\frac{t^{\alpha} - \sigma^{\alpha}(t)}{t^{\alpha} \sigma^{\alpha}(t)}}{t^{\alpha} - \sigma^{\alpha}(t)} = -\frac{1}{t^{\alpha} \sigma^{\alpha}(t)}.$$

Example 6. Let $h : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$, $t \mapsto t^2$. We have $h^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \sigma^{\alpha}(t) + t^{\alpha}$. Indeed, if t is right dense, then $h^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \lim_{s \to t} \frac{t^{2\alpha} - s^{2\alpha}}{t^{\alpha} - s^{\alpha}} = 2t^{\alpha}$; if t is right scattered, then

$$h^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{h^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - h^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\sigma^{2\alpha}(t) - t^{2\alpha}}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \sigma^{\alpha}(t) + t^{\alpha}.$$

Example 7. Consider the time scale $\mathbb{T} = h\mathbb{Z}, h > 0$. Let *f* be the function defined by $f : h\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}, t \mapsto (t-c)^2, c \in \mathbb{R}$. The fractional derivative of order α of *f* at *t* is

$$f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(t)}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}} = \frac{((\sigma(t) - c)^2)^{\alpha} - ((t - c)^2)^{\alpha}}{\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - t^{\alpha}}$$
$$= \frac{(t + h - c)^{2\alpha} - (t - c)^{2\alpha}}{(t + h)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}}.$$

Remark 2. Examples 5, 6, and 7 show that in general $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ is a complex number (for instance, choose $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ and t < 0).

Theorem 2. Assume $f, g : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous and delta differentiable of order α at $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\kappa}$. Then the following proprieties hold:

- 1. For any constant λ , function $\lambda f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ is delta differentiable of order α at t with $(\lambda f)^{\Delta^{\alpha}} = \lambda^{\alpha} f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}$.
- 2. The product $fg : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ is delta differentiable of order α at t with

$$(fg)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)g^{\alpha}(t) + f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) + f^{\alpha}(t)g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t).$$

3. If $f(t)f(\sigma(t)) \neq 0$, then $\frac{1}{t}$ is delta differentiable of order α at t with

$$\left(\frac{1}{f}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{-f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)}{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\alpha}(t)}$$

4. If $g(t)g(\sigma(t)) \neq 0$, then $\frac{f}{g}$ is delta differentiable of order α at t with

$$\left(\frac{f}{g}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)g^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(t)g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)}{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))g^{\alpha}(t)}$$

Proof. 1. Let $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. Define $\epsilon^* = \frac{\epsilon}{|\lambda|^{\alpha}} \in (0, 1)$. Then there exists a neighborhood U of t such that $|f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})| \leq \epsilon^* |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|$ for all $s \in U$. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |(\lambda f)^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - (\lambda f)^{\alpha}(s) - \lambda^{\alpha} f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})| \\ &= |\lambda|^{\alpha} |f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})| \\ &\leq \epsilon^{*} |\lambda|^{\alpha} |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| \leq \frac{\epsilon}{|\lambda|^{\alpha}} |\lambda|^{\alpha} |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| = \epsilon |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| \end{aligned}$$

for all $s \in U$. Thus, $(\lambda f)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \lambda^{\alpha} f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$ holds.

2. Let $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. Define $\epsilon^* = \epsilon [1 + |f^{\alpha}(t)| + |g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(\sigma(t))|]^{-1}$. Then $\epsilon^* \in (0, 1)$ and there exist neighborhoods U_1, U_2 , and U_3 of t such that

$$|f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})| \le \epsilon^{*} |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|$$

for all $s \in U_1$, $|g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - g^{\alpha}(s) - g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})| \le \epsilon^* |\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|$ for all $s \in U_2$ and such as f is continuous. Then $|f(t) - f(s)| \le \epsilon^*$ for all $s \in U_3$. Define $U = U_1 \cap U_2 \cap U_3$ and let $s \in U$. It follows that

$$\begin{split} |(fg)^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - (fg)^{\alpha}(s) - [g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(t) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)][\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}]| \\ &= |[f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})](g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\alpha}(s) \\ &+ g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}) - f^{\alpha}(s)g^{\alpha}(s) \\ &- [g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(t) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)][\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}]| \\ &= |[f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})](g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))) \\ &+ [g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - g^{\alpha}(s) - g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})](f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\alpha}(t)) + f^{\alpha}(s)g^{\alpha}(s) \\ &+ g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(s)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}) - g^{\alpha}(s)f^{\alpha}(s) \\ &+ g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(s)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}) - f^{\alpha}(s)g^{\alpha}(s) \\ &- [g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(t) + g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)][\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}]| \end{split}$$

$$\leq |f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})||(g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)))| + |g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - g^{\alpha}(s) - g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})||(f^{\alpha}(t))| + |g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) - g^{\alpha}(s) - g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)(\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha})||f^{\alpha}(s) - f^{\alpha}(t)| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)||f^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(s)||\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| = \epsilon^{*}|(g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)))||\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| + \epsilon^{*}|(f^{\alpha}(t))||\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| + \epsilon^{*}|\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|\epsilon^{*} + \epsilon^{*}|g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)||\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}| \leq \epsilon^{*}|\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|(\epsilon^{*} + |(f^{\alpha}(t))| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)|) \leq \epsilon^{*}|\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|(1 + |(f^{\alpha}(t))| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)| + |g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)|) = \epsilon|\sigma^{\alpha}(t) - s^{\alpha}|.$$

Thus, $(fg)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = f^{\alpha}(t)g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) + f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))$ holds at t. The other product rule follows from this last equality by interchanging functions f and g.

- 3. We use the delta derivative of a constant (Example 3). Since $\left(f \cdot \frac{1}{f}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = 0$, it follows from item 2 that $\left(\frac{1}{f}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t)) + f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)\frac{1}{f^{\alpha}(t)} = 0$. Because we are assuming $f(t)f(\sigma(t)) \neq 0$, one has $\left(\frac{1}{f}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \frac{-f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)}{f^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))f^{\alpha}(t)}$.
- 4. For the quotient formula, we use items 2 and 3 to compute

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{f}{g}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) &= \left(f \cdot \frac{1}{g}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = f^{\alpha}(t) \left(\frac{1}{g}\right)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) + f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \frac{1}{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))} \\ &= -f^{\alpha}(t) \frac{g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)}{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))g^{\alpha}(t)} + f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \frac{1}{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))} \\ &= \frac{f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)g^{\alpha}(t) - f^{\alpha}(t)g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)}{g^{\alpha}(\sigma(t))g^{\alpha}(t)}. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof.

Remark 3. The delta derivative of order α of the sum $f + g : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ does not satisfy the usual property, that is, in general $(f+g)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) \neq (f)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) + (g)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t)$. For instance, let \mathbb{T} be an arbitrary time scale and f, g be functions defined by $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$, $t \mapsto t$, and $g : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}, t \mapsto 2t$. One can easily find that $(f + g)^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \sqrt{3} \neq 1$ $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) + g^{\Delta^{\widetilde{\alpha}}}(t) = 1 + \sqrt{2}.$

Proposition 1. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$, m > 1. For g defined by $g(t) = t^m$, we have

$$g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k-1} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k}(t).$$
(4)

Proof. We prove the formula by induction. If m = 2, then $g(t) = t^2$ and from Example 6 we know that $g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{1} (t^{\alpha})^{1-k} (\sigma^{\alpha})^k(t) = t^{\alpha} + \sigma^{\alpha}(t)$. Now assume

$$g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k-1} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k}(t)$$

holds for $g(t) = t^m$ and let $G(t) = t^{m+1} = t \cdot g(t)$. We use the product rule of Theorem 2 to obtain

$$G^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = g^{\alpha}(t) + \sigma^{\alpha}(t)g^{\Delta^{\alpha}}(t) = (t^{\alpha})^{m} + \sigma^{\alpha}(t)\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k-1} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k}(t)$$
$$= (t^{\alpha})^{m} + \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k-1} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k+1}(t) = (t^{\alpha})^{m} + \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k}(t)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} (t^{\alpha})^{m-k} (\sigma^{\alpha})^{k}(t).$$

Hence, by mathematical induction, (4) holds.

Example 8. Choose m = 3 in Proposition 1. Then $(t^3)^{\Delta^{\alpha}} = t^{2\alpha} + (t\sigma(t))^{\alpha} + \sigma^{2\alpha}(t)$.

The notion of fractional derivative here introduced can be easily extended to any arbitrary real order α .

Definition 3. Let $\alpha > 0$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ be such that $N < \alpha \le N + 1$. Then we define $f^{\Delta^{\alpha}} = (f^{\Delta^N})^{\Delta^{\alpha-N}}$, where f^{Δ^N} is the usual Hilger derivative of order N.

Acknowledgements This research is part of the first author's Ph.D. project, which is carried out at Sidi Bel Abbes University, Algeria. It was initiated while Bayour was visiting the Department of Mathematics of University of Aveiro, Portugal, 2015. The hospitality of the host institution and the financial support of the University of Chlef, Algeria, are here gratefully acknowledged. Torres was supported by Portuguese funds through CIDMA and FCT, within project UID/MAT/04106/2013.

References

- 1. Atıcı F.M., Uyanik, M.: Analysis of discrete fractional operators. Appl. Anal. Discret. Math. **9**(1), 139–149 (2015)
- Benkhettou, N., Brito da Cruz A.M.C., Torres, D.F.M.: A fractional calculus on arbitrary time scales: fractional differentiation and fractional integration. Signal Process. 107, 230–237 (2015)
- Benkhettou, N., Brito da Cruz, A.M.C., Torres, D.F.M.: Nonsymmetric and symmetric fractional calculi on arbitrary nonempty closed sets. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 39(2), 261– 279 (2016)

- Benkhettou, N., Hammoudi, A., Torres, D.F.M.: Existence and uniqueness of solution for a fractional Riemann–Liouville initial value problem on time scales. J. King Saud Univ. Sci. 28(1), 87–92 (2016)
- Benkhettou, N., Hassani, S., Torres, D.F.M.: A conformable fractional calculus on arbitrary time scales. J. King Saud Univ. Sci. 28(1), 93–98 (2016)
- Bohner, M., Karpuz, B.: The gamma function on time scales. Dyn. Contin. Discret. Impuls. Syst. Ser. A Math. Anal. 20(4), 507–522 (2013)
- 7. Bohner, M., Peterson, A.: Dynamic Equations on Time Scales. Birkhäuser, Boston (2001)
- Bohner, M., Peterson, A.: Advances in Dynamic Equations on Time Scales. Birkhäuser, Boston (2003)
- 9. Kac, V., Cheung, P.: Quantum Calculus. Universitext. Springer, New York (2002)
- Karci, A., Karadogan, A.: Fractional order derivative and relationship between derivative and complex functions. Math. Sci. Appl. E-Notes 2(1), 44–54 (2014)
- Taverna, G.S., Torres, D.F.M.: Generalized fractional operators for nonstandard Lagrangians. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 38(9), 1808–1812 (2015)

Uniform Stabilization of a Hybrid System of Elasticity: Riesz Basis Approach

M. Driss Aouragh

Abstract A hybrid system, composed of an elastic beam governed by an Euler-Bernoulli beam equation and a linked rigid body governed by an ordinary differential equation, is considered. This paper studies the basis property and the stability of a hybrid system when the usual linear boundary feedback is applied to the end without mass. It is shown that there is a sequence of generalized eigenfunctions of the system, which forms a Riesz basis for the state Hilbert space. As consequence expressions of eigenvalues, the spectrum-determined growth condition and the exponential stability are readily presented. To confirm numerically the asymptotic estimate of eigenvalues, we shall use the spectral method to calculate the eigenvalues.

Keywords Beams • Spectrum • Stabilization of systems by feedback • Riesz basis

AMS subject classifications: 74K10, 47A10, 93O15, 47E05

1 Introduction

Consisting of an elastic beam, linked to a rigid antenna, this dynamical system can be described by the Euler-Bernoulli equation for the vibration of the elastic beam and the Newton-Euler rigid-body equations for all the oscillations of the antenna:

$$\partial_{tt} y(x, t) + \partial_{xxxx} y(x, t) = 0, \quad 0 < x < 1, \ t > 0$$

$$M \partial_{tt} y(1, t) - \partial_{xxx} y(1, t) = 0, \quad t > 0$$

$$J \partial_{xtt} y(1, t) + \partial_{xx} y(1, t) = 0, \quad t > 0$$

(1)

M.D. Aouragh (🖂)

FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, P.O. Box: 509 Boutalamine, 52000 Errachidia, Morocco e-mail: d.aouragh@fst.umi.ac.ma

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_9

where *t* is the time variable and *x* the space coordinate along the beam, in its equilibrium position. The function *y* is the transverse displacement of the beam, *M* the mass of the antenna, and *J* the moment of inertia associated with the antenna. For further description concerning the physical structure of the system, we refer to [4]. Our goal is to choose suitable boundary damping at the end x = 0 such that the hybrid system can be stabilized uniformly.

We consider the elastic beam with the following boundary feedback [6]:

$$\partial_x y(0,t) = 0, \quad (y + \partial_{xxx}y + a\partial_t y)(0,t) = 0, \quad t > 0,$$
 (2)

where $a \ge 0$ is a positive constant. Notice that the boundary condition (2) can be realized by means of passive mechanical systems of springer-damper similar to those used in [2].

In the next section, we give a result of a well-posedness of the solution of the system, and the asymptotic expressions of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions are derived. In Sect. 3, we show that there is a sequence of generalized eigenfunctions of system (1)-(2), which forms a Riesz basis for the state Hilbert space and the exponential stability of the system is obtained. Numerical simulation of eigenvalues is presented in Sect. 4.

2 Well-Posedness, Asymptotic Expression of Eigenpairs

The energy space associated to system (1)-(2) is

$$H := \mathscr{V} \times L^2(0,1) \times C^2, \quad \mathscr{V} = \{ \phi \in H^2(0,1) / \partial_x \phi(0) = 0 \}$$

with the inner product induced norm

$$\|(u,v,\zeta,\delta)\|^2 := \int_0^l [|v|^2 + |\partial_{xx}u|^2] dx + |u(0)|^2 + M^{-1}|\zeta|^2 + J^{-1}|\delta|^2,$$

The system (1)–(2) can be written as

$$\partial_t Y(t) = LY(t), Y(t) = (y(.,t), \partial_t y(.,t), m \partial_t y(1,t), \partial_{xt} y(1,t)),$$
(3)

where the associated system operator

$$L(\phi, \psi, \zeta, \delta) = (\psi, -\partial_{xxxx}\phi, \partial_{xxx}\phi(1), -\partial_{xx}\phi(1)),$$

$$D(L) = \{(\phi, \psi, \zeta, \delta) \in (\mathscr{H}^4(0, 1) \cap \mathscr{V}) \times \mathscr{V} \times C^2 / \phi(0) + \partial_{xxx}\phi(0) + a\psi(0) = 0, \zeta = M\psi(1), \delta = J\partial_x\psi(1)\}.$$
(4)

Lemma 1. L^{-1} exists and is compact on *H*. Hence $\sigma(L)$, the spectrum of *L*, consists of isolated eigenvalues only.

Proof. For any $(u, v, f, g) \in H$, solving

$$L(\phi, \psi, \zeta, \delta) = (\psi, -\partial_{xxxx}\phi, -\partial_{xx}\phi(1), \partial_{xxx}\phi(1)) = (u, v, f, g),$$

produces the unique solution $\psi = u$, $\zeta = Mu(1)$, $\delta = Ju'(1)$ and

$$\phi(x) = \phi(0) + \frac{f}{6} - \frac{1}{6} \int_0^1 t^3 v(t) dt - \left[\frac{f}{6} + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 t^2 v(t) dt\right] x$$
$$-\frac{g}{2} x^2 + \frac{f}{6} (x-1)^3 + \frac{1}{6} \int_x^1 (x-1)^3 y(t) dt \tag{5}$$

with $\phi(0) = -(f + au(0) + \int_0^1 v dx)$. The compactness follows from the Sobolev embedding theorem [5]. Other conclusions are obvious, and the details are omitted.

Lemma 2. For any $\lambda = i\tau^2 \in \sigma(L)$, there is a unique eigenfunction (up to a scalar) $(\phi, \lambda\phi, M\lambda\phi(1), J\lambda\partial_x\phi(1))$ where

$$\begin{split} \phi(x) &= -(1 + MJ\tau^4) \cos h \ \tau x + [2J\tau^3 \sin \ \tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^4) \cos \ \tau] \cos h \ \tau (1 - x) \\ &+ [2J\tau^3 \sin h \ \tau - (1 + MJ\tau^4) \cos \ \tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^4) \cos h \ \tau] \cos \ \tau (1 - x) \\ &+ [(-1 + MJ\tau^4) \sin \ \tau - 2M\tau \cos \ \tau] \sin h \ \tau (1 - x) \\ &+ [(1 - MJ\tau^4) \sin h \ \tau - (1 + MJ\tau^4) \sin \ \tau + 2M\tau \cos h \ \tau] \sin \ \tau (1 - x) \end{split}$$

and the characteristic equation that λ satisfies is

$$(1 + ia\tau^{2})[-(1 + MJ\tau^{4}) + (J\tau^{3} - M\tau)\cos\tau\sin h\tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^{4})\cos\tau\cos\tau\sin h\tau - (J\tau^{3} + M\tau)\sin\tau\cos h\tau] - \tau^{3}[2J\tau^{3}\sin\tau\sin h\tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^{4})\cos\tau\sin h\tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^{4})\sin\tau\cos h\tau] = 0,$$
(7)

Proof. Solving the eigenvalue problem

$$L(\phi,\psi,\zeta,\delta) = (\psi,-\partial_{xxxx}\phi,\partial_{xxx}\phi(1),-\partial_{xx}\phi(1)) = \lambda(\phi,\psi,M\psi(1),J\partial_x\psi(1))$$

one has $\psi = \lambda \phi$, $\zeta = M \psi(1)$, $\delta = J \psi'(1)$ and

$$\partial_{xxxx}\phi + \lambda^2 \phi = 0,$$

$$\partial_x \phi(0) = \phi(0)(1 + \lambda a) + \partial_{xxx}\phi(0) = 0,$$

$$\partial_{xxx}\phi(1) - M\lambda^2 \phi(1) = \partial_{xx}\phi(1) + J\lambda^2 \partial_x \phi(1) = 0,$$
 (8)

Let $f(x) = \phi(x - 1)$. Then f satisfies

$$\partial_{xxxx}f + \lambda^2 f = 0,$$

$$\partial_x f(1) = f(1)(1 + \lambda a) - \partial_{xxx}f(1) = 0,$$

$$\partial_{xxx}f(0) + M\lambda^2 f(0) = \partial_{xx}f(0) - J\lambda^2 \partial_x f(0) = 0$$
(9)

Let $\lambda = i\tau^2$; it is easily seen that for any $\lambda = i\tau^2$, the general solution of the following equation

$$\partial_{xxxx} f + \lambda^2 f = 0,$$

$$\partial_{xxx} f(0) + M\lambda^2 f(0) = \partial_{xx} f(0) - J\lambda^2 \partial_x f(0) = 0,$$

is of the form

$$f(x) = [(d_1 - d_2) - MJ\tau^4(d_1 + d_2)] \cos h \,\tau x + [(d_1 - d_2) + MJ\tau^4(d_1 + d_2)] \cos \,\tau x + 2M\tau [d_1 \sin h \,\tau x + d_2 \sin \,\tau x],$$

where d_1 , d_2 are arbitrary constants. By $\partial_x f(1) = 0$, one has (up to a scalar)

$$d_{1} = (1 + MJ\tau^{4}) \sin h \tau + (-1 + MJ\tau^{4}) \sin \tau - 2M\tau \cos \tau,$$

$$d_{2} = (1 - MJ\tau^{4}) \sin h \tau - (1 + MJ\tau^{4}) \sin \tau + 2M\tau \cos h \tau,$$

$$d_{1} - d_{2} = 2MJ\tau^{4} \sin h \tau + 2MJ\tau^{4} \sin \tau - 2M\tau \cos \tau - 2M \cos h \tau,$$

$$d_{1} + d_{2} = 2 \sin h \tau - 2 \sin \tau - 2M\tau \cos \tau + 2M\tau \cos h \tau.$$

by $\phi(x) = f(x-1)$ this is (6). In order for *f* to be a solution of (9), it is necessary and sufficient that $f(1)(1 + \lambda a) - \partial_{xxx}f(1) = 0$, which induces (7), proving the lemma.

Lemma 3. There is a family of eigenvalues $\{\lambda_n = i\tau_n^2, -i\tau_n^2\}$ of *L* with the following asymptotic expression

$$\lambda_n = i\tau_n^2 = -a + i\left(\frac{2}{M} + (m\pi)^2\right) + O(n^{-1})$$
(10)

where $m = n - \frac{1}{4}$, *n* is a sufficiently large positive integer. A corresponding eigenfunction $\Phi_n = (\phi_n, \lambda_n \phi_n, M \lambda_n \phi_n(1), J \lambda_n \partial_x \phi(1))$, where

$$\begin{split} \phi_n(x) &= -(1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\cos h \,\tau_n x \\ &+ [2J\tau_n^3\sin \tau_n + (-1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\cos \tau_n]\cos h \,\tau_n(1-x) \\ &+ [2J\tau_n^3\sin h \,\tau_n - (1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\cos \tau_n + (-1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\cos h \,\tau_n]\cos \,\tau_n(1-x) \\ &+ [(-1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\sin \,\tau_n - 2M\tau_n\cos \,\tau_n]\sin h \,\tau_n(1-x) \\ &+ [(1 - MJ\tau_n^4)\sin h \,\tau_n - (1 + MJ\tau_n^4)\sin \,\tau_n + 2M\tau_n\cos h \,\tau_n]\sin \,\tau_n(1-x), \end{split}$$

which is obtained by (6) with $\tau = \tau_n$. The following asymptotic expression holds where $F_n(x) = -\frac{2}{MJ}\tau_n^{-6}e^{-\tau_n}(\phi_n'', \lambda_n\phi_n, M\lambda_n\phi_n(1), J\lambda_n\phi'(1)),$

$$F_{n}(x) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-m\pi(1-x)} - e^{-m\pi x} \cos m\pi + \cos m\pi(1-x) - \sin m\pi(1-x) \\ i[e^{-m\pi(1-x)} - e^{-m\pi x} \cos m\pi - \cos m\pi(1-x) + \sin m\pi(1-x)] \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^{T} + O(n^{-1})$$
(11)

(11) holds uniformly in $x \in [0, 1]$. It is seen that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|F_n\|_{L^2 \times L^2 \times C^2}^2 = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \|\frac{2}{MJ}\tau_n^{-6}e^{-\tau_n}\Phi_n\|_H^2 = 2,$$

Proof. Note that for a large positive integer *n*, in a uniformly bounded small neighborhood of $m\pi = (n - \frac{1}{4})\pi$

$$|\sin \tau| \le C, |\cos \tau| \le C, |e^{-\tau} \sin h \tau| \le C, |e^{-\tau} \cos h \tau| \le C,$$

uniformly for all *n* with some constant *C*. By multiplying $-e^{-\tau}\tau^{-7}(MJ)^{-1}$ on both sides of (7), we can write (7) in a uniformly bounded small neighborhood of $m\pi = (n - \frac{1}{4})\pi$ for each *n* to be

$$\sin \tau + \cos \tau = O(|\tau|^{-1}), \text{ or } \sin \tau + \cos \tau = \frac{1}{\tau} \left(ia + \frac{2}{M} \right) \cos \tau + O(|\tau|^{-2})$$
(12)

The first equation in (12) can be rewritten as $\sin 2\tau = -1 + O(|\tau|^{-2})$. Applying Rouche's theorem in a small neighborhood of $m\pi = (n - \frac{1}{4})\pi$ where *n* is a large positive integer, we obtain a solution τ_n which is of the form

$$\tau = \tau_n = m\pi + O(n^{-1}), \tag{13}$$

for sufficiently large n. Substituting (13) into the second equation of (12) yields

$$2O(n^{-1}) = \frac{1}{m\pi} \left(ia + \frac{2}{M} \right) + O(n^{-2}),$$

and so $\tau_n = m\pi + \frac{1}{m\pi} \left(\frac{ia}{2} + \frac{1}{M} \right) + O(n^{-2}).$

For the estimation of (11), we treat the first component only because the second component can be treated similarly. Now

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_n^{-2} \phi_n''(x) &= -(1 + MJ\tau_n^4) \cos h \ \tau_n x \\ &+ [2J\tau_n^3 \sin \ \tau_n + (-1 + MJ\tau_n^4) \cos \ \tau_n] \cos h \ \tau_n (1 - x) \\ &- [2J\tau_n^3 \sin h \ \tau_n - (1 + MJ\tau_n^4) \cos \ \tau_n \\ &+ (-1 + MJ\tau_n^4) \cos h \ \tau_n] \cos \ \tau_n (1 - x) \\ &+ [(-1 + MJ\tau_n^4) \sin \ \tau_n - 2M\tau_n \cos \ \tau_n] \sin h \ \tau_n (1 - x) \end{aligned}$$

$$-[(1 - MJ\tau_n^4)\sin h \tau_n - (1 + Mj\tau_n^4)\sin \tau_n + 2M\tau_n\cos h \tau_n]\sin \tau_n(1 - x),$$

Since for any bounded y > 0 and $x \in [0, 1]$, it holds uniformly

$$e^{-\tau_n y} = e^{-m\pi y} + O(n^{-1}), \text{ sin } \tau_n x = \sin m\pi x + O(n^{-1}), \cos \tau_n x$$
$$= \cos m\pi x + O(n^{-1}),$$

Hence

$$2(MJ)^{-1}e^{-\tau_n}\tau_n^{-6}\phi_n''(x) = -e^{\tau_n(1-x)} + e^{-\tau_n x}\cos\tau_n - \cos\tau_n(1-x) + \sin\tau_n(1-x) + O(n^{-1}),$$

Moreover,

$$2(MJ)^{-1}\tau_n^{-6}e^{-\tau_n}\phi_n(1) = O(n^{-1}), \ 2(MJ)^{-1}\tau_n^{-6}e^{-\tau_n}\phi_n'(1) = O(n^{-1}),$$

3 Riesz Basis Property and Exponential Stability

Theorem 1 (Guo [3]). Let A be a densely defined discrete operator, that is, $(\lambda - A)^{-1}$ is compact for some λ in a Hilbert space H. Let $\{z_n\}_1^{+\infty}$ a Riesz basis for H. If there are an $N \ge 0$ and a sequence of a generalized eigenvectors $\{x_n\}_{N+1}^{+\infty}$ of A such that

$$\sum_{n=N+1}^{+\infty} \|x_n - z_n\|^2 < +\infty$$

then

- (i) There are an M > N and generalized eigenvectors $\{x_{n_0}\}_1^M \cup \{x_n\}_{M+1}^{+\infty}$ form a Riesz basis for H.
- (ii) Consequently, let $\{x_{n_0}\}_1^M \cup \{x_n\}_{M+1}^{+\infty}$ correspond to eigenvalues $\{\sigma_n\}_1^{+\infty}$ of A. Then $\sigma(A) = \{\sigma_n\}_1^{+\infty}$ where σ_n is counted according to its algebraic multiplicity.
- (iii) If there is an $M_0 > 0$ such that $\sigma_n \neq \sigma_m$ for all $m, n \ge M_0$, then there is an $N_0 > M_0$ such that all $\sigma_n, n > N_0$ are algebraically simple.

In order to apply theorem 1 to the operator L, we consider the following system:

$$\partial_{tt} y(x,t) + \partial_{xxxx} y(x,t) = 0, \qquad 0 < x < 1, \ t > 0,$$

$$\partial_{x} y(0,t) = 0, \ y(0,t) + \partial_{xxx} y(0,t) = 0, \quad t > 0, \qquad (14)$$

Uniform stabilization of a Hybrid System of Elasticity: Riesz Basis Approach

$$M\partial_{tt}y(1,t) - \partial_{xxx}y(1,t) = J\partial_{xtt}y(1,t) + \partial_{xx}y(1,t) = 0, \qquad t > 0,$$

The system operator L_0 associated with (14) is nothing but the operator L with a = 0:

$$L_0(\phi, \psi, \zeta, \delta) = (\psi, -\partial_{xxxx}\phi, \partial_{xxx}\phi(1), -\partial_{xx}\phi(1)),$$

with $D(L_0) = \{(\phi, \psi, \zeta, \delta) \in (H^4(0, 1) \cap \mathcal{V}) \times \mathcal{V} \times C^2/\phi(0) + \partial_{xxx}\phi(0) = 0, \zeta = M\psi(1), \delta = J\partial_x\psi(1)\}.$

Then it is easily checked that L_0 is indeed a discrete skew-adjoint linear operator in *H*. From Lemma 2, each eigenvalue of L_0 is geometrically simple and hence algebraically simple. Because all eigenvalues of L_0 lie on the imaginary axis and the eigenvalues appear in conjugate pairs, we need to consider only positive solutions of (7) in order to find eigenvalues of L_0 . From Lemma 2, we can obtain the unique (up to a scalar) eigenfunction of L_0 associated with $\mu_n = i\omega_n$ to be $\Psi_n = (f_n, \mu_n f_n, M \mu_n f_n(1), J \mu_n f'_n(1))$, where

$$f_n(x) = -(1 + MJ\omega_n^4)\cos h \,\omega_n x + [2J\omega_n^3\sin \omega_n \\ +(-1 + MJ\omega_n^4)\cos \omega_n]\cos h \,\omega_n(1-x) \\ +[2J\omega_n^3\sin h \,\omega_n - (1 + MJ\omega_n^4)\cos \omega_n \\ +(-1 + MJ\omega_n^4)\cos h \,\omega_n]\cos \,\omega_n(1-x) \\ +[(-1 + MJ\omega_n^4)\sin \omega_n - 2M\omega_n\cos \omega_n]\sin h \,\omega_n(1-x) \\ +[(1 - MJ\omega_n^4)\sin h \,\omega_n - (1 + Mj\omega_n^4)\sin \omega_n + 2M\omega_n\cos h \,\omega_n]\sin \,\omega_n(1-x),$$

and

$$G_n(x) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-m\pi(1-x)} - e^{-m\pi x} \cos m\pi + \cos m\pi(1-x) - \sin m\pi(1-x) \\ i[e^{-m\pi(1-x)} - e^{-m\pi x} \cos m\pi - \cos m\pi(1-x) + \sin m\pi(1-x)] \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} + O(n^{-1})$$
(15)

where $G_n(x) = -\frac{2}{MJ}\omega_n^{-6}e^{-\omega_n}(f_n'',\mu_nf_n,M\mu_nf_n(1),J\mu_nf_n'(1))^{\mathrm{T}}$, Moreover,

$$2(MJ)^{-1}\omega_n^{-6}e^{-\omega_n}f_n(1) = O(n^{-1}), \quad 2(MJ)^{-1}\omega_n^{-6}e^{-\omega_n}f_n'(1) = O(n^{-1})$$

Since L_0 is a discrete operator, there are only finite number of eigenvalues in any bounded complex region, all with at most other finite number of generalized eigenfunctions (in the sense of w-linearly independent) of L_0 forming a Riesz basis for *H*. Therefore, we may assume, without loss of generality, that the generalized eigenfunctions of $L_0 = \{-2(MJ)^{-1}\omega_n^{-6}e^{-\omega_n}\Psi_n\} \bigcup \{$ their conjugates $\}$. It follows from (11) and (15) that there exists an *N* such that

$$\sum_{n=N+1}^{+\infty} \left\| 2(MJ)^{-1} \tau_n^{-6} e^{-\tau_n} \Phi_n - 2(MJ)^{-1} \omega_n^{-6} e^{-\omega_n} \Psi_n \right\|_H^2 = \sum_{n=N+1}^{+\infty} O(n^{-2}) < +\infty,$$
(16)

The same result is verified for their conjugates. We can now apply Theorem 1 to obtain the main results of the present paper.

Theorem 2. For any $a \ge 0$

- *(i) There is a sequence of generalized functions properly normalized of L which forms a Riesz basis of the Hilbert space H.*
- (ii) The eigenvalues of L have the asymptotic behavior (10).
- (iii) All $\lambda \in \sigma(L)$ with sufficiently large modulus are algebraically simple. Therefore, L generates a C_0 semigroup on H. Moreover, for the semigroup e^{Lt} generated by L, the spectrum-determined growth condition holds: $\omega(L) = S(L)$, where

$$\omega(L) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} t^{-1} || e^{Lt} ||, S(L) = \sup\{\operatorname{Re}\lambda / \lambda \in \sigma(L)\}$$

Theorem 3. Suppose a > 0. Then there exists an $\omega > 0$ such that $Re \lambda < -\omega$ for all $\lambda \in \sigma(L)$. Therefore, the C_0 semigroup e^{Lt} generated by L is exponentially stable:

$$\|e^{Lt}\Phi\| \le me^{-\omega t}\|\Phi\|^2$$

for any $\Phi \in H$, where m > 0 is a constant independent of Φ .

Proof. It suffices to show that Re $\lambda < 0$ for all $\lambda \in \sigma(L)$. We start from the eigenproblem (8). Multiplying $\overline{\phi}$, the conjugate of ϕ , on both sides of the first equation in (8) and integrating from 0 to 1 with respect to x yields

$$\int_{0}^{1} |\phi''(x)|^{2} dx + \lambda^{2} [M|\phi(1)|^{2} + J|\phi'(1)|^{2} + \int_{0}^{1} |\phi(x)|^{2} dx]$$
(17)
+(1 + a\lambda)|\phi(0)|^{2} = 0.

Clearly, if λ is a real number, it must have $\lambda < 0$. Notice that $\lambda = 0$ is always not in the spectrum of *L*. Suppose that $\lambda = \lambda_1 + i\lambda_2(\lambda_2 \neq 0)$. Then comparing the imaginary parts of 7 yields

$$2\lambda_1 \left[\int_0^1 |\phi(x)|^2 dx + M |\phi(1)|^2 + J |\phi'(1)|^2 \right] + a |\phi(0)|^2 = 0.$$
 (18)

There are two cases. When $\lambda_1 \neq 0$, it is obvious that $\lambda_1 < 0$ as a > 0. While as $\lambda_1 = 0$, it must be $\phi(0) = 0$ and so $\phi'''(0) = 0$. In this case, the solution of (8) shall be (we may assume that $\lambda_2 > 0$) $\phi(x) = \cos h \sqrt{\lambda_2 x} - \cos \sqrt{\lambda_2 x}$. But from



Fig. 1 Distribution of eigenvalues for a = 5 (*left*) and functional relation between S(L) and a(right)

the boundary condition $\phi'''(1) = -M\lambda_2^2\phi(1)$, we arrive the contradiction that

$$\sin h \sqrt{\lambda_2} - \sin \sqrt{\lambda_2} = -M\sqrt{\lambda_2}(\cos h \sqrt{\lambda_2} - \cos \sqrt{\lambda_2}).$$

4 Numerical Simulation of Eigenvalues

In this section, the Legendre polynomial method is used to compute the spectrum of the hybrid system. We refer the procedure to [1] for details. Here we take N = 100, M = 0.1, J = 0.2 (Fig. 1).

Acknowledgements The author wish to thank the anonymous referee for his or her valuable suggestions.

References

- Chen, G., Krantz, S.G., Russell, D.L., Wayne, C.E., West, H.H., Coleman, M.P.: Analysis, design, and behavior of dissipative joints for coupled beams. SIAM J. App. Math. 49, 1665– 1693 (1989)
- Chen, G., Krantz, S.G., Wayne, C.E., West, H.H.: The Euler-Bernoulli beam equation with boundary energy dissipation. In: Lee, S.J. (ed.) Operators Methods for Optimal Control Problems. Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 163, pp. 357–365. Marcel Dekker, New York (1994)
- 3. Guo, B.Z.: Riesz basis property and exponential stability of controlled Euler-Bernoulli beam equations with variable coefficients. SIAM J. Control Optim. **40**, 1905–1923 (2002)

- 4. Littman, W., Markus, L.: Exact boundary controllability of a hybrid system of elasticity. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **103**, 193–236 (1988)
- 5. Pazy, A.: Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Springer, New York (1983)
- Rao, B.: Recent results in non-uniform and uniform stabilization of the Scole model by boundary feedbacks. In: Zolesio, J.E. *Boundary Control and Variation*. Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 108, pp. 67–96. Marcel Dekker, New York (1994)
Monotone Iterative Technique for Systems of Nonlinear Caputo Fractional Differential Equations

Faten Toumi

Abstract In this work, we deal with the existence of extremal quasisolutions for the following finite system of nonlinear fractional differential equation ${}^{C}D^{q}u(t) + f(t, u(t)) = 0$ in $(0, 1), u(0) - \alpha u'(0) = \lambda, u(1) + \beta u'(1) = \mu$, where $1 < q < 2, \alpha, \beta \in (\mathbb{R}+)^{n}, \lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $f \in C([0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ and ${}^{C}D^{q}$ is the Caputo fractional derivative of order q. We shall prove constructive existence results for a class of nonlinear equations by the use of iterative method technique combined with upper and lower quasisolutions. We construct a pair of sequences of coupled lower and upper quasisolutions which converge uniformly to extremal quasisolutions. Then, a uniqueness result is given under additional conditions on the nonlinearity f.

Keywords Nonlinear fractional differential system • Coupled lower and upper soltions • Mixed quasimonotone property • Monotone method

AMS subject classifications: 34A08, 34B34, 34B15, 34B27

1 Introduction

In the present paper, we study the existence of extremal quasisolutions for the following finite system of nonlinear fractional differential equations

$${}^{C}D^{q}u(t) + f(t, u(t)) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(1)

$$u(0) - \alpha u'(0) = \lambda, u(1) + \beta u'(1) = \mu,$$
(2)

where $1 < q < 2, \alpha, \beta \in (\mathbb{R}+)^n$, $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $f \in \mathscr{C}([0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $^C D^q$ is the Caputo fractional derivative of order q.

F. Toumi (🖂)

Département de Mathématiques, Faculté des Sciences de Tunis, Université El Manar, Campus Universitaire, 2092 Tunis, Tunisia e-mail: faten.toumi@fsb.rnu.tn

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_10

The monotone iterative technique combined with the upper and lower solutions offers an effective method for proving constructive existence for a variety of nonlinear systems of integer order; see [3, 7, 8] and the references therein. Recently, many works investigated nonlinear systems of fractional order by following this approach. More precisely, most of those works treated nonlinear systems of order 0 < q < 1 (see, for e.g., [5, 9]), while few works studied nonlinear differential equations or systems of order $q \ge 1$ in this setup. Due to comparison results established by Shi and Zhang [10] and Al-refaii [1], some works applied successfully the monotone iterative technique combined with the upper and lower solutions to obtain constructive existence of nonlinear differential equations in the case where the fractional order $q \in (1, 2)$; see [2, 4, 6, 11]. Motivated by the above works, we will introduce a method based on lower and upper quasisolutions to prove existence of minimal and maximal quasisolutions of the problem (1)–(2).

2 Preliminary Results

In this section, we shall first present some definitions and properties related to the Caputo fractional derivatives and the method of lower and upper quasisolutions. We then state a positivity result. Finally, we shall state an existence and uniqueness result for some linear system associated to our main problem.

We recall that for a function $u \in \mathscr{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R})$ the Riemann–Liouville fractional integral $I^q u$ and the Caputo fractional derivative ${}^C D^q u$ of order $q \in (1, 2)$ are respectively defined by

 $I^{q}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{q-1} u(s) ds, \text{ and}$ ${}^{C}D^{q}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2-q)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{1-q} u^{(2)}(s) ds = I^{2-q}u^{(2)}(t), \text{ where } t > 0 \text{ and } \Gamma \text{ is the Euler Gamma function.}$

Lemma 1 ([11]). Let $p \in C^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R})$ and M > 0. If p satisfies the following inequalities,

$$^{C}D^{q}p(t) - Mp(t) \le 0, t \in (0, 1)$$
(3)

$$p(0) - \alpha p'(0) \ge 0, p(1) + \beta p'(1) \ge 0, \tag{4}$$

where $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$. Then $p(t) \ge 0$ for $t \in [0, 1]$, provided that $\alpha \ge \frac{1}{q-1}$.

Using standard arguments, we state the following:

Lemma 2. Let M > 0 and $h \in \mathcal{C}([0,1],\mathbb{R})$. A function $u \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,1],\mathbb{R})$ is solution of the problem

$$^{C}D^{q}u(t) + h(t) - Mu(t) = 0, t \in (0, 1)$$
(5)

$$u(0) - \alpha u'(0) = \lambda, u(1) + \beta u'(1) = \mu,$$
(6)

if, and only if, u is solution of the integro-differential equation

$$u(t) = \lambda + \frac{\alpha \left(\mu - \lambda\right)}{\alpha + \beta + 1} \left(1 + t\right) + \int_0^1 G_{\alpha,\beta}\left(t, s\right) \left(h\left(s\right) - Mu(s)\right) ds \tag{7}$$

where for $t, s \in [0, 1]$,

$$G_{\alpha,\beta}(t,s) = \frac{(\alpha+t)(1-s)^{q-2}(1-s+\beta(q-1)) - (\alpha+\beta+1)((t-s)^{+})^{q-1}}{(\alpha+\beta+1)\Gamma(q)}.$$
(8)

 $G_{\alpha,\beta}(t,s)$ is the Green's function of the boundary value problem (5)–(6). Here, for a real number $r, r^+ = \max(r, 0)$.

Lemma 3. For all $t \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$0 \le \int_0^1 G_{\alpha,\beta}(t,s) \, ds \le \frac{\Lambda_{\alpha,\beta}}{\Gamma(q)},$$

where $\Lambda_{\alpha,\beta} = \alpha \left(\frac{1}{q} + \beta \left(q - 1 \right) \right) + \left(\frac{q-1}{q} \right) \frac{\left(\frac{1}{q} + \beta \left(q - 1 \right) \right)^{q-1}}{(\alpha + \beta + 1)^{\frac{1}{q-1}}}.$

Proof. An elementary calculus yields to this result, so we omit the proof. \Box

Let r_i and s_i be nonnegative integers for each $i, 1 \le i \le n$, such that $r_i + s_i = n - 1$, so that we can split the vector $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ into $(u_i, [u]_{r_i}, [u]_{s_i})$. Then Eqs. (1)–(2) can be written as

$${}^{C}D^{q}u_{i}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, u_{i}(t), \left[u(t)\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[u(t)\right]_{s_{i}}\right) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(9)

$$u_i(0) - \alpha_i u'_i(0) = \lambda_i, u_i(1) + \beta_i u'_i(1) = \mu_i,$$
(10)

for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$.

Now, recall that for $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \leq v$ implies that $u_i \leq v_i$ for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ and define for $u, v \in \mathscr{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ the set

$$[u, v] = \left\{ h \in \mathscr{C}^2 \left([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n \right) : u(t) \le h(t) \le v(t), t \in [0, 1] \right\}.$$

For the sake of simplicity, we set $\varphi_i(u) = u_i(0) - \alpha_i u'_i(0)$ and $\psi_i(u) = u_i(1) + \beta_i u'_i(1)$ for each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Definition 1. A function $f \in \mathscr{C}([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to possess a mixed quasimonotone property if for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n, f_i(t, u_i, [u]_{r_i}, [u]_{s_i})$ is monotone nondecreasing in $[u]_{r_i}$ and monotone nonincreasing in $[u]_{s_i}$.

Definition 2. Let $v, w \in \mathscr{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$, v and w are coupled lower and upper quasisolutions of (9)–(10) if they satisfy

$${}^{C}D^{q}v_{i}(t) + f_{i}(t, v_{i}(t), [v(t)]_{r_{i}}, [w(t)]_{s_{i}}) \ge 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(11)

$$\varphi_i(v) \le \lambda_i, \psi_i(v) \le \mu_i, \tag{12}$$

and

$${}^{C}D^{q}w_{i}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, w_{i}(t), \left[w(t)\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[v(t)\right]_{s_{i}}\right) \le 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(13)

$$\varphi_i(w) \ge \lambda_i, \psi_i(w) \ge \mu_i, \tag{14}$$

for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$.

Definition 3. Let $v, w \in C^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$, v and w are coupled quasisolutions of (9)–(10) if they satisfy

$${}^{C}D^{q}v_{i}(t) + f_{i}(t, v_{i}(t), [v(t)]_{r_{i}}, [w(t)]_{s_{i}}) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
$$\varphi_{i}(v) = \lambda_{i}, \psi_{i}(v) = \mu_{i},$$

and

$${}^{C}D^{q}w_{i}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, w_{i}(t), [w(t)]_{r_{i}}, [v(t)]_{s_{i}}\right) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
$$\varphi_{i}(w) = \lambda_{i}, \psi_{i}(w) = \mu_{i},$$

for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$.

In the rest of the paper, we adopt the following assumptions:

- (H1) $v^0, w^0 \in \mathscr{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ are coupled lower and upper quasisolutions of (9)–(10) such that $v^0 \leq w^0$ on [0, 1].
- (H2) The function f possesses a mixed quasimonotone property, and there exists $M \in (\mathbb{R}^*_+)^n$ such that $M_i < \frac{\Gamma(q)}{\Lambda_{q_i,\beta_i}}$ and

$$f_i(t, u_i, [u]_{r_i}, [u]_{s_i}) - f_i(t, \underline{u}_i, [u]_{r_i}, [u]_{s_i}) \ge -M_i(u_i - \underline{u}_i)$$

for each $i, 1 \le i \le n$, whenever $v^0 \le \underline{u} \le u \le w^0$ on [0, 1].

To state our main result, we need the following Lemma

Lemma 4. Assume (H1) and (H2). Suppose that for each $i, 1 \le i \le n, \alpha_i (q-1) \ge 1$. Let η and ξ be two fixed functions belonging to $[v^0, w^0]$. Then, the uncoupled linear fractional differential system

$${}^{C}D^{q}u_{i}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, \eta_{i}(t), \left[\eta(t)\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[\xi(t)\right]_{s_{i}}\right) - M_{i}\left(u_{i}(t) - \eta_{i}(t)\right) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(15)

$$\varphi_i(u) = \lambda_i, \psi_i(u) = \mu_i, \tag{16}$$

for each $i, 1 \le i \le n$, admits a unique positive solution u in $[v^0, w^0]$.

Proof. First, it is obvious to see from Lemma 2 that $u \in \mathscr{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a solution of problem (15)–(16) if, and only if, u is solution of the following integro-equation

$$u_{i}(t) = \lambda_{i} + \frac{(\mu_{i} - \lambda_{i})}{\alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} + 1} (\alpha_{i} + t) + \int_{0}^{1} G_{\alpha_{i},\beta_{i}}(t,s) (h_{i}(s) - M_{i}u_{i}(s)) ds, \quad (17)$$

where $h_i(t) = f_i(t, \eta_i(t), [\eta(t)]_{r_i}, [\xi(t)]_{s_i}) + M_i \eta_i(t)$, on [0, 1], for each $1 \le i \le n$. Let $\mathscr{C}([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ be the Banach space endowed with the norm $||u||_{\infty} =$

 $\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \left(\max_{1 \le i \le n} (|u_i(t)|) \right).$ Define on $\mathscr{C}([0,1], \mathbb{R}^n)$ the operator T by $Tu = (T_1u_1, \ldots, T_nu_n)$, where

$$T_{i}u_{i}(t) = \lambda_{i} + \frac{(\mu_{i} - \lambda_{i})}{\alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} + 1} (\alpha_{i} + t) + \int_{0}^{1} G_{\alpha_{i},\beta_{i}}(t,s) (h_{i}(s) - M_{i}u_{i}(s)) ds$$

for each $t \in [0, 1]$. Let $u, v \in \mathscr{C}([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$; then, by hypothesis on M_i and Lemma 3, we get $||Tu - Tv||_{\infty} < ||u - v||_{\infty}$. So by Banach Theorem, the operator T admits a unique fixed point u in $\mathscr{C}([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^n)$. Now, let us prove that $u \in [v^0, w^0]$. By hypothesis (H1), v^0 is a lower quasisolution, so v^0 satisfies (11) and (12) for each $1 \le i \le n$. Set $p = v^0 - u$. Using the fact that u satisfies (15) and (16) and the mixed quasimonotone property of the function f, we obtain

$${}^{C}D^{q}p_{i}(t) \geq f_{i}(t,\eta_{i},[\eta]_{r_{i}},[\xi]_{s_{i}}) - f_{i}(t,v_{i}^{0},[v^{0}]_{r_{i}},[w^{0}]_{s_{i}}) - M_{i}(u_{i}-\eta_{i})$$

$$\geq -M_{i}(\eta_{i}-v_{i}^{0}) - M_{i}(u_{i}-\eta_{i}).$$

Thus ${}^{C}D^{q}p_{i}(t) - M_{i}p_{i}(t) \ge 0$ on (0, 1), $\varphi_{i}(p) \le 0$, $\psi_{i}(p) \le 0$. Then, by Lemma 1, we deduce that $p_{i}(t) \le 0$ on [0, 1], for each $1 \le i \le n$. That is, $v^{0} \le u$. Similarly, we prove that $u \le w^{0}$, which ends the proof.

3 Main Results

In this section, we mainly prove the existence of extremal quasisolutions for the nonlinear fractional differential systems (1) and (2) and we state then a uniqueness result.

Theorem 1. Consider the boundary value problem (9)–(10) with α $(q-1) \geq 1$. Assume that (H1) and (H2) hold. Then there exists $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$, $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ a pair of monotone sequences of coupled lower and upper quasisolutions of (9)–(10) such that the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ converge monotonically and uniformly to v^* and w^* , respectively with $v^0 \leq v^* \leq w^* \leq w^0$ on [0, 1]. Moreover, v^* and w^* are minimal and maximal quasisolutions of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$. Further, any solution of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$ satisfies $v^* \leq u \leq w^*$. *Proof.* Let $\eta, \xi \in [v^0, w^0]$. Then, by Lemma 4, the uncoupled linear fractional differential system

$${}^{C}D^{q}u_{i}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, \eta_{i}(t), \left[\eta(t)\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[\xi(t)\right]_{s_{i}}\right) - M_{i}\left(u_{i}(t) - \eta_{i}(t)\right) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1) \quad (18)$$

$$\varphi_i\left(u\right) = \lambda_i, \psi_i\left(u\right) = \mu_i,\tag{19}$$

for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$, admits a unique positive solution $u_{\eta,\xi}$ in $[v^0, w^0]$. So we can define a map $A : [v^0, w^0] \times [v^0, w^0] \rightarrow [v^0, w^0]$ such that $A(\eta, \xi) = u_{\eta,\xi}$. We shall prove that A is mixed monotone operator. Let $\eta^1, \eta^2, \xi \in [v^0, w^0], \eta^1 \leq \eta^2$ be given and suppose that $x^1 = A(\eta^1, \xi)$ and $x^2 = A(\eta^2, \xi)$. Then we have ${}^{C}D^{q}(x_i^2 - x_i^1) - M_i(x_i^2 - x_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^1, [\eta^1]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1)$. Using the mixed monotone property of f and (H2), we get ${}^{C}D^{q}(x_i^2 - x_i^1) - M_i(x_i^2 - x_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - f_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) - M_i(\eta_i^2 - \eta_i^1) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{r_i}, [\xi]_{s_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{t_i}, [\xi]_{t_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{t_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2, [\eta^2]_{t_i}) = f_i(t, \eta_i^2$

On the other hand, we have $\varphi_i(x^2 - x^1) = \varphi_i(x^2) - \varphi_i(x^1) = 0$ and $\psi_i(x^2 - x^1) = 0$. Thus, by Lemma 1, we conclude that $x_i^2 \ge x_i^1$, for each $i, 1 \le i \le n$. That is, $x^1 \le x^2$, and so $A(\eta, \xi)$ is nondecreasing in the first variable η . At the same manner, we prove that $A(\eta, \xi)$ is nonincreasing in its second variable ξ . Whence, A is mixed monotone operator.

Now define the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ as follows: $v^k = A(v^{k-1}, w^{k-1})$ and $w^k = A(w^{k-1}, v^{k-1})$ for $k \geq 1$. We shall prove that the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ are nondecreasing and nonincreasing on [0, 1], respectively. We will proceed by induction. It is obvious to see that $v^1 = A(v^0, w^0) \geq v^0$ and $w^1 = A(w^0, v^0) \leq w^0$. Assume that the hypothesis is true up $k \geq 1$, that is, $v^{k-1} \leq v^k$ and $w^k \leq w^{k-1}$. The mixed monotone property of A yields to $v^{k+1} \geq A(v^{k-1}, w^k) \geq v^k$ and $w^{k+1} \leq A(w^{k-1}, v^k) \leq w^k$. Thus the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ are monotone on [0, 1].

Now, we intend to prove that, for each $k \ge 1$, v^k and w^k are coupled of lower and upper quasisolutions of (9)–(10). Let $k \ge 1$. Then $v^k = A(v^{k-1}, w^{k-1})$ satisfies

$${}^{C}D^{q}v_{i}^{k} + f_{i}\left(t, v_{i}^{k-1}, \left[v^{k-1}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[w^{k-1}\right]_{s_{i}}\right) - M_{i}\left(v_{i}^{k} - v_{i}^{k-1}\right) = 0 \text{ in } (0, 1)$$
(20)

$$\varphi_i\left(v^k\right) = \lambda_i, \psi_i\left(v^k\right) = \mu_i, \qquad (21)$$

for each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$.

By adding $f_i(t, v_i^k(t), [v^k(t)]_{r_i}, [w^k(t)]_{s_i})$ to both sides of (20), we obtain

$$^{C}D^{q}v_{i}^{k} + f_{i}\left(t, v_{i}^{k}, \left[v^{k}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[w^{k}\right]_{s_{i}}\right)$$

$$= f_{i}\left(t, v_{i}^{k}, \left[v^{k}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[w^{k}\right]_{s_{i}}\right) - f_{i}\left(t, v_{i}^{k-1}, \left[v^{k-1}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[w^{k-1}\right]_{s_{i}}\right) + M_{i}\left(v_{i}^{k} - v_{i}^{k-1}\right).$$

Using the fact that $v^{k-1} \leq v^k$, $w^k \leq w^{k-1}$ and the mixed monotone property of the function f, we get ${}^{C}D^{q}v_i^k + f_i\left(t, v_i^k, \left[v^k\right]_{r_i}, \left[w^k\right]_{s_i}\right) \geq 0$. Similarly, we show that ${}^{C}D^{q}w_i^k + f_i\left(t, w_i^k, \left[w^k\right]_{r_i}, \left[v^k\right]_{s_i}\right) \leq 0$, which together with the fact that $\varphi_i\left(v^k\right) = \varphi_i\left(w^k\right) = \lambda_i, \psi_i\left(v^k\right) = \psi_i\left(w^k\right) = \mu_i$ yields to $\left(v^k, w^k\right)$ is a pair of coupled lower and upper quasisolutions of problems (9)–(10). Next, let us prove that $v^k \leq w^k$, for each $k \geq 1$. We use induction argument. For k = 1, since $v^0 \leq w^0$ then using the mixed monotone property of A we get $v^1 \leq A\left(w^0, w^0\right) \leq w^1$. Now, suppose that $v^k \leq w^k$, for some $k \geq 1$, then we have $v^{k+1} \leq A\left(w^k, v^k\right) = w^{k+1}$. Whence, $v^k \leq w^k$, for each $k \geq 1$.

Next, since the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ are uniformly bounded and equicontinuous in $\mathscr{C}([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n)$, then, by Arzela–Ascoli Theorem, $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ are relatively compact in $\mathscr{C}([0,1],\mathbb{R}^n)$. Thus, we deduce the existence of subsequences $(v^{k_j})_{j\geq 1}$ and $(w^{k_j})_{j\geq 1}$ which converge to v^* and w^* , respectively. Using the fact that the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ are monotone, we reach to the convergence of the entire sequences that is $\lim_{k\to+\infty} v^k(t) = v^*(t)$ and $\lim_{k\to+\infty} w^k(t) = w^*(t)$, on [0, 1]. Using the equicontinuity of the sequences $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$, the pointwise convergence implies the uniform one; then, we have $(v^k)_{k\geq 1}$ and $(w^k)_{k\geq 1}$ converge uniformly respectively to v^* and w^* on [0, 1].

Next, let us verify that v^* and w^* are quasisolutions of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$. By Lemma 2, we have for each

$$v_i^k(t) = \lambda_i + \frac{(\mu_i - \lambda_i)}{\alpha_i + \beta_i + 1} \left(\alpha_i + t\right) + \int_0^1 G_{\alpha_i, \beta_i}(t, s) \left(h_i(s) - M_i v_i^k(s)\right) ds,$$

where $h_i(t) = f_i\left(t, v_i^{k-1}(t), \left[v^{k-1}(t)\right]_{r_i}, \left[w^{k-1}(t)\right]_{s_i}\right) + M_i v_i^{k-1}(t), \text{ on } [0, 1].$

Using the continuity of the function f and $v^k \in [v^0, w^0]$, by Lebesgue convergence theorem, we deduce that

$$v_i^*(t) = \lambda_i + \frac{(\mu_i - \lambda_i)}{\alpha_i + \beta_i + 1} (\alpha_i + t) + \int_0^1 G_{\alpha_i, \beta_i}(t, s) f_i\left(s, v_i^*, \left[v^*\right]_{r_i}, \left[w^*\right]_{s_i}\right) ds.$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$w_{i}^{*}(t) = \lambda_{i} + \frac{(\mu_{i} - \lambda_{i})}{\alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} + 1} (\alpha_{i} + t) + \int_{0}^{1} G_{\alpha_{i},\beta_{i}}(t,s) f_{i}\left(s, w_{i}^{*}, \left[w^{*}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[v^{*}\right]_{s_{i}}\right) ds.$$

where

$$G_{\alpha_{i},\beta_{i}}(t,s) = \frac{(\alpha_{i}+t)(1-s)^{q-2}(1-s+\beta_{i}(q-1))-(\alpha_{i}+\beta_{i}+1)((t-s)^{+})^{q-1}}{(\alpha_{i}+\beta_{i}+1)\Gamma(q)}.$$

So,

$$\begin{aligned} v_i^*(t) &+ I^q f_i \left(., v_i^*, \left[v^* \right]_{r_i}, \left[w^* \right]_{s_i} \right)(t) \\ &= \lambda_i + \left(\frac{(\mu_i - \lambda_i)}{\alpha_i + \beta_i + 1} + \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - s)^{q - 2} (1 - s + \beta_i (q - 1))}{(\alpha_i + \beta_i + 1) \Gamma(q)} f_i \left(s, v_i^*, \left[v^* \right]_{r_i}, \left[w^* \right]_{s_i} \right) ds \right)(\alpha_i + t) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Applying ${}^{C}D^{q}$ on both sides of the last equation, it follows that ${}^{C}D^{q}v_{i}^{*}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, v_{i}^{*}(t), [v^{*}(t)]_{r_{i}}, [w^{*}(t)]_{s_{i}}\right) = 0$, On the other hand, a simple calculus yields to $v_{i}^{*}(0) = \lambda_{i} + \frac{(\mu_{i} - \lambda_{i})}{\alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} + 1}$ and $(v_{i}^{*})'(0) = \frac{(\mu_{i} - \lambda_{i})}{\alpha_{i} + \beta_{i} + 1}$. Thus $\varphi_{i}(v^{*}) = \lambda_{i}$; we show also that $\psi_{i}(v^{*}) = \mu_{i}$. Similarly, we get ${}^{C}D^{q}w_{i}^{*}(t) + f_{i}\left(t, w_{i}^{*}(t), [w^{*}(t)]_{r_{i}}, [v^{*}(t)]_{s_{i}}\right) = 0$ and $\varphi_{i}(w^{*}) = \lambda_{i}, \psi_{i}(w^{*}) = \mu_{i}$. Whence, v^{*} and w^{*} are quasisolutions of (9)–(10) in $[v^{0}, w^{0}]$.

Next, let us show that v^* and w^* are minimal and maximal coupled quasisolutions of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$. Let v and w be coupled quasisolutions of (9)–10 in $[v^0, w^0]$. We will use induction. We have $v^0 \leq v$ and $w \leq w^0$. Suppose that for some $k \geq 1$, $v^k \leq v$ and $w \leq w^k$. For each $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$, we have $^{C}D^{q}v_i(t) + f_i(t, v_i(t), [v(t)]_{r_i}, [w(t)]_{s_i}) = 0, \varphi_i(v) = \lambda_i, \psi_i(v) = \mu_i$. So, using (3) and the mixed monotone property of the function f, it follows $^{C}D^q(v_i - v_i^{k+1}) - M_i(v_i - v_i^{k+1}) \leq 0$. On the other hand, we have $\varphi_i(v - v^{k+1}) = \lambda_i, \psi_i(v - v^{k+1}) = \mu_i$. Thus, by Lemma 1, we deduce that $v^{k+1} \leq v$. At the same manner, we show that $w \leq w^{k+1}$. Whence, by taking $k \to +\infty$, we reach $v^* \leq v$ and $w \leq w^*$. Finally, by induction argument, it is easy to show that any solution u of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$ satisfies $v^* \leq u \leq w^*$. This ends the proof.

In the following, we state a uniqueness result.

Theorem 2. Suppose that assumptions (H1) - (H2) hold. Then if, for each $i, 1 \le i \le n$, there exists $N_i > 0$ such that

$$f_{i}\left(t, u_{i}, \left[u\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[\underline{u}\right]_{s_{i}}\right) - f_{i}\left(t, \underline{u}_{i}, \left[\underline{u}\right]_{r_{i}}, \left[u\right]_{s_{i}}\right) \leq -N_{i}\left(u_{i} - \underline{u}_{i}\right)$$

whenever $v^0 \leq \underline{u} \leq u \leq w^0$ on [0, 1], the problem (9)–(10) has unique solution in $[v^0, w^0]$.

Proof. By Theorem 1, there exist v^* and w^* minimal and maximal quasisolutions of (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$ such that $v^* \le w^*$. By Lemma 1, we prove that $w^* \le v^*$ on [0, 1]. Hence $v^* = w^*$ is the unique solution of the problem (9)–(10) in $[v^0, w^0]$; this ends the proof.

References

- Al-Refai, M.: On the fractional derivative at extreme points. Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ Equ. 55, 1–5 (2012)
- 2. Al-Refai, M., Hajji, M.: Monotone iterative sequences for nonlinear boundary value problems of fractional order. Nonlinear Anal. **74**, 3531–3539 (2011)

- 3. Cabada, A.: The method of lower and upper solutions for second, third, fourth and higher order boundary value problems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **185**(2), 302–320 (1994)
- Cui, Y., Zou Y.: Existence results and the monotone iterative technique for nonlinear fractional differential systems with coupled four-point boundary value problems. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2014, 6 p. (2014), Article ID 242591. doi:10.1155/2014/242591
- 5. Denton, Z., Vatsala, A.S.: Monotone iterative technique for finite systems of nonlinear Riemann-Liouville fractional differential equations. Opusc. Math. **31**, 327–339 (2011)
- Hu, C., Liu, B., Xie, S.: Monotone iterative solutions for nonlinear boundary value problems of fractional differential equation. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2013, 8 p. (2013), Article ID 493164. doi: 10.1155/2013/493164
- Ladde, G.S., Lakshmiakntham, V., Vatsala, A.S.: Monotone iterative techniques for nonlinear differential equations. Pitman Advanced Publishing Program. Pitman, Boston (1985)
- Lakshmikanthan, V., Leela, S.: Existence and monotone method for periodic solutions of first order differential equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 91(1), 237–243 (1983)
- Ramirez, J.D., Vatsala, A.S.: Monotone iterative technique for fractional differential equations with periodic boundary conditions. Opusc. Math. 29, 289–304 (2009)
- Shi, A., Zhang, S.: Upper and lower solutions method and a fractional differential equation boundary value problem. Electron. J. Qual. Theory. Differ. Equ. 30, 1–19 (2009)
- 11. Syam, M., Al-Refai, M.: Positive solutions and monotone iterative sequences for a class of higher order boundary value problems. J. Fract. Calc. Appl. **4**(14), 1–13 (2013)

Oscillatory Solutions of Boundary Value Problems

Felix Sadyrbaev

Abstract We consider boundary value problems of the form

$$x'' = f(t, x, x'),$$

$$x(a) = A, \quad x(b) = B,$$

assuming that *f* is continuous together with f_x and $f_{x'}$. We study also equations in a quasi-linear form

$$x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x = F(t, x, x').$$

Introducing types of solutions of boundary value problems as an oscillatory type of the respective equation of variations, we show that for a solution of definite type, the problem can be reformulated in a quasi-linear form. Resonant problems are considered separately. Any resonant problem that has no solutions of indefinite type is in fact nonresonant. The ways of how to detect solutions of definite types are discussed.

Keywords Gene regulation • attractive sets • dynamical system

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34B15, 34B23, 34C60, 34D45

F. Sadyrbaev (🖂)

Institute of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Latvia, Rainis boulevard 29, Riga, Latvia e-mail: felix@latnet.lv

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_11

1 Introduction

The classical result in the theory of boundary value problems (BVP) for ordinary differential equations states [1] that the problem

$$x' + A(t)x = f(t, x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(1)

$$B_1 x(a) + B_2 x(b) = 0, (2)$$

where all entries are continuous, is solvable if f is bounded and the homogeneous problem

$$x' + A(t)x = 0, \quad B_1x(a) + B_2x(b) = 0$$
 (3)

has only the trivial solution $x(t) \equiv 0$.

If homogeneous problem has a nontrivial solution, the situation is different and BVP is then called *resonant*.

These results when interpreted for the second-order problem

$$x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x = F(t, x, x'),$$
(4)

$$x(a) = A, \ x(b) = B, \tag{5}$$

state that problems (4) and (5) are solvable if F is bounded and homogeneous problem

$$x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x = 0, \quad x(a) = 0, \quad x(b) = 0$$
(6)

has only the trivial solution. Otherwise (if homogeneous problem has a nontrivial solution), the problems (4) and (5) are resonant. There is intensive literature on solvability of resonant problems.

In this article, we treat both nonresonant and resonant the second-order BVP through the notion of a *type* of a solution. It is shown that if the second-order problem (resonant or not) has a solution x(t) of certain type (definition will be given soon), then it can be reformulated in the quasi-linear form with the linear part $(l_2x)(t) := x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)$ of the same oscillatory type. This reformulation (reduction) is not possible if the type of a solution x(t) is indefinite (we call this *internal* resonance). We show by constructing examples that there are formally resonant problems that in fact are not resonant: they can be reformulated in a nonresonant form.

2 Types of Linear Parts and Types of Solutions

Consider quasi-linear problem (4), (5). We say that the linear part $(l_2x)(t) = x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x$ has type *i*, if a solution y(t) of the Cauchy problem

$$y'' + p(t)y' + q(t)y = 0, \quad y(a) = 0, \quad y'(a) = 1$$
(7)

has exactly *i* zeros in the interval (a, b) and $y(b) \neq 0$.

If y(b) = 0, then the linear part $(l_2x)(t)$ is *resonant*.

For instance, the linear part $x'' + k^2 x$, where $3\pi < k < 4\pi$, has type 3.

Let us pass to definition of the type of a solution.

Let $\xi(t)$ be a solution of the BVP

$$x'' = f(t, x, x'), \quad x(a) = A, \ x(b) = B.$$
 (8)

The right-hand side function f may contain a linear part.

Consider the respective equation of variations

$$y'' = f_x(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))y + f_{x'}(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))y'.$$
(9)

Definition 1. Let $\xi(t)$ be a solution of BVP. We say that the type of $\xi(t)$ is *i*, if equation of variations (9) with respect to $\xi(t)$ is such that a solution y(t) with the initial conditions

$$y(a) = 0, \quad y'(a) = 1$$
 (10)

has exactly *i* zeros in the interval (a, b) and $y(b) \neq 0$. Denote this:

$$type(\xi) = i$$
.

If moreover y(b) = 0, denote the intermediate type

$$type(\xi) = (i, i+1).$$
 (11)

Remark 1. Therefore, a solution of type (i, i + 1) is a solution $\xi(t)$ such that the respective y(t) has exactly *i* zeros in (a, b) and y(b) = 0.

Remark 2. The study of solutions of BVP in terms of solutions of equations of variations was initiated in early papers [4–6]. The authors have observed the existence of solutions of zero type (in our terminology) in problems satisfying some standard requirements.

Example 1. The trivial solution $\xi(t) \equiv 0$ of the problem $x'' = -x + x^3$, x(0) = 0, $x(\pi) = 0$ is of type (0, 1) since a solution y(t) of the Cauchy problem y'' = -y (equation of variations with respect to ξ), y(0) = 0, y'(0) = 1 has the first zero at $t = \pi$.

Example 2. To illustrate types of solutions, consider the problem

$$x'' = -2x^3, \quad x(0) = 0, \ x(1) = 0.$$
 (12)

This problem has infinitely many solutions. These solutions can be expressed in terms of the lemniscate sine function sl *t*. This function resembles the usual sine function, and it is periodic with minimal period 4*A*, where $A := \int_0^1 \frac{ds}{\sqrt{1-s^4}} \approx 1.311$. The *A* number is an analogue of $\pi/2$. More about lemniscatic functions and a set of formula similar to usual trigonometric relations can be found in [3].

A solution of the Cauchy problem

$$x'' = -2x^3, \quad x(0) = 0, \ x'(0) = \beta$$
 (13)

is given by $x(t;\beta) = \sqrt{\beta} \operatorname{sl}(\sqrt{\beta}t)$. Functions $x(t;\beta)$ satisfy the condition x(1) = 0 only for $\beta = \pm (2A)^2, \pm (4A)^2$ and so on. Let us look at first three nontrivial solutions of the problem (13). These solutions are

$$x_1(t) = 2A \operatorname{sl}(2At), \quad x_2(t) = 4A \operatorname{sl}(4At), \quad x_3(t) = 6A \operatorname{sl}(6At).$$

In order to detect their types, consider the equations of variations

$$y_1'' = -6x_1^2(t)y_1, \quad y_2'' = -6x_2^2(t)y_2, \quad y_3'' = -6x_3^2(t)y_3$$

along with the initial conditions y(0) = 0, y'(0) = 1 (Fig. 1).

It follows that $type(x_1) = 1$.

Figure 2 visualizes properties of x_2 , x_3 and the respective solutions y_2 , y_3 of equations of variations.

The types of x_2 and x_3 are respectively two and three.



Fig. 1 A solution $x_1(t)$ (*solid line*) and the respective $y_1(t)$ (*dashed*)



Fig. 2 The solutions $x_2(t)$ and $x_3(t)$ (*solid*) and the respective $y_2(t)$ and $y_3(t)$ (*dashed*)

3 Reduction to Quasi-linear Problem

Return to the problem (7). The right side f may contain linear part. The case of the problem (7) being resonant is not excluded.

Theorem 1. Suppose the problem (7) has a solution $\xi(t)$ of type *i*.

Then the problem can be reformulated in the quasi-linear form (4), (5), where the linear part x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x in (4) has the type *i*.

Proof. One has that

$$rlx - \xi''(t) = f(t, x, x') - f(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t))$$

= $f_x(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t))(x - \xi(t)) + f_{x'}(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t))(x' - \xi'(t)) + \varphi(t, x, x')$
(14)

or

$$lx - f_{x'}(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))x' - f_{x}(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))x = \xi''(t)(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))\xi'(t) -f_{x}(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))\xi(t) + \varphi(t,x,x')$$
(15)

and finally

$$(l_2 x)(t) = h(t) + \tilde{\varphi}(t, x, x'),$$
(16)

where $(l_2 x)(t) = x'' - f_{x'}(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t))x' - f_x(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t))x$,

$$h(t) = \xi''(t)(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))\xi'(t) - f_x(t,\xi(t),\xi'(t))\xi(t),$$

 $\tilde{\varphi}(t, x, x')$ is a smooth (*C*¹) bounded function which coincides with $\varphi(t, x, x')$ in some vicinity of $(t, \xi(t), \xi'(t)), t \in [a, b]$.

The linear part $(l_2x)(t)$ has type *i* since a solution $\xi(t)$ has type *i*. Function ξ , by construction, is a solution of BVP (15), (5).

Remark 3. The above reduction is not possible if a solution $\xi(t)$ is of indefinite type (i, i + 1).

The converse of Theorem 1 is not true. There exist quasi-linear problems (i.e., problems with equations containing the linear part and bounded nonlinearity) that have linear parts of definite type i and have not a solution of type i.

Indeed, consider the problem

$$x'' = \varphi(x), \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(\pi) = 0,$$
 (17)

where

$$\varphi(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x > 1, \\ -x + x^3, -1 \le x \le 1, \\ 0, & x < -1, \end{cases}$$
(18)

Any nontrivial solution $x(t; \gamma)$ of the Cauchy problem $x'' = \varphi(x), x(0) = 0, x'(0) = \gamma$ has the first zero $t_1(\gamma)$ (if any) after the point t = 1. So the trivial solution $\xi \equiv 0$ is the only solution of the problem (17). The equation of variations for the trivial solution is y'' = -y and the type of ξ is (0, 1).

However, the following is true.

Theorem 2. Quasi-linear problem (4), (5), where

- 1) *F* is bounded continuous function with continuous partial derivatives F_{x} , $F_{x'}$;
- 2) The linear part x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x is of type i; either has a solution of type i or a solution of type (i - 1, i) or a solution of type (i, i + 1).

The proof is based on the following lemmas which are stated here for the reader's convenience.

Lemma 1 (Lemma 2.1 in [7]). A set S of all solutions of BVP (4), (5) is nonempty and compact in $C^{1}([0, 1])$.

Lemma 2 (Lemma 2.2 in [7]). There are elements $x^*(t)$ and $x_*(t)$ in S, which possess the properties $x^{*'}(a) = \max\{x'(a) : x \in S\}, x_{*'}(a) = \min\{x'(a) : x \in S\}.$

Lemma 3 (Lemma 2.3 in [7]). Suppose that the linear part x'' + p(t)x' + q(t)x in (4) is of type i. Let ξ be any element of S.

Then for γ large enough the difference $u(t; \gamma) = x(t; \gamma) - \xi(t)$ has exactly i zeros in the interval (a, b) and $u(b; \gamma) \neq 0$.

Here $x(t; \gamma)$ stands for a solution of the Cauchy problem (4) x(a) = A, $x'(a) = \gamma$.

Lemma 4 (Lemma 2.4 in [7]). Let ξ be any element of *S* and $u(t; \gamma)$ as above.

Zeros $t_i(\gamma)$ (if any) of the function $u(t; \gamma)$ continuously depend on γ . If $|\gamma| < B < +\infty$, then there exists $\delta(B) > 0$ such that the distance between two consecutive zeros of $u(t; \gamma)$ cannot be less than δ . If for some $\gamma_0 \neq \xi'(a)$ $u(b; \gamma_0) = 0$, then the respective $x(t; \gamma_0)$ solves problem (4), (5).

The proof of Theorem 2 in general repeats that of Theorem 2.1 in [7] (one may consult also the paper [8] for application).

Proof. Consider, for definiteness, a solution $x^*(t)$ of problems (4) and (5), that is, a solution with maximal value of the derivative $x^{*'}$ at t = a. Suppose this solution is not of type i and it is not of type (i - 1, i) and not of type (i, i + 1). Consider the respective equation of variations

$$y'' + p(t)y' + q(t)y = F_x(t, x^*(t), x^{*'}(t))y + F_{x'}(t, x^*(t), x^{*'}(t))y'$$
(19)

together with the initial conditions y(a) = 0, y'(a) = 1. It follows from our assumptions about $x^*(t)$ and definition of a type of a solution that there are two possibilities for y(t): either (a) $\tau_{i+1} \in (a, b)$ or (b) $\tau_{i-1} \in (a, b)$ and y(t) doe not vanish in $(\tau_{i-1}, b]$.

Consider the first case. Since y(t) is approximation for $u(t, \gamma) = x(t, \gamma) - x^*(t)$, this difference has (i + 1)-st zero z_{i+1} in the interval (a, b) for $\gamma > x^{*'}(a)$ and sufficiently close to $x^{*'}(a)$. Let us increase γ . It follows from Lemma 3 that for γ sufficiently large the difference $u(t, \gamma)$ has exactly *i* zeros in (a, b) and $u(b, \gamma) \neq 0$. Then it follows from Lemma 4 that the zero z_{i+1} left the interval (a, b] following changes in γ and passing through t = b at some $\gamma = \gamma_0 > x^{*'}(a)$. The respective $x(t, \gamma_0)$ solves the problem (4), (5) since $\xi(t)$ does.

Therefore, there exists a solution $x(t, \gamma_0)$ of problems (4) and (5) with $x'(a, \gamma_0)$ greater than $x^{*'}(a)$. This contradicts the choice of $x^*(t)$ as a solution with maximal value of the derivative at t = a.

Other possible cases can be considered similarly.

4 Resonant Problems

Consider, for simplicity, the problem

$$x'' + k^2 x = f(t, x), \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0.$$
 (20)

If *f* is continuous function (together with f_x) and bounded, then the problem above is solvable provided that *k* is not multiple of π . If $k = i\pi$, where *i* is an integer, then the homogeneous problem

$$x'' + k^2 x = 0, \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0$$
 (21)

has a nontrivial solution, and solvability of the problem (20) is not guaranteed.

The Fredholm alternative gives an answer in case f = f(t). If not, the following approach was proposed. Change the left side in equation so that it is not resonant yet, add the same term to the right, and finally truncate modified right side appropriately obtaining nonresonant quasi-linear problem. This problem has a solution, and if some estimates can be proved for a solution, then this solution may solve also the original problem.

Look how this works. Consider instead of (20) the equivalent problem

$$x'' + k^2 x + \varepsilon^2 x = f(t, x) + \varepsilon^2 x, \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0.$$
(22)

Truncate the right side in Eq. (22) so that the truncated right side function F(t, x) coincides with $f(t, x) + \varepsilon^2 x$ for $x \in [-N, N]$ and $t \in [0, 1]$.

The modified problem

$$x'' + k^2 x + \varepsilon^2 x = F(t, x), \quad x(0) = 0, \quad x(1) = 0$$
(23)

has a solution x(t), and the representation

$$x(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s)F(s,x(s))\,ds$$

is valid, where G is Green's function associated with new (nonresonant) left side. If the key inequality

$$\Gamma \cdot M \leq N$$

holds, where Γ and M are respectively bounds (estimate constants) for the Green's function |G| and |F(t, x)|, then $|x(t)| \leq N$ and x(t) is a solution of (20). Due to Theorem 2, x(t) has definite type induced by the linear part in (23). Therefore, multiple application of this scheme using multiple different linear parts can prove the existence of multiple solutions of the (resonant) problem (20). This scheme was tested on equations of the Emden-Fowler type in [9] (see also [2]).

5 Conclusion

If the second-order BVP is known to have a solution of type *i*, then the problem can be reduced to a quasi-linear problem "around" a solution, irrespective of either the original problem is resonant or not.

If the second-order formally resonant BVP has not a solution of indefinite type, then either it has not a solution at all or it can be reduced to quasi-linear problem.

It is reasonable to try different quasi-linearizations of a given problem since multiple solutions can be obtained.

References

- 1. Conti, R.: Equazioni differenziali ordinarie quasilineari con condizioni lineari. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. **57**, 48–62 (1962)
- Dobkevich, M., Sadyrbaev, F., Sveikate, N., Yermachenko, I.: On types of solutions of the second order nonlinear boundary value problems. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2014, 9p (2014). Article ID 594931
- Gritsans, A., Sadyrbaev, F.: Remarks on lemniscatic functions. Acta Univ. Latviensis. Math. 688, 39–50 (2005)
- Jackson, L.K., Schrader, K.W.: Comparison theorems for nonlinear differential equations. J. Differ. Equ. 3, 248–255 (1967)
- 5. Knobloch, H.: Comparison theorems for nonlinear second order differential equations. J. Differ. Equ. 1, 1–26 (1965)
- Knobloch, H.W.: Second order differential inequalities and a nonlinear boundary value problem. J. Differ. Equ. 5, 55–71 (1969)
- Sadyrbaev, F., Yermachenko, I.: Types of solutions and multiplicity results for two-point nonlinear boundary value problems. Nonlinear Anal.: TMA, Vol. 63, Issues 5–7, e1725–e1735; TMA (Invited Talks from the Fourth World Congress of Nonlinear Analysts (WCNA 2004))
- Sadyrbaev, F., Yermachenko, I.: Quasilinearization and multiple solutions of the Emden-Fowler type equation. Math. Model. Anal. 10, 41–50 (2005). doi: 10.1080/13926292.2005.9637269
- 9. Sveikate, N.: Resonant problems by quasilinearization. Int. J. Differ. Equ. **2014**, 8 p. (2014), Article ID 564914

An Issue About the Existence of Solutions for a Linear Non-autonomous MTFDE

M. Filomena Teodoro

Abstract This article is concerned with the existence of solution of a certain non-autonomous linear delayed-advanced differential equation. The main objective is to provide the proof of a theorem introduced in Lima et al. (J. Comput. Appl. Math. 234(9):2732–2744, 2010) about existence of solution of a class of mixed-type functional differential equations (MTFDEs). It is an effort to complete the theoretical basis of some computational methods introduced earlier to solve numerically such equations, which were deduced making use of that theorem.

Keywords Mixed-type functional differential equation • Method of steps • Boundary value problem • Existence of solution

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): PACS: 02.30 Ks, 02.60 Lj 2000 MSC: 34K06, 34K28, 65Q05, 34K10

1 Introduction

MTFDEs are an important issue under study because they appear in a large number of different areas of knowledge. From theoretical to applied cases, we can find a lot of examples. From economics, the author of [3] models the competitive growth in a life-cycle model; in [2] a short-run dynamics of optimal growth model is analyzed; from biology, numerical schemes approximate a MTFDE from the nervous conduction in a myelinated axon in [1, 16]; some studies in optimal control using MTFDEs can be found in [21]. The authors of [4, 5, 8] approximate traveling wave solutions in discrete media. In [9, 10] some theory about center manifolds for MTFDEs is

M. Filomena Teodoro (🖂)

CEMAT, Instituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon University, Av. Rovisco Pais, 1, 1048-001 Lisboa, Portugal

CINAV, Naval Academy, Base Naval de Lisboa, Alfeite, 1910-001 Almada, Portugal e-mail: maria.alves.teodoro@marinha.pt

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_12

developed. The oscillatory behavior of solutions of linear MTFDEs was recently investigated in [20], where the author has formulated some criteria which guarantee that all the solution of an equation of certain type is oscillatory. In [12], the authors obtain existence and stability results for a class of functional differential equations, where the unknown depends on two variables, being a delay differential equation with respect to one of the variables and a mixed-type equation with respect to the other. Boundary value problems (BVPs) for second-order MTFDEs are analyzed in [19] with the help of a Picard operator technique. Very recently, some results have been obtained in [13], where the Fredholm theory for MTFDEs is extended, developed in [17] to the case of implicitly defined functional differential equations.

This article is concerned with the existence of solution of a linear nonautonomous MTFDE. The main goal of our study is the search for a solution x(t), defined for $t \in [-1, k]$, $(k \in \mathbb{N})$, which verifies this equation almost everywhere on [0, k - 1] and assumes known values on [-1, 0] and (k - 1, k]. In [14], it is provided a discussion of existence and uniqueness theory for the problems under consideration and described the method of steps, which is used in the construction of several numerical algorithms proposed for linear case.

The non-autonomous linear MTFDE under study has the following form:

$$x'(t) = \alpha(t)x(t) + \beta(t)x(t-1) + \gamma(t)x(t+1),$$
(1)

where x is the unknown function and α , β , and γ are known functions.

In [11], Eq.(1) was studied for a particular case, presenting existence and uniqueness results. A similar approach has been followed by the authors of [6] where a new approach to the analysis of the Eq.(1) in the autonomous case is proposed, where α , β , and γ are known constants. They considered a boundary value problem (BVP). They looked for a differentiable solution on an interval $[-1, k], k \in$ N, given its values on the intervals [-1, 0] and (k - 1, k]. Imposing some conditions on boundary conditions which guarantee the existence of solution, they introduced a numerical method which to compute such solution. Based on this work, in [23] new numerical schemes were proposed for the numerical solution of autonomous linear BVP, based on the method of steps, collocation, and least squares. The approach to non-autonomous linear MTFDE (when α , β , and γ are smooth functions of t) was done in [22] and [14], where the solution of such BVPs was computed. In particular, in [14] a discussion about existence and theory of such problems is provided, and a numerical analysis of the introduced numerical algorithms is done. As consequence of such work, in [15], where interesting numerical and analytical results were obtained, the same authors introduced a numerical scheme using the finite element method (FEM). Based on the study of analytical decomposition of solutions of mixed-type equations as sum of "forward" solutions and "backward" solutions, performed in [18], the authors of [7] presented an algorithm using central difference approximation to decompose the solutions of a particular class of MTFDE into growing and decaying components. Knowing that the nonlinear case of such problems is richer in real applications, an important feature is to solve nonlinear problems. Consequently, the numerical schemes developed for linear case were extended to solve numerically nonlinear MTFDEs, but adapted for each particular problem. Such work can be found in [16, 25], where it is approximated an equation from nervous conduction or in [24], where an equation which models vocal phonation is numerically solved. Taking into consideration that several numerical schemes were developed using the results about existence of solution for a class of MTFDEs, presented in Theorem 1 of [14], the main objective of the present work is to provide the proof of that theorem to complete the theoretical basis of such computational methods.

The outline of this article is resumed in two main sections. In the next section, we revisit the method of steps for a linear non-autonomous MTFDE with the form (1), a method used usually in delay differential equations (DDEs) which extend a known solution of equation in an interval to a larger interval. It is a way to increase our knowledge about the solutions of (1) as well as it provides us sufficient conditions for the existence of solution for this kind of MTFDE. In the third section, a theorem about the existence of solution from [14] is presented and proved.

2 Preliminaries

Similarly to [14], the main idea of the present work is to get a particular solution of Eq. (1) which satisfies the boundary conditions

$$x(t) = \begin{cases} \varphi_1(t), \text{ if } t \in [-1, 0], \\ f(t), \text{ if } t \in (k - 1, k], \end{cases}$$
(2)

where φ_1 and *f* are smooth real-valued functions, defined on [-1, 0] and (k - 1, k], respectively, $(1 < k \in \mathbb{N})$.

It is imposed that Eq. (1) is satisfied for almost all $t \in (0, k - 1]$ (actually, we require that (1) is satisfied except possibly at the integer values of t). To avoid pathological cases (which we shall mention later), we also assume that our solution is continuous on [-1, k] and has bounded variation. It follows that x'(t) is continuous wherever (1) is satisfied on (0, k - 1). On (1, k - 2), one can differentiate (1) and conclude that x''(t) is continuous wherever (1) is continuous wherever (1) is satisfied on (1, k - 2), and the process can be repeated. We can summarize by saying that the solution may have a discontinuity in the first derivative at t = 0 and/or t = k - 1 and becomes progressively smoother on this sequence of internal subintervals.

In order to analyze and solve this BVP of (1) subject to (2), we consider first an initial value problem (IVP), with the conditions

$$x(t) = \varphi(t), \quad t \in [-1, 1],$$
 (3)

where the function φ is defined by

$$\varphi(t) = \begin{cases} \varphi_1(t), \text{ if } t \in [-1, 0], \\ \varphi_2(t), \text{ if } t \in (0, 1]. \end{cases}$$
(4)

This reformulation provides a basis for both analytical and numerical construction of solutions using ideas based on Bellman's method of steps for solving delay differential equations. One solves the equation over successive intervals of unitary length. We need to assume the non-degeneracy condition that $\gamma(t) \neq 0$, for $t \ge 0$, so that Eq. (1) can be rewritten in the form

$$x(t+1) = a(t)x'(t) + b(t)x(t-1) + c(t)x(t), \quad t \ge 0$$
(5)

where $a(t) = \frac{1}{\gamma(t)}$, $b(t) = -\frac{\beta(t)}{\gamma(t)}$ and $c(t) = -\frac{\alpha(t)}{\gamma(t)}$.

If x' is not defined for a particular value of t, then we shall use the value $x'(t^-)$ in (5). In principle, we can use formula (5) to construct a solution of Eq. (1) on an interval [1, k], starting on [-1, 1] using the initial functions given by (4).

So, for example, if $a, b, c \in C^1([0, 3])$, and supposing that all the appropriate derivatives of φ_i exist, we may obtain the following expressions for the solution in the first two intervals:

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= a (t-1) \varphi_2'(t-1) + b(t-1)\varphi_1(t-2) + c(t-1)\varphi_2(t-1), & t \in (1,2]; \\ x(t) &= a (t-1) a (t-2) \varphi_2''(t-2) + \left[a (t-1) \left(a' (t-2) + c(t-2) \right) \right. \\ &+ c(t-1)a(t-2) \right] \varphi_2'(t-2) + \left[c' (t-2)a(t-1) + c (t-1) c (t-2) \right. \\ &+ b (t-1) \right] \varphi_2(t-2) + \left[a (t-1) b (t-2) \right] \varphi_1'(t-3) \\ &+ \left[a (t-1) b' (t-2) + c (t-1) b (t-2) \right] \varphi_1(t-3), & t \in (2,3]. \end{aligned}$$

We remark that these formulae reduce to the corresponding formulae of Table 1 in [6], if we set $c(t) \equiv c$, $a(t) \equiv a$, $b(t) \equiv b$.

Continuing this process, we can extend the solution to any interval, provided that the initial function φ and the functions a, b, c are smooth enough functions and satisfy some simple relationships. In the next theorem, this result is formulated in more precise terms. In Sect. 2. of [14], the relationship between solutions of (1) subject to (2) and of (5) subject to (4) is detailed.

3 Existence Results

As we already remarked, the solution of the BVP becomes smoother as we move away from the ends of the interval. However, the solution of the IVP, constructed using the method of steps, becomes *less smooth* as time increases. The conclusions on smoothness for the solution of the non-autonomous IVP (5) subject to (4) constructed using the method of steps are summarized in Theorem 1. **Theorem 1.** Let x be the solution of problem (5), (4), where

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(t), \quad \beta(t), \quad \gamma(t) \in C^{2L}([-1, 2L+1]), \quad \gamma(t) \neq 0, \quad t \in [-1, 2L+1], \\ \varphi_1(t) \in C^{2L+1}([-1, 0]), \quad \varphi_2(t) \in C^{2L+1}([0, 1]) \quad for \ some \ L \in \mathbb{N}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7)$$

Moreover, suppose that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_1^{(\ell)}(0^-) &= \varphi_2^{(\ell)}(0^+), \\ \varphi_2(1) &= a(0)\varphi_1'(0^-) + b(0)\varphi_1(-1) + c(0)\varphi_1(0); \\ \varphi_2^{(\ell)}(1^-) &= \frac{d^\ell}{dt^\ell} \left(a(t)\varphi_1'(t) + b(t)\varphi_1(t-1) + c(t)\varphi_1(t) \right) \Big|_{t=0^-}, \ell = 0, 1, 2, \dots, 2L+1. \end{split}$$
(8)

Then there exist functions $\delta_{i,l}$, $\epsilon_{i,l}$, $\overline{\delta}_{i,l}$, $\overline{\epsilon}_{i,l} \in C([-1, 2L + 1])$, l = 1, ..., L, i = 0, 1, ..., 2l, such that the following formulae are valid:

 $\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \delta_{i,l}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \epsilon_{i,l}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l+1), \ t \in [2l-1,2l]; \\ x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \overline{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \overline{\delta}_{i,l}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-1), \ t \in [2l,2l+1] \ l = 1,2,\dots. \end{aligned}$

Moreover, the solution x, constructed according to the formulae (9), belongs to the class

$$C^{2L+1}([-1,1)) \bigcap C^{2L}([-1,2)) \bigcap \cdots \bigcap C^{1}([-1,2L+1)).$$
 (10)

A detailed proof by induction is provided below.

Proof (Theorem 1). As usual, we begin by proving that formula (9) is true for l = 1. If $t \in [1, 2]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{1} \delta_{i,1}(t) \varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{1} \epsilon_{i,1}(t) \varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-1) \\ &= \delta_{0,1}(t) \varphi_{1}(t-2) + \delta_{1,1}(t) \varphi_{1}^{(1)}(t-2) + \epsilon_{0,1}(t) \varphi_{2}(t-1) + \epsilon_{1,1}(t) \varphi_{2}^{(1)}(t-1) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{cases} \delta_{0,1}(t) = 0\\ \delta_{1,1}(t) = b(t-1)\\ \epsilon_{0,1}(t) = c(t-1)\\ \epsilon_{1,1}(t) = a(t-1) \end{cases}$$
(11)

by formula (2).

If $t \in [2, 3]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,1}(t) \varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{1} \bar{\delta}_{i,1}(t) \varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-3) \\ &= \bar{\epsilon}_{0,1}(t) \varphi_{2}(t-2) + \bar{\epsilon}_{1,1}(t) \varphi_{2}^{(1)}(t-2) + \bar{\epsilon}_{2,1}(t) \varphi_{2}^{(2)}(t-2) + \\ &\quad + \bar{\delta}_{0,1}(t) \varphi_{1}(t-3) + \bar{\delta}_{1,1}(t) \varphi_{1}^{(1)}(t-3) \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\begin{aligned}
\bar{\delta}_{0,1}(t) &= a(t-1)b'(t-2) + c(t-1)b(t-2) \\
\bar{\delta}_{1,1}(t) &= a(t-1)b(t-2) \\
\bar{\epsilon}_{0,1}(t) &= c'(t-2)a(t-1) + c(t-1)c(t-2) + b(t-1) \\
\bar{\epsilon}_{1,1}(t) &= a(t-1)(a'(t-2) + c(t-2)) + c(t-1)a(t-2) \\
\bar{\epsilon}_{2,1}(t) &= a(t-1)a(t-2)
\end{aligned}$$
(12)

by formula (2).

Now we shall assume that the assertion of the Theorem 1 is true for l = 1, 2, ..., L, where $L \in \mathbb{N}$, that is :

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \delta_{i,l}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \epsilon_{i,l}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l+1), \ t \in [2l-1,2l]; \\ x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-1), \ t \in [2l,2l+1]; \\ l &= 1, \dots, L. \end{aligned}$$

$$(13)$$

Assuming that (13) is true, we will prove that the same equality holds true, when l is replaced by L + 1. (For the sake of simplicity, we will write l + 1 instead of L + 1.) That is, we want to prove that

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \delta_{i,l+1}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1), \ t \in [2l+1,2l+2]; \\ x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l+2} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l+1}(t) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l+1}(t) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-3), \ t \in [2l+2,2l+3]; \\ l &= 1, \dots, L. \end{aligned}$$

$$(14)$$

Assuming that (13) is true, for l + 1, and using Eq. (2), we obtain two separate cases (A) and (B):

(A) Consider $t \in [2l+1, 2l+2]$. Notice that $t-1 \in [2l, 2l+1]$ and $t-2 \in [2l-1, 2l]$

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= a(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) \right]' \\ &+ b(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \delta_{i,l}(t-2) \varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \epsilon_{i,l}(t-2) \varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1) \right] \end{aligned}$$

$$+c(t-1)\left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l}\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-1)+\sum_{i=0}^{2l-1}\bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-2)\right]$$
$$=a(t-1)\left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l}\left(\tilde{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-1)+\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i+1)}(t-2l-1)\right)\right]$$

$$+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \left(\bar{\delta}'_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i+1)}(t-2l-2) \right) \right]$$

+ $b(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \delta_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \epsilon_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1) \right]$
+ $c(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2) \right] .$

Rearranging the sums, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l} a(t-1)\tilde{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-1) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} a(t-1)\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i+1)}(t-2l-1) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} a(t-1)\bar{\delta}_{i,l}'(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} a(t-1)\bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i+1)}(t-2l-2) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} b(t-1)\delta_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} b(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-1) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l} c(t-1)\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-1) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} c(t-1)\bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) \end{aligned}$$

or

$$x(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-1) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \delta_{i,l+1}(t)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-2)$$
(15)

with

$$\begin{cases} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t) = \left[a(t-1) \left(\tilde{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1) + \bar{\epsilon}_{i-1,l}(t-1) \right) + b(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l}(t-2) + c(t-1)\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-1) \right] \\ \delta_{i,l+1}(t) = \left[a(t-1) \left(\tilde{\delta}_{i,l}'(t-1) + \bar{\delta}_{i-1,l}(t-1) \right) + b(t-1)\delta_{i,l}(t-2) + c(t-1)\bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-1) \right] \end{cases}$$
(16)

We consider the following restrictions:

$$\bar{\epsilon}_{-1,l}(t-1) = \bar{\epsilon}_{2l,l}(t-1) = \epsilon_{2l,l}(t-2) = \epsilon_{2l+1,l}(t-2) = \bar{\epsilon}_{2l+1,l}(t-1) = 0.$$
(17)

(B) Consider $t \in [2l+2, 2l+3]$. Notice that $t-1 \in [2l+1, 2l+2]$ and $t-2 \in [2l, 2l+1]$.

Using formulae (13), (15) and the mixed Eq. (5), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= a(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) \right]' \\ &+ b(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) \right] \\ &+ c(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) \right] \\ &= a(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \left(\epsilon_{i,l+1}'(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i+1)}(t-2l-2) \right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \sum_{i=0}^{2l} \left(\delta_{i,l+1}'(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) + \delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i+1)}(t-2l-3) \right) \right] \\ &+ b(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) \right] \\ &+ c(t-1) \left[\sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{2}^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} \delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_{1}^{(i)}(t-2l-3) \right] . \end{aligned}$$

Rearranging the sums, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} a(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l+1}^{\prime}(t-1)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} a(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_2^{(i+1)}(t-2l-2) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l} a(t-1)\delta_{i,l+1}^{\prime}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-3) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} a(t-1)\delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i+1)}(t-2l-3) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l} b(t-1)\overline{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l-1} b(t-1)\overline{\delta}_{i,l}(t-2)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-3)) \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} c(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l} c(t-1)\delta_{i,l+1}(t-1)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-3). \end{aligned}$$

or rewritting

$$x(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{2l+2} \bar{\epsilon}_{i,l+1}(t)\varphi_2^{(i)}(t-2l-2) + \sum_{i=0}^{2l+1} \bar{\delta}_{i,l+1}(t)\varphi_1^{(i)}(t-2l-3), \quad (18)$$

with the coefficients $\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l+1}(t)$ and $\bar{\delta}_{i,l+1}(t)$ given by

$$\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l+1}(t) = a(t-1) \left(\epsilon'_{i,l+1}(t-1) + \epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1) \right) + b(t-1)\bar{\epsilon}_{i,l}(t-2) + c(t-1)\epsilon_{i,l+1}(t-1), \bar{\delta}_{i,l+1}(t) = a(t-1) \left(\delta'_{i,l+1}(t-1) + \delta_{i-1,l+1}(t-1) \right) + b(t-1)\bar{\delta}_{i,l}(t-2) + c(t-1)\delta_{i,l+1}(t-1).$$

The following restrictions are imposed:

$$\delta_{-1,l+1}(t-1) = \delta'_{2l+1,l+1}(t-1) = \overline{\delta}_{2l+1,l}(t-2) = \overline{\delta}_{2l,l}(t-2) = \delta_{2l+1,l+1}(t-1) = 0,$$

$$\epsilon_{-1,l+1}(t-1) = \epsilon_{2l+2,l+1}(t-1) = \overline{\epsilon}_{2l+1,l}(t-2) = \overline{\epsilon}_{2l+2,l}(t-2) = \epsilon_{2l+2,l+1}(t-1) = 0.$$

If the hypothesis of Theorem 1 is verified for some $L \in \mathbb{N}$, the solution x, computed using formulae (9), has at least 2L - l + 1 continuous derivatives on each interval [l, l + 1), for $l \ge 1$. This means that when the solution x is given on [-1, 0] and (0, 1] by functions φ_1, φ_2 of class $C^{2L+1}([0, 1])$ that satisfy (8), its degree of smoothness decreases by one on each successive subinterval.

4 Final Remarks

In this article, some work presented earlier is revisited, more precisely the method of steps. Taking into consideration that some numerical methods were developed using the results of Theorem 1 presented in [14] about existence of solution for a class of MTFDEs is proved of that theorem. It was made to contribute to theoretical basis of the introduced computational methods to solve numerically MTFDEs of the type (1). With the same purpose, the numerical analysis of the method presented in [15], based on method of steps and FEM, is still ongoing. The idea is to generalize the numerical analysis done in [15] for a larger class of MTFDEs.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Portuguese funds through the *Center for Computational and Stochastic Mathematics* (CEMAT), *The Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology* (FCT), University of Lisbon, Portugal, project UID/Multi/04621/2013, and *Center of Naval Research* (CINAV), Naval Academy, Portuguese Navy, Portugal.

The author also acknowledges Professors P. Lima, N. Ford, and P. Lumb for maintaining their availability and the provided suggestions.

П

References

- 1. Chi, H., Bell, J., Hassard, B.: Numerical solution of a nonlinear advance-delay-differential equation from nerve conduction theory. J. Math. Biol. **24**, 583–601 (1986)
- Collard, F., Licandro, O., Puch, L.A.: The short-run dynamics of optimal growth models with delays. In: Computing in Economics and Finance, vol. 117. Society for Computational Economics, European University Institute, Badia Fiesolana, I-50016 San Domenico (FI), Italy (2004). http://www.iue.it/personal/Licandro/
- 3. D'Albis, H., Augeraud-Veron, E.: Competitive growth in a life-cycle model: existence and dynamics. Int. Rev. Econ. **50**, 459–484 (2009)
- Elmer, C.E., Van Vleck, E.S.: Analysis and computation of traveling wave solutions of bistable differential-difference equations. Nonlinearity 12(3) 771–798 (1999)
- Elmer, C.E., Van Vleck, E.S.: A variant of Newton's method for the computation of traveling waves of bistable differential-difference equations. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 14(3), 493–517 (2002)
- Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: Mixed-type functional differential equations: a numerical approach. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 229, 471–479 (2009)
- Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M., Lima, P.M., Teodoro, M.F.: The numerical solution of forwardbackward equations: decomposition related issues. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 234(9) 2826–2837 (2010)
- Hupkes , H., Verduyn-Lunel, S.: Analysis of Newton's method to compute travelling waves in discrete media. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 17, 523–572 (2005)
- Hupkes, H., Verduyn-Lunel, S.: Center manifold theory for functional differential equations of mixed type. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 19, 497–560 (2007)
- Hupkes , H., Verduyn-Lunel, S.: Center manifolds for periodic functional differential equations of mixed type. J. Differ. Equ. 245, 1526–1565 (2008)
- Iakovleva, V., Vanegas C.: On the solution of differential equations with delayed and advanced arguments. Electron. J Differ. Equ., Conference 13, 57–63 (2005)
- Kamenskii, G., Myshkis A.: Mixed functional-differential equations. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 34(2), 283–297 (1998)
- Lamb C., Van Vleck, E.S.: Neutral mixed type functional differential equations. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 10884, 1–42 (2014)
- Lima, P.M., Teodoro, M.F., Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: Analytical and Numerical investigation of mixed type functional differential equations. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 234(9), 2732–2744 (2010)
- Lima, P.M., Teodoro, M.F., Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: Finite element solution of a linear mixedtype functional differential equation. Numer. Alg. 55, 301–320 (2010)
- Lima, P.M., Teodoro, M.F., Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: Analysis and computational approximation of a forward-backward equation arising in nerve conduction. In: Proc. ICDDEA2011, Azores, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics NY, vol. 47, p. 475 (2013)
- Mallet-Paret, J.: The Fredholm alternative for functional differential equations of mixed type. J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 11(1) 1–47 (1999)
- Mallet-Paret, J., Verduyn-Lunel, S.M.: Mixed-type functional differential equations, hololmorphic factorization, and applications. In: Proc. Equadiff2003, International Conference on Differential Equations, Hasselt 2003, World Scientific, Singapore, pp. 73–89 (2005). ISBN 9812561692
- Marian, O.I.: Functional-differential equations of mixed type, via weakly Picard Operators. Stud. Univ. Babes-Bolyai, Math. LI(2), 83–95 (1999)
- 20. Pinelas, S.: Oscillations and nonoscillations in mixed differential equations with monotonic delays and advances. Adv. Dyn. Syst. Appl. **4**(1), 107–121 (2009)
- 21. Pontryagin, L.S., Gamkreledze, R.V., Mischenko, E.F.: The Mathematical Theory of Optimal Process. Interscience, New York (1962)

- 22. Teodoro, M.F., Lima, P.M., Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: Numerical modelling of a functional differential equation with deviating arguments using a collocation method. In: Proc ICNAAM 2008, International Conference On Numerical Analysis And Applied Mathematics, Kos 2008, AIP Proceedings, vol. 1048, pp. 553–557 (2008)
- Teodoro, M.F., Lima, P.M., Ford, N.J., Lumb, P.M.: New approach to the numerical solution of forward-backward equations. Front. Math. China 4(1) 155–168 (2009)
- 24. Teodoro, M.F.: Solving a Forward-backward Equation from Acoustics.
- 25. Teodoro, M.F.: Solving a Forward-backward Equation from Physiology.

Magnetohydrodynamic Flow of a Power-Law Fluid over a Stretching Sheet with a Power-Law Velocity

Gabriella Bognár

Abstract The boundary-layer flow in a viscous non-Newtonian fluid containing over a nonlinear stretching sheet is analyzed. The stretching velocity is assumed to vary as a power function of the distance from the origin. The governing partial differential equation and auxiliary conditions are reduced to nonlinear ordinary differential equation with the appropriate corresponding conditions. The properties and nonexistence of the solutions to the boundary value problem are examined. The resulting nonlinear ordinary differential equation is solved numerically with a Chebyshev spectral method. On the base of our calculations, the effects of various parameters, namely, the power-law exponent, the MHD, and the nonlinear stretching parameter on the dimensionless velocity gradient at the wall, are discussed.

Keywords Boundary layer • Power-law fluid • Stretching sheet • Similarity method

AMS Subject Classifications: 34B40, 35G45

1 Introduction

The study of a boundary layer flow over a continuous solid surface due to motion with a constant speed in an otherwise quiescent viscous fluid was investigated by Sakiadis [13]. This type of problem is encountered in many sheeting manufacturing processes, such as plastic sheets. Ericson et al. [9] extended this problem to investigate the temperature distribution in the thermal boundary layer when the temperature of the sheet is kept at constant value. After that the examination of the velocity and the temperature distribution has been extended in various ways.

G. Bognár (🖂)

University of Miskolc, Miskolc-Egyetemváros, Miskolc 3519, Hungary e-mail: v.bognar.gabriella@uni-miskolc.hu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_13

Crane discussed the two-dimensional flow caused by a stretching of an elastic flat sheet which moves with a velocity varying linearly with the distance from the die [8]. Afzal et al. [1], Kuiken [11], and Banks [2] considered the case of stretching of sheet with a power-law velocity.

The linear stretching problem was investigated when the effect of a constant transverse magnetic field is included [4]. The boundary layer flow caused by a sheet stretching with a power-law velocity in the presence of a magnetic field was analyzed by Chiam [5].

All of the above approaches were made for Newtonian fluids. However, in many real situations, non-Newtonian fluids are encountered. The most frequently used model is the power-law Ostwald-de Waele model when a power-law relationship is given between the shear stress and the shear rate. The boundary layer over a power-law stretched sheet in a non-Newtonian power-law fluid was studied for permeable surface by Guedda et al. [10] and Yacob and Ishak [14]. The numerical study of the flow of an electrically conducting power-law fluid in the presence of a magnetic field for linearly stretching sheet was given by Cortell [7].

Our aim is to study the flow of a power-law fluid in the presence of a magnetic field over a sheet of stretching with power-law velocity. The properties and existence of similarity solution to laminar boundary layer flow of non-Newtonian power-law fluid over a continuous moving surface in the presence of transverse magnetic field is investigated. The resulting ordinary differential equations are then solved numerically. The influence of various fluid parameter is examined on the flow characteristics.

2 **Problem Formulation**

The steady laminar flow of a non-Newtonian electrically conducting incompressible fluid past a two-dimensional body is considered. The velocity components are represented by u and v in the coordinates along and normal to the body surface, xand y directions, respectively. The stretching velocity is $u_w = U_w x^m$ and the imposed external transverse magnetic field is denoted by $B(x) = B_0 x^{(m-1)/2}$, where $B_0 > 0$ and m are constants [6]. The continuity and momentum equations are given by

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} = 0,\tag{1}$$

$$u\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + v\frac{\partial u}{\partial y} = \frac{K}{\rho}\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\left(\left|\frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right|^{n-1}\frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right) + u_w\frac{\partial u_w}{\partial y} - \sigma B^2 u,\tag{2}$$

where ρ denotes the density and σ the electric conductivity, and the nonlinear model describing the non-Newtonian fluid is

MHD Flow of a Power-Law Fluid over a Stretching Sheet

$$\tau_{xy} = K \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right|^{n-1} \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}; \tag{3}$$

the viscosity function varies with the magnitude of the strain rate and depends on two fluid properties, *K* and *n*, the consistency coefficient, and the power-law exponent, respectively. The constitutive equation (3) represents the shear-thinning (pseudoplastic) fluids for 0 < n < 1 and the shear-thickening (dilatant) fluids for n > 1. For n = 1, one recovers a Newtonian fluid. The deviation of *n* from a unity indicates the degree of deviation from Newtonian behavior.

The boundary conditions for impermeable surface are the following

- (i) at the solid surface y = 0 neither slip nor mass transfer is taken: $u(x, 0) = u_w(x)$, v(x, 0) = 0,
- (ii) outside the viscous boundary layer the streamwise velocity component is zero:

$$\lim_{y \to \infty} u(x, y) = 0.$$
(4)

We apply the similarity solution approach by introducing

$$u = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y}, \quad v = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x}; \tag{5}$$

then the continuity equation (2) is automatically satisfied. Upon substitutions, the momentum equation (2) reduces to

$$\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial y}\frac{\partial^2\psi}{\partial y\partial x} - \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x}\frac{\partial^2\psi}{\partial y^2} = \alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\left(\left|\frac{\partial^2\psi}{\partial y^2}\right|^{n-1}\frac{\partial^2\psi}{\partial y^2}\right) + u_w\frac{\partial u_w}{\partial x} - \sigma B^2\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial y},\qquad(6)$$

 $\alpha = K/\rho$ and the boundary conditions are

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y}(x,0) = U_w x^m, \quad \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x}(x,0) = 0, \quad \lim_{y \to \infty} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y}(x,0) = 0. \tag{7}$$

Applying similarity transformation

$$\psi(x, y) = bx^{\beta} f(\eta), \quad \eta = dy x^{-\delta}$$
(8)

for some parameters b, d, κ , δ , (6) is reduced to the ordinary differential equation

$$\left(\left|f''\right|^{n-1}f''\right)' + \beta f f'' - m f'^2 - M f' = 0, \quad \eta \in (0,\infty),$$
(9)

where

$$\delta = \beta - m, \quad \beta = \frac{m(2n-1)+1}{n+1},$$
(10)

and $M = \sigma B_0^2/(u_w \rho)$ denotes the magnetic parameter. The prime indicates differentiation with respect to η . The corresponding boundary conditions (7) become

$$f(0) = 0, \quad f'(0) = 1,$$
 (11)

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f'(\eta) = 0. \tag{12}$$

An important boundary layer characteristic is the skin-friction coefficient C_f , which is a nondimensional form of the wall shear stress

$$C_f = 2\operatorname{Re}_x^{-1/(n+1)} \left[\frac{m(2n-1)+1}{n(n+1)} \right]^{n/(n+1)} [-\gamma]^n,$$
(13)

where $\gamma = f''(0)$ and

$$\operatorname{Re}_{x} = \frac{u_{w}(x)^{2-n}x^{n}}{\rho} \tag{14}$$

is the local Reynolds number. C_f is directly related to f''(0).

Equation (9) for a non-Newtonian fluid can be obtained as a special case (n = 1) and we have

$$f''' + \beta f f'' - m f'^2 - M f' = 0, \quad \eta \in (0, \infty),$$
(15)

with boundary conditions (11) and (12). Exact analytical solution to (15) and (11) and (12) for m = 0 of the form

$$f(\eta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+M}} \left(1 - e^{-\sqrt{1+M}\eta} \right)$$
(16)

was given by Pavlov [12].

3 Properties and Nonexistence of Solutions

The existence of solutions can be established by a shooting method. This approach is used to find values of $f''(0) = \gamma$ for which f exists on $[0, \infty)$ such that $f'(\infty) = 0$. So, the boundary condition at infinity (12) is replaced by $f''(0) = \gamma$, where $\gamma \neq 0$. The initial value problem is written as (9) and

$$f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1, f''(0) = \gamma.$$
(17)

Our aim is to derive conditions on the parameters involved in (9), (17) such that solution f_{γ} is global and satisfies boundary condition (12) for n > 1. The local solution f_{γ} satisfies the equality

$$\left| f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) \right|^{n-1} f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) + \beta f_{\gamma}^{\prime}(\eta) f_{\gamma}(\eta) - M f_{\gamma}(\eta) = \left| f^{\prime\prime}(0) \right|^{n-1} f^{\prime\prime}(0) + \frac{3nm+1}{n+1} \int_{0}^{\eta} f_{\gamma}(s)^{2} ds,$$
(18)

 $0 \le \eta < \eta_{\gamma}$, for all η_{γ} , where $(0, \eta_{\gamma})$ is the maximal interval of existence. Since $\gamma \in \mathbf{R}$ is arbitrary, problem (9), (17) has infinitely many solutions.

First, we introduce the following definitions:

A function $f_{\gamma}(\eta)$ is called a solution to (9), (17) if

(i) $f_{\gamma}(\eta) \in C^{2}(0, \infty),$ (ii) $\left|f_{\gamma}''\right|^{n-1}f_{\gamma}'' \in C^{1}(0, \infty),$ (iii) $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}'(\eta) = 0$ and $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}''(\eta) = 0.$

Let us define the Lyapunov energy function as

$$E(\eta) = \frac{n}{n+1} \left| f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime} \right|^{n+1} - \frac{m}{3} f_{\gamma}^{\prime 3} - \frac{M}{2} f_{\gamma}^{\prime 2},$$

which satisfies

$$E'(\eta) = -\frac{m(2n-1)+1}{n+1} f_{\gamma} f_{\gamma}''^{2},$$

on $(0, \eta_{\gamma})$ due to the differential equation of (9). Note, that

$$E(0) = \frac{n}{n+1} |\gamma|^{n+1} - \frac{m}{3} - \frac{M}{2}.$$

Theorem 1. For any M > 0, m + M < 0, n > 1, and m(2n - 1) + 1 > 0 satisfying

$$\left|\gamma\right|^{n+1} \leq \frac{n+1}{n} \left[\frac{m}{3} + \frac{M}{2}\right],$$

- (i) solution f_{γ} is positive and monotonic increasing on $(0, \eta_{\gamma})$ and global;
- (ii) $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}''(\eta) = 0$ and $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}'(\eta) = 0.$

Proof. As f(0) = 0 and f'(0) = 1, one can assume that f_{γ} and f'_{γ} are positive on some interval $(0, \eta_0)$, for $0 < \eta_0 < \eta_{\gamma}$. Then, *E* is monotonic decreasing on $(0, \eta_0)$, i.e.,

$$E\left(\eta_0\right) < E(0). \tag{19}$$

Applying (1), we get $E(\eta_0) \leq 0$.

If $f'_{\gamma}(\eta_0) = 0$, then $E(\eta_0) = E(0) = 0$ and $E(\eta) = 0$ for all $0 \le \eta \le \eta_0$. Hence, $f''_{\gamma} \equiv 0$ on $(0, \eta_0)$ and $\gamma = 0$ a contradiction. Therefore, f_{γ} is strictly monotonic increasing.

Using function E, we show that f_{γ} is global. We have that

$$\frac{n}{n+1} \left| f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime} \right|^{n+1} - \frac{m}{3} f_{\gamma}^{\prime 3} - \frac{M}{2} f_{\gamma}^{\prime 2} \le \frac{n}{n+1} \left| \gamma \right|^{n+1} - \frac{m}{3} - \frac{M}{2}, \tag{20}$$

therefore, both f'_{γ} and f''_{γ} are bounded. It implies that function f_{γ} is also bounded on $(0, \eta_{\gamma})$ if η_{γ} is finite, which is absurd. Consequently, η_{γ} is infinite and f_{γ} is global.

Next, we show that

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) = 0, \tag{21}$$

which is the case if f''_{ν} is monotone on some interval $[\eta_0,\infty)$ since f'_{ν} and f_{γ}'' are bounded. Assume that $\left|f_{\gamma}''\right|^{n-1}f_{\gamma}''$ is not monotone on any interval $[\eta_0,\infty)$. Then there exists a sequence $\{\eta_r\}$ tending to infinity as $r \to \infty$ such that $\left(\left|f_{\gamma}''\right|^{n-1}f_{\gamma}''\right)'(\eta_r) = 0$, and $\left(\left|f_{\gamma}''\right|^{n-1}f_{\gamma}''\right)(\eta_{2r})$ is a local maximum, $\left(\left|f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}\right|^{n-1}f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}\right)(\eta_{2r+1})$ is a local minimum. Applying $\eta = \eta_r$ to the differential equation, one gets

$$\frac{m(2n-1)+1}{n+1}f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta_r) = \frac{mf_{\gamma}^{\prime\,2}(\eta_r) + Mf_{\gamma}^{\prime}(\eta_r)}{f_{\gamma}(\eta_r)}.$$
(22)

As f'_{γ} is bounded and tends to zero as $r \to \infty$ then $f''_{\gamma}(\eta_r) \to 0$ as $r \to \infty$ and

$$\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) = 0.$$
 (23)

Since $f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}$ goes to 0, this implies that $-\frac{m}{3}f_{\gamma}^{\prime3} - \frac{M}{2}f_{\gamma}^{\prime2}$ tends to $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} E(\eta)$ as $\eta \to \infty$. It remains to prove that $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}^{\prime}(\eta) = 0$. Let us assume that $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} f_{\gamma}^{\prime}(\eta) = L$ with some L > 0. Next, applying identity (18) one gets

$$\left| f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) \right|^{n-1} f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) = -\frac{m(2n-1)+1}{n+1} L^2 \eta + \frac{1+3nm}{n+1} L^2 \eta + o(\eta), \qquad (24)$$

$$\left| f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) \right|^{n-1} f_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime}(\eta) = mL^2 \eta + o(\eta)$$
(25)

as $\eta \to \infty$. From this, we deduce that L = 0. This implies that $\lim_{\eta \to \infty} E(\eta) = 0$. Moreover, the following nonexistence result will be established:

Theorem 2. Problem (9)–(12) has no nonnegative solution for n > 1, M > 0, m + M < 0, m(2n - 1) + 1 < 0, and

$$|\gamma|^{n+1} \ge \frac{n+1}{n} \left(\frac{m}{3} + \frac{M}{2}\right).$$
 (26)

Proof. Let us assume that f is a nonnegative solution to (9)–(12). Then $E'(\eta) = -\beta f_{\gamma} f_{\gamma}''^2$ is nonnegative. Therefore, E is monotonic increasing and hence

$$E(0) \le \lim_{\eta \to \infty} E(\eta), \qquad (27)$$

$$\frac{n}{n+1} |\gamma|^{n+1} - \frac{m}{3} - \frac{M}{2} \le 0,$$
(28)

which contradicts (26).

4 Numerical Results and Discussion

The non-Newtonian MHD flow problem and the influence of the parameter values on the dimensionless velocity gradient at the wall [-f''(0)] can also be investigated through numerical solutions. We solve the ordinary differential equation (9) under boundary conditions (11) and (12) using a Chebyshev spectral method, in which the method is suitable to provide very accurate results when the solution is smooth enough.

In our calculations the collocation method is used. During collocation the function values of the interpolating polynomial at the collocation points are determined [3]. The *n*th order Chebyshev polynomial of the first kind, $T_n(x)$ is applied. The spectral differentiation for Chebyshev polynomials is carried out by the matrixvector multiplication method. For solving the boundary value problem on semiinfinite interval, we perform truncation and linear mapping. After discretization, the resulting system of nonlinear equations is solved with the Levenberg–Marquardt algorithm in Matlab for different values of the stretching parameter *m*, of the powerlaw exponent *n*, and of the magnetic parameter *M*. The values of [-f''(0)] are calculated for different parameter values of *n*, *m*, and *M*. The demonstration of these values is exhibited in Figs. 1 and 2. The effect of the power-law exponent is shown in Fig. 1 for m = 1. It is observed that [-f''(0)] increases monotonically with *M*. Moreover, it demonstrates that [-f''(0)] decreases with increasing *n*. Figure 2 shows that the effect of *m* is opposite. Larger *m* provides larger values of [-f''(0)].

Acknowledgements The research work presented in this paper is based on the results achieved within the TÁMOP-4.2.1.B-10/2/KONV-2010-0001 project and carried out as part of the TÁMOP-


Fig. 1 The graph of -f''(0) for m = 1 and for different values of *n*



Fig. 2 The graph of -f''(0) for n = 1 and for different values of m

4.1.1.C-12/1/KONV-2012-0002 "Cooperation between higher education, research institutes and automotive industry" project in the framework of the New Széchenyi Plan. The realization of this project is supported by the Hungarian Government and by the European Union and cofinanced by the European Social Fund.

References

- 1. Afzal, N., Varshney, I.S.: The cooling of a low heat-resistance stretching sheet moving through a fluid. Warme Stoff **14**, 289–293 (1980)
- Banks, W.H.H.: Similarity solutions of the boundary-layer equations for a stretching wall. J. Mecan. Theor. Appl. 2, 375–392 (1983)

- 3. Canuto, C., Hussaini, M.Y., Quarteroni, A., Zang, T.A.: Spectral Methods: Fundamentals in Single Domains, 1st edn. Springer, Berlin (2006)
- Chakrabati, A., Gupta, A.S.: Hydromagnetic flow and heat transfer over a stretching sheet. Q. Appl. Math. 37, 73–78 (1979)
- 5. Chiam, T.C.: Hydromagnetic flow over a surface stretching with a power-law velocity. Int. J. Eng. Sci. **33**, 429–435 (1995)
- Cobble, M.H.: Magnetofluiddynamic flow with a pressure gradient and fluid injection. J. Eng. Math. 11, 249–256 (1977)
- Cortell, R.: A note on magnetohydrodynamic flow of a power-law fluid over a stretching sheet. Appl. Math. Comput. 168, 557–566 (2005)
- 8. Crane, I.J.: Flow past a stretching plate. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 21, 645–647 (1970)
- 9. Erickson, L.E., Fan, L.T., Fox, V.G.: Heat and mass transfer on a moving continuous flat plate with suction or injection. Ind. Eng. Chem. 5, 19–25 (1966)
- Guedda, M., Hammouch, Z.: Similarity flow solutions of a non Newtonian power-law fluid. Int. J. Nonlinear Sci. 6, 255–264 (2008)
- 11. Kuiken, H.K.: On boundary layers in field mechanics that decay algebraically along stretches of wall that are not vanishing small. IMA J. Appl. Math. 27, 387–405 (1981)
- 12. Pavlov, K.B.: Magnetohydrodynamic flow of an incompressible viscous fluid caused by deformation of a plane surface. Magnitnaya Gidrodinamika (USSR) **4**,146–147 (1974)
- 13. Sakiadis, B.C.: Boundary layer behavior on continuous solid surfaces: I. Boundary layer equations for two-dimensional and axisymmetric flow. AIChE J. 7, 26–28 (1961)
- Yacob, N.A., Ishak, A.: Flow and heat transfer of a power-law fluid over a permeable shrinking sheet. Sains Malaysiana 43, 491–496 (2014)

Existence of Mild Solutions for Impulsive Fractional Functional Differential Equations of Order $\alpha \in (1, 2)$

Ganga Ram Gautam and Jaydev Dabas

Abstract This paper investigates the existence result for fractional order functional differential equations subject to non-instantaneous impulsive condition by applying the classical fixed point technique. At last, an example involving partial derivatives is presented to verify the uniqueness result.

Keywords Fractional order differential equation • Functional differential equations • Impulsive conditions • Fixed point theorem

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 26A33, 34K05, 34A12, 26A33

1 Introduction

In this paper, we investigate the existence and uniqueness result of mild solutions for the following non-instantaneous impulsive fractional functional differential equation of the form

$${}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}y(t) = Ay(t) + f(t, y_{\rho(t, y_{t})}), \ t \in (s_{i}, t_{i+1}] \subset J, \ i = 0, 1, \dots, N,$$
(1)

$$y(t) = g_i(t, y(t)), y'(t) = q_i(t, y(t)), t \in (t_i, s_i], i = 1, 2, ..., N,$$
 (2)

$$y(t) = \phi(t), \ y'(t) = \phi(t), \ t \in [-d, 0],$$
(3)

G.R. Gautam (🖂)

J. Dabas

e-mail: gangaiitr11@gmail.com; jay.dabas@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Banaras Hindu University, DST-Centre for Interdisciplinary Mathematical Sciences, Institute of Science, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi-221005, India

Department of Applied Science and Engineering, IIT Roorkee, Saharanpur Campus, Saharanpur-247001, India

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_14

where ${}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}$ denotes the Caputo's fractional derivative of order $\alpha \in (1, 2)$ and $A : D(A) \subset X \to X$ is the sectorial operator defined on a complex Banach space X. Functions $f : J \times PC_0 \to X$; $\rho : J \times PC_0 \to [-d, T]$ are continuous and satisfy some assumptions, where PC_0 is an abstract space defined in the next section. The map y_t is the element of PC_0 and defined as $y_t(\theta) = y(t+\theta), \ \theta \in [-d, 0], J = [0, T]$ is operational interval such that $0 = t_0 = s_0 < t_1 \le s_1 \le t_2 < \cdots < t_N \le s_N \le t_{N+1} = T$ are prefixed numbers. Here y' denotes the derivative of y with respect to t and $g_i, q_i \in C((t_i, s_i] \times X; X)$ for all $i = 1, 2, \ldots, N$. The functions ϕ, φ belong to PC_0 respectively.

The impulsive differential equations have been appeared as in natural description evolution processes. The impulsive effects may be instantaneous or non-instantaneous which is shown in many disciplines. Instantaneous impulse is characterized by abrupt changes of the state at certain moments, but in case of non-instantaneous impulse, it starts abruptly at the fixed moments as the points t_i , and their action continues on the finite interval $[t_i, s_i]$. For the future development and recent update of theory for fractional functional differential equations, we refer the papers [1, 2, 4–6, 9, 10] for state-dependent delay, and for non-instantaneous impulse, one can see the papers [7, 8, 11, 12] and the references therein.

On the available of literature, we found that Hernandez et al. [11] used the first time non-instantaneous impulsive condition for abstract differential equations for order one and established the existence results. Kumar et al. [12] have studied the fractional order problem with non-instantaneous impulse, and by using the Banach fixed point theorem with condensing map, they established the existence and uniqueness results. Motivated by the work [11, 12], we have studied the problem considered in [8] for the order $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and established the existence results of mild solution of problem. Shu et al. [14] gave the definition of mild solution for fractional differential equations of order $\alpha \in (1, 2)$ and then established the existence results of mild solutions using the Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem and analytic operator theory.

Inspired by the work [11, 12, 14] and by the survey, we found that there is no literature on fractional functional differential equation with state-dependent delay subject to non-instantaneous impulsive condition of order (1, 2). This is the reason to investigate the problems (1)–(3) and establish the existence of uniqueness result. For further information, we have divided our work in four sections.

2 Preliminary

In this section, we have introduced some notations, basic definitions, and preliminary result, which were required to establish our main results. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ be a complex Banach space of functions with the sup-norm $\|u\|_X = \sup_{t \in J} \{|u(t)| : u \in X\}$, and let L(X) denote the space of bounded linear operators from X into X endowed with the natural norm of operators denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{L(X)}$. As usual, $PC_0 = C([-d, 0], X)$ (with $[-d, 0] \subset \mathbb{R}$) is the space formed by all the continuous functions defined from [-d, 0] into *X*, endowed with the norm

$$||u(t)||_{PC_0} = \sup_{t \in [-d,0]} \{|u(t)|_X\}.$$

In the case of impulsive conditions, we consider

$$PC_T = PC([-d, T]; X), \ 0 < T < \infty,$$

which is a Banach space of all such functions $u : [-d, T] \to X$, which are absolutely continuous everywhere except for a finite number of points $t_i \in (0, T)$, i = 1, 2, ..., N, at which $u(t_i^+)$ and $u(t_i^-) = u(t_i)$ exists and endowed with the norm

$$||u||_{PC_T} = \sup_{t \in [-d,T]} \{ ||u(t)||_X, u \in PC_T \}.$$

For a function $u \in PC_T$ and $i \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$, we introduce the function $\bar{u}_i \in A([t_i, t_{i+1}]; X)$ given by

$$\bar{u}_i(t) = \begin{cases} u(t), \text{ for } t \in (t_i, t_{i+1}], \\ u(t_i^+), \text{ for } t = t_i. \end{cases}$$

For further analysis, again consider

$$PC_T^1 = PC([-d, T]; X), \ 0 < T < \infty,$$

which is a Banach space of all such functions $u : [-d, T] \to X$, which are absolutely continuously differentiable everywhere except for a finite number of points $t_i \in (0, T)$, i = 1, 2, ..., N, at which $u'(t_i^+)$ and $u'(t_i^-) = u'(t_i)$ exists and endowed with the norm

$$||u||_{PC_T^1} = \sup_{t \in [-d,T]} \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^1 ||u^j(t)||_X, u \in PC_T^1 \right\}.$$

For a function $u \in PC_T^1$ and $i \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$, we introduce the function $\overline{u}_i \in C^1([t_i, t_{i+1}]; X)$ given by

$$\bar{u}_i(t) = \begin{cases} u'(t), \text{ for } t \in (t_i, t_{i+1}], \\ u'(t_i^+), \text{ for } t = t_i. \end{cases}$$

Definition 1. [13] Caputo's derivative of order $\alpha > 0$ with lower limit *a*, for a function $g : [a, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $g \in C^n([a, \infty), X)$ is defined as

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\alpha}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\int_{a}^{t} (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1}g^{(n)}(s)ds =_{a} J_{t}^{n-\alpha}g^{(n)}(t).$$

where $n - 1 < \alpha < n$, $a \ge 0$, $n \in N$.

Definition 2. The Riemann–Liouville fractional integral operator of order $\alpha > 0$ with lower limit *a*, for a function $g \in L^1_{loc}([a, \infty), X)$ is defined by

$${}_{a}J_{t}^{0}g(t) = g(t), \ {}_{a}J_{t}^{\alpha}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{a}^{t}(t-s)^{\alpha-1}g(s)ds, \quad \alpha > 0, \ t > 0,$$

where $a \ge 0$, $n \in N$ and $\Gamma(\cdot)$ denotes the Gamma function.

Definition 3. Let $A : D(A) \subset X \to X$ be a closed and linear operator and $\alpha, \beta > 0$. We can say that A is the generator of (α, β) operator function if there exists $\omega \ge 0$ and a strongly continuous function $W_{\alpha,\beta} : \mathbb{R}^+ \to L(X)$ such that $\{\lambda^{\alpha} : \mathbb{R}e\lambda > \omega\} \subset \rho(A)$ and

$$\lambda^{\alpha-\beta}(\lambda^{\alpha}I-A)^{-1}u=\int_0^{\infty}e^{-\lambda t}W_{\alpha,\beta}(t)udt, \ \mathrm{Re}\lambda>\omega, \ u\in X.$$

Here $W_{\alpha,\beta}(t)$ is called the operator function generated by A.

Remark 1. The operator function $W_{\alpha,\beta}(t)$ is a general case of α -resolvent family and solution operator. In the case $\beta = 1$, operator function corresponds to solution operator $S_{\alpha}(t)$ by Definition 2.1 in [2], whereas in the case $\beta = \alpha$, operator function corresponds to α -resolvent family defined in [3] in Definition (2.3), and operator function corresponds to $K_{\alpha}(t)$ in [14] in the case $\beta = 2$.

The following result is based on Definition 2.1 in [11].

Definition 4. A function $y : [-d, T] \to X$ s.t. $y \in PC_T^1$ is called a mild solution of the problems (1)–(3) if $y(0) = \phi(0), y'(0) = \phi(0), y(t) = g_j(t, y(t)), y'(t) = q_j(t, y(t))$ for $t \in (t_j, s_j]$ for each j = 1, 2, ..., N, and satisfying the following integral equation

$$y(t) = \begin{cases} \phi(0)S_{\alpha}(t) + \phi(0)K_{\alpha}(t) \\ + \int_{0}^{t} T_{\alpha}(t)f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_{s})})ds, & t \in [0, t_{1}], \\ g_{i}(s_{i}, y(s_{i}))S_{\alpha}(t - s_{i}) + q_{i}(s_{i}, y(s_{i}))K_{\alpha}(t - s_{i}) \\ + \int_{s_{i}}^{t} T_{\alpha}(t - s)f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_{s})})ds, & t \in [s_{i}, t_{i+1}]. \end{cases}$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., N.

3 Main Results

In this section, we have established the existence result of solution for the problems (1)–(3). Let *A* be a sectorial operator and then strongly continuous functions $||S_{\alpha}(t)|| \leq M$; $||K_{\alpha}(t)|| \leq M$; $||T_{\alpha}(t)|| \leq M$. Let us assume the function ρ : $[0, T] \times PC_0 \rightarrow [-d, T]$ is continuous. Now, we introduce the following assumption:

(*H*₁) The function f is continuous and \exists positive constants L_{f1} such that

$$\|f(t,\psi) - f(t,\xi)\|_{X} \le L_{f1} \|\psi - \xi\|_{PC_{0}}, \ \forall \ \psi, \xi \in PC_{0}$$

(*H*₂) The functions g_i, q_i are continuous and \exists positive constants L_{g_i}, L_{q_i} such that

$$||g_i(t,x) - g_i(t,y)||_X \le L_{g_i} ||x - y||_X; ||q_i(t,x) - q_i(t,y)||_X \le L_{q_i} ||x - y||_X$$

for all $x, y \in X, t \in (t_i, s_i]$ and each $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$.

Theorem 1. Let the assumptions (H_1) and (H_2) hold and are constant:

$$\Delta = \max\{MTL_{f_1}, L_{g_i}M + L_{q_i}M + MTL_{f_1}\} < 1,$$

for i = 1, ..., N. Then there exists a unique mild solution y(t) of problems (1)–(3) on J.

Proof. We convert problems (1)–(3) in to the fixed point problem. Consider $\mathscr{B} = \{y : y \in PC_T^1, y(0) = \phi(0), y'(0) = \phi(0)\}$. Define an operator $\mathscr{P} : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$ as

$$\mathscr{P}y(t) = \begin{cases} \phi(0)S_{\alpha}(t) + \phi(0)K_{\alpha}(t) \\ + \int_{0}^{t} T_{\alpha}(t-s)f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_{s})})ds, & t \in [0, t_{1}], \\ g_{i}(s_{i}, y(s_{i}))S_{\alpha}(t-s_{i}) + q_{i}(s_{i}, y(s_{i}))K_{\alpha}(t-s_{i}) \\ + \int_{s_{i}}^{t} T_{\alpha}(t-s)f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_{s})})ds, & t \in [s_{i}, t_{i+1}]. \end{cases}$$
(4)

It is obvious that \mathscr{P} is well defined. Now, we will express that the operator \mathscr{P} has a unique fixed point. So let $y(t), y^*(t) \in \mathscr{B}$ and $t \in [0, t_1]$; we get

$$\|\mathscr{P}y - \mathscr{P}y^*\|_X \le \int_0^t \|T_{\alpha}(t-s)\|_{L(X)} \|f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_s)}) - f(s, y^*_{\rho(s, y_s^*)})\|_X ds$$

$$\le TML_{f1} \|y - y^*\|_X.$$

For $t \in [s_i, t_{i+1}]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathscr{P}y - \mathscr{P}y^*\|_X &\leq \|g_i(s_i, y(s_i)) - g_i(s_i, y^*(s_i))\|_X \|S_\alpha(t - s_i)\|_{L(X)} \\ &+ \|q_i(s_i, y(s_i)) - q_i(s_i, y^*(s_i))\|_X \|K_\alpha(t - s_i)\|_{L(X)} \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{s_i}^t \|T_{\alpha}(t-s)\|_{L(X)} \|f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_s)}) - f(s, y_{\rho(s, y_s^*)}^*)\|_X ds$$

$$\leq (L_{g_i}M + L_{q_i}M + TML_{f_1}) \|y - y^*\|_X.$$

For $t \in (t_i, s_i]$, we get

$$\|\mathscr{P}y - \mathscr{P}y^*\|_X \le L_{g_j}\|y - y^*\|_X, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$

Gathering above results, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathscr{P}y - \mathscr{P}y^*\|_X &\leq \max\{MTL_{f_1}, L_{g_i}M + L_{q_i}M + MTL_{f_1}\}\|y - y^*\|_X\\ &\leq \Delta \|y - y^*\|_X. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\Delta < 1$, which implies that \mathscr{P} is a contraction map, there exists a unique fixed point which is the mild solution of problems (1)–(3) on *J*.

4 Example

In this section, we gave an example to illustrate our main result. Consider the following fractional order functional differential equation:

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(t,x)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial^{2} u(t,x)}{\partial y^{2}} + \frac{u(t - \sigma(\|u\|), x)}{49}, (t,x) \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} [s_{i}, t_{i+1}] \times [0,\pi], \quad (5)$$

$$u(t,0) = u(t,\pi) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(6)

$$u(t,x) = \phi(t,x), u'(t,x) = \varphi(t,x), t \in [-d,0], x \in [0,\pi],$$
(7)

$$u(t,x) = G_i(t,y); \ u'(t,x) = H_i(t,y), \ t \in (t_i,s_i].$$
(8)

where $\frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial t^{\alpha}}$ denotes the partial Caputo's fractional derivative of order $\alpha \in (1, 2), 0 = t_0 = s_0 < t_1 \le s_1 < \cdots < t_N \le sN < t_{N+1} = 1$ are prefixed numbers, and $\phi, \phi \in PC_0$. Let $X = L^2[0, \pi]$ be a Banach space and define the operator $A : D(A) \subset X \to X$ by Ay = y'' with the domain $D(A) := \{y \in X : y, y' \text{ to be absolutely continuous, } y'' \in X, y(0) = 0 = y(\pi) \}$. Then

$$Ay = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^2(y, y_n) y_n, \ y \in D(A),$$

where set $y_n(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \sin(nx)$, $n \in N$ is the space of eigenvectors of A in which element is orthogonal. It is clear that that the operator A stays the infinitesimal

generator of an analytic semigroup operator $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in Banach space X and is defined as

$$T(t)\omega = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-n^2 t}(\omega, \omega_n)\omega_n, \text{ for all } \omega \in X, \text{ and every } t > 0.$$

The subordination opinion of solution operator implies that *A* stays the infinitesimal generator of K(t), S(t). Since K(t), S(t) are strongly continuous operators on interval $[0, \infty)$ by the theorem of uniformly boundedness, there exists a constant M > 0 such that $||S(t)|| \le M$, $||K(t)|| \le M$ for $t \in [0, 1]$. We have for $(t, \phi) \in [0, 1] \times PC_0$.

Setting u(t)(x) = u(t, x), and

$$\rho(t,\phi) = t - \sigma(\|\phi(0)\|), \ (t,\phi) \in J \times PC_0$$

we have

$$f(t,\phi) = \frac{\phi}{49}; g_i(t,y) = G_i(t,y); q_i(t,y) = H_i(t,y),$$

then by the above Eqs. (5)–(8) can be composed in the given abstract form as (1)–(3). Furthermore, we can see that for $(t, \phi), (t, \psi) \in J \times PC_0$, we may verify that

$$\|f(t,\phi) - f(t,\psi)\|_{L^2} \le \left[\int_0^{\pi} \left\{ \|\frac{\phi}{49} - \frac{\psi}{49}\|\right\}^2 dy \right]^{1/2} \le \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{49} \|\phi - \psi\|.$$

Hence function f satisfies (H_1) . Similarly we can show that the functions g_i , q_i satisfy (H_2) . All the conditions of Theorem 1 have been satisfied, so we can drive that the system (5)–(8) has a unique mild solution on [0, 1].

References

- 1. Abbas, S., Benchohra, M.: Impulsive partial hyperbolic functional differential equations of fractional order with state-dependent delay. Int. J. Theory Appl. **13**(3), 225–244 (2010)
- Agarwal, R.P., de Andrade, B.: On fractional integro-differential equations with statedependent delay. Comput. Math. Appl. 62, 1143–1149 (2011)
- Araya, D., Lizama, C.: Almost automorphic mild solutions to fractional differential equations. Nonlinear Anal. TMA 69, 3692–3705 (2008)
- Arjunan, M.M., Kavitha, V.: Existence results for impulsive neutral functional differential equations with state-dependent delay, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 26, 1–13 (2009)
- 5. Benchohra, M., Berhoun, F.: Impulsive fractional differential equations with state dependent delay. Commun. Appl. Anal. **14**(2), 213–224 (2010)
- Dabas, J., Gautam, G.R.: Impulsive neutral fractional integro-differential equation with state dependent delay and integral boundary condition. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 273, 1–13 (2013)

- 7. Gautam, G.R., Dabas, J.: Existence result of fractional functional integro-differential equation with not instantaneous impulse. Int. J. Adv. Appl. Math. Mech. 1(3), 11–21 (2014)
- 8. Gautam, G.R., Dabas, J.: Mild solution for fractional functional integro-differential equation with not instantaneous impulse. Malaya J. Mat. **2**(3), 428–437 (2014)
- 9. Gautam, G.R., Dabas, J.: Results of local and global mild solution for impulsive fractional differential equation with state dependent delay. Differ. Equ. Appl. 6(3), 429–440 (2014)
- Gautam, G.R., Dabas, J.: Existence and uniqueness of mild solution for nonlocal impulsive integro-differential equation with state dependent delay. Fract. Differ. Calc. 4(2), 137–150 (2014)
- Hernandez, E., O'Regan, D.: On a new class of abstract impulsive differential equations. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 141(5), 1641–1649 (2013)
- 12. Kumara, P., Pandey, D.N., Bahuguna, D.: On a new class of abstract impulsive functional differential equations of fractional order. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. **7**, 102–114 (2014)
- 13. Podlubny, I.: Fractional Differential Equation. Academic, San Diego (1999)
- 14. Shu, X., Wang, Q.: The existence and uniqueness of mild solutions for fractional differential equations with nonlocal conditions of order $1 < \alpha < 2$. Comput. Math. Appl. **64**, 2100–2110 (2012)

Nonlinear Dynamical Systems in Modeling and Control of Infectious Disease

Md. Haider Ali Biswas and Md. Mohidul Haque

Abstract This paper deals with nonlinear dynamical systems in the form of mathematical modeling to describe modeling of the dynamic behavior of biological and biomedical systems. Nonlinear ordinary differential equations have been studied to investigate the mysterious and complex mechanisms of the dynamics of infectious diseases in the human body. In particular, we study a nonlinear model of HIV immunology which describes the interactions between the human immune systems and the viruses. In this work, we propose a modification of the HIV model proposed by Joshi in Optim Control Appl Methods 23(4):199–213 (2002) by introducing state constraint to the dynamics. The aim is to obtain optimal immunotherapeutic strategy where the state constraint may play a crucial role. We treat our problem numerically and compare the results with existing literature to illustrate the significant effect of introducing state constraint to the dynamics of the dynamics of the model.

Keywords Mathematical model • Nonlinear ODEs • HIV immunology • Optimal control • State constraints • Numerical simulations

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 93A30, 49K15.

1 Introduction

Nonlinear phenomena characterize all aspects of global change dynamics, from the Earth's climate system to human physiology [20]. These nonlinear phenomena of rapid change in the human physiological systems can be captured and modeled by the nonlinear ordinary differential equations (NODEs) in the form of mathematical modeling. Since the human body is a highly nonlinear, robust, and an adaptive physiological control system, there is a close relationship between control theory

M.H.A. Biswas (🖂) • M.M. Haque

Mathematics Discipline, Khulna University, Khulna 9208, Bangladesh e-mail: mhabiswas@yahoo.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_15

and biology [16]. So nonlinearity plays an influential role in describing the mysterious and complex mechanisms of the dynamics of infectious diseases in the human body.

In recent years, mathematical models have become the most important tools in analyzing the dynamics of biological and biomedical systems. The processes in biology and medicine can be, in general, described by mathematical models where the nonlinear ordinary differential equations are the key ingredients. The spread of infectious diseases such as HIV [6], NiV [8], and flu [9] may be modeled as a nonlinear system of differential equations. In this paper, we study an HIV immunology model to analyze the nonlinear behavior of the disease dynamics. Immunotherapy is one of the most effective varieties of chemotherapy used for the treatment of HIV-positive patients which not only kills/halts the pathogen in the body but also helps in increasing the long-term internal resistance of our immune systems so that the body itself can fight against the viruses. This immunotherapeutic treatment in the form multidrug therapy from the early stage of the infections has shown remarkable milestone toward the evolution of AIDS treatment [18]. Optimal control technique is applied to obtain the better immunotherapeutic strategy, special feature of which is the introduction of state constraint. Some numerical simulations illustrate the results.

2 Nonlinear Mathematical Model

Mathematical models can provide better insights of the disease mechanisms which lead to design better prevention, therapy, and control programs. Numbers of mathematical models for different infectious diseases have been proposed and investigated by several authors over the years. We refer readers to [1–5, 7, 9] for more detailed discussions on some of the recent mathematical models of different infectious diseases. However, the cell-virus interactions in the human body are very complex, especially when these are the cases of HIV infections. The HIV model we now discuss here is a simple deterministic optimal control model first proposed by Kirschner and Webb [15] which describes the interactions between human immune systems and HIV virus in terms of a set of nonlinear ordinary differential equations (ODEs) given by

$$\frac{dT(t)}{dt} = s_1 - \frac{s_2 V(t)}{\beta_1 + V(t)} - \mu T(t) - \lambda V(t) T(t)$$

$$\frac{dV(t)}{dt} = \frac{\gamma V(t)}{\beta_2 + V(t)} - \alpha V(t) T(t)$$
(1)

with the initial conditions

$$T(0) = T_0, V(0) = V_0.$$
 (2)

In the above model, T(t) and V(t) represent the uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells and concentrations of free infectious virus particles, respectively. μ is the natural death rate of $CD4^+T$ cells; λ is the infection rate by the free virus particles. γ represents the input rate of an external virus source; α is the loss rate of virus and β_1 and β_2 are half-saturation constants. $s_1 - \frac{s_2V(t)}{\beta_1 + V(t)}$ represents the *source/proliferation* term of uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells and $\mu T(t)$ is the natural loss of uninfected $CD4^+T$; $\lambda V(t)T(t)$ is the loss by infection, $\frac{\gamma V(t)}{\beta_2 + V(t)}$ is the viral contribution to plasma, and $\alpha V(t)T(t)$ is the viral loss.

The model (1) was further studied, explored, and extended by Joshi in [14] in an optimal control problem introducing two control variables u_i for i = 1, 2. When modeling the immunotherapeutic treatment in a time interval [0, T], the rate of immunotherapy at each instant is *t*. Taking into account the immunotherapy, the above two compartmental dynamic models (1) of HIV infections can be reformulated by the following nonlinear systems of ordinary differential equations:

$$\frac{dT(t)}{dt} = s_1 - \frac{s_2 V(t)}{\beta_1 + V(t)} - \mu T(t) - \lambda V(t) T(t) - u_1(t) T(t)$$

$$\frac{dV(t)}{dt} = \frac{\gamma(1 - u_2(t))V(t)}{\beta_2 + V(t)} - \alpha V(t) T(t)$$
(3)

with the same initial conditions (2).

Here u_1 and u_2 act as the control variables representing the immune-boosting and viral-suppressing drugs, respectively, and the set of controls $(u_1(t), u_2(t)) \in U$ is Lebesgue measurable, where

$$U = \{ (u_1(t), u_2(t)) : 0 \le a_i \le u_i(t) \le b_i \le 1 \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T] \}$$

u = 0 indicates no drugs at all and u = 1 indicates the maximum drug doses over time.

The aim is to find the optimal control strategy so that the number of uninfected $CD4^+T$ cell count at the end of treatment is maximized as much as possible while minimizing counts of the hazardous side effects of the antiretroviral drug doses as well as the systematic cost. The objective functional is chosen as

Minimize
$$J(u_1, u_2) := \int_0^T -T(t) + B_1 u_1^2(t) + B_2 u_2^2(t) dt,$$
 (4)

where B_1 and B_2 are the balancing parameters which determine the relative importance of the two factors in the objective functional.

One of the important aspects for the treatment of HIV infections is the regular monitoring of the $CD4^+T$ cell count in the blood. We observe from the literatures that the $CD4^+T$ cell count is very crucial for the treatment of HIV infections. The $CD4^+T$ cell count "less than 200/mm³" indicates the severity of the disease [17].

Our intention here is to find a new solution of the model in [14] imposing some state constraints in the data. Our idea behind imposing the state constraints is to guarantee that the uninfected $CD4^+T$ cell count should not go below a certain level, for example, 200/mm³, during the entire treatment which can be ensured by increasing the internal immunity of the $CD4^+T$ cells with several drug administrations like antiretroviral therapy (ART) and highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). We recall that HAART is defined as treatment with at least three active antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) and so it is often called the drug "cocktail" or triple therapy. HAART affords us a potent way of suppressing viral replication in the blood while attempting to prevent the virus from rapidly developing resistance to the individual ARVs. Suppressing viral replication with HAART allows the body time to rebuild its immune system and replenish the destroyed $CD4^+T$ cells. Until today HAART is highly recommended for the immunotherapy of HIV-positive patients as it has been clearly shown to delay progression to AIDS and prolong life. See, for example, [13, 18] for some recent developments in HAART treatment and "functional cure" from HIV infections. Failure of HAART is a sustained and high rise in the viral load because when HAART is stopped, HIV becomes detectable in the blood once again. So we now modify the model proposed by Joshi [14] to construct a new problem. Our proposed modification in the above model is to introduce a state constraint in the state variable of virus concentration meaning that the number of free virus particle cannot pass a certain upper limit during the immunotherapeutic treatment. We take the state constraint

$$V(t) \le V, \ \forall \ t \in [0, T],\tag{5}$$

where \tilde{V} is an upper bound on the free virus particle taking values in \mathbb{R} .

3 Characterization of Optimal Control Problem

The model (3) along with the objective functional (4) and the state constraint (5) can be reformulated as the following state-constrained optimal control problem:

(P)
$$\begin{cases} \text{Minimize } \int_0^T L(x(t), u(t)) dt \\ \text{subject to} \\ \dot{x}(t) = f(x(t)) + g(x(t))u(t) \text{ for a.e. } t, \\ h(x(t)) \le 0 \text{ for all } t, \\ u(t) \in [0, 1] \text{ for a.e. } t, \\ x(0) = x_0 \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= (T(t), V(t)), \ L(x, u) = -T(t) + B_1 u_1^2(t) + B_2 u_2^2(t), \\ f(x) &= \left(s_1 - \frac{s_2 V(t)}{\beta_1 + V(t)} - \mu T(t) - \lambda V(t) T(t), \frac{\gamma V(t)}{\beta_2 + V(t)} - \alpha V(t) T(t)\right), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} T(t) & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{\gamma V(t)}{\beta_2 + V(t)} \end{pmatrix}, \ u(t) = (u_1(t), u_2(t)), \ h(x(t)) = V(t) - \tilde{V}.$$

We define the Hamiltonian

$$H(x, u, p, \lambda) = p \cdot f(x) + p \cdot g(x)u - \lambda L(x, u)$$

In the absence of state constraint $h(x(t)) \le 0$ for all *t*, the necessary conditions of optimality for optimal control problem (*P*) can be obtained by applying the well-known Pontryagin Maximum Principle [19] for optimal control problem. In vein of Vinter [22], the necessary conditions give closed forms for the controls (taking into account the control constraints) of our problem. It is worth mentioning that our cost is convex in *u* and the dynamics are linear in *u*. In such case the optimal solution of our model is guaranteed by Fleming and Rishel [11].

Suppose that (x^*, u^*) is the optimal solution of the above problem (*P*) without state constraint. The maximum principle in [22] asserts the existence of an absolutely continuous function *p* and a scalar $\lambda_0 \ge 0$ such that:

(i) $||p||_{\infty} + \lambda_0 > 0$,

(ii)
$$-\dot{p}(t) = p(t) \cdot f_x(x^*(t)) + p(t) \cdot g_x(x^*(t))u^*(t) - \lambda L_x(x^*(t), u^*(t))$$

(iii) $\forall u \in U, \ p(t) \cdot g(x^*(t))u^*(t) - \lambda u^{*2} \le p(t) \cdot g(x^*(t))u(t) - \lambda u^2$ a.e.

together with the transversality condition p(T) = (0, 0). Consider that $p(t) = (p_T, p_V)$. Then we deduce from (iii) an explicit characterization of the optimal control pair in normal form (i.e., $\lambda = 1$) given in terms of the multipliers *p*:

$$(u_1^*(t), u_2^*(t)) = \left(\min\left\{\max\left\{a_1, \frac{p_T(t)T(t)}{2B_1}\right\}, b_1\right\}, \\\min\left\{\max\left\{a_2, \frac{-p_V(t)V(t)}{2B_2(\beta_2 + V(t))}\right\}, b_2\right\}\right).$$
(6)

It is worth mentioning that the introduction of state constraint in the model makes the analytical solution quite complicated due to the presence of nonnegative Radon measure [22]. In such case, additional verification as well as validation (e.g., regularity) of minimizer for optimal solution is needed. However, for such discussions some literature (see, e.g., [12, 21]) can be of help for analytical treatments. An adapted theorem discussed in [9] (see also [5]) for the existence

of minimizer may provide more information for such analysis. However, in this paper we only perform a numerical simulation of our state-constrained model to compare the dynamic behavior of the disease before and after the antiretroviral drug administration. We also compare the results for optimal immunotherapeutic strategy with and without state constraint omitting the detailed analytical treatment.

4 Numerical Results

We consider the model when the virus particles are assumed to be very active and the number of uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells counts is very low (i.e., at the late stage of the disease). So we take the initial values as T(0) = 400 and V(0) = 2.0 and all other parameters are as in Table 1. We perform all simulations for the fixed final time T = 50 days because of the short-term drug dosages for the HAART. Before proceeding to in-depth analysis, we would like to show readers the importance of immunotherapy treatment using HAART. For this purpose, we first solve the model when no immunotherapy is administered. In this case, we take the control variables $u_1 = u_2 = 0$ and we solve the problem by using the known nonlinear "ODE solver" written in "MATLAB" code. We then take $u_1 = 0.02$, $u_2 = 0.9$ and run the program using the same "ODE solver." The simulation results of these two cases are shown in Figs. 1 and 2. From Fig. 1, it is easy to observe that at the very beginning of the HIV infections, when any form of drugs as "immunotherapy" is not initiated for treatment, the number of uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells is decreasing quickly over time [see Fig. 1(upper one)], and at the same time the virus concentrations are increasing very fast [see Fig. 1(lower one)]. On the other hand, Fig. 2 shows that the immunotherapeutic treatment for HIV infections in the form of HAART as the $CD4^+T$ cell count is growing up immediately after drug initiations [see Fig. 2(upper one)] and the virus particles are decreasing almost to zero [see Fig. 2(lower one)].

Parameters and constants	Definition of parameters	Values
<i>s</i> ₁	First source coefficient	2.0
<i>s</i> ₂	Second source coefficient	0.002
λ	Infection rate of $CD4^+T$ cells	0.00025
γ	Input rate of an external virus source	30
α	Loss rate of virus	0.007
β_1	First half-saturation constant	14
β_2	Second half-saturation constant	1.0
Т	Number of days	50
T_0	Initial $CD4^+T$ cells	400
V ₀	Initial virus concentrations	2
Ĩ	Upper bound on virus concentrations	2.5

 Table 1 Definitions of the parameters and constants with their values [14]



Fig. 1 Uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells decrease quickly like a straight line (*upper one*) and free virus particles increase (*lower one*) when no drugs are administered as a treatment measure



Fig. 2 Uninfected $CD4^+T$ cells are increasing dramatically (*upper one*) and free virus particles are decreasing to zero (*lower one*) when some antiretroviral drugs are administered as a treatment



Fig. 3 Optimal state trajectories and optimal immunotherapeutic rates without state constraint

Now we solve the problem for the optimality systems when immunotherapy is effective as "immune-boosting" (i.e. $u_1 \in [0, 0.02]$) and "viral-suppressing drugs" (i.e., $u_2 \in [0, 0.9]$) during the whole treatment period. We solve the optimality systems numerically by using the known nonlinear optimal control solver "ICLOCS – version 0.1b" [10]. We first solve our model in the absence of state constraint. For a better comparison, we take all initial values and parameters same as in [14] with a fixed time interval [0, 50] and the results obtained in this case are presented in Fig. 3. Now, we turn to the case of state-constrained model. We take the upper bound of virus concentrations, i.e., $\tilde{V} = 2.5$ and all other values are same as before. The numerical simulation of this run is presented in Fig. 4. From a brief overview on the comparison of Figs. 3 and 4, we can see that the virus concentration in Fig. 3 is increasing almost after 7 days of the therapy administration until the end of final time, whereas our state-constrained model in Fig. 4 shows that this increasing tendency of virus concentration can be halted at a certain upper bound during the whole therapeutic process.

5 Conclusions

Immunotherapy is one of the most effective treatment strategies in the absence of effective HIV vaccine until today. Antiretroviral therapy (ART) or highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) aims to increase the internal immunity of HIV-positive people so that the body itself can fight against the virus. In this paper, we study a nonlinear mathematical model of HIV immunology, and a numerical



Fig. 4 Optimal state trajectories and optimal immunotherapeutic rates with state constraint

solution of the model for the optimal immunotherapy of antiretroviral treatment with a modification by introducing state constraint is presented. The numerical results showing a better immunotherapeutic strategy for state-constrained case are illustrated with simulations. Despite the challenge of analytical validations, this result may be of help in designing the combined antiretroviral therapy in such an efficient manner as to obtain maximum benefits from the immunotherapeutic treatment of HIV infections.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to extend their cordial thanks to the reviewers for the careful reading of this manuscript and their helpful comments which incorporate us to improve this revised manuscript. The partial financial support by the Ministry of Science and Technology, The people's Republic of Bangladesh with the ref. no.- 39.009.002.01.00.053.2014-2015/EAS-225 is also greatly acknowledged.

References

- 1. Agarwal, M., Verma, V.: Modeling and analysis of the spread of an infectious disease cholera with environmental fluctuations. AAM Int. J. **7**(1), 406–425 (2012)
- 2. Biswas, M.H.A.: Necessary conditions for optimal control problems with and without state constraints: a comparative study. WSEAS Trans. Syst. Control **6**(6), 217–228 (2011)
- 3. Biswas, M.H.A.: AIDS epidemic worldwide and the millennium development strategies: a light for lives. HIV AIDS Rev. **11**(4), 87–94 (2012)

- 4. Biswas, M.H.A.: Optimal chemotherapeutic strategy for HIV infections- state constrained case. In: Proceedings of the 1st PhD Students' Conference in Electrical and Computer Engineering organized by the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, 28–29 June, 2012
- Biswas, M.H.A.: Necessary conditions for optimal control problems with state constraints: theory and applications. Ph.D. Thesis, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Portugal, 2013
- 6. Biswas, M.H.A.: On the evolution of AIDS/HIV treatment: an optimal control approach. Curr. HIV Res. **12**(1), 1–12 (2014)
- Biswas, M.H.A.: On the immunotherapy of HIV infections via optimal control with constraint. In: Proceedings of the 18th International Mathematics Conference 2013 jointly organized by Bangladesh Mathematical Society and Independent University Bangladesh, Dhaka, pp. 51–54, 20–22 March, 2014
- Biswas, M.H.A.: Optimal control of Nipah virus (NiV) infections: a Bangladesh scenario. J. Pure Appl. Math. Adv. Appl. 12(1), 77–104 (2014)
- 9. Biswas, M.H.A., Paiva, L.T., de Pinho, M.D.R.: A SEIR model for control of infectious diseases with constraints. Math. Biosci. Eng. 11(4), 761–784 (2014)
- Falugi, P., Kerrigan, E., van Wyk, E.: Imperial College London Optimal Control Software User Guide (ICLOCS), Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Imperial College London, London, England, 2010
- Fleming, W.H., Rishel, R.W.: Deterministic and Stochastic Optimal Control. Applications of Mathematics, vol. 1. Springer, New York (1975)
- Galbraith, G.N., Vinter, R.B.: Lipschitz continuity of optimal controls for state constrained problems. SIAM J. Control Optim. 42, 1727–1744 (2003)
- 13. Garcia, F.: Functional cure of HIV infection: the role of immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. **4**(3), 245–248 (2012)
- Joshi, H.R.: Optimal control of an HIV immunology model. Optim. Control Appl. Methods 23(4), 199–213 (2002)
- 15. Kirschner, D., Webb, G.F.: Immunotherapy of HIV-1 infection. J. Biol. Syst. 6(1), 71-83 (1998)
- Naidu, D.S., Fernando, T., Fister, K.R.: Optimal control in diabetes. Optim. Control Appl. Methods 32, 181–184 (2011)
- Perelson, A.S., Kirschner, D.E., Boer, R.D.: Dynamics of HIV infection of CD4⁺T cells. Math. Biosci. 114, 81–125 (1993)
- Persaud, D.: Baby 'cured' of HIV with triple-drug therapy. In: Proceedings of the 20th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI 2013), Atlanta, 3–6 March, 2013
- 19. Pontryagin, L.S., Boltyanskii, V.G., Gamkrelidze, R.V., Mischenko, E.F.: The Mathematical Theory of Optimal Processes. Wiley, New York (1962)
- Rial, J.A., Pielke Sr., R., Beniston, M., Claussen, M., Canadell, J., Cox, P., Held, H., Noblet-Ducoudré, N.D., Prinn, R., Reynolds, J.F., Salas, J.D.: Nonlinearities, feedbacks and critical thresholds within the Earth's climate system. Clim. Chang. 65, 11–38 (2004)
- Shvartsman, I.A., Vinter, R.B.: Regularity properties of optimal controls for problems with time-varying state and control constraints. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 65, 448– 474 (2006)
- 22. Vinter, R.B.: Optimal Control. Birkhäuser, Boston (2000)

Analysis of Difference Approximations to Delay Pseudo-Parabolic Equations

Gabil M. Amiraliyev, Mustafa Kudu, and Ilhame Amirali

Abstract This work deals with the one-dimensional initial-boundary Sobolev or pseudo-parabolic problem with delay. For solving this problem numerically, we construct fourth-order difference-differential scheme and obtain the error estimate for its solution. Further, for the time variable, we use the appropriate Runge–Kutta method for the realization of our differential-difference problem. Numerical results supporting the theory are presented.

Keywords Sobolev equation • Delay difference scheme • Error estimate

Mathematics Subject Classification: 65M15, 65M20, 65L05, 65L70

1 Introduction

We consider the initial-boundary value problem for pseudo-parabolic differential equation with delay in the domain $\overline{Q} = \overline{\Omega} \times [0, T]$; $\overline{\Omega} = [0, l]$, $Q = \Omega \times (0, T]$, $\Omega = (0, l)$:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} - a(t)\frac{\partial^3 u(x,t)}{s\partial t\partial x^2} = b(t)\frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} + c(t)\frac{\partial^2 u(x,t-r)}{\partial x^2} + d(t)u(x,t) + f(x,t), \ (x,t) \in Q,$$
(1)

$$u(x,t) = \varphi(x,t), (x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} x[-r,0], \qquad (2)$$

G.M. Amiraliyev (🖂) • M. Kudu

I. Amirali

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Art and Science, Düzce University, Düzce, Turkey

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Art and Science, Erzincan University, Erzincan, Turkey e-mail: gabilamirali@yahoo.com

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_16

$$u(0,t) = u(l,t) = 0, \ t \in (0,T],$$
(3)

where $a > \alpha > 0, b, c, d, f$ and φ are sufficiently smooth functions satisfying certain regularity conditions to be specified and r > 0 represents the delay parameter. Equations of this type arise in many areas of mechanics and physics. They are used to study heat conduction [1], homogeneous fluid flow in fissured rocks [2], shear in second-order fluids [3, 4], and other physical models. The important characteristic of these models is that they express the conservation of a certain quantity (mass, momentum, heat, etc.) in any sub-domain. For a discussion of existence and uniqueness results of pseudo-parabolic equations, see [5, 6, 8, 23]. Various finite difference schemes have been constructed to treat such problems [9– 12, 20]. For example, in [13] two difference approximation schemes to a nonlinear pseudo-parabolic equation are developed. Each of these schemes possesses a unique solution which can be obtained by an iterative procedure. Further in [14] two difference streamline diffusion schemes for solving linear Sobolev equations with convection-dominated term are given. We can see other numerical methods of this type of equations in [15] (see also the references cited in them). In [17] a Crank-Nicolson–Galerkin approximation with extrapolated coefficients is presented for three cases for the nonlinear Sobolev equation along with a conjugate gradient iterative procedure which can be used efficiently to solve the different linear systems of algebraic equations arising at each step from the Galerkin method. In [28] the author studies a finite volume element approximation of pseudo-parabolic equations in three spatial dimensions. We also note that various approximate methods for delay parabolic equations were investigated in [3, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24-27]. In this study, we use the method of lines for the discretization in space variable for the problem (1), (2), and (3). The method of lines is a general technique for solving partial differential equations by typically using finite difference relationships for the spatial derivatives or the time derivative. Our aim is to get a fourth-order accurate difference-differential scheme and to establish the error estimate for its solution. Numerical results are also given at the end to demonstrate the efficiency of the method.

2 Construction of the Scheme

On the $\overline{\Omega}$, we introduce the uniform mesh

$$\omega_h = \{x_i = ih, i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1, h = l/N\}$$

and denote $g_{\overline{x}x,i} = (g_{i+1} - 2g_i + g_{i-1})/h^2$ for any mesh function g_i .

To construct the difference scheme, we will use the following relation which is valid for any $g(x) \in C^6(\overline{\Omega})$:

$$\left[g''(x_{i+1}) + 10g''(x_i) + g''(x_{i-1})\right]/12 = g_{\bar{x}x,i} + \overline{R}_i,\tag{4}$$

where

$$\overline{R}_i = g^{(4)}(\xi_i) h^4 / 240, \quad \xi_i \in (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1}).$$

Let $x = x_i$ in (1)

$$\frac{\partial u\left(x_{i},t\right)}{\partial t} - a(t)\frac{\partial^{3}u\left(x_{i},t\right)}{\partial t\partial x^{2}} = b(t)\frac{\partial^{2}u\left(x_{i},t\right)}{\partial x^{2}} + c(t)\frac{\partial^{2}u\left(x_{i},t-r\right)}{\partial x^{2}} + d(t)u\left(x_{i},t\right) + f\left(x_{i},t\right), \ x_{i} \in \omega_{h}, \ t \in (0,T].$$
(5)

Using formula (4) in (5), we obtain

$$\left[u_{i+1}'(t) + 10u_{i}'(t) + u_{i-1}'(t) \right] / 12 - a(t)u_{\bar{x}x,i}'(t) = b(t)u_{\bar{x}x,i}(t) + c(t)u_{\bar{x}x,i}(t-r) + d(t) \left[u_{i+1}(t) + 10u_{i}(t) + u_{i-1}(t) \right] / 12 + \tilde{f}_{i}(t) + R_{i}(t), \ i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1,$$
(6)

$$u_i(t) = \varphi_i(t),\tag{7}$$

$$u_0(t) = u_N(t) = 0, (8)$$

where

$$\tilde{f}_i(t) = [f_{i+1}(t) + 10f_i(t) + f_{i-1}(t)]/12,$$

$$R_i(t) = \frac{h^4}{240} \left[a(t) \frac{\partial^7 u(\xi_i, t)}{\partial t \partial x^6} + b(t) \frac{\partial^6 u(\xi_i, t)}{\partial x^6} + c(t) \frac{\partial^6 u(\xi_i, t-r)}{\partial x^6} \right], \quad \xi_i \in (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1}).$$

Taking into account the following relations

$$\left[u_{i+1}'(t) + 10u_{i}'(t) + u_{i-1}'(t)\right]/12 = u_{i}'(t) + u_{\overline{x}x,i}'(t)h^{2}/12,$$
$$d(t) \left[u_{i+1}(t) + 10u_{i}(t) + u_{i-1}(t)\right]/12 = d(t)u_{i}(t) + d(t)u_{\overline{x}x,i}(t)h^{2}/12,$$

and neglecting the remainder term R_i in (6), we propose the following differencedifferential scheme for approximating (1), (2), and (3):

$$y'_{i}(t) - (a(t) - h^{2}/12) y'_{\bar{x}x,i}(t) = (b(t) + d(t)h^{2}/12) y_{\bar{x}x,i}(t) + c(t)y_{\bar{x}x,i}(t-r) + d(t)y_{i}(t) + \tilde{f}_{i}(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1, \quad t \in (0, T],$$
(9)

$$y_i(t) = \varphi_i(t), \quad i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, N, \quad t \in (0, T],$$
 (10)

$$y_0(t) = y_N(t) = 0, \quad t \in (0, T].$$
 (11)

3 The Error Estimate and Convergence

For the error function $z_i(t) = y_i(t) - u_i(t)$, from (6), (7), (8), (9), (10), and (11), we have the following difference-differential problem:

$$z'_{i}(t) - (a(t) - h^{2}/12) z'_{\overline{x}x,i}(t) = (b(t) + d(t)h^{2}/12) z_{\overline{x}x,i}(t) + c(t)z_{\overline{x}x,i}(t-r) + d(t)z_{i}(t) - R_{i}(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1,$$
(12)

$$z_i(t) = 0, \quad t \in (0, T],$$
 (13)

$$z_0(t) = z_N(t) = 0, \quad t \in (0, T].$$
 (14)

Theorem 3.1. Let the derivatives $\frac{\partial^7 u}{\partial t \partial x^6}$, $\frac{\partial^6 u}{\partial x^6}$ be bounded on the \overline{Q} and $\alpha - h^2/12 \ge \alpha_* > 0$. Then the error of the problem (9), (10), and (11) satisfies

$$|y_i(t) - u_i(t)| \le Ch^4, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, N, \quad t \in (0, T],$$
 (15)

where *C* is a constant which is independent of *h*.

Proof. Let $Z(t) = (z_1(t), z_2(t), ..., z_{N-1}(t))^T$. Then Eqs. (12), (13), and (14) can be expressed in vector form as

$$Z'(t) + (a(t)-h^{2}/2)MZ'(t) = -(b(t)+d(t)h^{2}/2)MZ(t)-c(t)MZ(t-r) +d(t)Z(t)-R(t)$$
(13)

$$Z(0) = 0,$$
 (17)

where

$$R(t) = (R_1(t), R_2(t), \dots, R_{N-1}(t))^T, \quad M = \frac{1}{h^2} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \dots & \dots & -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The matrix *M* can be diagonalized as [7, 16]:

$$M = B^{-1}$$
diagonal $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_{N-1}) B$

with

$$B = B^{-1} = (b_{ik})_{i,k=1}^{N-1} = \left((-1)^{i+k} \sqrt{2/N} \sin\left(\pi i k/N\right) \right)_{i,k=1}^{N-1},$$

Analysis of Difference Approximations to Delay Pseudo-Parabolic Equations

$$\lambda_i = \frac{4}{h^2} \cos^2\left(\frac{\pi i}{2N}\right), \quad i = 1, \dots, N-1.$$

Multiplying (16) on the left by *B* and denoting

$$BZ(t) = \Psi(t) = (\psi_1(t), \psi_2(t), \dots, \psi_{N-1}(t))^T,$$
$$BR(t) = \Phi(t) = (\phi_1(t), \phi_2(t), \dots, \phi_{N-1}(t))^T.$$

Equation (16) turning into the decomposed system as:

$$\psi'_{s}(t) + (a(t) - h^{2}/12)\lambda_{s}\psi'_{s}(t) = -(b(t) + d(t)h^{2}/12)\lambda_{s}\psi_{s}(t)$$
$$-c(t)\lambda_{s}\psi_{s}(t - r) + d(t)\psi_{s}(t) + \phi_{s}(t), \quad s = 1, 2, \dots, N-1.$$

Therefore problems (16) and (17) reduce to

$$\psi'_{s}(t) + A_{s}(t)\psi_{s}(t) + B_{s}(t)\psi_{s}(t-r) = g_{s}(t),$$
(18)

$$\psi_s(0) = 0, \quad s = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$$
 (19)

with

$$A_{s}(t) = \frac{\left(b(t) + d(t)h^{2}/12\right)\lambda_{s} - d(t)}{1 + \lambda_{s}\left(a(t) - h^{2}/12\right)}, \quad B_{s}(t) = \frac{c(t)\lambda_{s}}{1 + \lambda_{s}\left(a(t) - h^{2}/12\right)},$$
$$g_{s}(t) = \frac{\phi_{s}(t)}{1 + \lambda_{s}\left(a(t) - h^{2}/12\right)}.$$

It is not hard to show that the coefficients $A_s(t)$ and $B_s(t)$ are bounded independently of *h*:

$$\begin{aligned} |A_s(t)| &\leq \frac{|b(t) + d(t)h^2/12|\lambda_s}{1 + \lambda_s(a(t) - h^2/12)} + \frac{|d(t)|}{1 + \lambda_s(a(t) - h^2/12)} \\ &\leq \alpha_*^{-1} \left(\|b\|_{\infty} + \|d\|_{\infty} h^2/12 \right) \lambda_s + \|d\|_{\infty} / (1 + \lambda_s \alpha_*) \end{aligned}$$

Since $h \leq \frac{l}{2}$ and $\lambda_s \geq \lambda_1 = \frac{4}{h^2} \cos^2 \frac{\pi}{2N} \geq \frac{8}{l^2}$, then

$$|A_s(t)| \leq c_0,$$

with

$$c_0 = \alpha_*^{-1} \left(\|b\|_{\infty} + \|d\|_{\infty} l^2 / 48 \right) + \left(1 + 8\alpha_* l^{-2} \right)^{-1} \|d\|_{\infty}.$$

Similarly we have for $B_s(t)$

 $|B_s(t)| \le c_1$ with $c_1 = \alpha_*^{-1} ||c||_{\infty}$. Further, (18) and (19) can be written

$$\psi_{s}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} g_{s}(t) e^{-\int_{\tau}^{t} A_{s}(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta} \, \mathrm{d}\tau - \int_{0}^{t} B_{s}(t) \psi_{s}(\tau - r) \, e^{-\int_{\tau}^{t} A_{s}(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \quad (20)$$

Estimating that integral terms separately and taking into consideration that

$$\left| \int_{0}^{t} B_{s}(t)\psi_{s}(t)e^{\int_{\tau}^{t} A_{s}(\eta) d\eta} d\tau \right| \leq c_{1}e^{c_{0}T}\int_{0}^{t} |\psi_{s}(t-r)|d\tau$$

and
$$\left| \int_{0}^{t} g_{s}(t)e^{\int_{\tau}^{t} A_{s}(\eta) d\eta} d\tau \right| \leq e^{c_{0}T} ||g_{s}||_{1},$$

after denoting $\delta_s(t) = |\psi_s(t)|$, from inequality (20), we have

$$\delta_{s}(t) \leq C_{0} \|g_{s}\|_{1} + C_{1} \int_{0}^{t} |\delta_{s}(\tau - r)| \mathrm{d}\tau$$
(21)

with $C_0 = e^{c_0 T}$, $C_1 = c_1 e^{c_0 T}$. Using variable transformation $\tau - r = \xi$ in (21), we get

$$\delta_s(t) \le C_0 \|g_s\|_1$$
 for $0 < t \le r$

and

$$\delta_s(t) \le C_0 \|g_s\|_1 + C_1 \int_0^{t-r} |\delta_s(\xi)| d\xi \le C_0 \|g_s\|_1 + C_1 \int_0^t |\delta_s(\xi)| d\xi \text{ for } t > r.$$

From here, by virtue of Gronwall's inequality, we obtain

$$\delta_s(t) \le C_0 \|g_s\|_1 e^{C_1 t}.$$

Thereby

$$\delta_s(t) \le C \|g_s\|_1 \tag{22}$$

with constant C independently of h.

The inequality (22) in turn implies that

$$|\psi_{s}(t)| \leq C\lambda_{s}^{-1}\alpha_{*}^{-1} \|\phi_{s}\|_{1}.$$
(23)

Since

$$|\phi_s(t)| \leq \sum_{k=1}^N |b_{sk}| |R_k| \leq \sqrt{2/N} \sum_{k=1}^N |R_k| \leq \sqrt{2/N} (N-1) Ch^4 \leq \sqrt{N} Ch^4 \leq Ch^{3.5},$$

the inequality (23) leads to

$$|\psi_s(t)| \leq \alpha_*^{-1} \lambda_s^{-1} C h^{3.5}.$$

Further, from

$$z_i(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{ik} \psi_k,$$

we obtain

$$|z_{i}(t)| \leq \alpha_{*}^{-1} C h^{3.5} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{k}^{-1} |b_{ik}| \leq C h^{3.5} \sqrt{2/N} (N-1) \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} h^{2} / \left(4 \cos^{2}\left(\frac{\pi k}{2N}\right)\right)$$

$$\leq C h^{4} h^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} 1 / \left(4 \sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi (N-k)}{2N}\right)\right).$$
(24)

Taking into account the following inequality $\sin x > 2x/\pi$, $0 < x < \pi/2$, in (24), consequently we obtain

$$|z_i(t)| \le Ch^6 \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} 1 / \left(\frac{4}{\pi^2} \left(\frac{\pi (N-k)}{2N} \right)^2 \right) = Ch^6 N^2 \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \frac{1}{(N-k)^2} \le Ch^4,$$

i.e., (15) is proved.

4 Numerical Example

Consider the particular problem

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(x,t) - 2\frac{\partial^3 u}{\partial t \partial x^2}(x,t) - \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}(x,t) + e^{-1}\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}(x,t-1) + u(x,t)$$
$$= e^{-t}\sin h(x), \quad (x,t) \in [0,1] \times (0,2],$$

 $u(x,t) = 100e^{-t} (\sin h(x) - x \sin h(1)), \ (x,t) \in [0,1] \times [-1,0],$

$$u(0,t) = u(1,t) = 0, t \in (0,2].$$

(x, t)	Exact solution	R.K. approximation	Absolute error
(0.1,0.1)	-1.570197786	-1.570153231	4.455494E-5
(0.2,0.2)	-2.759469471	-2.759409134	6.033661E-5
(0.3,0.3)	-3.558895504	-3. 558807959	8.754480E-5
(0.4,0.4)	-3.976884921	-3.9766781183	1.037385E-4
(0.5,0.5)	-4.033749807	-4.033583955	1.658516E-4
(0.6,0.6)	-3.757555971	-3.75741264	1.433313E-4
(0.7,0.7)	-3.180983155	-3.180821732	1.614228E-4
(0.8,0.8)	-2.338980692	-2.338813886	1.668061E-4
(0.9,0.9)	-1.267047838	-1.266830828	2.170103E-4

Table 1 The results on [0, 1]x[0, 1]

Table 2 The results on [0, 1]x[1, 2]

(x, t)	Exact solution	R.K. approximation	Absolute error
(0.1,1.1)	-0.5776434849	-0.577438881	2.0460337E-4
(0.2,1.2)	-1.015152085	-1.014844225	3.0786018E-4
(0.3,1.3)	-1.309244489	-1.308933987	3.1050242E-4
(0.4,1.4)	-1.463014204	-1.462684133	3.3007124E-4
(0.5,1.5)	-1.483933616	-1.483571592	3.6202417E-4
(0.6,1.6)	-1.382327593	-1.381934256	3.9333711E-4
(0.7,1.7)	-1.170218303	-1.169809452	4.0885078E-4
(0.8,1.8)	-0.860462914	-0.860194326	2.6858776E-4
(0.9,1.9)	-0.466120867	-0.465889942	2.3092442E-4

The exact solution of this problem is

$$u(x,t) = 100e^{-t}(\sin h(x) - x\sin h(1)), (x,t) \in [0,1] \times [-1,0].$$

To solve this problem numerically, we use the appropriate Runge–Kutta method. The spatial and time steps are both taken to be 0.1. The values for exact and numerical solutions and appropriate pointwise errors are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

It can be observed that the obtained results are essentially in agreement with the theoretical analysis described above.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, we have designed a fourth-order accurate difference-differential scheme to solve a time-delayed pseudo-parabolic partial differential equation in one dimension. An appropriate error estimate has provided. For the realization of our differential-difference problem, we use the fourth-order Runge–Kutta method. We have implemented the present method on standard test problem. It is observed

from the results that the present method approximates the exact solution very well. The main lines for the analysis of the convergence carried out here can be used for the study of more complicated linear differential problems with second- and thirdtype boundary conditions.

References

- Chen, P.J., Gurtin, M.E.: On a theory of heat conduction involving two temperatures. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 19, 614–627 (1968)
- Barenblatt, G., Zheltov, I., Kochina, I.: Basic concepts in the theory of seepage of homogeneous liquids in fissured rocks. J. Appl. Math. Mech. 24, 1286–1303 (1960)
- Gowrisankar, S., Srinivasan, N.: A robust numerical scheme for singularly perturbed delay parabolic initial-boundary-value problems on equidistributed grids. Electron. Trans. Numer. Anal. 41, 376–395 (2014)
- 4. Yang, M.: Analysis of second order finite volume element methods for pseudo-parabolic equations in three spatial dimensions. Appl. Math. Comput. **196**, 94–104 (2008)
- 5. Bouzani, A.: Initial-boundary value problems for a class of pseudoparabolic equations with integral boundary conditions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **291**, 371–386 (2004)
- 6. Davis, P.L.: A quasilinear parabolic and related third order problem. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **49**, 327–335 (1970)
- Nemchinov, S.B.: On the finite difference method to the elliptic boundary value problems. J. Comput. Math. Phys. 2, 418–436 (1962) (in Russian)
- 8. Ting, T.W.: Certain non-steady flows of second-order fluids. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 14, 1–26 (1963)
- 9. Amiraliyev, G.M.: Difference method for the solution of one problem of the theory of dispersive waves. USSR Diff. Equat. 26, 2146–2154 (1990)
- 10. Amiraliyev, G.M., Mamedov, Y.J.: Difference schemes on the uniform mesh for a singularly perturbed pseudo-parabolic equations. Tr. J. Math. **19**, 207–222 (1995)
- Amiraliyev, G.M., Amiraliyeva, I.G.: Difference schemes for the singularly perturbed Sobolev equations. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Difference Equations, Special Functions and Applications, Munich, pp. 23–40 (2005)
- Amiraliyev, G.M., Duru, H., Amiraliyeva, I.G.: A parameter-uniform numerical method for a Sobolev problem with initial layer. Numer. Algoritm. 44, 185–203 (2007)
- Gu, H.: Characteristic finite element methods for nonlinear Sobolev equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 102, 51–62 (1999)
- 14. Ewing, R.E.: Time-stepping Galerkin methods for nonlinear Sobolev partial differential equations. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **15**, 1125–1150 (1978)
- 15. Huilgol, R.: A second order fluids of the differential type. Int. J. Nonlinear Mech. **3**, 471–482 (1968)
- 16. Samarskii, A.A.: The Theory of Difference Schemes. Marcel Dekker, New York (2001)
- Ford, W.H., Ting, T.W.: Uniform error estimates for difference approximations to nonlinear pseudo-parabolic partial differential equations. SIAM. J. Numer. Anal. 15, 155–169 (1974)
- Yulan, W.: An efficient computational method for a class of singularly perturbed delay parabolic partial differential equation. Int. J. Comput. Math. 88(16), 3496–3506 (2011)
- 19. Kaushik, A., Sharma, M.: A robust numerical approach for singularly perturbed time delayed parabolic partial differential equations. Comput. Math. Model. **23**(1), 96–106 (2012)
- Amirali, I., Amiraliyev, G.M., Cakir, M., Cimen, E.: Explicit finite difference methods for the delay pseudo-parabolic equations. Sci. World J. Article ID 497393, 7 pp. (2014). doi:10.1155/2014/497393
- Ansari, A.R., Bakr, S.A., Shishkin, G.I.: A parameter-robust finite difference method for singularly perturbed delay parabolic partial differential equations. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 205, 552–566 (2007)

- Bashier, E.B.M., Patidar, K.C.: A second-order fitted operator finite difference method for a singularly perturbed delay parabolic partial differential equation. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. 17(5), 779–794 (2011)
- Lightbourne, J.H., Rankin, S.M.: A partial functional differential equation of Sobolev type. J. Mat. Anal. Appl. 93, 328–337 (1983)
- Sunil, K., Kumar, M.: High order parameter-uniform discretization for singularly perturbed parabolic partial differential equations with time delay. Comp. Math. Appl. 68(10), 1355–1367 (2014)
- 25. Tian, H.: Asymptotic stability of numerical method for linear delay parabolic differential equations. J. Comput. Appl. Math. **56**, 1758–1765 (2008)
- 26. Gu, W.: A compact difference scheme for a class of variable coefficient quasilinear parabolic equations with delay. Abstr. Appl. Anal. Article ID 810352, 8 pp. (2014). doi:10.1155/2014/810352
- 27. Reyes, E., Rodriguez, F., Martin, J.A.: Analytic-numerical solutions of diffusion mathematical models with delays. J. Comput. Appl. Math. **56**, 743–753 (2008)
- Sun, T., Yang, D.: The finite difference streamline diffusion methods for Sobolev equations with convection-dominated term. Appl. Math. Comput. 125, 325–345 (2002)

Oscillations of Delay and Difference Equations with Variable Coefficients and Arguments

I.P. Stavroulakis

Abstract Consider the first-order linear differential equation with several deviating arguments:

$$x'(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t) x(\tau_i(t)) = 0 \left[x'(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t) x(\sigma_i(t)) = 0 \right], t \ge t_0$$

and the discrete analogue difference equation

$$\Delta x(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\tau_i(n)) = 0, n \ge 0 \left[\nabla x(n) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\sigma_i(n)) = 0, n \ge 1 \right]$$

where the functions p_i , τ_i , $\sigma_i \in C([t_0,\infty), \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\tau_i(t)$ [$\sigma_i(t)$] are retarded ($\tau_i(t) \leq t$) [advanced ($\sigma_i(t) \geq t$)] arguments, for every i = 1, 2, ..., m, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tau_i(t) = \infty$, and $(p_i(n)), 1 \leq i \leq m$ are sequences of nonnegative real numbers, $\tau_i(n)$ [$\sigma_i(n)$], $1 \leq i \leq m$ are retarded ($\tau_i(n) \leq n-1$) [advanced ($\sigma_i(n) \geq n+1$)] arguments, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_i(n) = \infty$, and Δ [∇] denotes the forward [backward] difference operator $\Delta x(n) = x(n+1)-x(n)$ [$\nabla x(n) = x(n)-x(n-1)$]. A survey on the oscillation of all solutions to these equations is presented in the case of several deviating arguments and especially when well-known oscillation conditions are not satisfied. Examples illustrating the results are given.

Keywords Oscillation • Retarded • Advanced differential equations • Difference equations

I.P. Stavroulakis (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, University of Ioannina, 451 10 Ioannina, Greece e-mail: ipstav@cc.uoi.gr

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_17

Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 34K11; 39A21; Secondary 34K06

Dedicated to the memory of George Roger Sell an excellent scientist and colleague.

1 Introduction

Consider the differential equation with several variable coefficients and arguments:

$$x'(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t) x(\tau_i(t)) = 0 \left[x'(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t) x(\sigma_i(t)) = 0 \right], t \ge t_0,$$
(1.1)

where the functions $p_i, \tau_i, \sigma_i \in C([t_0,\infty), \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\tau_i(t) [\sigma_i(t)]$ are retarded arguments $(\tau_i(t) \leq t)$ [advanced arguments $\sigma_i(t) \geq t$] for every i = 1, 2, ..., m, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tau_i(t) = \infty$, and the discrete analogue difference equation

$$\Delta x(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\tau_i(n)) = 0, n \ge 0 \left[\nabla x(n) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\sigma_i(n)) = 0, n \ge 1 \right]$$
(1.2)

where $(p_i(n))$, $1 \le i \le m$ are sequences of nonnegative real numbers, $\tau_i(n) [\sigma_i(n)]$, $1 \le i \le m$ are retarded $\tau_i(n) \le n-1$ [advanced $\sigma_i(n) \ge n+1$] arguments, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_i(n) = \infty$, and Δ [∇] denotes the forward [backward] difference operator $\Delta x(n) = x(n+1) - x(n) [\nabla x(n) = x(n) - x(n-1)].$

Let $T_0 \in [t_0, +\infty)$, $\tau(t) = \min\{\tau_i(t) : i = 1, ..., m\}$ and $\tau_{(-1)}(t) = \inf\{\tau(s) : s \ge t\}$. By a solution of the retarded Eq. (1.1), we understand a function $u \in C([t_0, +\infty); R)$, continuously differentiable on $[\tau_{(-1)}(T_0), +\infty)$ and that satisfies (1.1) for $t \ge \tau_{(-1)}(T_0)$. [Analogously for the advanced Eq. (1.1)]. Such a solution is called *oscillatory* if it has arbitrarily large zeros, and otherwise it is called *nonoscillatory*.

By a *solution* of the retarded difference Eq. (1.2), we mean a sequence of real numbers $(x(n))_{n \ge -w}$ which satisfies (1.2) for all $n \ge 0$. Here, $w = -\min_{\substack{n \ge 0 \\ 1 \le l \le m}} \tau_l(n)$.

It is clear that, for each choice of real numbers c_{-w} , c_{-w+1} , ..., c_{-1} , c_0 , there exists a unique solution $(x(n))_{n\geq -w}$ of (1.2) which satisfies the initial conditions $x(-w) = c_{-w}$, $x(-w+1) = c_{-w+1}$, ..., $x(-1) = c_{-1}$, $x(0) = c_0$.

By a solution of the advanced difference Eq. (1.2), we mean a sequence of real numbers $(x(n))_{n>0}$ which satisfies (1.2) for all $n \ge 1$.

A solution $(x(n))_{n \ge -w}$ (or $(x(n))_{n \ge 0}$) of the difference Eq. (1.2) is called *oscillatory*, if the terms x(n) of the sequence are neither eventually positive nor eventually negative. Otherwise, the solution is said to be *nonoscillatory*.

For the general theory of these equations, the reader is referred to [1, 9, 11, 13, 14, 18, 19, 25].

In this paper we present a survey on the oscillation of all solutions to these equations in the case of several variable coefficients and arguments and when wellknown oscillation conditions are not satisfied.

2 Oscillation Criteria for Eq. (1.1)

For Eq. (1.1), the following results have been established.

In 1982, Ladas and Stavroulakis [17] (see also in 1984, Arino et al. [2]) studied the equation with several constant arguments of the form

$$x'(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t)x(t-\tau_i) = 0 \left[x'(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t)x(t+\tau_i) = 0 \right], t \ge t_0, \quad (1.1')$$

under the assumption that

$$\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{t-\tau_i/2}^t p(s)ds > 0\left[\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_t^{t+\tau_i/2} p(s)ds > 0\right], i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

and proved that each one of the following conditions

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau_i}^t p_i(s)ds > \frac{1}{e} \left[\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+\tau_i} p_i(s)ds > \frac{1}{e} \right] \text{ for some } i, i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1)

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(s) ds > \frac{1}{e} \left[\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{t+\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(s) ds > \frac{1}{e} \right],$$

where $\tau = \min\{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_m\},$ (2.2)

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau_{j}}^{t} p_{i}(s) ds\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{m}} > \frac{1}{e} \left[\left[\prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{t+\tau_{j}} p_{i}(s) ds\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{m}} > \frac{1}{e}\right]$$
(2.3)

or

$$\frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau_i}^{t} p_i(s) ds \right) + \frac{2}{m} \sum_{\substack{i < j \\ i,j=1}}^{m} \left[\left(\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau_j}^{t} p_i(s) ds \right) \left(\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t-\tau_i}^{t} p_i(s) ds \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} > \frac{1}{e}$$
(2.4)

$$\left[\frac{1}{m}\sum_{i=1}^{m}\left(\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{t}^{t+\tau_{i}}p_{i}(s)ds\right) + \frac{2}{m}\sum_{\substack{i< j\\i,j=1}}^{m}\left[\left(\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{t}^{t+\tau_{j}}p_{i}(s)ds\right)\left(\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{t}^{t+\tau_{j}}p_{i}(s)ds\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] > \frac{1}{e} \quad (2.4)$$

implies that all solutions of Eq. (1.1') oscillate. Later in 1996, Li [20] proved that the same conclusion holds if

$$\liminf_{t\to\infty}\sum_{i=1}^m \int_{t-\tau_i}^t p_i(s)ds > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}}.$$
(2.5)

In 1984, Hunt and Yorke [15] considered the equation with variable coefficients of the form

$$x'(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(t)x(t - \tau_i(t)) = 0, t \ge t_0,$$
(1.1")

under the assumption that there is a uniform upper bound τ_0 on the τ_i 's and proved that if

$$\liminf_{t\to\infty}\sum_{i=1}^m\tau_i(t)p_i(t)>\frac{1}{\mathrm{e}}$$

then all solutions of Eq. (1.1'') oscillate.

In 1984, Fukagai and Kusano [10], for Eq. (1.1), established the following theorem.

Theorem 2.1 ([10], Theorem 1'). Consider Eq. (1.1) and assume that there is a continuous non-decreasing function $\tau^*(t)$ [$\sigma_*(t)$] such that $\tau_i(t) \leq \tau^*(t) \leq t$ [$t \leq \sigma_*(t) \leq \sigma_i(t)$] for $t \geq t_0$, $1 \leq i \leq m$. If

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\tau^*(t)}^t \sum_{i=1}^m p_i(s) ds > \frac{1}{e} \left[\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{\sigma_*(t)} \sum_{i=1}^m p_i(s) ds > \frac{1}{e} \right]$$
(2.6)

then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate. If, on the other hand, there exists a continuous non-decreasing function $\tau_*(t)$ [$\sigma^*(t)$] such that $\tau_*(t) \leq \tau_i(t)$ [$\sigma_i(t) \leq \sigma^*(t)$] for $t \geq t_0$, $1 \leq i \leq m$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tau_*(t) = \infty$ and

$$\int_{\tau_*(t)}^t \sum_{i=1}^m p_i(s) ds \le \frac{1}{e} \left[\int_t^{\sigma^*(t)} \sum_{i=1}^m p_i(s) ds \le \frac{1}{e} \right] \text{ for all sufficiently large } t,$$

then Eq. (1.1) has a nonoscillatory solution.

In 2000, Grammatikopoulos et al. [12] improved the above results, in the case of the retarded Eq. (1.1), as follows:

Theorem 2.2 ([12], Theorems 2.6). Assume that the functions τ_i are nondecreasing for all $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$:

$$\int_0^\infty \left| p_i(t) - p_j(t) \right| dt < +\infty, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, m$$

and

$$\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{\tau_i(t)}^t p_i(s)ds > 0, \quad i=1,\ldots,m.$$

If

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\tau_i(t)}^t p_i(s) ds \right) > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}},$$
(2.7)

then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate.

Observe that all the above-mentioned oscillation conditions (2.1)–(2.7) involve lim inf only. Moreover, it is an interesting problem to investigate Eq. (1.1) with non-monotone arguments and derive sufficient oscillation conditions, involving lim sup, which is the main objective in the following.

Theorem 2.3 ([16]). Assume that there exist non-decreasing functions $\mu_i \in C([t_0, +\infty))$ such that

$$\tau_i(t) \le \mu_i(t) \le t \quad (i = 1, \dots, m), \tag{2.8}$$

and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \left[\prod_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\mu_{j}(t)}^{t} p_{i}(s) \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{\mu_{i}(t)} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_{i}(\xi) \times \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(\xi)}^{\xi} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_{i}(u) du\right) d\xi \right) ds \right]^{\frac{1}{m}} > \frac{1}{m^{m}}.$$
(2.9)

Then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate.

In the case of monotone arguments, we have the following.

Theorem 2.4 ([16]). Let τ_i be non-decreasing functions and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \left[\prod_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\tau_{j}(t)}^{t} p_{i}(s) \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{\tau_{i}(t)} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_{i}(\xi) \right) \times \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(\xi)}^{\xi} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_{i}(u) du d\xi d\xi ds\right]^{\frac{1}{m}} > \frac{1}{m^{m}}.$$
(2.10)

Then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate.

Corollary 2.1 ([16]). Let τ_i be non-decreasing functions and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\tau_j(t)}^{t} p_i(s) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} > \frac{1}{m^m},$$
(2.11)

Then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate.

Corollary 2.2 ([16]). Let τ_i be non-decreasing functions, $p_i(t) \ge p(t)$ (i = 1, ..., m) and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \int_{\tau_{j}(t)}^{t} p(s) \, ds > \frac{1}{m^{m}}, \tag{2.12}$$

Then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) *oscillate.*
Corollary 2.3 ([16]). Let τ_i be non-decreasing functions, $p_i(t) \ge p = \text{const}$ and

$$p^{m} \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{m} (t - \tau_{i}(t)) > \frac{1}{m^{m}},$$
 (2.13)

Then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) oscillate.

Remark 2.1. It should be pointed out that the condition (2.9) of Theorem 2.3 presents for the first time sufficient conditions (in terms of lim sup) for the oscillation of all solutions to Eq. (1.1) with several non-monotone arguments. They are also independent and essentially improve all the related oscillation conditions in the literature.

The following examples illustrate the significance of the results.

Example 2.1 (cf. [4, 16, 22]). We consider a generalization of an example presented in [4], where the equation

$$x'(t) + \frac{1}{e}x(\tau(t)) = 0, t \ge 0,$$

with the retarded argument

$$\tau(t) := \begin{cases} t-1, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ -3t + (12n+3), & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2], \\ 5t - (12n+13), & t \in [3n+2, 3n+3]. \end{cases}$$

was studied. Here we discuss the more general equation:

$$x'(t) + px(\tau(t)) = 0, t \ge 0, p > 0,$$
(2.14)

and illustrate how our methodology can be utilized to prove the existence of oscillatory solutions for some range of the parameter p. In this case, as in [4], one may choose the function

$$\sigma(t) = \begin{cases} t-1, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ 3n, & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2.6], \\ 5t-(12n+13), & t \in [3n+2.6, 3n+3]. \end{cases}$$

Now note that, since $\tau(t) \leq t - 1$,

$$\int_{\tau(t)}^t p du \ge \int_{t-1}^t p du = p.$$

The choice of $t_n = 3n + 3$ gives

$$C = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \int_{\sigma(t)}^{t} p \exp\left(\int_{\tau(s)}^{\sigma(t)} p \exp\left(\int_{\tau(\xi)}^{\xi} p du\right) d\xi\right) ds$$

$$\geq \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p \exp\left(\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+2} p \exp(p) d\xi\right) ds = \frac{1}{5} \left(e^{5pe^{p}} - 1\right) e^{-p}.$$

The inequality

$$\frac{1}{5} \left(e^{5 p e^{p}} - 1 \right) e^{-p} > 1$$

is satisfied for (the numbers that follow are rounded to the third decimal place unless exact) $p \in [0.303, 0.358]$. Thus, for $p \in [0.303, 0.358]$, the condition (2.10) of Corollary 2.1 is satisfied and therefore all solutions to the above Eq. (2.14) oscillate. Observe, however, that when $p \in [0.303, 0.358]$ in (2.14), we find

$$A = \limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{\sigma(t)}^{t} p ds = p \cdot (2.6) < 1$$
$$\mathfrak{a} := \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\tau(t)}^{t} p ds = p < \frac{1}{e}$$

and

$$\int_{\sigma(3n+3)}^{3n+3} p \exp\left\{\int_{\tau(s)}^{\sigma(3n+3)} pd\xi\right\} ds = \int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p \exp\left\{\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+2} pd\xi\right\} ds$$
$$= \frac{1}{5}(e^{5p} - 1) < 1.$$

That is, none of the oscillation conditions (2.1)-(2.6) is satisfied.

Remark 2.2 ([16]). It is obvious that if for some $i_0 \in \{1, ..., m\}$ all solutions of the equation

$$x'(t) + p_{i_0}(t) x(\tau_{i_0}(t)) = 0$$

oscillate, then all solutions of Eq. (1.1) also oscillate.

Example 2.2 ([16]). Let $p, \Delta_1, \Delta_2 \in (0, +\infty)$ and consider the sequences $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ such that $t_k \uparrow +\infty$ for $k \uparrow +\infty$, $t_k + 2\Delta < t_{k+1}$ (k = 1, 2, ...), where $\Delta = \max{\{\Delta_i, i = 1, 2\}}$. Choose p, Δ_1 and Δ_2 such that

$$p^2 \Delta_1 \Delta_2 > \frac{1}{4} \tag{2.15}$$

and

$$p \Delta_i < 1 \quad (i = 1, 2).$$
 (2.16)

Let p(t) = p for $t \in [t_k, t_k + \Delta]$ (k = 1, 2, ...) and p(t) = 0 for $t \in R_+ \setminus \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} [t_k, t_k + \Delta]$.

According to (2.15) it is obvious that the condition (2.13) is fulfilled, where m = 2 and $\tau_i(t) = t - \Delta_i$ (i = 1, 2) a.e. and therefore all solutions to Eq. (1.1) are oscillatory. However, for the equations

$$x'(t) + p(t)x(t - \Delta_i) = 0$$
 (i = 1, 2)

by (2.16), we have

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t-\Delta_i}^t p(s) \, ds < 1 \quad (i = 1, 2)$$

and

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t-\Delta_i}^t p(s) \, ds = 0 \quad (i = 1, 2).$$

Remark 2.4 ([16]). In the above-mentioned Example 2.2, by a solution, we mean an absolutely continuous function which satisfies the corresponding equation almost everywhere.

Example 2.3 ([16]). Consider the equation:

$$x'(t) + p_1 x(\tau_1(t)) + p_2 x(\tau_2(t)) = 0, \ t \ge 0, \ p_1, p_2 > 0,$$
(2.17)

where

$$\tau_1(t) = \begin{cases} t-1, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ -3t + (12n+3), & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2], \\ 5t - (12n+13), & t \in [3n+2, 3n+3], \end{cases}$$
$$\tau_2(t) = \begin{cases} t-2, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ -t+6n, & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2], \\ 3t - (6n+8), & t \in [3n+2, 3n+3]. \end{cases}$$

We can take

$$\sigma_{1}(t) = \begin{cases} t-1, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ 3n, & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2.6], \\ 5t-(12n+13), & t \in [3n+2.6, 3n+3], \end{cases}$$
$$\sigma_{2}(t) = \begin{cases} t-2, & t \in [3n, 3n+1], \\ 3n-1, & t \in [3n+1, 3n+2.\bar{3}], \\ 3t-(6n+8), & t \in [3n+2.\bar{3}, 3n+3]. \end{cases}$$

Note that, since $\tau_1(t) \le t - 1$ and $\tau_2(t) \le t - 2$, we have

$$\int_{\tau_1(t)}^t du \ge \int_{t-1}^t du = 1, \quad \int_{\tau_2(t)}^t du \ge \int_{t-2}^t du = 2.$$

Set $P = p_1 \exp(p_1 + p_2) + p_2 \exp(2p_1 + 2p_2)$. The choice of $t_n = 3n + 3$ gives

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} \int_{\sigma_{j}(t)}^{t} p_{i} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{\sigma_{i}(t)} \sum_{i=1}^{2} p_{i} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(\xi)}^{\xi} (p_{1} + p_{2})du\right) d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\geq \lim_{n \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} \int_{\sigma_{j}(3n+3)}^{3n+3} p_{i} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{\sigma_{i}(3n+3)} \sum_{i=1}^{2} p_{i} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(\xi)}^{\xi} (p_{1} + p_{2})du\right) d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\geq \lim_{n \to +\infty} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \left(\int_{\sigma_{j}(3n+3)}^{3n+3} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\int_{\sigma_{j}(3n+3)}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{2}(s)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left(\int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{2}(s)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+3} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{i}(s)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{\tau_{2}(s)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left(\int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left(\int_{3n+2}^{3n+2} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+2} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{-3s+(12n+3)}^{3n+2} P d\xi\right) ds + \int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{1} \exp\left(\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{3n+1}^{3n+2} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{-3s+(12n+3)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds + \int_{3n+2}^{3n+3} p_{2} \exp\left(\int_{5s-(12n+13)}^{3n+1} P d\xi\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= (D(p_{1}, p_{2}). \end{split}$$

Let $p_1 = 0.1$, then, by direct computation, we get

$$D>\frac{1}{4},$$

if $p_2 \ge 0.158$. That is, when $p_1 = 0.1$ and $p_2 \ge 0.158$ in Eq. (2.17), the condition (2.9) of Theorem 2.3 is satisfied and therefore all solutions to this equation oscillate.

Note that since the delays are not monotone, Theorem 2.2 cannot be applied to this example. We now compare our result with Theorem 2.1. Note that

 $\tau_1(t), \tau_2(t) \leq \sigma_1(t)$, forevery t > 0.

The choice $p_1 = 0.1, p_2 = 0.158$ gives

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\sigma_1(t)}^t (p_1 + p_2) ds = p_1 + p_2 = 0.258 < \frac{1}{e},$$

that is, the condition (2.6) is not satisfied.

3 Oscillation Criteria for Eq. (1.2)

In this section we study the difference equation with several variable arguments

$$\Delta x(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\tau_i(n)) = 0 \left[\nabla x(n) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(\sigma_i(n)) = 0 \right]$$
(1.2)

If $\tau_i(n) = n - k_i$ and $\sigma_i(n) = n + k_i$ where $k_i > 0, 1 \le i \le m$, then Eq. (1.2) reduces to the difference equation with several constant arguments of the form

$$\Delta x(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(n-k_i) = 0 \left[\nabla x(n) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) x(n+k_i) = 0 \right]$$
(1.2')

In 1989, Erbe and Zhang [8], in 1999, Tang and Yu [23] and in 2001 Tang and Zhang [24] proved that either one of the following conditions

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\liminf_{n \to \infty} p_i(n) \right) \frac{(k_i + 1)^{k_i + 1}}{(k_i)^{k_i}} > 1,$$
(3.1)

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{k_i + 1}{k_i} \right)^{k_i + 1} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+k_i} p_i(j) > 1,$$
(3.2)

or

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{n+k_i} p_i(j) > 1,$$
(3.3)

implies that all solutions of the retarded difference Eq. (1.2)' oscillate, while in 2002, Li and Zhu [21] proved that if

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{k_i + 1}{k_i} \right)^{k_i + 1} \sum_{j=n-k_i}^{n-1} p_i(j) > 1,$$
(3.4)

then all solutions of the advanced difference Eq. (1.2)' oscillate. Set

$$\tau(n) = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \tau_i(n), \ n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{3.5}$$

$$\sigma(n) = \min_{1 \le i \le m} \sigma_i(n), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.6)

In 2005, Yan et al. [26] and, in 2006, Berezansky and Braverman [3] proved that if

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(j) \left(\frac{n - \tau_i(j) + 1}{n - \tau_i(j)} \right)^{n - \tau_i(j) + 1} > 1,$$
(3.7)

or

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i(n) > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} p_i(j) > \frac{1}{e},$$
(3.8)

then all solutions of the retarded difference Eq. (1.2) oscillate.

In 2014, Chatzarakis et al. [5] proved that if

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) > 1 \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) > 1 \right],$$
(3.9)

or $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^m p_i(n) > 0$ and

Oscillations of Delay and Difference Equations

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau_i(n)}^{n-1} p_i(j) > \frac{1}{e} \left[\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n+1}^{\sigma_i(n)} p_i(j) > \frac{1}{e} \right], \quad (3.10)$$

then all solutions of Eq. (1.2) oscillate.

Also in 2014, Chatzarakis et al. [6] established the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1 (see [6], Theorems 2.1 [3.1]). Assume that the sequences $(\tau_i(n))$ $[(\sigma_i(n))], 1 \le i \le m$ are increasing and

$$\alpha = \min\left\{\alpha_i : 1 \le i \le m\right\},\tag{3.11}$$

where

$$\alpha_{i} = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=\tau_{i}(n)}^{n-1} p_{i}(j) \left[\alpha_{i} = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n+1}^{\sigma_{i}(n)} p_{i}(j) \right].$$
(3.12)

If $0 < \alpha \leq 1/e$, and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) \right] > 1 - \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \right)^2, \quad (3.13)$$

then all solutions of (1.2) oscillate.

If, additionally,

$$p_i(n) \ge 1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \text{ for all largen}, \quad (1 \le i \le m)$$
 (3.14)

and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) \right] > 1 - \alpha \left[\frac{1}{3\sqrt{1-\alpha} + \alpha - 2} - 1 \right],$$

then all solutions of (1.2) oscillate.

In 2015 the above result was improved by Chatzarakis et al. [7] as follows.

Theorem 3.2 ([7]). Assume that the sequences $(\tau_i(n))$ $[(\sigma_i(n))]$, $1 \le i \le m$ are increasing; $(\tau(n))$ $[(\sigma(n))]$ is defined by (3.5) [(3.6)] and define α by (3.11). If $0 < \alpha \le 1/e$, and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) \right] > 1 - \frac{1 - \alpha - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2},$$
(3.16)

then all solutions of (1.2) oscillate.

If, additionally,

$$p_i(n) \ge \frac{\alpha}{2}$$
 for all largen, $(1 \le i \le m)$ (3.17)

and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) \right] > 1 - \left[2 \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2 + \alpha} - \alpha \right],$$
(3.18)

then all solutions of (1.2) oscillate.

Remark 3.1 ([7]). It is easy to see that

$$2\frac{1-\sqrt{1-2\alpha-\alpha^2}}{2+\alpha}-\alpha > \frac{1-\alpha-\sqrt{1-2\alpha-\alpha^2}}{2}$$
$$> \alpha \left[\frac{1}{3\sqrt{1-\alpha}+\alpha-2}-1\right] > \left(1-\sqrt{1-\alpha}\right)^2.$$

Therefore, when (3.17) holds, then the condition (3.18) is weaker than conditions (3.16), (3.15) and (3.13).

Remark 3.2 ([7]). When $\alpha \rightarrow 0$, then all the above-mentioned conditions (3.18), (3.16), (3.15) and (3.13) reduce to

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n} p_i(j) > 1, \quad \left[\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) > 1,\right]$$

that is, to the condition (3.9). However the improvement is clear when

$$\alpha \rightarrow \frac{1}{e} \simeq 0.367879441$$

For illustrative purposes we give the values of the lower bound on the above conditions when $\alpha = 0.367879441$:

That is, the conditions (3.16) and (3.18) essentially improve (3.9), (3.13) and (3.15).

4 Examples

We illustrate the significance of the results by the following examples.

Example 4.1 ([7]). Consider the difference equation with three retarded arguments:

$$\Delta x(n) + p_1(n)x(n-1) + p_2(n)x(n-2) + p_3(n)x(n-3) = 0, \quad n \ge 0, \quad (4.1)$$

where

$$p_1(2n) = \frac{7}{100}, \ p_1(2n+1) = \frac{4}{10},$$

$$p_2(3n) = p_2(3n+1) = \frac{5}{100}, \ p_2(3n+2) = \frac{35}{100},$$

$$p_3(4n) = p_3(4n+1) = p_3(4n+2) = \frac{3}{100}, \ p_3(4n+3) = \frac{98}{1000}.$$

Here m = 3, $\tau_1(n) = n - 1$, $\tau_2(n) = n - 2$, $\tau_3(n) = n - 3$ and $\tau(n) = n - 1$. It is easy to see that

$$\alpha_1 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_1(j) = \frac{7}{100} = 0.07,$$

$$\alpha_2 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n-2}^{n-1} p_2(j) = 2 \cdot \frac{5}{100} = 0.1,$$

$$\alpha_3 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n-3}^{n-1} p_3(j) = 3 \cdot \frac{3}{100} = 0.09.$$

Thus

$$\alpha = \min \{ \alpha_i : 1 \le i \le 3 \} = \min \{ 0.07, 0.1, 0.09 \} = 0.07 < \frac{1}{e}.$$

Also,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_i(j) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_2(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_3(j) \right]$$
$$= \frac{7}{100} + \frac{4}{10} + \frac{5}{100} + \frac{35}{100} + \frac{3}{100} + \frac{98}{1000} = 0.998.$$

Observe that

$$0.998 > 1 - \frac{1 - \alpha - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2} \simeq 0.997358086,$$

that is, condition (3.16) of Theorem 3.2 is satisfied and therefore all solutions of Eq. (4.1) oscillate.

Observe, however, that

$$0.998 < 1,$$

$$0.998 < 1 - \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha}\right)^2 \simeq 0.998730152,$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^3 \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} p_i(j) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_2(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_3(j) \right]$$

$$= \frac{7}{100} + \frac{5}{100} + \frac{3}{100} = 0.15 < \frac{1}{e},$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=n-k_i}^{n-1} p_i(j) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n-2}^{n-1} p_2(j) + \sum_{j=n-3}^{n-1} p_3(j) \right]$$
$$= \frac{7}{100} + 2 \cdot \frac{5}{100} + 3 \cdot \frac{3}{100} = 0.26 < \frac{1}{e},$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{k_{i}+1}{k_{i}}\right)^{k_{i}+1} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+k_{i}} p_{i}(j)$$

=
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\left(\frac{2}{1}\right)^{2} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+1} p_{1}(j) + \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{3} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+2} p_{2}(j) + \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{4} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+3} p_{2}(j) \right]$$

=
$$2^{2} \cdot \frac{7}{100} + \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{3} \cdot 2 \cdot \frac{5}{100} + \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{4} \cdot 3 \cdot \frac{3}{100} = 0.901944444 < 1,$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\liminf_{n \to \infty} p_i(n) \right) \frac{(k_i + 1)^{k_i + 1}}{(k_i)^{k_i}} = \frac{7}{100} \cdot \frac{2^2}{1^1} + \frac{5}{100} \cdot \frac{3^3}{2^2} + \frac{3}{100} \cdot \frac{4^4}{3^3}$$
$$= 0.901944444 < 1,$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{3} p_i(j) \left(\frac{n-\tau_i(j)+1}{n-\tau_i(j)}\right)^{n-\tau_i(j)+1}$$

Oscillations of Delay and Difference Equations

$$= \left(\frac{2}{1}\right)^2 \cdot \frac{7}{100} + \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^3 \cdot \frac{5}{100} + \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^4 \cdot \frac{3}{100} = 0.543564814 < 1,$$

and therefore none of the conditions (3.9), (3.13), (3.8), (3.10), (3.2), (3.1) and (3.7) is satisfied.

Example 4.2 ([7]). Consider the difference equation with two retarded arguments

$$\Delta x(n) + p_1(n)x(n-2) + p_2(n)x(n-1) = 0, \quad n \ge 0,$$
(4.2)

where

$$p_1(3n) = p_1(3n+1) = \frac{1}{10}, \ p_1(3n+2) = \frac{1}{2}, \ n \ge 0,$$

 $p_2(2n) = \frac{7}{100}, \ p_2(2n+1) = \frac{3273}{10000}, \ n \ge 0.$

Here m = 2, $\tau_1(n) = n - 2$, $\tau_2(n) = n - 1$ and $\tau(n) = n - 1$. It is easy to see that

$$\alpha_1 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n-2}^{n-1} p_1(j) = 2 \cdot \frac{1}{10} = 0.2,$$

$$\alpha_2 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_2(j) = \frac{7}{100} = 0.07.$$

Thus

$$\alpha = \min \{ \alpha_i : 1 \le i \le 2 \} = \min \{ 0.2, 0.07 \} = 0.07 < \frac{1}{e}.$$

Furthermore, it is clear that

$$p_i(n) > \frac{\alpha}{2} = 0.035$$
 for all large n , $(1 \le i \le 2)$.
 $p_i(n) > 1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \simeq 0.035634923$ for all large n , $(1 \le i \le 2)$

Also,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_i(j) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n} p_2(j) \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{10} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{7}{100} + \frac{3273}{10000} = 0.9973.$$

Observe that

$$0.9973 > 1 - \left[2\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2 + \alpha} - \alpha\right] \simeq 0.997262002,$$

that is, conditions (3.17) and (3.18) of Theorem 3.2 are satisfied and therefore all solutions of Eq. (4.2) oscillate.

Observe, however, that

$$0.9973 < 1,$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} p_i(j) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_2(j) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{10} + \frac{7}{100} = 0.17 < \frac{1}{e},$$

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=\tau_{i}(n)}^{n-1} p_{i}(j) &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n-2}^{n-1} p_{1}(j) + \sum_{j=n-1}^{n-1} p_{2}(j) \right] = 2 \cdot \frac{1}{10} + \frac{7}{100} = 0.27 < \frac{1}{e}, \\ 0.9973 < 1 - \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \right)^{2} \simeq 0.998730152, \\ 0.9973 < 1 - \alpha \left[\frac{1}{3\sqrt{1 - \alpha} + \alpha - 2} - 1 \right] \simeq 0.997317675, \end{split}$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{k_i + 1}{k_i}\right)^{k_i + 1} \sum_{j=n-k_i}^{n-1} p_i(j) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^3 \cdot 2 \cdot \frac{1}{10} + 2^2 \cdot \frac{7}{100} \right] = 0.955 < 1,$$

$$0.9973 < 1 - \frac{1 - \alpha - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2} \simeq 0.997358086,$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=\tau(n)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{2} p_i(j) \left(\frac{n-\tau_i(j)+1}{n-\tau_i(j)}\right)^{n-\tau_i(j)+1}$$
$$= \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^3 \cdot \frac{1}{10} + \left(\frac{2}{1}\right)^2 \cdot \frac{7}{100} = 0.61754 < 1,$$

and therefore none of the conditions (3.9), (3.8), (3.10), (3.13), (3.15), (3.4), (3.16) and (3.7) is satisfied.

Example 4.3 ([7]). Consider the advanced difference equation

$$\nabla x(n) - p_1(n)x(n+2) - p_2(n)x(n+1) = 0, \quad n \ge 1$$
(4.3)

186

where

$$p_1(3n) = p_1(3n+1) = \frac{1}{10}, \ p_1(3n+2) = \frac{1}{2}, \ n \ge 1$$

 $p_2(2n) = \frac{8}{100}, \ p_2(2n+1) = \frac{3164}{10000}, \ n \ge 1.$

Here m = 2, $\sigma_1(n) = n + 2$, $\sigma_2(n) = n + 1$ and $\sigma(n) = n + 1$. It is easy to see that

$$\alpha_1 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+2} p_1(j) = 2 \cdot \frac{1}{10} = 0.2,$$

$$\alpha_2 = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+1} p_2(j) = \frac{8}{100} = 0.08.$$

Thus

$$\alpha = \min \{ \alpha_i : 1 \le i \le 2 \} = \min \{ 0.2, 0.08 \} = 0.08 < \frac{1}{e}.$$

Furthermore, it is clear that $p_i(n) > \frac{\alpha}{2} = 0.04$ for all large n, $(1 \le i \le 2)$.

$$p_i(n) > 1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \simeq 0.040833695$$
 for all large $n, \ (1 \le i \le 2)$

Also,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=n}^{\sigma(n)} p_i(j) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n}^{n+1} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n}^{n+1} p_2(j) \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{10} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{8}{100} + \frac{3164}{10000} = 0.9964.$$

Observe that

$$0.9964 > 1 - \left[2\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2 + \alpha} - \alpha\right] \simeq 0.996362477,$$

that is, conditions (3.17) and (3.18) of Theorem 3.2 are satisfied and therefore all solutions of Eq. (4.3) oscillate.

Observe, however, that

$$0.9964 < 1$$
,

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+k_i} p_i(j) &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\sum_{j=n+1}^{n+2} p_1(j) + \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+1} p_2(j) \right] \\ &= 0.2 + 0.08 = 0.28 < \frac{1}{e}, \\ 0.9964 < 1 - \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \alpha}\right)^2 \simeq 0.998332609, \\ 0.9964 < 1 - \alpha \left[\frac{1}{3\sqrt{1 - \alpha} + \alpha - 2} - 1\right] \simeq 0.996448991, \\ \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{k_i + 1}{k_i}\right)^{k_i + 1} \sum_{j=n-k_i}^{n-1} p_i(j) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^3 \cdot 2 \cdot \frac{1}{10} + 2^2 \cdot \frac{8}{100} \right] \\ &= 0.995 < 1, \\ 0.9964 < 1 - \frac{1 - \alpha - \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha - \alpha^2}}{2} \simeq 0.996508488 \end{split}$$

and therefore none of the conditions (3.9), (3.10), (3.13), (3.15), (3.4) and (3.16) is satisfied.

References

- 1. Agarwal, R.P., Bohner, M., Grace, S.R., O'Regan, D.: Discrete Oscillation Theory. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, New York (2005)
- Arino, O., Gyori, I., Jawhari, A.: Oscillation criteria in delay equations. J. Differ. Equ. 53, 115–123 (1984)
- 3. Berezansky, L., Braverman, E.: On existence of positive solutions for linear differential equations with several delays. Adv. Dyn. Syst. Appl. 1, 29–47 (2006)
- Braverman, E., Karpuz, B.: On oscillation of differential and difference equations with nonmonotone delays. Appl. Math. Comput. 58, 766–775 (2011)
- Chatzarakis, G.E., Pinelas, S., Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillations of difference equations with several deviated arguments. Aequationes Math. 88, 105–123 (2014)
- Chatzarakis, G.E., Manojlovic, J., Pinelas, S., Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillation criteria of difference equations with several deviating arguments. Yokohama Math. J. 60, 13–31 (2014)
- Chatzarakis, G.E., Kusano, T., Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillation conditions for difference equations with several variable arguments. Math. Bohem. 140(3), 291–311(2015)
- Erbe, L.H., Zhang, B.G.: Oscillation of discrete analogues of delay equations. Differ. Integr. Equ. 2, 300–309 (1989)
- 9. Erbe, L.H., Kong, Q., Zhang, B.G.: Oscillation Theory for Functional Differential Equations. Marcel Dekker, New York (1995)
- Fukagai, N., Kusano, T.: Oscillation theory of first order functional differential equations with deviating arguments. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 136, 95–117 (1984)
- 11. Gopalsamy, K.: Stability and Oscillations in Delay Differential Equations of Population Dynamics. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston (1992)
- Grammatikopoulos, M.K., Koplatadze, R.G., Stavroulakis, I.P.: On the oscillation of solutions of first order differential equations with retarded arguments. Georgian Math. J. 10, 63–76 (2003)

- 13. Gyori, I., Ladas, G.: Oscillation Theory of Delay Differential Equatiosn with Applications. Clarendon Press, Oxford (1991)
- 14. Hale, J.K.: Theory of Functional Differential Equations. Springer, New York (1997)
- 15. Hunt, B.R., Yorke, J.A.: When all solutions of $x' = \sum q_i(t)x(t-T_i(t))$ oscillate. J. Differ. Equ. **53**, 139–145 (1984)
- Infante, G., Koplatadze, R., Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillation criteria for differential equations with several retarded arguments. Funkcialaj Ekvac. 58(3) (2015). arXiv:1309.6213, 2013-arXiv.org
- Ladas, G., Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillations caused by several retarded and advanced arguments. J. Differ. Equ. 44, 134–152 (1982)
- Ladde, G.S., Lakshmikantham, V., Zhang, B.G.: Oscillation Theory of Differential Equations with Deviating Arguments. Marcel Dekker, New York (1987)
- Lakshmikantham, V., Trigiante, D.: Theory of Difference Equations: Numerical Methods and Applications. Mathematics in Science and Engineering, vol. 181. Academic, Boston (1998)
- 20. Li, B.: Oscillations of first order delay differential equations. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 124, 3729–3737 (1996)
- Li, X., Zhu, D.: Oscillation of advanced difference equations with variable coefficients. Ann. Differ. Equ. 18, 254–263 (2002)
- 22. Stavroulakis, I.P.: Oscillation criteria for delay and difference equations with non-monotone arguments. Appl. Math. Comput. **226**, 661–672 (2014)
- Tang, X.H., Yu, J.S.: Oscillation of delay difference equations. Comput. Math. Appl. 37, 11–20 (1999)
- Tang, X.H., Zhang, R.Y.: New oscillation criteria for delay difference equations. Comput. Math. Appl. 42, 1319–1330 (2001)
- Wang, Z.C., Stavroulakis, I.P., Qian, X.Z.: A survey on the oscillation of solutions of first order linear differential equations with deviating arguments. Appl. Math. E-Notes 2, 171–191 (2002)
- Yan, W., Meng, Q., Yan, J.: Oscillation criteria for difference equation of variable delays. DCDIS Proc. 3, 641–647 (2005)

On Asymptotic Classification of Solutions to Nonlinear Regular and Singular Third- and Fourth-Order Differential Equations with Power Nonlinearity

I.V. Astashova

Abstract For the equation

 $y^{(n)} + p_0 |y|^k \operatorname{sign} y = 0,$

in the cases n = 3, 4, $p_0 > 0$ or $p_0 < 0$ for regular nonlinearity k > 1 and singular nonlinearity 0 < k < 1 asymptotic classification of all solutions are given.

It is the first time when all results on this classification are represented together for regular and singular cases.

Keywords Nonlinear higher-order ordinary differential equation • Asymptotic behavior • Qualitative properties • Asymptotic classification of solutions

UDK 517.91

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34C15, 34C10

1 Introduction

The first asymptotic classification of solutions to the Emden–Fowler equation of the second order appears in [12]. Generalizations of the equation of higher orders were investigated from different points of view later in the book [16] and in a great number of articles of different authors. In particular, sufficient conditions are given for the existence of some special types of solutions to these equations (see, e.g., [1, 3, 7, 9, 13–15, 18, 19]). See also [5] with its references. Qualitative properties

I.V. Astashova (🖂)

Faculty of Mechanics and Mathematics, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Leninskie Gory, GSP-1, 119991 Moscow, Russia e-mail: ast@diffiety.ac.ru

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_18

of solutions to third- and fourth-order equations of this type were investigated in [1-6, 11, 20, 21]. Note that qualitative properties of similar linear equations of the third and fourth orders were investigated in [16, 17, 21].

The previous author's results on asymptotic classification of all possible solutions are seen in [5, 8, 10]. The purpose of this article is to represent together the asymptotic classification of all possible solutions to Emden–Fowler type third- and fourth-order equations both in regular and singular cases for comparison of their asymptotic behavior.

2 Regular Nonlinearity (k > 1)

Theorem 1. Suppose k > 1 and $p_0 > 0$. Then all nontrivial non-extensible solutions to the equation

$$y'''(x) + p_0 |y|^{k-1} y(x) = 0$$
(1)

are divided into the following five types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 1):

1–2. Defined on semiaxes $(b, +\infty)$ Kneser (up to the sign) solutions:

$$y(x) = \pm C_{3k} (x-b)^{-\frac{3}{k-1}},$$

where

$$C_{3k} = \left| \frac{3(k+2)(2k+1)}{p_0 (k-1)^3} \right|^{\frac{1}{k-1}}.$$
 (2)

3. Defined on semiaxes $(-\infty, b)$ oscillatory, in both directions, solutions having the form

$$y(x) = (b-x)^{-\frac{3}{k-1}} h(\log(b-x))$$

with some oscillatory periodic function h.

4–5. Defined on bounded intervals (b', b'') oscillatory near the right boundary and nonvanishing near the left one solutions satisfying

$$y(x) = \pm C_{3k} (x - b')^{-\frac{3}{k-1}} (1 + o(1))$$
 as $x \to b' + 0$,

and, at their local extremum points x',

$$|y(x')| = |b'' - x'|^{-\frac{3}{k-1} + o(1)}$$
 as $x' \to b'' - 0$.



Fig. 1 Solutions to the equation $y''' + y^3 = 0$

Remark 1. The case $p_0 < 0$ can be reduced to the above one by the substitution $x \mapsto -x$.

Theorem 2. Suppose k > 1 and $p_0 > 0$. Then all nontrivial non-extensible solutions to the equation

$$y^{IV}(x) + p_0 |y|^{k-1} y(x) = 0$$
(3)

are divided into the following three types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 2):

1. Defined on semiaxes $(-\infty, b)$ oscillatory solutions. The distance between their neighboring zeros infinitely increases near the left boundaries of the domains and tends to zero near the right ones. The solutions and their derivatives satisfy the relations $\lim_{x \to -\infty} y^{(j)}(x) = 0$, $\overline{\lim_{x \to b}} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty$ for j = 0, 1, 2, 3. At the points of local extremum, the following estimates hold:

$$C_1 |x - b|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \le |y(x)| \le C_2 |x - b|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}$$
(4)

with the positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .



Fig. 2 Solutions to the equation $y^{IV} + y^3 = 0$

- 2. Defined on semiaxes $(b, +\infty)$ oscillatory solutions. The distance between their neighboring zeros tends to zero near the left boundaries of the domains and infinitely increases near the right ones. The solutions and their derivatives satisfy the relations $\lim_{x\to+\infty} y^{(j)}(x) = 0$, $\overline{\lim_{x\to b}} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty$ for j = 0, 1, 2, 3. At the points of local extremum, estimates (4) hold with the positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .
- 3. Defined on bounded intervals (b', b'') oscillatory solutions. All their derivatives $y^{(j)}$, with j = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, satisfy

$$\overline{\lim_{x \to b'}} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \overline{\lim_{x \to b''}} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty.$$

At the points of local extremum sufficiently close to any boundary of the domain, estimates (4) hold, respectively, with b = b' or b = b'' and the positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .

Theorem 3. Suppose k > 1 and $p_0 < 0$. Then all nontrivial non-extensible solutions to Eq. (3) are divided into the following 13 types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 Solutions to the equation $y^{\text{IV}} = y^3$

1–2. Kneser (up to the sign) solutions on semiaxes $(b, +\infty)$:

$$y(x) = \pm C_{4k} (x-b)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}},$$

where

$$C_{4k} = \left(\frac{4(k+3)(2k+2)(3k+1)}{|p_0| \ (k-1)^4}\right)^{\frac{1}{k-1}}.$$
(5)

3–4. "Left" Kneser (up to the sign) solutions on semiaxes $(-\infty, b)$:

$$y(x) = \pm C_{4k} (b-x)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}.$$

5. Periodic oscillatory solutions on $(-\infty, +\infty)$. All of them can be received from one, say z(x), by the relation

$$y(x) = \lambda^4 z (\lambda^{k-1} x + x_0)$$

with arbitrary $\lambda > 0$ and x_0 . So, there exists such a solution with any maximum h > 0 and with any period T > 0, but not with any pair (h, T).

6–9. Defined on bounded intervals (b', b'') solutions with the power asymptotic behavior near the boundaries of the domain (with the independent signs \pm):

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k}(p(b')) \ (x-b')^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \qquad x \to b'+0,$$

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k}(p(b'')) \ (b''-x)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \qquad x \to b''-0.$$

10–11. Defined on semiaxes $(-\infty, b)$ solutions which oscillate near $-\infty$ and have the power asymptotic behavior near the right boundary of the domain:

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k}(p(b)) \ (b-x)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \qquad x \to b-0.$$

For each solution a finite limit of the absolute values of its local extrema exists as $x \to -\infty$.

12–13. Defined on semiaxes $(b, +\infty)$ solutions which oscillate near $+\infty$ and have the power asymptotic behavior near the left boundary of the domain:

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k}(p(b)) \ (x-b)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \qquad x \to b+0.$$

For each solution a finite limit of the absolute values of its local extrema exists as $x \to +\infty$.

3 Singular Nonlinearity (0 < k < 1)

While studying the asymptotic behavior of solutions in the case of regular nonlinearity, k > 1, only maximally extended solutions are usually considered, because solutions can behave in a special way only near the boundaries of their domains. If k < 1, then special behavior can occur also near internal points of the domains. This is why a notion of *maximally unique (MU)* solutions is introduced.

Definition 1. A solution $u : (a, b) \to \mathbb{R}$ with $-\infty \le a < b \le +\infty$ to any ordinary differential equation is called a *MU solution* if the following two conditions hold:

- (i) the equation has no other solution equal to u on some subinterval of (a, b);
- (ii) either there is no solution defined on another interval containing (a, b) and equal to u on (a, b), or there exist at least two such solutions not equal to each other at points arbitrary close to the boundary of (a, b).

Theorem 4. Suppose 0 < k < 1 and $p_0 > 0$. Then all MU solutions to the equation

$$y'''(x) = p_0 |y|^{k-1} y(x)$$
(6)

are divided into the following five types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 4):



Fig. 4 MU solutions to the equation $y''' = |y|^{1/2} \operatorname{sgn} y$

1–2. Constant-sign solutions with power behavior on $(b, +\infty)$:

$$y(x) = \pm C_{3k} (x-b)^{\frac{3}{1-k}},$$

where C_{3k} is defined by (2).

3. Oscillatory, in both directions, solutions on $(-\infty, b)$ having the form

$$y(x) = (b-x)^{\frac{3}{1-k}} h(\log(b-x))$$

with some oscillatory periodic function h.

4–5. Defined on $(-\infty, +\infty)$ solutions oscillating near $-\infty$, having asymptotically power behavior near $+\infty$:

$$y(x) = \pm C_{3k} x^{\frac{3}{1-k}} (1+o(1)) \text{ as } x \to +\infty,$$

and having no point x_0 with $y(x_0) = y'(x_0) = y''(x_0) = 0$. At their local extremum points x' the satisfy

$$|y(x')| = |x'|^{\frac{3}{1-k}+o(1)}$$
 as $x' \to -\infty$.

Remark 2. The case $p_0 < 0$ can be reduced to the above one by the substitution $x \mapsto -x$.

Theorem 5. Suppose 0 < k < 1 and $p_0 > 0$. Then all MU solutions to Eq. (3) are divided into the following three types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 5):



Fig. 5 MU solutions to the equation $y^{IV} + |y|^{1/2} \operatorname{sgn} y = 0$

1. Oscillatory solutions defined on $(-\infty, b)$. The distance between their neighboring zeros infinitely increases near $-\infty$ and tends to zero near b. The solutions and their derivatives satisfy the relations $\lim_{x\to b} y^{(j)}(x) = 0$, $\overline{\lim_{x\to-\infty}} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty$ for j = 0, 1, 2, 3. At the points of local extremum, the following estimates hold:

$$C_1 |x - b|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \le |y(x)| \le C_2 |x - b|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}$$
(7)

with positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .

- 2. Oscillatory solutions defined on $(b, +\infty)$. The distance between their neighboring zeros tends to zero near b and infinitely increases near $+\infty$. The solutions and their derivatives satisfy the relations $\lim_{x\to b} y^{(j)}(x) = 0$, $\lim_{x\to +\infty} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty$ for j = 0, 1, 2, 3. At the points of local extremum, estimates (7) hold with positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .
- 3. Oscillatory solutions defined on $(-\infty, +\infty)$. All their derivatives $y^{(j)}$ with j = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 satisfy

$$\overline{\lim}_{x \to -\infty} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \overline{\lim}_{x \to +\infty} |y^{(j)}(x)| = \infty.$$

At the points of local extremum, the estimates

$$C_1 |x|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}} \le |y(x)| \le C_2 |x|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}$$
 (8)

hold near $-\infty$ or $+\infty$ with positive constants C_1 and C_2 depending only on k and p_0 .



Fig. 6 MU solutions to the equation $y^{\text{IV}} = |y|^{1/2} \text{sgn } y$

Theorem 6. Suppose 0 < k < 1 and $p_0 < 0$. Then all MU solutions to Eq. (3) are divided into the following 13 types according to their asymptotic behavior (see Fig. 6):

1–2. Defined on semiaxes $(-\infty, b)$ solutions with the power asymptotic behavior near the boundaries of the domain (with the same signs \pm):

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} |x|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to -\infty,$$

 $y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} (b-x)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to b-0,$

where

$$C_{4k} = \left(\frac{4(k+3)(2k+2)(3k+1)}{|p_0| \ (k-1)^4}\right)^{\frac{1}{k-1}}$$

3–4. Defined on $(b, +\infty)$ solutions with the power asymptotic behavior near the boundaries of the domain (with the same signs \pm):

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} (x-b)^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to b+0,$$

 $y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} x^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to +\infty.$

5. Defined on the whole axis periodic oscillatory solutions. All of them can be received from one solution, say z(x), by the relation

199

$$y(x) = \lambda^4 z (\lambda^{k-1} x + x_0)$$

with arbitrary $\lambda > 0$ and x_0 . So, there exists such a solution with any maximum h > 0 and with any period T > 0, but not with any pair (h, T).

6–9. Defined on $(-\infty, +\infty)$ solutions having the power asymptotic behavior near $-\infty$ and $+\infty$ (with all sign combinations admitted):

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} |x|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to \pm \infty.$$

10–11. Defined on $(-\infty, +\infty)$ solutions which oscillate as $x \to -\infty$ and have the power asymptotic behavior near $+\infty$:

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} x^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to +\infty.$$

Each solution has a finite limit of the absolute values of its local extrema as $x \rightarrow -\infty$.

12–13. Defined on $(-\infty, +\infty)$ solutions which oscillate as $x \to +\infty$ and have the power asymptotic behavior near $-\infty$:

$$y(x) \sim \pm C_{4k} |x|^{-\frac{4}{k-1}}, \qquad x \to -\infty.$$

Each solution has a finite limit of the absolute values of its local extrema as $x \to +\infty$.

4 Sketch of Proofs

To obtain the above results on asymptotic classification of all maximally extended solutions to the equation

$$y^{(n)} + p_0 |y|^k \operatorname{sign} y = 0, \ p_0 \neq 0, \tag{9}$$

with k > 1 and all MU solutions to (9) with 0 < k < 1, an auxiliary dynamical system is investigated on the (n - 1)-dimensional sphere (see [4, 5, Chap. 5–7]; [8] for regular nonlinearity).

Note that if a function y(x) is a solution to Eq. (9), the same is true for the function

$$z(x) = Ay(Bx + C), \tag{10}$$

where $A \neq 0, B > 0$, and C are any constants satisfying

$$|A|^{k-1} = B^n. (11)$$

Any nontrivial solution y(x) to Eq. (9) generates in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ the curve $(y(x), y'(x), y''(x), \dots, y^{n-1}(x))$. We can define an equivalence relation on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ such that all solutions obtained from y(x) by (10)–(11) generate equivalent curves, i.e., curves passing through equivalent points (may be for different *x*). We assume the points $(y_0, y_1, y_2, \dots, y_{n-1})$ and $(z_0, z_1, z_2, \dots, z_{n-1})$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ to be equivalent if and only if there exists a positive constant λ such that

$$z_i = \lambda^{n+j(k-1)} y_i, \qquad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

The quotient space obtained is homeomorphic to the (n-1)-dimensional sphere:

$$S^{n-1} = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n : y_0^2 + y_1^2 + y_2^2 + \dots + y_{n-1}^2 = 1 \}$$

having exactly one representative of each equivalence class since the equation

$$\lambda^{2n} y_0^2 + \lambda^{2(n+2(k-1))} y_1^2 + \dots + \lambda^{2(n+(n-1)(k-1))} y_{n-1}^2 = 1$$

has exactly one positive root λ for any $(y_0, y_1, y_2, \dots, y_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$.

Now, equivalent curves in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ generate the same curves in the quotient space. The last ones are trajectories of an appropriate dynamical system, which can be described, in different charts covering the quotient space, by different formulas using different independent variables.

For example, on the chart that covers the points corresponding to positive values of solutions and has the coordinate functions

$$u_j = y^{(j)} y^{-\beta_j}$$
 with $\beta_j = 1 + \frac{j(k-1)}{n}, \ j = 1, \dots, n-1,$

the dynamical system can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{du_1}{dt} = u_2 - \beta_1 u_1^2, \\ \frac{du_j}{dt} = u_{j+1} - \beta_j u_1 u_j, \quad j = 2, \dots, n-2, \\ \frac{du_{n-1}}{dt} = -p_0 - \beta_{n-1} u_1 u_{n-1} \end{cases}$$
(12)

with the independent variable

$$t = \int_{x_0}^x y(\xi)^{\frac{k-1}{n}} d\xi.$$

Qualitative properties of the trajectories of the dynamical system on the sphere do not depend essentially on whether k in (9) is greater or less than 1. However, the properties of the related solutions to Eq. (9) differ according to the case, regular or singular, considered.

Globally, the dynamical system can have some fixed points, which depends on the sign of p_0 and the parity of *n*. They correspond to the solutions to Eq. (9) with power-law behavior, which can be defined by explicit formulas, namely,

$$y(x) = \pm C |x - x^*|^{-n/(k-1)}$$

with arbitrary x^* and *C* defined by (2), (5), or similar formulas for n > 4.

In the regular case, these solutions, if maximally extended, have a vertical asymptote at one of their domain boundaries (which is finite) and tend to zero near another one (which is infinite). In the singular case, the related MU solutions vanish with all their n-1 lower-order derivatives at one of their domain boundaries (which is finite) and infinitely grow in absolute value near another one (which is infinite).

The dynamical system on the sphere can also have nonconstant periodical trajectories. They correspond to oscillatory solutions to (9) that can be written with the help of some periodic functions, but can be nonperiodic themselves. Their extrema and the lengths of their constant-sign intervals behave in different ways according to the sign of p_0 , the parity of n, and regular or singular case considered.

Investigation of stability of the fixed points and periodical trajectories gives information on the rest of the solutions to Eq. (9), which appear to have, near the boundaries of their domains, asymptotically the same behavior as that of the solutions mentioned before.

References

- Astashova, I.V.: On asymptotic behavior of certain nonlinear differential equations. In: Reports of Enlarged Session of the seminar of I. N. Vekua Institute of Applied Mathematics. Tbilisi, Tbilisi State University, Vol.1 (3). P. 9–11 (1985)
- Astashova. I.V.: On asymptotic behavior of alternating solutions to certain non-linear differential equations of the third and fourth order. In: Reports of Enlarged Session of the seminar of I.N.Vekua Institute of Applied Mathematics. Tbilisi, Tbilisi State University, 3(3). P. 9–12 (1985)
- Astashova, I.V.: On qualitative properties of solutions to Emden-Fowler type equations. Usp. Mat. Nauk 51(5), 185 (1996). (Russian)
- Astashova, I.V.: Application of dynamical systems to the study of asymptotic properties of solutions to nonlinear higher-order differential equations. J. Math. Sci. 126(5), 1361–1391 (2005). Springer Science+Business Media
- Astashova, I.V.: Qualitative properties of solutions to quasilinear ordinary differential equations. In: Astashova I.V. (ed.) Qualitative Properties of Solutions to Differential Equations and Related Topics of Spectral Analysis: Scientific edition, M.: UNITY-DANA, pp. 22–290 (2012). (Russian)
- Astashova, I.V.: Uniform estimates and existence of solutions with prescribed domain to nonlinear third-order differential equation. In: Pinelas, S., et al. (eds.) Differential and Difference Equations with Applications. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics, vol. 47, pp. 227–237. Springer, New York (2013)
- Astashova, I.V.: On existence of quasi-periodic oscillatory solutions of Emden–Fowler type higher-order equations. Differ. Uravn. 50(6), 847–848 (2014)

- Astashova, I.V.: On asymptotic behavior of solutions to a forth order nonlinear differential equation. In: Proceedings of the 1st WSEAS International Conference on Pure Mathematics (PUMA '14), Tenerife, 10–12, January 2014. ISBN:978-960-474-360-5, WSEAS Press, 2014. P. 32–41
- 9. Astashova, I.V.: On quasi-periodic solutions to a higher-order Emden-Fowler type differential equation. Bound. Value Probl. **2014**(174), 1–8 (2014). doi:10.1186/s13661-014-0174-7
- Astashova, I.V.: On asymptotic classification of solutions to nonlinear third- and fourth-order differential equation with power nonlinearity. Herald of the Bauman Moscow State Technical University. Series "Natural sciences". vol 2(59), pp. 3–25 (2015) (English) ISSN: 1812-3368
- Bartušek, M., Došlá, Z.: Asymptotic problems for fourth-order nonlinear differential equations. Bound. Value Probl. 2013, 89 (2013). doi:10.1186/1687-2770-2013-89
- 12. Bellman, R.: Stability theory of solutions of differential equations. Moscow, New York, McGraw-Hill, (1953)
- 13. Kiguradze, I.T.: Asymptotic properties of solutions of a nonlinear Emden–Fowler type differential equation. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. **29**(5), 965–986 (1965). (Russian)
- 14. Kiguradze, I.T.: On monotone solutions of nonlinear ordinary *n*th-order differential equations. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. **33**(6), 1373–1398 (1969). (Russian)
- 15. Kiguradze, I.T.: On blow-up kneser solutions of nonlinear ordinary higher-order differential equations. Differ. Uravn. **37**(6), 735–743 (2001). (Russian)
- Kiguradze, I.T., Chanturia, T.A.: Asymptotic Properties of Solutions of Nonautonomous Ordinary Differential Equations. Kluwer/Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London (1993)
- Kondratiev, V.A.: On oscillation of solutions to linear third- and forth- order equations. Trudy MMO 8, 259–281 (1959). (Russian)
- Kondratiev, V.A., Samovol, V.S.: On certain asymptotic properties of solutions to equations of the Emden–Fowler type. Differ. Uravn. 17(4), 749–750 (1981). (Russian)
- Kusano, T., Manojlovic J.: Asymptotic behavior of positive solutions of odd order Emden-Fowler type differential equations in the framework of regular variation. Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 45, 1–23 (2012)
- Kusano, T., Naito, M.: Nonlinear oscillation of fourth-order differential equations. Can. J. Math. 28(4), 840–852 (1976)
- Padhi, S., Pati, S.: Theory of Third-Order Differential Equations. Springer, New Delhi (2014). MR 3136420

Some Properties of a Generalized Solution for 3-D Flow of a Compressible Viscous Micropolar Fluid Model with Spherical Symmetry

Ivan Dražić and Nermina Mujaković

Abstract We consider the nonstationary 3-D flow of a compressible viscous and heat-conducting micropolar fluid bounded with two concentric spheres that present solid thermoinsulated walls. We assume that the fluid is perfect and polytropic in the thermodynamical sense, as well as that the initial density and temperature are strictly positive. We take sufficiently smooth spherically symmetric initial functions and analyze the corresponding problem with homogeneous boundary data.

In this work we give the overview of the current progress in mathematical analysis of the described problem with particular emphasis on the existence theorems and the large time behavior of the solution.

Keywords Micropolar fluid • Spherical symmetry • Generalized solution

AMS Subject Classifications: 35Q35, 76N10

1 Introduction

The micropolar fluid is a type of fluid which exhibits microrotational effects, as well as microrotational inertia which enables us to consider some physical phenomena that cannot be treated by the classical Navier–Stokes equations. It is important to emphasize that it has been shown experimentally that the inclusion of the phenomena at the microlevel significantly improves the mathematical model of the fluid flow [10].

I. Dražić (🖂)

N. Mujaković

Faculty of Engineering, University of Rijeka, Vukovarska 58, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia e-mail: idrazic@riteh.hr

Department of Mathematics, University of Rijeka, Radmile Matejčić 2, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia e-mail: mujakovic@inet.hr

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_19

The first considerations that go in the direction of studying micro phenomena, and which are known to science today, appear in the works of Cosserat brothers created at the beginning of the last century. However, due to its complexity, this theory remained neglected for many years until in the 1960s. A.C. Eringen introduced the concept of the micropolar fluid. The model of micropolar fluids in the last two decades has become an important area of interest for mathematicians and engineers especially in the modeling of liquid crystals with rigid molecules, magnetic fluids, clouds with dust, muddy fluids, some biological fluids, etc.

Here we analyze the compressible flow of an isotropic, viscous, and heatconducting micropolar fluid, which is in the thermodynamical sense perfect and polytropic. The model for this kind of flow in the one-dimensional case was first described by Mujaković in [7]. In her later works, she analyzed the onedimensional model in relation to existence, regularity, and stabilization for different kinds of problems with homogeneous and nonhomogeneous boundary conditions. A significant number of results related to this one-dimensional model have been systematized in the fifth and sixth chapters of the book [11], but for recent progress in this area, we refer to [8] and [4] and the references cited therein.

In this work we analyze the motion of the described fluid between two concentric spheres, which enables us to consider the spherically symmetric solution to the governing system if we assume that the initial functions are spherically symmetric and smooth enough.

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section, we will describe the governing three-dimensional system and derive its spherically symmetric form in the Lagrangian description. Then we will give an overview of the current progress in mathematical analysis of this problem. We will introduce the generalized solution to the problem together with the existence and uniqueness theorems. Finally, we will mention some recent results concerning the large time behavior of the solution.

2 The Mathematical Model

The mathematical model of the described fluid is stated, for example, in the book of Lukaszewicz [6] and reads

$$\dot{\rho} + \rho \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \tag{1}$$

$$\rho \dot{\mathbf{v}} = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{T} + \rho \mathbf{f},\tag{2}$$

$$\rho j_I \dot{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{C} + \mathbf{T}_x + \rho \mathbf{g},\tag{3}$$

$$\rho \dot{E} = \mathbf{T} : \nabla \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{C} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} - \mathbf{T}_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} - \operatorname{div} \mathbf{q} + \rho \delta, \tag{4}$$

$$\mathbf{T} = (-p + \lambda \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v})\mathbf{I} + 2\mu \operatorname{sym} \nabla \mathbf{v} + 2\mu_r \operatorname{skw} \nabla \mathbf{v} - 2\mu_r \boldsymbol{\omega}_{skw},$$
(5)

$$\mathbf{C} = c_0(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{I} + 2c_d\operatorname{sym}\nabla\boldsymbol{\omega} + 2c_a\operatorname{skw}\nabla\boldsymbol{\omega},\tag{6}$$

$$\mathbf{q} = -k\nabla\theta,\tag{7}$$

$$p = R\rho\theta,\tag{8}$$

$$E = c_v \theta. \tag{9}$$

Here ρ , **v**, ω , *E*, and θ are, respectively, mass density, velocity, microrotation velocity, internal energy density, and absolute temperature. **T** is the stress tensor, **C** is the couple stress tensor, **q** is the heat flux density vector, **f** is the body force density, **g** is body couple density, and δ is the body heat density. *p* denotes pressure and the positive constant j_I is micro-inertia density. λ and μ are coefficients of the viscosity, and μ_r , c_0 , c_d , and c_a are coefficients of the micro-viscosity. By the constant k ($k \ge 0$), we denote the heat conduction coefficient, the positive constant *R* is the specific gas constant, and the positive constant c_v denotes the specific heat for a constant volume.

Equations (1)–(4) are, respectively, local forms of conservation laws for the mass, momentum, momentum moment, and energy. Equations (5)–(6) are constitutive equations for the micropolar continuum. Equation (7) is the Fourier law, and Eqs. (8)–(9) present the assumptions that our fluid is perfect and polytropic. Coefficients of viscosity and coefficients of micro-viscosity are related through the Clausius–Duhamel inequalities, as follows:

$$\mu \ge 0, \qquad 3\lambda + 2\mu \ge 0, \qquad \mu_r \ge 0. \tag{10}$$

$$c_d \ge 0, \quad 3c_0 + 2c_d \ge 0, \quad |c_d - c_a| \le c_d + c_a.$$
 (11)

Vector \mathbf{T}_x in Eqs. (3) and (4) is an axial vector with the Cartesian components $(\mathbf{T}_x)_i = \varepsilon_{ijk} \mathbf{T}_{jk}$, where ε_{ijk} is the Levi-Civita alternating tensor¹ and sym **T** and skw **T** are the symmetric and skew-symmetric parts of the tensor **T**. The differential (dot) operator in Eqs. (1)–(4) denotes the material derivative defined by

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{a}}{\partial t} + (\nabla \mathbf{a}) \cdot \mathbf{v}. \tag{12}$$

The colon operator in Eq. (4) is the scalar product of tensors defined by

$$\mathbf{A} : \mathbf{B} = \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{B}). \tag{13}$$

We take the following homogeneous boundary conditions:

$$\mathbf{v}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial\boldsymbol{\nu}}\Big|_{\partial\Omega} = 0,$$
 (14)

¹We assume the Einstein notation for summation.

where $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3$ is the spatial domain of our problem and the vector \mathbf{v} is the exterior unit normal vector. These boundary conditions mean that we analyze the flow of the fluid through a chamber with solid thermo-insulated walls. In our case it will be the flow between two concentric spheres and we have

$$\Omega = \left\{ \mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3) : \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^3, \ a < |\mathbf{x}| < b, \ |\mathbf{x}| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2} \right\}.$$
 (15)

We introduce the spherically symmetric initial conditions:

$$\rho_0(\mathbf{x}) = \rho_0(r), \ \mathbf{v}_0(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\mathbf{x}}{r} v_0(r), \ \boldsymbol{\omega}_0(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\mathbf{x}}{r} \omega_0(r), \ \theta_0(\mathbf{x}) = \theta_0(r), \tag{16}$$

where ρ_0 , v_0 , ω_0 , and θ_0 are known real functions defined on $]a, b[^2, \mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbf{R}^3$, $r = |\mathbf{x}|$ and assume that ρ , \mathbf{v} , $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, and θ are spherically symmetric too:

$$v_i(\mathbf{x},t) = \frac{x_i}{r}v(r,t), \ \omega_i(\mathbf{x},t) = \frac{x_i}{r}\omega(r,t), \ i = 1, 2, 3,$$
 (17)

$$\rho(\mathbf{x},t) = \rho(r,t), \ \theta(\mathbf{x},t) = \theta(r,t).$$
(18)

Using the assumptions (17) and (18), the spatial domain (15) becomes a onedimensional domain]a, b[. The governing system now takes the form

$$\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial r}(v\rho) + \frac{2\rho}{r}v = 0,$$
(19)

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + v\frac{\partial v}{\partial r}\right) = -R\frac{\partial}{\partial r}(\rho\theta) + (\lambda + 2\mu)\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} + 2\frac{v}{r}\right),\tag{20}$$

$$\rho j_I \left(\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial \omega}{\partial r} \right) = -4\mu_r \omega + (c_0 + 2c_d) \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left(\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial r} + 2\frac{\omega}{r} \right), \tag{21}$$

$$\rho c_v \left(\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial r}\right) = k \left(\frac{\partial^2 \theta}{\partial r^2} + \frac{2}{r} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial r}\right) - R\rho \theta \left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} + 2\frac{v}{r}\right) + (\lambda + 2\mu) \left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} + 2\frac{v}{r}\right)^2 - 4\mu \frac{v}{r} \left(2\frac{\partial v}{\partial r} + \frac{v}{r}\right) + (c_0 + 2c_d) \left(\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial r} + 2\frac{\omega}{r}\right)^2 - 4c_d \frac{\omega}{r} \left(2\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial r} + \frac{\omega}{r}\right) + 4\mu_r \omega^2, \quad (22)$$

$$\rho(r,0) = \rho_0(r), \ v(r,0) = v_0(r), \ \omega(r,0) = \omega_0(r), \ \theta(r,0) = \theta_0(r), \tag{23}$$

$$v(a,t) = v(b,t) = 0, \ \omega(a,t) = \omega(b,t) = 0, \ \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial r}(a,t) = \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial r}(b,t) = 0,$$
(24)

for $r \in]a, b[$ and $t \in]0, T[$.

 $^{^{2}}a$ and b are the radii of boundary spheres from (15).

In the mathematical analysis of compressible fluids, it is convenient to use Lagrangian description. The Eulerian coordinates (r, t) are connected to the Lagrangian coordinates (ξ, t) by the relation

$$r(\xi,t) = r_0(\xi) + \int_0^t \tilde{v}(\xi,t)d\tau, \quad r_0(\xi) = r(\xi,0) = \xi,$$
(25)

where $\tilde{v}(\xi, t)$ is defined by $\tilde{v}(\xi, t) = v(r(\xi, t), t)$.

We introduce the new function η and the constant *L* by

$$\eta(\xi) = \int_{a}^{\xi} s^{2} \rho_{0}(s) ds, \quad \eta(b) = \int_{a}^{b} s^{2} \rho_{0}(s) ds = L$$
(26)

and define the new coordinate, $x = L^{-1}\eta(\xi)$. With this new coordinate the spatial domain becomes]0, 1[, and we finally get the following initial-boundary problem:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{L} \rho^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right), \tag{27}$$

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = -\frac{R}{L}r^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(\rho\theta) + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{L^2}r^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(r^2v\right)\right),\tag{28}$$

$$\rho \frac{\partial \omega}{\partial t} = -\frac{4\mu_r}{j_I}\omega + \frac{c_0 + 2c_d}{j_I L^2} r^2 \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 \omega \right) \right), \tag{29}$$

$$\rho \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} = \frac{k}{c_v L^2} \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^4 \rho \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} \right) - \frac{R}{c_v L} \rho^2 \theta \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right) + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{c_v L^2} \left[\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right) \right]^2 - \frac{4\mu}{c_v L} \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(rv^2 \right) + \frac{c_0 + 2c_d}{c_v L^2} \left[\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 \omega \right) \right]^2 - \frac{4c_d}{c_v L} \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r\omega^2 \right) + \frac{4\mu_r}{c_v} \omega^2, \quad (30)$$

$$\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x), \quad v(x,0) = v_0(x), \quad \omega(x,0) = \omega_0(x), \quad \theta(x,0) = \theta_0(x), \tag{31}$$

$$v(0,t) = v(1,t) = 0, \quad \omega(0,t) = \omega(1,t) = 0, \quad \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}(0,t) = \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}(1,t) = 0, \quad (32)$$

considered on the domain $Q_T =]0, 1[\times]0, T[.$

The function r(x, t) is defined by

$$r(x,t) = r_0(x) + \int_0^t v(x,\tau) d\tau, \ (x,t) \in Q_T.$$
(33)

where

$$r_0(x) = \left(a^3 + 3L \int_0^x \frac{1}{\rho_0(y)} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}, \ x \in]0, 1[$$
(34)

and a > 0 is a radius of smaller boundary sphere.

3 Properties of the Solution

In this section we consider the properties of the so-called generalized solution to the problem (27)-(32).

Definition 1. A generalized solution to the problem (27)–(32) in the domain Q_T is a function

$$(x,t) \mapsto (\rho, v, \omega, \theta)(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$
(35)

where

$$\rho \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{H}^{1}(]0, 1[)) \cap \mathcal{H}^{1}(Q_{T}) , \inf_{Q_{T}} \rho > 0 , \qquad (36)$$

$$v, \omega, \theta \in L^{\infty}(0, T; H^{1}(]0, 1[)) \cap H^{1}(Q_{T}) \cap L^{2}(0, T; H^{2}(]0, 1[)),$$
 (37)

that satisfies the Eqs. (27)–(30) a.e. in Q_T and conditions (31)–(32) in the sense of traces.

Let us mention that by using the embedding and interpolation theorems, one can conclude that our generalized solution could be treated as a strong solution. In fact, we have

$$\rho \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{C}([0, 1])) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathcal{L}^{2}(]0, 1[)) , \qquad (38)$$

$$v, \omega, \theta \in L^2(0, T; C^1([0, 1])) \cap C([0, T], H^1([0, 1[)),$$
 (39)

$$v, \omega, \theta \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{Q}_T).$$
 (40)

We first analyzed the existence of the generalized solution to the problem (27)–(32). Using the Faedo–Galerkin method, we proved in [1] the existence locally in time. After that we analyzed the uniqueness of the solution in [9], and finally based on extension principle, we proved in [2] the global existence theorem for the problem (27)–(32). These results are summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 1. Let the functions $\rho_0, \theta_0 \in H^1(]0, 1[)$, $v_0, \omega_0 \in H^1_0(]0, 1[)$ satisfy the conditions

$$\rho_0(x) \ge m, \quad \theta_0(x) \ge m \quad \text{for } x \in]0,1[\tag{41}$$

where $m \in \mathbf{R}^+$. Then for any $T \in \mathbf{R}^+$, there exists a unique generalized solution to the problem (27)–(32) on the domain Q_T having the property

$$\theta > 0 \quad in \ \overline{Q}_T.$$
 (42)

In the second stage of our research, we analyzed the large time behavior of the solution to the problem (27)–(32). Theorem 1 ensures the existence on the arbitrary but finite time interval]0, T[. Because of that we were not able to analyze the behavior of the solution when $t \rightarrow \infty$ and had to prove that the solution exists on the time interval]0, ∞ [as well, which is the purpose of next theorem obtained in [3].

Theorem 2. Let the initial functions ρ_0 , v_0 , ω_0 , and θ_0 satisfy the same conditions as in Theorem 1. Then the problem (27)–(32) has a solution on the domain $Q_{\infty} = [0, 1[\times]0, \infty[$ with the properties

$$\rho \in L^{\infty}(0, \infty; H^{1}(]0, 1[)),$$
(43)

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathcal{L}^2(]0,1[)) \cap \mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}),\tag{44}$$

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} \in L^2(0,\infty; L^2(]0,1[)), \tag{45}$$

$$v, \omega \in L^{\infty}(0, \infty; H^{1}(]0, 1[)) \cap H^{1}(Q_{\infty}) \cap L^{2}(0, \infty; H^{2}(]0, 1[)),$$
 (46)

$$\theta \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathcal{H}^{1}(]0,1[)),\tag{47}$$

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} \in L^2(0,\infty; \mathrm{H}^1(]0,1[)), \tag{48}$$

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} \in \mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{Q}_\infty). \tag{49}$$

In the following theorem, which is also proved in [3], we proved the stabilization of the solution when $t \to \infty$.

Theorem 3. Let $(\rho, v, \omega, \theta)$ be a generalized solution to the problem (27)–(32) in the domain Q_{∞} . Then we have the convergence

$$(\rho, v, \omega, \theta) \to (\rho^*, 0, 0, \theta^*) \tag{50}$$

in the space $(H^1(]0,1[))^4$ when $t \to \infty$, where

$$\rho^* = \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\rho_0(x)} dx,$$
(51)

$$\theta^* = \frac{1}{c_v} \int_0^1 \left(c_v \theta_0(x) + \frac{1}{2} v_0^2 + \frac{j_I}{2} \omega_0^2 \right) dx.$$
 (52)

For the function r, we have the convergence

$$r \to r^*$$
 (53)

in the space $H^2([0, 1[)$ when $t \to \infty$ where

$$r^*(x) = (a^3 + 3xu^*)^{\frac{1}{3}}, \quad x \in [0, 1],$$
 (54)

and the constant a is the same as in (34).

The proof of Theorem 2 is based on a series of uniform-in-time a priory estimates and the proof of Theorem 3 on the results Theorem 2 and application of Friedrichs and Poincare inequalities.

Recently, in [5], Huang and Lian deduced the nature of the convergences (50) and (53). They showed that the solution $(\rho, v, \omega, \theta)$ decays to a constant state with exponential rate. Their result is stated in the next theorem.

Theorem 4. Let $(\rho, v, \omega, \theta)$ be a generalized solution to the problem (27)–(32) in the domain Q_{∞} . Then there exist constants $C_1 > 0$ and $\gamma_1 = \gamma_1(C) > 0$ such that for any fixed $\gamma \in]0, \gamma_1]$ and for any t > 0, we have

$$e^{\gamma t} \left(\|\rho(t) - \rho^*\|_{H^1}^2 + \|v(t)\|_{H^1}^2 + \|\omega(t)\|_{H^1}^2 + \|\theta(t) - \theta^*\|_{H^1}^2 \right) \\ + \int_0^t e^{\gamma s} \left(\|\rho_x\|_{H^1}^2 + \|v_x\|_{H^1}^2 + \|\omega_x\|_{H^1}^2 + \|\theta_x\|_{H^1}^2 \\ + \|v_t\|^2 + \|\omega_t\|^2 + \|\theta_t\|^2 \right) (s) ds \le C_1,$$
(55)

where ρ^* and θ^* are defined by (51) and (52).

Acknowledgements This work has been fully supported by the University of Rijeka, Croatia, under the project number 13.14.1.3.03 (Mathematical and numerical modeling of compressible micropolar fluid flow).

References

- Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: a local existence theorem. Bound. Value Probl. 69, 1–25 (2012)
- Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3-D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: a global existence theorem. Bound. Value Probl. 98, 1–21 (2015)
- Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3-D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: large time behavior of the solution. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 431, 545–568 (2015)
- Huang, L., Dayong, N.: Exponential stability for a one-dimensional compressible viscous micropolar fluid. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 38(18), 5197–5206 (2015)
- Huang, L., Lian, R.: Exponential stability of spherically symmetric solutions for compressible viscous micropolar fluid. J. Math. Phys. 56, 1–12 (2015)
- 6. Lukaszewicz, G.: Micropolar Fluids. Birkhäuser, Boston (1999)
- 7. Mujaković, N.: One-dimensional flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid: a local existence theorem. Glasnik Matematički **33**, 71–91 (1998)
- Mujaković, N.: The existence of a global solution for one dimensional compressible viscous micropolar fluid with non-homogeneous boundary conditions for temperature. Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 19, 19–30 (2014)
- Mujaković, N., Dražić, I.: 3-D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: uniqueness of a generalized solution. Bound. Value Probl. 226, 1–17 (2014)
- Papautsky, I., Brazzle, I., Ameel, T., Frazier, A.B.: Laminar fluid behavior in microchannels using micropolar fluid theory. Sensors Actuators A Phys. 73, 101–108 (1999)
- 11. Qin, Y., Liu, X., Wang, T.: Global Existence and Uniqueness of Nonlinear Evolutionary Fluid Equations. Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel/Heidelberg/New York (2015)

Nonoscillatory Solutions of the Four-Dimensional Neutral Difference System

Jana Krejčová

Abstract We study nonoscillatory solutions of four-dimensional nonlinear neutral difference systems. We state asymptotic properties of solutions, and we establish sufficient conditions for the system to have weak property B and property B.

Keywords Difference systems • Weak property B • Non-oscillatory solutions • Asymptotic properties

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 39A10

1 Introduction

In this paper, we study asymptotic behavior of solutions of a four-dimensional system:

$$\Delta (x_n + p_n x_{n-\sigma}) = A_n f_1 (y_n)$$

$$\Delta y_n = B_n f_2 (z_n)$$

$$\Delta z_n = C_n f_3 (w_n)$$

$$\Delta w_n = D_n f_4 (x_{\gamma_n}),$$

(S)

where $n \in \mathbb{N}_0 = \{n_0, n_0 + 1, ...\}, n_0$ is a positive integer, σ is a nonnegative integer, and $\{A_n\}, \{B_n\}, \{C_n\}, \{D_n\}$ are positive real sequences defined for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Δ is the forward difference operator given by $\Delta x_n = x_{n+1} - x_n$.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Krejčová (🖂)

University of Economics, W. Churchill Sq. 4, 130 67 Prague, Czech Republic e-mail: jana.krejcova@vse.cz

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_20

The sequence $\gamma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ satisfies

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \gamma_n = \infty. \tag{H1}$$

The most common form of this sequence is $\gamma = n \pm \tau$, where $\tau \in \mathbb{N}$. The sequence $\{p_n\}$ is a sequence of the real numbers and it satisfies $0 \le p_n < 1$. Functions $f_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ for i = 1, ..., 4 satisfy

$$\frac{f_i(u)}{u} \ge 1, \, u \in \mathbb{R} \backslash 0. \tag{H2}$$

This property implies that u and $f_i(u)$ have the same sign for i = 1, ..., 4 and $u \in \mathbb{R} \setminus 0$. Throughout our paper we assume that the system (S) is in the canonical form, which means that the following conditions hold

$$\sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} A_n = \infty, \quad \sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} B_n = \infty, \quad \sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} C_n = \infty.$$
(H3)

By a solution of the system (S), we mean a vector sequence (x, y, z, w) which satisfies the system (S) for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We investigate nonoscillatory solutions in this paper. Therefore, the first important thing is to divide solutions into oscillatory and nonoscillatory.

The component x is said to be nonoscillatory if it is either eventually positive or eventually negative. The non-oscillation of the components y, z, w is defined by the same way. A solution of the system (S) is said to be *nonoscillatory* if all of its components x, y, z, w are nonoscillatory. Otherwise, a solution is said to be *oscillatory*.

Another important property is the boundedness. A solution of the system (S) is said to be *bounded* if all of its components x, y, z, w are bounded. Otherwise, a solution is said to be *unbounded*.

Definition 1. The system (S) has **weak property B** if every nonoscillatory solution of (S) satisfies

$$x_n z_n > 0$$
 and $y_n w_n > 0$ for large n . (1)

Definition 2. The system (S) has **property B** if any nonoscillatory solution of (S) satisfies either

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} |x_n| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |y_n| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |z_n| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |w_n| = \infty,$$
 (2)

or

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} z_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} w_n = 0.$$
 (3)

Solutions satisfying (1) and $x_n y_n > 0$ are called *strongly monotone solutions*, while solutions satisfying (1) and $x_n y_n < 0$ are called *Kneser solutions*. Hence, weak property B means that any nonoscillatory solution is either Kneser or strongly monotone solutions and property B means that these solutions are either unbounded or vanishing at infinity in all their components. Property B is defined in accordance with those for the higher-order differential equations or for the system of differential equations; see [7] and references therein.

In the last few years, great attention has been paid to the study of neutral difference equations. The system (S) is a prototype of even-order neutral systems and can be easily rewritten as a fourth-order nonlinear neutral difference equation. Equations with quasi-differences have been widely studied in the literature; see, for example, [2–6, 8, 9]. Oscillatory properties of solutions of the fourth-order difference equations are investigated in [6]. Their approach is based on studying the considered equation as a four-dimensional difference system, where $\{D_n\}$ is a negative real sequence. Asymptotic properties of neutral type difference equations can be found in [8]. The problem of boundedness of solutions of (S) with $\gamma_n = n - \tau$ has been investigated in the recent paper [1].

The aim of this paper is to investigate asymptotic behavior of nonoscillatory solutions of (S). We are motivated by the paper [2], where asymptotic properties of (S) with $\{p_n\} = \{0\}$ have been investigated. We extend results from [1] and [2]. We give sufficient conditions that (S) has weak property B and property B. This completes the results from [6], where they study property A.

2 Preliminaries

First, we point out some basic properties of (S) which we use to prove the main results of the paper.

Throughout our article, we use the notation

$$s_n = x_n + p_n x_{n-\sigma},\tag{4}$$

where $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Lemma 1. Let $\{x_n\}$ and $\{p_n\}$ be real sequences, where $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and p_n satisfy $0 \le p_n < 1$. Let $\{s_n\}$ be the sequence defined by (4). Then $\{x_n\}$ is bounded if and only if $\{s_n\}$ is bounded.

Moreover, if s is positively increasing for large n, then for large n

$$x_n = s_n - p_n x_{n-\sigma} \ge s_n - p_n s_{n-\sigma} \ge s_{n-\sigma} (1-p_n).$$
⁽⁵⁾

Proof. By (4) and the fact $p_n \ge 0$, we get the equivalency between the boundedness of *x* and *s*.

The second statement follows from the fact $x_n \leq s_n$ and $s_{n-\sigma} \leq s_n$.

Lemma 2 ([6, Lemma 1]). Assume $\lim p_n = P$, 0 < P < 1. If x is bounded and

$$\lim s_n = S \in \mathbb{R}$$

then x is convergent and

$$\lim x_n = \frac{S}{1+P}.$$

In particular, if s tends to zero as $n \to \infty$, then x tends to zero as $n \to \infty$, too.

If the system (S) has a solution (x, y, z, w), then it has the solution (-x, -y, -z, -w) as well. Thus, throughout the paper, we can focus on solutions whose first component is eventually positive for large *n*.

The following lemma describes the possible types of nonoscillatory solutions.

Lemma 3. Any nonoscillatory solution (x, y, z, w) of the system (S) with eventually positive x is one of the following types:

type (a) $x_n > 0$ $y_n > 0$ $z_n > 0$ $w_n > 0$ for large n, type (b) $x_n > 0$ $y_n > 0$ $z_n > 0$ $w_n < 0$ for large n, type (c) $x_n > 0$ $y_n < 0$ $z_n > 0$ $w_n < 0$ for large n.

Proof. Let (x, y, z, w) be a nonoscillatory solution of (S) such that $x_n > 0$ for large n. There are eight possible types of these solutions. We prove that solutions of the following types do not exist:

type (i) $x_n > 0$ $y_n > 0$ $z_n < 0$ $w_n > 0$ for large n, type (ii) $x_n > 0$ $y_n < 0$ $z_n < 0$ $w_n > 0$ for large n, type (iii) $x_n > 0$ $y_n < 0$ $z_n < 0$ $w_n < 0$ for large n, type (iv) $x_n > 0$ $y_n > 0$ $z_n < 0$ $w_n < 0$ for large n, type (v) $x_n > 0$ $y_n < 0$ $z_n > 0$ $w_n < 0$ for large n, type (v) $x_n > 0$ $y_n < 0$ $z_n > 0$ $w_n > 0$ for large n.

First, assume that there exist $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and a solution such that $z_n < 0$, $w_n > 0$ for $n \ge n_1 \ge n_0$. From the fourth equation of (S), we have $\Delta w_n > 0$ and this implies that there exists k > 0 such that $w_n \ge k$ for large *n*. Using (H2) we have $f_3(w_n) \ge w_n \ge k$. By the summation of the third equation of (S), we have

$$z_n - z_{n_0} = \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i f_3(w_i) \ge k \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i.$$

Passing $n \to \infty$, we get a contradiction with the fact that $z_n < 0$. This excludes solutions of types (i) and (ii).

Let us suppose that there exists solution such that $x_n > 0$, $y_n < 0$, $z_n < 0$ for large n. By (4) s is positive and the first equation of (S) implies that s is decreasing for

large *n*. Therefore, *s* is bounded. Since *y* is eventually negatively decreasing, there exists h < 0 such that $y_n \le h$. Using (H2) we have $f_1(y_n) \le y_n \le h$. Using the summation of the first equation of (S) and passing $n \to \infty$, we get a contradiction with the boundedness of *s*. Therefore, a solution of type (iii) cannot exist.

Assume that there exists a solution of type (iv). Therefore, we have $z_n < 0$ and z is decreasing for all large n. This implies that there exists l < 0 such that $z_n \le l$ for large n. From (H2) we get $f_2(z_n) \le z_n \le l$. By the summation of the second equation of (S) and passing $n \to \infty$, we get a contradiction with the positivity of y.

Finally, assume that there exists a solution of type (v). Therefore, we have $z_n > 0$ and z is increasing for all large n. This implies that there exists g > 0 such that $z_n \ge g$ for large n. From (H2) we get $f_2(z_n) \ge z_n \ge g$. Using the summation of the second equation of (S), we get a contradiction with negativity of y. Thus, solutions of type (v) cannot exist.

By Definition 1, the system (S) has weak property B if there exist only solutions of type (a) and (c). Solutions of type (a) are called strongly monotone and solutions of type (c) are called Kneser solutions. We have to determine some asymptotic properties of these solutions for the purpose of investigation property B. Properties of strongly monotone solutions are summarized in the following lemma.

Lemma 4. Any solution of type (a) satisfies

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = \infty, \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = \infty, \lim_{n \to \infty} z_n = \infty.$$
 (6)

Proof. Let (x, y, z, w) be a solution of type (a). Because y is positive and increasing, there exists k > 0 such that $y_n \ge k$ for large n. By the summation of the first equation of (S), we get

$$s_n - s_{n_0} = \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} A_i f_1(y_i) \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} A_i y_i \ge k \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} A_i.$$

Passing $n \to \infty$ we get $s_n \to \infty$. Lemma 1 implies that *s* is unbounded if and only if *x* is unbounded. Therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = \infty$.

To prove the other statements, we use similar arguments. Because *z* is eventually positively increasing, there exists h > 0 such that $z_n \ge h$ for large *n*. Using the summation of the second equation of (S), we get $y_n \to \infty$ for $n \to \infty$.

Finally, w is eventually positively increasing; thus, there exists l > 0 such that $w_n \ge l$ for large n. By the summation of the third equation of (S), we obtain that $z_n \to \infty$ for $n \to \infty$.

The following lemma summarizes properties of Kneser solutions.

Lemma 5. Any solution of type (c) satisfies

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = 0, \lim_{n \to \infty} z_n = 0, \lim_{n \to \infty} w_n = 0.$$
⁽⁷⁾

Proof. Assume that the solution (x, y, z, w) is of type (c). Since y is negative and increasing, there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} y_n = k, k \le 0$. If k < 0, then from the summation of the first equation of (S), we get $s_n \to -\infty$ as $n \to \infty$, which is a contradiction with the boundedness of s. Therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty} y_n = 0$.

Since z is eventually positively decreasing, there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} z_n = h \ge 0$. Suppose h > 0. By the summation of the second equation of (S), we obtain a contradiction with the negativity of y. Thus, $\lim_{n\to\infty} z_n = 0$.

Similarly, since *w* is eventually negatively increasing, there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} w_n = l \le 0$. Suppose l < 0. By the summation of the third equation of (S), we obtain a contradiction with the positivity of *z*. Therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty} w_n = 0$.

Now, we can continue to state sufficient conditions for the system (S) to have weak property B and property B.

3 Property B

The first theorem gives the simple criterion that system (S) has property B.

Theorem 1. If

$$\sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} D_n = \infty \tag{8}$$

holds, then the system (S) has property B.

Proof. By Lemma 3, there are only three possible types of nonoscillatory solutions. Assume that (x, y, z, w) is a type (b) solution. Since x is positive, then s is positive and from the first equation of (S) we get that s is increasing. Therefore, by Lemma 1 there exists a real constant k > 0 such that $x_n \ge k$ for large n. By the summation of the fourth equation of (S), we get

$$w_n - w_{n_0} = \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} D_i f_4\left(x_{\gamma_i}\right) \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} D_i x_{\gamma_i} \ge k \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} D_i.$$
(9)

Passing $n \to \infty$ we get the contradiction with the negativity of *w*. Thus, the system (S) does not have solutions of type (b).

If (x, y, z, w) is a solution of type (a), then using the same argument as in the previous and by (9), we get $w_n \to \infty$ for $n \to \infty$. From this fact and Lemma 4, we get that all solutions of type (a) satisfy (2).

If (x, y, z, w) is a solution of type (c), then there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = h, h \ge 0$. If we assume h > 0, then by the summation of the fourth equation of (S), we get a contradiction with the negativity of w. Therefore, $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = 0$. From that fact and Lemma 5, we get that all solutions of type (c) satisfy (3).

Now, we get the assertion by Definition 2.

In view of Theorem 1, in the sequel, we assume $\sum_{n=n_0}^{\infty} D_n < \infty$.

In the following, we state sufficient conditions for the system (S) to have weak property B and property B. To ensure these properties, we have to exclude solutions of type (b). The following theorem gives a condition for the nonexistence of solutions of type (b).

Theorem 2. If

$$\sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} D_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i-1} C_j \right) = \infty$$
(10)

holds, then the system (S) has weak property B.

Proof. By Definition 1, weak property B means that there exist only solutions of types (a) and (c). Assume that (x, y, z, w) is a type (b) solution. Since x is positive and s is positive and increasing, by Lemma 1 there exists k > 0 such that $x_n \ge k$ for large n. By the summation of the fourth equation of (S), we get

$$w_{\infty} - w_n = \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} D_i f_4\left(x_{\gamma_i}\right) \ge \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} D_i x_{\gamma_i} \ge k \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} D_i,$$
(11)
$$-w_n \ge k \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} D_i.$$

Using the summation of the third equation of (S), we have

$$z_n - z_{n_0} = \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i f_3(w_i) \le \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i w_i,$$

$$-z_n + z_{n_0} \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i(-w_i) \ge k \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i\left(\sum_{j=i}^{\infty} D_j\right).$$

Passing $n \to \infty$ and using the change of summation

$$\sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} C_i \left(\sum_{j=i}^{\infty} D_j \right) = \sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} D_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i-1} C_j \right) = \infty,$$

we get the contradiction with the boundedness of z. Thus, solutions of type (b) do not exist and (S) has weak property B.

Theorem 3. Assume $\lim p_n = P$, 0 < P < 1 and

$$\sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} D_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{\gamma_i - \sigma - 1} A_j \left(\sum_{k=n_0}^{j-1} B_k \left(\sum_{l=n_0}^{k-1} C_l \right) \right) \right) = \infty.$$
(12)

In addition, if (10) holds, then the system (S) has property B.

Proof. By Theorem 2, the system (S) has only solutions of types (a) and (c). Let (x, y, z, w) be a solution of type (a). Thus, w is positively increasing, and there exists a constant t > 0 such that $w_n \ge t$ for large n. From the third equation of (S), we get

$$z_n \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i f_3(w_i) \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i w_i \ge t \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} C_i.$$

Substituting this into the second equation of (S), we obtain

$$y_n \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} B_i f_2(z_i) \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} B_i z_i \ge t \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} B_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i-1} C_j \right).$$

Using the first equation of (S), we have

$$s_n \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} A_i f_1(y_i) \ge t \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} A_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i-1} B_j \left(\sum_{k=n_0}^{j-1} C_k \right) \right).$$
(13)

Since *s* is positively increasing, by Lemma 1 the inequality (5) holds. Taking into account $\lim(1-p_n) = 1-P > 0$, there exists p > 0 such that $1-p_n \ge p$; therefore,

 $x_n \ge s_{n-\sigma}(1-p_n) \ge p s_{n-\sigma}.$

Substituting (13) into the fourth equation of (S), we get

$$w_n \ge \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} D_i x_{\gamma_i} \ge p t \sum_{i=n_0}^{n-1} D_i \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{\gamma_i - \sigma - 1} A_j \left(\sum_{k=n_0}^{j-1} B_k \left(\sum_{l=n_0}^{k-1} C_l \right) \right) \right).$$

Passing $n \to \infty$ we get $w_n \to \infty$. From here and Lemma 4, solution of type (a) satisfies (2).

Now assume that (x, y, z, w) is a solution of type (c). By Lemma 5, we have to prove that $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = 0$. Because s is positive and decreasing, it is bounded.

Thus, there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} s_n = S$, $S \ge 0$. By Lemma 2, there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = S/(1+P)$. Put h = S/(1+P). Assume S > 0. Then h > 0. Using Lemma 5, (H2), and the summation from *n* to infinity of the fourth equation of (S), we obtain

$$-w_n \ge h \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} D_i.$$

Substituting and using the summation of the third equation of (S), we have

$$-z_n + z_{n_0} \ge \sum_{j=n_0}^{n-1} C_j(-w_j) \ge h \sum_{j=n_0}^{n-1} C_j\left(\sum_{i=j}^{\infty} D_i\right).$$

Passing $n \to \infty$ and using the change of summation, we get that (10) implies $\sum_{j=n_0}^{\infty} C_j \left(\sum_{i=j}^{\infty} D_i \right) = \infty$. This leads to the contradiction with the boundedness of *z*. Therefore, h = 0.

Now, we get the assertion by Definition 2.

Example 1. Consider the system:

$$\Delta (x_n + Px_{n-\sigma}) = y_n$$

$$\Delta y_n = z_n$$

$$\Delta z_n = w_n$$

$$\Delta w_n = n^{(-2)} f_4 (x_{n+\tau}),$$
(14)

where $0 < P < 1, \tau \in \mathbb{N}$.

The system is in the canonical form. We apply conditions from Theorem 3:

$$\sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} i^{(-2)} \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i+\tau-\sigma-1} \left(\sum_{k=n_0}^{j-1} \left(\sum_{l=n_0}^{k-1} 1 \right) \right) \right) = \infty,$$
$$\sum_{i=n_0}^{\infty} i^{(-2)} \left(\sum_{j=n_0}^{i-1} 1 \right) = \infty.$$

They are all satisfied. Thus, the system (14) has property B.

4 Concluding Remarks

Results of this paper generalized results in [2] and make a motion to study the system (S), for example, when (S) is not in the canonical form.

Another interesting problem is to study (S) with $-1 < p_n < 0$. In this case, the problem is existence of unbounded solution of type $x_n > 0$, $y_n < 0$, $z_n < 0$, $w_n < 0$ for large *n*.

Acknowledgements This paper was processed with contribution of long-term institutional support of research activities by the Faculty of Informatics and Statistics, University of Economics, Prague.

References

- Diblík, Lupinska, B., Ruzickova, M., Zonenberg, J.: Bounded and unbounded nonoscillatory solutions of a four-dimensional nonlinear neutral difference system. Adv. Differ. Equ. **319**, 1– 11 (2015)
- Došlá, Z., Krejčová, J.: Nonoscillatory solutions of the four-dimensional difference system. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 4, 1–11 (2011)
- 3. Došlá, Z., Krejčová, J.: Oscillation of a class of the fourth-order nonlinear difference equations. Adv. Differ. Equ. **99**, 1–14 (2012)
- Došlá, Z., Krejčová, J.: Asymptotic and oscillatory properties of the fourth-order nonlinear difference equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 249, 164–173 (2014)
- Došlá, Z., Krejčová, J., Marini, M.: Minimal and maximal solutions of the fourth-order nonlinear difference equations. Differ. Equ. Appl. 20(12), 1–14 (2014)
- Jankowski, R., Schmeidel, E., Zonenberg, J.: Oscillatory properties of solutions of the fourth order difference equations with quasidifferences. Opusc. Math. 34(4), 789–797 (2014)
- Kiguradze, I.T., Chanturia, A.: Asymptotic Properties of Solutions of Nonautonomous Ordinary Differential Equations. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1993)
- 8. Migda, M., Schmeidel, E.: Convergence of solutions of higher order neutral difference equations with quasi-differences. Tatra Mt. Math. Publ. **63**, 205–213 (2015)
- Thandapani E., Vijaya M.: Oscillatory and asymptotic behavior of fourth order quasilinear difference equations. Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 64, 1–15 (2009)

Comparison Theorems for Weighted Focal Points of Conjoined Bases of Hamiltonian Difference Systems

Julia Elyseeva

Abstract In this paper we prove comparison theorems for the number of weighted focal points of conjoined bases of Hamiltonian difference systems. The notion of a weighted focal point introduced by O. Došlý and J. Elyseeva (Appl. Math. Lett. (43) 2015, 114–119) plays an important role in spectral theory for discrete Hamiltonian eigenvalue problems with nonlinear dependence on the spectral parameter. We present new relations between the numbers of weighted focal points of conjoined bases of two Hamiltonian systems and derive corollaries to these relations generalizing comparison results for the classical number of focal points. The consideration is based on the comparative index theory for symplectic difference systems.

Keywords Hamiltonian difference systems • Weighted focal point • Discrete Sturmian theory • Comparative index

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 39A21, 39A22

1 Introduction

We consider the discrete Hamiltonian systems [3, 15]

 $\Delta x_{k+1} = A_k x_{k+1} + B_k u_k, \quad \Delta u_k = C_k x_{k+1} - A_k^T u_k, \quad \det(I - A_k) \neq 0, \quad (1)$

$$\Delta \hat{x}_{k+1} = \hat{A}_k \hat{x}_{k+1} + \hat{B}_k \hat{u}_k, \quad \Delta \hat{u}_k = \hat{C}_k \hat{x}_{k+1} - \hat{A}_k^T \hat{u}_k, \quad \det\left(I - \hat{A}_k\right) \neq 0, \quad (2)$$

$$k = 0, 1, \dots, N,$$

J. Elyseeva (🖂)

Department of Applied Mathematics, Moscow State University of Technology, Vadkovskii per. 3a, 101472 Moscow, Russia e-mail: elyseeva@mtu-net.ru

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_21

associated with the Hamiltonians

$$\mathscr{H}_{k} = \mathscr{H}_{k}^{T}, \quad \mathscr{H}_{k} = \begin{pmatrix} -C_{k} \ A_{k}^{T} \\ A_{k} \ B_{k} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} = \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k}^{T}, \quad \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} = \begin{pmatrix} -\hat{C}_{k} \ \hat{A}_{k}^{T} \\ \hat{A}_{k} \ \hat{B}_{k} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3)$$

where A_k , B_k , C_k , \hat{A}_k , \hat{B}_k , $\hat{C}_k \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$. System (1) is the most important special case of the discrete symplectic systems

$$y_{k+1} = \mathscr{S}_k y_k, \quad y_k = \begin{pmatrix} x_k \\ u_k \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$
(4)

The matrix \mathscr{S}_k with the blocks \mathscr{A}_k , \mathscr{B}_k , \mathscr{C}_k , $\mathscr{D}_k \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is symplectic, i.e.,

$$\mathscr{S}_{k} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{A}_{k} \ \mathscr{B}_{k} \\ \mathscr{C}_{k} \ \mathscr{D}_{k} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathscr{S}_{k}^{T} J \mathscr{S}_{k} = J, \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, N, \quad (5)$$

I being the $n \times n$ identity matrix. For Hamiltonian system (1), this matrix has the form

$$\mathscr{S}_{k} = \begin{pmatrix} (I - A_{k})^{-1} & (I - A_{k})^{-1}B_{k} \\ C_{k}(I - A_{k})^{-1} & C_{k}(I - A_{k})^{-1}B_{k} + I - A_{k}^{T} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6)

In this paper, we derive comparison results for the number of *weighted* focal points of conjoined bases of (1) and (2). This new notion was introduced in [8] for discrete eigenvalue problems for the Hamiltonian difference systems with nonlinear dependence on spectral parameter. The notion of a weighted focal point coincides with the classical notion of focal points [3, 4, 16] in the case when the symmetric matrix B_k in (1) is nonnegative definite, i.e., $B_k \ge 0$. In the general case, $\operatorname{ind}(B_k) \ne 0$ (here ind *A* is the number of negative eigenvalues of $A = A^T$); the number of weighted focal points is closely related to the notions of *weighted nodes* (for n = 1) and *relative oscillation numbers* (for n > 1) introduced for the Wronskians of solutions of the scalar and matrix difference Sturm–Liouville equations (see [1, 2, 14]). For example, for the discrete Sturm–Liouville equation

$$\Delta(r_k \Delta x_k) - q_k x_{k+1} = 0, \ r_k \neq 0, \ k = 0, \ \dots, N-1$$
(7)

(which can be rewritten in form (1)) the number of (forward) weighted focal points is defined as follows (see [8, Example 2.2])

$$#(x_k) = \begin{cases} 1, & r_k > 0, \ x_k \neq 0, \ x_k x_{k+1} \le 0, \\ -1, & r_k < 0, \ x_{k+1} \neq 0, \ x_k x_{k+1} \le 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(8)

Then, for the case $r_k > 0$, the quantity $\#(x_k) \ge 0$ coincides with the multiplicity of a generalized zero of x_k and takes the values from the set $\{0, 1\}$. For arbitrary $r_k \ne 0$,

we have by (8) that any strictly positive (negative) solution x_k of Eq. (7) is weighted nonoscillatory, i.e., $\#(x_k) = 0, k \ge 0$. Note that for any other nontrivial solution \hat{x}_k of (7), in this case we have the estimate $|\#(\hat{x}, 0, N)| \le 1, \#(\hat{x}, 0, N) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \#(\hat{x}_k)$ (see the next section), and then for the total number $l(\hat{x}, 0, N)$ of generalized zeros in (0, N + 1], we derive $\sum_{k=0}^{N} \operatorname{ind}(r_k) - 1 \le l(\hat{x}, 0, N) \le \sum_{k=0}^{N} \operatorname{ind}(r_k) + 1$, where $\operatorname{ind}(r_k) = 1$ for $r_k < 0$ and $\operatorname{ind}(r_k) = 0, r_k > 0$. For example, this estimate holds for any nontrivial solution of the Fibonacci sequence $x_{k+2} = x_{k+1} + x_k$ rewritten in form (7) with $r_k = (-1)^k$. So we see that the notion of a weighted focal point can be useful in the investigation of the oscillatory behavior of conjoined bases of (1) with respect to the behavior of $\sum \operatorname{ind}(B_k)$.

In this paper, we present analogs of classical comparison theorems [5–7, 11] for weighted focal points (see Sect. 3). So we prove an analog of [11, Theorem 2.1] presenting relations between the number of weighted focal points of conjoined bases of (1) and (2) (see Theorem 1). Then we derive corollaries to Theorem 1 based on the modified majorant condition $\mathscr{H}_k \geq \mathscr{H}_k$ for the discrete Hamiltonians (3). Note that this condition coincides with the classical one for discrete Hamiltonian systems [5, 7] if and only if $\operatorname{ind}(\hat{B}_k) = \operatorname{ind}(B_k)$ (see Corollary 2 in the next section). In the general case, the classical majorant condition is not assumed to be satisfied in the results of Sect. 3.

2 Number of Weighted Focal Points

We will use the following notation. For a matrix A, we denote by A^T , A^{-1} , A^{\dagger} , rank A and ind A, respectively, its transpose, inverse, Moore–Penrose pseudoinverse, rank (i.e., the dimension of its image), and index (i.e., the number of its negative eigenvalues). We use the notation Sp(2m) for the group of symplectic matrices of the dimension 2m, and we also use the notation ΔA_k for the forward difference operator $A_{k+1} - A_k$. By I and 0, we denote the identity and zero matrices of appropriate dimensions.

Recall now some basic concepts of the oscillation theory of symplectic difference systems (4) (see [4]).

A $2n \times n$ matrix solution $Y_k = \begin{pmatrix} X_k \\ U_k \end{pmatrix}$ of (4) with $n \times n$ matrices X_k , U_k is said to be a *conjoined basis* if

$$\operatorname{rank} Y_k = n \quad \text{and} \quad X_k^T U_k = U_k^T X_k \tag{9}$$

and the conjoined basis Y_k of (4) with the initial condition $Y_M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ l \end{pmatrix}$ at k = M is said to be *the principal solution* at M.

The concept of multiplicity of a focal point of a conjoined basis Y_k of (4) was introduced in [16] as follows. Let

$$M_{k} = (I - X_{k+1} X_{k+1}^{\dagger}) \mathscr{B}_{k}, \ T_{k} = I - M_{k}^{\dagger} M_{k}, \ P_{k} = T_{k}^{T} X_{k} X_{k+1}^{\dagger} \mathscr{B}_{k} T_{k},$$

then obviously $M_k T_k = 0$, and it can be shown (see [16]) that the matrix P_k is symmetric. The *multiplicity* of a *forward focal point* of the conjoined basis Y_k in the interval (k, k + 1] is defined as the number

$$m(Y_k) := m_1(Y_k) + m_2(Y_k), \quad m_1(Y_k) := \operatorname{rank} M_k, \quad m_2(Y_k) := \operatorname{ind} P_k.$$
 (10)

Based on the previous definition, we introduce the number of weighted focal points as follows (see [8]).

Definition 1. A conjoined basis Y_k of Hamiltonian difference system (1) has a *weighted (forward) focal point in* (k, k + 1] if $m(Y_k) - ind(B_k) \neq 0$. In this case, the number of weighted (forward) focal points in (k, k + 1] is defined as

$$\#_k = \#(Y_k) := m(Y_k) - \operatorname{ind}(B_k), \tag{11}$$

where $m(Y_k)$ is given by (10).

Note that we have the estimate for $\#(Y_k)$ (see [8])

$$|\#(Y_k)| \leq \operatorname{rank} B_k \leq n.$$

Another important estimate for the number of weighted focal points of conjoined bases *Y*, \hat{Y} of (1) follows from the separation result (see [10, Corollary 3.1] and [9]) $|l(Y, 0, N) - l(\hat{Y}, 0, N)| \le \operatorname{rank} w(Y, \hat{Y}) \le n$, $l(Y, 0, N) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} m(Y_k)$, where the Wronskian given by

$$w(Y, \hat{Y}) = Y^T J \hat{Y} \tag{12}$$

is constant for conjoined bases of Hamiltonian system (1) (see [4]). Using (11), we have the same estimate for weighted focal points of conjoined bases of (1)

$$|\#(Y,0,N) - \#(\hat{Y},0,N)| \le \operatorname{rank} w(Y,\hat{Y}) \le n, \ \#(Y,0,N) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \#(Y_k).$$
 (13)

The main results of this paper are based on the comparative index theory established in [10, 11]. According to [10], we define the comparative index for $2n \times n$ matrices Y, \hat{Y} with condition (9) using the notation

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{M} = (I - XX^{\dagger})\hat{X}, X = [I \ 0]Y, \hat{X} = [I \ 0]\hat{Y}, \\ \mathcal{T} = I - \mathcal{M}^{\dagger}\mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}^{T} = \mathcal{T}w^{T}(Y, \hat{Y})X^{\dagger}\hat{X}\mathcal{T}, \end{cases}$$

where $w(Y, \hat{Y})$ is the Wronskian given by (12). The comparative index is defined by $\mu(Y, \hat{Y}) = \mu_1(Y, \hat{Y}) + \mu_2(Y, \hat{Y})$, where $\mu_1(Y, \hat{Y}) = \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{M}$ and $\mu_2(Y, \hat{Y}) =$ ind \mathcal{D} . According to [11, p. 449, Property 7] for the comparative index, we have the estimate

$$0 \le \mu(Y, \hat{Y}) \le \operatorname{rank} w(Y, \hat{Y}) \le n.$$
(14)

Comparison theorems for symplectic difference systems derived in [11] are based on the following notion of the comparative index for a pair of symplectic matrices. Here, we use the notation

$$\langle \mathscr{S} \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{X} \\ \mathscr{U} \end{pmatrix}, \ \mathscr{X} = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ \mathscr{A} & \mathscr{B} \end{pmatrix}, \ \mathscr{U} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I \\ \mathscr{C} & \mathscr{D} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathscr{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{A} & \mathscr{B} \\ \mathscr{C} & \mathscr{D} \end{pmatrix}$$

for arbitrary symplectic matrix \mathscr{S} separated into $n \times n$ blocks $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}, \mathscr{C}, \mathscr{D}$ according to (5). In [11, Lemma 2.3], we proved that $4n \times 2n$ matrices $\langle \mathscr{S} \rangle$, $\langle \hat{\mathscr{S}} \rangle$ associated with $\mathscr{S}, \hat{\mathscr{S}} \in Sp(2n)$ obey (9) (with *n* replaced by 2*n*) and then the comparative index for the pair $\langle \mathscr{S} \rangle$, $\langle \hat{\mathscr{S}} \rangle$ is well defined. For the comparative index of the symplectic coefficient matrices \mathscr{S}_k , $\hat{\mathscr{S}}_k$ associated with (1) and (2) by (6), we derive the following result.

Lemma 1. Let \mathscr{S}_k , $\hat{\mathscr{S}}_k$ be the symplectic coefficient matrices associated with (1) and (2) via (6), then

$$\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) = \operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_k - \hat{\mathscr{H}}_k) + \operatorname{ind}(\hat{B}_k) - \operatorname{ind}(B_k),$$
(15)

where \mathscr{H}_k , $\hat{\mathscr{H}}_k$ are the discrete Hamiltonians given by (3).

Proof. Using (6) it is easy to verify by direct computations that

$$L\langle \mathscr{S}_{k} \rangle P = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ A_{k} & B_{k} \\ C_{k} - A_{k}^{T} \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = \mathfrak{N}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -\mathscr{H}_{k} \end{pmatrix}, \ L = \operatorname{diag} \left(\begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} I & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right),$$
$$\mathfrak{N} = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \\ 0 - I & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $L, \mathfrak{N} \in Sp(4n)$ and $P = \begin{pmatrix} I - A_k - B_k \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$. Since det $P \neq 0$ and L is symplectic block diagonal, we can apply [10, p. 448, Properties 1,2] evaluating

$$\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) = \mu(L \langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle P, L \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle \hat{P}) = \mu\left(\mathfrak{N}^T \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -\mathscr{H}_k \end{pmatrix}, \mathfrak{N}^T \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -\hat{\mathscr{H}}_k \end{pmatrix}\right),$$

where \hat{P} associated with (2) is defined by analogy with *P*.

Next, applying [10, Theorem 2.2] with $W = \mathfrak{N}, Z[0I]^T = \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -\mathscr{H}_k \end{pmatrix}, \hat{Z}[0I]^T = \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -\mathscr{H}_k \end{pmatrix}$, we derive

$$\mu\left(\mathfrak{N}^{T}\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix},\mathfrak{N}^{T}\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix}\right) = \mu\left(\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix}\right) + \mu\left(\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix},\mathfrak{N}\begin{pmatrix}0\\I\end{pmatrix}\right) - \mu\left(\begin{pmatrix}I\\-\mathscr{H}_{k}\end{pmatrix},\mathfrak{N}\begin{pmatrix}0\\I\end{pmatrix}\right),$$
(16)

where we have used [10, p. 449, Property 9]. By the definition of the comparative index, the addends in the right-hand side of (16) coincide with the respective addends in (15). The proof is completed. \Box

Corollary 1. The condition

$$\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) = 0 \tag{17}$$

holds if and only if

$$\operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_k - \mathscr{\hat{H}}_k) = \operatorname{ind}(B_k) - \operatorname{ind}(\hat{B}_k)$$
(18)

Corollary 2. The condition

$$\mathscr{H}_k \ge \mathscr{\hat{H}}_k \tag{19}$$

and (17) are simultaneously satisfied if and only if ind $\hat{B}_k = \text{ind } B_k$.

3 Main Results

In this section, we derive relations between the number of weighted focal points of conjoined bases of (1) and (2) (compare with [11, Theorem 2.1]).

Theorem 1. Let Y_k , \hat{Y}_k be conjoined bases of (1) and (2) and Z_k , \hat{Z}_k be symplectic fundamental matrices of these systems such that the conditions $Y_k = Z_k[0 I]^T$, $\hat{Y}_k = \hat{Z}_k[0 I]^T$ hold. Then for the numbers $\#(Y_k)$, $\#(\hat{Y}_k)$ of weighted focal points of Y_k , \hat{Y}_k in (k, k + 1], we have the relation

$$#(\hat{Y}_{k}) - #(Y_{k}) + \Delta \mu(Y_{k}, \hat{Y}_{k}) = \operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_{k} - \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k}) - \mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_{k}^{-1} Z_{k} \rangle), \quad (20)$$

and hence

$$#(\hat{Y}, M, N) - #(Y, M, N) + \mu(Y_{N+1}, \hat{Y}_{N+1}) - \mu(Y_M, \hat{Y}_M) = \sum_{k=M}^{N} (\operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_k - \hat{\mathscr{H}}_k) - \mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_k^{-1} Z_k \rangle)),$$
(21)

where $#(\hat{Y}, M, N)$, #(Y, M, N) are the numbers of (forward) weighted focal points in (M, N + 1].

Proof. For the proof we use [11, Theorem 2.1] and [7, Theorem 3.3]. Under the notation of Theorem 1, we have the following relation between the classical number $m(Y_k)$, $m(\hat{Y}_k)$ of focal points of conjoined bases Y_k , \hat{Y}_k of symplectic difference systems with the coefficient matrices \mathscr{S}_k , $\hat{\mathscr{S}}_k$

$$m(\hat{Y}_k) - m(Y_k) + \Delta \mu(Y_k, \hat{Y}_k) = \mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) - \mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_k^{-1} Z_k \rangle).$$
(22)

Substituting into (22) representation (15) for $\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle)$ and using Definition 1 of the number of weighted focal points, we derive (20). Summing (20) from k = 0 to k = N, we prove (21). The proof is completed.

Corollary 3. For the left-hand side of (20), we have the estimate

$$-\mathrm{ind}(\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} - \mathscr{H}_{k}) \leq \#(\hat{Y}_{k}) - \#(Y_{k}) + \Delta\mu(Y_{k}, \hat{Y}_{k}) \leq \mathrm{ind}(\mathscr{H}_{k} - \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k})$$
(23)

and then

$$-\sum_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{ind}(\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} - \mathscr{H}_{k}) - \mu(Y_{N+1}, \hat{Y}_{N+1}) \leq \#(\hat{Y}, M, N) - \#(Y, M, N)$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_{k} - \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k}) + \mu(Y_{M}, \hat{Y}_{M})$$
(24)

Proof. The right inequality in (23) is the direct consequence of (20) because $\mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_{k}^{-1} Z_{k} \rangle) \ge 0$. The left inequality is based on the equality (see [11, Theorem 2.1])

$$\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) - \mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_k^{-1} Z_k \rangle)$$

= $\mu(\langle \hat{Z}_k^{-1} Z_k \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1} Z_{k+1} \rangle) - \mu(\langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle, \langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle),$ (25)

then, using (25) by analogy with the proof of Theorem 1, we derive

$$\operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{H}_{k}-\mathscr{\hat{H}}_{k})-\mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1}Z_{k+1}\rangle,\langle \hat{Z}_{k}^{-1}Z_{k}\rangle)=\mu(\langle \hat{Z}_{k}^{-1}Z_{k}\rangle,\langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1}Z_{k+1}\rangle)-\operatorname{ind}(\mathscr{\hat{H}}_{k}-\mathscr{H}_{k}).$$
(26)

The left inequality in (23) follows from (26) because $\mu(\langle \hat{Z}_k^{-1}Z_k \rangle, \langle \hat{Z}_{k+1}^{-1}Z_{k+1} \rangle) \ge 0$. Summing (23) and using that any comparative index is nonnegative, we derive (24).

So we see that inequality (24) generalizes estimate (13) to the case when Y, \hat{Y} are conjoined bases of (1) and (2) (note that $\mu(Y, \hat{Y}) \leq n$ by (14)).

Corollary 4. Assume (19); then for any conjoined bases Y_k , \hat{Y}_k of (1) and (2), we have

$$-\sum_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{rank}(\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} - \mathscr{H}_{k}) - n \le \#(\hat{Y}, M, N) - \#(Y, M, N) \le n,$$
(27)

in particular, if \hat{Y}_k is the principal solution of (2) at M, then

$$-\sum_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{rank}(\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} - \mathscr{H}_{k}) - n \le \#(\hat{Y}, M, N) - \#(Y, M, N) \le 0,$$
(28)

Remark 1. (i) Note that the classical majorant condition (17) (see [7, formula (2.13)]) for systems (1) and (2) is not assumed in the results of this section. In particular, under assumption (19) we have $\mu(\langle \mathscr{S}_k \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathscr{S}}_k \rangle) = \operatorname{ind}(\hat{B}_k) - \operatorname{ind}(B_k) \ge 0$. If we assume (19) and #(Y, M, N) = 0, we have by (28) that

$$-\sum_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{rank}(\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{k} - \mathscr{H}_{k}) - n \le \#(\hat{Y}, M, N) \le 0$$
(29)

for the principal solution \hat{Y}_k of (2) at *M*, i.e., the number of weighted focal points of this solution is non-positive.

- (ii) If we assume majorant condition (17), then for the classical number of focal points of Y, \hat{Y} in (M, N + 1], we have by Corollary 1 and (24) that $l(\hat{Y}, M, N) l(Y, M, N) \leq n$ and $l(\hat{Y}, M, N) l(Y, M, N) \leq 0$ when \hat{Y}_k is the principal solution of (2) at M (see [6, Theorems 1.2,1.3]). In particular, l(Y, M, N) = 0 implies $l(\hat{Y}, M, N) = 0$ for the principal solution of (2) at M (compare with (29)).
- (iii) As it was pointed out in [8, Remark 2.8(ii)], the notion of a weighted focal point is important in the development of the relative oscillation theory for Hamiltonian eigenvalue problems. Relative oscillation theory developed for *linear* symplectic spectral problems in [12, 13] measures the difference between the spectra of *two* different eigenvalue problems, rather than measuring the spectrum of one single problem only. Similar results, incorporating the new notion of weighted focal points, we hope to prove for discrete eigenvalue problems with the different Hamiltonians $\mathscr{H}_k(\lambda)$, $\mathscr{H}_k(\lambda)$. Theorem 1 is the first step in this direction.

Acknowledgements This research is supported by the Federal Programme of Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation in the framework of the state order [grant number 2014/105].

References

- 1. Ammann, K.: Relative oscillation theory for Jacobi matrices extended. Oper. Matrices 8, 99–115 (2014)
- Ammann, K., Teschl, G.: Relative oscillation theory for Jacobi matrices. In: Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Difference Equations and Applications (Istanbul, 2008), pp. 105–115. Uğur-Bahçesşehir University Publishing Company, Istanbul (2009)

- Bohner, M.: Linear Hamiltonian difference systems: disconjugacy and Jacobi-type conditions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 199, 804–826 (1996)
- Bohner, M., Došlý, O.: Disconjugacy and transformations for symplectic systems. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 27, 707–743 (1997)
- Bohner, M., Došlý, O., Kratz, W.: Inequalities and asymptotics for Riccati matrix difference operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 221, 262–286 (1998)
- Bohner, M., Došlý, O., Kratz, W.: Sturmian and spectral theory for discrete symplectic systems. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 361, 3109–3123 (2009)
- Došlý, O., Elyseeva, J.: Singular comparison theorems for discrete symplectic systems. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. 20(8), 1268–1288 (2014)
- Došlý, O., Elyseeva, J.: Discrete oscillation theorems and weighted focal points for Hamiltonian difference systems with nonlinear dependence on a spectral parameter. Appl. Math. Lett. 43, 114–119 (2015)
- Došlý, O., Kratz, W.: A Sturmian separation theorem for symplectic difference systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 325, 333–341 (2007)
- Eliseeva, Yu. V.: Comparative index for solutions of symplectic difference systems. Differ. Equ. 45, 445–457 (2009)
- Eliseeva, Yu. V.: Comparison theorems for symplectic systems of difference equations. Diff. Equ. 46, 1329–1342 (2010)
- Elyseeva, J.: On relative oscillation theory for symplectic eigenvalue problems. Appl. Math. Lett. 23, 1231–1237 (2010)
- 13. Elyseeva, J.: A note on relative oscillation theory for symplectic difference systems with general boundary conditions. Appl. Math. Lett. **25**, 1809–1814 (2012)
- 14. Elyseeva, J.V.: Relative oscillation theory for matrix Sturm-Liouville difference equations extended. Adv. Differ. Equ. **2013**, 328 (2013). Available at http://www. advancesindifferenceequations.com/content/2013/1/328
- Erbe L., Yan P.: Disconjugacy for linear Hamiltonian difference systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 167, 355–367 (1992)
- 16. Kratz, W.: Discrete oscillation. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. 9(1), 135-147 (2003)

Interpolation Method of Shalva Mikeladze with Following Applications

Liana Karalashvili

Abstract The paper deals with the numerical method of Shalva Mikeladze, the accuracy of which depends on the number of interpolation points. The method called the method without saturation is devoted to the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations. It is constructed on the basis of an interpolation formula to solve numerically linear and nonlinear ordinary differential equations of any order and systems of such equations. Using its different versions, it is possible to solve boundary value, eigenvalue, and Cauchy problems (Mikeladze, Soobsh AN GSSR 45(2):284–296, 1967 and Mikeladze, Soobsh AN GSSR 47(2):263–268, 1967). This method in combination with the method of lines can also be applied to solve boundary value problems for partial differential equations of elliptic type (Makarov, Karalashvili, Soobsh AN GSSR 131(1):33–36, 1988). As a model, the Dirichlet problem for a Poisson equation in the symmetric rectangle is considered. This application created a semi-discrete difference scheme with matrices of central symmetry having certain properties.

Keywords Method without saturation • Interpolation points • Boundary value problem • Centro-symmetric matrices

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 35J25, 65N40

1 Introduction

In the 60s of the last century, several works of Shalva Mikeladze [5, 6] were published, where he proposed a new numerical method of solving ordinary differential equations. The method was based on his general interpolation formula for solving numerically any order linear and nonlinear ordinary differential equations and systems of such equations

L. Karalashvili (🖂)

School of Informatics, Engineering and Mathematics, The University of Georgia, 77a Kostava Street, 0171 Tbilisi, Georgia e-mail: liana.qaralashvili@yahoo.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_22

L. Karalashvili

$$y^{(k)}(a+ht_{\beta}) = H_{n,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} + h^{n-k} \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} A_{\nu,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} y^{(n)}(a+ht_{\nu}) + R_{m,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}},$$
(1)

where

$$H_{n,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} = \sum_{\lambda=0}^{n-k-1} (t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha})^{\lambda} \frac{h^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} y^{(k+\lambda)} (a + ht_{\alpha}), \quad A_{\nu,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} = \frac{1}{(n-k-1)!} \\ \times \sum_{\mu=\nu}^{m} \left[\prod_{\substack{s=1\\s \neq \nu}}^{\mu} (t_{\nu} - t_{s}) \right]^{-1} \int_{t_{\alpha}}^{t_{\beta}} (t_{\beta} - t)^{n-k-1} P_{\mu-1} (t) dt, \quad (2) \\ R_{m,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} = \frac{h^{m+n-k}}{(n-k-1)!} \\ \times \int_{t_{\alpha}}^{t_{\beta}} (t_{\beta} - t)^{n-k-1} P_{m} (t) y^{(n)} (a + ht, a + ht_{1}, \dots, a + ht_{m}) dt, \quad (3)$$

 $h = \frac{(b-a)}{m+1}$, (b-a) is the length of integration segment, $k = \overline{0, n-1}$, $\beta = \overline{1, m+1}$.

Formula (1) in different versions can be used to solve boundary value, eigenvalue, and Cauchy problems.

The same formula can also be obtained by means of the Lagrange interpolation formula [2], in which

$$A_{\nu,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} = \frac{1}{(n-k-1)!} \int_{t_{\alpha}}^{t_{\beta}} \left(t_{\beta} - t \right)^{n-k-1} l_{\nu}^{m}(t) \, dt, \tag{4}$$

where $l_j^{(m)}(t) = \frac{(t-1)(t-2)\dots(t-m)}{(t-j)(j-1)!(-1)^{m-j}(m-j)!}, j = \overline{1, m}$ are Lagrange fundamental polynomials.

Because of the uniqueness of interpolation polynomials (2) and (4), they are identical. In the case of equidistant location of interpolation points on the integration segment $t_{\beta} = \beta$, $t_{\alpha} = 0$, formula (2) can be simplified for easy calculations.

2 Semi-Discrete Scheme for the Dirichlet Problem with a Poisson Equation

One of the methods of solving partial differential equations is the well-known method of lines [1]. According to this method, in the two-dimensional case, the discretization of a differential operator is carried out by one independent variable, and the initial problem is reduced to a system of ordinary differential equations.

236

Here, we use the method of lines which is modified with the aid of Mikeladze's formula. This modified method establishes the relation between the function u(x, y) and its second-order partial derivatives by *y* variable with a constant step *h*

$$u(x, -b + ih) = H_{2,0}^{0,i} + h^2 \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} \frac{\partial^2 u(x, -b + \nu h)}{\partial y^2} + R_{m,0}^{0,i}(x),$$
(5)

where

$$H_{2,0}^{0,i} = \sum_{\lambda=0}^{1} \frac{(ih)^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda} u(x, -b)}{\partial y^{2}}, \quad A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} = \int_{0}^{i} (i-t) \cdot l_{\nu}^{(m)}(t) dt$$
(6)

$$R_{m,0}^{0,i}(x) = h^{m+2} \int_0^i (i-t) \\ \times P_m(t) \frac{\partial^2 u(x, -b + ht, -b + h, \dots, -b + mh)}{\partial y^2} dt.$$
(7)

Let us assume that at any region Ω , the function u(x, y) has m + 2 partial derivatives with respect to the variable y. Using (5) we obtain

$$u(x, y + (i + 1)h) - 2u(x, y + ih) + u(x, y + (i - 1)h)$$

= $h^2 \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \Delta_i^2 A_{\nu,0}^{0,i-1} \frac{\partial^2 u(x, y + \nu h)}{\partial y^2} + \Delta_i^2 R_{m,0}^{0,i-1}.$ (8)

It is required to find a function, which is a solution of the following boundary value problem

$$\frac{\partial^2 u\left(x,y\right)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u\left(x,y\right)}{\partial y^2} = -f(x,y), \quad (x,y) \in \Omega u(x,y) = 0, \quad (x,y) \in \Gamma.$$
(9)

Let us cover the region $\Omega = \{(x, y) | -a \le x \le a; -b \le y \le b\}$ by the lines $y = y_i = -b + ih$, $i = \overline{1, m}$, which are parallel to the *x*-axis with the interval h = 2b/(m + 1). Denote $u_i(x) = u(x, y_i)$ and $f_i(x) = f(x, y_i)$. Each triple of functions $u_{i-1}(x)$, $u_i(x)$, $u_{i+1}(x)$ satisfies equality (8) which we rewrite as follows

$$-\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} (A_{\nu,0}^{0,i+1} - 2A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} + A_{\nu,0}^{0,i-1}) \frac{\partial^2 u(x,y)}{\partial y^2} \Big|_{y=y_{\nu}} + h^{-2} [u_{i+1}(x) - 2u_i(x) + u_{i-1}(x)] = h^{-2} \Delta \nabla_i R_{m,0}^{0,i}.$$

But by virtue of Eq. (9), we have the relation $\frac{\partial^2 u(x, y)}{\partial y^2}\Big|_{y=y_\nu} = -f_\nu(x) - u''_\nu(x)$. Substituting this expression into the preceding equality, we obtain the following system of ordinary differential equations

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} (A_{\nu,0}^{0,i+1} - 2A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} + A_{\nu,0}^{0,i-1}) [u_{\nu}''(x) + f_{\nu}(x)] + h^{-2} [u_{i+1}(x) - 2u_{i}(x) + u_{i-1}(x)] = h^{-2} \Delta \nabla_{i} R_{m,0}^{0,i},$$
(10)
$$x \in (-a, a), u_{0}(x) = u_{m+1}(x) = 0, u_{i}(\pm a) = 0, \quad i = \overline{1, m},$$

where

$$\Delta \nabla_i R^{0,i}_{m,0} = R^{0,i+1}_{m,0}(x) - 2R^{0,i}_{m,0}(x) + R^{0,i-1}_{m,0}(x), \qquad (11)$$

Neglecting the remainders and denoting the approximate solutions by $v_i(x)$, we get the semi-discrete scheme of the modified method of lines

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} a_{i\nu}^{(m)} [v_{\nu}^{\prime\prime}(x) + f_{\nu}(x)] + h^{-2} [v_{i+1}(x) - 2v_i(x) + v_{i-1}(x)] = 0, \quad (12)$$

where

$$a_{i\nu}^{(m)} = A_{\nu,0}^{0,i+1} - 2A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} + A_{\nu,0}^{0,i-1} = \Delta \nabla_i A_{\nu,0}^{0,i}$$
(13)
$$v_0(x) = v_{m+1}(x) = 0, \quad x \in (-a,a), \quad v_i(\pm a) = 0, \quad i = \overline{1,m}.$$

Let us write (10) and (12) in the vector-matrix form

$$A(U'' + F) + h^{-2}MU = h^{-2}MR, \quad U(\pm a) = 0$$
(14)

$$A(V'' + F) + h^{-2}MV = 0, \quad V(\pm a) = 0, \tag{15}$$

where

$$A = A_m = [a_{ij}^{(m)}]_{i,j=1}^m, \quad M = M_m = [1, -2, 1]_{i,j=1}^m,$$

$$U = (u_1(x), u_2(x), \dots, u_m(x))^T,$$

$$V = (v_1(x), v_2(x), \dots, v_m(x))^T, \quad F = (f_1(x), f_2(x), \dots, f_m(x))^T,$$

$$R = (R_{m,0}^{0,1}(x), R_{m,0}^{0,2}(x), \dots, R_{m,0}^{0,m}(x))^T.$$

In the case of equidistant lines, $a_{ij}^{(m)} = \Delta \nabla_i A_{\nu,0}^{0,i}$ can be transformed to the following form, convenient for calculations

Interpolation Method of Shalva Mikeladze with Following Applications

$$a_{ij}^{(m)} = \int_{i-1}^{i} \int_{z}^{z+1} l_{j}^{(m)}(t) dt dz$$
(16)

$$a_{ij}^{(m)} = 2 \int_0^1 \int_z^{2z} l_j^{(m)} \left(t + i - 1\right) dt dz$$
(17)

$$a_{ij}^{(m)} = \int_0^1 (1-x) \left[l_j^{(m)} \left(x+i \right) + l_j^{(m)} \left(-x+i \right) \right] dx.$$
(18)

As to the matrices in semi-discrete scheme (15), we may say that $M_m = [1, -2, 1]_1^m$ is a three-diagonal non-singular double-symmetric matrix (symmetric and centrosymmetric), corresponding to the second difference derivative with the well-studied properties. As to the matrix A_m , it is a centrosymmetric matrix with certain properties, which behaves as a unit matrix. If we multiply matrix-vector Eq. (15) from the left by M^{-1} and solve the eigenvalue problem for the matrix $B = M^{-1}A$, then the system of differential Eq. (12) splits into *m* equations with only one unknown function in each equation and can be solved by the well-known methods.

3 Order of Approximation

Let us first check whether (12) tends to the initial equation when step h = 2b/(m+1) tends to zero:

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{v_{i+1}(x) - 2v_i(x) + v_{i-1}(x)}{h^2} = -\lim_{h \to 0} \sum_{\nu=1}^m a_{i\nu}^{(m)} [v_{\nu}^{\prime\prime}(x) + f_{\nu}(x)].$$

Expanding the right side of this equality into a Taylor series at the point $y_i = -b+ih$, we obtain

$$-\frac{\partial^2 v(x,y)}{\partial y^2}\Big|_{y=y_\nu} = \left[f(x,y_\nu) + \frac{\partial^2 v(x,y_\nu)}{\partial x^2}\right] \sum_{\nu=1}^m a_{i\nu}^{(m)}$$
$$+\lim_{h\to 0} \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \frac{h^j}{j!} \left[\frac{\partial^j f(x,y_i)}{\partial y^j} + \frac{\partial^{j+2} v(x,y_\nu)}{\partial x^2 \partial y^j}\right] \times \sum_{\nu=1}^m (\nu-i)^j a_{i\nu}^{(m)}.$$

Lemma 3.1. For the numbers $A_{v,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}}$, the following relation is fulfilled

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} (t_{\nu} - t_{\alpha})^{\mu} A_{\nu,k}^{t_{\alpha},t_{\beta}} = \frac{(t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha})^{\mu+n-k}}{(\mu+n-k)!} \mu!, \quad \mu = \overline{1, m-1}.$$
 (19)

For the considered problem (9), formula (19) ($t_{\nu} = \nu$, $t_{\alpha} = 0$, n = 2, k = 0) takes the form

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \nu^{\mu} A_{\nu,0}^{0,i} = \frac{i^{\mu+2} \mu!}{(\mu+2)!}, \quad \mu = \overline{0, m-1}$$
(20)

Since $a_{i\nu}^{(m)} = \Delta_i^2 A_{\nu,0}^{0,i}$, by (21) we have

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \nu^{\mu} a_{i\nu}^{(m)} = \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \nu^{\mu} \Delta_{i}^{2} A_{\nu,0}^{0,i}$$
$$= \Delta_{i}^{2} \frac{(i-1)^{\mu+2} \mu!}{(\mu+2)!} = \frac{\mu!}{(\mu+2)!} \left[(i-1)^{\mu+2} - 2i^{\mu+2} + (i+1)^{\mu+2} \right]$$
(21)

Using Lemma 3.1 and the properties of binomial coefficients, after some further simplifications, we come to

$$-\frac{\partial^2 v\left(x, y_i\right)}{\partial y^2} = f\left(x, y_i\right) + \frac{\partial^2 v\left(x, y_i\right)}{\partial x^2} + 2\lim_{h \to 0} \sum_{j=1}^{\left[\frac{m+1}{2}\right]} \frac{h^{2j}}{(2j+2)!} \left[\frac{\partial^{2j} f\left(x, y_i\right)}{\partial y^{2j}} + \frac{\partial^{2j+2} v\left(x, y_i\right)}{\partial x^2 \partial y^{2j}}\right].$$
 (22)

Since this limit equals zero, we obtain the initial Eq. (9).

Using the above notations $v_i(x) = v(x, y_i)$, $v_i(x) + f_i(x) = -\frac{\partial^2 v(x, y)}{\partial y^2} |_{y=y_i}$ in (12) and expanding the unknown function and its second derivative by y into a Taylor series at the point $y = y_0 = -b$, we have

$$v(x, y_i) = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{m+1} \frac{(ih)^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda} v(x, -b)}{\partial y^{\lambda}} + O(h^{m+2})$$
$$\frac{\partial^2 v(x, y_v)}{\partial y^2} = \sum_{\lambda=0}^{m-1} \frac{(vh)^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda+2} v(x, -b)}{\partial y^{\lambda+2}} + O(h^m).$$
(23)

Let us substitute (23) into (12), then

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} a_{i\nu}^{(m)} \left\{ -\sum_{\lambda=0}^{m-1} \frac{(\nu h)^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda+2} \nu (x, -b)}{\partial y^{\lambda+2}} + O(h^m) \right\}$$
$$+ h^{-2} \left\{ \sum_{\lambda=0}^{m+1} \frac{h^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda} \nu (x, -b)}{\partial y^{\lambda}} \left[(i+1)^{\lambda} - 2i^{\lambda} + (i-1)^{\lambda} \right] \right\} + O(h^m)$$

$$= \sum_{\lambda=0}^{m-1} \frac{h^{\lambda}}{\lambda!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda+2} v(x,-b)}{\partial y^{\lambda+2}} \left(-\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \nu^{\lambda} a_{i\nu}^{(m)} \right) + \sum_{\lambda=0}^{m-1} \frac{h^{\lambda}}{(\lambda+2)!} \frac{\partial^{\lambda+2} v(x,-b)}{\partial y^{\lambda+2}} \Delta_i^2 (i-1)^{\lambda+2} + O(h^m).$$

By (21) we have

$$=\sum_{\lambda=0}^{m-1}\frac{h^{\lambda}}{\lambda!}\frac{\partial^{\lambda+2}v\left(x,-b\right)}{\partial y^{\lambda+2}}\left\{-\Delta_{i}^{2}\frac{\left(i-1\right)^{\lambda+2}\lambda!}{\left(\lambda+2\right)!}+\Delta_{i}^{2}\frac{\left(i-1\right)^{\lambda+2}}{\left(\lambda+1\right)\left(\lambda+2\right)}\right\}+O\left(h^{m}\right).$$

Lemma 3.2. If the solution of problem (9) $u(x, y) \in C_{m+2}(\overline{\Omega})$, then the approximation error of the modified method of lines is of *m*-th order.

4 Convergence

Let Z = U - V be the error of the modified method of lines. Using this notation and subtracting (12) from (10), for the error Z we obtain the following system of equations

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{m} a_{i\nu}^{(m)} z_{\nu}^{\prime\prime}(x) + h^{-2} [z_{i+1}(x) - 2z_i(x) + z_{i-1}(x)] = h^{-2} \Delta \nabla_i R_{m,0}^{0,i}, \qquad (24)$$
$$z_0(x) = z_{m+1}(x) = 0, \ x \in (-a,a), \ z_i(\pm a) = 0, \ i = \overline{1,m},$$

where $R_{m,0}^{0,i}$, $i = \overline{1, m}$, is given by expression (7) and the matrix-vector form of this system is

$$AZ''(x) + h^{-2}MZ(x) = h^{-2}MR, \quad Z(\pm a) = 0,$$

$$Z = (z_1(x), z_2(x), \dots, z_m(x)), \quad R = (R_{m,0}^{0,1}(x), R_{m,0}^{0,2}(x), \dots, R_{m,0}^{0,m}(x))^T.$$
(25)

Let us multiply (25) by Z from the right using the scalar product formula (26) for the semi-discrete schemes

$$(U, V)_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}} = \int_{-a}^{a} (U, V)_{\widehat{\omega}} \, dx = \int_{-a}^{a} \sum_{i=1}^{m} hu_i(x) \, v_i(x) \, dx \tag{26}$$

$$\int_{-a}^{a} (AZ'', Z) \, dx + h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (MZ, Z) \, dx = h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (MR, Z) \, dx.$$
(27)

Let us use Green's first formula to transform the first addend of (27) as follows

$$\int_{-a}^{a} (AZ'', Z) dx = \int_{-a}^{a} \sum_{i=1}^{m} h\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{ij}^{(m)} z_{j}''(x)\right) \cdot z_{i}(x) dx$$

$$= \int_{-a}^{a} \sum_{i=1}^{m} h\left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{ij}^{(m)} (-z_{j}'(x)) z_{i}'(x) + z_{i}(x) z_{j}'(x) \Big|_{-a}^{a}\right] dx$$

$$= -\int_{-a}^{a} \sum_{i=1}^{m} h\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{ij}^{(m)} z_{j}'(x)\right) z_{i}'(x) dx = -\int_{-a}^{a} (AZ', Z') dx.$$

(28)

It is known that the matrix (-M) is positive definite. Besides, by direct calculations we see that $(AZ, Z) \ge \gamma^2 (Z, Z)$ when $m \le 5$. Taking into account (28) and a fact that matrices A and (-M) are positive definite, from (27) we obtain

$$h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (-MZ, Z) \, dx \le h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (-MR, Z) \, dx.$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Let us consider

$$h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (-MZ, Z) dx = -\int_{-a}^{a} (Z_{\overline{y}y}, Z) dx$$
$$= \int_{-a}^{a} (Z_{\overline{y}}, Z_{\overline{y}}) dx = \|Z_{\overline{y}}\|_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}}^{2}.$$
(30)

Similarly, for the right-hand side of inequality (29), we have

$$h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (-MR, Z) \, dx = \int_{-a}^{a} \left(R_{\overline{y}}, Z_{\overline{y}} \right) \, dx. \tag{31}$$

By virtue of the Cauchy-Buniakowski inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{-a}^{a} \left(R_{\overline{y}}, Z_{\overline{y}} \right) dx \leq \left(\int_{-a}^{a} \left(R_{\overline{y}}, R_{\overline{y}} \right)^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\int_{-a}^{a} \left(Z_{\overline{y}}, Z_{\overline{y}} \right)^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= \left\| R_{\overline{y}} \right\|_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}} \cdot \left\| Z_{\overline{y}} \right\|_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}} .$$
(32)

Using (31) and (32), we get $h^{-2} \int_{-a}^{a} (-MR, Z) dx \leq ||R_{\overline{y}}||_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}} \cdot ||Z_{\overline{y}}||_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}}$. Then (29) with (30) and last relation will give the following inequality: $||Z_{\overline{y}}||_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}} \leq ||R_{\overline{y}}||_{\Omega \times \widehat{\omega}}$. Thus, the convergence rate estimate in the difference-continuous norm W_{2}^{1} reduces to the estimate of the first difference derivative norm of remainder (7) [4]. **Theorem 4.1.** If the solution of problem (9) $u(x, y) \in W_2^1(\Omega)$, then for the error of the semi-discrete scheme of lines (15) in the difference-continuous norm W_2^1 the following estimate holds:

$$\left\|Z_{\overline{y}}\right\|_{\Omega\times\widehat{\omega}} \leq \left\|R_{\overline{y}}\right\|_{\Omega\times\widehat{\omega}} \leq C\left(\frac{4e^{2}b}{m+1}\right)^{m-2} |u|_{W_{2}^{m+2}(\Omega)}, \ m \leq 5, \ C = \frac{16b^{3}e^{5}}{\pi}\sqrt{\frac{2}{3\pi}}$$

Appendix: Examples of Centrosymmetric Matrices

Elements of inverse of the three-diagonal $M_m = [1, -2, 1]_1^m$ matrix $M^{-1} = \left[m_{ij}^{-1}\right]_{i,j=1}^m$ are:

$$m_{ij}^{-1} = -\frac{1}{m+1} \begin{cases} i(m+1-j), & i < j \\ i(m+1-i), & i = j \\ (m+1-i)j, & i > j \end{cases}$$

 $A_1 = I_1$ and $A_2 = I_2$ are unit matrices. In general, A_m behaves as a unit matrix [3]. It is easy to notice for m = 3, m = 4, and for m = 5 that

$$A_{3} = \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 13 - 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 10 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 13 \end{bmatrix} = I_{3} + \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - 2 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$A_{3}^{-1} = \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 11 & 2 & -1 \\ -1 & 14 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 & 11 \end{bmatrix} = I_{3} - \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - 2 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$A_{4} = \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 14 - 5 & 4 & -1 \\ 1 & 10 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 10 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & -5 & 14 \end{bmatrix} = I_{4} + \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -5 & 4 & -1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & -5 & 2 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$A_{4}^{-1} = \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 10 & 5 & -4 & 1 \\ -1 & 14 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 14 & -1 \\ 1 & -4 & 5 & 10 \end{bmatrix} = I_{4} - \frac{1}{12} \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -5 & 4 & -1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & -5 & 2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$A_{5} = \frac{1}{720} \begin{bmatrix} 897 - 528 \ 582 - 288 \ 57 \\ 57 \ 612 \ 42 \ 12 \ -3 \\ -3 \ 72 \ 582 \ 72 \ -3 \\ -3 \ 12 \ 42 \ 612 \ 57 \\ 57 \ -288 \ 582 \ -528 \ 897 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= I_{5} + \frac{1}{720} \begin{bmatrix} 177 - 528 \ 582 \ -288 \ 57 \\ 57 \ -108 \ 42 \ 12 \ -3 \\ -3 \ 72 \ -138 \ 72 \ -3 \\ -3 \ 72 \ -138 \ 72 \ -3 \\ -3 \ 12 \ 42 \ -108 \ 57 \\ 57 \ -288 \ 582 \ -528 \ 177 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$A_{5}^{-1} = \frac{1}{720} \begin{bmatrix} 548 \ 508 \ -552 \ 268 \ -52 \\ -52 \ 808 \ -12 \ -32 \ 8 \\ 8 \ -92 \ 888 \ -92 \ 8 \\ 8 \ -32 \ -12 \ 808 \ -52 \\ -52 \ 268 \ -52 \ 508 \ 548 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= I_{5} - \frac{1}{720} \begin{bmatrix} 172 \ -508 \ 552 \ -268 \ 552 \\ 52 \ -88 \ 12 \ 32 \ -8 \\ -8 \ 92 \ -168 \ 92 \ -8 \\ -8 \ 32 \ 12 \ -88 \ 52 \\ 52 \ -268 \ 552 \ -508 \ 172 \end{bmatrix}$$

References

- 1. Fadeeva V.N.: Metod pryamyh. Trudy Matematicheskogo Instituta im. V. A. Steklova 28, 73–103 (1949)
- Kalandarishvili, D., Karalashvili, L.: Eigenvalue Problem for Certain Type Matrices. Scientific Proceedings of Guram Tavartkiladze Teaching University, vol. 1. Publishing House "Universal", Tbilisi (2011)
- Karalashvili, L., Kalandarishvili, D.: Properties of Certain Centro-Symmetric Matrices Similar to the Unit Matrix. Scientific Proceedings of Guram Tavartkiladze Teaching University, vol. 3. Publishing House "Universal", Tbilisi (2013)
- 4. Makarov, V.L., Karalashvili, L.Sh.: Ob odnom podhode k poctroeniyu sxem metoda pryamyh vysokogo poryadka tochnocti. Soobsh. AN GSSR **131**(1), 33–36 (1988)
- Mikeladze, Sh.E.: Novyi chislennyi metod resheniya obyknovennyh differentcial'nyh uravnenii. Soobsh. AN GSSR 45(2), 284–296 (1967)
- 6. Mikeladze, Sh.E.: Chislennoe resheniye granichnyh zadach dlya obyknovennyh differentcial'nyh uravnenii v obshem sluchaye. Soobsh. AN GSSR **47**(2), 263–268 (1967)

Parabolic Obstacle Problem with Measurable Coefficients in Morrey-Type Spaces

Lubomira G. Softova

Abstract We consider obstacle problem related to linear divergence form parabolic system with measurable coefficients in domain with irregular boundary. Supposing that the data of the problem and the obstacle belong to Morrey-type space, we get Calderón–Zygmund type estimate for the gradient of the solution.

Keywords Parabolic systems • Obstacle • Morrey-type spaces • Measurable • Coefficients • Small BMO • Reifenberg-flat domain

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary 35K87, secondary 35B65, 35R05, 46E30

1 Introduction

The obstacle problem for partial differential equations arises naturally in the classical elasticity theory as one of the simplest unilateral problems in the study of mechanics of elastic membranes. Roughly speaking, it aims to find the equilibrium position of an elastic membrane, the boundary of which is keeping fixed and which is constrained to stay above a prescribed obstacle. More generally, the obstacle problems provide a basic analytic tool in the study of variational inequalities and free boundary problems for PDEs. They are involved in various geometric and potential theory problems such as capacities of sets or minimal surfaces. We refer the reader to the classical texts [9, 10, 13, 14] for more details.

Our work is motivated by the recent papers [1, 2, 19], where the authors developed the Calderón-Zygmund theory for nonlinear elliptic and parabolic problems with irregular obstacles. To the difference of [1, 2, 19], we deal with differential operators with rough coefficients having quite arbitrary discontinuities in one direction. This situation is closely related to the equilibrium equations of linearly

L.G. Softova (🖂)

Department of Civil Engineering, Design, Construction and Environment, Second University of Naples, Via Roma 9, 81031-Aversa, Italy e-mail: luba.softova@unina2.it

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_23

elastic laminates and composite materials. Even if there have been recently a lot of works in this direction, most of the obtained results consider single equations without obstacles; see [3–5, 7, 8, 12, 16, 17].

Another difference with the cited results consists of the fact that we derive estimate for the gradient of the solution in the framework of the generalized Morreytype spaces under possibly more general assumptions on the weight function extending in such a way the results obtained in [6, 12]. Regarding the considered non-smooth domain, we suppose that it is flat in the sense of Reifenberg [18]. Roughly speaking, this means that the boundary is well approximated by hyperplanes at each point and at each scale. This is a sort of "minimal regularity" of the boundary that guarantees the validity of the main results of the geometric analysis. For instance, C^1 or Lipschitz domains with small Lipschitz constant belong to that category. The class of Reifenberg-flat domains goes beyond these common examples and contains domains with rough fractal boundaries such as the von Koch snowflake. In addition, domain which is flat in the sense of Reifenberg is also Jones'flat and possesses the extension properties (see [18, 20]).

Turning back to our problem, let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 2$ and $Q = \Omega \times (0, T]$, T > 0 be a cylinder. Denote by ∂Q the usual parabolic boundary $\{\Omega \times \{t = 0\}\} \cup \{\partial \Omega \times [0, T]\}$. Hereafter, we adopt the standard summation convention on the repeated indexes, with $1 \le \alpha, \beta \le n$, and $1 \le i, j \le m$ where $m \ge 1$. The letter *c* will denote a positive constant that varies from one appearance to another and can be calculated explicitly in terms of known quantities as $\lambda, \Lambda, m, n, p$, and |Q|.

This announce extends some recent results obtained in [6] in collaboration with S.-S. Byun. We study *obstacle problem* related to the system

$$u_t^i - D_\alpha \left(A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}(x,t) D_\beta u^j \right) = -D_\alpha f_i^\alpha(x,t) \quad \text{in } Q.$$
⁽¹⁾

The obstacle is given by vector function $\psi = (\psi^1, \dots, \psi^m) : Q \to \mathbb{R}^m$ with the same kind of regularity as the weak solution of (1):

$$\begin{cases} \psi \in L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^m)), \ \psi_t \in L^2(0,T; H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^m), \\ \psi^i \le 0 \text{ a.e.on } \partial Q, \ i = 1, \dots, m. \end{cases}$$
(2)

Further, we define *admissible set* \mathscr{A} consisting of vector functions:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{u} \in C^0(0, T; L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)) \cap L^2(0, T; H^1_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^m)) \\ u^i(\cdot, 0) = 0 \text{ a.e.in } \Omega. \quad u^i \ge \psi^i \text{ a.e.in } Q. \end{cases}$$

The function $\mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{A}$ is called *weak solution* to the obstacle problem related to (1)–(2) if for all $\phi \in \mathscr{A}$ with $\phi_t \in L^2(0, T; H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^m))$ the variational inequality holds

$$\int_{0}^{T} \langle \phi_{t}^{i}, \phi^{i} - u^{i} \rangle dt + \int_{Q} A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}(x, t) D_{\beta} u^{j} \cdot D_{\alpha} \left(\phi^{i} - u^{i} \right) dx dt$$

$$\geq \int_{Q} f_{i}^{\alpha}(x, t) \cdot D_{\alpha} \left(\phi^{i} - u^{i} \right) dx dt .$$
(3)

We assume that the coefficients $A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}: Q \to \mathbb{R}^{mn \times mn}$ are uniformly elliptic and uniformly bounded, namely, there exist positive constants λ and Λ such that

$$\|A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}\|_{L^{\infty}(Q)} \leq \Lambda \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda |\xi|^2 \leq A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}(x,t)\xi_{\alpha}^i\xi_{\beta}^j, \text{ a.e. in } Q$$
(4)

for all matrices $\xi \in \mathbb{M}^{m \times n}$.

According to the classical theory and some recent results [1, 2, 9], if $\mathbf{F} \in L^2(Q, \mathbb{R}^{m \times n})$, there exists a unique weak solution $\mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{A}$ of (3) satisfying

$$\|D\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{2}(Q)} \le c \left(\|\mathbf{F}\|_{L^{2}(Q)} + \|\psi_{t}\|_{L^{2}(Q)} + \|D\psi\|_{L^{2}(Q)} \right).$$
(5)

2 Generalized Parabolic Morrey-type Spaces

Let us describe the spaces that we are going to use. We consider *parabolic cylinders* $\mathscr{I}_r(y, \tau) = \mathscr{B}_r(y) \times (\tau - r^2, \tau + r^2)$ with respect to the classical parabolic metric and *cylinders* \mathscr{C}_r in which we isolate the variable x^1

$$\mathscr{C}_r(y,\tau) = \left\{ (x^1, x', t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : |x^1 - y^1| < r, |x' - y'| < r, |t - \tau| < r^2 \right\}.$$

For some fixed $x^1 \in (y^1 - r, y^1 + r)$, we consider the x^1 -slice of \mathscr{C}_r :

$$\mathscr{C}_r^{x^1}(y',\tau) = \big\{ (x',t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} : (x^1,x',t) \in \mathscr{C}_r(y,\tau) \big\}.$$

Taking now the τ -slice of \mathscr{C}_r , we get the *cube*:

$$\mathscr{C}_r^{\tau}(\mathbf{y}) = \left\{ (x^1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x^1 - y^1| < r, |x' - y'| < r \right\}.$$

We call *weight* positive and measurable function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 1. Let Q be a cylinder in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . A function $f \in L^q(Q)$, $1 < q < \infty$, belongs to the *generalized Morrey-type space* $L^{q,\varphi}(Q)$ if the following norm is finite

$$\|f\|_{L^{q,\varphi}(Q)} = \sup_{\substack{(y,\tau)\in Q\\r>0}} \left(\frac{1}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau))} \int_{Q_r} |f(x,t)|^q \, dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

These spaces are widely studied under various conditions on φ (see [11, 12, 15] and the references therein). Let $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ and

$$\mathscr{M}f(y,\tau) = \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau)|} \int_{\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau)} |f(x,t)| \, dx dt$$

be the *Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator*. It is well known that \mathcal{M} is bounded in the Lebesgue and Morrey spaces. Moreover, it is bounded also in $L^{p,\varphi}$ for various φ , [11, 12, 15]. Here we need the following result.

Lemma 1 (Maximal inequality, [12]). Assume that there is a positive constants κ such that for any fixed $(y, \tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and any r > 0 holds true

$$\sup_{r < s < \infty} \frac{\operatorname{essinf}_{s < \sigma < \infty} \varphi(\mathscr{I}_{\sigma}(y, \tau)) \sigma^{n+2}}{s^{n+2}} \le \kappa \frac{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y, \tau))}{r^{n+2}}.$$
 (6)

Then there is a constant $c_q > 0$ such that for any $q \in (1, \infty)$

$$\|f\|_{L^{q,\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})} \le \|Mf\|_{L^{q,\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})} \le c_q \|f\|_{L^{q,\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})} \quad \forall f \in L^{q,\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}).$$

Imposing in addition a *monotonicity condition* on φ , precisely

$$\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau)) \le \varphi(\mathscr{I}_s(z,\xi)) \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau) \subset \mathscr{I}_s(z,\xi) \tag{7}$$

we get the estimate

$$\sup_{\substack{(y,\tau)\in\mathcal{Q}\\ r \to 0}} \frac{|\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau) \cap Q|}{\varphi\left(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau)\right)} \le \kappa_1,\tag{8}$$

with $\kappa_1 > 0$ depending on n, φ , and Q [5, 12]. Then the Hölder inequality implies

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} \leq c(n, p, |Q|, \varphi) \|f\|_{L^{p, \varphi}(Q)}.$$
(9)

3 Statement of the Problem and Main Result

Definition 2. We say that $(A_{ii}^{\alpha\beta}, \Omega)$ are (δ, R) -vanishing of codimension 1, if:

i) For every fixed $(y, \tau) \in Q$ and $r \in (0, \frac{1}{3}R]$, there exists a new coordinate system (x, t) centered in $(y, \tau) \equiv (0, 0)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{|\mathscr{C}_{3r}(0,0)|} \int_{\mathscr{C}_{3r}(0,0)} |A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}(x,t) - \overline{A}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{3r}^{x^1}(0,0)}(x^1)|^2 \, dx dt \le \delta^2 \tag{10}$$

where $\overline{A}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}_{\mathscr{C}_{3r}^{x^1}(0,0)}(x^1)$ is the integral average of $A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}$ over $\mathscr{C}_{3r}^{x^1}(0,0)$.

ii) For every fixed $(y, \tau) \in Q$ and $r \in (0, \frac{1}{3}R]$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(y, \partial \Omega) = \operatorname{dist}(y, x_0) \leq \sqrt{2}r$ with $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$, there exists a coordinate system (x, t) in which $(x_0, \tau) \equiv (0, 0)$ is the origin and Ω verifies the *Reifenberg condition* illustrated on the graphic:



$$\Omega \cap \{x \in \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(0) : x^1 > 3r\delta\} \subset \Omega \cap \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(0) \subset \Omega \cap \{x \in \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(0) : x^1 > -3r\delta\}.$$

The part **i**) means that the coefficients have *small mean oscillation* (small BMO) with respect to (x', t), while in x^1 they are only *measurable* and could have arbitrary jump. The second part of the definition asserts that Ω is (δ, R) -*Reifenberg flat domain* (see [18, 20]). Moreover, it implies (cf. [16, 17]) that there is a constant $0 < \alpha = \alpha(\delta, n, \partial \Omega) < \frac{1}{2}$ such that

$$\alpha \left| \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(x_0) \right| \leq \left| \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(x_0) \cap \Omega \right| \leq (1-\alpha) \left| \mathscr{C}_{3r}^{\tau}(x_0) \right|.$$

We prove the following result (see [6] for details).

Theorem 1. For any given $p \in (2, \infty)$ and weight φ satisfying (6)–(7), suppose that $|\mathbf{F}|^2$, $|\psi_t|^2$, $|D\psi|^2 \in L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)$. Let $\mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{A}$ be a solution of (3)–(4). Then there exists a small constant $\delta = \delta(\lambda, \Lambda, m, n, p, \varphi) > 0$ such that if $(A_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}, \Omega)$ are (δ, R) vanishing of codimension 1, then $|D\mathbf{u}|^2 \in L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)$ and

$$\left\| |D\mathbf{u}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} \leq c \left(\left\| |\mathbf{F}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \left\| |\psi_{t}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \left\| |D\psi|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} \right).$$
(11)

Let us note that (5) and (9) ensure the existence of unique weak solution of (3).

4 Auxiliary Results

In this section, we give several preliminary results that we need in order to prove the main theorem (see [5–7] for details). Our approach is based on the Vitali covering lemma and estimates of the upper level sets of the maximal function of the gradient $\mathcal{M}(|D\mathbf{u}|^2)$. Fix $(y_0, \tau_0) \in Q$, take a cylinder $\mathscr{I}_r(y_0, \tau_0)$, and consider $Q_r = \mathscr{I}_r(y_0, \tau_0) \cap Q$. For any solution \mathbf{u} of (3), we define the upper level sets

$$\mathfrak{C} = \{(x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\mathbf{u}|^2) > N^2\},
\mathfrak{D} = \{(x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\mathbf{u}|^2) > 1\} \cup \{(x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|\mathbf{F}|^2) > \delta^2\}
\cup \{(x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|\psi_t|^2 + |D\psi|^2) > \delta^2\},$$

$$\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathfrak{D} \subset Q_r \quad \text{for } N > 1.$$
(12)

For any $(y, \tau) \in \mathfrak{C}$ and for each $\rho > 0$, we define the measure function

$$\Theta(\rho) = \frac{|\mathfrak{C} \cap \mathscr{C}_{\rho}(y,\tau)|}{|\mathscr{C}_{\rho}(y,\tau)|} \in C^{0}(0,\infty), \quad \lim_{\rho \to 0_{+}} \Theta(\rho) = 1, \quad \lim_{\rho \to +\infty} \Theta(\rho) = 0.$$

Lemma 2. Suppose that there exists $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ for which $\Theta(1) < \varepsilon$. Then the following estimate holds $|\mathfrak{C}| \leq \varepsilon \left(\frac{10\sqrt{2}}{1-\delta}\right)^{n+2} |\mathfrak{D}|$. Moreover, for those ρ for which $\Theta(\rho) \geq \varepsilon$ holds the inclusion $Q_r \cap \mathfrak{C}_{\rho}(y, \tau) \subset \mathfrak{D}$.

The estimate follows by the Vitali covering lemma applied to a set of mutually disjoint cylinders $\{\mathscr{C}_{\rho_i}(y_i, \tau_i)\}$ such that $(y_i, \tau_i) \in \mathfrak{C}$ and $\Theta(\rho_i) = \varepsilon$ (see [6, Lemma 4.1]). The inclusion can be proved as in [6, Lemma 5.1] using localizable solutions studied in [19].

The next result comes from the measure theory and has been proven in various functional spaces (see [5, 6, 12]).

Lemma 3. Let $h \in L^1(Q)$ be a nonnegative function, $q \in (1, \infty)$ and $\zeta > 0, \theta > 1$ be constants. Then $h \in L^{q,\varphi}(Q)$ if and only if

$$\mathscr{S} := \sup_{\substack{(\mathbf{y}, t) \in \mathcal{Q} \\ r \neq 0}} \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\theta^{kq} |\{(x, t) \in \mathcal{Q}_r \colon h(x, t) > \zeta \theta^k\}|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y, \tau))} < \infty$$

Moreover, there exists $c = c(\theta, \zeta, q, \varphi, Q)$ such that $\frac{1}{c}\mathscr{S} \leq \|h\|_{L^{q,\varphi}(Q)}^q \leq c(1+\mathscr{S})$.

Fixing $\varepsilon > 0$ as in Lemma 2, we obtain a power decay estimate for the upper level sets of the maximal function of $D\mathbf{u}$.
Lemma 4. Suppose $\Theta(1) < \varepsilon$ for some $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, then for each $(y, \tau) \in Q_r$ and each positive integer k, we have

$$\left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\mathbf{u}|^2) > N^{2k} \right\} \right| \le \epsilon_1^k \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\mathbf{u}|^2) > 1 \right\} \right|$$

+ $\sum_{i=1}^k \epsilon_1^i \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|\mathbf{F}|^2) > \delta^2 N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right)$ (13)
+ $\sum_{i=1}^k \epsilon_1^i \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|\psi_t|^2 + |D\psi|^2) > \delta^2 N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right|$

with $\epsilon_1 = \varepsilon \left(\frac{10\sqrt{2}}{1-\delta}\right)^{n+2}$.

The Lemma 2 ensures the validity of (13) for k = 1. Further, the proof follows by induction.

To get (11), we use the invariance of the problem under scaling and normalization. This property follows by straightforward calculations.

Proof (Theorem 1). By suitable change of the functions, we make the norms of **F** and ψ small enough. Precisely, taking

$$K \equiv \||\mathbf{F}|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \||\psi_t|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \||D\psi|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)}$$

we define

$$\tilde{\mathbf{u}} = \frac{\delta \mathbf{u}(x,t)}{\sqrt{K}}, \quad \widetilde{\mathbf{F}} = \frac{\delta \mathbf{F}(x,t)}{\sqrt{K}}, \quad \tilde{\psi} = \frac{\delta \psi(x,t)}{\sqrt{K}}.$$
 (14)

Consider now upper level sets \mathfrak{C} and \mathfrak{D} defined for $\tilde{\mathbf{u}}$. For each $(y, \tau) \in \mathfrak{C}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \Theta(1) &\leq c |\mathscr{C}| \leq c \int_{Q_r} \mathscr{M}(|D\tilde{\mathbf{u}}|^2) \, dx dt \leq c \int_{Q} \left(|\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}|^2 + |\tilde{\psi}_t|^2 + |D\tilde{\psi}|^2 \right) \, dx dt \\ &\leq c \left(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \|\tilde{\psi}_t\|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} + \|D\tilde{\psi}|^2\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2},\varphi}(Q)} \right) \leq c\delta^2 < \varepsilon \,. \end{split}$$

Now applying Lemma 3 with $h = \mathcal{M}(|D\tilde{\mathbf{u}}|^2), \theta = N^2, \lambda = 1, q = \frac{p}{2}$, and Lemma 4, we get

$$\Sigma \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{N^{2k\frac{p}{2}} \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\tilde{\mathbf{u}}|^2) > N^{2k} \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau))}$$
$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{N^{kp} \epsilon_1^k \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_r \colon \mathscr{M}(|D\tilde{\mathbf{u}}|^2) > 1 \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau))}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} N^{kp} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\epsilon_{1}^{i} \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{r} : \mathscr{M}(|\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}|^{2}) > \delta^{2} N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y,\tau))}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} N^{kp} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\epsilon_{1}^{i} \left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{r} : \mathscr{M}(|\widetilde{\Psi}_{t}|^{2} + |D\widetilde{\Psi}|^{2}) > \delta^{2} N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y,\tau))}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (N^{p} \epsilon_{1})^{k} \frac{|Q_{r}|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y,\tau))}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (N^{p} \epsilon_{1})^{i} \underbrace{\sum_{k=i}^{\infty} N^{(k-i)p} \frac{\left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{r} : \mathscr{M}(|\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}|^{2}) > \delta^{2} N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y,\tau))} }_{\Sigma'}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (N^{p} \epsilon_{1})^{i} \underbrace{\sum_{k=i}^{\infty} N^{(k-i)p} \frac{\left| \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{r} : \mathscr{M}(|\widetilde{\Psi}_{t}|^{2} + |D\widetilde{\Psi}|^{2}) > \delta^{2} N^{2(k-i)} \right\} \right|}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_{r}(y,\tau))}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (N^{p} \epsilon_{1})^{k} \left(\kappa_{1} + \Sigma' + \Sigma'' \right)$$

where we have used (8) in the last step. By the auxiliary Lemmas, we get

$$\begin{split} \Sigma' &\leq \frac{c}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau))} \Big(|\mathcal{Q}_r| + \int_{\mathcal{Q}_r} \frac{|\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}(x,t)|^p}{\delta^p} \, dx dt \Big) \\ \Sigma'' &\leq \frac{c}{\varphi(\mathscr{I}_r(y,\tau))} \Big(|\mathcal{Q}_r| + \int_{\mathcal{Q}_r} \frac{|\widetilde{\psi}_t(x,t)|^p + |D\widetilde{\psi}(x,t)|^p}{\delta^p} \, dx dt \Big) \,. \end{split}$$

Unifying the above estimates, applying again (8) and (14), and taking the supremum of Σ over $(y_0, \tau_0) \in Q$ and r > 0, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{S} &\leq c \, \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(N^{p} \epsilon_{1} \right)^{k} \left[1 + \frac{1}{\delta^{p}} \| \widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \|_{L^{p,\varphi}(Q)}^{p} + \frac{1}{\delta^{p}} \left(\| \widetilde{\psi}_{t} \|_{L^{p,\varphi}(Q)}^{p} + \| D \widetilde{\psi} \|_{L^{p,\varphi}(Q)}^{p} \right) \right] \\ &\leq c \, \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(N^{p} \epsilon_{1} \right)^{k} \, . \end{split}$$

Taking ε small enough such that $N^p \epsilon_1 \le N^p c_1 \varepsilon < 1$, we get $\mathscr{S} < \infty$ and in view of Lemma 2 and (14), we get (11) through the maximal inequality.

Acknowledgements The research of the author is partially supported by the *Project INDAM-GNAMPA 2015*.

References

- 1. Bögelein, V., Duzaar, F., Mingione, G.: Degenerate problems with irregular obstacles. J. Reine Angew. Math. **650**, 107–160 (2011)
- Byun, S., Cho, Y.: Nonlinear gradient estimates for parabolic problems with irregular obstacles. Nonlinear Anal. 94, 32–44 (2014)
- Byun, S., Ok, J., Palagachev, D., Softova, L.: Parabolic systems with measurable coefficients in weighted Orlicz spaces. Commun. Contemp. Math. 18(2), 19 (2016). doi:10.1142/S0219199715500182, Article id 1550018
- 4. Byun, S., Palagachev, D.: Weighted *L^p*-estimates for elliptic equations with measurable coefficients in nonsmooth domains. Potential Anal. **2014**(1), 51–79 (2014)
- Byun, S., Softova, L.: Gradient estimates in generalized Morrey spaces for parabolic operators. Math. Nachr. 288(14)-(15), 1602–1614 (2015)
- Byun, S., Softova, L.: Parabolic obstacle problem with measurable data in generalized Morrey spaces. Z. Anal. Anwend. 35(2), 153–171 (2016)
- 7. Byun, S., Palagachev, D., Wang, L.: Parabolic systems with measurable coefficients in Reifenberg domains. Int. Math. Res. Not. **2013**(13), 3053–3086 (2013)
- Byun, S., Palagachev, D., Softova, L.: Global gradient estimates in weighted Lebesgue spaces for parabolic operators. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 41(1), 67–83 (2016). doi:10.5186/aasfm.2016.4102
- 9. Caffarelli, L.A.: The obstacle problem revisited. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 4, 383-402 (1998)
- Chipot, M., Kinderlehrer, D., Vergara-Caffarelli, G.: Smoothness of linear laminates. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 96(1), 81–96 (1986)
- Guliyev, V.: Boundedness of the maximal, potential and singular operators in the generalized Morrey spaces. J. Inequal. Appl. Article ID 503948, 20p. (2009). ISSN:1029-242X
- Guliyev, V., Softova, L.: Generalized Morrey estimates for the gradient of divergence form parabolic operators with discontinuous coefficients. J. Differ. Equ. 259, 2368–2387 (2015)
- Kinderlehrer, D., Stampacchia, G.: An Introduction to Variational Inequalities and Their Applications. Classics in Applied Mathematics, vol. 31. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia (2000). ISBN:0-89871-466-4
- Murthy, M.K.V., Stampacchia, G.: A variational inequality with mixed boundary conditions. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Partial Differential Equations and the Geometry of Normed Linear Spaces (Jerusalem, 1972). Israel Journal of Mathematics, vol. 13, pp. 188–224. Weizmann, Jerusalem (1972)
- Nakai, E.: Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator, singular integral operators and the Riesz potentials on generalized Morrey spaces. Math. Nachr. 166, 95–103 (1994)
- Palagachev, D., Softova, L.: Quasilinear divergence form parabolic equations in Reifenberg flat domains. Discret. Contin. Dyn. Syst. A 31(4), 1397–1410 (2011)
- 17. Palagachev, D., Softova L.: The Calderón-Zygmund property for quasilinear divergence form equations over Reifenberg flat domains. Nonlinear Anal. **74**(5), 1721–1730 (2011)
- Reifenberg, E.: Solutions of the plateau problem for m-dimensional surfaces of varying topological type. Acta Math. 104, 1–92 (1960)
- Scheven, C.: Existence of localizable solutions to nonlinear parabolic problems with irregular obstacles. Manuscripta Math. 146, 7–63 (2015)
- Toro, T.: Doubling and flatness: geometry of measures. Not. Am. Math. Soc. 44(9), 1087–1094 (1997)

Chebyshev Spectral Approximation for Diffusion Equations with Distributed Order in Time

Maria Luísa Morgado and Magda Rebelo

Abstract In this work we provide a numerical method for the diffusion equation with distributed order in time. The basic idea is to expand the unknown function in Chebyshev polynomials for the time variable t and reduce the problem to the solution of a system of algebraic equations, which may then be solved by any standard numerical technique. We apply the method to the forward and backward problems. Some numerical experiments are provided in order to show the performance and accuracy of the proposed method.

Keywords Fractional differential equation • Caputo derivative • Diffusion equation • Chebyshev polynomials • Distributed order equation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 26A33, 41A50

1 Introduction

In the last decades, lots of attention has been devoted to the time fractional diffusion equation (TFDE), namely, the one in the Caputo sense:

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(t,x)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = D \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} + f(t,x), \quad 0 < t \le a, \ 0 < x < b, \tag{1}$$

where $0 < \alpha < 1$ and the fractional Caputo derivative is defined by [2]

M.L. Morgado

M. Rebelo (🖂)

e-mail: msjr@fct.unl.pt

CMAT-Centro de Matemática, Pólo UTAD, Department of Mathematics, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro UTAD, Quinta de Prados, 5001-801 Vila Real, Portugal e-mail: luisam@utad.pt

Centro de Matemática e Aplicações (CMA) and Departamento de Matemática, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Quinta da Torre, 2829-516 Caparica, Portugal

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_24

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(t,x)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{-\alpha} \frac{\partial^n u(s,x)}{\partial s^n} \, ds,\tag{2}$$

where *n* is the smallest integer greater than or equal to α . The TFDE has been found in a broad variety of engineering, biological, finance, and physical processes where anomalous diffusion (AD) occurs (see, e.g., [6, 8, 10]). More recently, a general equation has attracted the scientific community, the distributed-order time fractional diffusion equation, given by

$$\int_0^1 c(\alpha) \frac{\partial^\alpha u(t,x)}{\partial t^\alpha} \, d\alpha = \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} + f(t,x), \quad 0 < t \le a, \ 0 < x < b, \tag{3}$$

where the function $c(\alpha)$ acting as weight for the order of differentiation is such that [7, 9] $c(\alpha) \ge 0$ and $\int_0^1 c(\alpha) \, d\alpha = C > 0$. Obviously, if $c(\beta) = \frac{1}{D}$ if $\beta = \alpha$ and 0 otherwise, then (3) reduces to (1).

Here, we will be interested in the numerical approximation of this type of distributed-order equations with boundary conditions of Dirichlet type:

$$u(t,0) = \phi_0(t), \ u(t,b) = \phi_b(t), \quad 0 < t < a,$$
(4)

and we will distinguish the following two problems: a forward problem (FDODE) where (3) and (4) is subject to an initial condition

$$u(0, x) = g_0(x), \quad 0 < x < b, \tag{5}$$

and a backward problem (BDODE), the case where (5) is replaced with the terminal condition

$$u(a, x) = g_a(x), \quad 0 < x < b.$$
 (6)

Numerical methods are crucial for this kind of fractional differential equations, since only in a very few special cases, the analytical solutions can be found. While the methods developed for TFDEs are already relatively wide, the same cannot be said for the distributed-order diffusion equation case, since, to the best of our knowledge, only a few works have been reported. In [4] an implicit finite-difference method has been derived for the one-dimensional distributed-order diffusion equation; in [11] the same idea has been followed for the numerical approximation of nonlinear reaction-diffusion equations with distributed order in time. In [12] a numerical scheme has been developed for the solution of a distributed-order diffusion equation, containing also a fractional derivative in space. In [5], a finite-difference method was presented for the two-dimensional distributed-order diffusion equation, together with an extrapolation technique to improve the convergence orders in time. In all these papers, only finite-difference approximations have been considered for the fractional time derivative, which may

become heavy from the computational point of view, due to the nonlocal property of fractional differential operators. Moreover, in all of these works, only forward problems have been investigated.

Here we will follow an alternative approach: we consider a Chebyshev polynomial approximation of the fractional derivatives. The paper is organized in the following way: we start with a section devoted to some preliminary results that will be used in the forthcoming sections. In Sect. 3 we describe the numerical method and we end with some numerical examples and some conclusions.

2 Preliminaries

In this section we present some auxiliary results that will be used in the derivation of the numerical scheme. For the approximation of the integral term, we will use Gaussian quadrature. *N*-point Gaussian quadrature rules are a special class of quadrature formulas that yield the exact value of a definite integral for integral functions that are polynomials of degree less than or equal to (2N - 1). This can be achieved by suitable choices of the points x_i and weights ω_i , i = 1, ..., N. These rules are conventionally given in the interval [-1, 1] and may be given by $\int_{-1}^{1} f(x) dx \cong \sum_{i=1}^{N} \omega_i f(x_i)$. Obviously other intervals can be considered by using

proper variable substitutions. In our case, since we are dealing with the interval [0, 1], it is easy to see that

$$\int_0^1 f(x) \, dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^1 f\left(\frac{t+1}{2}\right) \, dt \cong \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_j f\left(\frac{t_j+1}{2}\right).$$

Lemma 1 ([1]). If $f \in C^{(2N)}([0,1])$, then with $\gamma_N = \frac{(N!)^4}{(2N+1)[(2N)!]^3} \approx \frac{\Pi}{4^N}$, we have:

$$\int_0^1 f(x) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_j f\left(\frac{t_j+1}{2}\right) = \gamma_N \frac{f^{(2N)}(c_N)}{(2N)!}, \ 0 \le c_N \le 1.$$

As we have mentioned in the Sect. 1, we will use Chebyshev polynomials to approximate the fractional derivatives. Chebyshev polynomials of degree n, $T_n(z)$ are defined in the interval [-1, 1].

In order to use them in the interval [0, a], we introduce the change of variable z = 2t/a - 1 and obtain the so-called shifted Chebyshev polynomials $T_{a,n}(t) = T_n\left(\frac{2t}{a}-1\right)$. These shifted Chebyshev polynomials can also be obtained from the following expression (see [3]):

$$T_{a,n}(t) = n \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{n-k} \frac{2^{2k}(n+k-1)!}{(2k)!(n-k)!a^{k}} t^{k}, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots,$$

where

$$T_{a,i}(0) = (-1)^i \text{ and } T_{a,i}(a) = 1,$$
 (7)

and satisfy the following orthogonality relation:

$$\int_0^a T_{a,j}(t)T_{a,k}(t)\omega_a(t)dt = \delta_{kj}h_k,$$

where $\omega_a(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{at-t^2}}$ and $h_0 = \pi$, $h_k = \frac{\pi}{2}$, $k = 1, 2, \dots$

A function y(t) belonging to the space of square integrable functions on [0, a] may be expressed as

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} c_i T_{a,i}(t),$$
 (8)

where the coefficients c_i are given by

$$c_i = \frac{\langle y(t), T_{a,i}(t) \rangle}{\|T_{a,i}\|^2} = \frac{1}{h_i} \int_0^a y(t) T_{a,i}(t) \omega_a(t) dt, \quad i = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

For computational purposes, only the first (m + 1) terms in (8) are considered:

$$y_m(t) = \sum_{i=0}^m c_i T_{a,i}(t), \quad t \in [0, a],$$
(9)

and the following result holds:

Theorem 1 ([3]). Let y(t) be a square integrable function on [0, a]. Then, given $m \in \mathbb{N}$, y(t) may be approximated by $y_m(t)$, defined by (9), and for $\alpha > 0$, we have

$$D^{\alpha} y_{m}(t) = \sum_{i=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{m} \sum_{k=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{i} c_{i} w_{i,k}^{(\alpha)} t^{k-\alpha}, \ w_{i,k}^{(\alpha)} = \frac{(-1)^{i-k} 2^{2k} i(i+k-1)! \Gamma(k+1)}{(i-k)! (2k)! \Gamma(k+1-\alpha) a^{k}}$$
(10)

and the error
$$|E(m)| = |D^{\alpha}y(t) - D^{\alpha}y_m(t)| \le \sum_{i=m+1}^{\infty} c_i \left(\sum_{k=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{i} \sum_{j=0}^{k-\lceil \alpha \rceil} \theta_{i,j,k}\right),$$

where, for $h_0 = 2$, $h_j = 1$, j = 1, 2, ...,

$$\theta_{i,j,k} = \frac{(-1)^{i-k}2i(i+k-1)!\Gamma\left(k-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{h_j\Gamma\left(k+\frac{1}{2}\right)(i-k)!\Gamma(k-\alpha-j+1)\Gamma(k+j-\alpha+1)a^{\alpha}}$$

3 Numerical Method

In the derivation of the numerical method, we proceed as in the classical (integer order) case. Let

$$u(t,x) \approx u_m(t,x) = \sum_{i=0}^m v_i(x) T_{a,i}(t),$$
(11)

Using a Gaussian quadrature formula with n points, (9) and (10), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\omega_{j}c\left(\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\right)\sum_{i=\lceil\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\rceil}^{m}\sum_{k=0}^{i-\lceil\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\rceil}v_{i}(x)w_{i,k}^{\left(\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\right)}t^{i-k-\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}} = \sum_{i=0}^{m}\ddot{v}_{i}(x)T_{a,i}(t)+f(x,t).$$
(12)

Note that in this case $\frac{\beta_j+1}{2} \in [0, 1], j=1, \dots, n$, and then $\left\lceil \frac{\beta_j+1}{2} \right\rceil = 1, j=1, \dots, n$.

Now, we collocate Eq. (12) at *m* points t_p . For collocation points, we use the roots of the shifted Chebyshev polynomial of degree *m*, $T_{a,m}(t)$:

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\omega_{j}c\left(\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\right)\sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{k=0}^{i-1}v_{i}(x)w_{i,k}^{\left(\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}\right)}t_{p}^{i-k-\frac{\beta_{j}+1}{2}} = \sum_{i=0}^{m}\ddot{v}_{i}(x)T_{L,i}(t_{p}) + f(x,t_{p}),$$

$$p = 0, \dots, m-1.$$
(13)

We obtain in this way *m* ordinary differential equations on the (m + 1) unknowns $v_i(x)$, i = 0, ..., m.

Using the fact that $T_{a,i}(0) = (-1)^i$ and taking the initial condition (5) into account, we obtain the extra equation:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} (-1)^{i} v_{i}(x) = g_{0}(x).$$
(14)

Alternatively, since $T_{a,i}(a) = 1$, from the terminal condition (6), we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} v_i(x) = g_a(x)$$
(15)

On the other hand, by substituting (11) on the boundary conditions (4), we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} v_i(0) T_{a,i}(t) = \phi_0(t), \tag{16}$$

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} v_i(b) T_{a,i}(t) = \phi_b(t).$$
(17)

At the collocation points t_p , p = 0, ..., m - 1, (16) and (17) are as follows:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} v_i(0) T_{a,i}(t_p) = \phi_0(t_p), \quad p = 0, \dots, m-1,$$
(18)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} v_i(b) T_{a,i}(t_p) = \phi_b(t_p), \quad p = 0, \dots, m-1.$$
(19)

Therefore, in order to obtain the functions $\{v_i\}_{i=0}^{m}$ that define the approximate solution of the forward problem (3), (4), (5), we must solve the system of differential equations (13)–(14), with boundary conditions (18) and (19).

In order to obtain an approximate solution of the backward problem (3), (4), (6), we must solve the system of differential equations (13)–(15), with boundary conditions (18) and (19).

4 Numerical Results

In this section, we apply the proposed method to solve some examples for which the analytical solution is known. We define the absolute error at the point (t, x) by

$$e_m(t,x) = |u(t,x) - u_m(t,x)|, \quad (t,x) \in [0,a] \times [0,b].$$

Example 1. Forward problem:

$$\begin{aligned} c(\alpha) &= \Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2} - \alpha\right) \\ f(t,x) &= \frac{\sqrt{t}(x-1)^2 \left(3\sqrt{\pi}(t-1)(x-1)^2 x^2 - 8t(5x(3x-2)+1)\log(t)\right)}{4\log(t)}, \end{aligned}$$

with analytical solution given by $u(x, t) = t^{3/2}x^2(1-x)^4$, $(t, x) \in [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$.

260



Fig. 1 Example 1: pointwise absolute error at the points $(t, x) \in [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ for several values of *m*. From *left to right*: m = 3, m = 5, m = 7, m = 9

In order to approximate the integral that defines the distributed-order derivative, we will use a 3-point Gaussian quadrature formula.

In Fig. 1 the domain pointwise absolute errors are displayed. We see that the pointwise error goes up to the order of 2×10^{-4} , 4×10^{-5} , 1×10^{-5} , and 4×10^{-6} if we consider on the series expansion of u, (11), m = 3, m = 5, m = 7, and m = 9, respectively. This shows that the numerical solutions are in good agreement with the exact solutions, and we have more accuracy if we consider more terms on the series approximation (11) of u.

As a second example we consider, a backward problem which is defined by

Example 2. Backward problem

$$c(\alpha) = \Gamma\left(\frac{7}{2} - \alpha\right)$$
$$f(t, x) = \frac{t^{3/2} \left(15\sqrt{\pi}(t-1)x(x-1)^2 + 16t(2-3x)\log(t)\right)}{8\log(t)}$$

with analytical solution given by $u(t, x) = t^{5/2}(1-x)^2 x$, $(t, x) \in [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$.

In these backward problems, the unknown solution u(x, t) has to be determined from the boundary measurements $\phi_0(t)$ and $\phi_b(t)$ and terminal time measurement $g_a(x)$, which normally contain noises in practical problems. Thus, in order to test the proposed method, first we apply the method, with several values of *m*, to the second example without noise on the data and then we apply the method with some noise on the boundary and terminal data.

The comparison results between u(0, x) and $u_m(0, x)$ are displayed in Table 1, for several values of $x \in [0, 1]$ and m = 1, 3, 5, 7 and 9. From the results in Table 1, it can be observed that the error is smaller for the biggest value of *m* that we consider. Thus, the overall errors can be made smaller by adding new terms from the series (11) that approximate u(t, x).

Now, we consider Example 2 with several levels of noise, $\delta = 10^{-i}$, $i=2,\ldots,5$, on the boundary and terminal data: $\bar{g}_a(x) = g_a(x) + \delta$, $\phi_0(t) = \phi_0(t) + \delta$, $\phi_b(t) = \phi_b(t) + \delta$. In Fig. 2 we show the absolute error at points $(x, 0), x \in [0, 1]$ obtained for the approximation (11) with m = 5 and several levels of noise. It can be observed that the noise has influence on the numerical results.

······································					
x	$ e_1(0,x) $	$ e_3(0,x) $	$e_5(0, x)$	$e_7(0, x)$	$e_9(0, x)$
0.2	1.261×10^{-1}	3.614×10^{-3}	5.725×10^{-6}	8.529×10^{-6}	4.397×10^{-6}
0.4	1.583×10^{-1}	5.447×10^{-3}	2.407×10^{-5}	5.669×10^{-6}	3.122×10^{-6}
0.5	1.466×10^{-1}	5.545×10^{-3}	4.123×10^{-5}	1.809×10^{-6}	1.048×10^{-6}
0.6	1.221×10^{-1}	5.114×10^{-3}	5.335×10^{-5}	2.030×10^{-6}	1.064×10^{-6}
0.7	8.987×10^{-2}	4.223×10^{-3}	5.660×10^{-5}	4.689×10^{-6}	2.514×10^{-6}
0.9	5.522×10^{-2}	2.979×10^{-3}	4.870×10^{-5}	5.350×10^{-6}	2.825×10^{-6}

Table 1 Example 2: the absolute errors related with the approximate solutions $u_m(x, t)$, m = 1, 3, 5, 7 and m = 9, at the points (0, x), $x \in \{0.2, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6, 0.7, 0.9\}$



Fig. 2 Absolute error for Example 2 using m = 5 and different noise levels δ . From *left to right*: $\delta = 10^{-2}$, $\delta = 10^{-3}$, $\delta = 10^{-4}$, $\delta = 10^{-5}$

5 Conclusions

In this work we have presented an alternative method (than finite-difference methods) for the numerical approximation of time distributed-order diffusion equations that is able to deal with both initial (or forward) and terminal (or backward) problems. The numerical results presented for examples with known analytical solutions illustrate the accuracy of the proposed method. In the future we intend to provide a full comparison with the finite-difference methods and analyze the convergence of the scheme.

Acknowledgements This work was partially supported by FCT (Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology) within the projects UID/MAT/00013/2013 (Centro de Matemática) and UID/MAT/00297/2013 (Centro de Matemática e Aplicações).

References

- 1. Burden, R., Faires, J.: Numerical Analysis, 9th edn. Brooks-Cole Publishing Company, Boston (2011)
- 2. Diethelm, K.: The Analysis of Fractional Differential Equations: An Application-Oriented Exposition Using Differential Operators of Caputo Type. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- Doha, E.H., Bhrawy, A.H., Ezz-Eldien, S.S.: A Chebyshev spectral method based on operational matrix for initial and boundary value problems of fractional order. Comput. Math. Appl. 62, 2364–2373 (2011)

- Ford, N.J., Morgado, M.L., Rebelo, M.: An implicit finite difference approximation for the solution of the diffusion equation with distributed order in time. Electron. Trans. Numer. Anal. 44, 289–305 (2015)
- Gao, G.H., Sun, Z.Z.: Two alternating direction implicit difference schemes with the extrapolation method for the two-dimensional distributed-order differential equations. Comput. Math. Appl. 69, 926–948 (2015)
- Gorenflo, R., Mainardi, F., Scalas, E., Raberto, M.: Fractional calculus and continuous-time finance III: the diffusion limit. In: Mathematical Finance, pp. 171–180. Springer, New York (2001)
- Gorenflo, R., Luchko, Y., Stojanovic, M.: Fundamental solution of a distributed order timefractional diffusion-wave equation as probability density. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 16(2), 297–316 (2013)
- Mainardi, F., Raberto, M., Gorenflo, R., Scalas, E.: Fractional calculus and continuous-time finance II: the waiting-time distribution. Physica A 287, 468–481 (2000)
- Mainardi, F., Pagnini, G., Mura, A., Gorenflo, R.: Time-fractional diffusion of distributed order. J. Vib. Control 14, 1267–1290 (2008)
- Metzler, R., Klafter, J.: The restaurant at the end of the random walk: recent developments in the description of anomalous transport by fractional dynamics. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 37, R161–R208 (2004)
- Morgado, M.L., Rebelo, M.: Numerical approximation of distributed order reaction-diffusion equations. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 275, 216–227 (2015)
- Ye, H., Liu, F., Anh, V., Turner, I.: Numerical analysis for the time distributed-order and Riesz space fractional diffusions on bounded domains. Int. J. Appl. Math. (2014). doi: 10.1093/imamat/hxu015

On Polarization Dynamics in Ferroelectric Materials

M. Driss Aouragh, M. Hadda and M. Tilioua

Abstract We consider a mathematical model describing polarization dynamics in ferroelectric material. The model consists of a Maxwell system for electromagnetic field coupled with a second-order time-dependent equation for the evolution of polarization. We study the long-time behaviour of weak solutions and prove that all points of the ω -limit set of any trajectories are solutions of the stationary model.

Keywords Ferroelectrics • Polarization dynamics • Maxwell system • Global existence • Uniqueness • Long-time behaviour

AMS Subject Classifications: 35L10, 35K05

1 Introduction

In this work we are dealing with long-time behaviour of weak solutions of a mathematical system arising in the theory of ferroelectric materials. We shall consider the model considered in [2]. It is given by full Maxwell system for electromagnetic field coupled with a second-order time-dependent equation for the evolution of polarization. To describe the model equations, we consider $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ a bounded and regular open set of \mathbb{R}^3 . The generic point of \mathbb{R}^3 is denoted by *x*. We assume that a ferroelectric material occupies the domain Ω . The polarization field

M.D. Aouragh • M. Tilioua (⊠) FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, P.O. Box: 509 Boutalamine, 52000 Errachidia, Morocco e-mail: d.aouragh@fste.umi.ac.ma; m.tilioua@fste.umi.ac.ma

M. Hadda EST Meknès, P.O. Box 3103, 50000 Meknès, Morocco

FST Errachidia, M2I Laboratory, MAMCS Group, P.O. Box: 509 Boutalamine, 52000 Errachidia, Morocco e-mail: m.hadda@est.umi.ac.ma

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_25

of the ferroelectric material is denoted by P(t, x). Its evolution is governed by the following second-order time-dependent equation; see [2]

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 P + \alpha \partial_t P + \operatorname{curl}^2 P + kP = \beta E & \operatorname{in} \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \\ \operatorname{curl} P \times \nu + \delta \nu \times ((\partial_t P + \alpha P) \times \nu) = 0 & \operatorname{on} \mathbb{R}^+ \times \partial \Omega, \\ P(t=0) = P_0 & \operatorname{and} \partial_t P(t=0) = P_1 & \operatorname{in} \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1)

coupled with

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t H - \operatorname{curl} E = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \\ \partial_t (E+P) + \sigma E + \operatorname{curl} H = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \\ H \times \nu + \beta \nu \times (E \times \nu) = 0 \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \partial \Omega, \\ H(0,x) = H_0(x) \quad \text{and } E(0,x) = E_0(x) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2)

where (E, H) represents the electromagnetic field, "×" is the usual vector product, curl denotes the rotational operator and curl ${}^{2}P = \text{curl}(\text{curl }P) = \nabla \times (\nabla \times P)$. Here ν denotes the outward normal on the boundary of Ω , and α , β , σ and δ are positive constants. The Silver-Müller boundary condition considered in (2) is a first-order approximation to the so-called transparent boundary conditions, i.e. no energy loss is observed on the boundary. Silver-Müller condition allows for reflections back into Ω . It can be found in the literature under other names as well such as Leontovich or impedance boundary condition. For more information about the Silver-Müller boundary condition, we highly recommend the book of Müller [9].

Throughout, we make use of the following notation. For Ω an open bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^3 , we denote by $\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega) = (L^2(\Omega))^3$ and $\mathbb{H}^1(\Omega) = (H^1(\Omega))^3$ the classical Hilbert spaces equipped with the usual norm denoted by $|\cdot|_2$ and $|\cdot|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Omega)}$. We also consider the following classical space used in the theory of Maxwell equations $\mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) = \{u \in \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega), \operatorname{curl} u \in \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)\}.$

We define the energy

$$\mathscr{E}(t) = |\partial_t P(t)|_2^2 + |\operatorname{curl} P(t)|_2^2 + k|P(t)|_2^2 + \alpha |\sqrt{\delta}P(t) \times \nu|_2^2 + |E(t)|_2^2 + |H(t)|_2^2$$
(3)

and the initial energy

$$\mathscr{E}_{0} = |P_{1}|_{2}^{2} + |\operatorname{curl} P_{0}|_{2}^{2} + k|P_{0}|_{2}^{2} + \alpha|\sqrt{\delta}P_{0} \times \nu|_{2}^{2} + |E_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |H_{0}|_{2}^{2}$$
(4)

We have the following energy estimate:

Lemma 1. If (E, H, P) is a regular solution of the problem (1) and (2), then we have the following energy estimate:

$$\mathscr{E}(t) + 2\int_0^t (\alpha |\partial_t P|_2^2 + \sigma |E|_2^2 + |\sqrt{\beta}E \times \nu|_2^2 + |\sqrt{\delta}\partial_t P \times \nu|_2^2) \mathrm{d}s \le \mathscr{E}_0.$$
(5)

Proof. To obtain the energy inequality, we formally take the inner product of (1) by *P*, the first equation of (2) by *H* and the second of 2 by *E*, summing up and integrating over Ω the resulting equations and using the divergence theorem.

Before discussing problem (1) and (2), let us first review some previous results on ferroelectric systems. Greenberg et al. [7] considered particular solutions of ferroelectric system (1) and (2) with transverse magnetic symmetry and the boundary condition $P \times v = 0$. They supposed that the ferroelectric material occupies a cylinder with generators parallel to the x_3 -axis and a uniform, simply connected cross section ω and considered only solutions which are independent of the variable x_3 and have, with some abuse of notation, the special form, E = $r_0eu_3, H = \beta(h_1u_1 + h_2u_2)$, and $P = r_0pu_3$ in $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, where $\beta = \beta_0r_0$ and (u_1, u_2, u_3) is an orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^3 . Reducing so the coupled full systems of Maxwell's equations (1) and (2) to scalar wave equations, they were able to study the asymptotic behaviour with respect to the time variable and prove that the reduced (scalar) ferroelectric system tends to a steady state in which the scalar polarization is governed by a non-linear scalar equation that has multiple solutions. Next results concern dimensional reduction for thin ferroelectric materials [1] and the limiting behaviour when the thickness of the medium tends to zero is obtained. In the framework of time harmonic dependency of the solutions, the work [8] discusses the model equations of ferroelectric media introduced in [7]. By classical methods, among other results existence and uniqueness of the solutions for frequencies which are far from 0 are proved, and the regularity of the solutions when the polarization satisfies the boundary condition $P \times v = 0$ is obtained. Finally, in a periodic setting, the work [6] addresses global existence of weak solutions for Landau-Lifshitz-Maxwell equations. In fact the model considered in [6] generalizes (1)-(2) in the sense that it is coupled with Landau-Lifshitz equation for magnetization field.

The rest of the paper is divided as follows. In the next section, we give a global existence and uniqueness result for the model (1) and (2). The purpose of Sect. 3 is to characterize the long-time behaviour of the solutions. We conclude the paper in Sect. 4 by giving some comments.

2 Global Existence of Weak Solutions

We first state the definition of weak solutions to problem (1) and (2).

Definition 1. We say that (E, H, P) is a weak solution to the problem (1) and (2) if (1) and (2) are satisfied in the sense of distributions and

$$E, H \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)) \text{ and } E \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega))$$

$$\partial_t P, \operatorname{curl} P \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)) \text{ and } \partial_t P \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)).$$
(6)

Moreover, for all $t \ge 0$, the energy inequality (5) holds true.

Following the lines of the proof given in [2] (see also [4]), we may prove, by using classical results of the semigroup theory [10] and its application to semilinear equations, the following results dealing with the Silver-Müller boundary conditions. For more details, we refer to [3].

Theorem 1. Let $(H_0, E_0, P_0, P_1) \in \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega) \times \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega) \times \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \times \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)$ such that $P_0 \times v \in \mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega)$. Then there exists a unique weak solution $H, E \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega))$ and $P \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega))$ to the problem (1) and (2). The tangential traces $H \times v, E \times v, \partial_t P \times v$ belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))$ and $P \times v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))$.

We have the following time regularity result:

Proposition 1. Let (H, E, P) be a weak solution of (1) and (2). We assume that

 $H_0, E_0, P_0, P_1, \operatorname{curl} P_0 \in \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$

We assume moreover that $P_0 \times v, P_1 \times v \in \mathbb{L}^2(\partial \Omega)$. Then

$$\partial_t H, \partial_t E, \partial_t^2 P \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)) H, E, P, \partial_t P \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)).$$
(7)

Lemma 2. There exists a constant C > 0 such that, if (H, E, P) is a global solution of (1) and (2), we have

$$\begin{cases} |E|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} + |H|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} \leq C \\ |P|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} + |E|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} + |\partial_{t}P|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} \\ |\partial_{t}P|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} + |\operatorname{curl} P|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega))} \leq C. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{8}$$

Moreover we have

$$\begin{cases} |E \times v|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\partial\Omega))} \leq C, \\ |H \times v|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\partial\Omega))} \leq C, \\ |P \times v|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\partial\Omega))} \leq C, \\ |\partial_{t}P \times v|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+};\mathbb{L}^{2}(\partial\Omega))} \leq C. \end{cases}$$

$$(9)$$

In similar way, we get the following estimates for the time partial derivatives of the solution:

Lemma 3. There exists a constant C > 0 such that, if (H, E, P) is a global solution of (1)–(2), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_t^2 P|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} + |\operatorname{curl} \partial_t P|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} &\leq C, \\ |\partial_t E|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} + |\partial_t H|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} + |\operatorname{curl} H|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} &\leq C \\ |\operatorname{curl} P|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} + |\operatorname{curl}^2 P|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} &\leq C \\ |\operatorname{curl} 2\partial_t P|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} &\leq C \\ |\operatorname{curl} E|^2_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+;\mathbb{L}^2(\partial\Omega))} &\leq C. \end{aligned}$$
(10)

3 The Limit as *t* Goes to $+\infty$

We investigate the long-time behaviour of the solutions of (1). More precisely, we study the ω -limit set of the trajectories and characterize the ω -limit points as solutions of a suitable stationary problem. We proceed as in Carbou–Fabrie [5].

Let P be a weak solution of (1). We call ω -limit set of the trajectory P the following set

$$\omega(P) = \{ p \in \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega), \exists t_n, \lim_{n \to +\infty} t_n = +\infty, P(t_n, .) \rightharpoonup p \text{ in } \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \text{ weakly} \}$$

Consider a weak solution *P* of (1). From the energy estimate (5), the ω -limit set $\omega(P)$ is non-empty. We denote *p* a point of this set. Hence, there exists a sequence $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty} t_n = +\infty$ such that $P(t_n, .)$ tends to *p* in $\mathcal{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ weakly, in $\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)$ strongly and a.e. in Ω .

Let a > 0 fixed. For $s \in (-a, a)$ and $x \in \Omega$, we define for *n* large enough

$$p_n(s,x) = P(t_n + s, x)$$

We consider a function $\rho \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}((-a, a))$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \rho_a(s) = 0 \text{ out of } [-a, a]; \quad \rho_a(s) = 1 \text{ on } [-a+1, a-1] \\ 0 \le \rho_a \le 1; \quad |\rho_a'(s)| \le 2. \end{cases}$$
(11)

We set

$$P_a^n(x) = \frac{1}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} P(t_n + s, x)\rho_a(s)ds$$
$$H_a^n(x) = \frac{1}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} H(t_n + s, x)\rho_a(s)ds$$

and

$$E_a^n(x) = \frac{1}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} E(t_n + s, x)\rho_a(s) \mathrm{d}s$$

We have the following convergence result:

Lemma 4. The sequence $(p_n)_{n\geq 1}$ satisfies the following convergences

$$p_n \to p \text{ in } \mathbb{L}^2((-a, a) \times \Omega) \text{ strongly,}$$

$$p_n \to p \text{ in } \mathbb{L}^2((-a, a); \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)) \text{ weakly.}$$
(12)

By the estimates on *P* (Lemma 2), P_a^n is bounded in $\mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ uniformly with respect to *n* and *a*, extracting a subsequence there exists a subsequence such that $P_a^n \rightarrow P_a$ in $\mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega)$ weak.

Lemma 2 shows also that *E* and *H* are bounded in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega))$. Then H_a^n and E_a^n are bounded in $\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)$ independently of *a* and *n*. So by extracting a subsequence, we may assume that $(E_a^n, H_a^n)_{n\geq 1}$ converges in $\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega)$ weakly to (E_a, H_a) as *n* tends to $+\infty$.

Passing to the limit for polarization. In the weak formulation of (1), we take as test function $\frac{1}{2a}\rho_a(t-t_n)\Psi(x)$ where Ψ is a function lying in $\mathscr{D}(\overline{\Omega})$. Letting $s = t - t_n$, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} \int_{\Omega} (\partial_{t}^{2} p_{n}(s, x) + a \partial_{t} p_{n}(s, x) + k p_{n}(s, x)) \cdot \Psi(x) \rho_{a}(s) \, dx ds$$
$$-\beta \int_{\Omega} E_{a}^{n}(x) \Psi(x) dx + \frac{1}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl} p_{n}(s, x) \cdot \operatorname{curl} (\Psi(x) \rho_{a}(s)) \, dx ds$$
$$-\frac{\delta}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} \int_{\partial\Omega} \partial_{t} p_{n} \times v \cdot \Psi(x) \rho_{a}(s) \times v \, d\sigma \, ds$$
$$-\frac{\delta}{2a} \int_{-a}^{a} \int_{\partial\Omega} \alpha p_{n} \times v \cdot \Psi(x) \rho_{a}(s) \times v \, d\sigma \, ds = 0.$$
(13)

Now for a fixed value of the parameter a, we take the limit of the previous equation when n tends to $+\infty$. We then pass to the limit as a tends to $+\infty$ to get

$$\int_{\Omega} kP_{\infty} \cdot \Psi(x) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl} P_{\infty}(x) \cdot \operatorname{curl} \Psi(x) \, dx$$
$$-\beta \int_{\Omega} E_{\infty}(x) \Psi(x) \, dx - \delta \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha P_{\infty} \times \nu \cdot \Psi(x) \times \nu \, d\sigma = 0.$$
(14)

It remains to derive the equation satisfied by E_{∞} .

Passing to the limit for electromagnetic field. We first recall the equation verified by H_a^n and E_a^n . We write the weak formulation of the second equation of (2) by considering the test function $\Psi(t, x) = \frac{1}{2a}\rho_a(t-t_n)\zeta(x)$ with $\zeta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Letting *n* tends to $+\infty$ in the weak formulation of (2), we get

$$\alpha_a + \int_{\Omega} H_a(x) \operatorname{curl} \zeta(x) \mathrm{d}x + \sigma \int_{\Omega} E_a(x) \zeta(x) \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

where α_a tends to 0 as *a* goes to $+\infty$.

Now, as *a* goes to $+\infty$, we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} H_{\infty}(x) \cdot \operatorname{curl} \zeta(x) \mathrm{d}x = \sigma \int_{\Omega} E_{\infty}(x) \zeta(x) \mathrm{d}x.$$
(15)

In the same way, we pass to the limit in the first equation of (2). Gathering all convergence results obtained, we have

Theorem 2. If P is a weak solution of (1), then each point P_{∞} in $\omega(P)$ is a weak solution of the steady-state system

$$\begin{cases} P_{\infty} \in \mathscr{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega);\\ \operatorname{curl}^{2} P_{\infty} + k P_{\infty} = \beta E_{\infty} \text{ in } \Omega;\\ \operatorname{curl} P_{\infty} \times \nu + \delta \alpha \nu \times P_{\infty} \times \nu = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$
(16)

coupled to

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{curl} E_{\infty} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \sigma E_{\infty} + \operatorname{curl} H_{\infty} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \\ H_{\infty} \times \nu + \beta \nu \times (E_{\infty} \times \nu) = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(17)

4 Concluding Remarks

In this paper, a ferroelectric system with Silver-Müller boundary condition is investigated. Global existence and uniqueness result is given, and the long-time behaviour of the solutions is studied. The calculations performed in this paper can be generalized to the model that couples magnetization field M with (E, H, P) [6]. More precisely, for the coupled system [with the same initial and boundary conditions as in (1) and (2)]

$$\partial_t M - \alpha_1 M \times \partial_t M = -(1 + \alpha_1^2) M \times (\Delta M + H) \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \partial_t^2 P + \alpha \partial_t P + \operatorname{curl}^2 P + kP = \beta E \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \partial_t (H + M) - \operatorname{curl} E = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, \partial_t (E + P) + \sigma E + \operatorname{curl} H = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \Omega, M(t = 0) = M_0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \partial_v M = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \partial\Omega$$

$$(18)$$

one obtains by similar calculations, as t goes to $+\infty$, the following limit problem

$$\begin{cases} M_{\infty} \times (\Delta M_{\infty} + H_{\infty}) = 0 \text{ in } \Omega; \ \partial_{\nu} M_{\infty} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \\ \operatorname{div} (H_{\infty} + M_{\infty}) = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(19)

coupled to (16) and (17). Note that in (18), the assumed initial data have to satisfy the compatibility condition div $(H_0 + M_0) = 0$ in Ω .

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the PHC Volubilis programme MA/14/301 "Elaboration et analyse de modèles asymptotiques en micro-magnétisme, magnéto-élasticité et électro-élasticité" with joint financial support from the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Moroccan Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research.

References

- 1. Aïssa, N.: Asymptotic behavior of thin ferroelectric materials. Port. Math. (N. S.) 63(4), 375–392 (2006)
- Ammari, H., Hamdache, K.: Global existence and regularity of solutions to a system of nonlinear Maxwell equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 286, 51–63 (2003)
- 3. Aouragh, M.D., Hadda, M., Tilioua, M.: On a mathematical model for ferroelectrics: global existence and long time behaviour. (2015, submitted)
- Barucq, H., Fontes, M.: Well-posedness and exponential stability of Maxwell-like systems coupled with strongly absorbing layers. J. Math. Pures Appl. 87, 253–273 (2007)
- 5. Carbou, G., Fabrie, P.: Time average in micromagnetism. J. Differ. Equ. 147, 383-409 (1998)
- Ding, S., Guo, B., Lin, J., Zeng, M.: Global existence of weak solutions for Landau-Lifshitz-Maxwell equations. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 17(4), 867–890 (2007)
- Greenberg, J.M., MacCamy, R.C., Coffman, C.V.: On the long-time behavior of ferroelectric systems. Physica D 134(3), 362–383 (1999)
- Hamdache, K., Ngningone-Eya, I.: Time harmonic solutions to a model of ferroelectric materials. Appl. Anal. 84(7), 721–736 (2005)
- 9. Müller, C.: Foundations of the Mathematical Theory of Electromagnetic Wave. Springer, Berlin (1969)
- Pazy, A.: Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations. In: Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 44. Springer, New York (1978)

On a Discrete Number Operator Associated with the 5D Discrete Fourier Transform

M.K. Atakishiyeva, N.M. Atakishiyev, and J. Méndez Franco

Abstract We construct an explicit form of a difference analogue of the quantum number operator in terms of the raising and lowering operators that govern eigenvectors of the 5D discrete (finite) Fourier transform. Eigenvalues of this difference operator are represented by distinct non-negative numbers so that it can be used to systematically classify, in complete analogy with the case of the continuous classical Fourier transform, eigenvectors of the 5D discrete Fourier transform, thus resolving the ambiguity caused by the well-known degeneracy of the eigenvalues of the discrete Fourier transform.

Keywords Discrete Fourier transform • Raising and lowering operators • 5D eigenvectors

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 39A10, 39A12, 42A38

1 Introduction

We are to begin by recalling first a few well-known facts about the classical Fourier transform (FT) and its finite analogue, discrete Fourier transform (DFT). It is known that the Hermite functions

$$\psi_n(x) := c_n^{-1} H_n(x) \exp\left(-x^2/2\right), \qquad c_n = \sqrt{\sqrt{\pi} 2^n n!},$$
 (1)

M.K. Atakishiyeva

Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, 62250 Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico e-mail: mesuma@uaem.mx

N.M. Atakishiyev (\boxtimes) • J.M. Franco Instituto de Matemáticas, Unidad Cuernavaca Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, 62210 Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico e-mail: natig@matcuer.unam.mx

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_26 where $H_n(x)$ are the classical Hermite polynomials, represent an important explicit example of an orthonormal and complete system in the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ of square-integrable functions on the full real line $x \in \mathbb{R}$. It is further well known that the functions $\psi_n(x)$ possess the simple transformation property with respect to the Fourier transform: *they are eigenfunctions of the Fourier transform, associated with the eigenvalues* iⁿ,

$$(\mathscr{F}\psi_n)(x) \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ixy} \psi_n(y) \, dy = i^n \, \psi_n(x) \,. \tag{2}$$

The question is then can be posed whether there is a way of deriving the eigenfunctions (1) of the Fourier transform, which does not presuppose a knowledge of the analytic formula (2) to be proved.

Since mutually commuting operators have the same set of eigenfunctions, one may solve this problem by defining such a self-adjoint differential operator with simple spectrum of distinct eigenvalues that commutes with the FT operator \mathscr{F} . Then the eigenfunctions of that differential operator can be found by solving a corresponding to this case differential equation, and they will be at same time the eigenfunctions of the \mathscr{F} . So in this way, one reduces a problem of finding eigenfunctions of the FT operator \mathscr{F} to one of solving some differential equation.

To illustrate how to find such differential operator, let us start with the first-order differential operator $\frac{d}{dx}$ and evaluate its action on the Fourier integral transform:

$$\frac{d}{dx}\int_{\mathbb{R}}e^{ixy}f(y)\,dy = i\int_{\mathbb{R}}e^{ixy}yf(y)\,dy\,,\tag{3}$$

where $f(x) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$. Consequently, from the right side of (3), one deduces that the next step should be to evaluate

$$x \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ixy} f(y) \, dy = -i \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\frac{d \, e^{ixy}}{dy} \right) f(y) \, dy = i \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ixy} \frac{df(y)}{dy} \, dy \,, \qquad (4)$$

upon integrating by parts the middle term in (4). From (3) and (4), it thus follows that

$$\left(x \pm \frac{d}{dx}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ixy} f(y) \, dy = \pm i \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ixy} \left(y \pm \frac{d}{dy}\right) f(y) \, dy \,. \tag{5}$$

In the operator form, these identities can be written as intertwining relations

$$\mathbf{a}\,\mathscr{F} = \mathrm{i}\,\mathscr{F}\,\mathbf{a}\,,\qquad \mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\,\mathscr{F} = -\mathrm{i}\,\mathscr{F}\,\mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\,,\qquad(6)$$

where

$$\mathbf{a} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x + \frac{d}{dx} \right), \qquad \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x - \frac{d}{dx} \right), \tag{7}$$

are the lowering and raising first-order differential operators, which obey the standard Heisenberg commutation relation

$$\left[\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\right] := \mathbf{a} \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} - \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} \mathbf{a} \equiv \left[\frac{d}{dx}, x\right] = \mathbf{I}.$$
 (8)

The final step for finding the desired differential operator is actually revealed by the intertwining relations (6) because one readily concludes that

$$\mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\mathbf{a}\,\mathscr{F} = \mathbf{i}\,\mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\,\mathscr{F}\mathbf{a} = \mathscr{F}\mathbf{a}^{\dagger}\mathbf{a} \tag{9}$$

on account of both identities in (6). Consequently, the self-adjoint second-order differential number operator $\mathbf{N} := \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} \mathbf{a}$ does commute with the FT operator \mathscr{F} , and it only remains to resolve the eigenproblem $\mathbf{N}f_n(x) = \lambda_n f_n(x)$ for this operator \mathbf{N} . It is not difficult to show then that the eigenfunctions of the number operator \mathbf{N} are the Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$ (up to the arbitrariness in the choice of a normalization constant factor), whereas the corresponding eigenvalues are $\lambda_n = n, n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$

Turning to the discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(N)}$, we recall that it is based on N points and represented by the $N \times N$ unitary symmetric matrix with elements

$$\Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \exp\left(\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{N} m n\right) \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} q^{mn}, \qquad (10)$$

where $q := e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N}}$ and $m, n \in \{0, 1, ..., N-1\}$. Given a vector \vec{v} with components $\{v_k\}_{k=0}^{N-1}$, one can compute another vector \vec{u} with components

$$u_m = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} v_n, \qquad (11)$$

referred to as *the discrete (finite) Fourier transform* of the vector \vec{v} . Those vectors \vec{f}_k , which are solutions of the standard equations

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} \left(\vec{f}_k \right)_n = \lambda_k \left(\vec{f}_k \right)_m, \qquad k \in \{0, 1, \dots, N-1\},$$
(12)

then represent eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$, associated with the eigenvalues λ_k . Since the fourth power of $\Phi^{(N)}$ is the unit matrix, the only four distinct eigenvalues among λ_k s are ± 1 and $\pm i$.

Although there exists a plethora of discussion in the literature on eigenvectors of the DFT (see, e.g. [1-11] and the relevant references quoted there), the problem of deriving eigenvectors of DFT analytically still remains to be solved. Recently, Atakishiyeva and Atakishiyev [12] have proposed a strategy for resolving this

problem by constructing a self-adjoint difference operator $\mathcal{N}^{(N)}$ (with distinct nonnegative eigenvalues) in terms of the difference raising and lowering operators, which are defined by the intertwining relations

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{N}} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} = \mathrm{i} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{N}}, \qquad \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{N}}^{\mathbf{T}} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} = -\mathrm{i} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{N}}^{\mathbf{T}}. \tag{13}$$

The ability to solve a difference equation for eigenvectors of this discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(N)}$, which commutes with the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$, then enables one to define an analytical form of the desired set of eigenvectors for the latter operator.

An important aspect to observe at this point is that although the idea of making use an analogy with the continuous case for deriving eigenvectors of the DFT is not new (see, e.g. [3, 4]), it seems, however, that there never was consistent attempt to find out how symmetry properties of the continuous Fourier transform might best be transferred to the discrete case.

The limited aim of this presentation is to restrict our attention to the 5D DFT and give a detailed account of how one can solve the eigenproblem for the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ by using the difference raising and lowering operators that govern eigenvectors of the 5D discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(5)}$.

The motivation for selecting this special dimension N = 5 of the general discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(N)}$ is twofold. First, this dimension is large enough to contain a multiple eigenvalue, and therefore one has to handle the same degeneracy problem as in the more general case. Second, this dimension is small enough in order to have calculational advantages that appear in the process of resolving the eigenproblem for the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$. We hope that this study will deepen our understanding of the case with an arbitrary ND discrete Fourier transform and help us to provide some rigorous proofs, still needed for general values of N.

2 5D Raising and Lowering Difference Operators

We recall that the 5D discrete (finite) Fourier transform (DFT) is traditionally represented by a 5×5 unitary symmetric matrix $\Phi^{(5)}$ with elements defined as in (10) with N = 5 (see, e.g. [2, 6]). So the matrix form of $\Phi^{(5)}$ is

$$\left(\Phi_{m,n}^{(5)}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & q & q^2 & q^3 & q^4 \\ 1 & q^2 & q^4 & q & q^3 \\ 1 & q^3 & q & q^4 & q^2 \\ 1 & q^4 & q^3 & q^2 & q \end{pmatrix},$$
(14)

where $q = \exp(2\pi i/5)$ is the 5th root of unity and indices $m, n \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$. In [12] it was shown how to construct the *difference lowering* **b**₅ *and raising* **b**₅ *operators for eigenvectors of the DFT operator* $\Phi^{(5)}$, which satisfy 'proper' intertwining relations with the $\Phi^{(5)}$ of the form (13) for N = 5. Let us draw attention here to those intertwining relations, which evidently imply that if a vector \vec{f}_k is the eigenvector of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, associated with the eigenvalue i^k , $0 \le k \le 3$, then the vectors $\mathbf{b}_5^T \vec{f}_k$ and $\mathbf{b}_5 \vec{f}_k$ are also the eigenvectors of the same operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, associated with the eigenvalues i^{k+1} and i^{k-1} , respectively. But note carefully that this does not necessarily mean that those vectors $\mathbf{b}_5^T \vec{f}_k$ and $\mathbf{b}_5 \vec{f}_k$ essentially coincide (to within constant factors) with the eigenvectors \vec{f}_{k+1} and \vec{f}_{k-1} of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, respectively, as it does happen to be the case with the Fourier transform operator \mathscr{F} . Later we detail the action of the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T on eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$. The operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T are explicitly given as

$$\mathbf{b}_{5} := c \Big(2 \,\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{T}^{(+)} - \mathbf{T}^{(-)} \Big), \quad \mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}} := c \Big(2 \,\mathbf{S} - \mathbf{T}^{(+)} + \mathbf{T}^{(-)} \Big), \quad c = \frac{1}{4} \sqrt{\frac{5}{\pi}}, \quad (15)$$

where the operator **S** represents the diagonal matrix with elements $S_{kl} := sin(k\theta)\delta_{kl}$, $\theta := 2\pi/5, 0 \le k, l \le 4$ and a pair of the shift operators $\mathbf{T}^{(\pm)}$ are defined as $T_{kl}^{(\pm)} := \delta_{k\pm 1,l}$ with $\delta_{-1,l} \equiv \delta_{4,l}$ and $\delta_{5,l} \equiv \delta_{0,l}$. We also display the matrix form of the lowering and raising operators \mathbf{b}_5 and $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathsf{T}}$, respectively:

$$\left((\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}})_{m,m'} \right) = c \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 \sin \theta & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 \sin 2\theta & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & -2 \sin 2\theta & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -2 \sin \theta \end{pmatrix},$$
(16)
$$\left((\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathrm{T}})_{m,m'} \right) = c \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \sin \theta & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 2 \sin 2\theta & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \sin 2\theta & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \sin \theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
(17)

It is not hard to show that the determinants of both matrices \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T are equal to 0; therefore, they are not invertible. Observe also that both of these matrices are of 'almost' tridiagonal form: they have ± 1 elements in the upper-right and lower-left corners but otherwise are tridiagonal. Since those ± 1 elements can be regarded as cyclic extensions of the subdiagonal and the superdiagonal elements, these types of matrices are referred to as *extended tridiagonal* matrices in [7–9]. Moreover, another confirmation of the 'cyclic' properties of the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T is revealed by the identities

$$(\mathbf{b}_5)^5 + 5 c^4 \tau \, \mathbf{b}_5 = 0, \qquad (\mathbf{b}_5^T)^5 + 5 c^4 \tau \, \mathbf{b}_5^T = 0$$
 (18)

where τ is the golden ratio, $\tau := (\sqrt{5} + 1)/2 = -2\cos 2\theta$. This particular irrational number τ is known to turn out frequently in geometry, particularly in figures with pentagonal symmetry (see, e.g. [13, 14]); so it is not surprising that it appears here as well. Since the successive powers of τ obey the Fibonacci recurrence $\tau^{n+1} = \tau^n + \tau^{n-1}$, $n \ge 0$, this characteristic property of the golden ratio allows any polynomial in τ to be reduced to a linear expression in τ . In the sequel, it proves therefore convenient to parametrize the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ in terms of the golden ratio τ and its conjugate $\tau^{-1} := (\sqrt{5} - 1)/2 = 2\cos\theta = \tau - 1$. Taking into account that $2\sin\theta = \kappa \tau^{1/2}$ and $2\sin 2\theta = \kappa \tau^{-1/2}$, where $\kappa := (5)^{1/4}$, one rewrites matrices (16) and (17) as

$$((\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}})_{m,m'}) = c \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 \kappa \tau^{1/2} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & \kappa \tau^{-1/2} & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & -\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -\kappa \tau^{1/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(19)

$$\left((\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{m,m'} \right) = c \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & \kappa \tau^{1/2} & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \kappa \tau^{-1/2} & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -\kappa \tau^{1/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (20)

From the definition (15) of the lowering \mathbf{b}_5 and raising $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ operators, it follows that their commutator $\mathscr{K} := \left[\mathbf{b}_5, \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}\right]_{-} \equiv \mathbf{b}_5 \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} - \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{b}_5$ is equal to

$$\mathscr{K} = 4c^2 \left[\mathbf{T}^{(+)} - \mathbf{T}^{(-)}, \mathbf{S} \right]_{-}.$$
 (21)

Its explicit matrix form in terms of the golden ratio τ is

$$\left((\mathscr{K})_{m,m'}\right) = 2\kappa\sqrt{\tau} c^2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 & \tau - 2 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \tau - 2 & 0 & 2(1 - \tau) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 2(1 - \tau) & 0 & \tau - 2\\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \tau - 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (22)

To compare (22) with the continuous case, recall that the lowering and raising firstorder differential operators **a** and \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} , associated with the Fourier transform operator \mathscr{F} , obey the Heisenberg commutation relation (8).

It is worthwhile to close this section by emphasizing that it was intuitively understood much earlier that probably the *extended tridiagonal* type matrices lie at the core of the adequate description of eigenvectors of the general ND discrete Fourier transform [3, 9]. But it seems that this particular band structure was imprecisely attributed to those operators with distinct eigenvalues, which *commute* with the associated DFT operators and can be therefore used for the unambiguous classification of the eigenvectors of the latter ones. Only recently it has become clear that it is the lowering \mathbf{b}_N and raising \mathbf{b}_N^T operators for the eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$ that are of the extended tridiagonal type [12]. Defined by the standard intertwining relations (13), these operators \mathbf{b}_N and \mathbf{b}_N^T do not commute with the $\Phi^{(N)}$. Nevertheless, from the same defining identities for the \mathbf{b}_N and \mathbf{b}_N^T , it follows at once that their product $\mathbf{b}_N^T \mathbf{b}_N$ does commute with the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$. Moreover, although the operator $\mathcal{M}^{(N)} := \mathbf{b}_N^T \mathbf{b}_N$ is not of the extended tridiagonal type, it turns out to be quite sufficient for finding explicit forms of all mutually orthogonal eigenvectors the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$ in a systematic and unambiguous way. As we shall see in the next section, this briefly outlined above algebraic approach [12] to solving the eigenproblem for the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(N)}$ can be effectively employed in the particular case of the 5D DFT.

3 Eigenvalues and Eigenvectors of the Discrete Number Operator

Let us study in detail a discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)} := \mathbf{b}_5^T \mathbf{b}_5$, whose matrix elements are defined as

$$\left(\mathcal{N}^{(5)}\right)_{m,m'} = c^2 \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & -\kappa\tau^{1/2} \\ -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & 4+\tau & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & 5-\tau & 2\kappa\tau^{-1/2} & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & 2\kappa\tau^{-1/2} & 5-\tau & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} \\ -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & 4+\tau \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (23)

As a product of a matrix and its transpose, the defining matrix in (23) is symmetric and all of its eigenvalues are non-negative. Moreover, since the determinant of the matrix (23) is equal to zero, at least one of the eigenvalues should have zero value as well; but this lowest eigenvalue turns out to be unique, and all eigenvalues of the matrix (23) are actually distinct.

Before entering into further details about explicit forms of the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, we may recall first the following important facts, associated with this eigenproblem.

In this particular case under study, when (23) is just a 5 \times 5 matrix, one can use some computer program in order to evaluate the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$. For instance, this is what one gets by using *Mathematica*:

Eigenvalues of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ are $c^2 \nu_k$, $0 \leq k \leq 4$, where $\nu_k s$, arranged in the descending order, are given by

$$\nu_4 = \frac{1}{2} \left(15 - \sqrt{5} \right) + \sqrt{5 - 2\sqrt{5}} = \kappa \left[\kappa (3\tau - 2) + \tau^{-3/2} \right], \tag{24}$$

$$\nu_3 = \frac{1}{2} \left(5 + \sqrt{5} \right) + \sqrt{5 + 2\sqrt{5}} = \kappa \left(\kappa + \tau^{1/2} \right) \tau, \tag{25}$$

$$\nu_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(15 - \sqrt{5} \right) - \sqrt{5 - 2\sqrt{5}} = \kappa \left[\kappa (3\tau - 2) - \tau^{-3/2} \right], \tag{26}$$

$$\nu_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(5 + \sqrt{5} \right) - \sqrt{5 + 2\sqrt{5}} = \kappa \left(\kappa - \tau^{1/2} \right) \tau, \quad \nu_0 = 0; \tag{27}$$

Eigenvectors \vec{y}_k of $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, associated with these eigenvalues ν_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, have the following components:

$$\left(\vec{y}_{4}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \left\{0, \, \kappa + \tau^{1/2}, \, \tau^{-1/2}, \, -\tau^{-1/2}, \, -\kappa - \tau^{1/2}\right\},\tag{28}$$

$$\left(\vec{y}_3\right)_{k=0}^4 = \left\{2(1-\tau), 1, 1, 1, 1\right\},$$
 (29)

$$\left(\vec{y}_{2}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \left\{2, -\left(\tau + 2\kappa\tau^{1/2}\right), 2\kappa\tau^{1/2} + 3\tau - 2, III, II\right\},\tag{30}$$

$$\left(\vec{y}_{1}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \left\{0, \ \tau^{1/2} - \kappa, \ \tau^{-1/2}, \ -\tau^{-1/2}, \ \kappa - \tau^{1/2}\right\},\tag{31}$$

$$\left(\vec{y}_{0}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \left\{2\tau + \kappa\tau^{1/2}, 1 + \kappa\tau^{-1/2}, 1, 1, 1 + \kappa\tau^{-1/2}\right\}.$$
 (32)

Since the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ commutes with the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, the above eigenvectors of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ are at the same time eigenvectors of the $\Phi^{(5)}$: two of them, \vec{y}_0 and \vec{y}_2 , are associated with the same eigenvalue $i^0 = 1$ of the $\Phi^{(5)}$, while the eigenvectors \vec{y}_4 , \vec{y}_3 and \vec{y}_1 correspond to the eigenvalues i, $i^2 = -1$ and $i^3 = -i$ of the $\Phi^{(5)}$, respectively. Obviously, these multiplicities corresponding to the eigenvalues i^k , $0 \le k \le 3$, of the 5D DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, are the particular N = 5 cases of the general explicit expressions for the multiplicities $m_k(i^k)$ of the eigenvalues of the ND DFT [1, 10],

$$m_0(1) = \left[\frac{N}{4}\right] + 1, \qquad m_1(i) = \left[\frac{N+1}{4}\right],$$
$$m_2(-1) = \left[\frac{N+2}{4}\right], \qquad m_3(-i) = \left[\frac{N+3}{4}\right] - 1, \qquad (33)$$

where the symbol [X] stands for the greatest integer in X.

It is important also to realize that the eigenvectors \vec{y}_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, are distinct from those eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, which have appeared before in the literature. For instance, in [10] Matveev evaluated explicit forms of the

eigenvectors of the ND DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$ for the values of *N* from N = 2 to N = 8 by combining the technique of spectral projectors for the operator $\Phi^{(N)}$ with the Gramm–Schmidt orthogonalization algorithm. In particular, Matveev's eigenvectors \vec{v}_n , $1 \le n \le 5$, of the operator $\Phi^{(5)}$ (see the very end of page 644 in [10]) are interrelated with the eigenvectors \vec{y}_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, in (28)–(32) in the following way: the eigenvectors \vec{v}_1 and \vec{v}_2 are some linear combinations of the \vec{y}_0 and \vec{y}_2 , whereas the eigenvectors \vec{v}_3 , \vec{v}_4 and \vec{v}_5 coincide with the \vec{y}_3 , \vec{y}_4 and \vec{y}_1 , respectively, up to normalization by constant factors:

$$\vec{v}_3 = \vec{y}_3, \qquad \vec{v}_4 = \frac{\kappa}{2} \, \vec{y}_4, \qquad \vec{v}_5 = -\frac{\kappa}{2} \, \vec{y}_1.$$

Finally, the incentive for making those extended comments, given above, is just to emphasize that this set of eigenvectors of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, produced by *Mathematica*, is still ambiguous until a rule is given for ordering those eigenvectors and associated eigenvalues of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$.

We return now to a study of the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ in a systematic algebraic way. Since the lowest eigenvalue of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ is 0, its lowest eigenvector \vec{f}_0 is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}^{(5)}\vec{f}_0 = 0. \tag{34}$$

Moreover, an explicit form of the same eigenvector \vec{f}_0 can be found from the simpler equation

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\vec{f}_0 = 0. \tag{35}$$

Since the symmetric matrix $(\mathcal{N}^{(5)})_{m,m'}$ in (23) clearly exhibits additional symmetry among the entries of the all antidiagonals, it is evident that all eigenvectors of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ must be either 'even' or 'odd' with respect to that particular reflection symmetry about the subantidiagonal $\{(\mathcal{N}^{(5)})_{5-k,k}\}_{k=1}^4$ of the matrix $(\mathcal{N}^{(5)})_{m,m'}$, that is,

$$\left(\vec{f}_{n}\right)_{k} = (-1)^{n} \left(\vec{f}_{n}\right)_{5-k}, \quad 0 \le n, k \le 4.$$
 (36)

This means that we should look for a lowest eigenvector \vec{f}_0 , whose componentwise structure is of the form

$$\left(\vec{f}_0\right)_{k=0}^4 = \left(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \gamma, \beta\right). \tag{37}$$

Substituting (37) into (35) and employing an explicit form of the matrix (19), one obtains only two linearly independent equations for the three unknowns α , β and γ

$$\alpha = \beta \kappa \tau^{1/2} + \gamma, \qquad \beta = \gamma (1 + \kappa \tau^{-1/2}).$$
 (38)

Taking into account that $\kappa^2 = 2\tau - 1$, from (38) it follows that $\alpha = \gamma (2\tau + \kappa \tau^{1/2})$ and the lowest eigenvector \vec{f}_0 with the components

$$\left(\vec{f}_{0}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \gamma \left(2\tau + \kappa \,\tau^{1/2}, 1 + \kappa \,\tau^{-1/2}, 1, 1, 1 + \kappa \,\tau^{-1/2}\right) \tag{39}$$

is thus determined by the Eq. (35) up to normalization by a constant γ . Notice that $\vec{f}_0 = \gamma \vec{y}_0$; thus, the \vec{f}_0 is also the eigenvector of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$ corresponding to the eigenvalue $i^0 = 1$. Also, to normalize the lowest eigenvector \vec{f}_0 to have length one, it suffices to choose the normalization constant γ in (39) as $\gamma = \gamma_0 \equiv (v_2 v_3)^{-1/2}$, and we shall employ in what follows the same notation \vec{f}_0 for the *unit-length* lowest eigenvector with the components as in (39), but $\gamma = \gamma_0$.

In order to find next eigenvectors of the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, we first define 4 vectors of the form

$$\vec{f}_k := \frac{d_k}{c^k} \left(\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathbf{T}} \right)^k \vec{f}_0, \qquad 1 \le k \le 4,$$
(40)

where \vec{f}_0 is the lowest eigenvector of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ and d_k s are some normalization scalar factors. Since \vec{f}_0 is the eigenvector of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$ also and it corresponds to the eigenvalue $i^0 = 1$, from the second intertwining relation in (13) for N = 5, it follows at once that all vectors \vec{f}_k , $1 \le k \le 4$, are, in effect, the eigenvectors of the $\Phi^{(5)}$,

$$\Phi^{(5)}\vec{f}_{k} = \frac{d_{k}}{c^{k}}\Phi^{(5)}\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^{k}\vec{f}_{0} = \mathrm{i}\frac{d_{k}}{c^{k}}\mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}}\Phi^{(5)}\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^{k-1}\vec{f}_{0} = \dots$$

$$= \mathrm{i}^{k}\frac{d_{k}}{c^{k}}\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^{k}\Phi^{(5)}\vec{f}_{0} = \mathrm{i}^{k}\frac{d_{k}}{c^{k}}\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^{k}\vec{f}_{0} = \mathrm{i}^{k}\vec{f}_{k}, \qquad (41)$$

corresponding to the eigenvalues i^k , respectively. Moreover, it actually turns out that all vectors \vec{f}_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, are at the same time the eigenvectors of the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$. Indeed, since the operators $\Phi^{(5)}$ and $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ commute, one checks easily that

$$\Phi^{(5)} \mathcal{N}^{(5)} \vec{f}_k = \mathcal{N}^{(5)} \Phi^{(5)} \vec{f}_k = \mathbf{i}^k \mathcal{N}^{(5)} \vec{f}_k \tag{42}$$

is valid for all integer values of k between 0 and 4. This means that for any integer $k \in [0, 4]$, both vectors \vec{f}_k and $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}\vec{f}_k$ are associated with the same eigenvalues i^k of the 5D DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$. Consequently, three vectors \vec{f}_k , $1 \le k \le 3$, do

represent the eigenvectors of the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ because the corresponding multiplicities $m(i^k) = 1$ for those values of $1 \le k \le 3$. As for the last vector \vec{f}_4 , one readily verifies that

$$\mathscr{N}^{(5)}\vec{f}_4 \simeq \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \,\mathbf{b}_5 \left(\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^4 \vec{f}_0 \simeq \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{b}_5 \,\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \vec{f}_3 \simeq \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \left(\mathscr{N}^{(5)} + \mathscr{K}\right) \vec{f}_3 \simeq \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \vec{f}_3 \simeq \vec{f}_4 \,, \quad (43)$$

where the symbol $\mathbf{A} \simeq \mathbf{B}$ indicates that \mathbf{A} is equal to \mathbf{B} multiplied by a non-zero scalar constant factor and we employed the fact that the vector \vec{f}_3 is an eigenvector of the operator \mathcal{K} also, for the same reason as it happens to be true in the case (42) of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ (despite the non-commutativity of the operators \mathcal{K} and $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$).

Since the vector \vec{f}_0 has been already defined by (34) as the lowest eigenvector of the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, one does conclude that the five orthonormal vectors \vec{f}_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, explicitly given as

$$\vec{f}_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu_{2}\nu_{3}}} \vec{y}_{0}, \qquad \vec{f}_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\nu_{3}}} \vec{y}_{4}, \qquad \vec{f}_{2} = \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{2\kappa} \vec{y}_{3},$$
$$\vec{f}_{3} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\nu_{1}}} \vec{y}_{1}, \qquad \vec{f}_{4} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\nu_{2}\nu_{3}}} \vec{y}_{2}, \qquad (44)$$

do represent the desired set of the eigenvectors for the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$,

$$\mathcal{N}^{(5)}\vec{f}_k = \lambda_k \vec{f}_k, \qquad 0 \le k \le 4, \tag{45}$$

associated with the eigenvalues

$$\lambda_0 = 0, \quad \lambda_1 = c^2 \nu_4, \quad \lambda_2 = c^2 \nu_3, \quad \lambda_3 = c^2 \nu_1, \quad \lambda_4 = c^2 \nu_2,$$
(46)

respectively.

The explicit analytical form of the spectrum of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ can be thus represented as

$$\lambda_k = c^2 \Big[5(1 - \delta_{k0}) + 4 \Big((\tau - 1) \sin k\theta + \cos k\theta \Big) \sin 2k\theta \Big], \qquad (47)$$

where $\theta = 2\pi/5$ and $0 \le k \le 4$.

Our first graph compares the eigenvalues λ_k , $0 \le k \le 4$, and the first 5 eigenvalues of the quantum number operator $\mathbf{N} = \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} \mathbf{a}$.



The next step is to clarify how these eigenvectors (44) transform under the action of the operators $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ and \mathbf{b}_5 and then to compare them with the behaviour of their continuous counterparts $\psi_n(x)$, which satisfy the well-known relations

$$\mathbf{a} \psi_n(x) = \sqrt{n} \psi_{n-1}(x), \qquad \mathbf{a}^{\dagger} \psi_n(x) = \sqrt{n+1} \psi_{n+1}(x).$$
 (48)

But observe first that from (40), it follows at once that

$$\vec{f}_{k+1} = \frac{d_{k+1}}{c \, d_k} \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \, \vec{f}_k \,, \qquad 0 \le k \le 3 \,, \qquad d_0 = 1 \,.$$
 (49)

Therefore, the relations (49) can be explicitly written for each appropriate value of the index k as

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}}\vec{f}_{0} = \frac{4\kappa c^{2}}{\sqrt{\tau\lambda_{4}}}\vec{f}_{1} \equiv \eta \,\vec{f}_{1}, \qquad \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}}\vec{f}_{k} = \sqrt{\lambda_{k+1}}\vec{f}_{k+1}, \qquad 1 \le k \le 3, \tag{50}$$

where $\eta := 4\kappa/\sqrt{\tau\nu_2\nu_4} \equiv 4/\sqrt{5\tau+21}$. It remains only to evaluate the last identity

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}}\vec{f}_{4} = \frac{1}{4c^{4}\kappa^{2}} (\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}})^{5} \vec{f}_{0} = -\frac{5\tau}{4\kappa^{2}} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}}\vec{f}_{0} = -\sqrt{(1-\eta^{2})\lambda_{1}}\vec{f}_{1},$$
(51)

which is a direct consequence of the second 'cyclic' identity in (18) and the relation

$$\vec{f}_4 = \frac{1}{4c^4\kappa^2} (\mathbf{b}_5^{\rm T})^4 \vec{f}_0, \tag{52}$$

readily obtained by the successive use of all entries in the chain of relations (49). The formulas (50) and (51) are thus discrete analogues of those, which are collected in the second identity of the continuous case (48).

As for the action of the lowering difference operator b_5 , the situation here is slightly different. The point is that already at the first step one evaluates that

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\vec{f}_{1} = \delta \,\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathrm{T}}\vec{f}_{0} = \delta \left(\mathscr{K} + \mathscr{N}^{(5)}\right)\vec{f}_{0} = \delta \,\mathscr{K}\vec{f}_{0} = \delta \left(\alpha\vec{f}_{0} + \beta\vec{f}_{4}\right), \tag{53}$$

where $\delta := (\eta \sqrt{\lambda_1})^{-1}$ and coefficients α and β can be explicitly defined by the following easy algebra:

$$(\vec{f}_0, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}} \vec{f}_1) = \delta \alpha = (\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}} \vec{f}_0, \vec{f}_1) = \delta^{-1} (\vec{f}_1, \vec{f}_1) = \delta^{-1} = \eta \sqrt{\lambda_1},$$
(54)

$$(\vec{f}_4, \mathbf{b}_5 \vec{f}_1) = \delta \beta = (\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathbf{T}} \vec{f}_4, \vec{f}_1) = -\sqrt{(1 - \eta^2)\lambda_1} (\vec{f}_1, \vec{f}_1) = -\sqrt{(1 - \eta^2)\lambda_1} .$$
(55)

From (54) and (55), one thus concludes that $\alpha = \eta^2 \lambda_1$, $\beta = -\eta \sqrt{1 - \eta^2} \lambda_1$, and the relation (53) now explicitly reads

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\vec{f}_{1} = \sqrt{\lambda_{1}} \left[\eta \vec{f}_{0} - \sqrt{1 - \eta^{2}} \vec{f}_{4} \right].$$
(56)

The evaluation of the action of the lowering operator **b**₅ on the remaining three eigenvectors \vec{f}_n , n = 2, 3, 4, requires less efforts for the following reason. As we have already remarked in the process of deriving formula (43), three vectors \vec{f}_1, \vec{f}_2 and \vec{f}_3 , associated with the eigenvalues i^k , k = 1, 2, 3, with multiplicities 1, are actually common eigenvectors of the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ and the operator \mathcal{K} (although these operators do not commute). Moreover, the explicit form of corresponding eigenvalues of the operator \mathcal{K} ,

$$\mathscr{K}\vec{f}_n = (\lambda_{n+1} - \lambda_n)\vec{f}_n, \qquad n = 1, 2, 3, \tag{57}$$

is a direct consequence of the evident intertwining relation $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}} \left(\mathcal{N}^{(5)} + \mathcal{K} \right)$. Therefore, for $2 \le k \le 4$ one readily derives that

$$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\vec{f}_{k} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}_{k}} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathrm{T}}\vec{f}_{k-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}_{k}} \left(\mathscr{K} + \mathscr{N}^{(5)} \right) \vec{f}_{k-1} = \sqrt{\lambda}_{k} \vec{f}_{k-1} \,. \tag{58}$$

We are now in a position to write down all matrix elements of the raising and lowering operators $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ and \mathbf{b}_5 in the basis, built over the eigenvectors \vec{f}_n , $0 \le n \le 4$. In particular, using (50) and (51), one readily evaluates that

$$\left(\left(\vec{f}_{k}, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}^{\mathbf{T}}\vec{f}_{l}\right)\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \eta\sqrt{\lambda_{1}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\sqrt{(1-\eta^{2})\lambda_{1}} \\ 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{3}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{4}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (59)

In a like manner, from (45), (56) and (58), it follows at once that

$$\left(\left(\vec{f}_{k}, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{5}}\vec{f}_{l}\right)\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \eta\sqrt{\lambda_{1}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{2}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{3}} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_{4}}\\ 0 & -\sqrt{(1-\eta^{2})\lambda_{1}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (60)

To close this section, we point out here that as a consistency check, one may verify that these matrix realizations (59) and (60) of the raising and lowering operators $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ and \mathbf{b}_5 in the \vec{f}_n -basis, respectively, do possess the same 'cyclic' properties as indicated in identities (18). Indeed, a direct computation of the 5th power of the matrix (60) shows that

$$\left(\left(\vec{f}_{k},\mathbf{b}_{5}\vec{f}_{l}\right)\right)^{5}+\left[(1-\eta^{2})\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\lambda_{3}\lambda_{4}\right]^{1/2}\left(\left(\vec{f}_{k},\mathbf{b}_{5}\vec{f}_{l}\right)\right)=0,$$
(61)

where

$$\left[(1 - \eta^2) \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \lambda_3 \lambda_4 \right]^{1/2} = c^4 \left[(1 - \eta^2) \nu_1 \nu_2 \nu_3 \nu_4 \right]^{1/2} = 5 c^4 \tau, \tag{62}$$

upon using definitions of the eigenvalues v_k , $1 \le k \le 4$, given in (24)–(27). Finally, since the operator $\mathbf{b}_5^{\mathrm{T}}$ is the matrix transpose of \mathbf{b}_5 , the former one has the same 'cyclic' property as the latter.

4 Eigenvectors of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ Versus the Hermite Functions $\psi_n(x)$

From the outset the ND discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(N)}$ was conceived as a finite (discrete) analogue of the Fourier transform \mathscr{F} , and the N eigenvectors \vec{f}_k , $0 \le k \le N - 1$, of the former transform operator were therefore required to converge to the corresponding Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$ in the limit as $N \to \infty$. So the question is: How the eigenvectors \vec{f}_k , $0 \le k \le N - 1$, of a ND DFT $\Phi^{(N)}$ with a fixed integer value of N can be related to the Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$, $0 \le n < \infty$? Note first that a ND discrete Fourier transform is actually a discrete (finite) image of the *N*-dimensional subspace of the infinite-dimensional Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$, spanned by the first N basis functions $\psi_n(x)$, $0 \le n \le N - 1$, in this space, rather than of the whole Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ itself. Consequently, one

should find out how the eigenvectors \vec{f}_k match the first N Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$, $0 \le n \le N - 1$. In this regard, it is important to take into account the following fundamental properties of the Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$: $\psi_n(-x) = (-1)^n \psi_n(x)$, and each function $\psi_n(x)$ has exactly *n* alternations in its sign. As we have already remarked above [see formula (36)], the eigenvectors \vec{f}_k do exhibit the same type of the reflection symmetry as $\psi_n(-x) = (-1)^n \psi_n(x)$ in the continuous case, so that it remains only to verify that each eigenvector \vec{f}_k has the same number of alternations in its components $(\vec{f}_k)_l$, $0 \le l \le N-1$, as a Hermite function $\psi_n(x)$, associated with it. But the careful examination of the eigenvectors \vec{f}_n under study, explicitly defined by relations (28)–(32) and (44), indicates that their components are not appropriately structured in order to enable one to match them with the first 5 Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$. It has been then realized that one actually needs to rearrange components of the eigenvectors \vec{f}_k and introduce another set of *centred vectors* $\vec{f}_k^{(c)}$ with the components $(\vec{f}_k^{(c)})_{l=-2}^2$, defined as

$$\left(\vec{f}_{k}^{(c)}\right)_{l-2} = \left((\mathbf{U})_{l,m}\right) \left(\vec{f}_{k}\right)_{m}, \qquad 0 \le k, l, m \le 4,$$
(63)

where U is the unitary operator, $UU^{T} = U^{T}U = I$, with the matrix elements

$$\left((\mathbf{U})_{m,m'} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(64)

The explicit componentwise forms of these centred eigenvectors $\vec{f}_k^{(c)}$, $0 \le k \le 4$, are

$$\vec{f}_{0}^{(c)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu_{2} \nu_{3}}} \left\{ 1, 1 + \kappa \tau^{-1/2}, 2\tau + \kappa \tau^{1/2}, II, I \right\},$$

$$\vec{f}_{1}^{(c)} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\nu_{3}}} \left\{ -\tau^{-1/2}, -\kappa - \tau^{1/2}, 0, -II, -I \right\},$$

$$\vec{f}_{2}^{(c)} = \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{2\kappa} \left\{ 1, 1, 2(1 - \tau), 1, 1 \right\},$$

$$\vec{f}_{3}^{(c)} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\nu_{1}}} \left\{ -\tau^{-1/2}, \kappa - \tau^{1/2}, 0, -II, -I \right\},$$

$$\vec{f}_{4}^{(c)} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\nu_{2} \nu_{3}}} \left\{ 2\kappa \tau^{1/2} + 3\tau - 2, -\left(\tau + 2\kappa \tau^{1/2}\right), 2, II, I \right\}.$$
(65)

In next 5 graphs, we compare the centred vectors $\vec{f}_n^{(c)}$ and the first Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$, $0 \le n \le 4$, respectively.




It is to be emphasized that thus introduced centred vectors $\vec{f}_n^{(c)}$ are actually eigenvectors of the *centred discrete number operator* $\mathcal{N}^{(5;c)}$,

$$\mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{5};\mathbf{c})} := \mathbf{U} \,\mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{5})} \,\mathbf{U}^{\mathrm{T}}\,,\tag{66}$$

associated with the same eigenvalues λ_n as in (45), that is, $\mathcal{N}^{(5;c)} \vec{f}_n^{(c)} = \lambda_n \vec{f}_n^{(c)}$. Matrix elements of this operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5;c)} := (\mathbf{b}_5^{(c)})^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{b}_5^{(c)}$ are explicitly given as (cf (23))

$$\left(\mathcal{N}^{(5;\mathbf{c})}\right)_{m,m'} = c^2 \begin{pmatrix} 5-\tau & \kappa\tau^{-\frac{3}{2}} & -1 & -1 & 2\kappa\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ \kappa\tau^{-\frac{3}{2}} & 4+\tau & -\kappa\tau^{\frac{1}{2}} & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & -\kappa\tau^{\frac{1}{2}} & 2 & -\kappa\tau^{\frac{1}{2}} & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & -\kappa\tau^{\frac{1}{2}} & 4+\tau & \kappa\tau^{-\frac{3}{2}} \\ 2\kappa\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}} & -1 & -1 & \kappa\tau^{-\frac{3}{2}} & 5-\tau \end{pmatrix},$$
(67)

where the centred lowering and raising operators $\mathbf{b}_5^{(c)}$ and $(\mathbf{b}_5^{(c)})^T$ are defined through the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T , respectively, by the same similarity transformation as in (66).

Furthermore, the centred vectors $\vec{f}_n^{(c)}$ turn out to be also eigenvectors of the centred discrete Fourier transform operator $\Phi^{(5;c)}$,

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(5;c)} := \mathbf{U} \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(5)} \,\mathbf{U}^{\mathbf{T}} \,, \tag{68}$$

corresponding to the respective eigenvalues i^n . The eigenproblem for the centred DFT operator $\Phi^{(5;c)}$ can be thus written in the matrix form as

$$\sum_{m=-2}^{2} \Phi_{m,n}^{(5;c)} \left(\vec{f}_{k}^{(c)}\right)_{n} = \lambda_{k} \left(\vec{f}_{k}^{(c)}\right)_{m}, \qquad 0 \le k \le 4, \qquad -2 \le m \le 2, \qquad (69)$$

and associated matrix for this eigenproblem has elements (cf (14))

$$\left(\Phi_{m,n}^{(5;c)}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}} \begin{pmatrix} q^4 \ q^2 \ 1 \ q^3 \ q \\ q^2 \ q \ 1 \ q^4 \ q^3 \\ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \\ q^3 \ q^4 \ 1 \ q \ q^2 \\ q \ q^3 \ 1 \ q^2 \ q^4 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(70)

A word of explanation regarding the present results (66)-(70) is in order at this point, but let us recall first the following. Square matrices A and B are said to be similar, if there is a non-singular matrix \mathbf{C} (which is referred to as a *transforming*) *matrix* of **B** to **A**) such that $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{CBC}^{-1}$. In the case when the transforming matrix C is a unitary matrix U, $UU^{\dagger} = I$, then B is *unitarily similar* to A (see, e.g. pages 130 and 175 in [15]). Taking that into account, note that in the process of establishing how the eigenvectors \vec{f}_n are related to the Hermite functions $\psi_n(x)$, we actually arrived at another form (69) of the eigenproblem for the 5D DFT operator, which appear to be different from the traditional one (12). This form of DFT is also well known but less frequently used. However, some authors have even suggested that it is better not to use the standard Fourier matrix that represents a discretization of the Fourier transform but rather to use a 'centred' version of it [8]. But from (68) it is clear that $\Phi^{(5)}$ and $\Phi^{(5;c)}$ are actually unitarily similar, with the transforming matix (64), and they represent therefore the same linear transformation after a change of basis. Nonetheless, it is true that there is considerable merit in working with the non-standard 5D DFT operator $\Phi^{(5;c)}$ because it explicitly displays all those symmetry properties in the eigenproblem (69), which are so characteristic of the continuous Fourier transform. As a direct consequence of this appealing feature of (69), the matrix form of $\Phi^{(5;c)}$ clearly exhibits its remarkable symmetry: the matrix $\Phi^{(5;c)}$ is a *centrosymmetric matrix* [3], meaning that it is reproduced by the similarity transformation with the transforming matrix \mathbf{J} ,

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(5;c)} = \mathbf{J} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(5;c)} \mathbf{J},\tag{71}$$

where **J** is the 5×5 matrix with ones on the antidiagonal,

$$\left(J_{m,n}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

Finally, the operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5;c)}$, which commutes with $\Phi^{(5;c)}$, is also of the centrosymmetric type, as is readily seen from (67).

5 Concluding Remarks

To summarize, we have constructed an explicit form of a difference analogue of the quantum number operator in terms of the raising and lowering operators that govern eigenvectors of the 5D discrete (finite) Fourier transform. The main algebraic properties of this operator have been examined in detail. The eigenvalues of this discrete number operator are represented by distinct non-negative numbers so that this operator has been used to systematically classify, in complete analogy with the case of the continuous classical Fourier transform, eigenvectors of the 5D discrete Fourier transform, thus resolving the ambiguity caused by the well-known degeneracy of the eigenvalues of the discrete Fourier transform. We hope that this particular knowledge will help us to extend our results to the case of an arbitrary ND discrete Fourier transform.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to Vladimir Matveev, Timothy Gendron and Ívan Area for illuminating discussions and thank Fernando González for graphical support of our results and the computation of the eigenvalues (24)–(27) and eigenvectors (28)–(32) with the aid of *Mathematica*. The participation of MKA in this work has been partially supported by the SEP-CONACyT project 168104 'Operadores integrales y pseudodiferenciales en problemas de fisíca matemática', and NMA has been partially supported by the UNAM–DGAPA project IN101115 'Óptica matemática'.

References

- 1. Carlitz, L.: Some cyclotomic matrices. Acta Arith. 5, 293–308 (1959)
- 2. Auslander, L., Tolimieri, R.: Is computing with the finite Fourier transform pure or applied mathematics? Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 1, 847–897 (1979)
- 3. Dickinson, B.W., Steiglitz, K.: Eigenvectors and functions of the discrete Fourier transform. IEEE Trans. Acoust. Speech **30**, 25–31 (1982)
- 4. Grünbaum, F. A.: The eigenvectors of the discrete Fourier transform: a version of the Hermite functions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **88**, 355–363 (1982)

- 5. Mehta, M.L.: Eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform. J. Math. Phys. 28, 781–785 (1987)
- 6. Terras, A.: Fourier Analysis on Finite Groups and Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1999)
- Mugler, D.H., Clary, S.: Discrete Hermite functions. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Scientific Computing and Mathematical Modeling, Milwaukee WI, pp. 318–321 (2000)
- Mugler, D.H., Clary, S.: Discrete Hermite functions and the fractional Fourier transform. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Sampling Theory and Applications, Orlando FL, pp. 303–308 (2001)
- Clary, S., Mugler, D.H.: Shifted Fourier matrices and their tridiagonal commutators. SIAM J. Math. Anal. Appl. 24, 809–821 (2003)
- 10. Matveev, V.B.: Intertwining relations between the Fourier transform and discrete Fourier transform, the related functional identities and beyond. Inverse Prob. **17**, 633–657 (2001)
- Atakishiyev, N.M.: On *q*-extensions of Mehta's eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 21 4993–5006 (2006)
- 12. Atakishiyeva, M.K., Atakishiyev, N.M.: On the raising and lowering difference operators for eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 597, 012012 (2015)
- 13. Koshy, T.: Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers with Applications. Wiley, New York (2001)
- 14. Dunlap, R.A.: The Golden Ratio and Fibonacci Numbers. World Scientific, Singapore (2006)
- 15. Lancaster, P., Tismenetsky, M.: The Theory of Matrices. Academic, Orlando, FL (1985)

Finite Difference Formulation for the Model of a Compressible Viscous and Heat-Conducting Micropolar Fluid with Spherical Symmetry

N. Mujaković and N. Črnjarić–Žic

Abstract We are dealing with the nonstationary 3D flow of a compressible viscous heat-conducting micropolar fluid, which is in the thermodynamical sense perfect and polytropic. It is assumed that the domain is a subset of \mathbb{R}^3 and that the fluid is bounded with two concentric spheres. The homogeneous boundary conditions for velocity, microrotation, heat flux, and spherical symmetry of the initial data are proposed. By using the assumption of the spherical symmetry, the problem reduces to the one-dimensional problem. The finite difference formulation of the considered problem is obtained by defining the finite difference approximate equation system. The corresponding approximate solutions converge to the generalized solution of our problem globally in time, which means that the defined numerical scheme is convergent. Numerical experiments are performed by applying the proposed finite difference formulation. We compare the numerical results obtained by using the finite difference and analyze the properties of the numerical solutions.

Keywords Micropolar fluid flow • Spherical symmetry • Finite difference approximations • Strong and weak convergence

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 35Q35, 76M20, 65M06, 76N99

N. Mujaković

N. Črnjarić–Žic (⊠)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Department of Mathematics, University of Rijeka, Radmile Matejčić 2, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia e-mail: nmujakovic@math.uniri.hr

Faculty of Engineering, University of Rijeka, Vukovarska 58, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia e-mail: nelida@riteh.hr

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_27

1 Introduction

The theory of micropolar fluids, established by Eringen [4], provides a mathematical foundation for studying the model of a fluid, which takes into account the interactions between the micromotion effects of fluid particles and the macromotion. The micropolar fluid equation system is actually an extension of the classical Navier–Stokes equations with the additional variable called microrotation, describing the angular momentum of the particles.

In this paper, we focus on the compressible flow of the isotropic, viscous, and heat-conducting micropolar fluid, which is in the thermodynamical sense perfect and polytropic. The model for this type of flow was first considered by Mujaković in [6] where she developed one-dimensional model. In [6, 7], she considered the model with homogeneous and nonhomogeneous boundary conditions and proved the existence and the uniqueness of the generalized solutions. The model in the three-dimensional case, which we consider in this work, was introduced in [1]. It is assumed that the fluid occupies the domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, bounded with two concentric spheres with radii a and b, b > a > 0; that the initial data are spherically symmetric; and that the homogeneous boundary conditions for velocity, microrotation, and heat flux are valid. Taking into account the spherical symmetry, the problem reduces to the one-dimensional problem, which we consider here in the Lagrangian description. The local existence and the uniqueness of the generalized solution were proved in [1, 8] by using the Faedo–Galerkin method. Additionally, the global existence and the stabilization of the generalized solution for the same model were established in [2, 3].

We consider here the finite difference formulation of the described problem, which is based on the approximate equation system obtained by using the finite difference approach. It is proved in [9] that the sequence of the corresponding approximate solutions converges to the generalized solution of our problem, which means that the defined numerical scheme is convergent. In this work, we analyze some properties of numerical solutions obtained with the proposed finite difference scheme. Furthermore, we compute the numerical results by using the Faedo–Galerkin method [1] and compare it with the results obtained with the finite difference scheme.

The paper is organized as follows. In the second section, we introduce the mathematical formulation of our problem. In the third section, we define the corresponding finite difference formulation. In the fourth section, we present and analyze some properties of the numerical solutions.

2 Mathematical Model

In this work, we consider the three-dimensional flow of the compressible viscous and heat-conducting micropolar fluid, being thermodynamically perfect and polytropic. In the Eulerian description, the starting domain is $\{\mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3, a < |\mathbf{x}| < b\}$, where $|\mathbf{x}| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2}$ and b > a > 0. The homogeneous boundary conditions for velocity, microrotation, heat flux, and spherical symmetry of the initial data are proposed. This spherically symmetric problem is transformed in [1] to the one-dimensional problem in Lagrangian coordinates in the domain (0, 1) and described by the following system of equations:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{L} \rho^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right),\tag{1}$$

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = -\frac{R}{L}r^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(\rho\theta) + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{L^2}r^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(r^2v\right)\right),\tag{2}$$

$$\rho \frac{\partial \omega}{\partial t} = -\frac{4\mu_r}{j_I}\omega + \frac{c_0 + 2c_d}{j_I L^2} r^2 \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 \omega \right) \right),\tag{3}$$

$$\rho \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} = \frac{K}{c_v L^2} \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^4 \rho \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} \right) - \frac{R}{c_v L} \rho^2 \theta \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right) + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{c_v L^2} \left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^2 v \right) \right)^2 \tag{4}$$

$$-\frac{4\mu}{c_v L}\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(rv^2\right)+\frac{c_0+2c_d}{c_v L^2}\left(\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(r^2\omega\right)\right)^2-\frac{4c_d}{c_v L}\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(r\omega^2\right)+\frac{4\mu_r}{c_v}\omega^2.$$

Here ρ , v, w, and θ denote, respectively, the mass density, velocity, microrotation velocity ,and temperature in the Lagrangian description and $L = \int_{a}^{b} s^{2}\rho_{0}(s) ds$, (*a* and *b* are radii of the starting domain). μ , μ_{r} , λ , c_{0} , c_{d} , K, c_{v} , j_{I} , and R are the physical constants describing fluid properties for which the following relations should be valid: μ , μ_{r} , c_{d} , $j_{I} \geq 0$, $3\lambda + 2\mu \geq 0$, $3c_{0} + 2c_{d} \geq 0$, c_{v} , R, K > 0. The system is considered in the domain $Q_{T} = \langle 0, 1 \rangle \times \langle 0, T \rangle$, where T > 0 is arbitrary. Equations (1)–(4) are, respectively, local forms of the conservation laws for the mass, momentum, momentum moment, and energy. We take the homogeneous boundary conditions:

$$v(0,t) = v(1,t) = 0, \ \omega(0,t) = \omega(1,t) = 0, \ \partial_x \theta(0,t) = \partial_x \theta(1,t) = 0,$$
 (5)

for $t \in (0, T)$ and the nonhomogeneous initial conditions:

$$\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x), \ v(x,0) = v_0(x), \ \omega(x,0) = \omega_0(x), \ \theta(x,0) = \theta_0(x),$$
(6)

for $x \in (0, 1)$ and for the given functions ρ_0 , v_0 , ω_0 , and θ_0 . The function r is defined by:

$$r(x,t) = r_0(x) + \int_0^t v(x,\tau) \, d\tau, \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$
(7)

where:

$$r_0(x) = \left(a^3 + 3L \int_0^x \frac{1}{\rho_0(y)} \, dy\right)^{1/3}, \quad x \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle.$$
(8)

We assume that the initial functions satisfy:

$$\rho_0(x) \ge m, \ \theta_0(x) \ge m, \quad x \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle, \tag{9}$$

for some constant $m \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and that

$$\rho_0, \theta_0 \in H^1(\langle 0, 1 \rangle) \quad \text{and} \quad v_0, \omega_0 \in H^1_0(\langle 0, 1 \rangle).$$
(10)

Under the stated assumptions (9) and (10), in previous papers [1, 2, 8], it is proven that the problem (1)–(5) has unique solution (ρ , v, ω , θ) in the domain Q_T , for any T > 0, with the following properties:

$$\rho \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^1(\langle 0,1\rangle)) \cap H^1(Q_T), \tag{11}$$

$$v, \omega, \theta \in L^{\infty}(0, T; H^{1}(\langle 0, 1 \rangle)) \cap H^{1}(Q_{T}) \cap L^{2}(0, T; H^{2}(\langle 0, 1 \rangle)),$$
 (12)

$$\rho > 0, \quad \theta > 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \bar{Q}_T.$$
 (13)

For the function *r*, it holds $r \in L^{\infty}(0, T; H^2(\langle 0, 1 \rangle)) \cap H^2(Q_T) \cap C(\bar{Q}_T)$, and $r \ge a$ in \bar{Q}_T . These results were obtained by using the Faedo–Galerkin method for a local existence theorem [1] and the extension principle for a global existence theorem [2].

3 Finite Difference Formulation

In this section, we introduce the finite difference formulation for the considered problem (1)–(6). More precisely, we define the finite difference scheme resulting with the system of ordinary differential equations.

Let *h* be an increment in *x* such that Nh = 1 for $N \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. The staggered grid points are denoted with $x_k = kh, k \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$, and $x_j = jh, j \in \{\frac{1}{2}, ..., N - \frac{1}{2}\}$. For each integer *N*, we construct the following time-dependent functions:

$$\rho_j(t), \theta_j(t), j = \frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2}, \text{ and } v_k(t), \omega_k(t), k = 0, 1, \dots, N,$$
 (14)

that form a discrete approximation to the solution at defined grid points:

$$\rho(x_j, t), \theta(x_j, t), j = \frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2}, \text{ and } v(x_k, t), \omega(x_k, t), k = 0, 1, \dots, N$$

We define the operator δ with $\delta g_l = \frac{g_{l+\frac{1}{2}} - g_{l-\frac{1}{2}}}{h}$, where l = j or l = k. For $k \in \{1, \dots, N\}$ and $j \in \{\frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2}\}$, the functions ρ_k , θ_k and v_j , ω_j are defined by $\rho_k = \rho_{k-\frac{1}{2}}$, $\theta_k = \theta_{k-\frac{1}{2}}$, and $v_j = v_{j+\frac{1}{2}}$, $\omega_j = \omega_{j+\frac{1}{2}}$. In accordance with the given initial conditions (6), we introduce the discrete initial conditions as:

$$(\rho_j, \theta_j)(0) = \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{(j-\frac{1}{2})h}^{(j+\frac{1}{2})h} \rho_0(x) dx, \frac{1}{h} \int_{(j-\frac{1}{2})h}^{(j+\frac{1}{2})h} \theta_0(x) dx\right), j \in \left\{\frac{1}{2}, \dots, N-\frac{1}{2}\right\}, \quad (15)$$

$$(v_k, \omega_k)(0) = \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{(k-1)h}^{kh} v_0(x) dx, \frac{1}{h} \int_{(k-1)h}^{kh} \omega_0(x) dx\right), \ k \in \{1, \dots, N-1\}.$$
(16)

and $v_0(0) = v_N(0) = 0$, $\omega_0(0) = \omega_N(0) = 0$, $\delta\theta_0(0) = \delta\theta_N(0) = 0$. Because of (8), we take:

$$r_k(0) = \left(a^3 + 3L\sum_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{k-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{h}{\rho_j(0)}\right)^{1/3}, k = 1, \dots, N$$
(17)

and $r_0(0) = a$. The functions $\rho_j(t), v_k(t), \omega_k(t), \theta_j(t), j = \frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2}, k = 1, \dots, N - 1$, and $r_k(t), k = 0, \dots, N$ are determined by using an appropriate spatial discretization of the equation system (1)–(4) and (7):

$$\dot{\rho}_j = -\frac{1}{L} \rho_j^2 \delta(r^2 v)_j, \quad j = \frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2},$$
(18)

$$\dot{v}_k = -\frac{R}{L} r_k^2 \,\delta(\rho\theta)_k + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{L^2} r_k^2 \,\delta(\rho\delta(r^2v))_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, N-1, \quad (19)$$

$$\rho_k \dot{\omega}_k = -\frac{4\mu_r}{j_I} \omega_k + \frac{c_0 + 2c_d}{j_I L^2} r_k^2 \rho_k \delta(\rho \delta(r^2 \omega))_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, N-1, \quad (20)$$

$$\rho_{j}\dot{\theta}_{j} = \frac{K}{c_{v}L^{2}}\rho_{j}\delta(r^{4}\rho\delta\theta)_{j} - \frac{R}{c_{v}L}\rho_{j}^{2}\theta_{j}\delta(r^{2}v)_{j} + \frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{c_{v}L^{2}}\left(\rho_{j}(\delta(r^{2}v)_{j})\right)^{2} - \frac{4\mu}{c_{v}L}\rho_{j}\delta(rv^{2})_{j} + + \frac{c_{0} + 2c_{d}}{c_{v}L^{2}}\left(\rho_{j}(\delta(r^{2}\omega)_{j})\right)^{2} - \frac{4c_{d}}{c_{v}L}\rho_{j}\delta(r\omega^{2})_{j} + \frac{4\mu_{r}}{c_{v}}\omega_{j}^{2}, j = \frac{1}{2}, \dots, N - \frac{1}{2},$$
(21)

$$\dot{r}_k = v_k, \quad k = 0, \dots, N. \tag{22}$$

In accordance with the boundary conditions (5), we take

$$v_0(t) = v_N(t) = 0, \ \omega_0(t) = \omega_N(t) = 0, \ \delta\theta_0(t) = \delta\theta_N(t) = 0.$$
 (23)

It is clear that (18)–(22), supplemented with the discretized equations (because, there are 3 equations included in (23)), represent the time-dependent system of ordinary differential equations with the initial conditions (15)–(17) for 5N - 1 unknown functions. By using the solutions of this system, the approximate solutions of the considered problem can be defined, for example, as linear splines. It is proved in [9] that these approximate solutions converge to the generalized global solution of our problem.

4 Numerical Examples

The obtained system of equations (18)–(22) has the form $\dot{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}(t))$. For solving it numerically, the second-order strong stability-preserving Runge–Kutta method is used [5]:

$$\mathbf{u}^{(1)} = \mathbf{u}^n + \Delta t \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}^n)$$
$$\mathbf{u}^{n+1} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}^n + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta t \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}^{(1)})$$

Here \mathbf{u}^n denotes the numerical solution at time moment $t^n = n\Delta t$ for the chosen time step Δt . For stability reasons of obtained numerical scheme, we choose $\Delta t = \mathcal{O}(h^2)$. In this way, the positivity of the density and the temperature are preserved.

Test Example 1 We take the following initial conditions: $\rho_0(x) = |x^2 - \frac{1}{4}| + 1$, $v_0(x) = 0$, $\omega_0(x) = 4(x^2 - x^4)$, and $\theta_0(x) = 0.1$ and parameters $\mu = \mu_r = K = c_0 = c_d = 0.01$, $R = c_v = 1$, $j_I = 1$, a = 1, and L = 1. Numerical parameters are set to N = 16, $t = 10^{-3}$.

In Fig. 1, we present the numerical results obtained with the proposed finite difference scheme at different time moments. In shown figures, it is nicely visible that, for larger *t*, the stabilization of the solution arises, which is in accordance with the result that was proved in [3] and which states that the solution of our problem converges to the stationary constant solution of the form $(\rho^*, 0, 0, \theta^*)$ in the space $(H_1(\langle 0, 1 \rangle))^4$ (when $t \to \infty$), where $\rho^* = \left(\int_0^1 \frac{1}{\rho_0(x)} dx\right)^{-1}$, $\theta^* = \frac{1}{c_v} \int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{2}|v_0(x)|^2 + \frac{j_1}{2}|\omega_0(x)|^2 + c_v|\theta_0(x)|\right) dx$.

Test Example 2—Influence of the Microrotation to the Solution Now, the initial conditions are taken as follows: $\rho_0(x) = 1$, $v_0(x) = 0$, $\omega_0(x) = \sin(\pi x)$, and $\theta_0(x) = 0.1$. The fixed parameters in this test are $K = c_0 = c_d = 0.01$, $R = c_v = 1$, $j_I = 1$, a = 1, and L = 1. Numerical parameters are set to N = 16, $t = 10^{-3}$.

In order to investigate the influence of the microrotation to the solution, in first case, we fix the viscosity parameter $\mu = 0.01$ and variate the micropolar viscosity

coefficient μ_r . The obtained results for velocity and microrotation are presented in Fig. 2. In the second case, for fixed $\mu_r = 0.01$, we variate the viscosity parameter μ . The corresponding numerical results are presented in Fig. 3. In both cases, the influence of the microrotation and the corresponding parameters to the solution is clearly visible.



Fig. 1 Numerical results obtained at different time moments



Fig. 2 Comparison of the numerical results obtained for fixed viscosity $\mu = 0.01$ and different microrotation viscosity μ_r



Fig. 3 Comparison of the numerical results obtained for different viscosity μ and fixed microrotation viscosity $\mu_r = 0.01$



Fig. 4 Comparison of the numerical results obtained by finite difference and Faedo-Galerkin method

Test Example 3—Comparison with the Faedo–Galerkin Method In order to compare the numerical results obtained with the finite difference scheme and with the Faedo–Galerkin method (see [1]), we take the smooth initial functions: $\rho_0(x) = 1.0$, $v_0(x) = \sin(\pi x)$, $\omega_0(x) = \sin(2\pi x)$, and $\theta_0(x) = 2 + \cos(\pi x)$. The parameters are set to $\mu = \mu_r = K = c_0 = c_d = 0.01$, $R = c_v = 1$, $j_I = 1$, a = 1, and L = 1. As before, numerical parameters are set to N = 16, $t = 10^{-3}$ for the finite difference scheme. To obtain the numerical approximations with the Faedo–Galerkin method, we take n = 15 terms in the expression for approximating functions. From the numerical results shown in Fig. 4, where the comparison of both approaches is given, one can conclude that the results coincide quite well.

Acknowledgements This work has been fully supported by the University of Rijeka, Croatia under the project number 13.14.1.3.03 (Mathematical and numerical modeling of compressible micropolar fluid flow).

References

- 1. Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: a local existence theorem. Bound. Value Probl. **2012**, 69 (2012)
- Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: a global existence theorem. Bound. Value Probl. 2015, 98 (2015). doi:10.1186/ s13661-015-0357-x
- 3. Dražić, I., Mujaković, N.: 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: large time behavior of the solution. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **431**, 545–568 (2015)
- 4. Eringen, C.A.: Simple microfluids. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 2(2), 205-217 (1964)
- 5. Gottlieb, S., Shu, C.-W., Tadmor, E.: Strong stability-preserving high-order time discretization methods. SIAM Rev. 43, 89–112 (2001)
- Mujaković, N.: One-dimensional flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid: a local existence theorem. Glas. Mat. 33(53), 71–91 (1998)
- Mujaković, N.: Non-homogeneous boundary value problem for one-dimensional compressible viscous micropolar fluid model: regularity of the solution. Bound. Value Probl. 2008 (2008). Article ID 189748
- 8. Mujaković, N., Dražić, I.: 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: uniqueness of a generalized solution. Bound. Value Probl. **2014**, 226 (2014)
- Mujaković, N., Črnjarić-Žic, N.: Convergence of a finite difference scheme for 3D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar heat-conducting fluid with spherical symmetry. Int. J. Numer. Anal. Model. (in press)

An Optimal Control Problem in Mathematical and Computer Models of the Information Warfare

Nugzar Kereselidze

Abstract This article deals with the application of mathematical and computer methods in sociology, specifically information warfare. Pursuing such research can sometimes be met with new and interesting problems, worthy of serious attention of mathematicians. Given ChilKer tasks, it is possible to represent that case. ChilKer task refers to the boundary value problem for a system of ordinary differential equations and optimal control problem for which the right-side boundary conditions are given at different points of time for different coordinates of the unknown vector function. For ChilKer type the boundary value problem of system of ordinary differential equations proposed a method for finding solutions.

Keywords Information warfare • ChilKer task • Boundary value problem • Optimal control problem • Controllable

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 34B60, 49J15, 90C99

1 Introduction

The term "information warfare" has become strongly established in the scientific and other spheres of human activity. And despite the fact that the exact definition of this term is still does not exist, it is perceived in the intuitive sense. This situation, however, does not prevent the fact that in this area research is conducted; scientific magazines' are published, created by the introduction of technologies

N. Kereselidze (🖂)

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Sukhumi State University,

^{9.} A. Politkovskaia St., Tbilisi 0186, Georgia

e-mail: tvn@caucasus.net

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_28

of information warfare, developing national doctrine on information security, to prevent and reflect information or cyber warfare. We have to explore information confrontation with the aid of mathematical and computer models since 2009. Sokhumi State University professor *Temur Chilachava* offered me to deal with confrontation issues in the information warfare. We are engaged in mathematical models of one of the directions of information warfare—information confrontation. Therefore, the report will use the term "information warfare" in the narrow sense [2, 3]. Under "information warfare" we mean usage of mass media (printed or electronic press, the Internet) by two countries or the union of two countries or two strong economic structures (consortium's) to conduct purposeful disinformation or propaganda. The union of international organizations (*UN, OSCE, EU, NATO, WTO*, and others) appears as the third side in this process, the effort of which is to neutralize the tension between the two rival countries, sides and to achieve the termination of information warfare.

The aims of information warfare can be:

- Infliction of losses to the image of the antagonist country—creating the image of an enemy.
- Discredit of the management of the antagonist country.
- Demoralization of the personnel of the armed forces and the civilians of the antagonist country.
- Creation of public opinion, inside and outside of the country, for justification and argumentation of possible military operations.
- Opposition to the geopolitical ambitions of the antagonist country etc.

Of course, not all of the information warfare transformed into fighting, "hot" war. However, it is safe to assert that every "hot" war was preceded by information warfare. Information warfare is something similar to the artillery preparation before approach. However, if the artillery preparation is completed as soon as the attack begins, the information warfare is not completed and continues along with a "hot" war.

Professor *T. Chilachava* proposed to consider models of information confrontation between two subjects which are "reconciled"—by peacekeeping third party. This approach was clearly a pioneer in the mathematical modeling of the information confrontation. This approach has been seen by scientists working in the field of mathematical modeling. In particular, the Indian scientists, Professors *Bimal Kumar Mishra* and *Aheksha Prajapati* in their work [8], used our proposed model and determined its singular points. On the other hand, the interesting work on mathematical modeling of *Samarski A.'s* and *Mikhailov A.'s* [10] advertising campaign and *Pugacheva E.'s* and *Solovenko K.'s* [9] conflict situation should be noted.

2 Theoretical and Experimental Methods

We will consider the mathematical model of IW, taking into account the IT levels of the parties [5, 6]:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = \alpha_1 x(t) \left(1 - \frac{x(t)}{I_1} \right) - \beta_1 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dy(t)}{dt} = \alpha_2 y(t) \left(1 - \frac{y(t)}{I_2} \right) - \beta_2 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dz(t)}{dt} = \gamma \left(x(t) + y(t) \right) \left(1 - \frac{z(t)}{I_3} \right)$$
(1)

$$x(0) = x_0 \le I_1, \qquad y(0) = y_0 \le I_0, \qquad z(0) = z_0 \le I_3$$
 (2)

Where considered x(t), y(t), functions are amounts of information (as a rule disinformation "black" PR) disseminated by the respective antagonistic parties to achieve information superiority in information warfare; z(t) is the amount of information of the peacekeeping party in a time point t, containing appeals to the antagonistic parties to finish distributions of misinformation and to stop information warfare; in the model, α_1 , α_2 —are indexes of the aggressiveness of the relevant sides; β_1,β_2 —are indexes of peacekeeping readiness of the parties; γ is an index of peacekeeping activity of the third party; and I_1 , I_2 , I_3 are kinds of "equilibrium" amounts of information of the respective parties, a certain level of their own IT development: financial or other opportunities to use foreign IT. We consider the process of information confrontation described by the mathematical model (1), (2)—at a certain large segment of time [0, T].

Initially, we have found the solution of the *Cauchy problem* (1), (2), examined it, and determined it for different values of model parameters, developing this way the whole process of information confrontation. In general, the solution of the Cauchy problem (1), (2) depends on the parameters of the model:

$$x(t, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2, \gamma, x_0, y_0, z_0, I_1, I_2, I_3);$$

$$y(t, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2, \gamma, x_0, y_0, z_0, I_1, I_2, I_3);$$

$$z(t, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2, \gamma, x_0, y_0, z_0, I_1, I_2, I_3).$$
(3)

Analytical solution of the *Cauchy problem* was obtained in [2, 3]; when the right sides of (1) are linear relationships, there are no I_1, I_2, I_3 , peculiar "equilibrium" volumes of information of the relevant parties, and— $\alpha = \alpha_1 = \alpha_2$, $\beta = \beta_1 = \beta_2$, and (4) is transformed to:

$$x(t,\alpha,\beta,\gamma,x_0,y_0,z_0); \quad y(t,\alpha,\beta,\gamma,x_0,y_0,z_0); \quad z(t,\alpha,\beta,\gamma,x_0,y_0,z_0)$$
(4)

The correlation between quantities α , β , x_0 , y_0 , z_0 for which (4) vanishes, equal to zero, i.e., information warfare completed or not, has been established.

Further, we will be interested in a question of completion of information warfare. We will consider such points $t^*, t^{**} \in [0, T]$ on which information warfare and conditions:

$$x(t^*) = 0, \quad y(t^{**}) = 0$$
 (5)

are fair.

Thus, the task of completing the information warfare actually turns into a boundary value problem for a system of ordinary differential equations: (1), (2), (5). Note that, we do not describe boundary conditions for the third function in (5), as they are not relevant for fixing complete information warfare.

We cannot speak uniquely about the existence of solutions of the boundary value problem (1), (2), (5). At each set of fixed parameters $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2, \gamma, x_0, y_0, z_0, I_1, I_2, I_3$, the solution of the boundary value problem either exists or is not present. Therefore, naturally there is a task using possibilities of variation of the parameters connected with the peacekeeping side to solve a boundary value problem. That is, naturally there is a problem of the control of information warfare, with the aid of peacekeeping activity. Parameters, which the peacekeeping side can control, are its peacekeeping activity— γ , level of development of information technologies— I_3 , and its initial value— z_0 , with which it enters into the information warfare.

Let us touch controllability, which corresponds to the boundary value problem (1), (2), (5). Using computer simulations by controlling parameters, specifically increasing them, in works [5, 6], let us install an opportunity to translate the process of information confrontation with position (2) to the state (5), i.e., problem (1), (2), (5) is controllable.

But if controllability of systems is possible, why not to search for the optimal control? So, we naturally come to the optimal control problem [7]. We believe that $u_1(t)$ and $u_2(t)$ are control functions. In the system (1), we will assume transformation of the boundary value problem (1), (2), (5) into the optimal control problem. Thus, the purpose of the control is to transfer the system from position (2) to state (5) for the minimum expenditure for peace side. We assume that costs of the third party by one of the peacekeeping activities and the level of information technology are equal to one conventional unit. So, we have:

$$J = \int_0^{\max(t^*, t^{**})} (u_1(t)^2 + u_2(t)^2) dt \to \inf$$
 (6)

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = \alpha_1 x(t) \left(1 - \frac{x(t)}{I_1}\right) - \beta_1 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dy(t)}{dt} = \alpha_2 y(t) \left(1 - \frac{y(t)}{I_2}\right) - \beta_2 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dz(t)}{dt} = u_2(t) \left(x(t) + y(t)\right) \left(1 - \frac{z(t)}{u_1(t)}\right)$$
(7)

An Optimal Control Problem in Mathematical and Computer Models...

$$x(0) = x_0, \quad y(0) = y_0, \quad z(0) = z_0.$$
 (8)

$$x(t^*) = 0, \quad y(t^{**}) = 0$$
 (9)

Note, that the points $t^*, t^{**} \in [0, T]$ usually are different and free. *The optimal control problem* (6)–(9) differs from the usual control tasks. Namely, a pair (x(t), y(t)) which characterizes the condition of information confrontation should not be reset to zero at the same time. There may be cases: $x(t^*) = 0$, $y(t^*) \neq 0$, and $x(t^{**}) \neq 0$, $y(t^{**}) = 0$. This state of things is consistent with the social processes. If the process is described by a certain vector function, the completion of the process can mean output zeros on the coordinates of these vector functions at different time. That is a characteristic feature of the optimal control problem (6)–(9) which, for brevity, we shall call the *ChilKer task*.

We believe that $x_0, y_0 > 0; z_0 \ge 0 \ \Delta = [0, T]; t^*, t^{**} \in \Delta$; or $t^* = t^{**}$, or $t^* > t^{**}$, or $t^* < t^{**}$; $x(t), y(t)z(t) \in PC^1(\Delta)$ function with a piecewise continuous derivative and absolutely continuous functions and $u_1(t), u_2(t) \in PC(\Delta)$ with piecewise continuous functions.

For all the meaning of time t, we have $x(t) \leq I_1, y(t) \leq I_2, z(t) \leq I_3$ and $0 \leq u_1(t) \leq I_1, 0 \leq u_2(t) \leq Q$, where Q is some positive real number. Five functions $x(t), y(t), z(t), u_1(t), u_2(t)$ are called admissible controlled process or admissible process, if (8) is performed at the points of continuity of the control parameters and boundary conditions (8), (9) are satisfied.

 $||x(t), y(t), z(t)|| = \max(\max_{t \in [0,T]} |x(t)|, \max_{t \in [0,T]} |y(t)|, \max_{t \in [0,T]} |z(t)|).$ In accordance with this standard, a strong minimum is considered.

Note that we do not know in advance which of the relations $t^* = t^{**}$, $t^* > t^{**}$, and $t^* < t^{**}$ is performed and t^* and t^{**} are not fixed in the Δ . These circumstances do not allow us to proceed directly to the solution of the problem (6)–(9). Thus, the problem ChilKer should be presented by two subtasks. In fact, we must decompose the ChilKer problem by the domain of definition and get two tasks of the classical type—*Lagrange problem in the form of Pontryagin*. Case $t^* = t^{**}$ will not be considered, because it is already a well-known Lagrange problem in the Pontryagin form. For the information warfare problem, it was considered in [4]. In general, it is successfully applied to physical type problems, in particular to variational problems of mechanics. Therefore, we consider the case when $t^* < t^{**}$, the second case— $t^* > t^{**}$ is treated similarly.

The functional (6) divide the interval of integration $[0, \max(t^*, t^{**})]$ into two subinterval of integration: $[0, \min(t^*, t^{**})]$ and $[\min(t^*, t^{**}), \max(t^*, t^{**})]$:

Select the task A as a ChilKer subtask—a problem of optimal control:

$$A = \int_0^{\min(t^*, t^{**})} (u_1(t)^2 + u_2(t)^2) dt \to \inf$$
 (10)

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = \alpha_1 x(t) \left(1 - \frac{x(t)}{I_1} \right) - \beta_1 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dy(t)}{dt} = \alpha_2 y(t) \left(1 - \frac{y(t)}{I_2} \right) - \beta_2 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dz(t)}{dt} = u_2(t) \left(x(t) + y(t) \right) \left(1 - \frac{z(t)}{u_1(t)} \right)$$
(11)

$$x(0) = x_0, \quad y(0) = y_0, \quad z(0) = z_0.$$
 (12)

$$x(t^*) = 0; y(t^*) = y_A$$
, where $0 < y_A \le I_2; z(t^*) = z_A$, where $0 \le z_A \le I_3$ (13)

Task A is a *Lagrange task in Pontryagin form* and it is possible to apply the necessary and sufficient conditions of existence of the solution [1].

Let:

$$x_A(t), y_A(t), z_A(t), u_{1A}(t), u_{2A}(t), t_A^*$$
 (14)

be the solutions of task A (10)–(13).

Task B will be in the following form (B is optimal control problem):

$$B = \int_{\min(t^*, t^{**})}^{\max(t^*, t^{**})} (u_1(t)^2 + u_2(t)^2) dt \to \inf$$
(15)

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = \alpha_1 x(t) \left(1 - \frac{x(t)}{I_1}\right) - \beta_1 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dy(t)}{dt} = \alpha_2 y(t) \left(1 - \frac{y(t)}{I_2}\right) - \beta_2 z(t),$$

$$\frac{dz(t)}{dt} = u_2(t) \left(x(t) + y(t)\right) \left(1 - \frac{z(t)}{u_1(t)}\right)$$
(16)

$$x(t^*) = x_A(t^*), \quad y(t^*) = y_A(t^*), \quad z(t^*) = z_A(t^*).$$
 (17)

$$x(t) \le 0. \tag{18}$$

$$x(t^{**}) = x_B \le 0; \quad y(t^{**}) = 0; \quad z(t^{**}) = z_B, \text{ where } 0 \le z_B \le I_3.$$
 (19)

Tasks A and B are broadly similar, but there are differences. Here it is essential to add conditions (18) to the B problem and it makes sense—having reached the termination of information warfare of the first party, i.e., $x(t^*) = 0$, it should not renew it again. Therefore, on the segment $[t^*, t^{**}]$, the first side does not resume

308

information warfare, because of the fact that there is inequality $x(t) \le 0$. Denote solutions of problem B—(15)–(19) by:

$$x_B(t), y_B(t), z_B(t), u_{1B}(t), u_{2B}(t), t_B^{**}.$$
 (20)

Now with the help of solutions (14) of problems A (10)–(13) and (20) of problems B (15)–(19), we will have:

$$S = (x_A(t), y_A(t), z_A(t), u_{1A}(t), u_{2A}(t)) \quad if \quad 0 \le t \le t_A^* = t^*;$$

$$S = (x_B(t), y_B(t), z_B(t), u_{1B}(t), u_{2B}(t)) \quad if \quad t_A^* \le t \le t_B^{**} = t^{**}.$$
 (21)

where $S = (x(t), y(t), z(t), u_1(t), u_2(t)).$

It is easy to notice that the solution (21) is admissible controlled process of the problem ChilKer (6)–(9). Thus, we have the following :

Theorem 1. If (14) and (20) are, respectively, solutions of problems A and B, resulting from decomposition of ChilKer problem, then (21) is an admissible controlled process for ChilKer (6)–(9) problem.

Thus, we can conclude that the functions x(t), y(t), z(t) of (21) are solutions of ChilKer problem, (1), (2), (5) for the ODE, and transfer the system from the state of (2) to (5), when $\gamma = u_2(t)$ and $I_3 = u_1(t)$

We have three points:

$$P_0 - (0, x_0, y_0, z_0) \tag{22}$$

$$P_A - (t^*, x(t^*) = 0, y_A, z_A)$$
(23)

$$P_B - (t^{**}, x_B, y(t^{**}) = 0, z_B).$$
(24)

Note that, among all admissible control processes, ChilKer problem (6)–(9) passing through the points P_0 , P_A , P_B solution (21)—is the optimal for the functional J (6). So, we have the following theorem:

Theorem 2. For the solution of ChilKer problem (6)–(9) to which are added conditions of passing x(t), y(t), z(t) functions through the points (22)–(24), it is necessary and sufficient existence of tasks A (14) and B (20) solutions, which are resulted by decomposition of ChilKer problem.

3 Conclusions

For the boundary value problem of type ChilKer system of ordinary differential equations, (1), (2), (5) proposed a method for finding solutions. The system of ODE (1) defines the control parameters and the optimal control problem is generated ChilKer type (6)–(9). The ChilKer type optimal control problem is divided into two

suboptimal control, i.e., decomposition of ChilKer problem occurs on the domain and the corresponding solutions are (14), (20) for the tasks A (10)–(13) and B (15)– (19). It is alleged that "stapling" solutions of A and B (21) is a valid process control for optimal control problems such as ChilKer (6)–(9) and one of the solutions to the boundary value problem of type ChilKer system of ordinary differential equations (1), (2), (5). The solution (21) is the best among all the solutions of the optimal control type ChilKer (6)–(9) passing through the points (22)–(24).

4 Gratitude

On this topic, the problems (1), (2), (5) and (6)–(9) useful exchange of views were held with *V. Kiguradze*, academic National Academy of Sciences of Georgia; *A. Fursikov* chairman of Department of General Control Problems of Mechanics and Mathematics Faculty of Lomonosov Moscow State University, Russian Federation; *T. Chilachava*, professor of Sokhumi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia; *S. Israylov*, professor from Grozny, Chechnya, Russian Federation; and *F. Dvalishvili*, professor of the University of Georgia, Tbilisi, Georgia. To all of them, I express my deep gratitude. Special thanks to *L. Karalashvili*, professor University of Georgia, Tbilisi, Georgia.

References

- 1. Alekseev, V.M., Tikhomirov, V.M., Fomin, S.V.: Optimum Control, p. 408. Nauka Publishing House, fizmatlit, M, Moscow (2007) [in Russian]
- Chilachava, T., Kereselidze, N.: Continuous linear mathematical model of preventive information warfare.In: Sokhumi State University Proceedings, Mathematics and Computer Sciences, vol. 7, pp. 113–141, 2009
- Chilachava, T., Kereselidze, N.: Mathematical modeling of the information warfare. (in Georgian). Georgian Electron Sci. J. Comput. Sci. Telecommun. 1(24), 78–105 (2010)
- Chilachava, T., Kereselidze, N.: Optimizing problem of the mathematical model of preventive information warfare. In: Informational and Communication Technologies' Theory and Practice: Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference ICTMC - 2010 USA, Imprint: Nova, pp. 525–529, 2010
- Kereselidze, N.: About relations of levels of information technology sides in one of the mathematical model information warfare. In: IV International Conference of Georgian Mathematical Union. Book of Abstracts. Tbilisi- Batumi, pp. 168–169, 9–15 September 2013
- 6. Kereselidze, N.: About the relations level of information technology in the sides of the generalized mathematical model of information warfare ignoring enemy. (In Russia). In: Proceedings of the Twenty-First International Conference of Problems of Safety Management of Complex Systems, Russian Academy of Sciences, Institute of Control. V.A. Trapeznikov, Institute of Applied Mathematics. M.V. Keldish, Moscow, pp. 173–175, December 18, 2013

- Kereselidze, N.: On the existence of solutions to the mathematical model of information warfare. (In Russia). In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Second International Conference of Problems of Safety Management of Complex Systems, Russian Academy of Sciences, Institute of Control. V.A. Trapeznikov, Institute of Applied Mathematics. M.V. Keldish, Moscow, pp. 46–49, December, 2014
- Mishra, B.k., Prajapati, A.: Modeling and Simulation: Cyber War. Procedia Technology, vol. 10, pp. 987–997. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2013)
- 9. Pugacheva, E.G., Solovenko, K.N.: Self-Organization of Socio-Economic Systems, pp. 172. Publisher BSUEL, Irkutsk (2003) [In Russia]
- Samarski, A.A., Mikhailov, A.P.: Mathematical modeling: The Ides. Methods. Examples. 2nd ed. corr. - M. FIZTATLIT. 2005. p. 320 (In Russia)

Forward Attractors in Discrete Time Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems

Peter E. Kloeden, Thomas Lorenz, and Meihua Yang

Abstract Two recent developments provide insights on the appropriate definition of a forward attractor in nonautonomous dynamical systems. One is the construction of the component subsets of a forward attractor defined as a time-dependent family of compact subsets and conditions that ensure that the so constructed family forward attracts bounded subsets. Such a family is Lyapunov asymptotically stable, but often does not exist even in simple examples of dissipative nonautonomous systems. The other development is the recent discovery that the forward omega-limit set is asymptotically positively invariant. This makes this set, which Vishik proposed as the forward attractor and called the uniform attractor, a more useful concept of forward attractor since it now provides more information about the dynamics in current time as it approaches the omega-limit set. These developments are discussed in this chapter in the context of discrete time nonautonomous dynamical systems that are formulated as processes.

Keywords Nonautonomous difference equations • Process • Two-parameter semigroup • Pullback attractor • Forward attractor • Omega-limit points

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary 34B45, 37B55; Secondary 37C70, 37L30

P.E. Kloeden (🖂) • M. Yang

School of Mathematics and Statistics, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, China e-mail: kloeden@math.uni-frankfurt.de; yangmeih@hust.edu.cn

T. Lorenz

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_29

Applied Mathematics, RheinMain University of Applied Sciences, 65197 Wiesbaden, Germany e-mail: thomas.lorenz@hs-rm.de

1 Introduction

The nature of time in a nonautonomous dynamical system is very different from that in autonomous systems, which depends on the time that has elapsed since starting rather on the actual time. Consequently, limiting objects may not exist in actual time as in autonomous systems. This is most apparent in the shortcomings in the definition of a forward attractor in a nonautonomous systems [2, 10]. The usual definition is an intuitive and natural counterpart of that of a pullback attractor: an invariant family of compact subsets that attracts bounded sets in the sense of forward rather than pullback convergence [1-3, 8]. Moreover, this definition requires the subsets to exist for all time, also in the distant past, even though forward attraction is really only about what happens in the distant future.

Vishik [3, 15] proposed using the forward omega-limit set as the forward attractor, which he called the *uniform attractor*. This set indicates just where the forward limit points are to be found. It is generally not invariant and provides little information about the dynamics in actual time on the approach to the limit set. In addition, the uniform qualifier refers to the skew product-like systems considered by Vishik rather to more general nonautonomous dynamical systems.

Some recent developments, which clarify the situation, are discussed here. Firstly, it was shown in [7] that the subsets of a forward attractor can be constructed by a pullback argument within a positively invariant family of subsets just like those of a pullback attractor. Nothing is assumed here about what is happening outside the family of subsets. Additional conditions must be satisfied to ensure that forward attraction holds. These are, however, not always satisfied in even simple examples. Consequently, forward attractors in this sense may often not exist. The second development is the proof that the forward omega-limit set is, in fact, asymptotically positively invariant [9]. This is weaker than most other invariance concepts, but nevertheless provides more information about the approach of the dynamics to the omega-limit set. As such it makes Vishik's definition of a uniform attractor much more useful.

The forward attractor in the sense of an invariant family nonempty compact subsets that forward attracts all families of nonempty bounded subsets is a Lyapunov asymptotically stable family of sets. It is a special case that provides much more information about the dynamics of the nonautonomous system in current as well in the limiting future, but does not exist in many systems.

2 Nonautonomous Attractors

A nonautonomous difference equation on \mathbb{R}^d has the form:

$$x_{n+1} = f_n\left(x_n\right) \tag{1}$$

with mappings $f_n : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, which are assumed to be continuous here and may vary with time $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Define $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq}^2 := \{(n, n_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 : n \geq n_0\}$. The nonautonomous difference equation (1) generates a *solution mapping* $\phi : \mathbb{Z}_{\geq}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ through iterated composition, i.e., $\phi(n, n_0, x_0) := f_{n-1} \circ \cdots \circ f_{n_0}(x_0)$ for all $n > n_0$ with $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and each $x_0 \in X$ with the initial value $\phi(n_0, n_0, x_0) := x_0$.

The solution mappings of nonautonomous difference equations like (1) generate an abstract discrete time nonautonomous dynamical system formulated as a 2-parameter semigroup or process [4, 5] on the state space \mathbb{R}^d and time set \mathbb{Z} .

Definition 1. A (*discrete time*) process on the state space \mathbb{R}^d is a mapping ϕ : $\mathbb{Z}^2_{\geq} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ which satisfies the following initial value, 2-parameter evolution and continuity properties:

- i) $\phi(n_0, n_0, x_0) = x_0$ for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$,
- ii) $\phi(n_2, n_0, x_0) = \phi(n_2, n_1, \phi(n_1, n_0, x_0))$ for all $n_0 \le n_1 \le n_2$ in \mathbb{Z} and $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$,
- iii) the mapping $x_0 \mapsto \phi(n, n_0, x_0)$ of \mathbb{R}^d into itself is continuous for all $(n, n_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_{>}$.

The general nonautonomous case differs crucially from the autonomous one in that the starting time n_0 is just as important as the time that has elapsed since starting, i.e., $n - n_0$. This has some profound consequences in terms of definitions and the interpretation of dynamical behavior, so many of the concepts that have been developed and extensively investigated for autonomous dynamical systems, in general, and autonomous difference equations, in particular, are either too restrictive or no longer valid or meaningful in the nonautonomous context. The following definitions and results are taken from [2, 8, 11, 13, 14].

Definition 2. A family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of nonempty subsets of \mathbb{R}^d is ϕ -invariant if:

$$\phi(n, n_0, A_{n_0}) = A_n$$
, for all $(n, n_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_>$,

or, equivalently, if $f_n(A_n) = A_{n+1}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. It is said to be uniformly bounded if there exists a bounded subset *B* of \mathbb{R}^d such that $A_n \subset B$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Forward and pullback convergences can be used to define *two distinct types* of nonautonomous attractors for a process ϕ .

Definition 3. A ϕ -invariant family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d is called a *forward attractor* if it forward attracts families $\mathscr{D} = \{D_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of bounded subsets of \mathbb{R}^d , i.e.:

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\phi\left(n, n_0, D_{n_0}\right), A_n \right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } n \to \infty \quad (n_0 \text{ fixed}) \tag{2}$$

and a *pullback attractor* if it pullback attracts families $\mathscr{D} = \{D_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of bounded subsets of \mathbb{R}^d , i.e.:

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\phi \left(n, n_0, D_{n_0} \right), A_n \right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } n_0 \to -\infty \quad (n \text{ fixed}). \tag{3}$$

Here:

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d}(x,B) := \inf_{b \in B} \|x - b\|, \qquad \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d}(A,B) := \sup_{a \in A} \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d}(a,B)$$

for nonempty subsets A, B of \mathbb{R}^d .

Remark 1. A forward attractor is, in fact, a Lyapunov asymptotically stable ϕ -invariant family of sets. The required attractivity is given by the forward convergence (2), while the Lyapunov stability part follows from forward attraction combined with the continuity in initial conditions uniformly on a bounded time interval. Lyapunov stability can be interpreted as continuity in initial conditions uniformly over all future time. Analogously, pullback convergence (3) implies what can be considered as continuity in initial conditions uniformly over all past initial times.

Note that each uniformly bounded ϕ -invariant family is characterized by the bounded entire solutions.

Proposition 1. A uniformly bounded family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is ϕ -invariant if and only if, for every pair $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x_0 \in A_{n_0}$, there exists a bounded entire solution χ such that $\chi_{n_0} = x_0$ and $\chi_n \in A_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The existence of a pullback attractor follows from that of a pullback absorbing family in the following generalization of the theorem for autonomous global attractors. The proof is simpler if the pullback absorbing family is assumed to be ϕ -positive invariant.

Definition 4. A family $\mathscr{B} = \{B_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d is called *pullback absorbing* if, for every family $\mathscr{D} = \{D_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of bounded subsets of X and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, there exists an $N(n, \mathscr{D}) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that:

 $\phi(n, n_0, D_{n_0}) \subseteq B_n$ for all $n_0 \le n - N(n, \mathscr{D})$.

It is said to be ϕ -positively invariant if $\phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0}) \subseteq B_n$ for all $(n, n_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_>$.

The assumption about a ϕ -positively invariant pullback absorbing family is not a serious restriction, since one can always be constructed given a general pullback absorbing family [11].

Theorem 1. Suppose that a process ϕ has a ϕ -positively invariant pullback absorbing family $\mathscr{B} = \{B_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$

Then there exists a global pullback attractor $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ with component sets determined by:

$$A_n = \bigcap_{j \ge 0} \phi\left(n, n-j, B_{n-j}\right) \quad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4)

Moreover, if \mathscr{A} is uniformly bounded, then it is unique.

The situation is somewhat more complicated for forward attractors than for pullback attractors due to some peculiarities of forward attractors [14], e.g., they need not be unique. For each $r \ge 0$ the process generated by:

$$x_{n+1} = f_n(x_n) := \begin{cases} x_n, & n \le 0, \\ \frac{1}{2} x_n, & n > 0 \end{cases}$$
(5)

has a forward attractor $\mathscr{A}^{(r)}$ with component subsets:

$$A_n^{(r)} = \begin{cases} r \ [-1, 1], & n \le 0, \\ \frac{1}{2^n} \ r \ [-1, 1], & n > 0. \end{cases}$$
(6)

These forward attractors are not pullback attractors.

It is often asserted in the literature that there is *no counterpart* of Theorem 1 for nonautonomous forward attractors. In fact, such construction (4) in continuous time was shown by Kloeden & Lorenz [7] to hold within any positively invariant family but provides only a candidate for a forward attractor; other conditions must also hold.

3 Construction of Forward Attractors

The following important property of forward attractors holds for essentially the same reasons as in continuous time [7].

Proposition 2. A uniformly bounded forward attractor $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ in \mathbb{R}^d has a ϕ -positively invariant family $\mathscr{B} = \{B_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of nonempty compact subsets with $A_n \subset B_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, which is forward absorbing.

A key observation for the construction of a forward attractor is provided by the next theorem [7].

Theorem 2. Suppose that a process ϕ on \mathbb{R}^d has a ϕ -positively invariant family $\mathscr{B} = \{B_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of nonempty compact subsets of X.

Then ϕ has a maximal ϕ -invariant family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ in \mathscr{B} of nonempty compact subsets determined by:

$$A_n = \bigcap_{n_0 \le n} \phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0}) \quad \text{for each } n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(7)

In view of Proposition 2, the component sets of *any* uniformly bounded forward attractor can be constructed in this way. Note that nothing is assumed here about the dynamics *outside* of the family \mathcal{B} .

3.1 A Condition Ensuring Forward Convergence

The ϕ -invariant family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ constructed in Theorem 1 need *not* be a forward attractor, even when the ϕ -positively invariant family \mathscr{B} is a forward absorbing family, e.g., consider any example of a pullback attractor that is not a forward attractor.

Another important observation, if somewhat obvious, is that there should be no ω -limit points from inside the family \mathscr{B} that are not ω -limit points from inside the family \mathscr{A} . For each $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, the forward ω -limit set with respect to \mathscr{B} is defined by:

$$\omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0) := \bigcap_{m \ge n_0} \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge m} \phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0})}.$$

The set $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0)$ is nonempty and compact as the intersection of nonempty nested compact subsets and:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_X \left(\phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0}), \ \omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0) \right) = 0 \quad \text{(fixed } n_0\text{)}.$$

Since $A_{n_0} \subset B_{n_0}$ and $A_n = \phi(n, n_0, A_{n_0}) \subset \phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0})$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_X(A_n, \, \omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0)) = 0 \quad (\text{fixed } n_0). \tag{8}$$

Moreover, $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0) \subset \omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n'_0) \subset B$ for $n_0 \leq n'_0$, where the final inclusion is from the uniform boundedness of \mathscr{B} , since $\phi(n, n_0, B_{n_0}) \subset B_n$ for each $n \geq n_0$. Hence the set:

$$\omega_{\mathscr{B}}^{\infty} := \overline{\bigcup_{n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}} \omega_{\mathscr{B}}(n_0)}$$

is nonempty and compact. It is often called the *uniform attractor* of the nonautonomous system, even though it is not invariant [3, 15].

From (8) it is clear that:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}_X \left(A_n, \ \omega_{\mathscr{B}}^{\infty} \right) = 0.$$
(9)

The ω -limit points for dynamics starting inside the family of sets \mathscr{A} are defined by:

$$\omega_{\mathscr{A}}^{\infty} := \bigcap_{n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge n_0} A_n} = \bigcap_{n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge n_0} \phi(n, n_0, A_{n_0})} \subset B,$$

which is nonempty and compact as a family of nested compact sets. Obviously, $\omega_{\mathscr{A}}^{\infty} \subset \omega_{\mathscr{B}}^{\infty} \subset B$. The example below shows that the inclusions may be strict.

The following result was proved in [7].

Theorem 3. \mathscr{A} is forward attracting from within \mathscr{B} if and only if $\omega_{\mathscr{A}}^{\infty} = \omega_{\mathscr{B}}^{\infty}$. \mathscr{A} will then be a forward attractor, if \mathscr{B} is forward absorbing.

3.2 Example

Consider the piecewise autonomous equation:

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\lambda_n x_n}{1 + |x_n|}, \qquad \qquad \lambda_n := \begin{cases} \lambda, & n \ge 0, \\ \lambda^{-1}, & n < 0 \end{cases}$$
(10)

for some $\lambda > 1$, which corresponds to a switch between the two autonomous problems at n = 0. Its pullback attractor \mathscr{A} of the resulting nonautonomous system has component sets $A_n \equiv \{0\}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ corresponding to the zero entire solution. Note that the trivial fixed point $\bar{x} = 0$ seems to be "asymptotically stable" for n < 0and then "unstable" for $n \ge 0$. Moreover, the interval $[x_-, x_+]$ with $x_{\pm} = \pm(\lambda - 1)$ is like a global attractor for the whole equation on \mathbb{Z} , but it is not really one since it is not invariant or minimal for n < 0 (Fig. 1).

A similar situation occurs in the nonautonomous difference equation:

$$x_{n+1} = f_n(x_n) := \frac{\lambda_n x_n}{1 + |x_n|},$$
(11)

where $\{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a monotonically increasing sequence with $\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \lambda_n = \lambda^{\pm 1}$ for $\lambda > 1$, which is asymptotically autonomous in both directions with the limiting systems as (10).



Fig. 1 Trajectories of the piecewise autonomous equation (10) with $\lambda = 1.5$ (*left*) and the asymptotically autonomous equation (11) with $\lambda_n = 1 + \frac{0.9n}{1+|n|}$ (*right*)

The nonautonomous difference equations (10) and (11) are asymptotically autonomous in both directions, but the pullback attractor does not reflect the full limiting dynamics, in particular in the forward time direction. It clearly does not satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.

4 What Really Is a Forward Attractor?

The definition of a forward attractor in Definition 3 as ϕ -invariant family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}\$ of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d that forward attracts families of bounded sets was introduced as an obvious counterpart to a pullback attractor.

Forward attraction (2) is, however, very different conceptually from pullback attraction (3) in that it is about what happens in the distant future and not in actual time, i.e., current time. Pullback convergence, seemingly contradictorily, is in this sense the natural generalization of convergence in autonomous systems, which depend only on the elapsed time since starting, so limit sets exist, in fact, in actual time. Moreover, as seen in system (5) above, forward attractors need not be unique.

Another curious feature of forward attractors in the sense of Definition 3 is that they require the entire past history of the system to be known. Indeed, its construction in Theorem 2 is based on pullback convergence, although forward convergence is about the distant future and should be independent of the past. In fact, forward convergence should not even require the system to be defined in the past.

The future limiting dynamics in (10) and (11) is contained in the set $[x_-, x_+]$ with $x_{\pm} = \pm (\lambda - 1)$, which corresponds to the omega-limit set $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}$ in the previous section. It is an example of what Vishik calls a uniform attractor.

Vishik [15] defined the *uniform attractor* to be a compact set which attracts the forward dynamics of the system and minimal in the sense that it is contained in all sets with this property. Nothing is said about invariance in this definition.

When the positively invariant family \mathscr{B} in the previous section is forward absorbing, then $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}$ is a uniform attractor. The set $[x_-, x_+]$ for the piecewise autonomous system (10) is invariant only for positive time, but for both systems (10) and (11), it is positively invariant for all time. These are simple examples; in general, the future dynamics can be much more complicated, in fact, even arbitrary.

Nevertheless, when \mathscr{B} consists of a single compact set *B*, the uniform attractor $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}$ is asymptotically positively invariant, see [6, 12]. The following result is taken from Kloeden & Yang [9].

Proposition 3. Suppose that \mathscr{B} consists of a single compact set B that is forward absorbing and positively invariant. Then, under the above assumptions, $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}$ is asymptotically positively invariant, i.e., for any monotonic decreasing sequence

 $\varepsilon_p \to 0 \text{ as } p \to \infty$, there exists a monotonic increasing sequence $N_p \to \infty$ as $p \to \infty$ such that for each $n_0 \ge N_p$:

$$\phi(n, n_0, \omega_{\mathscr{B}}) \subset B_{\varepsilon_p}(\omega_{\mathscr{B}}) \qquad \text{for all } n \ge n_0, \tag{12}$$

where $B_{\varepsilon_p}(\omega_{\mathscr{B}}) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \operatorname{dist}_{\mathbb{R}^d}(x, \omega_{\mathscr{B}}) < \varepsilon_p\}.$

Note that Proposition 3 does not require the process ϕ and the family \mathscr{B} to be defined in the past. In particular, it applies when the system is defined, say, only for times $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ or even for $n \ge n_0$ for some $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. Since the dynamics is assumed to be forward dissipative, it may be easier then to find a single absorbing set.

5 Definition of a Forward Attractor

The qualifier "uniform" in Vishik's definition of a uniform attractor comes from uniformity assumptions on the skew product flows where the term was introduced. The dynamics need not be, in general, uniform. What remains is the minimal compact attracting set. Simple examples show that this set need not be invariant, although it may be positively invariant in some cases. In general, from Proposition 3, it is asymptotically positively invariant. This suggests the following definition.

Definition 5. The "*forward attractor*" of a nonautonomous dynamical system is an asymptotically positively invariant compact attracting set that is contained in all other sets with these properties.

This is an improvement on Vishik's original definition, because it provides more information about what happens in actual time on the approach to the limiting object in the infinite future.

A forward attractor in the sense of Definition 3, i.e., a ϕ -invariant family $\mathscr{A} = \{A_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}\$ of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d that forward attracts all families \mathscr{D} of nonempty bounded subsets of \mathbb{R}^d (in the sense of (2)) could then be called a *Lyapunov asymptotically stable* ϕ -invariant family of sets, see Remark 1.

The corresponding omega-limit set $\omega_{\mathscr{B}}$ is then the forward attractor in the sense of Definition 5. For the difference equation (5), which has uncountably many forward attractors in the sense of Definition 3, it is simply the set {0}.

The existence of a Lyapunov asymptotically stable family of sets is a very strong property and not typical in many nonautonomous systems. The forward attractor in the sense of Definition 5 better captures the forward limiting behavior of such systems.

References

- 1. Carvalho, A.N., Langa, J.A., Robinson, J.C.: Attractors of Infinite Dimensional Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Springer, Berlin (2012)
- Cheban, D., Kloeden, P.E., Schmalfuß, B.: The relationship between pullback, forwards and global attractors of nonautonomous dynamical systems. Nonlinear Dyn. Syst. Theory 2, 9–28 (2002)
- 3. Chepyzhov, V.V., Vishik, M.I.: Attractors for Equations of Mathematical Physics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island (2002)
- 4. Dafermos, C.M.: An invariance principle for compact processes. J. Differ. Equ. 9, 239–252 (1971)
- 5. Hale, J.K.: Asymptotic Behavior of Dissipative Systems. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1988)
- Kloeden, P.E.: Asymptotic invariance and limit sets of general control systems. J. Differ. Equ. 19, 91–105 (1975)
- Kloeden, P.E., Lorenz, T.: Construction of nonautonomous forward attractors. Proc. Amer. Mat. Soc. 144(1), 259–268 (2016)
- 8. Kloeden, P.E., Rasmussen, M.: Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2011)
- Kloeden, P.E., Yang, M.: Forward attraction in nonautonomous difference equations. J. Differential Eqns. Applns. 22, 513–525 (2016). DOI: 10.1080/10236198.2015.1107550
- Kloeden, P.E., Pötzsche, C., Rasmussen, M.: Limitations of pullback attractors of processes. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. 18, 693–701 (2012)
- Kloeden, P.E., Pötzsche, C., Rasmussen, M.: Discrete-time nonautonomous dynamical systems, In: Johnson, R., Pera, M.P. (eds.) Stability and Bifurcation Theory for Non-autonomous Differential Equations. CIME Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2065, pp. 35–102. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S.: Asymptotic self-invariant sets and conditional stability. In: Proceedings of International Symposium on Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems, Puerto Rico 1965, Academic, New York (1967)
- 13. Pötzsche, C.: Geometric Theory of Discrete Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2002. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- Rasmussen, M.: Attractivity and Bifurcation for Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1907. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- Vishik, M.I.: Asymptotic Behaviour of Solutions of Evolutionary Equations. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1992)

Asymptotic Stability Regions for Certain Two Parametric Full-Term Linear Difference Equation

Petr Tomášek

Abstract We introduce an efficient form of necessary and sufficient conditions for asymptotic stability of the *k*-th order linear difference equation $y(n + k) + a \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^j y(n + k - j) + by(n) = 0$, where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$. The asymptotic stability region in (a, b) plane for this equation will be constructed and discussed with respect to some related linear difference equations.

Keywords Difference equation • Stability • The Schur-Cohn criterion

Mathematics Subject Classification: 39A06, 39A10, 39A30.

1 Introduction

The aim of the paper is to introduce and discuss asymptotic stability conditions for linear difference equation with constant parameters

$$y(n+k) + a \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^j y(n+k-j) + by(n) = 0, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (1)

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We are going to utilize a certain technique based on the Schur–Cohn criterion, which for particular cases of linear higher-order difference equations enables us to obtain an efficient form of necessary and sufficient conditions for asymptotic stability of such equations. First the technique was applied to a few-term linear difference equations, where the already known

P. Tomášek (🖂)

e-mail: tomasek@fme.vutbr.cz

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Brno University of Technology, Technická 2, 616 69 Brno, Czech Republic

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_30

results were confirmed and reformulated to a more convenient form and then a new significant result was obtained in [2], where asymptotic stability of difference equation

$$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+k-1} + \beta y_{n+1} + \gamma y_n = 0, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

with real parameters α , β and γ was studied. Moreover, previous results were mainly formulated as a parametric expression of stability region's boundary, which naturally followed from proof procedures based on the boundary locus technique. Moreover there was necessary to solve an auxiliary nonlinear equation (considering a fixed order of linear difference equation). On the other hand, conditions obtained by the new approach are of a more compact and explicit form. In this connection we recall some works dealing with asymptotic stability of scalar higher-order few-term linear difference equations:

Analysed difference equation $(n = 0, 1, 2,)$	Paper
$y_{n+k} - y_{n+k-1} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Levin, May [11]
$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+k-1} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Kuruklis [10]
$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+m} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Dannan [5], Cheng, Huang [4],
k > m > 0	Kipnis, Nigmatullin [9]
$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+k-1} + \beta y_{n+1} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Čermák, Jánský, Kundrát [2]
$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+k-2} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Ren [12], Čermák, Tomášek [1]
$y_{n+k} + \alpha y_{n+k-2} + \beta y_{n+2} + \gamma y_n = 0$	Čermák, Jánský, Tomášek [3]

Analysis of necessary and sufficient conditions for equations with more parameters or more terms turns out to be a very difficult problem. On the other hand, a special full-term higher-order equation with two parameters gives a very simple form of such conditions. Asymptotic stability analysis of equation

$$y(n+k) + a \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} y(n+k-j) + by(n) = 0, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (2)

was done in [7] and alternative proof procedure was realized in [13]. The asymptotic stability conditions for (2) can be captured by the next assertion.

Proposition 1. Consider Eq. (2) with $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \ge 2$. Then (2) is asymptotically stable if and only if

$$a-1 < b < 1, \qquad -1 + (1-k)a < b.$$
 (3)

The above mentioned papers inspired the author to analyse asymptotic stability of another special two-parametric full-term linear equation (1): In Sect. 2 we introduce, after some preliminaries, the necessary and sufficient conditions for (1) to be

asymptotically stable. In Sect. 3 we discuss the result with respect to its geometrical interpretation and in a connection with asymptotic stability conditions for linear difference equation (2).

2 Asymptotic Stability Conditions

First we introduce a sufficient condition for (1) to be asymptotically stable, which is just an appropriate reformulation of the well known Cohn stability condition for linear difference equation (1).

Proposition 2. Consider Eq. (1) with $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. If the condition

$$|b| < 1 + (1 - k)|a|$$

is satisfied then (1) is asymptotically stable.

At the end of the paper is the Cohn condition compared with the necessary and sufficient one introduced below.

In the sequel we recall the notion of inner matrices, which determinants play a key role in our proof procedure. Let $M = \Delta_{\ell}$ be an $\ell \times \ell$ matrix. We construct $(\ell-2) \times (\ell-2)$ matrix $\Delta_{\ell-2}$ from Δ_{ℓ} by deleting its first and its last column and row. Repeating this procedure we obtain a set of matrices $\{\Delta_1, \Delta_3, \dots, \Delta_{\ell}\}$ in the case ℓ odd and a set of matrices $\{\Delta_2, \Delta_4, \dots, \Delta_{\ell}\}$ in the case ℓ even. The appropriate set of matrices (with respect to the parity of ℓ) is called the *inners* of the matrix M. Illustrating this we introduce

г	m.,	m10	mia	m	m	- I	m_{11}	m_{12}	m_{13}	m_{14}	m_{15}	<i>m</i> ₁₆
$M_5 =$		<i>m</i> ₁₂	<i>m</i> 13	<i>m</i> 14	1,112		<i>m</i> ₂₁	<i>m</i> ₂₂	<i>m</i> ₂₃	m_{24}	<i>m</i> 25	<i>m</i> ₂₆
	m_{21}	m_{22}	<i>m</i> ₂₃	m_{24}	m_{25}		m ₃₁	m32	<i>m</i> ₃₃	<i>m</i> ₃₄	<i>m</i> 35	<i>m</i> 36
	m_{31}	m_{32}	<i>m</i> ₃₃	<i>m</i> ₃₄	m_{35}	$, M_6 =$	m ₄₁	man	m 42	m.,	m 15	mac
	m_{41}	m_{42}	m_{43}	m_{44}	m_{45}			11142				<i>114</i> 0
	m51	m52	<i>m</i> 53	<i>m</i> 54	<i>m</i> 55		m_{51}	m_{52}	<i>m</i> 53	<i>m</i> 54	m_{55}	<i>m</i> 56
L	- <u>-</u>					-	<i>m</i> ₆₁	m_{62}	m_{63}	<i>m</i> ₆₄	m_{65}	<i>m</i> 66

The concentric rectangles determine the inner matrices Δ_1 , Δ_3 and $\Delta_5 = M_5$ within matrix M_5 and the inner matrices Δ_2 , Δ_4 and $\Delta_6 = M_6$ within matrix M_6 . Much more about inners and their interesting properties and usage can be found in [8]. One useful property of square matrices is the following one: a square matrix M is said to be *positive innerwise* if all its inners have a positive determinant.

Theorem 1. Consider Eq. (1) with $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then (1) is asymptotically stable if and only if

 $-1 < b < 1-a, \quad b < 1+(k-1)a \quad \text{for } k \text{ odd};$ (4)

$$a-1 < b < 1, \quad -1 + (1-k)a < b \quad \text{for } k \text{ even.}$$
 (5)

Proof. It is well known that (1) is asymptotically stable if and only if polynomial

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^{k} + a \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{j} \lambda^{k-j} + b$$
(6)

has all its roots inside the unit disk in the complex plane. This property is guaranteed (in the if and only if sense) by the Schur–Cohn criterion (see [6]), which reformulation for polynomial $P(\lambda)$ given by (6) can be captured by

Proposition 3. Polynomial (6) has all its roots inside the unit disk if and only if the sequel three conditions simultaneously hold:

1.

$$P(1) > 0$$
, i.e. $\begin{array}{ccc} 1+b > 0 & \text{for } k & \text{odd} \\ 1-a+b > 0 & \text{for } k & \text{even} \end{array}$

2.

$$(-1)^k P(-1) > 0$$
, i.e. $\begin{array}{c} 1 + (k-1)a - b > 0 & \text{for } k & \text{odd} \\ 1 + (k-1)a + b > 0 & \text{for } k & \text{even} \end{array}$

3. $(k-1) \times (k-1)$ matrices given by polynomial coefficients



are positive innerwise.

The first two conditions are easy to verify, hence our aim is to simplify the third one. We are supposed to verify that determinants of all inner central matrices of B_{k-1}^+ and of B_{k-1}^- are positive. First we introduce matrices D, I, J for efficient formulation of the proof steps. Let I_s be $s \times s$ identity matrix and let D_s and J_s be $s \times s$ matrices given by


Matrix J_s is usually referred as the skew identity matrix. Using this notion we can express

$$B_{k-1}^{\pm} = \begin{cases} D_{k-1} + I_{k-1} \mp D_{k-1}J_{k-1} \pm bJ_{k-1} & \text{for } k \text{ odd,} \\ D_{k-1} + I_{k-1} \pm D_{k-1}J_{k-1} \pm bJ_{k-1} & \text{for } k \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

and all their inner matrices as

$$\Delta_s^{\pm} = \begin{cases} D_s + I_s \mp D_s J_s \pm b J_s & s = 2, 4, 6, \dots, k-1 \text{ for } k \text{ odd,} \\ D_s + I_s \pm D_s J_s \pm b J_s & s = 1, 3, 5, \dots, k-1 \text{ for } k \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$

In the case of k odd we realize the next operations within matrix B_{k-1}^+ (which preserve determinants of all its inners) to get matrix \tilde{B}_{k-1}^+ :

1. addition of the (k - i)-th column to the *i*-th column for i = 1, 2, ..., (k - 1)/22. subtraction of the *i*-th row from the *i*-th one, i = 1, 2, ..., (k - 1)/2

and similarly within matrix B_{k-1}^- to get matrix \tilde{B}_{k-1}^- :

- 1. subtraction of the (k-i)-th column from the *i*-th column, i = 1, 2, ..., (k-1)/2
- 2. addition of the *i*-th row to the (k i)-th one for i = 1, 2, ..., (k 1)/2

Now any inner matrix of above obtained \tilde{B}_{k-1}^+ and \tilde{B}_{k-1}^- can be expressed as

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{s}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} (1+b)I_{s/2} & -D_{s/2}J_{s/2} + bJ_{s/2} \\ \hline O_{s/2} & (1+a-b)I_{s/2} + 2D_{s/2} + 2D_{s/2}^{T} \\ \hline O_{s/2} & (1-a-b)I_{s/2} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\tilde{\Delta}_{s}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} (1+b)I_{s/2} & D_{s/2}J_{s/2} - bJ_{s/2} \\ \hline O_{s/2} & (1-a-b)I_{s/2} \end{bmatrix},$$

where O_v means $v \times v$ zero matrix. The corresponding determinants can be captured as

$$\det \tilde{\Delta}_s^+ = (1+b)^{s/2}(1-a-b)^{s/2-1}(1+(s-1)a-b), \tag{7}$$

$$\det \tilde{\Delta}_s^- = (1+b)^{s/2} (1-a-b)^{s/2} \tag{8}$$

for $s = 2, 4, 6, \dots, k - 1$.

In the case of k even we realize the next operations within matrix B_{k-1}^+ (which preserve determinants of all its inners) to get matrix \tilde{B}_{k-1}^+ :

- 1. subtraction of the (k-i)-th column from the *i*-th column, i = 1, 2, ..., (k-2)/2
- 2. addition of the *i*-th row to the (k i)-th one for i = 1, 2, ..., (k 2)/2

and similarly within matrix B_{k-1}^- to get matrix \tilde{B}_{k-1}^- :

- 1. addition of the (k i)-th column to the *i*-th column for i = 1, 2, ..., (k 2)/2
- 2. subtraction of the *i*-th row from the *i*-th one, i = 1, 2, ..., (k-2)/2

Now we can express any inner matrix of \tilde{B}_{k-1}^+ and \tilde{B}_{k-1}^- as

$$\begin{split} \Delta_s^+ &= \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-b)I_{(s-1)/2}}{o_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}^T}{D_{(s-1)/2}J_{(s-1)/2} + bJ_{(s-1)/2}}\\ \hline \\ \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}}{O_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{1+b}{\omega_{(s-1)/2}} \\ \hline \\ \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}}{O_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{1+b}{(1+a+b)I_{(s-1)/2} + 2D_{(s-1)/2}}\\ \hline \\ \frac{(1-b)I_{(s-1)/2}}{o_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}^T}{O_{(s-1)/2}} \\ \hline \\ \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}}{O_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{1-b}{(1-a+b)I_{(s-1)/2}}\\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}}{O_{(s-1)/2}} & \frac{o_{(s-1)/2}^T}{(1-a+b)I_{(s-1)/2}} \\ \end{bmatrix}, \end{split}$$

where o_v is $1 \times v$ zero matrix and ω_v is a $1 \times v$ matrix, which is given by $\omega_v = [-a, a, -a, a, \dots, (-1)^v a]$. The corresponding determinants then are

$$\det \tilde{\Delta}_s^+ = (1-b)^{(s-1)/2} (1-a+b)^{(s-1)/2} (1+(s-1)a+b), \tag{9}$$

$$\det \tilde{\Delta}_s^- = (1-b)^{(s+1)/2} (1-a+b)^{(s-1)/2}$$
(10)

for $s = 1, 3, 5, \dots, k - 1$.

Considering simultaneous validity of all three points of Proposition 3 we can formulate Theorem 1. Indeed, in the case of *k* odd relations 1 + b > 0, 1 + (k-1)a - b > 0 and positivity of all det $\tilde{\Delta}_s^+$ and det $\tilde{\Delta}_s^-$, $s = 2, 4, 6, \ldots, k - 1$ given by (7) and (8), respectively, give condition (4). In the case of *k* even relations 1 - a + b > 0, 1 + (k-1)a + b > 0 and positivity of all det $\tilde{\Delta}_s^+$ and det $\tilde{\Delta}_s^-$, $s = 1, 3, 5, \ldots, k - 1$ given by (9) and (10), respectively, give condition (5). The theorem is proved.

3 Discussion and Observations

For a better insight into asymptotic stability dependency on equation parameters a, b and k there can be constructed stability regions in (a, b) plane. Figure 1 depicts asymptotic stability region for (1) in the case of k odd whereas Fig. 2 captures the situation in the case of k even. As we can see, the asymptotic stability region has in the both cases a triangle shape (grey colour highlighted area). A part of the triangle situated in the right half-plane remains preserved for any admissible value of k,

Fig. 1 Asymptotic stability region of (1) in (a, b) plane for k odd



whereas a part in the left half-plane depends on a value of parameter k. The greater value of k is the smaller area remains for asymptotic stability, since the left side of the triangle rotates towards the b axis round the vertex (0, 1) in the case of k odd and round the vertex (0, -1) in the case of k even. The Cohn asymptotic stability condition (the sufficient one) forms a diamond in (a, b) plane which is in Figs. 1 and 2 highlighted by a dark-grey colour. As we can observe from the both figures, the higher order k of difference equation we consider the higher ratio of asymptotic stability region area given by Theorem 1 to the diamond area given by Proposition 2 becomes.

Of course Proposition 3 can be used directly for checking whether some particular linear difference equation is asymptotically stable or not. But validity of the third condition requires a number of determinants computing and checking their positiveness. The form of necessary and sufficient conditions introduced in Theorem 1 gives a realistic idea about the asymptotic stability of a class of higher-order linear difference equations given by (1).

In the sequel we compare the obtained result with the conditions obtained for Eq. (2), which served as a motivation for the presented analysis. If we consider difference equation (2), we can observe that the necessary and sufficient asymptotic stability condition (3) for (2) (considering any $k \ge 2$) corresponds with the *k*-even branch of Theorem 1. Thence the asymptotic stability region (as well as the Cohn stability domain) for Eq. (2) corresponds to situation depicted in Fig. 2, but considering any integer order $k \ge 2$.

As it was stated in several papers, a formulation of some closed form of necessary and sufficient asymptotic stability conditions for higher-order linear difference equations is a very difficult problem. This fact is documented by a relatively small number of particular cases of such equations, which have been successfully analysed in the past. It still remains a challenge to obtain some efficient closed form of necessary and sufficient conditions for a more general higher-order linear difference equations, e.g. in the sense of considering more then two or three parameters or considering some special configuration of a few-term difference equations (see the survey in Sect. 1). **Fig. 2** Asymptotic stability region of (1) in (a, b) plane for *k* even



Acknowledgements The research was supported by the grant P201/11/0768 "Qualitative properties of solutions of differential equations and their applications" of the Czech Science Foundation.

References

- Čermák, J., Tomášek, P.: On delay-dependent stability conditions for a three-term linear difference equation. Funkcial. Ekvac. 57, 91–106 (2014)
- Čermák, J., Jánský, J., Kundrát, P.: On necessary and sufficient conditions for the asymptotic stability of higher order linear difference equations. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. 18(11), 1781–1800 (2012)
- Čermák, J., Jánský, J., Tomášek, P.: Two types of stability conditions for linear delay difference equations. Appl. Anal. Discrete Math. 9(1), 120–138 (2015)
- 4. Cheng, S.S., Huang, S.Y.: Alternate derivations of the stability region of a difference equation with two delays. Appl. Math. E-Notes **9**, 225–253 (2009)
- 5. Dannan, F.M.: The asymptotic stability of $x(n + k) + ax(n) + bx(n \ell) = 0$. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. **10**(6), 589–599 (2004)
- 6. Elaydi, S.: An Introduction to Difference Equations. Springer, New York (2005)
- Han, L., Neumann, M., Xu, J.: On the roots of certain polynomials arising from the analysis of the Nelder-Mead simplex method. Linear Algebra Appl. 363, 109–124 (2003)
- 8. Jury, E.I.: Inners and Stability of Dynamic Systems. Robert E. Krieger, Malabar (1982)
- Kipnis, M.M., Nigmatullin, R.M.: Stability of the trinomial linear difference equations with two delays. Autom. Remote Control 65(11), 1710–1723 (2004)
- 10. Kuruklis, S.A.: The asymptotic stability of $x_{n+1} ax_n + bx_{n-k} = 0$. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **188**, 719–731 (1994)
- Levin, S.A., May, R.: A note on difference delay equations. Theor. Popul. Biol. 9, 178–187 (1976)
- Ren, H.: Stability analysis of second order delay difference equations. Funkcial. Ekvac. 50, 405–419 (2007)
- 13. Tomášek, P.: Asymptotic stability of a full term linear difference equation with two parameters. Tatra Mt. Math. Publ. **63**, 283–290 (2015)

Limit Point Criteria for Second-Order Sturm–Liouville Equations on Time Scales

Petr Zemánek

Abstract Necessary and sufficient conditions for the classification of the secondorder Sturm–Liouville equation on time scales being in the limit point case are established. They unify and extend some of the criteria known for the second-order Sturm–Liouville differential and difference equations.

Keywords Sturm-Liouville equation • time scale • limit point case • criteria

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary: 34N05 Secondary: 34B20, 34B24, 39A12

1 Introduction

In this paper we focus on the limit point case of the second-order Sturm–Liouville dynamic equation

$$-[p(t) y^{\Delta}(t, \lambda)]^{\Delta} + q(t) y^{\sigma}(t, \lambda) = \lambda w(t) y^{\sigma}(t, \lambda), \quad t \in [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}.$$
 (E_{\lambda})

Here $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $[a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}} := [a, \infty) \cap \mathbb{T}$, where \mathbb{T} denotes a time scale (i.e., any nonempty closed subset of \mathbb{R}), which is bounded from below with $a := \min \mathbb{T}$ and unbounded from above. The coefficients $p(\cdot)$, $q(\cdot)$, and $w(\cdot)$ are real-valued piecewise rd-continuous functions on $[a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ such that

 $\inf_{t \in [a,b]_{\mathbb{T}}} |p(t)| > 0 \quad \text{for all } b \in (a,\infty)_{\mathbb{T}} \quad \text{and} \quad w(t) > 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in [a,\infty)_{\mathbb{T}}.$ (1)

P. Zemánek (🖂)

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University Brno, Czech Republic e-mail: zemanekp@math.muni.cz

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_31

Observe that $p(\cdot)$ is allowed to change its sign. Let us emphasize that the first condition in (1) cannot be replaced by the weaker assumption $p(t) \neq 0$ on $[a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ (see [4, Remark 2.2]). We also note that (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) includes several equations of particular interest, especially the second-order Sturm–Liouville differential and difference equations.

The present results belong to the Weyl–Titchmarsh theory, whose history goes back to the seminal paper [13] devoted to Eq. (E_{λ}) in the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ with $p(t) \equiv$ $1 \equiv w(t)$. One of the basic questions of this theory concerns the number of linearly independent solutions of Eq. (E_{λ}) , which are square-integrable with respect to the weight $w(\cdot)$. It can be shown that there exists at least one square-integrable solution for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$, which leads to the dichotomy of Eq. (E_{λ}) as being in the *limit* point case (i.e., at least one solution is not square-integrable) or in the *limit circle case* (i.e., all solutions are square-integrable) (see Sect. 2 for more details). The knowledge of the number of linearly independent square-integrable solutions plays a crucial role in the spectral theory of operators or linear relations associated with the underlying equation. In particular, it is closely connected with the deficiency indices of the operator or linear relation (see, e.g., [6, 14]). Therefore, it is very useful to develop some criteria for this classification. Some of them can be found in [5, 12, 15]. In this paper we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for the limit point case. They unify and extend the results derived in [1, Theorems 8, 18, and 19] and [14, Theorems 7.4.1 and 7.4.2].

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section we recall basic results concerning the limit point and limit circle classification of Eq. (E_{λ}) . The main results are established in Sect. 3.

2 Preliminaries

Fundamental results of the time scale calculus can be found in [2]. For brevity we write only $y^{\sigma^2}(t)$ instead of $[y^{\sigma}(t)]^2 = y^2(\sigma(t)) = [y^2(t)]^{\sigma}$, where $\sigma(\cdot)$ is the time scale forward jump operator. By a *solution* of Eq. (E_{λ}), we mean a function $y(\cdot, \lambda) : [a, \infty)_T \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $y(\cdot, \lambda), p(\cdot) y^{\Delta}(\cdot, \lambda) \in C^1_{prd}$, i.e., they are piecewise rd-continuously delta-differentiable on $[a, \infty)_T$, and it satisfies (E_{λ}) for all $t \in$ $[a, \infty)_T$ (see [8, p. 4]). In addition, if $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, then we may consider only real-valued solutions.

The Weyl–Titchmarsh theory has been extended in many directions during the last 100 years. Recently, its generalization for the symplectic dynamic systems

$$z^{\Delta}(t,\lambda) = \mathbb{S}(t,\lambda) z(t,\lambda), \qquad \mathbb{S}(t,\lambda) = \mathscr{S}(t) + \lambda \mathscr{V}(t), \qquad (S_{\lambda})$$

where $\mathbb{S}(\cdot, \lambda) : [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}} \to \mathbb{C}^{2n \times 2n}$ is a piecewise rd-continuous function satisfying for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ the symplectic-type identity

$$\mathbb{S}^*(t,\lambda) \mathscr{J} + \mathscr{J} \mathbb{S}(t,\bar{\lambda}) + \mu(t) \mathbb{S}^*(t,\lambda) \mathscr{J} \mathbb{S}(t,\bar{\lambda}) = 0, \qquad \mathscr{J} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

was established by the author and his collaborator in [8–10], compare with [11]. Here $\overline{\lambda}$ stands for the complex conjugate of λ and $\mathbb{S}^*(t, \lambda) = \overline{[\mathbb{S}(t, \lambda)]}^{\mathsf{T}}$. We note that system (S_{λ}) reduces to the linear Hamiltonian differential system in the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$. The following lemma shows the relationship between system (S_{λ}) and Eq. (E_{λ}) . It guarantees the existence and uniqueness of the solution of any initial value problem associated with (E_{λ}) (see, e.g., [8, Theorem 3.4]). Moreover, it implies that the Weyl–Titchmarsh theory for Eq. (E_{λ}) can be derived directly from the corresponding results for system (S_{λ}) . This approach was used in [7] (see also the references therein and compare with [15]).

Lemma 1. Equation (E_{λ}) is equivalent with system (S_{λ}) , where

$$z(t,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} y(t,\lambda) \\ p(t) y^{\Delta}(t,\lambda) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathscr{S}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1/p(t) \\ q(t) \mu(t) q(t)/p(t) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathscr{V}(t) = -\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ w(t) \mu(t) w(t)/p(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. The proof follows by straightforward calculations.

We denote by \mathscr{L}^2_w and $\mathscr{N}(\lambda)$ the linear spaces consisting of all functions and solutions of Eq. (E_{λ}), respectively, which are square-integrable with respect to the weight $w(\cdot)$, i.e.,

$$\mathscr{L}^2_w := \left\{ y : [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}} \to \mathbb{C}, \ \int_a^\infty w(t) |y^{\sigma}(t)|^2 \, \Delta t < \infty \right\},$$
$$\mathscr{N}(\lambda) := \left\{ y(\cdot, \lambda) \in \mathscr{L}^2_w, \ y(\cdot, \lambda) \text{solves} (E_{\lambda}) \right\}.$$

Moreover, we put $n(\lambda) := \dim \mathcal{N}(\lambda)$, i.e., $n(\lambda)$ is the number of linearly independent square-integrable solutions of (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) . According to [7, Theorem 3.10] it holds $1 \le n(\lambda) \le 2$ for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$. This estimate is obtained as a consequence of a construction of the so-called Weyl circles, which are nested and converge to a circle $(n(\lambda) = 2)$ or a point $(n(\lambda) = 1)$ (see, e.g., [9, Sects. 3 and 4]). Motivated by this geometric background, for a given $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ Eq. (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) is said to be in the *limit circle case* if $n(\lambda) = 2$, while it is in the *limit point case* if $n(\lambda) \le 1$. Although this classification of (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) is introduced for every particular $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, the following theorem yields the so-called invariance of the limit circle case. It is a simple consequence of Lemma 1 and [9, Theorem 6.1], because tr $\mathcal{V}(t) = -\mu(t) w(t)/p(t) = 0$ for every right-dense point $t \in [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ as discussed in [9, Remark 6.2(ii)] (see also [15, Theorem 3.2], [5, Theorem 3.1], and [10]).

Theorem 1. If there exists $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $n(\lambda_0) = 2$, then $n(\lambda) = 2$ all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$.

Consequently we obtain the following result, which is known as the Weyl alternative (see [9, Sect. 6]). It shows that the classification of Eq. (E_{λ}) as being in the limit point or limit circle case does not depend on λ .

Theorem 2. Equation (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) is either

- (i) in the limit circle case for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, i.e., $n(\lambda) \equiv 2$, or
- (ii) in the limit point case for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, i.e., $n(\lambda) \leq 1$. In this case, $n(\lambda) = 1$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ and $n(\lambda) \in \{0, 1\}$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

We conclude this section with a sufficient condition for the existence of an eventually positive increasing solution of equation (E₀), which shall be useful in the development of a limit point criterion (see Theorem 4). In the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ it reduces to [14, Lemma 7.4.1].

Lemma 2. In addition to (1) let us assume that there exists $b \in [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ such that p(t) > 0 and $q(t) \ge 0$ on $[b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$. Then equation (E_0) possesses a positive increasing solution on $(b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$.

Proof. We show that a positive increasing solution $y(\cdot)$ on $(b, \infty)_T$ can be obtained as the solution of equation (E₀) determined by the initial conditions

$$y(b) = 0$$
 and $p(b) y^{\Delta}(b) = 1.$ (2)

Let $y(\cdot)$ satisfy (E₀) and (2). Then there exists $c \in (b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ such that y(t) > 0 on $(b, c)_{\mathbb{T}}$. At first we show that y(t) > 0 on $(b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $d \in [c, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ be the first point such that $y(d) \leq 0$. Then, by the First Mean Value Theorem, we obtain

$$0 \ge y(d) - y(b) = \int_{b}^{d} y^{\Delta}(t) \,\Delta t = \int_{b}^{d} \frac{1}{p(t)} [p(t) \, y^{\Delta}(t)] \,\Delta t = K \int_{b}^{d} \frac{1}{p(t)} \Delta t,$$

i.e., $K \le 0$, where $\inf\{p(t) y^{\Delta}(t), t \in [b, d)_{\mathbb{T}}\} \le K \le \sup\{p(t) y^{\Delta}(t), t \in [b, d)_{\mathbb{T}}\}$ (see [3, Theorem 5.41]). On the other hand,

$$p(t) y^{\Delta}(t) = p(b) y^{\Delta}(b) + \int_{b}^{t} q(\tau) y^{\sigma}(\tau) \Delta \tau, \quad t \in [b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}.$$

But the nonnegativity of $q(\tau) y^{\sigma}(\tau)$ on $(b, d)_{\mathbb{T}}$ implies $p(t) y^{\Delta}(t) \ge 1$ for $t \in [b, d)_{\mathbb{T}}$, which yields a contradiction with $K \le 0$. Hence y(t) > 0 for all $t \in (b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$. Therefore, $p(t)y^{\Delta}(t) \ge 1$ for all $t \in [b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ and consequently $y^{\Delta}(t) > 0$ on $(b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$, i.e., $y(\cdot)$ is positively increasing on $(b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$, which completes the proof. \Box

3 Main Results

The first result yields a necessary and sufficient condition for Eq. (E_{λ}) being in the limit point case. If $w(t) \equiv 1$, we obtain [1, Theorems 8 and 18] in the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$, respectively.

Theorem 3. Equation (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) is in the limit point case for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ if and only if there exists a function $y : [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $y(\cdot), p(\cdot) y^{\Delta}(\cdot) \in C^{1}_{\text{ord}}$ and

$$\int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) y^{\sigma^{2}}(t) \times \left(1 + \int_{a}^{\sigma(t)} \frac{1}{w(s)} \left[-\left(p(s) y^{\Delta}(s)\right)^{\Delta} + q(s) y^{\sigma}(s)\right]^{2} \Delta s\right)^{-1} \Delta t = \infty.$$
(3)

Proof. According to Theorem 2, Eq. (E_{λ}) is in the limit point case if and only equation (E_0) has a solution, which does not belong to \mathscr{L}^2_w . Therefore, it suffices to restrict our attention only to equation (E_0) .

If (E₀) is in the limit point case, then there exists its solution such that $y(\cdot) \notin \mathscr{L}^2_w$. In this case $y(\cdot), p(\cdot) y^{\Delta}(\cdot) \in C^1_{prd}$ and identity (3) is satisfied, because the second integral is identically zero. Hence, the necessity is established.

On the other hand, let us assume there exists $y(\cdot)$ such that $y(\cdot), p(\cdot) y^{\Delta}(\cdot) \in C^{1}_{prd}$ and identity (3) holds. Moreover, we suppose that all solutions of equation (E₀) belong to \mathscr{L}^{2}_{w} . Let $u(\cdot)$ and $v(\cdot)$ be normalized solutions of (E₀), i.e.,

$$W[u(t), v(t)] := u(t) [p(t) v^{\Delta}(t)] - v(t) [p(t) u^{\Delta}(t)] \equiv 1.$$

If we denote

$$f(t) := -[p(t) y^{\Delta}(t)]^{\Delta} + q(t) y^{\sigma}(t),$$

then the Variation of Constants Formula (see [2, Theorems 4.24 and 4.33]) yields

$$y(t) = u(t) \left[A + \int_a^t v^{\sigma}(s) f(s) \,\Delta s \right] - v(t) \left[B + \int_a^t u^{\sigma}(s) f(s) \,\Delta s \right]$$

for some $A, B \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence

$$|y(t)| \le D^{1/2}(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{t} \left(D^{\sigma}(s) \right)^{1/2} |f(s)| \Delta s \right],$$

where C := |A| + |B| and $D(t) := u^2(t) + v^2(t)$. Upon applying the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality (see [2, Theorem 6.15]) and the inequality of arithmetic and geometric means, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |y(t)| &\leq D^{1/2}(t) \left[C + 2 \left(\int_{a}^{t} w(s) D^{\sigma}(s) \Delta s \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{a}^{t} \frac{1}{w(s)} f^{2}(s) \Delta s \right)^{1/2} \right] \\ &\leq D^{1/2}(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{t} w(s) D^{\sigma}(s) \Delta s \right]^{1/2} \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{t} \frac{1}{w(s)} f^{2}(s) \Delta s \right]^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

and consequently we have

$$y^{2}(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{t} \frac{1}{w(s)} f^{2}(s) \, \Delta s \right]^{-1} \leq D(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{t} w(s) \, D^{\sigma}(s) \, \Delta s \right]$$
(4)

Since $u, v \in \mathscr{L}^2_w$ it follows $\int_a^\infty w(t) D^\sigma(t) \Delta t =: K < \infty$. Hence, inequality (4) implies

$$\int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) y^{\sigma^{2}}(t) \left(C + 2 \int_{a}^{\sigma(t)} \frac{1}{w(s)} \left[- \left(p(s) y^{\Delta}(s) \right)^{\Delta} + q(s) y^{\sigma}(s) \right]^{2} \Delta s \right)^{-1} \Delta t$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) D^{\sigma}(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{\sigma(t)} w(s) D^{\sigma}(s) \Delta s \right] \Delta t \qquad (5)$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) D^{\sigma}(t) \left[C + 2 \int_{a}^{\infty} w(s) D^{\sigma}(s) \Delta s \right] \Delta t \leq K(C + 2K) < \infty,$$

which contradicts (3), because the integrals on the left-hand sides of (3) and (5) converge or diverge simultaneously by [3, Theorem 5.53]. Therefore, equation (E_0) is in the limit point case and the proof is complete.

Several limit point criteria can be obtained as a consequence of Theorem 3. For example, the choice $y(t) \equiv 1$ yields the following sufficient conditions, which unify and extend [1, Theorems 1 and 19]. The second part of the corollary generalizes [14, Theorem 7.4.2]. Observe that these criteria do not include the coefficient $p(\cdot)$.

Corollary 1. Equation (E_{λ}) is in the limit point case if

$$\int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) \left(1 + \int_{a}^{\sigma(t)} \frac{q^{2}(s)}{w(s)} \Delta s \right)^{-1} \Delta t = \infty.$$
(6)

In particular, identity (6) is satisfied when

$$\int_{a}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}(t)}{w(t)} \Delta t < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) \,\Delta t = \infty.$$
(7)

Now we apply the main result in several illustrative examples.

Example 1.

(i) Let \mathbb{T} be arbitrary and consider Eq. (E_{λ}) with $q(t) \equiv 0$, i.e.,

$$-[p(t) y^{\Delta}(t, \lambda)]^{\Delta} = \lambda w(t) y^{\sigma}(t, \lambda).$$
(8)

If w(t) satisfies the second condition in (7), then Corollary 1 implies that Eq. (8) is in the limit point case for any $p(\cdot)$, e.g., put $[a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}} = [0, \infty)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $p(t) = (-1)^t$. Note that this fact can be easily verified, because $y(t) \equiv 1$ is a solution of Eq. (8) with $\lambda = 0$.

(ii) Let \mathbb{T} be arbitrary and consider Eq. (E_{λ}) with the coefficients $p(t) = t + \alpha$, $q(t) = 1/[\sigma(t) + \beta]$, and $w(t) \equiv 1$, i.e.,

$$-[(t+\alpha)y^{\Delta}(t,\lambda)]^{\Delta} + \frac{1}{\sigma(t)+\beta}y^{\sigma}(t,\lambda) = \lambda y^{\sigma}(t,\lambda), \qquad (9)$$

where the constants $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ are such that $p(\cdot)$ and $q(\cdot)$ satisfy the basic assumptions, i.e., $-\alpha \notin \mathbb{T}$, $\beta \neq -\sigma(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and $\beta \neq -t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, which are left-dense and right-scattered at the same time. In particular, Eq. (9) reduces to

$$-[(t+\alpha)y^{\Delta}(t,\lambda)]^{\Delta} + \frac{1}{rt+\beta}y^{\sigma}(t,\lambda) = \lambda y^{\sigma}(t,\lambda)$$

on the time scale $\mathbb{T} = r^{\mathbb{N}_0} = \{1, r, r^2, ...\}$, where $\mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}, r > 1$ is fixed, and $\alpha \neq -r^k$, $\beta \neq -r^{k+1}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ (see [2, Exercise 4.4]).

We show that Eq. (9) is in the limit point case. The second condition in (7) is trivially satisfied. Since $\sigma(t) \ge t$, it follows

$$\int_{b}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}(t)}{w(t)} \Delta t \leq \int_{b}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2}(t)}{w(t)} \Delta t = \int_{b}^{\infty} \frac{\Delta t}{[\sigma(t) + \beta]^{2}} \leq \int_{b}^{\infty} \frac{\Delta t}{t\sigma(t) + 2\sigma(t)\beta}, \quad (10)$$

where $b \in [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ is such that b > 0 and $t\sigma(t) + 2\sigma(t)\beta > 0$ on $[b.\infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$. The integral on the right-hand side of (10) is convergent by [3, Theorem 5.53], because $\lim_{t\to\infty} [t\sigma(t) + 2\sigma(t)\beta]/[t\sigma(t)] = 1$ and $\int_b^\infty 1/[t\sigma(t)] \Delta t = 1/b < \infty$. Therefore, the first condition in (7) is also satisfied and Corollary 1 implies the limit point case. Note that this conclusion can be verified directly, because $y(t) = t + \beta \notin \mathscr{L}_w^2$ solves Eq. (9) with $\lambda = 0$.

Finally, based on Lemma 2, we obtain yet another limit point criterion.

Theorem 4. In addition to (1) let us assume that there exist $b \in [a, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$ and $M \in \mathbb{R}$ such that p(t) > 0 on $[b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$,

$$q(t) \ge Mw(t)$$
 for all $t \in [b, \infty)_{\mathbb{T}}$, and $\int_{a}^{\infty} w(t) \,\Delta t = \infty.$ (11)

Then, Eq. (\mathbf{E}_{λ}) is in the limit point case for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$.

Proof. Similarly as in the proof of Theorem 3, it suffices to show that equation (E_M) has a solution, which does not belong to \mathscr{L}^2_w . The first condition in (11) implies that equation (E_M) satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 2. Hence, (E_M) possesses a positive increasing solution $y(\cdot, M)$ on $(b, \infty)_T$. Let us assume that equation (E_M) is in the limit circle case. Then, $y(\cdot, M) \in \mathscr{L}^2_w$ and for any $d \in (b, \infty)_T$ we have

$$\int_{d}^{\infty} w(t) y^{\sigma^{2}}(t, M) \, \Delta t \geq y^{\sigma^{2}}(d, M) \int_{d}^{\infty} w(t) \, \Delta t = \infty.$$

But this contradicts the assumption $y(\cdot, M) \in \mathscr{L}^2_w$ and the proof is complete. \Box

Acknowledgements The author is grateful to professor Roman Šimon Hilscher for his comments and suggestions.

References

- Atkinson, F.V.: A class of limit point criteria. In: Knowles, I.W., Lewis, R.T. (eds.) Spectral Theory of Differential Operators, Proceedings of the Conference held at the University of Alabama, Birmingham, North-Holland Mathematics Studies, vol. 55, pp. 13–35. North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam (1981)
- 2. Bohner, M., Peterson, A.C.: Dynamic Equations on Time Scales: An Introduction with Applications. Birkhäuser Verlag, Boston (2001)
- 3. Bohner, M., Peterson, A.C. (eds.): Advances in Dynamic Equations on Time Scales. Birkhäuser Verlag, Boston (2003)
- 4. Hilscher, R., Zeidan, V.: Legendre, Jacobi, and Riccati type conditions for time scale variational problem with application. Dyn. Syst. Appl. **16**(3), 451–480 (2007)
- 5. Huseynov, A.: Limit point and limit circle cases for dynamic equations on time scales. Hacet. J. Math. Stat. **39**(3), 379–392 (2010)
- Shi, Y., Sun, H.: Self-adjoint extensions for second-order symmetric linear difference equations. Linear Algebra Appl. 434(4), 903–930 (2011)
- Šimon Hilscher, R., Zemánek, P.: Overview of Weyl–Titchmarsh theory for second order Sturm–Liouville equations on time scales. Int. J. Differ. Equ. 6(1), 39–51 (2011)
- Šimon Hilscher, R., Zemánek, P.: Weyl–Titchmarsh theory for time scale symplectic systems on half line. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2011, 41 pp. (2011). Art. ID 738520 (electronic)
- Simon Hilscher, R., Zemánek, P.: Limit point and limit circle classification for symplectic systems on time scales. Appl. Math. Comput. 233, 623–646 (2014)
- Šimon Hilscher, R., Zemánek, P.: Limit circle invariance for two differential systems on time scales. Math. Nachr. 288(5–6), 696–709 (2015)
- Sun, S., Bohner, M., Chen, S.: Weyl–Titchmarsh theory for Hamiltonian dynamic systems. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2010, 18 pp. (2010). Art. ID 514760 (electronic)
- Weiss, J.: Limit point criteria for a second order dynamic equation on time scales. Nonlinear Dyn. Syst. Theory 9(1), 99–108 (2009)
- Weyl, H.: Über gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen mit Singularitäten und die zugehörigen Entwicklungen willkürlicher Funktionen. Math. Ann. 68(2), 220–269 (1910) [in German]
- 14. Zettl, A.: Sturm–Liouville Theory. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 121. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2005)
- Zhang, C., Shi, Y.: Classification and criteria of the limit cases for singular second-order linear equations on time scales. Bound. Value Probl. 2012(103), 17 pp. (2012) [electronic]

Continuous Dependence of the Minimum of a Functional on Perturbations in Optimal Control Problems with Distributed and Concentrated Delays

Phridon Dvalishvili and Tamaz Tadumadze

Abstract Continuity of the minimum of a general functional is proved with respect to perturbations of the initial data and right-hand side of the equation with variable distributed and concentrated delays. Under the initial data, we understand the collection of initial moment, of variable delays, and initial function. Perturbations of the right-hand side of the equation are small in the integral sense.

Keywords Continuity of functional minimum • Optimal control • Delay differential equation • Perturbation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34K35; 34K27

1 Statement of the Problem: Formulation of the Main Result

Let \mathbb{R}^n_x be an *n*-dimensional vector space of points $x = (x^1, \ldots, x^n)^T$. Let $a < t_{01} < t_{02} < t_{11} < t_{12}$ be given numbers and let $O \subset \mathbb{R}^n_x$ be an open set. Let *D* be the set of continuously differentiable scalar functions (delay functions) $\tau(t), t \in \mathbb{R}^1_t$, satisfying the conditions

 $\tau(t) < t, \ \dot{\tau}(t) > 0, t \in \mathbb{R}^1_t, \ \inf\{\tau(a) : \tau(t) \in D\} := \hat{\tau} > -\infty.$

P. Dvalishvili (🖂)

T. Tadumadze

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Faculty of Exact and Natural Sciences, Department of Computer Sciences, I. Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia e-mail: pridon.dvalishvili@tsu.ge

Faculty of Exact and Natural Sciences, Department of Mathematics, I. Vekua Institute of Applied Mathematics, I. Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_32

We denote by Φ and Ω , respectively, the sets of continuous initial functions φ : $[\hat{\tau}, t_{02}] \to O$ and measurable control functions $u : I \to U$, where $I = [a, t_{12}]$ and $U \subset \mathbb{R}_{u}^{r}$ is a given compact set. Furthermore, $f(t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u), (t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u) \in I \times O^3 \times U$ is an n-dimensional *Carathéodory* function satisfying the standard conditions: for any compact set $K \subset O$, there exist $m_{f,K}(t), L_{f,K}(t) \in L_1(I, [0, \infty))$, such that

$$|f(t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u)| \le m_{f,K}(t) \ \forall (t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u) \in I \times K^3 \times U$$

and

$$|f(t, x_{1}^{'}, x_{2}^{'}, x_{3}^{'}, u) - f(t, x_{1}^{''}, x_{2}^{''}, x_{3}^{''}, u)| \leq L_{f,K}(t) \sum_{i=1}^{3} |x_{i}^{'} - x_{i}^{''}|$$
$$\forall (t, x_{1}^{'}, x_{2}^{'}, x_{3}^{'}), (t, x_{1}^{''}, x_{2}^{''}, x_{3}^{''}) \in I \times K^{3}, \quad \forall u \in U.$$

Let *Q* be the set of continuous scalar functions $q(t, x), (t, x) \in [t_{11}, t_{12}] \times O$.

To each initial $\mu = (t_0, \theta(t), \tau(t), \varphi(t)) \in \Lambda = [t_{01}, t_{02}] \times D^2 \times \Phi$ and control $u(t) \in \Omega$, we assign the differential equation with distributed delay on the interval $[\theta(t), t]$ and with the concentrated delay $\tau(t)$:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{\theta(t)}^{t} f(t, x(t), x(\tau(t)), x(s), u(t)) ds,$$
(1)

$$x(t) = \varphi(t), \quad t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_0].$$
⁽²⁾

Definition 1.1. Let $\mu = (t_0, \theta(t), \tau(t), \varphi(t)) \in \Lambda$ and $u(t) \in \Omega$ be the initial data and the control function. A function $x(t; \mu, u) \in O, t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_1]$, where $t_1 \in [t_{11}, t_{12}]$, is called a solution of the Eq. (1) with the initial condition (2) or a solution corresponding to the initial data μ and the control u(t) defined on the interval $[\hat{\tau}, t_1]$, if it satisfies the condition (2), is absolutely continuous on the interval $[t_0, t_1]$ and satisfies the Eq. (1) almost everywhere (a.e.) on $[t_0, t_1]$.

For given $\mu_0 = (t_{00}, \theta_0(t), \tau_0(t), \varphi_0(t))$, let us consider the optimal control problem

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{\theta_0(t)}^t f(t, x(t), x(\tau_0(t)), x(s), u(t)) ds, \quad t \in [t_{00}, t_1],$$
(3)

$$x(t) = \varphi_0(t), \quad t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{00}],$$
 (4)

$$J(w) = q_0(t_1, x(t_1; \mu_0, u)) \to \min,$$
(5)

where

$$w = (t_1, u(t)) \in W = \{w = (t_1, u(t)) : t_1 \in [t_{11}, t_{12}], u(t) \in \Omega\}$$

and $q_0(t, x) \in Q$ is a given function.

Here and in what follows, it is assumed that the solution $x(t; \mu_0, u)$ is defined on the interval $[\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$ for every $u(t) \in \Omega$.

Definition 1.2. An element $w_0 = (t_{10}, u_0(t)) \in W$ is called an optimal element or a solution of the problem (3)–(5) if

$$J(w_0) = \inf\{J(w) : w \in W\} := J_0.$$

(3)-(5) is called the optimal control problem with distributed and concentrated delays.

Theorem 1.1. Let the following conditions hold:

(a) there exists a compact set $K_0 \subset O$ such that

$$x(t; \mu_0, u) \in K_0, t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}], \forall u(t) \in \Omega$$

(b) the set

$$\left\{f(t,x_1,x_2,x_3,u):u\in U\right\}$$

is convex for every fixed $(t, x_1, x_2, x_3) \in [a, t_{12}] \times O^3$.

Then, there exists an optimal element w_0 for the initial problems (3)–(5); there exists a number $\delta > 0$ such that for every

 $\mu_{\delta} = (t_{0\delta}, \theta_{\delta}(t), \tau_{\delta}(t), \varphi_{\delta}(t)) \in V_{\mu_{0},\delta} = V_{t_{00},\delta} \times V_{\theta_{0},\delta} \times V_{\tau_{0},\delta} \times V_{\varphi_{0},\delta}$

and

$$g_{\delta}(t, x_1, x_2, x_3) \in V_{\delta}(K_1), \ q_{\delta}(t, x) \in V_{q_0, \delta}(K_1)$$

the perturbed optimal control problem

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{\theta_{\delta}(t)}^{t} \left[f(t, x(t), x(\tau_{\delta}(t)), x(s), u(t)) + g_{\delta}(t, x(t), x(\tau_{\delta}(t)), x(s)) \right] ds, \quad t \in [t_{0\delta}, t_1],$$
(6)

$$x(t) = \varphi_{\delta}(t), \quad t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{0\delta}], \tag{7}$$

$$J(w;\delta) = q_{\delta}(t_1, x(t_1; \mu_{\delta}, u)) \to \min$$
(8)

has a solution $w_{0\delta} = (t_{1\delta}, u_{0\delta}(t))$. Moreover, for any sequence $\delta_i \in (0, \delta)$, i = 1, 2, ... with $\delta_i \to 0$, we have

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} J(w_{0\delta_i}; \delta_i) = J_0.$$

Here

$$V_{t_{00},\delta} = \{t_0 \in [t_{01}, t_{02}] : |t_{00} - t_0| < \delta\},\$$

$$V_{\theta_0,\delta} = \{\theta(t) \in D : \max_{t \in I} |\theta_0(t) - \theta(t)| < \delta\},\$$

$$V_{\tau_0,\delta} = \{\tau(t) \in D : \max_{t \in I} |\tau_0(t) - \tau(t)| < \delta\},\$$

$$V_{\varphi_0,\delta} = \{\varphi(t) \in \Phi : \max_{t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{02}]} |\varphi_0(t) - \varphi(t)| < \delta\};\$$

 $K_1 \subset O$ is a compact set containing a certain neighborhood of the set K_0 and

$$V_{\delta}(K_{1}) = \left\{ g_{\delta}(t, x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}) \in G : \left| \int_{t'}^{t'} g_{\delta}(t, x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}) dt \right| < \delta, \forall t', t'' \in I, \\ \forall x_{i} \in K_{1}, i = 1, 2, 3, \int_{I} [m_{g_{\delta, K_{1}}}(t) + L_{g_{\delta, K_{1}}}(t)] dt < \alpha \right\},$$
(9)

.,

where G is the set of Carathéodory functions $g(t, x_1, x_2, x_3) : I \times O^3 \to \mathbb{R}^n_x$ satisfying the standard conditions and $\alpha > 0$ is a fixed number independent of g_{δ} ;

$$V_{q_0,\delta}(K_1) = \Big\{ q(t,x) \in Q : \max_{(t,x) \in I \times K_1} |q_0(t,x) - q(t,x)| < \delta \Big\}.$$

Some Comments Let

$$f(t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u) = A(t, x_1, x_2, x_3) + B(t, x_1, x_2, x_3)u$$

and U be a convex set. Then the condition (b) of Theorem 1.1 is fulfilled.

Let

$$f(t, x_1, x_2, x_3, u) = A(t)x_1 + B(t)x_2 + C(t)x_3 + D(t)u$$

and U be a convex set. Then the conditions (a), (b) of Theorem 1.1 are fulfilled. Perturbations $g_{\delta} \in V_{\delta}(K_1)$ are small in the integral sense [see (9)]. In Sect. 3, Theorem 1.1 is proved by the scheme proposed in [6]. Finally, we note that various small values are as a rule ignored in the numerical solution of optimal control problems; therefore, it is important to establish the connection between the initial and the perturbed problems. Theorems about well-posedness for various classes of optimal control problems which contain ordinary and functional differential equations are given in [1–7].

2 Auxiliary Assertions

To each initial data $\mu = (t_0, \theta(t), \tau(t), \varphi(t)) \in \Lambda$ and control $u(t) \in \Omega$, we assign the functional differential equation

$$\dot{y}(t) = \int_{\theta(t)}^{t} f(t, x(t), h(t_0, \varphi, y)(\tau(t)), h(t_0, \varphi, y)(s), u(t)) ds$$
(10)

with the initial condition

$$y(t_0) = \varphi(t_0), \tag{11}$$

where $h(\cdot)$ is the operator given by the formula

$$h(t_0, \varphi, y)(t) = \begin{cases} \varphi(t), & \text{for } t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_0), \\ y(t), & \text{for } t \in [t_0, b]. \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.1. An absolutely continuous function $y(t) = y(t; \mu, u) \in O, t \in [r_1, r_2] \subset I$ is called solution of the Eq. (10) with the initial condition (11) or the solution corresponding to the initial data $\mu \in \Lambda$ and control $u(t) \in \Omega$, defined on $[r_1, r_2]$, if $t_0 \in [r_1, r_2]$, $y(t_0) = \varphi(t_0)$, and satisfying the Eq. (10) a.e. on the interval $[r_1, r_2]$.

Remark 2.1. Let $y(t; \mu, u), t \in [r_1, r_2]$ be a solution of the Eq. (10) with the initial condition (11). Then the function

$$x(t; \mu, u) = h(t_0, \varphi, y(\cdot; \mu, u))(t), t \in [\hat{\tau}, r_2]$$

is a solution of the Eq. (1) with the initial condition (2). It is clear that

$$y(t; \mu_0, u) = x(t; \mu_0, u), t \in [t_{00}, t_{12}], \forall u(t) \in \Omega.$$

Theorem 2.1 ([8]). Let the condition (a) hold, i.e., $y(t; \mu_0, u) \in K_0, t \in [t_{00}, t_{12}]$. Then there exists a number $\delta > 0$ such that for any

$$\mu_{\delta} = (t_{0\delta}, \theta_{\delta}(t), \tau_{\delta}(t), \varphi_{\delta}(t)) \in V_{\mu_0, \delta}, \ g_{\delta}(t, x_1, x_2, x_3) \in V_{\delta}(K_1)$$

and $u(t) \in \Omega$ the perturbed equation

$$\dot{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \int_{\theta_{\delta}(t)}^{t} [f(t, \mathbf{y}(t), h(t_{0\delta}, \varphi_{\delta}, \mathbf{y})(\tau_{\delta}(t)), h(t_{0\delta}, \varphi_{\delta}, \mathbf{y})(s), u(t)) \\ + g_{\delta}(t, \mathbf{y}(t), h(t_{0\delta}, \varphi_{\delta}, \mathbf{y})(\tau_{\delta}(t)), h(t_{0\delta}, \varphi_{\delta}, \mathbf{y})(s))] ds$$

with the perturbed initial condition

$$y(t_{0\delta}) = \varphi_{\delta}(t_{0\delta})$$

has a solution $y(t; \mu_{\delta}, g_{\delta}, u)$ defined on $[t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}] \subset (a, t_{12}]$. Also, $y(t; \mu_{\delta}, g_{\delta}, u) \in K_1, \forall t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}], \forall u(t) \in \Omega$ and

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} |y(t; \mu_{\delta_i}, g_{\delta_i}, u) - y(t; \mu_0, 0, u)| = 0$$

uniformly for $t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$ and $u(t) \in \Omega$, where $\delta_i \in (0, \delta), i = 1, 2, ...$ with $\delta_i \to 0$.

Due to the uniqueness, the solution $y(t; \mu_0, 0, u)$ is the continuation of the solution $y(t; \mu_0, u)$ on the interval $[t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$.

Theorem 2.2 ([8]). Let $x(t), y(t), z(t) \in K_0, t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$ be fixed continuous functions and $\theta(t), \tau(t) \in D$ be fixed delay functions. Moreover, let $g_{\delta_i} \in V_{\delta_i}(K_0)$ with $\delta_i \to 0$. Then

$$\lim_{i\to\infty}\max_{t',t''\in I}\left|\int_{t'}^{t''}\left[\int_{\theta(t)}^{t}g_{\delta_i}(t,x(t),y(\tau(t)),z(s))ds\right]dt\right|=0.$$

3 Proof of Theorem 1.1

It is not difficult to see that the convexity of the set

$$P_f(t; x(\cdot), \theta_0, \tau_0) = \left\{ \int_{\theta_0(t)}^t f(t, x(t), x(\tau_0(t)), x(s), u) ds : u \in U \right\}$$
(12)

follows from the condition (b) for every fixed continuous function $x(t) \in O, t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$.

The convexity of the set (12) and the condition (a) guarantee the existence of a solution w_0 for the initial optimal control problem (3)–(5), [6].

Let $\delta > 0$ be so small (see Theorem 2.1) that from $\varphi_{\delta} \in V_{\varphi_0,\delta}$, it follows that $\varphi_{\delta}(t) \in K_1, t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$. Since $y(t; \mu_{\delta}, g_{\delta}, u) \in K_1, t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$, we have

$$x(t;\mu_{\delta},g_{\delta},u) = h(t_{0\delta},\varphi_{\delta},y(\cdot;\mu_{\delta},g_{\delta},u))(t) \in K_{1}, \ t \in [\hat{\tau},t_{12}]$$
(13)

(see Remark 2.1). The set $P_{f+g_{\delta}}(t; x(\cdot), \theta_{\delta}, \tau_{\delta})$ is convex. Consequently, the perturbed optimal control problem (6)–(8) has a solution $w_{0\delta}$.

Let $\delta_i \in (0, \delta), i = 1, 2, ...$ with $\delta_i \to 0$. By virtue of Theorem 2.1, we conclude that

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} |x(t; \mu_{\delta_i}, g_{\delta_i}, u_0) - x(t; \mu_0, 0, u_0)| = 0 \text{ uniformly for } t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$$

[see (13)]. The element w_0 is an admissible element for the perturbed problem (6)–(8), i.e.,

$$J(w_{0,\delta_i};\delta_i) \le J(w_0;\delta_i), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots$$

From this it follows that

$$\underline{J} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \inf J(w_{0,\delta_i}; \delta_i) \le \overline{J} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \sup J(w_{0,\delta_i}; \delta_i) \le J_0.$$

To prove the theorem, it suffices to show that $\underline{J} = J_0$.

Let $\underline{J} < J_0$. From the sequence δ_i , i = 1, 2, ..., we extract a subsequence, which will again be denoted by δ_i , i = 1, 2, ..., such that

$$\lim_{i\to\infty} J(w_{0,\delta_i};\delta_i) = \lim_{i\to\infty} q_{\delta_i}(t_{1\delta_i}, x(t_{1\delta_i}; \mu_{\delta_i}, u_{0\delta_i})) = \underline{J}, \quad \lim_{i\to\infty} t_{1\delta_i} = \hat{t}_{10} \in [t_{11}, t_{12}].$$

It is clear that

$$x(t; \mu_{\delta_i}, g_{\delta_i}, u_{0\delta_i}) = h(t_{0\delta_i}, \varphi_{\delta_i}, y_i)(t), \ t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}],$$

where $y_i(t) := y(t; \mu_{\delta_i}, g_{\delta_i}, u_{0\delta_i}), t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$ satisfies the integral equation

$$y_i(t) = \varphi_{\delta_i}(t_{0\delta_i}) + \Theta_{1i}(t) + \Theta_{2i}(t), \tag{14}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{1i}(t) &= \int_{t_{0\delta_i}}^t \left\{ \int_{\theta_{\delta_i}(\xi)}^{\xi} f(\xi, y_i(\xi), h(t_{0\delta_i}, \varphi_{\delta_i}, y_i)(\tau_{\delta_i}(\xi)), h(t_{0\delta_i}, \varphi_{\delta_i}, y_i)(s), \\ & u_{0\delta_i}(\xi)) ds \right\} d\xi, \\ \Theta_{2i}(t) &= \int_{t_{0\delta_i}}^t \left\{ \int_{\theta_{\delta_i}(\xi)}^{\xi} g_{\delta_i}(\xi, y_i(\xi), h(t_{0\delta_i}, \varphi_{\delta_i}, y_i)(\tau_{\delta_i}(\xi)), h(t_{0\delta_i}, \varphi_{\delta_i}, y_i)(s)) \right] ds \right\} d\xi. \end{split}$$

From Theorem 2.1 we get

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} |y(t; \mu_{\delta_i}, g_{\delta_i}, u_{0\delta_i}) - y(t; \mu_0, 0, u_{0\delta_i})| = 0$$
(15)

The sequence $\{y(t; \mu_0, 0, u_{0\delta_i})\}$ is equicontinuously and uniformly bounded. Therefore, we can choose from it a subsequence which we denote again by $\{y(t; \mu_0, 0, u_{0\delta_i})\}$ and which uniformly converges on $[t_{00}, t_{12}]$ to some function $\hat{y}(t)$. Thus,

$$\lim_{i\to\infty} y(t;\mu_{\delta_i},g_{\delta_i},u_{0\delta_i}) = \hat{y}(t)$$

[see (15)]. We rewrite the Eq. (14) in the form

$$y_i(t) = \varphi_{\delta_i}(t_{0\delta_i}) + \Psi_{1i}(t) + \Psi_{2i}(t) + \Pi_{1i}(t) + \Pi_{2i}(t),$$
(16)

where

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{1i}(t) &= \int_{t_{00}}^{t} \Big\{ \int_{\theta_{0}(\xi)}^{\xi} f(\xi, \hat{y}(\xi), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(\tau_{0}(\xi)), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(s), \\ & u_{0\delta_{i}}(\xi)) ds \Big\} d\xi, \\ \Psi_{2i}(t) &= \int_{t_{00}}^{t} \Big\{ \int_{\theta_{0}(\xi)}^{\xi} g_{\delta_{i}}(\xi, \hat{y}(\xi), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(\tau_{0}(\xi)), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(s)) ds \Big\} d\xi, \\ \Pi_{1i}(t) &= \Theta_{1i}(t) - \Psi_{1i}(t), \Pi_{2i}(t) = \Theta_{2i}(t) - \Psi_{2i}(t). \end{split}$$

According to Theorem 2.2, we have

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \Psi_{2i}(t) = 0 \text{ uniformly for } t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}].$$

By a simple transformation, we can prove

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \Pi_{1i}(t) = 0, \ \lim_{i \to \infty} \Pi_{2i}(t) = 0 \text{ uniformly for } t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}].$$

Using the convexity and compactness of the set $P(\xi, \hat{y}(\cdot), \theta_0, \tau_0), \xi \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$, we prove in the well-known manner [5] that from the sequence

$$F_{i}(\xi) = \int_{\theta_{0}(\xi)}^{\xi} f(\xi, \hat{y}(\xi), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(\tau_{0}(\xi)), h(t_{00}, \varphi_{0}, \hat{y})(s), u_{0\delta_{i}}(\xi)) ds$$

we can choose a subsequence weakly converging to some function

$$F(\xi) \in P(\xi, \hat{y}(\cdot), \theta_0, \tau_0), \ \xi \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}].$$

Moreover, there exists a measurable function $\hat{u}(t) \in \Omega$ (see [5]) such that for any $\xi \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]$

Continuous Dependence of the Minimum of a Functional on Perturbations...

$$F(\xi) = \int_{\theta_0(\xi)}^{\xi} f(\xi, \hat{y}(\xi), h(t_{00}, \varphi_0, \hat{y})(\tau_0(\xi)), h(t_{00}, \varphi_0, \hat{y})(s), \hat{u}(\xi)) ds.$$

Passing to the limit in (15), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \hat{y}(t) &= \varphi_0(t_{00}) + \int_{t_{00}}^t F(\xi) d\xi = \varphi_0(t_{00}) \\ &+ \int_{t_{00}}^t \left[\int_{\theta_0(\xi)}^{\xi} f(\xi, \hat{y}(\xi), h(t_{00}, \varphi_0, \hat{y})(\tau_0(\xi)), h(t_{00}, \varphi_0, \hat{y})(s), \hat{u}(\xi)) ds \right] d\xi, \\ &t \in [t_{00} - \delta, t_{12}]. \end{split}$$

Now let us define a function $\hat{x}(t), t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{12}]$, in the following manner

$$\hat{x}(t) = \begin{cases} \varphi_0(t), & t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{00}], \\ \hat{y}(t), & t \in [t_{00}, t_{12}]. \end{cases}$$

The function $\hat{x}(t)$ satisfies the equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{\theta_0(t)}^t f(t, x(t), x(\tau_0(t)), x(s), \hat{u}(t)) ds, \ t \in [t_{00}, \hat{t}_{10}],$$

and the initial condition

$$x(t) = \varphi_0(t), t \in [\hat{\tau}, t_{00}],$$

i.e., $(\hat{t}_{10}, \hat{u}(t)) \in W$. Moreover, $\underline{J} = q_0(\hat{t}_{10}, \hat{x}(\hat{t}_{10}))$. So, the assumption $\underline{J} < J_0$ contradicts the optimality of the element w_0 . Thus, $\underline{J} = \overline{J} = J_0$. The theorem is proved.

References

- Baum, R.F.: An approximation procedure for solutions to Mayer problems with cost functional not of class C¹. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 36(3), 433–449 (1983)
- Donchev, A.L., Mordukhovich, B.S.: Relaxation and well-posedness of nonlinear optimal processes. Syst. Control Lett. 3, 177–179 (1983)
- Dvalishvili, F.A.: Some problems in the quantitative theory of optimal control with distributed delay. (Russian) Tbilis. Gos. Univ. Inst. Prikl. Mat. Trudy 41, 83–113 (1991)
- Dvalishvili, P., Ramishvili, I.: A theorem on the continuity of the minimum of an integral functional for one class of optimal problems with distributed delay in controls. In: Proceedings of A. Razmadze Mathematical Institute, vol. 163, pp. 29–38, 2013
- 5. Lee, E.B., Markus, L.: Foundations of Optimal Control Theory. (Russian). Nauka, Moscow (1978)
- Tadumadze, T.A.: The Monograph is published in Russian at Tbilisi State University (TSU in Russian Tbilisski Gosudarstvennii Universitet. Shortly-Tbilis. Gos. Univ.) 1983

- 7. Tadumadze, T.A.: Continuity of the minimum of an integral functional in a nonlinear problem of optimal control. (Russian) Differential'nye Uravnenya **20**(6), 991–995 (1984)
- Tadumadze, T., Dvalishvili, F.: Continuous dependence of the solution of the differential equation with distributed delay on the initial data and the right-hand side. Sem. I. Vekua Inst. Appl. Math. Rep. 26/27, 15–30 (2000/2001)

Existence of Positive Solutions for a System of Fractional Boundary Value Problems

Johnny Henderson, Rodica Luca, and Alexandru Tudorache

Abstract We study the existence and nonexistence of positive solutions of a system of nonlinear Riemann–Liouville fractional differential equations with integral boundary conditions which contain some positive constants.

Keywords Riemann-Liouville fractional differential equations • Integral boundary conditions • Positive solutions

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34A08, 45G15

1 Introduction

Fractional differential equations describe many phenomena in various fields of engineering and scientific disciplines such as physics, biophysics, chemistry, biology (such as blood flow phenomena), economics, control theory, signal and image processing, aerodynamics, viscoelasticity, electromagnetics, and so on (see [6, 12, 14, 15]). For some recent developments on the topic, see [1-5, 7, 11, 16] and the references therein.

J. Henderson

R. Luca (🖂)

A. Tudorache

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_33

Department of Mathematics, Baylor University, Waco, TX 76798-7328, USA e-mail: Johnny_Henderson@baylor.edu

Department of Mathematics, Gh. Asachi Technical University, Iasi 700506, Romania e-mail: rluca@math.tuiasi.ro

Faculty of Computer Engineering and Automatic Control, Gh. Asachi Technical University, Iasi 700050, Romania e-mail: alexandru.tudorache93@gmail.com

We consider the system of nonlinear ordinary fractional differential equations

$$\begin{cases} D_{0+}^{\alpha}u(t) + a(t)f(v(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \\ D_{0+}^{\beta}v(t) + b(t)g(u(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \end{cases}$$
(S)

with the uncoupled integral boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} u(0) = u'(0) = \dots = u^{(n-2)}(0) = 0, \ u(1) = \int_0^1 u(s) dH(s) + a_0, \\ v(0) = v'(0) = \dots = v^{(m-2)}(0) = 0, \ v(1) = \int_0^1 v(s) dK(s) + b_0, \end{cases}$$
(BC)

where $n - 1 < \alpha \le n, m - 1 < \beta \le m, n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, $n, m \ge 3$, D_{0+}^{α} and D_{0+}^{β} denote the Riemann–Liouville derivatives of orders α and β , respectively, the integrals from (*BC*) are Riemann–Stieltjes integrals, and a_0 and b_0 are positive constants.

Under some assumptions on the functions f and g, by using the Schauder fixed point theorem, we shall prove the existence of positive solutions of problem (S)-(BC). By a positive solution of (S)-(BC), we mean a pair of functions $(u, v) \in$ $C([0,1]; \mathbf{R}_+) \times C([0,1]; \mathbf{R}_+)$ satisfying (S) and (BC) with u(t) > 0, v(t) > 0for all $t \in (0, 1]$. We shall also give sufficient conditions for the nonexistence of positive solutions for this problem. Some systems of fractional equations with parameters subject to integral boundary conditions were studied in [8] and [10] by using the Guo-Krasnoselskii fixed point theorem. We also mention the paper [9], where the authors investigated the existence and multiplicity of positive solutions for the system $D_{0+}^{\alpha}u(t) + f(t, v(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), D_{0+}^{\beta}v(t) + g(t, u(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1),$ with the integral boundary conditions (BC) with $a_0 = b_0 = 0$ [denoted by (\widetilde{BC})] by using some theorems from the fixed point index theory and the Guo-Krasnoselskii fixed point theorem. In [9], the nonlinearities f and g may be nonsingular or singular in t = 0 and/or t = 1. A system of fractional differential equations with parameters where the functions f and g are sign-changing with boundary conditions (BC) is investigated in [13].

In Sect. 2, we present some auxiliary results which investigate a Riemann– Liouville fractional equation subject to integral boundary conditions. In Sect. 3, we prove our main results, and an example which supports the obtained results is finally presented in Sect. 4.

2 Auxiliary Results

In this section we present some auxiliary results from [9] related to a Riemann– Liouville fractional equation with integral boundary conditions.

We consider the fractional differential equation

$$D_{0+}^{\alpha}u(t) + y(t) = 0, \ t \in (0,1),$$
(1)

with the integral boundary conditions

$$u(0) = u'(0) = \dots = u^{(n-2)}(0) = 0, \ u(1) = \int_0^1 u(s) dH(s),$$
 (2)

where $n - 1 < \alpha \le n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \ge 3$, and $H : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function of bounded variation.

Lemma 1 ([9]). If $H : [0, 1] \to \mathbf{R}$ is a function of bounded variation, $\Delta_1 = 1 - \int_0^1 s^{\alpha-1} dH(s) \neq 0$ and $y \in C((0, 1)) \cap L^1(0, 1)$, then the solution of problem (1)–(2) is given by $u(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t, s)y(s) ds$, where

$$G_1(t,s) = g_1(t,s) + \frac{t^{\alpha-1}}{\Delta_1} \int_0^1 g_1(\tau,s) \, dH(\tau), \quad (t,s) \in [0,1] \times [0,1], \tag{3}$$

and

$$g_1(t,s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \begin{cases} t^{\alpha-1}(1-s)^{\alpha-1} - (t-s)^{\alpha-1}, & 0 \le s \le t \le 1, \\ t^{\alpha-1}(1-s)^{\alpha-1}, & 0 \le t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$
(4)

Lemma 2 ([9]). If $H : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is a nondecreasing function and $\Delta_1 > 0$, then the Green's function G_1 of the problem (1)–(2) is continuous on $[0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ and satisfies $G_1(t, s) \ge 0$ for all $(t, s) \in [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$. Moreover, if $y \in C((0, 1)) \cap L^1(0, 1)$ satisfies $y(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in (0, 1)$, then the unique solution u of problem (1)–(2) satisfies $u(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

Lemma 3 ([9]). Assume that $H : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is a nondecreasing function and $\Delta_1 > 0$. Then the Green's function G_1 of the problem (1)–(2) satisfies the inequalities

a) $G_1(t,s) \le J_1(s), \forall (t,s) \in [0,1] \times [0,1], where$

$$J_1(s) = g_1(\theta_1(s), s) + \frac{1}{\Delta_1} \int_0^1 g_1(\tau, s) \, dH(\tau), \quad \forall \, s \in [0, 1].$$

b) For every $c \in (0, 1/2)$, we have

$$\min_{t \in [c, 1-c]} G_1(t, s) \ge \gamma_1 J_1(s) \ge \gamma_1 G_1(t', s), \quad \forall t', s \in [0, 1],$$

where
$$\gamma_1 = c^{\alpha - 1}$$
 and $\theta_1(s) = \begin{cases} \frac{s}{1 - (1 - s)^{\frac{\alpha - 1}{\alpha - 2}}}, s \in (0, 1], \\ \frac{\alpha - 2}{\alpha - 1}, s = 0, \end{cases}$ if $n - 1 < \alpha \le n$, $n \ge 3$.

Lemma 4 ([9]). Assume that $H : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$ is a nondecreasing function and $\Delta_1 > 0$, $c \in (0, 1/2)$ and $y \in C((0, 1)) \cap L^1(0, 1)$, $y(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in (0, 1)$. Then the solution u(t), $t \in [0, 1]$ of problem (1)–(2) satisfies the inequality $\inf_{t \in [c, 1-c]} u(t) \ge 1$

 $\gamma_1 \sup_{t' \in [0,1]} u(t').$

We can also formulate similar results as Lemmas 1–4 above for the fractional differential equation

$$D_{0+}^{\rho}v(t) + h(t) = 0, \ 0 < t < 1,$$
(5)

with the integral boundary conditions

$$v(0) = v'(0) = \dots = v^{(m-2)}(0) = 0, \ v(1) = \int_0^1 v(s) \, dK(s),$$
 (6)

where $m - 1 < \beta \le m, m \in \mathbb{N}, m \ge 3, K : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function of bounded variation and $h \in C((0, 1)) \cap L^1(0, 1)$. We denote by $\Delta_2, \gamma_2, g_2, \theta_2, G_2$, and J_2 the corresponding constants and functions for the problem (5)–(6) defined in a similar manner as $\Delta_1, \gamma_1, g_1, \theta_1, G_1$, and J_1 , respectively.

3 Main Results

We present first the assumptions that we shall use in the sequel.

- (J1) $H, K: [0, 1] \to \mathbf{R}$ are nondecreasing functions, $\Delta_1 = 1 \int_0^1 s^{\alpha 1} dH(s) > 0$, $\Delta_2 = 1 - \int_0^1 s^{\beta - 1} dK(s) > 0$.
- (J2) The functions $a, b: [0,1] \rightarrow [0,\infty)$ are continuous and there exist $t_1, t_2 \in (0,1)$ such that $a(t_1) > 0, b(t_2) > 0$.
- (J3) $f, g: [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$ are continuous functions, and there exists $c_0 > 0$ such that $f(u) < \frac{c_0}{L}$, $g(u) < \frac{c_0}{L}$ for all $u \in [0, c_0]$, where $L = \max\{\int_0^1 a(s)J_1(s) ds, \int_0^1 b(s)J_2(s) ds\}$ and J_1, J_2 are defined in Sect. 2 (Lemma 3).
- (J4) $f, g: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ are continuous functions and satisfy the conditions

$$\lim_{u \to \infty} \frac{f(u)}{u} = \infty, \quad \lim_{u \to \infty} \frac{g(u)}{u} = \infty.$$

By (J2), we deduce that $\int_0^1 a(s)J_1(s) ds > 0$ and $\int_0^1 b(s)J_2(s) ds > 0$, that is, the constant L from (J3) is positive.

Our first theorem is the following existence result for problem (S)-(BC).

Theorem 1. Assume that assumptions (J1)-(J3) hold. Then problem (S)-(BC) has at least one positive solution for $a_0 > 0$ and $b_0 > 0$ sufficiently small.

Proof. We consider the problems

$$\begin{aligned}
D_{0+}^{\alpha}h(t) &= 0, \ t \in (0,1), \\
h(0) &= h'(0) = \dots = h^{(n-2)}(0) = 0, \ h(1) = \int_{0}^{1} h(s)dH(s) + 1,
\end{aligned}$$
(7)

$$\begin{cases} D_{0+}^{\beta}k(t) = 0, \ t \in (0,1), \\ k(0) = k'(0) = \dots = k^{(m-2)}(0) = 0, \ k(1) = \int_{0}^{1}k(s)dK(s) + 1. \end{cases}$$
(8)

The above problems (7) and (8) have the solutions

$$h(t) = \frac{t^{\alpha - 1}}{\Delta_1}, \ k(t) = \frac{t^{\beta - 1}}{\Delta_2}, \ t \in [0, 1],$$
(9)

where Δ_1 and Δ_2 are defined in (*J*1). By assumption (*J*1) we obtain h(t) > 0 and k(t) > 0 for all $t \in (0, 1]$.

We define the functions x(t) and y(t), for all $t \in [0, 1]$, by $x(t) = u(t) - a_0 h(t)$ and $y(t) = v(t) - b_0 k(t)$, for $t \in [0, 1]$, where (u, v) is a solution of (S)-(BC). Then (S)-(BC) can be equivalently written as

$$\begin{cases} D_{0+}^{\alpha}x(t) + a(t)f(y(t) + b_0k(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \\ D_{0+}^{\beta}y(t) + b(t)g(x(t) + a_0h(t)) = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \end{cases}$$
(10)

with the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} x(0) = x'(0) = \dots = x^{(n-2)}(0) = 0, \ x(1) = \int_0^1 x(s) dH(s), \\ y(0) = y'(0) = \dots = y^{(m-2)}(0) = 0, \ y(1) = \int_0^1 y(s) dK(s). \end{cases}$$
(11)

Using the Green's functions G_1 and G_2 from Sect. 2 (Lemma 1), a pair (x, y) is a solution of problem (10)–(11) if and only if (x, y) is a solution for the nonlinear integral equations

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t,s)a(s)f\left(\int_0^1 G_2(s,\tau)b(\tau)g(x(\tau) + a_0h(\tau))\,d\tau + b_0k(s)\right)ds,\\ y(t) = \int_0^1 G_2(t,s)b(s)g(x(s) + a_0h(s))\,ds, \ t \in [0,1], \end{cases}$$
(12)

where h(t), k(t), for $t \in [0, 1]$, are given by (9).

We consider the Banach space X = C([0, 1]) with the supremum norm $\|\cdot\|$ and define the set $E = \{x \in C([0, 1]), 0 \le x(t) \le c_0, \forall t \in [0, 1]\} \subset X$.

We also define the operator $S: E \to X$ by

$$(\mathcal{S}x)(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t,s)a(s)f\left(\int_0^1 G_2(s,\tau)b(\tau)g(x(\tau) + a_0h(\tau))d\tau + b_0k(s)\right)ds,$$

for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in E$. For sufficiently small $a_0 > 0$ and $b_0 > 0$, by (J3), we deduce $f(y(t) + b_0k(t)) \le \frac{c_0}{L}$ and $g(x(t) + a_0h(t)) \le \frac{c_0}{L}$, for all $t \in [0, 1]$, $x, y \in E$.

Then, by using Lemma 2, we obtain $(S_x)(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in E$. By Lemma 3, for all $x \in E$, we have

$$\int_0^1 G_2(s,\tau)b(\tau)g(x(\tau)+a_0h(\tau))\,d\tau \le \frac{c_0}{L}\int_0^1 J_2(\tau)b(\tau)\,d\tau \le c_0, \ \forall s \in [0,1],$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{S}x)(t) &\leq \int_0^1 J_1(s)a(s)f\left(\int_0^1 G_2(s,\tau)b(\tau)g(x(\tau) + a_0h(\tau))d\tau + b_0k(s)\right)ds\\ &\leq \frac{c_0}{L}\int_0^1 J_1(s)a(s)\,ds \leq c_0, \ \ \forall \,t \in [0,1]. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\mathcal{S}(E) \subset E$.

Using standard arguments, we deduce that S is completely continuous. By using the Schauder fixed point theorem, we conclude that S has a fixed point $x \in E$. This element together with y given by (12) represents a solution for (10)–(11). This shows that our problem (S)–(BC) has a positive solution $u = x + a_0h$, $v = y + b_0k$ for sufficiently small a_0 and b_0 .

In what follows, we present sufficient conditions for the nonexistence of positive solutions of (S)–(BC).

Theorem 2. Assume that assumptions (J1), (J2), and (J4) hold. Then problem (S)–(BC) has no positive solution for a_0 and b_0 sufficiently large.

Proof. We suppose that (u, v) is a positive solution of (S)-(BC). Then $x = u - a_0h$, $y = v - b_0k$ is a solution for (10)-(11), where h and k are the solutions of problems (7) and (8) [given by (9)]. By (J2) there exists $c \in (0, 1/2)$ such that $t_1, t_2 \in (c, 1-c)$, and then $\int_c^{1-c} a(s)J_1(s) ds > 0$, $\int_c^{1-c} b(s)J_2(s) ds > 0$. Now by using Lemma 2, we have $x(t) \ge 0$, $y(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$, and by Lemma 4 we obtain $\inf_{t \in [c, 1-c]} x(t) \ge \gamma_1 ||x||$ and $\inf_{t \in [c, 1-c]} y(t) \ge \gamma_2 ||y||$.

Using now (9), we deduce that $\inf_{t \in [c,1-c]} h(t) = h(c) = \gamma_1 ||h||$ and $\inf_{t \in [c,1-c]} k(t) = k(c) = \gamma_2 ||k||$.

Therefore, we obtain $\inf_{t \in [c, 1-c]} (x(t) + a_0 h(t)) \ge \gamma_1 ||x + a_0 h||$ and $\inf_{t \in [c, 1-c]} (y(t) + b_0 k(t)) \ge \gamma_2 ||y + b_0 k||$.

We now consider

$$R = \left(\min\left\{\gamma_1\gamma_2\int_c^{1-c} a(s)J_1(s)\,ds,\,\gamma_1\gamma_2\int_c^{1-c} b(s)J_2(s)\,ds\right\}\right)^{-1} > 0.$$

By using (J4), for R defined above, we conclude that there exists M > 0 such that f(u) > 2Ru, g(u) > 2Ru for all $u \ge M$. We consider $a_0 > 0$ and $b_0 > 0$ sufficiently

large such that $\inf_{t \in [c,1-c]}(x(t) + a_0h(t)) \ge M$ and $\inf_{t \in [c,1-c]}(y(t) + b_0k(t)) \ge M$. By (J2), (10), (11), and the above inequalities, we deduce that ||x|| > 0 and ||y|| > 0.

Now by using Lemma 3 and the above considerations, we have

$$y(c) \ge \gamma_2 \int_c^{1-c} J_2(s)b(s)g(x(s) + a_0h(s)) ds$$

$$\ge 2R\gamma_2 \int_c^{1-c} J_2(s)b(s) \inf_{\tau \in [c,1-c]} (x(\tau) + a_0h(\tau)) ds$$

$$\ge 2R\gamma_1\gamma_2 \int_c^{1-c} J_2(s)b(s) ||x + a_0h|| ds \ge 2||x + a_0h|| \ge 2||x||.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\|x\| \le y(c)/2 \le \|y\|/2.$$
(13)

In a similar manner, we deduce $x(c) \ge 2||y + b_0k|| \ge 2||y||$. So, we obtain

$$\|y\| \le x(c)/2 \le \|x\|/2.$$
(14)

By (13) and (14), we conclude that $||x|| \le ||y||/2 \le ||x||/4$, which is a contradiction, because ||x|| > 0. Then, for a_0 and b_0 sufficiently large, our problem (*S*)–(*BC*) has no positive solution.

4 An Example

We consider a(t) = 1, b(t) = 1 for all $t \in [0, 1]$, $\alpha = \frac{5}{2}$ (n = 3), $\beta = \frac{10}{3}$ (m = 4), $H(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t \in [0, 1/4), \\ 3, & t \in [1/4, 3/4), \text{ and } K(t) = t^4 \text{ for all } t \in [0, 1]. \text{ Then } \\ 7/2, & t \in [3/4, 1] \end{cases}$ $\int_0^1 u(s) \, dH(s) = 3u\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}u\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) \text{ and } \int_0^1 v(s) \, dK(s) = 4\int_0^1 s^3 v(s) \, ds. \text{ We also consider the functions } f, g : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty), f(x) = \frac{\tilde{\alpha} x^{\alpha_0}}{x^{\beta_0 + \tilde{c}}}, g(x) = \frac{\tilde{\lambda} x^{\gamma_0}}{x^{\delta_0 + \tilde{d}}}, \text{ for all } x \in [0, \infty), \text{ with } \tilde{a}, \tilde{b}, \tilde{c}, \tilde{d} > 0, \alpha_0, \beta_0, \gamma_0, \delta_0 > 0, \alpha_0 > \beta_0 + 1, \gamma_0 > \delta_0 + 1.$ We have $\lim_{x \to \infty} f(x)/x = \lim_{x \to \infty} g(x)/x = \infty.$

Therefore, we consider the system of fractional differential equations

$$\begin{cases} D_{0+}^{5/2}u(t) + \frac{\tilde{a}v^{\alpha_0}(t)}{v^{\beta_0}(t) + \tilde{c}} = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \\ D_{0+}^{10/3}v(t) + \frac{\tilde{b}u^{\gamma_0}(t)}{u^{\delta_0}(t) + \tilde{d}} = 0, \ t \in (0, 1), \end{cases}$$
(S₀)

with the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} u(0) = u'(0) = 0, \ u(1) = 3u\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}u\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) + a_0, \\ v(0) = v'(0) = v''(0) = 0, \ v(1) = 4\int_0^1 s^3 v(s) \, ds + b_0. \end{cases}$$
(BC₀)

We obtain $\Delta_1 = 1 - \int_0^1 s^{3/2} dH(s) = 1 - 3 \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)^{3/2} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^{3/2} = \frac{10-3\sqrt{3}}{16} \approx 0.3002 > 0, \Delta_2 = 1 - \int_0^1 s^{7/3} dK(s) = 1 - 4 \int_0^1 s^{16/3} ds = \frac{7}{19} \approx 0.3684 > 0$. Then we deduce that assumptions (J1), (J2), and (J4) are satisfied. In addition, after some computations, we obtain $\widetilde{A} = \int_0^1 J_1(s) ds \approx 0.42677595$, $\widetilde{B} = \int_0^1 J_2(s) ds \approx 0.04007233$, and then $L = \widetilde{A}$. We choose $c_0 = 1$, and if we select \widetilde{a} , \widetilde{b} , \widetilde{c} , \widetilde{d} satisfying the conditions $\widetilde{a} < \frac{1+\widetilde{c}}{L} = \frac{1+\widetilde{c}}{\widetilde{A}}$, $\widetilde{b} < \frac{1+\widetilde{d}}{L} = \frac{1+\widetilde{d}}{\widetilde{A}}$, then we conclude that $f(x) \leq \frac{\widetilde{a}}{1+\widetilde{c}} < \frac{1}{L}$, $g(x) \leq \frac{\widetilde{b}}{1+\widetilde{d}} < \frac{1}{L}$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$. For example, if $\widetilde{c} = \widetilde{d} = 1$, then for $\widetilde{a} \leq 4.68$ and $\widetilde{b} \leq 4.68$, the above conditions for f and g are satisfied. So, assumption (J3) is also satisfied. By Theorems 1 and 2, we deduce that problem $(S_0)-(BC_0)$ has at least one positive solution for sufficiently small $a_0 > 0$ and $b_0 > 0$ and no positive solution for sufficiently large a_0 and b_0 .

Acknowledgements The work of R. Luca and A. Tudorache was supported by a grant of the Romanian National Authority for Scientific Research, CNCS-UEFISCDI, project number PN-II-ID-PCE-2011-3-0557.

References

- 1. Agarwal, R.P., Zhou, Y., He, Y.: Existence of fractional neutral functional differential equations. Comput. Math. Appl. **59**, 1095–1100 (2010)
- Aghajani, A., Jalilian, Y., Trujillo, J.J.: On the existence of solutions of fractional integrodifferential equations. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 15, 44–69 (2012)
- Ahmad, B., Ntouyas, S.K.: Nonlinear fractional differential equations and inclusions of arbitrary order and multi-strip boundary conditions. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2012(98), 1–22 (2012)
- Bai, Z.: On positive solutions of a nonlocal fractional boundary value problem. Nonlinear Anal. 72, 916–924 (2010)
- 5. Balachandran, K., Trujillo, J.J.: The nonlocal Cauchy problem for nonlinear fractional integrodifferential equations in Banach spaces. Nonlinear Anal. **72**, 4587–4593 (2010)
- Das, S.: Functional Fractional Calculus for System Identification and Control. Springer, New York (2008)
- Graef, J.R., Kong, L., Kong, Q., Wang, M.: Uniqueness of positive solutions of fractional boundary value problems with non-homogeneous integral boundary conditions. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 15, 509–528 (2012)
- Henderson, J., Luca, R.: Positive solutions for a system of nonlocal fractional boundary value problems. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 16, 985–1008 (2013)
- Henderson, J., Luca, R.: Existence and multiplicity of positive solutions for a system of fractional boundary value problems. Bound. Value Probl. 2014(60), 1–17 (2014)
- Henderson, J., Luca, R., Tudorache, A.: Positive solutions for a fractional boundary value problem. Nonlinear Stud. 22, 1–13 (2015)

- Jiang, D., Yuan, C.: The positive properties of the Green function for Dirichlet-type boundary value problems of nonlinear fractional differential equations and its application. Nonlinear Anal. 72, 710–719 (2010)
- Kilbas, A.A., Srivastava, H.M., Trujillo, J.J.: Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations. North-Holland Mathematics Studies, vol. 204. Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam (2006)
- 13. Luca, R., Tudorache, A.: Positive solutions to a system of semipositone fractional boundary value problems. Adv. Differ. Equ. **2014**(179), 1–11 (2014)
- 14. Sabatier, J., Agrawal, O.P., Machado J.A.T. (eds.): Advances in Fractional Calculus: Theoretical Developments and Applications in Physics and Engineering. Springer, Dordrecht (2007)
- 15. Samko, S.G., Kilbas, A.A., Marichev, O.I.: Fractional Integrals and Derivatives. Theory and Applications. Gordon and Breach, Yverdon (1993)
- Yuan, C., Jiang, D., O'Regan, D., Agarwal, R.P.: Multiple positive solutions to systems of nonlinear semipositone fractional differential equations with coupled boundary conditions. Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 2012(13), 1–17 (2012)

Reid's Construction of Minimal Principal Solution at Infinity for Linear Hamiltonian Systems

Peter Šepitka and Roman Šimon Hilscher

Abstract Recently the authors introduced a theory of principal solutions at infinity for nonoscillatory linear Hamiltonian systems in the absence of the complete controllability assumption. In this theory the so-called minimal principal solution at infinity plays a distinguished role (the minimality refers to the rank of the first component of the solution). In this paper we show that the minimal principal solution at infinity can be obtained by a suitable generalization of the Reid construction of the principal solution known in the controllable case. Our new result points to some applications of the minimal principal solution at infinity, e.g., in the spectral theory of linear Hamiltonian systems.

Keywords Linear Hamiltonian system • Principal solution at infinity • Antiprincipal solution at infinity • Minimal principal solution at infinity • Controllability • Moore–Penrose pseudoinverse

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34C10

1 Introduction

In this paper we consider the linear Hamiltonian system

$$x' = A(t)x + B(t)u, \quad u' = C(t)x - A^{T}(t)u, \quad t \in [a, \infty),$$
 (H)

where $A, B, C : [a, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ are piecewise continuous matrix-valued functions such that B(t) and C(t) are symmetric, and the Legendre condition

$$B(t) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in [a, \infty)$$
 (1)

P. Šepitka • R. Šimon Hilscher (🖂)

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Kotlářská 2, CZ-61137 Brno, Czech Republic e-mail: sepitkap@math.muni.cz; hilscher@math.muni.cz

e-mail. sepitkap@mail.muil.cz, mischer@mail.muil.cz

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_34

holds. Here $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is a given dimension and $a \in \mathbb{R}$ is a fixed number. We will not impose any controllability (normality) assumption on system (H), i.e., vector solutions (x, u) of (H) may have $x(t) \equiv 0$ and $u(t) \neq 0$ on nondegenerate subintervals of $[a, \infty)$ or even throughout $[a, \infty)$. Similarly, matrix solutions (X, U) of (H) may have X(t) singular on subintervals of $[a, \infty)$ with positive length. Such possibly abnormal linear Hamiltonian systems were originally studied in [12, 13, 21] and more recently in [6–8, 10, 11, 18, 19, 22]. We recall that in the abnormal case, the nonoscillation of system (H) means that every conjoined basis (X, U) of (H) has the kernel of X(t) eventually constant, say on the interval $[\alpha, \infty)$ for some $\alpha \geq a$. In addition, in [15, Remark 5.4] we showed that X(t) satisfies the estimate of its rank

$$n - d_{\infty} \le n - d[\alpha, \infty) \le \operatorname{rank} X(t) \le n, \quad t \in [\alpha, \infty).$$
 (2)

Here $d[\alpha, \infty)$ is the *order of abnormality* of system (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$, i.e., it is the dimension of the space of solutions (x, u) of (H) with $x(t) \equiv 0$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$ (see also [13, Sect. VII.3]), and

$$d_{\infty} := \lim_{t \to \infty} d[t, \infty) = \max\{d[t, \infty), t \in [a, \infty)\}, \quad 0 \le d_{\infty} \le n.$$

In [15, 16] we initiated a general theory of principal solutions at infinity for such an abnormal system (H). By [16, Definition 7.1] a conjoined basis (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) of (H) is a *principal solution at infinity* if the kernel of $\hat{X}(t)$ is constant on $[\alpha, \infty)$ and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \hat{S}^{\dagger}(t) = 0, \quad \hat{S}(t) := \int_{\alpha}^{t} \hat{X}^{\dagger}(s) B(s) \hat{X}^{\dagger T}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s. \tag{3}$$

The dagger in (3) denotes the Moore–Penrose pseudoinverse [2, 3]. Based on (2) we then say (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) is a *minimal principal solution at infinity*, denoted by $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$, if the rank of $\hat{X}_{\min}(t)$ is the smallest possible number, i.e., if rank $\hat{X}_{\min}(t) = n - d_{\infty}$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$. By [15, Theorems 7.2 and 7.6], the nonoscillation of (H) is equivalent with the existence of a minimal principal solution at infinity, which is in this case unique up to a right nonsingular multiple. Moreover, in [16, Sect. 7], the solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ was utilized in order to construct all other principal solutions (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) at infinity with rank $\hat{X}(t) = r$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$ for any integer r between $n - d_{\infty}$ and n. Most recently in [17, Theorem 6.5], we showed that the solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ is the smallest solution of (H) at infinity in the sense of the limit

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} X^{\dagger}(t) \, \hat{X}(t) = 0,$$

where (X, U) is any (antiprincipal) solution of (H) at infinity.

In the present paper we derive another important property of the minimal principal solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ at infinity, namely, its Reid construction. In the controllable case (i.e., when $d_{\infty} = 0$), the principal solution (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) at infinity

has $\hat{X}(t)$ eventually invertible, and it can be constructed by the pointwise limit (the so-called Reid construction)

$$\left(\hat{X}(t), \hat{U}(t)\right) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(X_{\tau}(t), U_{\tau}(t)\right), \quad t \in [a, \infty), \tag{4}$$

where (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) is the conjoined basis of (H) given by the initial conditions $X_{\tau}(\tau) = 0$ and $U_{\tau}(\tau)$ invertible (see [4, p. 44] or [13, Theorem VII.3.4]). In our main result (Theorem 1), we derive the property in (4) for the minimal principal solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ at infinity of an abnormal system (H). This result completes the information about the solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$, and it can be used in further applications, where the property in (4) was earlier applied (see Remark 6).

We note that already in [21, Definition, p. 40], Stokes uses (4) as the definition of a principal solution (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) at infinity for an abnormal system (H). The construction in [21, Theorem 1, p. 40] uses properties of symmetric solutions of the associated Riccati matrix equation on $[a, \infty)$, hence properties of conjoined bases (X, U)of (H) with X(t) invertible. The approach in the present paper is direct and more general without using the Riccati equation. Moreover, our results in Theorem 1 and Remark 5 imply that a principal solution (\hat{X}, \hat{U}) in [21, Definition, p. 40] is in fact the minimal principal solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ at infinity in the sense of (3).

Our recent results in [17] also reveal more information about the conjoined basis (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) used in the Reid construction in (4). In particular, we prove that (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) is an *antiprincipal solution at infinity*, according to [17, Definition 5.1]. This is defined as a conjoined basis (X, U) of (H) such that for some $\alpha \ge a$ the kernel of X(t) is constant on $[\alpha, \infty), d[\alpha, \infty) = d_{\infty}$, and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} S^{\dagger}(t) = T, \quad S(t) := \int_{\alpha}^{t} X^{\dagger}(s) B(s) X^{\dagger T}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad \operatorname{rank} T = n - d_{\infty}.$$
(5)

In general, by [17, Corollary 4.11], the matrix T in (5) satisfies $0 \le \operatorname{rank} T \le n-d_{\infty}$. Therefore, upon comparing (3) and (5), we can see that antiprincipal solutions of (H) at infinity are defined by the maximal possible rank of their associated matrix T in (5). This is in full agreement with the controllable case (see [1, 5]).

2 Main Result

In this section we state and prove the main result of this paper. First we recall some notions and results about linear Hamiltonian systems and their solutions (see [4, 9, 13]). A matrix solution (X, U) is a *conjoined basis* of (H) if $X^{T}(t) U(t)$ is symmetric and rank $(X^{T}(t), U^{T}(t)) = n$ for some and hence for all $t \in [a, \infty)$. Every conjoined basis (X, U) of (H) can be completed by another conjoined basis (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) to form a symplectic fundamental matrix of (H). In this case the two conjoined bases (X, U) and (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) are *normalized*, i.e., their Wronskian $X^{T}(t) \bar{U}(t) - U^{T}(t) \bar{X}(t) \equiv I$ on $[a, \infty)$. For a conjoined basis (X, U) of (H), we define its associated orthogonal

projectors onto the subspaces $\text{Im } X^T(t)$ and Im X(t) by

$$P(t) := X^{\dagger}(t) X(t), \quad R(t) := X(t) X^{\dagger}(t), \quad t \in [a, \infty).$$
(6)

By the *kernel* of (X, U), we mean the kernel of its first component X. If (X, U) has constant kernel on $[\alpha, \infty)$, then P(t) is constant on $[\alpha, \infty)$, and we set

$$P := P(t) \quad \text{on } [\alpha, \infty). \tag{7}$$

In this case we have $r := \operatorname{rank} X(t) = \operatorname{rank} P = \operatorname{rank} R(t)$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$, and we say that (X, U) has rank r. The matrix-valued function X^{\dagger} is then piecewise continuously differentiable on $[\alpha, \infty)$; in particular X^{\dagger} is continuous on $[\alpha, \infty)$, so that the function S(t) in (5) is well defined for any such a conjoined basis (X, U). It follows that under (1) the matrix S(t) is symmetric, nonnegative definite, piecewise continuously differentiable on $[\alpha, \infty)$, and the set $\operatorname{Im} S(t)$ is nondecreasing and hence eventually constant with $\operatorname{Im} S(t) \subseteq \operatorname{Im} P$ (see [15, Theorem 4.2]). Therefore, the orthogonal projector $P_{\mathscr{S}}(t)$ onto the set $\operatorname{Im} S(t)$ is eventually constant, and we write

$$P_{\mathscr{S}}(t) := S(t) S^{\dagger}(t) = S^{\dagger}(t) S(t), \quad P_{\mathscr{S}\infty} := P_{\mathscr{S}}(t) \quad \text{for } t \to \infty.$$
(8)

In addition, we have the inclusions $\operatorname{Im} S(t) = \operatorname{Im} P_{\mathscr{S}}(t) \subseteq \operatorname{Im} P_{\mathscr{S}\infty} \subseteq \operatorname{Im} P$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$.

Remark 1. Let (X, U) be a conjoined basis of (H) with constant kernel on $[\alpha, \infty)$. In this paper we will utilize a special conjoined basis (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) satisfying

$$X^{T}(t)\bar{U}(t) - U^{T}(t)\bar{X}(t) \equiv I, \quad X^{\dagger}(\alpha)\bar{X}(\alpha) = 0.$$
(9)

This means that the two conjoined bases (X, U) and $(\overline{X}, \overline{U})$ are normalized. The existence of $(\overline{X}, \overline{U})$ is proven in [15, Theorem 4.4].

Following (2) we say that a conjoined basis (X, U) of (H) is a minimal conjoined basis on $[\alpha, \infty)$ if (X, U) has constant kernel on $[\alpha, \infty)$ and rank $X(t) = n - d[\alpha, \infty)$. Similarly, (X, U) is a maximal conjoined basis on $[\alpha, \infty)$ if X(t) is invertible on $[\alpha, \infty)$. Therefore, a minimal/maximal principal solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ of (H) at infinity is defined as a minimal/maximal conjoined basis on $[\alpha, \infty)$ for some $\alpha \ge a$, for which condition (3) is satisfied. Analogous terminology is used for minimal/maximal antiprincipal solutions of (H) at infinity. It is easy to see that minimal conjoined bases (X, U) of (H) are characterized by the property that their associated projectors P and $P_{\mathscr{I}\infty}$ in (7) and (8) satisfy the equality $P = P_{\mathscr{I}\infty}$ (see [15, Remark 5.14]). Minimal conjoined bases are extremely important, since they serve as a tool for the construction of the minimal principal solution $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ at infinity. More precisely, by the proof of [15, Theorem 7.2],

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{X}_{\min}(t) \\ \hat{U}_{\min}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X(t) \ \bar{X}(t) \\ U(t) \ \bar{U}(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I \\ -T \end{pmatrix}, \quad t \in [a, \infty), \tag{10}$$

where (X, U) is a minimal conjoined basis on $[\alpha, \infty)$, (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) is the associated conjoined basis from (9), and $T := \lim_{t\to\infty} S^{\dagger}(t)$.

By [16, Remark 7.11] and [17, Theorem 5.5], the property of being a principal or an antiprincipal solution of (H) at infinity is invariant under the translation of the initial point α to the right. Therefore, without loss of generality we will assume further on in this paper that the point α is such that the abnormality of system (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$ is maximal, i.e.,

$$d[\alpha, \infty) = d_{\infty}.$$
 (11)

In the following theorem we present the main result of this paper.

Theorem 1. Assume (1) and (11) and suppose that (X, U) is a minimal conjoined basis of (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$. Let (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) be the associated conjoined basis of (H) satisfying (9). Then there exists $\beta \ge \alpha$ such that $\bar{X}(t)$ is invertible for all $t \ge \beta$, and the solution (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) of (H) given by the initial conditions

$$X_{\tau}(\tau) = 0, \quad U_{\tau}(\tau) = -\bar{X}^{T-1}(\tau),$$
 (12)

is a conjoined basis satisfying

$$\left(\hat{X}_{\min}(t), \hat{U}_{\min}(t)\right) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(X_{\tau}(t), U_{\tau}(t)\right), \quad t \in [a, \infty).$$
(13)

Proof. We start by deriving some additional properties of the conjoined basis (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) . By [15, Theorem 4.4] and [14, Theorem 2.2.11], the functions $\bar{X}(t)$, $\bar{X}(t) P$, and $\bar{U}(t) P$ are uniquely determined by (X, U) on $[\alpha, \infty)$, and on this interval

$$\bar{X}(t) P = X(t) S(t), \quad \bar{U}(t) P = U(t) S(t) + X^{\dagger T}(t) + U(t) (I - P) \bar{X}^{T}(t) X^{\dagger T}(t), \quad (14)$$

$$\operatorname{Ker} X(t) = \operatorname{Im} \left[P - P_{\mathscr{S}}(t) \right], \quad S^{\dagger}(t) = X^{\dagger}(t) X(t) P_{\mathscr{S}}(t).$$
(15)

Since (X, U) is a minimal conjoined basis on $[\alpha, \infty)$, we have $P = P_{\mathscr{S}\infty}$, and with

$$\beta := \inf \{ t \ge \alpha, \ \operatorname{rank} S(t) = n - d_{\infty} \}$$
(16)

it follows that $P_{\mathscr{S}}(t) = P_{\mathscr{S}\infty}$ on (β, ∞) . From the first equality in (15), we then obtain that Ker $\bar{X}(t) = \{0\}$, so that $\bar{X}(t)$ is invertible for all $t > \beta$. Moreover, from the second condition in (15), we then get

$$S^{\dagger}(t) = X^{-1}(t)X(t), \quad t \in (\beta, \infty).$$
 (17)

Fix now $\tau > \beta$ and define on $[a, \infty)$ the solution (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) of (H) by the initial conditions (12). It is easy to see that (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) is a conjoined basis of (H). Consider the matrices M_{τ} and N_{τ} such that
P. Šepitka and R. Šimon Hilscher

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_{\tau}(t) \\ U_{\tau}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X(t) \ \bar{X}(t) \\ U(t) \ \bar{U}(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} M_{\tau} \\ N_{\tau} \end{pmatrix}, \quad t \in [a, \infty).$$
(18)

Since by (9) the fundamental matrix in (18) is symplectic, it follows that

$$M_{\tau} = \bar{U}^{T}(t) X_{\tau}(t) - \bar{X}^{T}(t) U_{\tau}(t), \quad N_{\tau} = X^{T}(t) U_{\tau}(t) - U^{T}(t) X_{\tau}(t)$$
(19)

on $[a, \infty)$. Evaluating (19) at $t = \tau$ and using (12) yields that

$$M_{\tau} = I, \quad N_{\tau} = -X^{T}(\tau) \,\bar{X}^{T-1}(\tau) \stackrel{(17)}{=} -[S^{\dagger}(\tau)]^{T} = -S^{\dagger}(\tau). \tag{20}$$

This shows that the limit of (M_{τ}, N_{τ}) as $\tau \to \infty$ indeed exists, and by (20) it is equal to (I, -T). Hence, from (18) we get that for each $t \in [a, \infty)$, the limit of $(X_{\tau}(t), U_{\tau}(t))$ as $\tau \to \infty$ also exists, and by (10) it is equal to $(\hat{X}_{\min}(t), \hat{U}_{\min}(t))$. Therefore, (13) holds and the proof is complete.

Remark 2. We note that by [15, Remark 5.3], the point β in (16) also satisfies

 $\beta = \inf \{ t \ge \alpha, (\hat{X}_{\alpha}, \hat{U}_{\alpha}) \text{ has constant kernel on } [t, \infty) \},\$

where $(\hat{X}_{\alpha}, \hat{U}_{\alpha})$ is the principal solution of (H) at the point α , i.e., it is the solution given by the initial conditions $\hat{X}_{\alpha}(\alpha) = 0$ and $\hat{U}_{\alpha}(\alpha) = I$.

Remark 3. The proof of Theorem 1 gives also the answer to the question, when the limit in (13) exists and what is its value depending on the chosen initial conditions in (12). In this respect we have the following result. Assume that (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) is a solution of (H) given by the initial conditions $X_{\tau}(\tau) = 0$ and $U_{\tau}(\tau) = K(\tau)$, where $K(\tau)$ is invertible for all $\tau \ge \gamma$ for some $\gamma > \beta$. Then for $t \in [a, \infty)$ the limit of $(X_{\tau}(t), U_{\tau}(t))$ as $\tau \to \infty$ exists if and only if $K(\tau) = -\overline{X}^{T-1}(\tau) E(\tau)$ for $\tau \ge \gamma$, where $E(\tau)$ is an invertible matrix such that the limit $E := \lim_{\tau \to \infty} E(\tau)$ exists. In this case

$$\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(X_{\tau}(t), U_{\tau}(t) \right) = \left(\hat{X}_{\min}(t) E, \hat{U}_{\min}(t) E \right), \quad t \in [a, \infty),$$

where $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ is the minimal principal solution of (H) at infinity from (10). This statement follows from the proof of Theorem 1, in which the matrices M_{τ} and N_{τ} are given by $M_{\tau} = E(\tau)$ and $N_{\tau} = -S^{\dagger}(\tau) E(\tau)$.

Remark 4. It follows by [17, Proposition 5.15] that for $\tau > \beta$ the conjoined basis (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) used in the Reid construction of $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ in Theorem 1 is a (minimal) antiprincipal solution of (H) at infinity.

Formula (17) implies an interesting property of the conjoined basis (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) .

364

Proposition 1. Let (X, U) be a minimal conjoined basis of (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$. Then the associated conjoined basis (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) from Remark 1 is a maximal antiprincipal solution of (H) at infinity.

Proof. Let $\beta \geq \alpha$ be such that $\bar{X}(t)$ is invertible on $[\beta, \infty)$. Let $\bar{S}(t)$ be defined as in (5) through $\bar{X}(t)$ on $[\beta, \infty)$. By [17, Theorem 5.3 and Remark 5.4], it is enough to show that the matrix $\bar{S}(t)$ has a limit as $t \to \infty$. From (17) we obtain that $S^{\dagger}(t) X^{\dagger}(t) = \bar{X}^{-1}(t) R(t)$ on $[\beta, \infty)$, while from [15, Theorem 4.2(ii)], we get R(t) B(t) = B(t) = B(t) R(t). Hence, for $t \in [\beta, \infty)$ we have

$$\bar{S}(t) = \int_{\beta}^{t} \bar{X}^{-1}(s) B(s) \bar{X}^{T-1}(s) ds = \int_{\beta}^{t} S^{\dagger}(s) X^{\dagger}(s) B(s) X^{\dagger T}(s) S^{\dagger}(s) ds$$
$$= \int_{\beta}^{t} S^{\dagger}(s) S'(s) S^{\dagger}(s) ds = -\int_{\beta}^{t} [S^{\dagger}(s)]' ds = S^{\dagger}(\beta) - S^{\dagger}(t).$$

This shows that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \overline{S}(t) = S^{\dagger}(\beta) - T$, i.e., this limit exists, and by [17, Remark 5.4] the conjoined basis $(\overline{X}, \overline{U})$ is a (maximal) antiprincipal solution of (H) at infinity.

In the following remark we prove that the approach in [21, Theorem 1, p. 40] is a special case of our construction in Theorem 1 and Remark 3. Moreover, in view of Proposition 1, we may conclude that the choice of the initial conditions in (12) with (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) being a maximal antiprincipal solution of (H) at infinity is natural and the only possible in order to guarantee the existence of the limit in (13).

Remark 5. The comments in Remarks 3 and 4 lead to an explanation of the construction of a principal solution of (H) at infinity by Stokes in [21, Theorem 1, p. 40]. Let (\tilde{X}, \tilde{U}) be a conjoined basis of (H) such that $\tilde{X}(t)$ is invertible for all $t \ge \gamma$ for some $\gamma \ge \alpha$ as in [21, pp. 39–40]. For $\tau \ge \gamma$, let (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) be the solution of (H) given by the initial conditions $X_{\tau}(\tau) = 0$ and $U_{\tau}(\tau) = \tilde{X}^{T-1}(\tau)$. Note that Stokes uses the notation (Y, Z) and (Y_c, Z_c) instead of our (\tilde{X}, \tilde{U}) and (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) . Then by applying Remark 3 with $K(\tau) := \tilde{X}^{T-1}(\tau)$ and $E(\tau) := -\bar{X}^T(\tau) \tilde{X}^{T-1}(\tau)$, we shall prove that

$$\lim_{\tau \to \infty} (X_{\tau}, U_{\tau}) \text{ exists if and only if}$$

$$(\tilde{X}, \tilde{U}) \text{ is a (maximal) antiprincipal solution at infinity.}$$

$$(21)$$

And in this case the limit in (21) is the minimal principal solution at infinity. Assume first that (\tilde{X}, \tilde{U}) is a (maximal) antiprincipal solution at infinity. Then by [16, Theorem 6.3 and Remark 6.4] (with the maximal genus \mathscr{G}_{max} , since $\tilde{X}(t)$ and $\bar{X}(t)$ are invertible for large t)

$$\lim_{\tau \to \infty} (-M_{\tau}^{T}) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \tilde{X}^{-1}(\tau) \, \bar{X}(\tau) = L \quad \text{with} \quad \operatorname{rank} L = \operatorname{rank} \bar{T} + d_{\infty}, \quad (22)$$

where \overline{T} is the matrix in (5) associated with $(\overline{X}, \overline{U})$. From Proposition 1 we know that $(\overline{X}, \overline{U})$ is a (maximal) antiprincipal solution at infinity, i.e., rank $\overline{T} = n - d_{\infty}$. Hence, the matrix L in (22) is invertible. Therefore, the limit in (21) exists and, by Remark 3 with $E := -L^T$ being invertible, it is equal to the minimal principal solution of (H) at infinity. Conversely, assume that the limit in (21) exists, i.e.,

$$E := \lim_{\tau \to \infty} E(\tau) = -\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \bar{X}^T(\tau) \tilde{X}^{T-1}(\tau)$$
(23)

exists. From the fact that (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) is a maximal antiprincipal solution at infinity (by Proposition 1) and from [16, Theorem 6.3 and Remark 6.4], it follows that the limit

$$F := \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \bar{X}^{-1}(\tau) \,\tilde{X}(\tau) = -\lim_{\tau \to \infty} E^{T-1}(\tau) \quad \text{with} \quad \operatorname{rank} F = \operatorname{rank} \tilde{T} + d_{\infty} \quad (24)$$

also exists, where \tilde{T} is defined in (5) through $\tilde{X}(t)$ on $[\beta, \infty)$. From (23) and (24) we then conclude that *E* and *F* are invertible with $E = -F^{T-1}$, which in turn implies by Remark 3 that the limit in (21) is the minimal principal solution of (H) at infinity. Finally, the second condition in (24) implies that rank $\tilde{T} = \operatorname{rank} F - d_{\infty} = n - d_{\infty}$, so that (\tilde{X}, \tilde{U}) is a maximal antiprincipal solution at infinity.

3 Comments and Concluding Remarks

In this section we make some additional observations and comments to the main result of this paper and future research directions.

Remark 6. The construction of the minimal principal solution of (H) at infinity in Theorem 1 can be utilized in applications in the same way as for the controllable system (H). For example, we expect that this will be possible in the Friedrichs extension for symmetric operators associated with the linear Hamiltonian system (H) (see [20, Theorem 3.1]) and its proof. This topic is under our investigation.

Remark 7. In this paper we show that the minimal principal solution of (H) at infinity can be represented by the Reid construction in (13). It is an open problem whether other principal solutions of (H) at infinity (i.e., principal solutions at infinity with rank strictly bigger than $n - d_{\infty}$) have a similar representation. We will address this problem in our future work.

In the last part of this paper, we comment the construction in Theorem 1 with respect to the used initial data. Since the representation of (X_{τ}, U_{τ}) in (18) with $M_{\tau} = I$ and $N_{\tau} = -S^{\dagger}(\tau)$ from (20) does not depend on a particular choice of (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) , the construction of $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ in (13) also does not depend on the choice of (\bar{X}, \bar{U}) for a given minimal conjoined basis (X, U). In the next result we will show that the above construction of $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ does not depend on the choice of the minimal conjoined basis (X, U). More precisely, we will show that starting with a different minimal conjoined basis (X, U) leads to a right nonsingular multiple of $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ in (13). For this purpose we first derive an auxiliary lemma.

Lemma 1. Let (X_1, U_1) and (X_2, U_2) be minimal conjoined bases of (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$, and let (\bar{X}_1, \bar{U}_1) and (\bar{X}_2, \bar{U}_2) be their associated conjoined bases from Remark 1, which satisfy $X_i^T(t) \bar{U}_i(t) - U_i^T(t) \bar{X}_i(t) \equiv I$ and $X_i^{\dagger}(\alpha) \bar{X}_i(\alpha) = 0$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Then there exists a constant invertible matrix K such that

$$\bar{X}_2(t) = \bar{X}_1(t) K, \quad t \in [\alpha, \infty).$$
(25)

Proof. Let $P_1, R_1(t)$ and $P_2, R_2(t)$ be the orthogonal projectors in (7), (6) associated with X_1 and X_2 , respectively, First we note that $\text{Im } X_1(\alpha) = \text{Im } X_2(\alpha)$, by [15, Remark 5.16], so that $R_1(\alpha) = R_2(\alpha)$. Next we represent (X_1, U_1) in terms of (X_2, U_2) and (\bar{X}_2, \bar{U}_2) and both (X_2, U_2) and (\bar{X}_2, \bar{U}_2) in terms of (X_1, U_1) and (\bar{X}_1, \bar{U}_1) . Thus, we have for $i \in \{1, 2\}$

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_{3-i}(t) \\ U_{3-i}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X_i(t) \ \bar{X}_i(t) \\ U_i(t) \ \bar{U}_i(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} M_i \\ N_i \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \bar{X}_2(t) \\ \bar{U}_2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X_1(t) \ \bar{X}_1(t) \\ U_1(t) \ \bar{U}_1(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{M}_1 \\ \bar{N}_1 \end{pmatrix} \quad (26)$$

on $[a, \infty)$, where according to [15, Theorem 4.6], the matrices M_1 and M_2 are invertible with $M_2 = M_1^{-1}$ and $N_2 = -N_1^T$. Since the fundamental matrices in (26) are symplectic, we get from (26) at $t = \alpha$

$$\bar{M}_1 = \bar{U}_1^T(\alpha)\bar{X}_2(\alpha) - \bar{X}_1^T(\alpha)\bar{U}_2(\alpha), \qquad (27)$$

$$\bar{N}_1 = X_1^T(\alpha) \, \bar{U}_2(\alpha) - U_1^T(\alpha) \, \bar{X}_2(\alpha) = M_2^T = M_1^{T-1}.$$
(28)

Therefore, \bar{N}_1 is invertible. Since by (14) at $t = \alpha$ we have $P_1 \bar{U}_1^T(\alpha) = X_1^{\dagger}(\alpha)$ and $P_1 \bar{X}_1^T(\alpha) = S_1(\alpha) X_1^T(\alpha) = 0$ and $R_2(\alpha) \bar{X}_2(\alpha) = X_2(\alpha) X_2^{\dagger}(\alpha) \bar{X}_2(\alpha) = 0$, it follows from (27) that

$$P_1\bar{M}_1 = X_1^{\dagger}(\alpha)\,\bar{X}_2(\alpha) = X_1^{\dagger}(\alpha)\,R_1(\alpha)\,\bar{X}_2(\alpha) = X_1^{\dagger}(\alpha)\,R_2(\alpha)\,\bar{X}_2(\alpha) = 0.$$

Therefore, again by (26) we get for $t \in [\alpha, \infty)$

$$\bar{X}_2(t) = X_1(t)\bar{M}_1 + \bar{X}_1(t)\bar{N}_1 = X_1(t)P_1\bar{M}_1 + \bar{X}_1(t)\bar{N}_1 = \bar{X}_1(t)\bar{N}_1.$$

This shows that (25) holds with $K := \overline{N}_1$, which is by (28) invertible.

Assume now that in addition to (X, U) in Theorem 1, we start with another minimal conjoined basis (X_*, U_*) of (H) on $[\alpha, \infty)$. Let (\bar{X}_*, \bar{U}_*) be the associated conjoined basis from Remark 1. If we represent (X_*, U_*) in terms of (X, U) by

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_*(t) \\ U_*(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X(t) \ \bar{X}(t) \\ U(t) \ \bar{U}(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} M \\ N \end{pmatrix}, \quad t \in [a, \infty),$$

where *M* is invertible (see [15, Theorem 4.6] again), then by Lemma 1 we have $\bar{X}_*(t) = \bar{X}(t) K$ on $[\alpha, \infty)$ with invertible $K := M^{T-1}$. Following (12) we construct for $\tau \ge \beta$ the conjoined basis $(X_{*\tau}, U_{*\tau})$ by the initial conditions $X_{*\tau}(\tau) = 0$ and $U_{*\tau}(\tau) = -\bar{X}_*^{T-1}(\tau) = -\bar{X}^{T-1}(\tau) M$. Hence, we have $X_{*\tau}(t) = X_{\tau}(t) M$ and $U_{*\tau}(t) = U_{\tau}(t) M$ on $[a, \infty)$, which implies that for $t \in [a, \infty)$

$$\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(X_{*\tau}(t), U_{*\tau}(t) \right) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(X_{\tau}(t) M, U_{\tau}(t) M \right) = \left(\hat{X}_{\min}(t) M, \hat{U}_{\min}(t) M \right).$$

Finally, let us mention that the construction of $(\hat{X}_{\min}, \hat{U}_{\min})$ in (13) does not also depend on the choice of the point α , which defines the interval $[\alpha, \infty)$ on which (X, U) is a minimal conjoined basis. More precisely, similarly to the above we get that moving the point α to the right yields a constant right nonsingular multiple in the representation (13). The analysis of this problem goes however beyond the scope and length of this paper, so that the details are omitted.

References

- 1. Ahlbrandt, C.D.: Principal and antiprincipal solutions of self-adjoint differential systems and their reciprocals. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 2, 169–182 (1972)
- Ben-Israel, A., Greville, T.N.E.: Generalized Inverses: Theory and Applications, 2nd edn. Springer, New York (2003)
- Campbell, S.L., Meyer, C.D.: Generalized Inverses of Linear Transformations. Classics in Applied Mathematics, vol. 56. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia (2009). Reprint of the 1991 corrected reprint of the 1979 original
- 4. Coppel, W.A.: Disconjugacy. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 220. Springer, Berlin (1971)
- Došlý, O.: Principal solutions and transformations of linear Hamiltonian systems. Arch. Math. 28, 113–120 (1992)
- Fabbri, R., Johnson, R., Novo, S., Núñez, C.: Some remarks concerning weakly disconjugate linear Hamiltonian systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 380(2), 853–864 (2011)
- Johnson, R., Núñez, C., Obaya, R.: Dynamical methods for linear Hamiltonian systems with applications to control processes. J. Dyn. Differ. Equ. 25(3), 679–713 (2013)
- Johnson, R., Novo, S., Núñez, C., Obaya, R.: Uniform weak disconjugacy and principal solutions for linear Hamiltonian systems. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Delay Differential and Difference Equations and Applications (Balatonfuered, Hungary, 2013). Springer, Berlin (2014)
- 9. Kratz, W.: Quadratic Functionals in Variational Analysis and Control Theory. Akademie, Berlin (1995)
- 10. Kratz, W.: Definiteness of quadratic functionals. Analysis 23(2), 163-183 (2003)
- Kratz, W., Šimon Hilscher, R.: Rayleigh principle for linear Hamiltonian systems without controllability. ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 18(2), 501–519 (2012)
- 12. Reid, W.T.: Principal solutions of nonoscillatory linear differential systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 9, 397–423 (1964)
- 13. Reid, W.T.: Ordinary Differential Equations. Wiley, New York (1971)
- 14. Šepitka, P.: Theory of principal solutions at infinity for linear hamiltonian systems. Ph.D. dissertation, Masaryk University, Brno (2014)
- Šepitka, P., Šimon Hilscher, R.: Minimal principal solution at infinity for nonoscillatory linear Hamiltonian systems. J. Dyn. Differ. Equ. 26(1), 57–91 (2014)

- Šepitka, P., Šimon Hilscher, R.: Principal solutions at infinity of given ranks for nonoscillatory linear Hamiltonian systems. J. Dyn. Differ. Equ. 27(1), 137–175 (2015)
- Šepitka, P., Šimon Hilscher, R.: Principal and antiprincipal solutions at infinity of linear Hamiltonian systems. J. Differ. Equ. 259(9), 4651–4682 (2015)
- Šimon Hilscher, R.: Sturmian theory for linear Hamiltonian systems without controllability. Math. Nachr. 284(7), 831–843 (2011)
- Šimon Hilscher, R.: On general Sturmian theory for abnormal linear Hamiltonian systems. In: Feng, W., Feng, Z., Grasselli, M., Ibragimov, A., Lu, X., Siegmund, S., Voigt, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the 8th AIMS Conference on Dynamical Systems, Differential Equations and Applications (Dresden, 2010). Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems, Suppl. 2011, pp. 684–691. American Institute of Mathematical Sciences, Springfield (2011)
- Šimon Hilscher, R., Zemánek, P.: Friedrichs extension of operators defined by linear Hamiltonian systems on unbounded interval. Math. Bohem. 135(2), 209–222 (2010)
- 21. Stokes, A.N.: Differential inequalities and the matrix riccati equation. Ph.D. thesis, Australian National University, Canberra (1972)
- 22. Wahrheit, M.: Eigenvalue problems and oscillation of linear Hamiltonian systems. Int. J. Differ. Equ. **2**(2), 221–244 (2007)

On Numerical Regularity of Trisection-Based Algorithms in 3D

Sergey Korotov, Ángel Plaza, José P. Suárez, and Pilar Abad

Abstract The longest-edge (LE-) trisection of the given tetrahedron is obtained by joining two equally spaced points on its longest edge with the opposite vertices, and, thus, splitting the tetrahedron into three sub-tetrahedra. On the base such LE-trisections we introduce and numerically test the refinement algorithms for tetrahedral meshes. Computations conducted show that the quality of meshes generated by these algorithms does not seem to degenerate.

Keywords Longest-edge trisection • Tetrahedral mesh • Mesh adaptivity • Mesh regularity

1 Introduction

Theoretical results regarding the regularity properties of tetrahedral meshes generated are still very limited in comparison to the vast amount of empirical studies and tests performed for this type of meshes in the mesh generation community. The complexity of methods to subdivide tetrahedra and an existence of many ways to performs such subdivisions are only two possible reasons. For example, Delaunaytype refinement in 3D is much more complicated than that one in 2D, and no mathematical guarantee exists for the shape quality of subtetrahedra produced [2]. Concerning the longest-edge (LE-) based refinements, whether the shapes of subtetrahedra produced by repeated LE-bisections degenerate or not is still an open problem [13]. However, many practical implementations have shown that the

S. Korotov (🖂)

Department of Computing, Mathematics and Physics, Bergen University College, Inndalsveien 28, 5020 Bergen, Norway e-mail: sergey.korotov@hib.no

Á. Plaza • J.P. Suárez • P. Abad

Division of Mathematics, Graphics and Computation (MAGiC), IUMA, Information and Communication Systems, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Canary Islands, Las Palmas, Spain

e-mail: angel.plaza@ulpgc.es; josepablo.suarez@ulpgc.es; pilar.abad@ulpgc.es

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_35

LE-bisection is a good choice for qualitative mesh refinements [9, 22, 25]. Various shape measures, currently used as effective quantitative means for evaluating the quality of meshes, can be found in [8] (see also [5, 6, 15]).

There are currently two main approaches for subdividing a single tetrahedron: octasection, sometimes called the 3D red refinement (see, e.g., [10, 28]), and bisection (also called the green refinement) (see also [12] for a combination of these techniques). The octasection may be preferable to bisection in the cases where the initial mesh is relatively coarse and a high ratio of element explosion is needed. However, the octasection-based algorithms are, in general, quite complicated to implement, and the processing time required may result in a poor efficiency. Even for adaptive processes, where it is aimed to produce meshes that optimally control a measure of the error, those methods based on tetrahedral octasection may be prohibitive, because they rarely perform satisfactory in a real time.

Typically, the main goal in the mesh generation is a generation of well-shaped mesh elements and at the same time providing with an optimal distribution of points within the mesh. However, no formal definition of optimality can be tracked as the mesh is refined [14].

Some algorithms based on the LE-bisections were developed to overcome with simplicity and efficiency the problem of mesh refinement and obtaining qualitative tetrahedral meshes. In [25], Rivara and Levin introduced a pure three-dimensional LE-refinement scheme. Carey et al. in [20, 21] also developed a LE-based algorithm for evolution problems. See also [9, 26] for many numerical tests for conforming version of LE-bisections. All mentioned above algorithms guarantee the construction of good-quality tetrahedral meshes. Empirical experimentation was provided showing that the solid angles decrease slowly when the algorithm is iteratively applied and that even a quality improvement behavior holds, similarly to the two-dimensional case. Their algorithms have been successfully used in practice for the finite element method (FEM) and multigrid applications even though no formal proof exists on the nondegeneracy property. It should be noted that there are other similar algorithms for local tetrahedral refinement, like those by Bänsch [3], Kossaczký [11], Maubach [17], or Mukherjee et al. [1]. They are however not purely LE-based algorithms.

Less attention has been given to LE-subdivisions based on the insertion of two equidistant points on the longest edge of tetrahedra, which is also known as the 3-tetrahedra longest edge (3T-LE) or simply the LE-trisection [23] (see Fig. 1 for an illustration).

In this paper we extend to three dimensions the study of the nondegeneracy property of the LE-trisection presented earlier for the two-dimensional case in [23]. We introduce an algorithm for the refinement of tetrahedral meshes based on the LE-trisection. The proposed algorithm can be viewed as an extension to three dimensions of the recently published algorithm in 2D [24]. As for the LE-bisection, the algorithm is based on equally division of the longest edge of the tetrahedron but now in three parts. The methodology used to assert that the proposed refinement scheme does not seem degenerate is similar to that in [9, 22, 25].

Fig. 1 Longest-edge trisection of a tetrahedron



We conduct a number of numerical experiments that allow us to state the conjecture that the nondegeneracy property of the LE-trisection holds in 3D when the iterative refinement is applied to unstructured tetrahedral meshes.

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we present the nondegeneracy study of the LE-trisection algorithm for tetrahedral meshes. An empirical study is carried out together with the evaluation of the mesh quality by means of several shape measures. Section 3 introduces and discusses a new algorithm for the refinement of unstructured tetrahedral meshes based on the LE-trisection. The algorithm is then tested through a local refinement scenario. Finally, in the last section some final remarks are given, and some guidelines are presented in order to motivate further research on the refinements based on the LE-trisections.

2 Nondegeneracy of the LE-Trisection Algorithm

In this section, we present the results of numerical experiments, where we monitor whether the iterative application of the LE-trisection algorithm to tetrahedral meshes generates nondegenerated elements. In each of the tests presented, we iteratively applied the algorithm until getting a reasonably high number (approximately, a million and a half) of sub-tetrahedra in the final meshes.

To judge on the quality of the meshes, various shape measures are proposed in the literature. Normally, a shape measure is a continuous function [8, 15, 19, 25], which has to be invariant under translation, rotation, reflection, and uniform scaling of the tetrahedron and which takes the maximum value for the regular tetrahedron and the minimum ones—for degenerate tetrahedra. In our experiments we will use the following four shape measures:

1. In [16] Liu and Joe introduced the quality indicator for a tetrahedron *t* as $\eta(t) = \frac{12 (3 \text{ volume}(t))^{2/3}}{\sum_{i=1}^{6} l_i^2}$, where l_1, \ldots, l_6 are the lengths of six edges of *t*.

- 2. In [27] Whitehead introduced the *relative thickness* of a tetrahedron t as $\frac{\rho(t)}{\delta(t)}$, where $\rho(t)$ stands for the distance from the centroid of a tetrahedron t to its boundary, and $\delta(t)$ is the diameter of t.
- 3. The ratio $\frac{r(t)}{R(t)}$, where r(t) is the radius of the inscribed sphere and R(t) the radius of the circumscribed sphere around a tetrahedron *t*.
- 4. The solid angle at a vertex of a tetrahedron is related to the sum of the three dihedral angles associated with the edges incident on that vertex. The solid angle is a representative measure for the quality of the tetrahedral meshes.

Let *t* be some given tetrahedron to which the LE-trisection refinement is applied. Then, after trisecting the initial mesh $\tau_1 = \{t = t_1^1\}$, a new mesh $\tau_2 = \{t_i^2\}$ is obtained. The successive application of the LE-trisection scheme to any tetrahedron and its successors yields an infinite sequence of tetrahedral meshes denoted as $\tau_1, \tau_2, \tau_3, \ldots$.

In what follows, we will focus on the Liu–Joe shape measure as in [18, 22]. We give experimental evidence showing the convergence of the standard shape measure η to a fixed positive value. This indicates that the LE-trisection algorithm does not produce degenerating meshes, which can be further used as an argument to mathematically investigate the validity of the nondegeneracy property for such an algorithm. Namely, we show that for any tetrahedron $t_i^n \in \tau_n$, $n \ge 1$, it holds

$$\eta\left(t_{i}^{n}\right)\geq c\eta(t),$$

where *c* is a positive constant. To effectively approximate such a constant *c*, we define $\eta(\tau_j) = \min_i \{\eta(t_i^j)\}$ and compute values

$$c_j = \frac{\eta\left(\tau_j\right)}{\eta\left(\tau_1\right)},$$

where j = 1, ..., 13. In the final meshes we have 1, 594, 323 tetrahedra. The value c_{13} is taken then as an estimation of the constant of interest *c*.

We will study the refinements made for the input tetrahedra that are, in some sense, representative for the overall mesh quality [4, 19]. Several known tetrahedral shapes have been satisfactory used to test various meshing algorithms (see e.g. [16, 18, 22, 25]). We give descriptive names to the five different element types commonly used in this respect. The *round* tetrahedron is that one which has no bad angles of any kind (the main example is the regular tetrahedron). The *needle* (or *thin*) is such a tetrahedron which has one small solid angle. The *wedge-like* element has small but not large dihedrals, but no large solid angle. The *cap-like* tetrahedron has a large (nearly flat) solid angle. For the cap tetrahedron, the circumscribed sphere's radius is hence much larger than the longest edge. Table 1 reports on the exact coordinates of vertices of five tetrahedra used in our tests.

Round	Needle	Wedge	Sliver	Cap
0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 00.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00
1.73 1.00 2.82	1.73 1.00 56.56	0.08 0.50 0.14	1.73 -1.81 0.22	1.73 1.00 0.14
1.73 3.00 0.00	1.73 3.00 00.00	1.73 3.00 0.00	1.73 3.00 0.00	1.73 3.00 0.00
3.46 0.00 0.00	3.46 0.00 00.00	3.46 0.00 0.00	3.46 0.00 0.00	3.46 0.00 0.00

 Table 1
 The xyz coordinates of each tetrahedron used in the numerical experiments



Fig. 2 Dynamics of $c_j = \frac{\eta(\tau_j)}{\eta(\tau_1)}$, j = 1, ..., 13, for five selected tetrahedra

In Fig. 2 we plot the evolution of $c_j = \frac{\eta(\tau_j)}{\eta(\tau_1)}$ for j = 1, ..., 13. In addition, Table 2 reports values c_j for each tetrahedron considered. The results obtained confirm that c_j seems to converge asymptotically to a certain positive value. It is worth noting that the most unfavorable case for the degeneracy constant is attained for the regular tetrahedron, where $c_{13} = 0.0174$. On the other hand, the best case for the degeneracy constant corresponds to the worst initial tetrahedron, of the needle type. This is in complete agreement with many previous works, where regular and needle tetrahedra present the worst and the best cases, respectively, for the mesh quality evolution.

We deduce that the estimated value for the nondegeneracy constant in the LEtrisection algorithm approaches c = 0.0174 which is held for the regular tetrahedron (see the third column in Table 2).

Level	Number of tets	Regular	Needle	Wedge	Sliver	Cap	
1	3	0.6181	0.4818	0.5606	0.7141	0.7206	
2	9	0.3671	0.3291	0.3418	0.4888	0.5194	
3	27	0.2308	0.2727	0.2459	0.3421	0.5598	
4	81	0.1602	0.1727	0.1971	0.3355	0.6404	
5	243	0.1023	0.1782	0.1302	0.3104	0.4132	
6	729	0.0769	0.1582	0.0910	0.2368	0.3207	
7	2187	0.0582	0.1727	0.0705	0.2122	0.2582	
8	6561	0.0494	0.1764	0.0633	0.1729	0.1869	
9	19,683	0.0330	0.1564	0.0470	0.1615	0.1948	
10	59,049	0.0328	0.1727	0.0410	0.1211	0.1422	
11	177,147	0.0240	0.1764	0.0307	0.0966	0.1269	
12	531,441	0.0189	0.1564	0.0283	0.0807	0.1363	
13	1,594,323	0.0174	0.1636	0.0199	0.0573	0.0900	

Table 2 Values of $c_j = \frac{\eta(\tau_j)}{\eta(\tau_1)}$, j = 1, ..., 13, for five selected tetrahedra. Approximated constant $c_{13} = 0.0174$ (regular tetrahedron) is the minimum value reached among each tetrahedron type at refinement level 13

Note that this value of 0.0174 is the minimum from those obtained at refinement level 13 for each tetrahedron considered in the experiment. For that reason, and for the purpose of this work the constant c = 0.0174 is the experimental nondegeneracy constant of the LE trisection method.

To complete the study, Figs. 3, 4, 5, and 6 present the evolution of the four shape measures in average, η , relative thickness, ratio, and solid angle, where the function values have been normalized between 0 and 1. It is interesting to note as the LE-trisection refinement improves in average the overall quality of the mesh for the cases of needle, sliver, cap, and wedge (not showed in the figures) elements. And for the regular tetrahedron, the evolving mesh is not deteriorating through the refinements.

3 A Conforming Refinement Algorithm Based on LE-Trisections

3.1 Description of the Algorithm

The 3D-LE-Refinement algorithm performing the conforming refinement by the LE-trisections can be described in two steps. First, some target elements τ_0 belonging to the input mesh τ are refined by the LE-trisections. This leads to the appearance of three new tetrahedra for each subdivided element from τ_0 . The second step of the algorithm consists in making the conformity (i.e., absence of hanging nodes) of the overall mesh by performing appropriate post-refinement of



Fig. 3 LE-trisection of the round-type tetrahedron



Fig. 4 LE-trisection of the needle-type tetrahedron

some elements in the mesh (3D conformity step). The only neighboring information used in the algorithm is the tetrahedra attached to a given edge. Those neighboring tetrahedra have to be also subdivided in order to assure the conformity of the final mesh.

The algorithm is described as follows:

```
Algorithm 3D-LE-Refinement(\tau, \tau_0)
/* Input: \tau – tetrahedral mesh, \tau_0 – list of tets to be refined
/* Output: new mesh \tau
Perform LE-Trisection of each tet in \tau_0
3D-Conformity(\tau, \tau_0)
End
```

A separate sub-algorithm is devoted to providing the mesh conformity:



Fig. 5 LE-trisection of the sliver-type tetrahedron



Fig. 6 LE-trisection of the cap-type tetrahedron

Algorithm 3D-Conformity(τ , τ_0)

/* Input: τ – tetrahedral mesh, τ_0 – list of tets to be refined

/* Output: new mesh τ

/* Let L be the set of non-conforming edges in τ

L=Longest-Edges of each tet in τ_0

/* The conformity is ensured

While L is not empy do

Let *e* be the non-conforming edge $\in L$ S= find all tetrahedra that share the edge *e*

For each tetrahedron $t \in S$ **do**

Perform **LE-Trisection** of *t*

Let e be the new non-conforming edge in t

End For End While End

In Fig. 7, two steps of the above algorithm are illustrated. A simple input mesh consisting of five tetrahedra is considered (see Fig. 7a: $t_1 = (ABCD)$, $t_2 = (ABDE)$, $t_3 = (AFEB)$, $t_4 = (AFEH)$, and $t_5 = (AFGH)$). The elements chosen to be refined are t_1 and t_3 (see Fig. 7b), where the LE-trisection is already applied to the tetrahedra t_1 and t_3 . At this point, the conformity process is triggered through the 3D conformity algorithm. Hanging nodes are present at edges AB and AF, and so, the algorithm finds all tetrahedra that share those edges (Fig. 7c). As a result, the following tetrahedra have to be subdivided: (ABDE), (ABXE), (AFEH), and(AEGH) (see Fig. 7d).

The proposed algorithm can be viewed as a three-dimensional analogue of the recently proposed algorithm in [24] for triangulations. Some benefits of the 3D-LE-Refinement algorithm are:

- 1. The required processing time is linear in the number of new elements generated. The storage requirement for the algorithm is proportional to the number of tetrahedra targeted for the refinement.
- 2. A simple data structure is employed based on a list of nodes and a list of coordinates. This data structure contributes to a better clarity of the algorithm, thereby facilitating coding. Regarding running efficiency it should be noted that the only neighboring information required is the number of tetrahedra attached to an edge.
- 3. Any predefined or complicated configurations of tetrahedra depending on the number of points in edges are not needed for the refining process. This simplifies both, code and programming. Only the edge length calculations are needed for the subdivision.
- 4. The longest edges are more likely to be split than the shorter ones. This leads to a more uniform distribution of edge lengths of tetrahedra, thus improving the overall aspect ratio of the mesh.

3.2 Numerical Test

Here, we describe the numerical test for studying how the algorithm performs in a local refinement scenario. The input to the **3D-LE-Refinement** algorithm is the initial mesh of a cubic domain, which consists of 12 tetrahedra.

The local refinement is applied to tetrahedra which are interior to the cube. At each refinement level, one selects for the initial refinement those tetrahedra which share the vertex located at the center of the domain. The refinement is repeated until the volume covered by the selected tetrahedra is less than a prescribed value. Figure 8 shows the final mesh.



Fig. 7 (a) The initial mesh with five tets t_1, \ldots, t_5 . (b) The tetrahedra t_1 and t_3 divided by the LE-trisection. (c) Tets sharing the nonconforming sides *AB* and *AF* are computed. (d) The conformity is assured by subdividing the sharing tetrahedra (*ABDE*), (*ABXE*), (*AFEH*), (*AEGH*)

The subject of special interest in refinement methods is the types and the number of different shapes of mesh elements produced. For example, in [25], Rivara and Levin studied the LE-bisection algorithm performing the classification of tetrahedra generated through refinement. This is of help to assess the quality of elements generated in the refinement process. To this end we group all the elements in four classes in relation to the quality measure η : class A consisting of tetrahedra with $\eta \in [0.0, 0.2]$, class B containing tetrahedra with $\eta \in (0.2, 0.4]$, class C having tetrahedra with $\eta \in (0.4, 0.6]$, and the class D being a set of tetrahedra with $\eta \in (0.6, 1.0]$.



Fig. 8 The final mesh in the test of Sect. 3

Table 3 Classification of tetrahedra during 600 refinement steps

Ref. level	Number of tets	Class A (%)	Class B (%)	Class C (%)	Class D (%)
0	12	0,00	0,00	0,00	100,00
10	2316	0,00	35,23	23,32	41,45
200	50,196	0,00	35,79	23,74	40,47
400	100,596	0,00	35,75	23,77	40,47
600	150,996	24,90	26,82	17,89	30,39

For practical reasons, we consider the tetrahedra from the classes C and D as acceptable for numerical computation, while those elements from the classes A and B are perceived as poorly shaped and potentially causing various numerical difficulties in computations.

In Table 3 we report on values for the quality of the meshes obtained during the local refinements in our test. Percentage values for tetrahedra of the classes A, B, C, and D are showed for a sequence of refinement levels 10, 200, 400, and 600. It is interesting to note that the algorithm does not generate bad elements of class A during the first 400 refinement levels. It should be noted that usually in the adaptive mesh refinement, one can get an approximate solution with an acceptable error using rarely more than 10 or 20 refinement steps [7].

Although the refinement on the domain is probably destroying the quality of the mesh due to appearance of some "badly behaving" tetrahedra, it can be noted that at the finest mesh with 150,966 elements, the percentage of good elements (of classes C and D) is still superior to those of a poorer quality (from classes A and B). This result is in a good agreement with the nondegeneracy property studies from Sect. 2.

4 Final Remarks

There is no mathematical result guaranteeing the nondegeneracy property of the LE-trisection of tetrahedra, while this has been recently obtained for triangulations in [23]. As already seen for the LE-bisection of tetrahedra in [25], we demonstrate in this paper that the LE-trisection also possesses the nondegeneracy property. For example, the algorithm principally subdivides longest edges in tetrahedra, causing so to avoid distorted elements as those appearing when subdividing shortest edges. Furthermore, a reasonably element explosion is yielded as an element is subdivided into three tetrahedra. This permits the application to large meshes without degrading the algorithm efficiency.

We also introduced an algorithm which is a 3D analogue of the recently invented algorithm for the LE-trisection of triangles (see [24]). The required processing time is linear in the number of new element generated. The algorithm avoids any predefined or complicated configuration of tetrahedra that might depend on points and edges. This simplifies both, code and programming. In addition, only edge length calculation is needed for subdivision. As in the family of LE-refinement schemes, longest edges are more likely to be split than shorter ones. This leads to a more uniform distribution of edge length of tetrahedra, thereby improving the aspect ratio of the mesh. From the numerical experiments with the 3D algorithm presented here, the meshes obtained generally lead to well-behaved (regular) tetrahedra.

Some open questions arising from the algorithm are:

- (1) To confirm our conjecture by a formal proof of the nondegeneracy of the refining process. It should be noted that at this moment this is still an open problem even for the LE-bisection algorithm in 3D.
- (2) To check the validity of the algorithm in adaptive mesh refinement scenarios, where it is needed to track the features of the simulation as the computation progresses.
- (3) To probably improve the quality of the generated meshes by combining the longest-edge refinement, for example, with the Delaunay strategy or with some other mesh enrichment techniques.

Acknowledgements This work has been partially supported by CYCIT Project MTM2008-05866-C03-02/MTM from Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia of Spain.

References

- Arnold, D.N., Mukherjee, A., Pouly, L.: Locally adapted tetrahedral meshes using bisection. SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 22(2), 431–448 (2001)
- 2. Baker, T.J.: Mesh generation: Art or science?. Prog. Aerosp. Sci. 41(1), 29-63 (2005)
- 3. Bansch, E.: Local mesh refinement in 2 and 3 dimensions. IMPACT Comput. Sci. Eng. **3**(3), 181–191 (1991)
- Bern, M.W., Eppstein, D.: Mesh generation and optimal triangulation. In: Du, D.-Z., Hwang, F.K.-M. (eds.) Computing in Euclidean Geometry. Lecture Notes Series on Computing, vol. 1, pp. 23–90. World Scientific, Singapore (1992)
- 5. Brandts, J., Korotov, S., Křížek, M.: On the equivalence of regularity criteria for triangular and tetrahedral finite element partitions. Comput. Math. Appl. **55**, 2227–2233 (2008)
- Brandts, J., Korotov, S., Křížek, M.: On the equivalence of ball conditions for simplicial finite elements in R^d. Appl. Math. Lett. 22, 1210–1212 (2009)
- 7. Carey, G.F.: Computational Grids: Generation, Refinement and Solution Strategies. Taylor and Francis, Washington (1997)
- Dompierre, J., Vallet, M.-G., Labbé, P., Guibault, F.: An analysis of simplex shape measures for anisotropic meshes. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng. 194(48–49), 4895–4914 (2005)
- Hannukainen, A., Korotov, S., Křížek, M.: On numerical regularity of the face-to-face longestedge bisection algorithm for tetrahedral partitions. Sci. Comput. Program. 90, 34–41 (2014)
- Korotov, S., Křížek, M.: Red refinements of simplices into congruent subsimplices, Comput. Math. Appl. 67, 2199–2204 (2014)
- Kossaczký, I.: A recursive approach to local mesh refinement in two and three dimensions. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 55(3), 275–288 (1994)
- Křížek, M., Strouboulis, T.: How to generate local refinements of unstructured tetrahedral meshes satisfying a regularity ball condition. Numer. Methods Partial Differ. Equ. 13, 201– 214 (1997)
- Korotov, S., Plaza, Á., Suárez, J.P.: Longest-edge n-section algorithms: properties and open problems. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 293, 139–146 (2016)
- Labbé, P., Dompierre, J., Vallet, M.-G., Guibault, F.: Verification of three-dimensional anisotropic adaptive processes. Int. J. Numer. Methods Eng. 88(4), 350–369 (2011)
- 15. Liu, A., Joe, B.: Relationship between tetrahedron shape measures. BIT 34(2), 268-287 (1994)
- Liu, A., Joe, B.: Quality local refinement of tetrahedral meshes based on bisection. SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 16(6), 1269–1291 (1995)
- 17. Maubach, J.M.: Local bisection refinement for n-simplicial grids generated by reflection. SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 16(1), 210–227 (1995)
- Padrón, M., Suárez, J., Plaza, A.: A comparative study between some bisection based partitions in 3D. Appl. Numer. Math. 55(3), 357–367 (2005)
- Parthasarathy, V.N., Graichen, C.M., Hathaway, A.F.: A comparison of tetrahedron quality measures. Finite Elem. Anal. Des. 15(3), 255–261 (1994)
- Plaza, A., Carey, G.F.: Local refinement of simplicial grids based on the skeleton. Appl. Numer. Math. 32(2), 195–218 (2000)
- Plaza, A., Padrón, M.A., Carey, G.F.: A 3D refinement/derefinement algorithm for solving evolution problems. Appl. Numer. Math. 32(4), 401–418 (2000)
- Plaza, A., Padrón, M.A., Suárez, J.P.: Non-degeneracy study of the 8-tetrahedra longest-edge partition. Appl. Numer. Math. 55(4), 458–472 (2005)
- Plaza, A., Falcón, S., Suárez, J.P.: On the non-degeneracy property of the longest-edge trisection of triangles. Appl. Math. Comput. 216, 862–869 (2010)

- Plaza, A., Falcón, S., Suárez, J.P., Abad, P.: A local refinement algorithm for the longest-edge trisection of triangle meshes. Math. Comput. Simul. 82(12), 2971–2981 (2012)
- Rivara, M.-C., Levin, C.: A 3-D refinement algorithm suitable for adaptive and multi-grid techniques. Commun. Appl. Numer. Methods 8(5), 281–290 (1992)
- Suárez, J.P., Abad, P., Plaza, A., Padrón, M.A.: Computational aspects of the refinement of 3D tetrahedral meshes. J. Comput. Methods Sci. Eng. 5, 1–10 (2005)
- 27. Whitehead, J.H.C.: On C¹-complexes. Ann. Math. **41**(4), 809–824 (1940)
- Zhang, S.: Successive subdivisions of tetrahedra and multigrid methods on tetrahedral meshes. Houst. J. Math. 21, 541–556 (1995)

A Nonclassical and Nonautonomous Diffusion Equation Containing Infinite Delays

Tomás Caraballo, Antonio M. Márquez-Durán, and Felipe Rivero

Dedicated to George R. Sell, in Memoriam

Abstract We first study the well-posedness of a nonclassical and nonautonomous diffusion equation containing unbounded delays. Then, we prove the existence and uniqueness of local solutions, and finally we prove the global in time existence of solutions as well as the continuous dependence on the initial values.

Keywords Delay equation • Pullback attractor • Nonautonomous problem • Evolution process • Nonclassical diffusion equation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 35R15, 35B41, 37B55, 47J35

1 Introduction

In this paper we are interested in the following nonclassical diffusion equation with infinite delays, where the latter are written in an abstract functional formulation which allows us to consider several kinds of memory terms in a unified way:

A.M. Márquez-Durán

F. Rivero

T. Caraballo (\boxtimes)

Dpto. Ecuaciones Diferenciales y Análisis Numérico, Universidad de Sevilla, c/Tarfia s/n, 41012 Sevilla, Spain e-mail: caraball@us.es

Departamento de Economía, Métodos Cuantitativos e Historia Económica, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Ctra. de Utrera, Km. 1, 41013 Sevilla, Spain e-mail: ammardur@upo.es

Departamento de Análise, Instituto de Matemática e Estatística, Universidade Federal Fluminense, Rua Mário Santos Braga s/n, Centro, CEP 24.020-140, Niterói, RJ, Brazil e-mail: lfeliperiverog@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_36

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \gamma(t)\Delta\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \Delta u = g(u) + f(t, u_t) \text{ in } (\tau, +\infty) \times \Omega, \\ u = 0 \text{ on } (\tau, +\infty) \times \partial \Omega \\ u(t, x) = \phi(t - \tau, x), t \in (-\infty, \tau], x \in \Omega \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ is the initial time, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a smooth bounded domain, $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to (0, +\infty)$ is a continuous bounded function with $0 < \gamma_0 \le \gamma(t) \le \gamma_1 < \infty$, and the nonlinearity *g* is a function satisfying the following growth conditions:

$$g \in C^{1}(\mathbb{R}), \qquad \limsup_{|a| \to +\infty} \frac{g(a)}{a} \le 0$$
 (2)

$$|g(a) - g(b)| \le c|a - b|(1 + |a|^{\rho - 1} + |b|^{\rho - 1}),$$
(3)

with $1 < \rho < \frac{n+2}{n-2}$. The time-dependent delay term $f(t, u_t)$ represents, for instance, the influence of an external force with some kind of delay, memory, or hereditary characteristics, although it can also model some kind of feedback control. Here, u_t denotes the past of the solution up to time t, which is also called a segment of the solution; in other words, given a function $u : (-\infty, +\infty) \times \Omega \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$, for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we can define the mapping $u_t : (-\infty, 0] \times \Omega \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ by

$$u_t(\theta, x) = u(t + \theta, x), \text{ for } \theta \in (-\infty, 0], x \in \Omega.$$

As we have already mentioned, this abstract formulation allows to consider several types of delay terms in a unified formulation. For instance, terms like

$$F_1(u(t-\sigma(t))), \ \int_{-\infty}^0 F_2(t,\theta,u(t+\theta)) \,d\theta, \tag{4}$$

where F_i (i = 1, 2) are suitable functions, and $\sigma : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty)$, can be described by the following corresponding f_i defined as

$$f_1(t,\phi) = F_1(\phi(-\sigma(t))), \ f_2(t,\phi) = \int_{-\infty}^0 F_2(t,\theta,\phi(\theta)) \, d\theta,$$
(5)

where $\phi : (-\infty, 0] \to X$ (X denotes certain Banach or Hilbert space concerning the spatial variable). Then, when we replace ϕ by u_t in (5), we obtain (4).

Nonclassical parabolic equations are used to model physical phenomena such as non-Newtonian flow, soil mechanics, heat conduction, etc. (see [1–3, 11–13, 15, 17, 18] and references therein). The asymptotic behavior of the model without the delay term and with constant coefficients is studied in [19], where the well-posedness of the problem and the existence of the global attractor in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and in $H^2(\Omega)$, depending on the regularity of the initial data, are shown. However, there are many real situations in which the model can be better described if some terms containing delays appear in the equations.

The introduction of a time dependence in coefficient $\gamma(t)$ represents the variability of viscosity in time due, for example, to external environment temperatures. This time dependence provides the system with a nonautonomous nature.

In [16], Rivero studied the existence of the pullback attractor and its continuity under nonautonomous perturbations without delay, showing the existence of a concrete structure under some assumptions on the nonlinearity. In [4], the authors analyzed the case with bounded delay for the first time, establishing the wellposedness of the problem when $\gamma(t) \equiv \gamma$ is constant. Also, it was proved in [4] the stability of the stationary solutions under some appropriate hypotheses on the delay term. In [10], Hu and Wang studied this equation with a specific variable delay term with bounded derivative, showing the existence of the pullback attractor in H_0^1 and H^2 without nonlinearity nor variable coefficients, and recently, it has been analyzed in [5] a version of our model in which the delay is bounded or finite. Our aim in this paper is to carry out a program in which the delays do not need to be bounded; in order words, the whole history of the problem has influence in the future behavior of the system. This requires of nontrivial different technicalities in our analysis arising mainly from the weighted Banach space which is necessary to consider in order to set up an appropriate framework for the problem.

The content of this paper is the following: in Sect. 2 we introduce a phase space which will be useful for the abstract framework and prove the existence and uniqueness of local solution for (1). Section 3 is devoted to the study of the global existence of solutions and the continuous dependence of solutions with respect to the initial values. The existence of stationary solutions of our problem, the asymptotic behavior of such stationary solutions, and the existence of attracting sets are being investigated in a subsequent paper in preparation right now.

2 Existence of Solution

We consider the following usual spaces $H = L^2(\Omega)$ with inner product (\cdot, \cdot) and associate norm $|\cdot|$ and $V = H_0^1(\Omega)$ with scalar product $((\cdot, \cdot)) = (A^{1/2}u, A^{1/2}v)$, for $u, v \in V$, and associate norm $||\cdot||$, where $Au = -\Delta u$ for any $u \in D(A)$ with $D(A) = \{u \in V : Au \in H\} = H_0^1(\Omega) \cap H^2(\Omega)$.

One possibility to deal with infinite delays, and which we will use here, is to consider, for any $\delta > 0$, the following space, as has been considered previously in the literature (see, e.g., [8, 9, 14]):

$$C_{\delta}(V) = \left\{ \varphi \in C((-\infty, 0]; H_0^1(\Omega)) : \exists \lim_{s \to -\infty} e^{\delta s} \varphi(s) \in H_0^1(\Omega) \right\},\$$

which is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|\varphi\|_{\delta} := \sup_{s \in (-\infty,0]} e^{\delta s} \|\varphi(s)\|.$$

In order to state the problem in the correct framework, let us first establish some initial assumptions on some terms of the equation.

For the delay term, we assume that $f : \mathbb{R} \times C_{\delta}(V) \to V$ satisfies:

- (f1) is continuous in t,
- (f2) is locally Lipschitz in $C_{\delta}(V)$ uniformly in time, that is, there exists a nondecreasing function $L_f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, such that for all R > 0 if $\|\xi\|_{\delta}, \|\eta\|_{\delta} \le R$, then

$$||f(t,\xi) - f(t,\eta)|| \le L_f(R) ||\xi - \eta||_{\delta},$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and

(f3) there exist a constant $C_f > 0$ and a nonnegative function $\psi \in L^1(\tau, T)$, for all $T > \tau$, such that, for any $\xi \in C_{\delta}(V)$,

$$||f(t,\xi)||^2 \le C_f ||\xi||_{\delta}^2 + \psi(t)$$
, for all $t > \tau$.

Finally, we suppose that $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$.

Proceeding as in [16], we can define operators $B(t) = (I + \gamma(t)A)^{-1}$ and $\tilde{A}(t) = AB(t)$, where $A = -\Delta$ with Dirichlet boundary conditions and the functions $\tilde{g}(t, u) = B(t)g(u)$ and $\tilde{f}(t, \phi) = B(t)f(t, \phi)$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and all $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$.

Then, we can write problem (1) as

$$\frac{du}{dt} = h(t, u_t),\tag{6}$$

with $h : \mathbb{R} \times C_{\delta}(V) \to V$ defined as $h(t, \phi) = \tilde{A}(t)\phi(0) + \tilde{g}(t, \phi(0)) + \tilde{f}(t, \phi)$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$.

The domain of the operator A(t) does not depend on time. In fact, if we define our problem in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, then $D(\tilde{A}(t)) = H_0^1(\Omega)$. This operator is uniformly bounded in time and

$$\tilde{A}(t) = \frac{1}{\gamma(t)} \left[I - (1 + \gamma(t)A)^{-1} \right],$$
(7)

for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Also, for any $\alpha > 0$ and $x \in D(A^{\alpha})$, $A^{\alpha}\tilde{A}(t)x = \tilde{A}(t)A^{\alpha}x$.

Thanks to the continuity of the function $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto B(t) \in \mathscr{L}(H_0^1(\Omega))$, we obtain the following estimate (see [16]):

$$\|\tilde{A}(t) - \tilde{A}(s)\|_{\mathscr{L}(H^1_0(\Omega))} \le C|\gamma(t) - \gamma(s)|,$$

for a constant $C \in \mathbb{R}$.

We can now state and prove the existence of solution to our problem.

Theorem 1. For each $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$ and under assumptions (2), (3), and (f1)–(f2), there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that there is a unique solution of problem (1) defined in the interval $(-\infty, \tau + \epsilon)$. In other words, there exists a function $u \in C((-\infty, \tau + \epsilon); H_0^1(\Omega))$ with $u(t, \tau; \phi) = \phi(t - \tau)$ for all $t \in (-\infty, \tau]$ which satisfies

$$u(t,\tau;\phi) = \phi(0) + \int_{\tau}^{t} h(r,u_r) dr,$$

for all $t \in [\tau, \tau + \epsilon)$.

Proof. The proof is based on the contraction mapping theorem. To this end, for the given initial datum $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$, and for a positive *T* to be determined later on, we define the following space

$$X_{\phi}^{T} = \left\{ u \in C\left((-\infty, T); H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)\right) : u(t) = \phi(t - \tau) \text{ for all } t \in (-\infty, \tau], \\ \text{and } \|u\|_{X_{\phi}^{T}} \leq 2\|\phi\|_{\delta} \right\},$$

$$(8)$$

where $||u||_{X_{\phi}^T} = \sup_{\sigma \in (-\infty,T)} ||u(\sigma)||.$

This space X_{ϕ}^{T} is a complete metric space (since it is a closed subset of a Banach space).

Now we consider the operator $\Phi : X_{\phi}^T \to X_{\phi}^T$ given by

$$\Phi(u)(t) = \begin{cases} \phi(t-\tau), & t \in (-\infty, \tau] \\ \\ \phi(0) + \int_{\tau}^{t} h(r, u_r) dr, & t \in (\tau, T). \end{cases}$$

Let us first check that Φ is well defined, i.e., $\Phi(u) \in X_{\phi}^{T}$ for all $u \in X_{\phi}^{T}$.

Given $u \in X_{\phi}^{T}$, the mapping $\Phi(u)(\cdot) : (-\infty, T) \to H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)$ is continuous thanks to the continuity of ϕ and the mapping $t \in (\tau, T) \to h(t, u_t)$. Moreover, for all $t \ge \tau$ we have that

$$\|\Phi(u)(t)\| = \left\|\phi(0) + \int_{\tau}^{t} h(r, u_{r})dr\right\|$$

$$\leq \|\phi(0)\| + \int_{s}^{t} \|h(r, u_{r})\|dr$$

$$\leq \|\phi(0)\| + \int_{s}^{t} \|\tilde{A}(r)\|_{\mathscr{L}(H_{0}^{1})} \|u(r)\|dr$$

$$+ \int_{s}^{t} \|B(r)g(u(r))\|dr + \int_{s}^{t} \|B(r)f(r, u_{r})\|dr.$$
(9)

But, $\|\tilde{A}(r)\|_{\mathscr{L}(H_0^1)} \leq a$, for all $r \geq s$, and proceeding as in [16], we can prove that $B(t) \circ g$ is locally Lipschitz in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ uniformly in *t*. Indeed, by (3),

$$\begin{aligned} \|g(u) - g(v)\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}} &\leq c \left[\int_{\Omega} \left[|u - v|(1 + |u|^{\rho-1} + |v|^{\rho-1})) \right]^{\frac{2n}{n+2}} \right]^{\frac{n+2}{2n}} \\ &\leq \tilde{c} \|u - v\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n-2}}} \left(1 + \|u\|_{L^{\frac{n(\rho-1)}{2}}}^{\rho-1} + \|v\|_{L^{\frac{n(\rho-1)}{2}}}^{\rho-1}) \right). \end{aligned}$$
(10)

Since

$$\frac{2n(\rho-1)}{4} \le \frac{2n}{n-2}$$

we have that

$$H_0^1(\Omega) \subset L^{\frac{n(\rho-1)}{2}}.$$

Due to the following composition of operators,

$$H^1_0(\Omega) \xrightarrow{g} H^{-1}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{B(t)} H^1_0(\Omega),$$

function $B(t) \circ g$ is locally Lipschitz in $H_0^1(\Omega)$.

Therefore, for $R = 2 \|\phi\|_{\delta}$ there exists $L_g(R)$ such that

$$||B(r)g(u(r))|| \le ||B(r)(g(u(r)) - g(0)) + B(r)g(0)|| \le L_g(R)||u(r)|| + b_0|g(0)|,$$
(11)

where $b_0 > 0$ is a constant such that $||B(t)||_{\mathscr{L}(H_0^1)} \leq b_0$, for all *t*.

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_r\|_{\delta} &= \sup_{s \in (-\infty,0]} e^{\delta s} \|u_r(s)\| \le \sup_{s \in (-\infty,0]} \|u(r+s)\| \le \sup_{\sigma \in (-\infty,T)} \|u(\sigma)\| \\ &= \|u\|_{X_{\phi}^T} \le 2\|\phi\|_{\delta}, \end{aligned}$$
(12)

for all $\tau \leq r \leq t < T$.

And as f is locally Lipschitz,

$$||B(r)f(r, u_r)|| \le ||B(r)(f(r, u_r) - f(r, 0)) + B(r)f(r, 0)||$$

$$\le b_0 L_f(R) ||u_r||_{\delta} + b_0 ||f(r, 0)||.$$
(13)

Then, for all $t \ge \tau$ we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(u)(t)\| &\leq \|\phi(0)\| + a \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u(r)\| dr \\ &+ L_{g}(R) \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u(r)\| dr + b_{0}|g(0)|(t-\tau) \\ &+ b_{0}L_{f}(R) \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u_{r}\|_{\delta} dr + b_{0} \int_{\tau}^{t} \|f(r,0)\| dr. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\|\Phi(u)(t)\| \le \|\phi(0)\| + (a + L_g(R) + b_0 L_f(R)) \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u_r\|_{\delta} dr$$
$$+ b_0 |g(0)|(t - \tau) + b_0 \int_{\tau}^{t} \|f(r, 0)\| dr.$$

Then, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(u)(t)\| &\leq \|\phi\|_{\delta} + R(t-\tau) \left(a + L_g(R) + b_0 L_f(R) \right) \\ &+ b_0 |g(0)|(t-\tau) + b_0 \int_{\tau}^t \|f(r,0)\| dr, \quad \forall t \in (\tau,T). \end{aligned}$$

If we write $T = \tau + \epsilon$, we then have

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(u)(t)\| &\leq \|\phi\|_{\delta} + R \,\epsilon \left(a + L_g(R) + b_0 L_f(R)\right) \\ &+ b_0 |g(0)|\epsilon + b_0 \int_{\tau}^{\tau+\epsilon} \|f(r,0)\| dr, \quad \forall t \in (\tau,\tau+\epsilon), \end{split}$$

and considering $\epsilon > 0$ small enough, we can ensure that

$$\|\Phi(u)(t)\| \le 2\|\phi\|_{\delta}, \quad \forall t \in (\tau, \tau + \epsilon).$$

We also have the same conclusion for $t \in (-\infty, \tau]$, in fact $\|\Phi(u)(t)\| \le \|\phi\|_{\delta}$, for all $t \in (-\infty, \tau]$, and therefore, we can conclude that the operator Φ is well defined.

Now, by using the contraction mapping theorem, we prove the existence of a fixed point for $\Phi(\cdot)$, which will be the solution of our problem. To this end, we need to prove that Φ is a contracting mapping. Let us take $u, v \in X_{\phi}^{T}$. We have

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(u)(t) - \Phi(v)(t)\| &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \|h(r, u_{r}) - h(r, v_{r})\| dr \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \|\tilde{A}(r)\|_{\mathscr{L}(H_{0}^{1})} \|u(r) - v(r)\| dr \\ &+ \int_{s}^{t} \|B(r) \left(g(u(r)) - g(v(r)) + f(r, u_{r}) - f(r, v_{r})\right)\| dr. \end{split}$$

Using the uniform bound in time for $\tilde{A}(t)$ and B(t), the fact that $B(t) \circ g$ is locally Lipschitz in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, and (f2), taking into account that $||u(t)||, ||v(t)|| \leq R$ for all $t \in [s, T)$ and (12), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(u)(t) - \Phi(v)(t)\| &\leq K_1 \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u(r) - v(r)\| dr + K_2 \int_{\tau}^{t} \|f(r, u_r) - f(r, v_r)\| dr \\ &\leq K_1 \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u(r) - v(r)\| dr \\ &+ K(R) \int_{\tau}^{t} \sup_{\theta \in (-\infty, 0]} \|u(r+\theta) - v(r+\theta)\| dr. \end{split}$$

Taking supremum in $[\tau, T)$ with $T = \tau + \epsilon$

$$\|\Phi(u)-\Phi(v)\|_{X_{\phi}^{T}} \leq K_{1}\epsilon \|u-v\|_{X_{\phi}^{T}} + K(R)\epsilon \left(\sup_{r\in[\tau,T)}\sup_{\theta\in(-\infty,0]}\|u(r+\theta)-v(r+\theta)\|\right),$$

but, if $u, v \in X_{\phi}^{T}$,

$$\sup_{r \in [\tau,T)} \sup_{\theta \in (-\infty,0]} \|u(r+\theta) - v(r+\theta)\| = \sup_{r \in (-\infty,T)} \|u(r) - v(r)\| = \|u - v\|_{X_{\phi}^{T}}.$$

Therefore, for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough, Φ is well defined and is a contraction in X_{ϕ} . The proof is therefore complete.

3 Global Solution and Absorbing Sets

In this section we will prove that the local solution, whose existence has been proved in Theorem 1, is in fact a global one, i.e., it is defined in the whole future and not only in a small time interval. However, we will deduce this result after obtaining some a priori estimates which will be also useful in our future investigation of global asymptotic behavior to deduce the existence of absorbing sets for the evolution process generated by our model.

For any $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, taking into account (2) and arguing as in [7], for each $\rho > 0$, there is a constant $K_\rho > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} g(u)u \le \rho |u|^2 + K_{\rho},$$

$$\int_{\Omega} G(u) \le \rho |u|^2 + K_{\rho}$$
(14)

for all $u \in L^2(\Omega)$, where $G(r) = \int_0^r g(\theta) d\theta$.

Let $L_b(\varphi)$ be the following energy functional

$$L_b(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(|\varphi|^2 + b \|\varphi\|^2 \right) - b \int_{\Omega} G(\varphi), \tag{15}$$

with $b \ge 0$. It is easy to prove that for $\rho = \frac{\lambda_1}{6}$,

$$L_b(\varphi) \ge \frac{b}{3} \|\varphi\|^2 - bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}}$$
 (16)

and for any $\rho > 0$,

$$L_b(\varphi) \le \frac{1 + b(\lambda_1 + 2\rho)}{2\lambda_1} \|\varphi\|^2 + bK_\rho, \tag{17}$$

with λ_1 the first eigenvalue of *A*.

Taking a solution $u(t, \tau; \phi)$ of (1) and for b > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}L_b(u) &= (u, \frac{du}{dt}) + b((u, \frac{du}{dt})) - b \int_{\Omega} g(u) \frac{du}{dt} \\ &= -\gamma(t)((u, \frac{du}{dt})) - \|u\|^2 + (u, g(u)) + (u, f(t, u_t)) \\ &+ b \left[-|\frac{du}{dt}|^2 - \gamma(t)\| \frac{du}{dt}\|^2 + (g(u), \frac{du}{dt}) + (f(t, u_t), \frac{du}{dt}) \right] \\ &- b(g(u), \frac{du}{dt}) \\ &\leq - \left(1 - \frac{\gamma_1 \varepsilon_1}{2} - \frac{2\rho + \varepsilon_2}{2\lambda_1} \right) \|u\|^2 + \frac{\varepsilon_2 + 1}{2\varepsilon_2} |f(t, u_t)|^2 \\ &+ \gamma(t) \left(\frac{1}{2\varepsilon_1} - b \right) \| \frac{du}{dt} \|^2 + K_\delta, \end{aligned}$$

for $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \rho > 0$. Taking $\varepsilon_1 = \frac{1}{4\gamma_1}, \varepsilon_2 = \frac{\lambda_1}{4}, \rho = \frac{\lambda_1}{8}$ and $b \ge \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_1} = 2\gamma_1$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}L_b(u) &\leq -\frac{1}{2}\|u\|^2 + \left(\frac{\lambda_1 + 4}{2\lambda_1}\right)|f(t, u_t)|^2 + K_{\frac{\lambda_1}{8}} \\ &\leq -\left(\frac{\lambda_1}{1 + b(\lambda_1 + 2\tilde{\rho})}\right)L_b(u) + \left(\frac{\lambda_1 + 4}{2\lambda_1}\right)|f(t, u_t)|^2 \\ &+ \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{1 + b(\lambda_1 + 2\tilde{\rho})}\right)K_{\tilde{\rho}} + K_{\frac{\lambda_1}{8}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\tilde{\rho}$ is a fixed positive constant.

T. Caraballo et al.

Denoting $C_b = \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{1+b(\lambda_1+2\tilde{\rho})}\right)$, $C_{\lambda_1} = \left(\frac{\lambda_1+4}{2\lambda_1}\right)$ and $\tilde{K}_b = C_b K_{\tilde{\rho}} + K_{\frac{\lambda_1}{8}}$, we have that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(e^{C_b t}L_b(u)\right) = C_b e^{C_b t}L_b(u) + e^{C_b t}\frac{d}{dt}L_b(u)$$
$$\leq e^{C_b t}(C_{\lambda_1}|f(t,u_t)|^2 + \tilde{K}_b).$$

Integrating between τ and t, $t \ge \tau$, and using hypothesis (f3),

$$\begin{split} e^{C_b t} L_b(u(t)) &\leq e^{C_b \tau} L_b(\phi(0)) + C_{\lambda_1} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} |f(r, u_r)|^2 dr + \frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} \left(e^{C_b t} - e^{C_b \tau} \right) \\ &\leq e^{C_b \tau} L_b(\phi(0)) + \frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} \left(e^{C_b t} - e^{C_b \tau} \right) \\ &+ \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \left(\int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \|f(r, u_r)\|^2 dr \right) \\ &\leq e^{C_b \tau} L_b(\phi(0)) + \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} C_f \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \|u_r\|_{\delta}^2 dr + \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr \\ &+ \frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} \left(e^{C_b t} - e^{C_b \tau} \right). \end{split}$$

Taking into account (16) and (17), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{b}{3}e^{C_b t} \|u(t)\|^2 &\leq e^{C_b \tau} (\tilde{C}_b \|\phi(0)\|^2 + bK_{\rho_2}) + \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} C_f \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \|u_r\|_{\delta}^2 dr \\ &+ \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr + e^{C_b t} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where $\rho_2 > 0$ is chosen and

$$\tilde{C}_b = \frac{1 + b(\lambda_1 + 2\rho_2)}{2\lambda_1}.$$

Consequently, if $t \ge \tau$, we have

$$e^{C_{bt}} \|u(t)\|_{\delta}^{2} \leq \max \left\{ \sup_{\theta \in (-\infty, \tau-t]} e^{C_{bt}} e^{2\delta\theta} \|\phi(t+\theta-\tau)\|^{2}, \\ \sup_{\theta \in [\tau-t,0]} \frac{3}{b} e^{C_{b}\tau} e^{(2\delta-C_{b})\theta} (\tilde{C}_{b} \|\phi(0)\|^{2} + bK_{\rho_{2}}) \right\}$$

394

$$+ \frac{3}{b} \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} C_f e^{(2\delta - C_b)\theta} \int_{\tau}^{t+\theta} e^{C_b r} ||u_r||_{\delta}^2 dr$$

$$+ \frac{3}{b} \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} e^{(2\delta - C_b)\theta} \int_{\tau}^{t+\theta} e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr$$

$$+ \frac{3}{b} e^{(2\delta - C_b)\theta} e^{C_b t} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + 2K_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}} \right) \bigg\} ,$$

but, on the one hand,

$$\sup_{\theta \in (-\infty, \tau - t]} e^{\delta \theta} \| \phi(t + \theta - \tau) \| = \sup_{\theta \in (-\infty, 0]} e^{\delta(\theta - (t - \tau))} \| \phi(\theta) \|$$
$$= e^{-\delta(t - \tau)} \| \phi \|_{\delta}$$
$$\leq \| \phi \|_{\delta},$$

and, $\|\phi(0)\| \le \|\phi\|_{\delta}$.

On the other hand, taking $2\delta > C_b$, we have

$$\sup_{\theta \in [\tau-t,0]} \left(e^{(2\delta-C_b)\theta} \int_{\tau}^{t+\theta} e^{C_b r} \|u_r\|_{\delta}^2 dr + e^{(2\delta-C_b)\theta} \int_{\tau}^{t+\theta} e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr \right)$$
$$\leq \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \|u_r\|_{\delta}^2 dr + \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{b}{3}e^{C_b t} \|u_t\|_{\delta}^2 &\leq e^{C_b \tau} \left(\tilde{C}_b \|\phi\|_{\delta}^2 + bK_{\rho_2}\right) + \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \int_{\tau}^t e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr \\ &+ e^{C_b t} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}}\right) + \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} C_f \int_{\tau}^t e^{C_b r} \|u_r\|_{\delta}^2 dr. \end{aligned}$$

Assuming that

$$\frac{3}{b}\lambda_1^{-1}C_{\lambda_1}C_f < C_b \tag{18}$$

and calling $\beta = \frac{3}{b} \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} C_f$ (it means $\beta < C_b$) and

$$\alpha(t) = \frac{3}{b} e^{C_b \tau} \left(\tilde{C}_b \|\phi\|_{\delta}^2 + bK_{\rho_2} \right) + \frac{3}{b} \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \int_{\tau}^t e^{C_b \tau} \psi(r) dr + \frac{3}{b} e^{C_b t} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}} \right),$$

by the Gronwall lemma, we obtain that

$$e^{C_b t} \|u_t\|_{\delta}^2 \leq \alpha(t) + \beta \int_{\tau}^t \alpha(r) e^{\beta(t-r)} dr.$$

Now,

$$\begin{split} \beta \int_{\tau}^{t} \alpha(r) e^{\beta(t-r)} dr &\leq \frac{3}{b} e^{C_{b\tau}} e^{\beta(t-\tau)} \left(\tilde{C}_{b} \|\phi\|_{\delta}^{2} + bK_{\rho_{2}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{3}{b} \frac{\beta}{C_{b} - \beta} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_{b}}{C_{b}} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_{1}}{6}} \right) e^{C_{b}t} \\ &+ \frac{3}{b} \beta \lambda_{1}^{-1} C_{\lambda_{1}} e^{\beta t} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{(C_{b} - \beta)r} \psi(r) dr. \end{split}$$

Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_t\|_{\delta}^2 &\leq e^{-C_b t} \alpha(t) + \frac{3}{b} e^{(C_b - \beta)(\tau - t)} \left(\tilde{C}_b \|\phi\|_{\delta}^2 + bK_{\rho_2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{3}{b} \frac{\beta}{C_b - \beta} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{3}{b} \beta \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} e^{-(C_b - \beta)t} \int_{\tau}^t e^{(C_b - \beta)r} \psi(r) dr. \end{aligned}$$

Assuming that there exists a $\eta_0 \ge 0$ such that for any $\eta \in [0, \eta_0]$,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{t} e^{\eta r} \psi(r) dr < +\infty, \tag{19}$$

we have

$$\|u_t\|_{\delta}^2 \xrightarrow{\tau \to -\infty} l(t), \tag{20}$$

where

$$l(t) = \frac{3}{b} \left(\frac{\tilde{K}_b}{C_b} + bK_{\frac{\lambda_1}{6}} \right) \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{C_b - \beta} \right) + \frac{3}{b} \lambda_1^{-1} C_{\lambda_1} \left(\int_{-\infty}^t e^{C_b r} \psi(r) dr + \beta e^{-(C_b - \beta)t} \int_{-\infty}^t e^{(C_b - \beta)r} \psi(r) dr \right).$$

Then, we have the global existence of any solution $u(t, \tau; \phi)$ of (1), i.e., for each $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V), u(\cdot, \tau; \phi) \in C((-\infty, +\infty), H_0^1(\Omega))$ in Theorem 1.

Remark 1. We would like to emphasize that once we justify that the solutions of our problem generates a nonautonomous dynamical system, this also ensures the existence of a family of closed subsets $\{\overline{B}_{C_{\delta}(V)}(0, l^{1/2}(t)) : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ in which pullback attracts bounded subsets of $C_{\delta}(V)$. This will be investigated in the forthcoming paper [6].

Now we prove a result on the continuous dependence on the initial data which will be very useful for our future investigations on this field, in particular, when we analyze the existence of pullback attractors for the evolution process generated by our model.

Proposition 1. Under the assumptions of Theorem 1, any solution $u(t, \tau; \phi)$ of (1) is continuous with respect to the initial condition $\phi \in C_{\delta}(V)$. More precisely, if u^{i} , for i = 1, 2, are the corresponding solutions to the initial data $\phi^i \in C_{\delta}(V)$, i = 1, 2, the following estimate holds:

$$\max_{r \in [\tau, t]} \|u^{1}(r) - u^{2}(r)\|$$

$$\leq (\|\phi^{1}(0) - \phi^{2}(0)\| + \frac{a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R)}{s} \|\phi^{1} - \phi^{2}\|_{\delta})e^{(a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R))(t - \tau)},$$
(21)

δ

for all $t \in [\tau, T)$, where R > 0 is given by

$$R = \max(2\|\phi^1\|_{\delta}, 2\|\phi^2\|_{\delta}).$$

Proof. Let u^i , for i = 1, 2, be the corresponding solutions to the initial data $\phi^i \in$ $C_{\delta}(V), i = 1, 2$, in the interval $(-\infty, T)$, for a fixed $T > \tau$. Then we have that

$$u^{1}(t) - u^{2}(t) = \phi^{1}(0) - \phi^{2}(0) + \int_{\tau}^{t} (h(r, u_{r}^{1}) - h(r, u_{r}^{2})) dr, \quad t \in (\tau, T).$$

Now, taking into account (f2), (8), (12), that $\|\tilde{A}(r)\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^1)} \leq a$, and function $B(t) \circ g$ is locally Lipschitz in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, for $R = \max(2\|\phi^1\|_{\delta}, 2\|\phi^2\|_{\delta})$, it is not difficult to deduce that

$$\|u^{1}(t) - u^{2}(t)\| \leq \|\phi^{1}(0) - \phi^{2}(0)\|$$

$$+ (a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R)) \int_{\tau}^{t} \|u_{r}^{1} - u_{r}^{2}\|_{\delta} dr, \quad t \in (\tau, T).$$

$$(22)$$

As for $r \in [\tau, t]$ one has

$$\begin{split} \|u_r^1 - u_r^2\|_{\delta} &= \sup_{\theta \le 0} e^{\gamma \theta} \|u^1(r+\theta) - u^2(r+\theta)\| \\ &= \max \left\{ \sup_{\theta \in (-\infty, \tau-r]} e^{\delta \theta} \|\phi^1(r+\theta-\tau) - \phi^2(r+\theta-\tau)\|, \\ &\sup_{\theta \in [\tau-r,0]} e^{\delta \theta} \|u^1(r+\theta) - u^2(r+\theta)\| \right\} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ e^{\delta(\tau-r)} \|\phi^1 - \phi^2\|_{\gamma}, \max_{\theta \in [\tau,r]} \|u^1(\theta) - u^2(\theta)\| \right\}, \end{split}$$

we conclude from (22) that for all $t \in (\tau, T)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u^{1}(t) - u^{2}(t)\| &\leq \|u^{1}(\tau) - u^{2}(\tau)\| \\ &+ (a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R))\|\phi^{1} - \phi^{2}\|_{\delta} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{\delta(\tau - r)} dr \\ &+ (a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R)) \int_{\tau}^{t} \max_{\theta \in [\tau, r]} \|u^{1}(\theta) - u^{2}(\theta)\| dr. \end{aligned}$$

If we now substitute *t* by $r \in [\tau, t]$ and consider the maximum when varying this *r*, from the above, we can conclude that

$$\max_{r \in [\tau,t]} \|u^{1}(r) - u^{2}(r)\| \leq \|u^{1}(\tau) - u^{2}(\tau)\| + \frac{a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R)}{\delta} \|\phi^{1} - \phi^{2}\|_{\delta} + (a + L_{g}(R) + b_{0}L_{f}(R)) \int_{\tau}^{t} \max_{r \in [\tau,\theta]} \|u^{1}(r) - u^{2}(r)\| d\theta.$$

Hence, by the Gronwall lemma, we obtain (21).

4 Conclusions and Future Directions

In this paper we have investigated the existence, uniqueness, and continuous dependence with respect to the initial values of solutions of a nonclassical and nonautonomous reaction diffusion equation with unbounded delays. This is a preliminary step in order to study the asymptotic behavior of the solutions of the problem. In fact, we are working on this direction in order to prove the existence and exponential stability of the stationary (steady-state) solutions of our equation, as well as the global asymptotic behavior within the framework of pullback attractor. These results will be reported in [6].

References

- 1. Aifantis, E.C.: On the problem of diffusion in solids. Acta Mech. 37, 265–296 (1980)
- Anh, C.T., Bao, T.Q.: Pullback attractors for a class of non-autonomous nonclassical diffusion equations. Nonlinear Anal. 73, 399–412 (2010)
- Camassa, R., Holm, D.: An integrable shallow water equation with peaked solitons. Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 1661–1665 (1993)
- Caraballo, T., Márquez-Durán, A.M.: Existence, uniqueness and asymptotic behavior of solutions for a nonclassical difusion equation with infinite delay. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ. 10, 267–281 (2013)
- Caraballo, T., Márquez-Durán, A.M., Rivero, F.: Well-posedness and asymptotic behaviour for a non-classical non-autonomous diffusion equation with delay. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos, 25(14) 11 (2015)
- Caraballo, T., Márquez-Durán, A.M., Rivero, F.: Asymptotic behaviour for a non-classical and non-autonomous diffusion equation containing some hereditary characteristic. In preparation
- 7. Hale, J.K.: Asymptotic Behavior of Dissipative System. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1989)
- Hale, J.K., Kato, J.: Phase space for retarded equations with infinite delay. Funkcial. Ekvac. 21, 11–41 (1978)
- 9. Hino, Y., Murakami, S., Naito, T.: Functional Differential Equations with Infinite Delay. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1473. Springer, Berlin (1991)
- Hu, Z., Wang, Y.: Pullback attractors for a nonautonomous nonclassical diffusion equation with variable delay. J. Math. Phys. 53, 072702 (2012)
- Kuttlerand, K., Aifantis, E.C.: Existence and uniqueness in non classical diffusion. Q. Appl. Math. 45, 549–560 (1987)
- Kuttlerand, K., Aifantis, E.C.: Quasilinear evolution equations in nonclassical diffusion. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 19, 110–120 (1988)
- 13. Ma, Q., Liu, Y., Zhang, F.: Global attractors in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for nonclassical diffusion equations. Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc. **2012**, Art. ID 672762, 16 pp. (2012)
- 14. Marín-Rubio, P., Real, J., Valero, J.: Pullback attractors for a 2*D*-Navier-Stokes model in an infinite delay case. Nonlinear Anal. **74**, 2012–2030 (2011)
- Peter, J.C., Gurtin, M.E.: On a theory of heat conduction involving two temperatures. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 19, 614–627 (1968)
- Rivero, F.: Pullback attractor for non-autonomous non-classical parabolic equation. Discrete Continuous Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 18, 209–221 (2013)
- Sun, C., Wang, S., Zhong, C.: Global attractors for a nonclassical diffusion equation. Acta Math. Appl. Sin. Engl. Ser. 23, 1271–1280 (2007)
- Sun, C., Yang, M.: Dynamics of the nonclassical diffusion equations. Asymptot. Anal. 59, 51–81 (2008)
- Wang, S., Li, D., Zhong, Ch.: On the dynamics of a class of nonclassical parabolic equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 317, 565–582 (2006)

On a Weak Solvability of a System of Thermoviscoelasticity of Oldroyd's Type

Victor Zvyagin and Vladimir Orlov

Abstract We study the solvability in the weak sense of the initial-boundary value problem for an Oldroyd's type model of motion of a viscoelastic continuum.

Keywords Thermoviscoelastic continuum • A priori estimates • Successive approximations • Weak solution

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary 80A17; Secondary 35Q35

1 Introduction

In $Q_T = \{(t, x) : [0, T] \times \Omega\}$, where $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^n$, n = 2, 3, is a bounded open domain with the boundary $\partial \Omega \in C^2$, the following problem is considered:

$$\partial u/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial u/\partial x_i + \nabla p = \operatorname{Div} \sigma + f; \ \operatorname{Div} u = 0;$$
 (1)

$$u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \ u|_{t=0} = u_0;$$
 (2)

$$\sigma + \lambda(\partial\sigma/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial\sigma/\partial x_i) = 2\eta(\theta)E(u) + 2\kappa(\partial E(u)/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial E(u)/\partial x_i);$$
(3)

$$\sigma|_{t=0} = \sigma_0; \tag{4}$$

V. Zvyagin (⊠)

Research Institution of Mathematics, Voronezh State University, Universitetskaya pl.,

e-mail: zvg@math.vsu.ru

V. Orlov

1, Voronezh 394 006, Russia

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_37

^{1,} Voronezh 394 006, Russia

Department of Mathematics, Voronezh State University, Universitetskaya pl.,

e-mail: orlov_vp@mail.ru
$$\partial \theta / \partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial \theta / \partial x_i - \chi \Delta \theta = g + \sigma : E(u);$$
 (5)

$$\theta|_{t=0} = \theta_0, \ \theta|_{\partial\Omega} = 0.$$
(6)

The unknowns are $u(t,x) = (u_1(t,x), \dots, u_n(t,x))$, p(x,t), and $\theta(x,t)$ as temperature, i.e., the velocity, the pressure, the temperature, and the stress deviator $\sigma(t,x) = \{\sigma_{ij}(t,x)\}_{i,j=1}^{n}$, respectively, $E(u) = \{E_{ij}(u)\}_{i,j=1}^{n}$, $E_{ij}(u) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial u_i/\partial x_j + \partial u_i/\partial x_i)$ is the strain velocity tensor.

Next, f(x, t) and g(x, t) are given body force and heat generation per unit volume, respectively; $u_0(x)$, $\theta_0(x)$, and $\sigma_0(x)$ are given initial velocity, temperature, and stress deviator; $\eta(\theta) > 0$ is the viscosity of the continuum, λ is relaxation time, and κ is the retardation time ($0 < \lambda < \kappa$).

In the present work, we study the solvability in the weak sense of the initialboundary value problem for an Oldroyd's type model of motion of a viscoelastic continuum with the constitutive law (3) (see [1, 2]).

In such a model stresses after the instant stopping of motion damped as $\exp(-\lambda t)$, and the velocities after instant stress relief damped as $\exp(-\lambda t)$.

2 Statement of the Problem and the Main Result

We shall use the standard Sobolev spaces $L_p(\Omega)$, $W_p^l(\Omega)$, $L_p(Q_T)$, $W_p^{k,m}(Q_T)$. By p = 2 the norms in these spaces will be denoted by $|\cdot|_0$, $|\cdot|_l$, $||\cdot||_0$, $||\cdot||_{k,m}$, respectively, (\cdot, \cdot) is the scalar products in L_2 spaces. $H_p^\beta(\Omega)$ is the space of Bessel potentials, $H_p^1(\Omega) = W_p^1(\Omega)$.

Next, $\overset{\circ}{W_p}(\Omega)$ is the closure of $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in $W_p^l(\Omega)$ (m > 0) norm, $W_{p,0}^m(\Omega) = W_p^m(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W_p}(\Omega)$, $W_p^{-m}(\Omega) = (\overset{\circ}{W_{p'}}(\Omega))'$ (conjugate space), m > 0, p' = p/(p-1); $\mathscr{V} = \{u : u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$, div $u = 0\}$; H and V are the closure of \mathscr{V} in $L_2(\Omega)$ and $W_2^1(\Omega)$ norms, respectively.

 $\mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$ is the space of matrices of the order $n \times n$, and $\mathbf{R}_{s}^{n \times n}$ is its subspace of symmetric matrices.

It will be convenient to us setting

$$\sigma = \tau + 2\mu_1 E(u), \ \mu_1 = 2\kappa\lambda^{-1}, \ \mu_2(\theta) = (\eta(\theta) - \kappa)\lambda^{-1} \tag{7}$$

to rewrite problem (1)–(6) in the form

$$\partial u/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial u/\partial x_i - \text{Div}\,\tau - \mu_1 \Delta u + \nabla p = f;$$
(8)

$$\operatorname{div} u = 0; \tag{9}$$

$$\lambda^{-1}\tau + (\partial \tau/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial \tau/\partial x_i) = 2\mu_2(\theta)E(u);$$
(10)

$$\partial \theta / \partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial \theta / \partial x_i - \chi \Delta \theta = g + \tau : E(u) + 2\mu_1 E(u) : E(u);$$
 (11)

$$u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \ u|_{t=0} = u_0;$$
 (12)

$$\tau|_{t=0} = \sigma_0 - 2\mu_1 E(u_0) \equiv \tau_0; \tag{13}$$

$$\theta|_{t=0} = \theta_0, \ \theta|_{\partial\Omega} = 0.$$
(14)

Introduce the spaces

$$W_{1} = L_{2}(0, T; V) \cap C_{\omega}([0, T]; H) \cap W_{1}^{1}(0, T; V');$$

$$W_{2} = L_{2}(0, T; L_{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_{s}^{n \times n})) \cap C_{\omega}([0, T]; W_{p}^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_{s}^{n \times n}))$$

$$\cap W_{2}^{1}(0, T; W_{p}^{-2}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_{s}^{n \times n}));$$

$$W_{3} = L_{p}(0, T; \overset{\circ}{W_{p}}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap W_{1}^{1}(0, T; W_{p}^{-1}(\Omega)) \cap C_{\omega}([0, T]; W_{p}^{1-1/p}(\Omega)).$$

Here $\langle a, b \rangle$ is the action of functional $a \in E'$ from E' upon $b \in E$.

Definition 1. A triple of functions $(u, \tau, \theta), u \in W_1, \tau \in W_2, \theta \in W_3(u, \sigma),$

$$u \in L_{2}(0, T; V) \bigcap C_{w}([0, T]; H), \ \frac{du}{dt} \in L_{1}(0, T; V^{*}),$$
$$\sigma \in L_{2}(0, T; L_{2}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_{S}^{N \times N})) \bigcap C_{w}([0, T]; H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_{S}^{N \times N}))$$

is a weak solution to problem (8)-(14) if it satisfies identities

$$\frac{d}{dt}(u,\varphi) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (u_i, \partial\varphi/\partial x_i) + (\nabla\tau, \nabla\varphi) + 2\mu_1(\nabla u, \nabla\varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle; \quad (15)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\tau,\Phi) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (u_i\tau,\partial\Phi/\partial x_i) + \lambda^{-1}(\tau,\Phi) = 2\lambda^{-1}(\mu_2(\theta)E(u),\Phi); \quad (16)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\theta,\psi) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (u_i\theta, \partial\psi/\partial x_i) + \chi(\nabla\theta, \nabla\psi)$$
$$= \langle g,\psi \rangle + (\tau: E, \psi) + \mu_1(E(u): E(u), \psi)$$
(17)

for any $\varphi \in V$, $\Phi \in H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_s^{n \times n})$, $\psi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega)$ and conditions (12), (13), (14).

403

Formally identities (15), (16), (17) are obtained from (8)–(10) by multiplying (8), (10), and (11) by test functions in L_2 and integrating by parts.

Hereafter we deal with problem (8)–(14). The main result:

Theorem 1. Let 1 by <math>n = 2 and 1 by <math>n = 3. Let

 $\begin{array}{l} (a) \ f \in L_2(0,T;V'), \ u_0 \in H, \\ (b) \ \sigma_0 - \eta(\theta_0) \frac{2\kappa}{\lambda} E(u_0) \in L_2(\Omega, R_s^{n \times n}), \ \sigma_0 \in W_2^{-1}(\Omega, R_s^{n \times n}), \ \theta_0 \in W_p^{1-2/p}(\Omega), \\ (c) \ g \in L_1(0,T;L_1(\Omega)), \\ (d) \ \eta(s) \in C(-\infty, +\infty) \ and \ for \ some \ d > 0 \end{array}$

$$0 < \kappa/\lambda \le \eta(s) \le d, \ s \in (-\infty, +\infty).$$
(18)

Then there exists a weak solution to problem (8)-(14).

3 Auxiliary Problems

For the proof of Theorem 1, we consider the pair of auxiliary problems. The first one is

$$\partial u/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial u/\partial x_i - \text{Div}\,\tau - \mu_1 \Delta u + \nabla p = f,$$
 (19)

div
$$u = 0, \ u|_{t=0} = u_0, \ u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0;$$
 (20)

$$\tau + \lambda (\partial \tau / \partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial \tau / \partial x_i) = 2\mu_2(\overline{\theta}) E(u), \qquad (21)$$

$$\tau|_{t=0} = \tau_0 =: \sigma_0 - 2\mu_1 E(u_0)$$
(22)

by fixed $\overline{\theta} \in W_3$.

A weak solution to (19)–(22) is the pair (u, τ) , $u \in W_1$, $\tau \in W_2$, which solves identities (15)–(16) by $\theta = \overline{\theta}$.

The second one is

$$\partial \theta / \partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i \partial \theta / \partial x_i - \kappa \Delta \theta = g + \mathscr{E}(u) : \tau + 2\mu_1 E(u) : E(u);$$
 (23)

$$\theta|_{t=0} = \theta_0, \, \theta|_{\partial\Omega} = 0 \tag{24}$$

by fixed $\tau \in W_2$ and $u \in W_1$.

A weak solution to (23)–(24) is $\theta \in W_3$, which solves identities (17) and (24) by any $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

3.1 Solvability of Problem (19)–(22)

Theorem 2. Let conditions of Theorems 1 are fulfilled. Then problem (19)–(22) has a weak solution and the estimate holds:

$$\|u\|_{L_{\infty}(0,T;H)} + \|u\|_{L_{2}(0,T;V)} + \|\tau\|_{L_{\infty}(0,T;L_{2}(\Omega,R_{s}^{n\times n}))} + \|\partial u/\partial t\|_{L_{1}(0,T;V')}$$
(25)

$$+ \|\partial \tau / \partial t\|_{L_2(0,T;W_2^{-2}(\Omega, R_s^{n \times n}))} \le M_1(|u_0|_0, |\tau_0|_0, \|f\|_{L_2(0,T;V')}),$$
(26)

where M_1 does not depend of $\overline{\theta}$.

Theorem 2 is proved with the help of the approximation-topological method (see [4, 6]), based on a priori estimates and the Leray–Schauder degree theory (see [3, 5]).

For this we consider the following auxiliary problem:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\tau,\Phi) + \frac{1}{\lambda}(\tau,\Phi) - \xi \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{u_{i}\tau}{1 + \delta(\frac{|\tau|^{2}}{2\mu} + |u|^{2})}, \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial x_{i}}\right) + 2\xi(\mu_{2}(\bar{\theta})u, Div\Phi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\lambda}(\nabla\tau, \nabla\Phi) = 0,$$
(27)

$$\frac{d}{dt}(u,\varphi) - \xi \sum_{i=0}^{n} \left(\frac{u_{i}u}{1 + \delta(\frac{|\tau|^{2}}{2\mu_{2}} + |u|^{2})}, \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_{i}}\right) + \mu_{1}(\nabla u, \nabla\varphi) + \xi(\tau, \nabla\varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle$$
(28)

for all $\varphi \in V$, $\Phi \in H_0^1$ a.e. in (0, T);

$$u|_{t=0} = u_0, \ \tau|_{t=0} = \tau_0 \tag{29}$$

The numbers $\delta > 0$, $0 \le \xi \le 1$, $0 < \varepsilon \le 1$ are parameters. Then problem (27)–(29) is equivalent to the operator equation

$$\hat{A}_{\varepsilon}(u,\tau) + \xi Q(u,\tau) = (f,0,u_0,\tau_0)$$
 (30)

The linear operator is generated by the linear part of problem (27)–(29), while Q by its nonlinear part. The invertibility of \tilde{A}_{ε} allows us rewrite in the form

$$(u,\tau) - \xi \tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}^{-1} Q(u,\tau) = \tilde{A}^{-1}(f,0,u_0,\tau_0)$$
(31)

in $W \times W_M$, with compact operator $\tilde{A}_{\varepsilon}Q$.

Here

$$W = \{ u \in L_2(0, T; V), \ \frac{du}{dt} \in L_2(0, T; V^*) \}$$
$$W_M = \{ \tau \in L_2(0, T; H_0^1(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_S^{n \times n})), \ \frac{d\tau}{dt} \in L_2(0, T; H^{-1}(\Omega, \mathbf{R}_S^{n \times n})) \}$$

with natural intersection norms.

The application of the Leray–Schauder degree theory yields the existence of solution $(u_{\delta,\varepsilon}, \tau_{\delta,\varepsilon})$ of Eq. (31).

The passage to the limit by $\delta \to 0, \varepsilon \to 0$ gives the solution (u, τ) of (27)–(29).

3.2 Solvability of Problem (23)–(24)

Theorem 3. Let $u \in W_1$, $\theta_0 \in W_p^{1-2/p}(\Omega)$, $\tau \in W_2$, $g \in L_1(0, T; L_1(\Omega))$, 1 by <math>n = 2 and 1 by <math>n = 3. Then problem (23)–(24) has a weak solution and the estimate holds:

$$\|\partial\theta/\partial t\|_{L_{1}(0,T;W_{p}^{-1}(\Omega))} + \|\theta\|_{L_{p}(0,T;W_{p}^{1}(\Omega))} + \sup_{t} \|\theta(t,\cdot)\|_{W_{p}^{1-2/p}(\Omega)}$$
(32)

$$\leq M\left(\|g\|_{L_1(0,T;L_1(\Omega))} + \|u\|_{0,1}^2 + \|\tau\|_0^2 + \|\theta_0\|_{W_p^{1-2/p}(\Omega)}\right).$$
(33)

The main difficulties in the problem of a weak solvability to the linear parabolic equation (23) consists in the membership of second and third summands to $L_1(0, T; L_1(\Omega))$. In order to get the weak solvability, we regularize equation (23) by means of application of operator $A^{-1/2}$ and reduce the problem to the solvability of equation

$$\frac{\partial (A^{-1/2}\theta(t,x))}{\partial t} + A^{-1/2} \frac{\partial (u_i\theta)}{\partial x_i} + A^{1/2}\theta(t,x)$$
(34)
= $A^{-1/2}g(t,x) + A^{-1/2}(\sigma : E(u)) + \mu_1 A^{-1/2}E(u) : E(u)).$

in the functional class $W(p) = \{\theta : A^{-1/2}\theta(t, x) \in W_1^1(0, T; L_p(\Omega)), A^{1/2}\theta(t, x) \in L_p(0, T; L_p(\Omega))\}$, by *p* from Theorem 3.

Here $A^{-1/2}$ is the fractional power of acting in $L_p(\Omega)$, $1 operator <math>Au = -\chi \Delta u$, $\chi > 0$ with domain $D(A) = W_{p,0}^2(\Omega)$. Operator $A^{-1/2}$ is the integral operator of potential type and maps $L_1(0,T;L_1(\Omega))$ into by $L_1(0,T;W_p^{\varepsilon}(\Omega))$ suitable $\varepsilon > 0$.

This provides sufficient smoothness for the solvability of Eq. (34) and necessary a priori estimates which guarantee the convergence of iterative process in the proof of Theorem 1.

4 Proof of Theorem 1

Consider the sequence of problems

$$\partial u^{n+1}/\partial t + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i^{n+1} \partial u^{n+1}/\partial x_i - \mu_1 \operatorname{Div} E(u^{n+1}) + \nabla p^{n+1}$$

$$= \operatorname{Div} \tau^{n+1} + f, \operatorname{div} u^{n+1} = 0;$$
(35)

$$u^{n+1}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \ u^{n+1}|_{t=0} = u_0; \tag{36}$$

$$d\tau^{n+1}/dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}\tau^{n+1} - 2\mu_2(\theta^n)E(u^{n+1}) = 0;$$
(37)

$$\tau^{n+1}|_{t=0} = \tau_0; \tag{38}$$

$$\frac{\partial \theta^{n+1}}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i^{n+1} \frac{\partial \theta^{n+1}}{\partial x_i} - \kappa \Delta \theta^{n+1}$$

= $g + \tau^{n+1} : E(u^{n+1}) + 2\mu_1 E(u^{n+1}) : E(u^{n+1});$ (39)

$$\theta|_{t=0} = \theta_0, \ \theta|_{\partial\Omega} = 0. \tag{40}$$

Let u^n , τ^n , θ^n be known. Substituting θ^n in (35)–(38), we find weak solutions u^{n+1} , τ^{n+1} . Then substituting u^{n+1} and τ^{n+1} in (39)–(40), we find weak solution θ^{n+1} . Thus, knowing (u^n, τ^n, θ^n) , we find $(u^{n+1}, \tau^{n+1}, \theta^{n+1})$. As u^0 , τ^0 , and θ^0 we take u_0 , τ_0 , and θ_0 , respectively.

Under conditions of Theorems 2 and 3 the successive approximations $(u^n, \tau^n, \theta^n), n = 0, 1, ...$ are well defined, and from these theorems, the estimates follow

$$\|u^n\|_{W_1} \le M; \ \|\tau^n\|_{W_2} \le M; \ \|\theta^n\|_{W_3} \le M.$$
(41)

Using estimates (41) we can assume that take place convergence

$$u^n \to u_*$$
 weakly in $L_2(0, T; V);$ (42)

$$u^n \to u_* \quad * -\text{weakly in } L_{\infty}(0, T; H); \tag{43}$$

$$\tau^n \to \tau_*$$
 weakly in $L_2(0, T; H_0^1(\Omega));$ (44)

$$\tau^n \to \tau_*$$
 weakly in $L_2(0, T; L_2(\Omega));$ (45)

$$\theta^n \to \theta_* \text{ strongly in } L_p(Q_T).$$
 (46)

By this $u_* \in W_1$, $\tau_* \in W_2$, $\theta_* \in W_3$, and initial-boundary conditions (2), (4), (6) are fulfilled.

These convergence are not enough to pass to the limit. We need the better properties for the sequence u^n .

Lemma 1. The sequence u^n strongly converges to u^* in $L_2(0, T; V)$.

Proof. By the standard way, we deduce from (35 the equality

$$\frac{1}{2}|u^{n+1}(t,x)|_{0}^{2} + 2\mu_{1}\int_{0}^{T}|\mathscr{E}(u^{n+1})(t,x)|_{0}^{2}dt \qquad (47)$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{T}(\tau^{n+1},\nabla u^{n+1})dt + \int_{0}^{T}\langle f, u^{n+1}\rangle dt + \frac{1}{2}|u_{0}|_{0}^{2}.$$

It is convenient to write (47 in the form)

$$\|u^{n+1}\|_{\mathscr{N}}^2 = \int_0^T \langle f, u^{n+1} \rangle \, dt + \int_0^T (\tau^{n+1}, \nabla u^{n+1}) dt + \frac{1}{2} |u_0|^2.$$
(48)

Here we have introduced the Hilbert space $\mathcal{N} = H \times L_2(0, T; V)$ with the scalar product

$$(z,w)_{\mathscr{N}} = \frac{1}{2}(z_1,w_1)_H + \mu_1(\mathscr{E}(z_2),\mathscr{E}(w_2))_{L_2(0,T;L_2(\Omega))}, \ z = (z_1,z_2), w = (w_1,w_2).$$

The convergence (42)–(46) implies the weak convergence of u^n to u_* in \mathcal{N} .

The same convergence (42)–(46) implies the convergence of the right-hand side of (48) to $\int_{0}^{T} \langle f, u^* \rangle dt + \int_{0}^{T} (\tau^*, \nabla u^*) dt + \frac{1}{2} |u_0|^2$.

Thus, we have the weak convergence of u^n in \mathcal{N} and the convergence of $||u^{n+1}||_{\mathcal{N}} \to ||u_*||_{\mathcal{N}}$. It is known fact that this convergence implies strong convergence of u^n to u_* in \mathcal{N} .

Let us show that (u_*, τ_*, θ_*) (23)–(24) is a weak solution to problem (8)–(14). Since $u_* \in W_1$, $\tau_* \in W_2$, $\theta_* \in W_3$, and conditions (2), (4), (6) are fulfilled, it is sufficient to prove that (u_*, τ_*, θ_*) solves identities (15), (16), (17).

Since (u^{n+1}, τ^{n+1}) is a weak solution to problem (35)–(38), then

$$d(u^{n+1},\varphi)/dt - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left((u^{n+1})_i u^{n+1}, \partial \varphi / \partial x_i \right) + (\nabla \tau^{n+1}, \nabla \varphi)$$
(49)

$$+ \mu_1(\nabla u^{n+1}, \nabla \varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle, \ \varphi \in V.$$
(50)

$$d(\tau^{n+1}, \Phi)/dt + \frac{1}{\lambda}(\tau^{n+1}, \Phi) - 2(\mu_2(\theta^n)\mathscr{E}(u^{n+1}), \Phi) = 0.$$
 (51)

Since θ^{n+1} is a weak solution to this problem, then

$$d(\theta^{n+1}, \psi)/dt - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(u_i^{n+1} \theta^{n+1}, \partial \psi / \partial x_i \right) + \chi(\nabla \theta, \nabla \varphi)$$
(52)

$$= (g, \psi) + (\tau^{n+1} : E(u^{n+1}), \psi) + 2\mu_1(E(u^{n+1}) : E(u^{n+1}), \psi).$$
(53)

The convergence (42)–(46) and Lemma 1 allow us to pass to the limit in (35)–(40) and obtain identities (15), (16), (17) for (u_*, τ_*, θ_*) that mean that (u_*, τ_*, θ_*) is a weak solution to problem (8)–(14). Theorem 2 is proved.

Acknowledgements The work was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (13-01-00041 and 14-01-31228), Russian Science Foundation (14-21-00066), the Ministry of Education, and Science of Russia in frameworks of state task for higher education organizations in science for 2014-2016 (Project number 1.1539.2014/K).

References

- 1. Oskolkov, A.P.: Initial-boundary value problems for motion equations of Kelvin-Voight and Oldroid fluids. Trudy MIAN SSSR **179**, 126–164 (1988)
- 2. Reiner, M.: Rheology. Springer, Heidelberg (1958)
- Temam, R.: Navier-Stokes Equations. Theory and Numerical Analysis. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1979)
- Vorotnikov, D.A., Zvyagin, V.G.: On the existence of weak solutions for the initial-boundary value problem in the Jeffreys model of motion of a viscoelastic medium. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2004(10), 815–829 (2004)
- Zvyagin, V.G., Orlov, V.P.: On certain mathematical models in continuum thermomechanics. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 15(1), 3–47 (2014)
- Zvyagin, V.G., Vorotnikov, D.A.: Topological Approximation Methods for Evolutionary Problems of Nonlinear Hydrodynamix. de Gryuter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, vol. 12 (2008)

Well-Posedness and Spectral Analysis of Hyperbolic Volterra Equations of Convolution Type

N.A. Rautian and V.V. Vlasov

Abstract We study the correct solvability of abstract integrodifferential equations in Hilbert space generalizing integrodifferential equations arising in the theory of viscoelasticity. The equations under considerations are the abstract hyperbolic equations perturbed by the terms containing Volterra integral operators. We establish the correct solvability in the weighted Sobolev spaces of vector-valued functions on the positive semiaxis. We also provide the spectral analysis of operator-valued functions which are the symbols of these equations.

Keywords Integrodifferential equations • Sobolev space • Gurtin-Pipkin heat equation • Spectra • Operator-function

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): Primary 34D05, Secondary 34C23

1 Introduction

Numerous problems arise in the research of integrodifferential equation applications. Let us point to some problems in studying the reduction of integrodifferential equations in mechanics and the physics which are considered in the previous chapters.

The first class of problems are the problems arising in the theory of viscoelasticity. Integral terms like convolution describe in this case long-term memory; thus, functions of a kernel of convolution are defined as a result of experiment. Curves often received as a result of experiment are approximated in practice by the sum of finite number of exponentials or series of exponents. A rather complete description of the problems arising in the theory of viscoelasticity is given in the recent monograph [1] (see also [5, 11] and references therein).

Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia e-mail: nrautian@mail.ru; vikvvlasov@rambler.ru

N.A. Rautian (🖂) • V.V. Vlasov

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_38

The second class of problems are the problems of acoustics of emulsions. The mixture of two liquids with various characteristics (density, viscosity, compressibility coefficient) is called an emulsion. It is possible to prove by using the homogenization theory that the equation describing an average value of sound pressure for one-dimensional distribution of a sound wave has the abstract form coinciding with a form of the equation, considered in this work (see [15, 16]).

The third class of problems are the problems of homogenization in multiphase media where one of the phases is an elastic (or viscoelastic) media and the other is a viscous (compressible or incompressible) liquid (see [15, 16]).

This paper is devoted to researching integrodifferential equations with unbounded operator coefficients in a Hilbert space. Most of the equations under consideration are abstract hyperbolic equations perturbed by terms containing Volterra integral operators. These equations are the abstract forms of the integrodifferential equations arising in the theory of viscoelasticity (see [1, 5]) and the Gurtin-Pipkin integrodifferential equations (see [3, 7, 9] for more details), which describe heat propagation in media; it also arises in homogenization problems in porous media (Darcy's law) (see [15, 21]).

Due to the fact that we study not only concrete partial neutral integrodifferential equation but a wide class of integrodifferential equations, it is natural and convenient to consider integrodifferential equations with unbounded operator coefficients (abstract integrodifferential equations), which can be realized as integrodifferential partial differential equations with respect to spatial variables when necessary. For the self-adjoint positive operator A considered in what follows, we can take, in particular, the operator Ay = -y'', where $x \in (0, \pi)$, $y(0) = y(\pi) = 0$, or the operator $Ay = -\Delta y$ satisfying the Dirichlet conditions on a bounded domain with sufficiently smooth boundary or more general elliptic self-adjoint operator of the order 2m in bounded domain with sufficiently smooth boundary. At present, there is an extensive literature on abstract integrodifferential equations. We restrict ourselves by citing monographs [1, 18, 20] (see also references therein). The works most closely related to these questions are [2, 10, 13, 14, 16, 17, 19].

2 Statement of the Problem

Let *H* be a separable Hilbert space, and let *A* be a self-adjoint positive operator with bounded inverse acting on *H*.

Consider the following problem for a second-order integrodifferential equation on $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$:

$$\frac{d^2u(t)}{dt^2} + Au(t) + Bu(t) - \int_0^t K(t-s)Au(s)ds$$
$$-\int_0^t Q(t-s)Bu(s)ds = f(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(1)

Hyperbolic Volterra Equations of Convolution Type

$$u(+0) = \varphi_0, \quad u^{(1)}(+0) = \varphi_1,$$
 (2)

where *A* is a positive self-adjoint operator acting on the separable Hilbert space *H*, $A^* = A \ge \kappa_0$ ($\kappa_0 > 0$), having the compact inverse operator; *I* is the identity operator in the separable Hilbert space *H*; and operator *B* is symmetric on the Dom(A), nonnegative, (Bx, y) = (x, By), (Bx, x) ≥ 0 for arbitrary x, $y \in Dom(A)$ and satisfying the inequality $||Bx|| \le \kappa ||Ax||$, $0 < \kappa < 1$, $x \in Dom(A)$.

We suppose that the kernels K(t) and Q(t) can be represented in the following form:

$$K(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j e^{-\gamma_j t}, \quad Q(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} d_j e^{-\gamma_j t},$$
 (3)

where the coefficients $c_j > 0$, $d_j \ge 0$, $\gamma_{j+1} > \gamma_j > 0$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\gamma_j \to +\infty$ $(j \to +\infty)$, and moreover, we suppose that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j}{\gamma_j} < \infty, \quad \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j}{\gamma_j} < \infty.$$
(4)

The conditions (4) mean that $K(t), Q(t) \in L_1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. If, in addition to (4), conditions

$$K(0) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j < +\infty, \quad Q(0) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} d_j < +\infty$$
(5)

hold, then the kernels K(t) and Q(t) belong to the space $W_1^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Equation (1) can be regarded as an abstract form of dynamical viscoelastic integrodifferential equation where operators A and B are generated by the following differential expressions:

$$A = -\rho^{-1}\mu \left(\Delta u + \operatorname{grad}(\operatorname{div} u)\right), \quad B = -\rho^{-1}\lambda \cdot \operatorname{grad}(\operatorname{div} u),$$

where $u = \mathbf{u}(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ is displacement vector of viscoelastic hereditary isotropic media that fill the bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ with smooth boundary, $\partial \Omega$; ρ is a constant density, $\rho > 0$; Lame parameters λ, μ are the positive constants; and K(t), Q(t) are the relaxation functions characterizing hereditary properties of media. On the domain boundary $\partial \Omega$, the Dirichlet condition

$$u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0. \tag{6}$$

is satisfied. The Hilbert space *H* can be realized as the space of three-dimensional vector functions $L_2(\Omega)$.

Let us denote

$$A_0 = A + B.$$

Due to the known result (theorem [4], p.361), operator A_0 is a self-adjoint positive operator. We convert the domain $Dom(A_0^\beta)$ of the operator A_0^β , $\beta > 0$ into a Hilbert space H_β by endowing $Dom(A_0^\beta)$ with the norm $\|\cdot\|_\beta = \|A_0^\beta \cdot\|$, which is equivalent to the graph norm of the operator A_0^β .

We note that operator-function $L(\lambda)$ is the symbol of Eq. (1), and it has the following form:

$$L(\lambda) = \lambda^2 I + A + B - \hat{K}(\lambda)A - \hat{Q}(\lambda)B,$$
(7)

where $\hat{K}(\lambda)$ and $\hat{Q}(\lambda)$ are the Laplace transforms of the kernels K(t) and Q(t), having the representations

$$\hat{K}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j}{(\lambda + \gamma_j)}, \quad \hat{Q}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j}{(\lambda + \gamma_j)}.$$
(8)

2.1 Correct Solvability

By $W_{2,\gamma}^n(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0^n)$ we denote the Sobolev space of vector functions on the half-axis $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$ taking values in *H* endowed with the norm

$$\|u\|_{W^n_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_+,A^n_0)} \equiv \left(\int_0^\infty e^{-2\gamma t} \left(\left\|u^{(n)}(t)\right\|_H^2 + \left\|A^n_0u(t)\right\|_H^2\right) dt\right)^{1/2}, \quad \gamma \ge 0.$$

For more information about the spaces $W_{2,\gamma}^n(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0^n)$, see monograph [6, Chap. 1]. For n = 0 we set $W_{2,\gamma}^0(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0^n) \equiv L_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$.

Definition 1. We say that vector function u is a strong solution of the problem (1), (2), if it belongs to the space $W^2_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0)$ for some $\gamma \ge 0$, satisfies (1) almost everywhere on the half-axis \mathbb{R}_+ , and satisfies the initial conditions (2).

The following theorem gives conditions for problem (1), (2) to be well solvable.

Theorem 1. If condition (5) holds, $f'(t) \in L_{2,\gamma_0}(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$ for certain $\gamma_0 \ge 0$ and f(0) = 0, $\varphi_0 \in H_1$, $\varphi_1 \in H_{1/2}$, then there exists $\gamma_1 \ge \gamma_0$, that for any $\gamma > \gamma_1$ problem (1), (2) is uniquely solvable in the space $W_{2,\gamma}^2(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0)$, and its solution satisfies the inequality

$$\|u\|_{W^{2}_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_{+},A_{0})} \leq d\left(\left\|f'(t)\right\|_{L_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_{+},H)} + \|A_{0}\varphi_{0}\|_{H} + \left\|A_{0}^{1/2}\varphi_{1}\right\|_{H}\right),$$
(9)

where the constant d does not depend on the vector function f and the vectors φ_0 and φ_1 .

2.2 Spectral Analysis

We proceed to study the structure of the spectrum of the operator-function $L(\lambda)$ in the case where conditions (4), (5) and conditions

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\gamma_k^2(\gamma_{k+1}-\gamma_k)=+\infty. \tag{10}$$

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_k - \gamma_{k-1}}{\gamma_k} = 0.$$
(11)

hold.

Moreover we suppose that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k}{\gamma_k} < 1, \quad \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_k}{\gamma_k} < 1.$$
(12)

Theorem 2. If conditions (12), (5), (10), and (11) hold, then the spectrum of the operator-function $L(\lambda)$ is contained in the union of the intervals $\Delta_k = (-\gamma_k, \tilde{p}_k) \subset (-\gamma_k, -\gamma_{k-1}), k \in \mathbb{N} \ (\gamma_0 = 0)$ and the strip $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} | \alpha_1 \leq \text{Re } \lambda \leq \alpha_2\}$, where $\tilde{p}_k = \max\{p_k(\tau'), p_k(\tau'')\}, p_k(\tau)$ are the real roots of the equation

$$\Phi_{\tau}(p) := \tau \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k (p + \gamma_k)^{-1} + (1 - \tau) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} d_k (p + \gamma_k)^{-1} = 1, \quad (0 \le \tau \le 1).$$

belonging to the intervals $(-\gamma_k, -\gamma_{k-1}), k \in \mathbb{N}$ $(\gamma_0 = 0), \tau' := ||A^{-1/2}A_0A^{-1/2}||^{-1}, \tau'' := ||A_0^{-1/2}AA_0^{-1/2}||, (0 < \tau' < \tau'' \leq 1) and$

$$\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \sup_{\|f\|=1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{((c_k A + d_k B)f, f)}{((A + B)f, f)}, \quad \alpha_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \inf_{\|f\|=1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{((c_k A + d_k B)f, f)}{((A + B + \gamma_k^2 I)f, f)}.$$

Remark. According to Lemma 2.1 of [12], the operator $A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}$ has a bounded closure on the space *H*. It follows that so does the operator $A^{-1/2}A_0A^{-1/2} = I + A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}$ *H*. In turn, Lemma 2.1 of [12] mentioned above and the self-adjointness of $A_0 = A + B$ imply that the operator $A_0^{-1/2}AA_0^{-1/2}$ has a bounded closure on *H* as well. Thus, the quantities τ' and τ'' in the statement of Theorem 2 are well defined.

Remark. The constants α_1 and α_2 in the statement of Theorem 2 can be estimated as

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1 &\geq -\frac{1}{2} \left\| A_0^{-1/2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k A + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} d_k B \right) A_0^{-1/2} \right\|, \\ \alpha_2 &< -\frac{1}{2} \left\| (c_1 A + d_1 B)^{-1/2} \left(A_0 + \gamma_1^2 I \right) (c_1 A + d_1 B)^{-1/2} \right\|^{-1}, \quad c_1 > d_1 \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 3. The nonreal spectrum of the operator-function $L(\lambda)$ is symmetric with respect to the real axis and consists of eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity; moreover, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ the eigenvalues are isolated, i.e., have no points of accumulation, in the domain $\Omega_{\varepsilon} := \mathbb{C} \setminus \{\lambda : \alpha_1 \leq \text{Re } \lambda \leq \alpha_2, |\text{Im } \lambda| < \varepsilon\}.$

Equation (1) is related to applications: if $B \equiv 0$ then it is an abstract form of the Gurtin-Pipkin integrodifferential equation modeling the finite speed of heat propagation in media with memory. That integrodifferential equation is deduced in [3].

Equations of the above type are currently investigated by many authors (see [1, 3, 10, 14, 16–19] and references therein). We impose the following assumptions:

- 1. The operator B is identically zero.
- 2. The real-valued function $K(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k e^{-\gamma_k t}$ satisfies the assumptions (5), (12).

Let $\{a_j^2\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ be eigenvalues of the operator A ($Ae_j = a_j^2 e_j$), numbered according to the increasing order: $0 < a_1^2 < a_2^2 < \cdots < a_n^2 < \ldots; a_n \to +\infty \ (n \to +\infty)$. The corresponding eigenvectors $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ form an orthonormal basis of the space H.

Now we consider the structure of the spectrum of the operator-valued function $L_1(\lambda)$:

$$L_1(\lambda) = \lambda^2 I + A - \hat{K}(\lambda)A,$$

where $\hat{K}(\lambda)$ is the Laplace transform of the function *K*.

In the considered case, (1) can be decomposed into a countable set of scalar integrodifferential equations

$$u_n^{(2)}(t) + a_n^2 u_n(t) - \int_0^t \sum_{k=1}^\infty c_k e^{-\gamma_k(t-s)} a_n^2 u_n(s) \, ds = f_n(t), \, t > 0 \tag{13}$$

where $u_n(t) = (u(t), e_n)$ and $f_n(t) = (f(t), e_n)$, n = 1, 2, ... Those equations are projections (1) onto the one-dimensional spaces spanned by vectors $\{e_n\}$.

Using the Laplace transform, we naturally arrive at the countable set of meromorphic functions $l_n(\lambda) = \lambda^2 + a_n^2 - a_n^2 \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k}{\lambda + \gamma_k} \right)$, n = 1, 2, ... which are symbols of the integrodifferential equations given by (13).

The spectrum of the operator-valued function $L_1(\lambda)$ is described as follows.

Theorem 4. If conditions (12), (5), (10) hold, then the spectrum of the operatorfunction $L_1(\lambda)$ coincides with the closure of the union of the sets of zeros for the functions $\{l_n(\lambda)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$. The zeros of the meromorphic function $l_n(\lambda)$ form a countable set of real roots $\{\lambda_{n,k}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$, satisfying the inequalities

$$-\gamma_k < \lambda_{n,k} < x_k < -\gamma_{k-1} \quad [\gamma_0 = 0],$$

$$\lambda_{n,k} = x_k + \underline{O}\left(\frac{1}{a_n^2}\right) \quad k \in \mathbb{N} \ (k > 1), \ (a_n \to +\infty)$$
(14)

where x_k are the real zeros of the function $g(\lambda) = 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k}{\lambda + \gamma_k}$, and a pair of complex-conjugate roots $\left\{\lambda_n^{\pm}\right\}_1^{\infty}$, $\lambda_n^{\pm} = \overline{\lambda_n^{\pm}}$ such that

$$\lambda_n^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \pm i a_n + \underline{O}\left(\frac{1}{a_n^2}\right), \quad (a_n \to +\infty).$$
(15)

Thus, the spectrum $\sigma(L_1)$ of the operator-valued function $L_1(\lambda)$ is representable as

$$\sigma(L_1) \equiv \overline{\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{\lambda_{n_k}\}\right) \cup \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n^{\pm}\right)},$$

where $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda_{nk} = x_k, k = 1, 2, \ldots$

The proof of Theorem 4 is given in [14] (see also [17]). Picture of the spectrum of operator-function $L_1(\lambda)$ is given in Fig. 1.

Remark. The spectrum of the operator-valued function $L_1(\lambda)$ is located in the lefthand semi-plane { $\lambda : \Re \lambda < 0$ }, if $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j}{\gamma_j} < 1$. If $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j}{\gamma_j} > 1$, then the accumulation point x_1 of the poles is located in the right-hand semi-plane { $\lambda : \Re \lambda > 0$ }; this corresponds to the instability case.



Fig. 1 Spectral structure in case $K(t) \in W_1^1(\mathbb{R}_+), \beta = -\frac{1}{2}K(0)$

3 Conclusion and Remarks

We emphasize that our method of the proof of the theorem on the correct solvability of the initial boundary value problem for an abstract integrodifferential equation differs substantially from the approach used by Pandolfi in [10] and Miller in [8]. Moreover, L. Pandolfi studied solvability in function space on a finite time interval (0, T), whereas we study solvability in the weighted Sobolev spaces $W_{2,\gamma}^2(\mathbb{R}_+, A^2)$ on the positive semiaxis \mathbb{R}_+ .

Our proof of the solvability Theorem 1 essentially uses the Hilbert structure of the space $W_{2,\gamma}^2(\mathbb{R}_+, A_0^2)$, $L_{2,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$ and Paley-Wiener theorem, while in [8, 10], considerations are performed in Banach function spaces consisting of smooth functions on a finite time interval (0, T).

References

- 1. Amendola, G., Fabrizio, M., Golden, J.M.: Thermodynamics of Materials with Memory: Theory and Applications. Springer, New York (2012)
- 2. Desch, W., Miller, R.K.: Exponential stabilization of Volterra Integrodifferential equations in Hilbert space. J. Differ. Equ. **70**, 366–389 (1987)
- 3. Gurtin, M.E., Pipkin, A.C.: General theory of heat conduction with finite wave speed. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **31**, 113–126 (1968)
- 4. Kato, T.: Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Springer, New York (1966)
- Kopachevsky, N.D., Krein, S.G.: Operator approach to linear problems of hydrodynamics. In: Nonself Adjoint Problems for Viscous Fluids, vol. 2. Birkhäuser, Berlin/Basel/Boston (2003)
- Lions, J.L., Magenes, E.: Nonhomogeneous Boundary-Value Problems and Applications. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York (1972)
- 7. Lykov, A.V.: Problems of Heat and Mass Transfer. Nauka i Tekhnika, Minsk (1976). (in Russian)
- 8. Miller, R.K.: Volterra integral equation in Banach space. Funkcialaj Ekvac. 18, 163–194 (1975)
- Miller, R.K.: An integrodifferential equation for rigid heat conductors with memory. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 66, 313–332 (1978)
- Pandolfi, L.: The controllability of the Gurtin-Pipkin equations: a cosine operator approach. Appl. Math. Optim. 52, 143–165 (2005)
- 11. Sanches-Palencia, E. Non-Homogeneous Media and Vibration Theory. Springer, New York (1980)
- Shkalikov, A.A.: Strongly damped operator pencil and solvability of according operator differential equations. Sb. Math. 177(1), 96–118 (1998)
- Vlasov, V.V., Medvedev, D.A.: Functional-differential equations in Sobilev spaces and related problems of spectral theory. Contemp. Math. Fundam. Dir. 30, 3–173 (2008). (English translation J. Math. Sci. 164(5), 659–841 (2010))
- Vlasov, V.V., Rautian, N.A.: Well-defined solvability and spectral analysis of abstract hyperbolic integrodifferential equations. J. Math. Sci. 179(3), 390–414 (2011)
- Vlasov, V.V., Gavrikov, A.A., Ivanov, S.A., Knyazkov, D.U., Samarin, V.A., Shamaev, A.S.: Spectral properties of the combined medies. Mod. Probl. Math. Mech. 1, 134–155 (2009)
- Vlasov, V.V., Rautian, N.A., Shamaev, A.S.: Solvability and spectral analysis of integrodifferential equations arising in the theory of heat transfer and acoustics. Dokl. Math. 82, 684–687 (2010)

- 17. Vlasov, V.V., Wu, J., Kabirova, G.R.: Well-defined solvability and spectral properties of abstract hyperbolic equations with aftereffect. J. Math. Sci. **170**(3), 388–404 (2010)
- Vlasov, V.V., Medvedev, D.A., Rautian, N.A.: Functional differential equations in Sobolev spaces and its spectral analysis. In: Contemporary Problems of Mathematics and Mechanics, vol. 8(1), 308 P. Moscow State University, Moscow (2011)
- Vlasov, V.V., Rautian, N.A., Shamaev, A.S.: Spectral analysis and correct solvability of abstract integrodifferential equations arising in thermophysics and acoustics. J. Math. Sci. 190(1), 34–65 (2013)
- 20. Wu, J.: Theory and Applications of Partial Functional Differential Equations. Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 119. Springer, New York (1996)
- Zhikov, V.V.: On an extension of the method of two-scale convergence and its applications. Sb. Math. 191(7), 31–72 (2000)

Difference Equations and Boundary Value Problems

Alexander V. Vasilyev and Vladimir B. Vasilyev

Abstract We study multidimensional difference equations with a continual variable in the Sobolev–Slobodetskii spaces. Using ideas and methods of the theory of boundary value problems for elliptic pseudo-differential equations, we suggest to consider certain boundary value problems for such difference equations. Special boundary conditions permit to prove unique solvability for these boundary value problems in appropriate Sobolev–Slobodetskii spaces.

Keywords Difference equation • Symbol • Factorization • Index • Boundary value problem • Solvability

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): Primary 39A14; Secondary 35J40

1 Introduction

We consider a general difference equation of the type

$$\sum_{|k|=0}^{\infty} a_k(x)u(x+\alpha_k) = v(x), \quad x \in D,$$
(1.1)

where $D \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ is a canonical domain like \mathbb{R}^m , $\mathbb{R}^m_{\pm} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^m : x = (x_1, \dots, x_m), \pm x_m > 0\}, C^a_+ = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^m : x_m > a | x' |, x' = (x_1, \dots, x_{m-1}), a > 0\}, k \text{ is a multi$ $index, } |k| = k_1 + \dots + k_m, \{\alpha_k\} \subset D$. Equations of a such type have a long history [4, 5, 8] and in general there is no algorithm for solving the Eq. (1.1). If so then any assertion on a solvability of such equations is very important and required. One can

A.V. Vasilyev

V.B. Vasilyev (⊠)

National Research Belgorod State University, Studencheskaya 14/1, Belgorod 307008, Russia e-mail: alexvassel@gmail.com

Lipetsk State Technical University, Moskovskaya 30, Lipetsk 398600, Russia e-mail: vladimir.b.vasilyev@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_39

add that Eq. (1.1) appear in very distinct branches of a science like mathematical biology, technical problems, etc. Also such equations have arisen in studies of the second author [10, 11] related to boundary value problems in a plane corner. One-dimensional case for such equations was considered in [12].

Here we will start from the equation

$$\sum_{|k|=0}^{\infty} a_k u(x+\alpha_k) = v(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^m_+, \tag{1.2}$$

with constant coefficients because further we will try to use a local principle [6] to obtain some results on Fredholm properties of the general Eq. (1.1). We use methods of the theory of boundary value problems for elliptic pseudo-differential equations [1, 9]. For our case of a half-space, these methods are based on the theory of one-dimensional singular integral equations and classical Riemann boundary value problem [2, 3, 7].

2 Spaces, Operators, and Symbols

2.1 Spaces

Let $S(\mathbb{R}^m)$ be the Schwartz class of infinitely differentiable rapidly decreasing at infinity functions and $S'(\mathbb{R}^m)$ be the space of distributions over the space $S(\mathbb{R}^m)$. If $u \in S(\mathbb{R}^m)$, then its Fourier transform is defined by the formula

$$\tilde{u}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-ix\cdot\xi} u(x) dx.$$

Definition 2.1. A Sobolev–Slobodetskii space $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{m})$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, consists of functions (distributions) with a finite norm

$$||u||_{s} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \tilde{u}(\xi)(1+|\xi|)^{2s} d\xi\right)^{1/2}.$$

Let us note $H^0(\mathbb{R}^m) = L_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$.

The space $S(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is a dense subspace in the $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$ [1]. The space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ consists of functions from the space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$ which support belongs to $\overline{\mathbb{R}^m_+}$ with induced norm. Also we need the space $H^s_0(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ which consists of distributions from $S'(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ admitting a continuation in the whole space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$. A norm in the space $H^s_0(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ is defined by the formula

$$||u||_s^+ = \inf ||lu||_s,$$

where *infimum* is taken from all continuations *l*.

2.2 Operators

Here we consider difference operators with constant coefficients only of the type

$$\mathcal{D}: u(x) \longmapsto \sum_{|k|=0}^{\infty} a_k u(x + \alpha_k), \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\{a_k\}$ and $\{\alpha_k\}$ are given sequences in \mathbb{R}^m , and

$$\sum_{|k|=0}^{\infty} |a_k| < +\infty.$$
(2.2)

Definition 2.2. An operator \mathcal{D} of the type (2.1) with coefficients a_k satisfying (2.2) is called difference operator with constant coefficients.

Lemma 2.3. Every operator $\mathcal{D} : H^s(\mathbb{R}^m) \to H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$ with constant coefficients is a linear bounded operator $\forall s \in \mathbb{R}$.

2.3 Symbols

Definition 2.4. The function

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi) = \sum_{|k|=0}^{\infty} a_k e^{-i\alpha_k \cdot \xi}$$
(2.3)

is called a symbol of the operator \mathcal{D} . The symbol $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi)$ is called an **elliptic symbol** if $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi) \neq 0, \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{m}$.

Evidently under condition (2.2) $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}} \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$, but everywhere below we suppose that $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}} \in C(\mathbb{R}^m)$ taking into account that \mathbb{R}^m is a compactification of \mathbb{R}^m .

3 Equations and Factorization

3.1 Equations

We are interested in studying solvability of the Eq. (1.2). It can be written in the operator form

$$(\mathcal{D}u)(x) = v(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^m_+, \tag{3.1}$$

assuming that v is a given function in \mathbb{R}^m_+ , $v \in H^s_0(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$, the unknown function u is defined in \mathbb{R}^m_+ , $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$, and $\{\alpha_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}^m_+$.

By notation, $u_+(x) = u(x)$, lv is an arbitrary continuation of v on \mathbb{R}^m_+ . Then we put

$$u_{-}(x) = (lv)(x) - (\mathcal{D}u_{+})(x),$$

and see that $u_{-}(x) = 0, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{m}_{+}$, to explain this notation. Further we rewrite the last equation

$$(\mathcal{D}u_+)(x) + u_-(x) = (lv)(x)$$

and apply the Fourier transform

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi)\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) + \tilde{u}_{-}(\xi) = \tilde{l}\tilde{v}(\xi).$$
(3.2)

To solve the Eq. (3.2) with an elliptic symbol $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi)$, we need to introduce a concept of a factorization. Everywhere below we write $\sigma(\xi)$ instead of $\sigma_{\mathcal{D}}(\xi)$ for a brevity.

3.2 Factorization

Let us denote $\xi = (\xi', \xi_m), \xi' = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{m-1}).$

Definition 3.1. Let $\sigma(\xi)$ be an elliptic symbol. Factorization of elliptic symbol $\sigma(\xi)$ is called its representation in the form

$$\sigma(\xi) = \sigma_+(\xi)\sigma_-(\xi),$$

where factors $\sigma_{\pm}(\xi)$ admit an analytical continuation in upper and lower complex planes \mathbb{C}_{\pm} on the last variable ξ_m for almost all $\xi' \in \mathbb{R}^{m-1}$ and $\sigma_{\pm}(\xi) \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$.

Definition 3.2. Index of factorization for the elliptic symbol $\sigma(\xi)$ is called an integer

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\arg\sigma(\cdot,\xi_m).$$

Remark 3.3. The index æ is not really depended on ξ' because it is homotopic invariant.

Remark 3.4. It is a principal fact the index of factorization does not correlate with an order of operator. For our case the order of the operator \mathcal{D} is zero in a sense of Eskin's book [1], but the index may be an arbitrary integer. It is essential the index is a **topological barrier** for a solvability.

Proposition 3.5. If $\mathfrak{x} = 0$, then for any elliptic symbol $\sigma(\xi)$, a factorization

$$\sigma(\xi) = \sigma_+(\xi)\sigma_-(\xi)$$

exists, and it is unique up to a constant.

This is classical result, see details in [1-3, 7].

4 Solvability and Boundary Value Problems

4.1 Solvability

Everywhere below we will denote $\tilde{H}(D)$ the Fourier image of the space H(D).

Theorem 4.1. If |s| < 1/2, $\mathfrak{x} = 0$, then the Eq. (3.1) has a unique solution $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ for arbitrary right-hand side $v \in H^s_0(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$.

Proof. is a very simple. It is based on properties of the Hilbert transform

$$(H_{\xi'}u)(\xi',\xi_m) = \frac{1}{\pi i}v.p.\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{u(\xi',\eta_m)d\eta_m}{\xi_m - \eta_m}$$

which is a linear bounded operator $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m) \to H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$ for |s| < 1/2 [1]. This operator generates two projectors on some spaces consisting of boundary values of analytical functions in \mathbb{C}_{\pm} on the last variable ξ_m [1–3, 7]

$$\Pi_{\pm} = 1/2(I \pm H_{\xi'}),$$

so that the representation

$$f = f_{+} + f_{-} \equiv \Pi_{+}f + \Pi_{-}f$$

is unique for arbitrary $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$, |s| < 1/2. Further after factorization we write the equality (3.2) in the form

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) + \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{u}_{-}(\xi) = \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{l}v(\xi),$$

and else

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) - (\Pi_{+}(\sigma_{-}^{-1}\cdot \tilde{l}\tilde{v}))(\xi) = (\Pi_{-}(\sigma_{-}^{-1}\cdot \tilde{l}\tilde{v}))(\xi) - \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{u}_{-}(\xi).$$

So the left-hand side belongs to the space $\widetilde{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{+})$ and the left-hand side belongs to the space $\widetilde{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{-})$, and these should be zero. Hence

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) = \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi)(\Pi_{+}(\sigma_{-}^{-1} \cdot \tilde{lv}))(\xi).$$

It completes the proof. \triangle

4.2 General Solution

Let $x \in \mathbb{Z}$. First we introduce a function

$$\omega(\xi',\xi_m) = \left(\frac{\xi_m - i|\xi'| - i}{\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i}\right)^{\alpha},$$

which belongs to $C(\dot{\mathbb{R}}^m)$.

Evidently the functions $z \pm i |\xi'|$ for fixed $\xi' \in \mathbb{R}^{m-1}$ are analytical functions in complex half planes \mathbb{C}_{\pm} . Moreover

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\arg \frac{\xi_m - i|\xi'| - i}{\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i} = 1.$$

According to the index property [1-3, 7], a function

$$\omega^{-1}(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma(\xi',\xi_m)$$

has a vanishing index, and it can be factorized

$$\omega^{-1}(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma(\xi',\xi_m) = \sigma_{+}(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma_{-}(\xi',\xi_m),$$

so we have

$$\sigma(\xi',\xi_m) = \omega(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma_+(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma_-(\xi',\xi_m),$$

where

$$\sigma_{\pm}(\xi',\xi_m) = \exp(\Psi^{\pm}(\xi',\xi_m)), \quad \Psi^{\pm}(\xi',\xi_m) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\tau \to 0+} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\ln(\omega^{-1}\sigma)(\xi,\eta_m)d\eta_m}{\xi_m \pm i\tau - \eta_m}$$

Now the Eq. (3.2), we rewrite in the form

$$\begin{aligned} &(\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i)^{-x}\sigma_+(\xi)\tilde{u}_+(\xi) + (\xi_m - i|\xi'| - i)^{-x}\sigma_-^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{u}_-(\xi) \\ &= (\xi_m - i|\xi'| - i)^{-x}\sigma_-^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{l}\tilde{v}(\xi). \end{aligned}$$
(4.1)

Let us note the right-hand side of the Eq. (4.1) belongs to the space $\widetilde{H}^{s+\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m)$. If $|\alpha + s| < 1/2$, we go to Sect. 4.1.

4.2.1 Positive Case

If s + x > 1/2, we choose a minimal $n \in \mathbb{N}$ so that 0 < s + x - n < 1/2. Further we use a decomposition formula for operators Π_{\pm} [1] for $\tilde{f} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+x}(\mathbb{R}^m)$

$$\Pi_{\pm}\tilde{f} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\Pi' \Lambda_{\pm}^{k-1}\tilde{f}}{\Lambda_{\pm}^{k}} + \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\pm}^{n}} \Pi_{\pm} \Lambda_{\pm}^{n} \tilde{f}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where

$$\Lambda_{\pm}(\xi',\xi_m) = \xi_m \pm |\xi'| \pm i, \quad (\Pi'\tilde{f})(\xi') = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \tilde{f}(\xi',\xi_m) d\xi_m.$$

We rewrite the Eq. (4.1)

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{+}(\xi) + \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{-}(\xi) = \tilde{h}(\xi),$$

where $\tilde{w}_{\pm}(\xi) = (\xi_m \pm i |\xi'| \pm i)^{-x} \tilde{u}_{\pm}(\xi), \tilde{h}(\xi) = (\xi_m - i |\xi'| - i)^{-x} \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi) \tilde{lv}(\xi).$ Obviously $\tilde{w}_{\pm} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+x}(\mathbb{R}^m_{\pm}), \tilde{h} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+x}(\mathbb{R}^m).$ We set $s + x - n = \alpha, 0 < \alpha < 1/2.$

Since $s + \alpha = n + \alpha > \alpha$ then $\tilde{h} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m) \Longrightarrow h \in \widetilde{H}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m)$. According to Theorem 4.1, we have a solution of the last equation $\tilde{w}_+ \in \widetilde{H}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ in the form

$$\tilde{w}_+(\xi) = \sigma_+^{-1}(\xi)(\Pi_+\tilde{h})(\xi).$$

Thus

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) = (\xi_{m} + i|\xi'| + i)^{*}\sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi)(\Pi_{+}\tilde{h})(\xi),$$

so that $\tilde{u}_+ \in \widetilde{H}^{\alpha-\mathfrak{x}}(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$. Now we apply the formula (4.2) to the expression $\Pi_+ \tilde{h}$ and obtain the following representation

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\tilde{c}_{k}(\xi')}{\sigma_{+}(\xi)\Lambda_{+}^{k-\alpha}(\xi',\xi_{m})} + \frac{1}{\sigma_{+}(\xi)\Lambda_{+}^{n-\alpha}(\xi',\xi_{m})} (\Pi_{\pm}\Lambda_{+}^{n}\tilde{h})(\xi',\xi_{m}), \quad (4.3)$$

where $\tilde{c}_k = (\Pi' \Lambda_+^{k-1}) \tilde{h}$. It is not hard concluding $\tilde{c}_k \in \widetilde{H}^{s_k}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1})$, $s_k = s + \mathfrak{x} - k + 1/2$. So we have the following

Proposition 4.2. If $s + \mathfrak{x} > 1/2$, then for the solution of the Eq. (3.1), the representation (4.3) is valid.

Note. One can prove that the functions $\tilde{c}_k \in \widetilde{H}^{s_k}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1})$ and $s_k = s + \alpha - k + 1/2$ are defined uniquely.

4.2.2 Negative Case

If $s + \alpha < -1/2$, we choose a polynomial $Q_n(\xi)$ without real zeroes so that $-1/2 < s + \alpha + n < 0$, and use the equality

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{+}(\xi) + \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{-}(\xi) = \tilde{h}(\xi)$$

from Sect. 4.2.1 once again. Since $\tilde{h} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+x}(\mathbb{R}^m)$, we represent

$$\tilde{h} = Q\Pi_{+}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h}) + Q\Pi_{-}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h})$$

because $Q^{-1}\tilde{h} \in \widetilde{H}^{s+\alpha+n}(\mathbb{R}^m)$. Further we work with the equality

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{+}(\xi) + \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{-}(\xi) = Q\Pi_{+}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h}) + Q\Pi_{-}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h})$$

or in other words

$$\sigma_{+}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{+}(\xi) - Q\Pi_{+}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h}) = Q\Pi_{-}(Q^{-1}\tilde{h}) - \sigma_{-}^{-1}(\xi)\tilde{w}_{-}(\xi)$$

So the left-hand side belongs to the space $\widetilde{H}^{s+\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$, and the left-hand side belongs to the space $\widetilde{H}^{s+\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^m_-)$ so it is distribution supported on \mathbb{R}^{m-1} . Its general form in Fourier images is [1]

$$\sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{c}_j(\xi')\xi_m^{j-1}.$$

Thus we have the formula $(\tilde{g}_+ = \Pi_+ (Q^{-1}\tilde{h}))$

$$(\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i)^{-x} \sigma_+(\xi) \tilde{u}_+(\xi) - Q_n(\xi)g_+(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{c}_j(\xi')\xi_m^{j-1}.$$

and a lot of solutions

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) = (\xi_{m} + i|\xi'| + i)^{*} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi) Q_{n}(\xi) g_{+}(\xi) + (\xi_{m} + i|\xi'| + i)^{*} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \tilde{c}_{j}(\xi') \xi_{m}^{j-1}.$$

It is left to verify that functions $\tilde{C}_j(\xi) = (\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i)^{\alpha} \sigma_+^{-1}(\xi) \tilde{c}_j(\xi') \xi_m^j$ belong to $\widetilde{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$. We have

$$||C_j||_s^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} |\tilde{c}_j(\xi')|^2 |\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i|^{2\mathfrak{a}} |\sigma_+^{-2}(\xi)| |\xi_m|^{2j} (1 + |\xi|)^{2s} d\xi,$$

and passing to repeated integral, we first calculate

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} |\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i|^{2x} |\xi_m|^{2j} (1 + |\xi|)^{2s} d\xi_m,$$

which exists only if a + j + s < -1/2. Hence we obtain after integration that $C_j \in H^{a+j+s+1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1})$.

Thus we have proved the following

Theorem 4.3. If $s + \alpha < -1/2$, then the Eq. (3.1) has many solutions in the space $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{+})$, and the formula for a general solution in Fourier image

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi',\xi_m) = (\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i)^{x} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi) Q_n(\xi) \tilde{g}_{+}(\xi',\xi_m) + (\xi_m + i|\xi'| + i)^{x} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi',\xi_m) \sum_{k=0}^{x-1} c_k(\xi') \xi_m^k$$

holds, where $c_k \in H^{s_k}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1})$, $s_k = -\mathfrak{x} + k + 1/2$, $k = 0, \dots, \mathfrak{x} - 1$ are arbitrary functions.

Corollary 4.4. If under assumptions of the Theorem 4.3 $v \equiv 0$, then a general solution of the equation

$$(\mathcal{D}u)(x) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \tag{4.4}$$

has the form

$$\tilde{u}_{+}(\xi) = (\xi_{m} + i|\xi'| + i)^{x} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi', \xi_{m}) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{c}_{k}(\xi') \xi_{m}^{k-1}.$$
(4.5)

4.3 Boundary Conditions

For a brevity we consider a homogeneous equation using the Corollary 4.4. We need some additional conditions to uniquely determine the functions $\tilde{c}_k, k = 1, \dots, n$. It is an interesting fact that we cannot use the same conditions for positive and negative

æ. Moreover the boundary operators in a certain sense are determined by the formula for a general solution. We consider below very simple boundary operators. Usually such operators are traces of some pseudo-differential operators on the hyperplane $x_m = 0$. But it is possible not for all cases.

4.3.1 Positive Case

Let us assume we know the values of \tilde{u}_+ in *n* distinct hyperplanes from \mathbb{R}^m of type $\xi_m = p_j$. We denote $\tilde{u}_+(\xi', p_j) \equiv \tilde{r}_j(\xi')$ and obtain from the formula (4.5) the following system of linear algebraic equations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{c}_{k}(\xi') p_{j}^{k-1} = \tilde{r}_{j}(\xi') (p_{j} + i|\xi'| + i)^{*} \sigma_{+}^{-1}(\xi', p_{j}), \quad j = 1, \cdots, n.$$

Obviously the system is uniquely solvable because its matrix has the Vandermonde determinant. To formulate a corresponding boundary value problem, we need some preliminaries.

We take the following boundary conditions

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} u_{+}(x', x_{m})e^{-ip_{j}x_{m}}dx_{m} = r_{j}(x'), \quad j = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(4.6)

It will mean $\tilde{u}_+(\xi', p_j) = \tilde{r}_j(\xi')$. If $u_+ \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ then $r_j \in H^{s-1/2}(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ [1]. So we have the following

Theorem 4.5. Let $r_j \in H^{s-1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1}), j = 1, \dots, n$. Then the boundary value problem (4.4), (4.6) has a unique solution in the space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$.

Note. One can consider a linear combination of the conditions (4.6) and require nonvanishing the associated determinant.

4.3.2 Negative Case

This case admits integration for the right-hand side of the formula (4.5); thus, we take boundary conditions in the standard form

$$(A_j u_+)(x)|_{x_m=0} = r_j(x'), \quad j = 1, \cdots, n,$$
 (4.7)

where A_j are pseudo-differential operators with symbols $A_j(\xi', \xi_m)$ satisfying the condition

$$|A_{i}(\xi',\xi_{m}) \sim (1+|\xi'|+|\xi_{m}|)^{\gamma_{j}}$$

Let us denote

$$a_{jk}(\xi') = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} A_j(\xi',\xi_m)(\xi_m+i|\xi'|+i)^{x}\sigma_+^{-1}(\xi',\xi_m)\xi_m^{k-1}d\xi_m.$$

Theorem 4.6. Let $\gamma_j + \alpha + k < -1, r_j \in H^{s_j}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1}), s_j = s - \gamma_j - 1/2, \forall j, k = 1, \dots, n, and the$

$$\inf_{\xi' \in \mathbb{R}^{m-1}} |\det(a_{jk}(\xi'))_{j,k=1}^n| > 0.$$

Then the boundary value problem (4.4),(4.7) has a unique solution in the space $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{+})$.

5 Conclusion

There are a lot of possibilities to state distinct problems for the Eq. (3.1) adding some additional conditions. Also it seems to be interesting to transfer this approach and results to a discrete case, i.e., for spaces of a discrete variable. This will be discussed elsewhere.

Acknowledgements This work was partially supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research and government of Lipetsk region of Russia, project no. 14-41-03595-a.

References

- 1. Eskin, G.: Boundary Value Problems for Elliptic Pseudodifferential Equations. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1981)
- 2. Gakhov, F.D.: Boundary Value Problems. Dover Publications, New York (1981)
- 3. Gokhberg, I., Krupnik, N.: Introduction to the Theory of One Dimensional Singular Integral Equations. Birkhäuser, Boston (2010)
- 4. Jordan, C.: Calculus of Finite Differences. Chelsea Publishing Company, New York (1950)
- Milne-Thomson, L.M.: The Calculus of Finite Differences. Chelsea Publishing Company, New York (1981)
- 6. Mikhlin, S.G., Prößdorf, S.: Singular Integral Operators. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin (1986)
- 7. Muskhelishvili, N.I.: Singular Integral Equations. North Holland, Amsterdam (1976)
- Titchmarsh, E.: Introduction to the Theory of Fourier Integrals. Chelsea Publishing Company, New York (1986)
- Vasil'ev, V.B.: Wave Factorization of Elliptic Symbols: Theory and Applications. Introduction to the Theory of Boundary Value Problems in Non-Smooth Domains. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston (2000)

- Vasilyev, V.B.: General boundary value problems for Pseudo differential equations and related difference equations. Adv. Differ. Equ. 2013(289), 1–7 (2013)
- 11. Vasilyev, V.B.: On some difference equations of first order. Tatra Mt. Math. Publ. **54**, 165–181 (2013)
- Vasilyev, A.V., Vasilyev, V.B.: On some classes of difference equations of infinite order. Adv. Differ. Equ. 2015(211), 1–9 (2015)

Discrete Dirac-Kähler and Hestenes Equations

Volodymyr Sushch

Abstract A discrete analogue of the Dirac equation in the Hestenes form is constructed by introduction of the Clifford product on the space of discrete forms. We discuss the relation between the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation and the discrete Hestenes equation.

Keywords Dirac-Kähler equation • Hestenes equation • Clifford product • Discrete models • Difference equations

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 81Q05, 39A12, 81R05

1 Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to discuss the relation between the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation which was constructed in [9, 10] and a discrete analogue of the Hestenes equation. We show that the geometric discretization scheme as developed in [10] can be used to find a new discrete formulation of the Dirac equation for a free electron in the Hestenes form.

We first briefly review some definitions and basic notation on the Dirac-Kähler equation [6, 8]. Let $M = \mathbb{R}^{1,3}$ be Minkowski space with metric signature (+, -, -, -). Denote by $\Lambda^r(M)$ the vector space of smooth differential *r*-forms, r = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4. We consider $\Lambda^r(M)$ over \mathbb{C} . Let $d : \Lambda^r(M) \to \Lambda^{r+1}(M)$ be the exterior differential and let $\delta : \Lambda^r(M) \to \Lambda^{r-1}(M)$ be the formal adjoint of *d* with respect to the natural inner product in $\Lambda^r(M)$ (codifferential). We have $\delta = *d*$, where * is the Hodge star operator $* : \Lambda^r(M) \to \Lambda^{4-r}(M)$ with respect to the Lorentz metric. Denote by $\Lambda(M)$ the set of all differential forms on *M*. We have

433

V. Sushch (🖂)

Koszalin University of Technology, Sniadeckich 2, 75-453 Koszalin, Poland e-mail: volodymyr.sushch@tu.koszalin.pl

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_40

$$\Lambda(M) = \Lambda^{0}(M) \oplus \Lambda^{1}(M) \oplus \Lambda^{2}(M) \oplus \Lambda^{3}(M) \oplus \Lambda^{4}(M) = \Lambda^{ev}(M) \oplus \Lambda^{od}(M),$$

where $\Lambda^{ev}(M) = \Lambda^0(M) \oplus \Lambda^2(M) \oplus \Lambda^4(M)$ and $\Lambda^{od}(M) = \Lambda^1(M) \oplus \Lambda^3(M)$.

Let $\Omega \in \Lambda(M)$ be an inhomogeneous differential form and then $\Omega = \sum_{r=0}^{4} \overset{r}{\omega}$, where $\overset{r}{\omega} \in \Lambda^{r}(M)$. Denote by Ω^{ev} and by Ω^{od} the even and odd parts of Ω , i.e. $\Omega^{ev} = \overset{0}{\omega} + \overset{2}{\omega} + \overset{4}{\omega}$ and $\Omega^{od} = \overset{1}{\omega} + \overset{3}{\omega}$. The Dirac-Kähler equation is given by

$$i(d+\delta)\Omega = m\Omega,\tag{1}$$

where *i* is the usual complex unit ($i^2 = -1$) and *m* is a mass parameter. It is easy to show that Eq. (1) is equivalent to the set of equations

$$i(d+\delta)\Omega^{od} = m\Omega^{ev}, \qquad i(d+\delta)\Omega^{ev} = m\Omega^{od}.$$

The operator $d + \delta$ is the analogue of the gradient operator in Minkowski spacetime $\nabla = \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} \gamma_{\mu} \partial^{\mu}$, $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$, where γ_{μ} is the Dirac gamma matrix. Think of $\{\gamma_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3\}$ as a vector basis in space-time. Then the gamma matrices γ_{μ} can be considered as generators of the Clifford algebra of space-time $C\ell(1, 3)$ [2]. The complex Clifford algebra $C\ell(1, 3)$ is a complex 16-dimensional vector space. It is known that an inhomogeneous form Ω can be represented as element of $C\ell(1, 3)$ over the complex field \mathbb{C} . Then the Dirac-Kähler equation can be written as an algebraic equation in $C\ell(1, 3)$ over \mathbb{C}

$$i\nabla\Omega = m\Omega, \quad \Omega \in C\ell(1,3).$$
 (2)

Equation (2) is equivalent to the four Dirac equations (traditional column-spinor equations) for a free electron. Let $C\ell^{ev}(1,3)$ be the even subalgebra of the real algebra $C\ell(1,3)$. The equation

$$-\nabla \Omega \gamma_1 \gamma_2 = m \Omega \gamma_0, \quad \Omega \in C\ell^{ev}(1,3) \tag{3}$$

is called the Hestenes form of the Dirac equation [4, 5]. The Hestenes equation is equivalent to the Dirac equation [5, 7]. Suppose that for exterior forms (elements of $\Lambda(M)$) the Clifford multiplication is defined. In this case the basis covectors $e^{\mu} = dx^{\mu}$ and $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ of space-time are considered as generators of the Clifford algebra. The resulting algebra $\Lambda(M)$ with two multiplications is called the Grassmann-Clifford bialgebra [7]. Thus, Eq. (3) can be rewritten in terms of inhomogeneous forms as

$$-(d+\delta)\Omega e^1 e^2 = m\Omega e^0, \tag{4}$$

where $\Omega \in \Lambda^{ev}(M)$ is a real-valued form.

In this paper we construct a discrete analogue of the Hestenes Eq.(4) by introduction of the Clifford product on the space of discrete forms. In much the same

way as in the continuum case [1], it is shown that a solution of the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation gives rise to four independent solutions of the discrete Hestenes equation. Note that the discrete model is expressed clearly in terms of difference equations.

2 Discrete Dirac-Kähler Equation

We use a discretization scheme based on the language of differential forms and the double complex construction which is described in our preceding paper [10]. Due to space limitations, this paper does not include the relevant material from [10]. We refer the reader to [9, 10] for full mathematical details of the approach. This approach was originated by Dezin [3]. Let $K(4) = K \otimes K \otimes K \otimes K$ be a cochain complex with complex coefficients, where K is the one-dimensional complex generated by zero- and one-dimensional basis elements x^{κ} and e^{κ} , $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}$, respectively. Then an arbitrary r-dimensional basis element of K(4) can be written as $s_{(r)}^k = s^{k_0} \otimes s^{k_1} \otimes s^{k_2} \otimes s^{k_3}$, where $s^{k_{\mu}}$ is either $x^{k_{\mu}}$ or $e^{k_{\mu}}$, $k = (k_0, k_1, k_2, k_3)$ and $k_{\mu} \in \mathbb{Z}$. The dimension r of a basis element $s_{(r)}^k$ is given by the number of factors $e^{k_{\mu}}$ that appear in it. For example, the one-dimensional basis elements of K(4) can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} e_0^k &= e^{k_0} \otimes x^{k_1} \otimes x^{k_2} \otimes x^{k_3}, \qquad e_1^k &= x^{k_0} \otimes e^{k_1} \otimes x^{k_2} \otimes x^{k_3}, \\ e_2^k &= x^{k_0} \otimes x^{k_1} \otimes e^{k_2} \otimes x^{k_3}, \qquad e_3^k &= x^{k_0} \otimes x^{k_1} \otimes x^{k_2} \otimes e^{k_3}, \end{aligned}$$

where the subscript $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ indicates a place of $e^{k_{\mu}}$ in e^{k}_{μ} . The complex K(4) is a discrete analogue of $\Lambda(M)$. The cochains we will call forms, emphasising their relationship with the corresponding continuum objects, namely differential forms. Denote by $K^{r}(4)$ the set of all *r*-forms. Then we have

$$K(4) = K^{0}(4) \oplus K^{1}(4) \oplus K^{2}(4) \oplus K^{3}(4) \oplus K^{4}(4) = K^{ev}(4) \oplus K^{od}(4),$$

where $K^{ev}(4) = K^0(4) \oplus K^2(4) \oplus K^4(4)$ and $K^{od}(4) = K^1(4) \oplus K^3(4)$. Any *r*-form $\omega^r \in K^r(4)$ can be expressed as

$$\overset{0}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \overset{0}{\omega}_{k} x^{k}, \qquad \overset{4}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \overset{4}{\omega}_{k} e^{k}, \tag{5}$$

where $x^k = x^{k_0} \otimes x^{k_1} \otimes x^{k_2} \otimes x^{k_3}$ and $e^k = e^{k_0} \otimes e^{k_1} \otimes e^{k_2} \otimes e^{k_3}$, and

$${}^{1}_{\omega} = \sum_{k} \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} \omega_{k}^{\mu} e_{\mu}^{k}, \qquad {}^{2}_{\omega} = \sum_{k} \sum_{\mu < \nu} \omega_{k}^{\mu\nu} e_{\mu\nu}^{k}, \qquad {}^{3}_{\omega} = \sum_{k} \sum_{\iota < \mu < \nu} \omega_{k}^{\iota\mu\nu} e_{\iota\mu\nu}^{k}, \quad (6)$$

where e_{μ}^{k} , $e_{\mu\nu}^{k}$ and $e_{\mu\nu}^{t}$ are one-, two- and three-dimensional basic elements of K(4). The components $\overset{0}{\omega_{k}}$, $\overset{4}{\omega_{k}}$, ω_{k}^{μ} , $\omega_{k}^{\mu\nu}$ and $\omega_{k}^{\mu\nu\nu}$ are complex numbers. A discrete inhomogeneous form $\Omega \in K(4)$ is defined to be

$$\Omega = \overset{0}{\omega} + \overset{1}{\omega} + \overset{2}{\omega} + \overset{3}{\omega} + \overset{4}{\omega}.$$
 (7)

Let $d^c: K^r(4) \to K^{r+1}(4)$ be a discrete analogue of the exterior derivative d and let $\delta^c: K^r(4) \to K^{r-1}(4)$ be a discrete analogue of the codifferential δ . For definitions of these operators and other discrete operations (the \cup -multiplication, the discrete Hodge star and so on), we refer the reader to [10]. In this paper we give only the difference expression for d^c and δ^c . Let the difference operator Δ_{μ} be defined by

$$\Delta_{\mu}\omega_{k}^{(r)} = \omega_{\tau_{\mu}k}^{(r)} - \omega_{k}^{(r)}, \qquad (8)$$

where $\omega_k^{(r)} \in \mathbb{C}$ is a component of $\overset{r}{\omega} \in K^r(4)$ and τ_{μ} is the shift operator which acts as $\tau_{\mu}k = (k_0, \dots, k_{\mu} + 1, \dots, k_3), \ \mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$. For forms (5) and (6), we have

$$d^{c}\overset{0}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} \left(\Delta_{\mu}\overset{0}{\omega_{k}} \right) e^{k}_{\mu}, \qquad d^{c}\overset{1}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \sum_{\mu<\nu} \left(\Delta_{\mu}\omega_{k}^{\nu} - \Delta_{\nu}\omega_{k}^{\mu} \right) e^{k}_{\mu\nu}, \tag{9}$$

$$d^{c} \overset{2}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \left[\left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{12} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{02} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{01} \right) e_{012}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{13} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{03} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{01} \right) e_{013}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{23} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{03} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{02} \right) e_{023}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{23} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{13} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{12} \right) e_{123}^{k} \right],$$

$$(10)$$

$$d^{c}\overset{3}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \left(\Delta_{0}\omega_{k}^{123} - \Delta_{1}\omega_{k}^{023} + \Delta_{2}\omega_{k}^{013} - \Delta_{3}\omega_{k}^{012} \right) e^{k}, \qquad d^{c}\overset{4}{\omega} = 0, \quad (11)$$

$$\delta^c \overset{0}{\omega} = 0, \qquad \delta^c \overset{1}{\omega} = \sum_k \left(\Delta_0 \omega_k^0 - \Delta_1 \omega_k^1 - \Delta_2 \omega_k^2 - \Delta_3 \omega_k^3 \right) x^k, \qquad (12)$$

$$\delta^{c} \overset{2}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \left[\left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{01} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{02} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{03} \right) e_{0}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{01} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{12} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{13} \right) e_{1}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{02} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{12} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{23} \right) e_{2}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{03} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{13} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{23} \right) e_{3}^{k} \right], \quad (13)$$

$$\delta^{c} \overset{3}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \left[\left(-\Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{012} - \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{013} \right) e_{01}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{012} - \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{023} \right) e_{02}^{k} \right. \\ \left. + \left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{013} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{023} \right) e_{03}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{012} - \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{123} \right) e_{12}^{k} \right. \\ \left. + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{013} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{123} \right) e_{13}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{023} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{123} \right) e_{23}^{k} \right],$$
(14)

$$\delta^{c} \overset{4}{\omega} = \sum_{k} \left[\left(\Delta_{3} \overset{4}{\omega_{k}} \right) e_{012}^{k} - \left(\Delta_{2} \overset{4}{\omega_{k}} \right) e_{013}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{1} \overset{4}{\omega_{k}} \right) e_{023}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \overset{4}{\omega_{k}} \right) e_{123}^{k} \right].$$
(15)

Let $\Omega \in K(4)$ be given by (7). A discrete analogue of the Dirac-Kähler Eq. (1) can be defined as

$$i(d^c + \delta^c)\Omega = m\Omega. \tag{16}$$

We can write this equation more explicitly by separating its homogeneous components as

$$i\delta^{c}\overset{1}{\omega} = m\overset{0}{\omega}, \quad i(d^{c}\overset{1}{\omega} + \delta^{c}\overset{3}{\omega}) = m\overset{2}{\omega}, \quad id^{c}\overset{3}{\omega} = m\overset{4}{\omega},$$
$$i(d^{c}\overset{0}{\omega} + \delta^{c}\overset{2}{\omega}) = m\overset{1}{\omega}, \quad i(d^{c}\overset{2}{\omega} + \delta^{c}\overset{4}{\omega}) = m\overset{3}{\omega}. \tag{17}$$

Substituting (9)–(15) into (17), one obtains the set of 16 difference equations [10].

3 Clifford Multiplication in *K*(4) and Discrete Hestenes Equation

Let us define the Clifford multiplication in K(4) by the following rules:

1.
$$x^k e^k_\mu = e^k_\mu x^k = e^k_\mu$$
, $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3;$
2. $e^k_\mu e^k_\nu + e^k_\nu e^k_\mu = 2g_{\mu\nu}x^k$, where $g_{\mu\nu} = diag(1, -1, -1, -1)$ is the metric tensor;
3. $e^k_{\mu_1} \cdots e^k_{\mu_s} = e^k_{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_s}$ for $0 \le \mu_1 < \cdots < \mu_s \le 3$.

Note that the multiplication is defined for the basis elements of K(4) with the same multi-index $k = (k_0, k_1, k_2, k_3)$ supposing the product to be zero in all other cases. The operation is linearly extended to arbitrary discrete forms. For example, for any ω^1 , $\psi^2 \in K^1(4)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \overset{1}{\omega} \overset{1}{\varphi} &= \left(\sum_{k} \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} \omega_{k}^{\mu} e_{\mu}^{k} \right) \left(\sum_{k} \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} \varphi_{k}^{\mu} e_{\mu}^{k} \right) = \sum_{k} \left(\omega_{k}^{0} \varphi_{k}^{0} - \omega_{k}^{1} \varphi_{k}^{1} - \omega_{k}^{2} \varphi_{k}^{2} - \omega_{k}^{3} \varphi_{k}^{3} \right) x^{k} \\ &+ \sum_{k} \left[\left(\omega_{k}^{0} \varphi_{k}^{1} - \omega_{k}^{1} \varphi_{\mu}^{0} \right) e_{01}^{k} + \left(\omega_{k}^{0} \varphi_{k}^{2} - \omega_{k}^{2} \varphi_{\mu}^{0} \right) e_{02}^{k} + \left(\omega_{k}^{0} \varphi_{k}^{3} - \omega_{k}^{3} \varphi_{\mu}^{0} \right) e_{03}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\omega_{k}^{1} \varphi_{k}^{2} - \omega_{k}^{2} \varphi_{k}^{1} \right) e_{12}^{k} + \left(\omega_{k}^{1} \varphi_{k}^{3} - \omega_{k}^{3} \varphi_{k}^{1} \right) e_{13}^{k} + \left(\omega_{k}^{2} \varphi_{k}^{3} - \omega_{k}^{3} \varphi_{\mu}^{2} \right) e_{23}^{k} \right]. \end{split}$$

Proposition 1. For any inhomogeneous form $\Omega \in K(4)$, we have

$$(d^{c} + \delta^{c})\Omega = \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} e_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} \Omega, \qquad (18)$$

where

$$e_{\mu} = \sum_{k} e_{\mu}^{k}, \qquad \mu = 0, 1, 2, 3,$$
 (19)

and Δ_{μ} is the difference operator which acts on each component of Ω by the rule (8).

Proof. We prove the claim only for the case of even forms. Similar calculations apply to the case of odd forms. Let $\Omega^{ev} = \overset{0}{\omega} + \overset{2}{\omega} + \overset{4}{\omega}$ be the even part of Ω . We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} e_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} \overset{0}{\omega} &= \sum_{k} \left(\Delta_{0} \overset{0}{\omega}_{k} e_{0}^{k} + \Delta_{1} \overset{0}{\omega}_{k} e_{1}^{k} + \Delta_{2} \overset{0}{\omega}_{k} e_{2}^{k} + \Delta_{3} \overset{0}{\omega}_{k} e_{3}^{k} \right), \\ \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} e_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} \overset{2}{\omega} &= \sum_{k} \left[\left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{01} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{02} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{03} \right) e_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{01} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{12} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{13} \right) e_{1}^{k} + \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{02} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{12} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{23} \right) e_{2}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{03} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{13} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{23} \right) e_{3}^{k} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{k} \left[\left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{12} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{02} + \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{01} \right) e_{012}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{13} - \Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{03} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{01} \right) e_{013}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\Delta_{0} \omega_{k}^{23} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{03} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{02} \right) e_{023}^{k} \\ &+ \left(\Delta_{1} \omega_{k}^{23} - \Delta_{2} \omega_{k}^{13} + \Delta_{3} \omega_{k}^{12} \right) e_{123}^{k} \right], \end{split}$$

Summing both sides of the above and using (9)-(15), we obtain

$$\sum_{\mu=0}^{3} e_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} \Omega^{ev} = \sum_{\mu=0}^{3} e_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} (\overset{0}{\omega} + \overset{2}{\omega} + \overset{4}{\omega})$$
$$= d^{c} (\overset{0}{\omega} + \overset{2}{\omega}) + \delta^{c} (\overset{2}{\omega} + \overset{4}{\omega}) = (d^{c} + \delta^{c}) \Omega^{ev}.$$

Thus the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation can be rewritten in the form

$$i\sum_{i=0}^{3}e_{\mu}\Delta_{\mu}\Omega=m\Omega.$$

Let $\Omega \in K^{ev}(4)$ be a real-valued even inhomogeneous form. A discrete analogue of the Hestenes Eq. (4) is defined by

$$-(d^c + \delta^c)\Omega e_1 e_2 = m\Omega e_0, \tag{20}$$

where e_0 , e_1 and e_2 are given by (19). This equation can be expressed in terms of difference equations. Substituting (9)–(15) into (20) and by the rules (1)–(3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \Delta_0 \omega_k^{12} - \Delta_1 \omega_k^{02} + \Delta_2 \omega_k^{01} + \Delta_3 \overset{4}{\omega}_k = m \overset{0}{\omega}_k, \\ & \Delta_2 \overset{0}{\omega}_k + \Delta_0 \omega_k^{02} - \Delta_1 \omega_k^{12} + \Delta_3 \omega_k^{23} = m \omega_k^{01}, \\ & -\Delta_1 \overset{0}{\omega}_k - \Delta_0 \omega_k^{01} - \Delta_2 \omega_k^{12} - \Delta_3 \omega_k^{13} = m \omega_k^{02}, \\ & -\Delta_1 \omega_k^{23} + \Delta_2 \omega_k^{13} - \Delta_3 \omega_k^{12} - \Delta_0 \overset{4}{\omega}_k = m \omega_k^{03}, \\ & -\Delta_0 \overset{0}{\omega}_k - \Delta_1 \omega_k^{01} - \Delta_2 \omega_k^{02} - \Delta_3 \omega_k^{03} = m \omega_k^{12}, \\ & -\Delta_0 \omega_k^{23} + \Delta_2 \omega_k^{03} - \Delta_3 \omega_k^{02} - \Delta_1 \overset{4}{\omega}_k = m \omega_k^{13}, \\ & \Delta_0 \omega_k^{13} - \Delta_1 \omega_k^{03} + \Delta_3 \omega_k^{01} - \Delta_2 \overset{4}{\omega}_k = m \omega_k^{23}, \\ & \Delta_3 \overset{0}{\omega}_k + \Delta_0 \omega_k^{03} - \Delta_1 \omega_k^{13} - \Delta_2 \omega_k^{23} = m \overset{4}{\omega}_k. \end{split}$$

Let us introduce the following constant forms:

$$P_{\pm 0} = \frac{1}{2}(x \pm e_0), \qquad P_{\pm 12} = \frac{1}{2}(x \pm ie_1e_2),$$
 (21)

where $x = \sum_{k} x^{k}$ is the unit 0-form, and e_{μ} is given by (19). Note that x plays a role of the unit element in K(4). It is easy to check that

$$(P_{\pm 0})^2 = P_{\pm 0}P_{\pm 0} = P_{\pm 0}, \qquad (P_{\pm 12})^2 = P_{\pm 12}P_{\pm 12} = P_{\pm 12}.$$

Hence, the forms $P_{\pm 0}$ and $P_{\pm 12}$ are projectors.

Proposition 2. The projectors $P_{\pm 0}$ and $P_{\pm 12}$ have the following properties:

$$P_{\pm 0}P_{\pm 12} = P_{\pm 12}P_{\pm 0}, \quad e_0 P_{\pm 0} = P_{\pm 0}e_0, \quad e_1 e_2 P_{\pm 12} = P_{\pm 12}e_1e_2, \tag{22}$$

$$P_{\pm 0} = \pm P_{\pm 0} e_0, \qquad P_{\pm 12} = \pm i P_{\pm 12} e_1 e_2.$$
 (23)

Proof. The proof is a computation.
Let

$$P_{++} = P_{+0}P_{+12}, \quad P_{+-} = P_{+0}P_{-12}, \quad P_{-+} = P_{-0}P_{+12}, \quad P_{--} = P_{-0}P_{-12}.$$
(24)

It is obvious that (24) are projectors again.

Proposition 3. Any inhomogeneous form $\Omega \in K(4)$ decomposes into four parts

$$\Omega = \Omega P_{++} + \Omega P_{-+} + \Omega P_{+-} + \Omega P_{--}.$$
(25)

Proof. By (21) Ω can be represented as

$$\Omega = \Omega P_{+0} + \Omega P_{-0}$$
 or $\Omega = \Omega P_{+12} + \Omega P_{-12}$.

This yields

$$\Omega = (\Omega P_{+0} + \Omega P_{-0})P_{+12} + (\Omega P_{+0} + \Omega P_{-0})P_{-12}.$$

Hence, by (24) we obtain (25).

Recall that the Hestenes equation is defined on real-valued even forms. First suppose that the discrete Hestenes Eq. (20) acts in K(4), i.e. acts in the same space as the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation.

Proposition 4. Let $\Omega \in K(4)$ be a solution of the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation and then ΩP_{++} and ΩP_{--} satisfy Eq. (20), while ΩP_{-+} and ΩP_{+-} satisfy the same equation but the sign of the right-hand side changed to its opposite.

Proof. It suffices to prove the claim for one of the projectors (24), say for P_{++} . The other cases are similar. Multiplying Eq. (16) from the right by the projector P_{++} , we obtain

$$i(d^c + \delta^c)\Omega P_{++} = m\Omega P_{++}.$$
(26)

Since P_{++} is constant, using (22) and (23), we have

$$i(d^{c} + \delta^{c})\Omega P_{++} = i(d^{c} + \delta^{c})\Omega P_{+0}P_{+12} = i^{2}(d^{c} + \delta^{c})\Omega P_{+0}P_{+12}e_{1}e_{2}$$
$$= -(d^{c} + \delta^{c})(\Omega P_{++})e_{1}e_{2},$$

$$\Omega P_{++} = \Omega P_{+0} P_{+12} = \Omega P_{+12} P_{+0} e_0 = \Omega P_{++} e_0.$$

Substituting this into (26) yields

$$-(d^c+\delta^c)(\Omega P_{++})e_1e_2=m(\Omega P_{++})e_0.$$

Let $\overline{\Omega}$ be the complex conjugate of Ω . Consider the real-valued forms Ω_+ and Ω_- given by

$$\Omega_{\pm} = \pm \frac{1}{2} (\Omega + \overline{\Omega}) e_0 \pm \frac{i}{2} (\Omega - \overline{\Omega}) e_1 e_2.$$
⁽²⁷⁾

By (22) and (23), it is easy to check that

$$\Omega P_{++} = \Omega_+ P_{++}, \qquad \Omega P_{--} = \Omega_- P_{--}.$$

Hence, if Ω is a solution of the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation, then Ω_+P_{++} and Ω_-P_{--} are solutions of Eq. (20). The forms Ω_+P_{++} and Ω_-P_{--} are complex-valued again. However, if Ω_+P_{++} and Ω_-P_{--} are solutions of Eq. (20) then the real and image parts of these complex-valued forms are also solutions of Eq. (20). This is obvious since the discrete Hestenes equation is real and linear. The real and image parts of Ω_+P_{++} are

$$\operatorname{Re}(\Omega_{+}P_{++}) = \frac{1}{4}(\Omega_{+} + \Omega_{+}e_{0}), \qquad \operatorname{Im}(\Omega_{+}P_{++}) = \frac{1}{4}(\Omega_{+}e_{1}e_{2} + \Omega_{+}e_{0}e_{1}e_{2}).$$

Set

$$\Omega_1 = \Omega_+, \qquad \Omega_2 = \Omega_+ e_0, \qquad \Omega_3 = \Omega_+ e_1 e_2, \qquad \Omega_4 = \Omega_+ e_0 e_1 e_2.$$

Now we take the even part of these forms. A direct computation gives

$$\Omega_{1}^{ev} = \frac{1}{2} (\Omega^{od} + \overline{\Omega}^{od}) e_{0} + \frac{i}{2} (\Omega^{ev} - \overline{\Omega}^{ev}) e_{1} e_{2},$$

$$\Omega_{2}^{ev} = \frac{1}{2} (\Omega^{ev} + \overline{\Omega}^{ev}) + \frac{i}{2} (\Omega^{od} - \overline{\Omega}^{od}) e_{0} e_{1} e_{2},$$

$$\Omega_{3}^{ev} = \frac{1}{2} (\Omega^{od} + \overline{\Omega}^{od}) e_{0} e_{1} e_{2} - \frac{i}{2} (\Omega^{ev} - \overline{\Omega}^{ev}),$$

$$\Omega_{4}^{ev} = \frac{1}{2} (\Omega^{ev} + \overline{\Omega}^{ev}) e_{1} e_{2} - \frac{i}{2} (\Omega^{od} - \overline{\Omega}^{od}) e_{0},$$
(28)

where Ω^{ev} and Ω^{od} are the even and odd parts of $\Omega = \Omega^{ev} + \Omega^{od}$. Thus, we have preced the following

Thus, we have proved the following

Proposition 5. Let $\Omega \in K(4)$ be a solution of the discrete Dirac-Kähler equation. Then $\Omega_j^{ev} \in K^{ev}(4)$ and j = 1, 2, 3, 4 in the form (28) are four independent solutions of the discrete Hestenes Eq. (20).

It should be noted that taking $\Omega_{-}P_{--}$ instead of $\Omega_{+}P_{++}$, we also obtain four independent solutions of Eq. (20) in the same form (28).

References

- 1. Baylis, W.E. (ed.): Clifford (Geometric) Algebra with Applications to Physics, Mathematics, and Engineering. Birkhëauser, Boston (1996)
- Baylis, W.E.: Comment on 'Dirac theory in spacetime algebra'. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35, 4791–4796 (2002)
- 3. Dezin, A.A.: Multidimensional Analysis and Discrete Models. CRC Press, Boca Raton (1995)
- 4. Hestenes, D.: Spacetime Algebra. Gordon and Breach, New York (1966)
- 5. Hestenes, D.: Real spinor fields. J. Math. Phys. 8(4), 798-808 (1967)
- 6. Kähler, E.: Der innere differentialkül. Rendiconti di Matematica 21(3-4), 425-523 (1962)
- 7. Marchuk, N.G.: Dirac-type tensor equations. Nuovo Cimento Soc. Ital. Fis. B(12) 116(11), 1225–1248 (2001)
- 8. Rabin, J.M.: Homology theory of lattice fermion doubling. Nucl. Phys. B. **201**(2), 315–332 (1982)
- 9. Sushch, V.: A discrete model of the Dirac-Kähler equation. Rep. Math. Phys. **73**(1), 109–125 (2014)
- 10. Sushch, V.: On the chirality of a discrete Dirac-Kähler equation. Rep. Math. Phys. 76(2), 179–196 (2015)

A Remark on the Fractional Step Theta Scheme for the Nonstationary Stokes Equations

Werner Varnhorn and Florian Zanger

Abstract The second-order convergence of the fractional step theta scheme for the linearized nonstationary Stokes equations with error bounds growing exponentially in time is known (Müller-Urbaniak, Dissertation Universität Heidelberg, 1994). As pointed out in Zanger (Proc Appl Math Mech 12:587–588, 2012), this convergence can even be shown with error bounds independent of time. The proof requires a suitable choice of test functions depending on quite sophisticated coefficients, the existence of which is proved in the present paper. This problem does not appear in the case of simpler methods like the first-order Euler or the second-order Crank-Nicolson scheme: since these schemes do not depend on additional parameters, here the functions $2e^k$ and $e^k + e^{k-1}$, respectively, can be used as test functions (Varnhorn, Math Meth Appl Sci 15(1):39–55, 1992), e^k denoting the discretization error at the *k*-th time level. In the case of the fractional step theta scheme, however, the question, whether suitable coefficients do exist, proves to be so difficult that the solution of the resulting inequalities constitutes a problem of its own.

Keywords Stokes equations • Fractional step theta • Finite differences • Semidiscretization • Convergence

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 35Q35, 35J25, 76D07, 76M20

W. Varnhorn (🖂)

F. Zanger

Institute of Mathematics, Kassel University, Heinrich-Plett-Str. 40, 34109 Kassel, Germany e-mail: varnhorn@mathematik.uni-kassel.de

Department of Mathematics, Heinrich-Heine University Düsseldorf, Universitätsstr. 1, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany e-mail: florian.zanger@uni-duesseldorf.de

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 S. Pinelas et al. (eds.), *Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 164, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-32857-7_41

1 Introduction

Let T > 0 be given and $G \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded domain with a sufficiently smooth boundary ∂G . In $(0, T) \times G$, we consider a viscous incompressible fluid flow and assume that it can be described by the nonstationary linearized Stokes equations

$$u_t - v\Delta u + \nabla p = f,$$

$$\nabla \cdot u = 0,$$

$$u_{|\partial G} = 0, \quad u_{|t=0} = u^0.$$
(1)

These equations represent a system of linear partial differential equations concerning n + 1 unknown functions: the vector $u = (u_1(t, x), \dots, u_n(t, x))$ denotes the velocity field and the scalar p = p(t, x) the kinematic pressure function of the fluid at time $t \in (O, T)$ at position $x \in G$ in the linearized approach. The constant v > 0 is the kinematic viscosity, and the external force density f together with the initial velocity u^0 are given data. In (1), u_t means the partial derivative with respect to the time t, Δ is the Laplacian in \mathbb{R}^n , and $\nabla = (\partial_1, \dots, \partial_n)$ is the gradient, where ∂_j denotes the partial derivative with respect to x_j $(j = 1, \dots, n)$. The term $\nabla \cdot u = \partial_1 u_1 + \dots + \partial_n u_n$ denotes the divergence of u, which vanishes due to the incompressibility of the fluid. Finally, the no-slip boundary condition $u_{|\partial G} = 0$ expresses that the fluid adheres to the boundary ∂G . In hydrodynamics, the cases n = 2 (planar flow) and n = 3 (spatial flow) are considered mostly.

2 The Fractional Step Theta Scheme for the Stokes Equations

Throughout the paper, let $G \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with $n \ge 2$ be a bounded domain with boundary ∂G of class C^6 , and let T > 0 be given. To introduce our notation, by $C_{0,\sigma}^{\infty}(G)$, we denote the space of all solenoidal (i. e., $\nabla \cdot \varphi = 0$) vector fields $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(G)^n$, by $H^m(G)$ the Sobolev space $W^{m,2}(G)^n$, and by $L^2_{\sigma}(G)$ and V(G) the closures of $C_{0,\sigma}^{\infty}(G)$ in $L^2(G)^n$ and $H^1(G)$, respectively. If

$$P : L^2(G)^n \longrightarrow L^2_{\sigma}(G)$$

denotes the Helmholtz projection (see [4]) such that

$$L^{2}(G)^{n} = L^{2}_{\sigma}(G) \oplus \{v \in L^{2}(G)^{n} \mid v = \nabla p \text{ for some } p \in W^{1,2}(G)\}$$

then the following result is well known [6, 7]:

Let $\nu > 0$ be some given viscosity coefficient, let $u^0 \in H^4(G) \cap V(G)$ be some given initial velocity, and let $f \in C([0, T]; H^2(G) \cap L^2_{\sigma}(G))$ with $f_t \in C([0, T]; H^2(G) \cap L^2_{\sigma}(G))$

 $L^2_{\sigma}(G)$) $\cap L^2(0,T;V(G))$ and $f_{tt} \in L^2(0,T,V'(G))$ be some given external force density. Let, moreover, the nonlocal compatibility condition (compare [2, 5])

$$f(0) + \nu P \Delta u^0 \in V(G)$$

be satisfied.¹ Then the linear nonstationary Stokes equations

$$u_t - vP\Delta u = f$$
 in $(0, T) \times G$, $u(0) = u^0$ in G

have a unique strongly H^4 -continuous solution uniformly in the closed interval [0, T], i. e., it holds $u \in C([0, T]; H^4(G) \cap V(G))$ with $u_t \in C([0, T]; H^2(G) \cap L^2_{\sigma}(G))$, $u_{tt} \in C([0, T]; L^2_{\sigma}(G)) \cap L^2(0, T; V(G))$, and $u_{ttt} \in L^2(0, T; V'(G))$.

To approximate the above solution u on a discrete time grid, the so-called fractional step theta scheme can be used. It works as follows: first, for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$, define a time step size h := T/N. Then, setting

$$\vartheta := 1 - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2} = 0,29289\dots,$$

this leads to a finite fractional step time grid on [0, T] of the form

$$\{t_i = ih ; i = 0, \vartheta, 1 - \vartheta, 1, 1 + \vartheta, 2 - \vartheta, 2, 2 + \vartheta, \dots, N - \vartheta, N\}$$

containing 3N + 1 non-equidistant grid points t_i . The corresponding functions $u^i := u(t_i) := u(t_i, \cdot)$ at time $t_i := ih$ of the exact solution u are now approximated by the 3N + 1 vector fields

$$v^0, v^\vartheta, v^{1-\vartheta}, v^1, v^{1+\vartheta}, v^{2-\vartheta}, v^2, \ldots, v^{N-\vartheta}, v^N,$$

satisfying $v^0 = u^0$ and the fractional step theta scheme

$$\frac{1}{\vartheta h} (v^{n+\vartheta} - v^n) - vP\Delta (\alpha v^{n+\vartheta} + (1-\alpha) v^n) = f^n,$$

$$\frac{1}{(1-2\vartheta)h} (v^{n+1-\vartheta} - v^{n+\vartheta}) - vP\Delta ((1-\alpha) v^{n+1-\vartheta} + \alpha v^{n+\vartheta}) = f^{n+1-\vartheta}, \quad (2)$$

$$\frac{1}{\vartheta h} (v^{n+1} - v^{n+1-\vartheta}) - vP\Delta (\alpha v^{n+1} + (1-\alpha) v^{n+1-\vartheta}) = f^{n+1-\vartheta},$$

where n = 0, ..., N - 1 and α is a fixed parameter satisfying $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < 1$.

Following the arguments in [7, 8], it can be shown that the finite sequence v^i , $i = 0, \vartheta, 1 - \vartheta, \ldots, N$ is uniquely determined by the above fractional step theta scheme, and it holds $v^i \in H^4(G) \cap V(G)$ for all $i = 0, \vartheta, 1 - \vartheta, \ldots, N$ using Cattabriga's estimate [1].

¹For reasons on why nontrivial data u^0 and f that satisfy the compatibility condition actually exist, see [9] and [11, Remark 64].

As the vector fields v^i are considered as approximations of the corresponding values of the exact solution $u^i = u(t_i)$ at time t_i , we call the differences

$$e^i := v^i - u^i \in H^4(G) \cap V(G), \qquad i = 0, \vartheta, 1 - \vartheta, \dots, N$$

the discretization errors. As outlined in the following section and in [10], these errors can be shown to satisfy the second-order bound

$$\|e^{n}\|^{2} + \kappa h \sum_{k=0}^{n} \|\nabla e^{k}\|^{2}$$

$$\leq h^{4} \int_{0}^{t_{n}} \left(\eta_{-1} \|u_{ttt}\|_{-1}^{2} + \eta_{1} \|\nabla u_{tt}\|^{2} + \varphi_{-1} \|F_{tt}\|_{-1}^{2} + \varphi_{1} \|\nabla F_{t}\|^{2}\right) dt$$
(3)

with numbers κ , η_{-1} , η_1 , φ_{-1} , $\varphi_1 > 0$ depending on α and ν .² Due to the regularity of the exact solution *u* and the assumptions on the external force *f* as stated above, all norms appearing on the right-hand side of this estimate are finite.

3 Structure of the Convergence Proof

In this section we give a rough outline of the convergence proof with an emphasis on the coefficients the existence of which we intend to prove. The proof is based on ideas from [3] and follows the common strategy of plugging the errors into the scheme, thereby obtaining the expressions

$$E^{n} := e^{n+\vartheta} - e^{n} - \vartheta h \nu P \Delta \big(\alpha e^{n+\vartheta} + (1-\alpha) e^{n} \big),$$

$$E^{n+\vartheta} := e^{n+1-\vartheta} - e^{n+\vartheta} - (1-2\vartheta) h \nu P \Delta \big((1-\alpha) e^{n+1-\vartheta} + \alpha e^{n+\vartheta} \big),$$

$$E^{n+1-\vartheta} := e^{n+1} - e^{n+1-\vartheta} - \vartheta h \nu P \Delta \big(\alpha e^{n+1} + (1-\alpha) e^{n+1-\vartheta} \big),$$

which are then multiplied by suitable test functions. Depending on whether the parameter α satisfies

$$\alpha \leqslant \frac{1}{4\vartheta} \tag{4}$$

or not, different test functions are used. We focus on the case (4) since this is where the coefficients we are interested in come up. In this case E^n , $E^{n+\vartheta}$, and $E^{n+1-\vartheta}$ are multiplied (scalar in $L^2(G)^n$) by

²In [10] the numbers κ , η_{-1} , η_1 , φ_{-1} , and φ_1 are mistakenly stated to depend on nothing but α .

$$e^{n+\vartheta} + e^n - \vartheta \left(4 + \frac{1}{2\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)} \right) h \nu P \Delta \left(\alpha e^{n+\vartheta} + (1-\alpha)e^n \right),$$

$$e^{n+1-\vartheta} + e^{n+\vartheta} - \frac{\delta}{2\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)} h \nu P \Delta \left((1-\alpha)e^{n+1-\vartheta} + \alpha e^{n+\vartheta} \right),$$

$$e^{n+1} + e^{n+1-\vartheta} - \frac{\vartheta}{2\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)} h \nu P \Delta \left(\alpha e^{n+1} + (1-\alpha)e^{n+1-\vartheta} \right),$$

respectively, with δ to be chosen suitably. The mixed terms in the expansions of the resulting scalar products $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ need to be estimated in a way that enables their absorption by available terms. Two of these estimations are performed with Hölder's and Young's inequalities with yet undetermined coefficients

$$C_1, C_2 > 0,$$
 (5)

namely,

$$\begin{split} |\langle \nabla e^{n} | \nabla e^{n+\vartheta} \rangle| &\leq \frac{C_1}{2} \| \nabla e^{n} \|^2 + \frac{1}{2C_1} \| \nabla e^{n+\vartheta} \|^2, \\ |\langle \nabla e^{n+\vartheta} | \nabla e^{n+1-\vartheta} \rangle| &\leq \frac{C_2}{2} \| \nabla e^{n+\vartheta} \|^2 + \frac{1}{2C_2} \| \nabla e^{n+1-\vartheta} \|^2. \end{split}$$

All terms are then arranged in preparation of telescopic canceling and the following observations can be made:

The $||e^{n+1}||$ -terms can be handled provided

$$\frac{\alpha^2}{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} - \left(3 + \frac{1}{2\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right)(1-\alpha) - 4\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right)C_1 > 0,$$

which is equivalent to

$$C_1 < 1.$$
 (6)

The $||e^{n+\vartheta}||$ -terms can be handled provided

$$\vartheta \alpha \left(5\alpha - 2\right) + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(\left(1 - 2\vartheta\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}C_2\right) - 4\vartheta \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{1}{C_1}\right) - \left(\alpha + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)C_2\right)\delta > 0$$

$$(7)$$

and the $||e^{n+1-\vartheta}||$ -terms can be handled provided

$$\left((1-\alpha) - \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{1}{C_2}\right)\delta + (1-2\vartheta)\left(1-\alpha\right)\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)$$
$$-\vartheta\left(1-\alpha\right)^2 - (1-2\vartheta)\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{1}{2C_2} > 0.$$
(8)

The condition

$$\delta > 0 \tag{9}$$

comes in because it permits to drop the term

$$(1-2\vartheta)\,\delta\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right)^{-1}h\nu\|P\Delta\left((1-\alpha)\,e^{n+1-\vartheta}+\alpha e^{n+\vartheta}\right)\|^2.$$

The satisfiability of the conditions (5)–(9) is crucial for telescopic canceling, which in combination with estimates on norms of the quantities E^i stated in [10, Lemma 3.2] finally yields the desired error bound (3).

4 Main Result

As pointed out in the previous section, the convergence proof rests upon the following result concerning the existence of suitable coefficients for a test function and for Young's inequalities.

Theorem 1. Let $\vartheta = 1 - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}$. Suppose the previously fixed parameter $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < 1$ used in the fractional step theta scheme (2) satisfies the condition (4). Then there are coefficients δ , C_1 , $C_2 > 0$ such that the inequalities (5)–(9) hold.

Proof. Due to (4), the number

$$L := -2\left(1-\vartheta\right)^2 \underbrace{\left(\alpha + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4\vartheta} - \frac{1-3\vartheta}{1-\vartheta}\right)}_{>0} \underbrace{\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)}_{>0} \underbrace{\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{4\vartheta}\right)}_{\leqslant 0} \ge 0$$

is nonnegative. If we express $L = l_0 + l_1\alpha + l_2\alpha^2 + l_3\alpha^3$ as a polynomial in α and compare it to the number

$$\begin{split} H &:= 2\vartheta \alpha \left(5\alpha - 2\right) \left(1 - \vartheta\right) \left(1 - \alpha\right) + 2\alpha \left(1 - \vartheta\right) \left(1 - \alpha\right) \left(1 - 2\vartheta\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \\ &- 8\vartheta \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(1 - \vartheta\right) \left(1 - \alpha\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \\ &- \left(\left(1 - \vartheta\right) \alpha + \vartheta - \sqrt{\vartheta}\right) \left(1 - 2\vartheta\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right), \end{split}$$

also expressed as a polynomial $H = h_0 + h_1\alpha + h_2\alpha^2 + h_3\alpha^3 \in \mathbb{R}[\alpha]$, we observe that

$$l_{0} = -2 (1 - \vartheta)^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4\vartheta} - \frac{1 - 3\vartheta}{1 - \vartheta} \right) \frac{1}{8\vartheta}$$

$$< -\frac{1}{2} (1 - 2\vartheta) \left(\sqrt{\vartheta} - \vartheta \right) - 2 (1 - \vartheta) \vartheta = h_{0},$$

$$l_{1} = -2 (1 - \vartheta)^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{16\vartheta^{2}} - \frac{1}{8\vartheta} - \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1 - 3\vartheta}{1 - \vartheta} \left(\frac{1}{4\vartheta} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \right)$$

$$< (1 - 2\vartheta) \left(\sqrt{\vartheta} - \vartheta \right) + (1 - \vartheta) \left(7\vartheta - \frac{1}{2} \right) = h_{1},$$

$$l_2 = 2(1 - \vartheta)(1 - 3\vartheta) = h_2,$$
 $l_3 = -2(1 - \vartheta)^2 = h_3.$

Therefore, *H* is positive. The division of the inequality H > 0 by the positive number $(1 - \vartheta) (1 - \alpha) (1 - 2\vartheta) (\alpha - \frac{1}{2})$ yields

$$\frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha+\vartheta-\sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)} < \frac{2\vartheta\alpha(5\alpha-2)}{(1-2\vartheta)\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right)} + 2\alpha - 8\vartheta\frac{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}}{1-2\vartheta}.$$
 (10)

The positivity of ϑ implies

$$\frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha+\vartheta-\sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)} < \frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha+\vartheta+\sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)}.$$
 (11)

In view of (10) and (11), there is a number C_2 that satisfies the three conditions

$$C_2 > \frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha + \vartheta - \sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)}, \qquad (12)$$

$$C_2 < \frac{2\vartheta\alpha(5\alpha-2)}{(1-2\vartheta)(\alpha-\frac{1}{2})} + 2\alpha - 8\vartheta\frac{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}}{1-2\vartheta},$$
(13)

$$C_2 < \frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha + \vartheta + \sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)}.$$
 (14)

From (12) we deduce

$$C_{2} > \frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha + \vartheta - \sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)} = \frac{(1-\vartheta)\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \sqrt{\vartheta}\right)^{2}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)} \ge \frac{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}}{1-\alpha}, \quad (15)$$

which also implies $C_2 > 0$. In order to see that the inequality

$$\frac{N_2}{D_2} := \frac{\vartheta \alpha \left(5\alpha - 2\right) + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(\left(1 - 2\vartheta\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}C_2\right) - 4\vartheta \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right)}{\alpha + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)C_2} > 0 \quad (16)$$

holds, observe that the denominator D_2 is positive since $C_2 > 0$ and that the numerator N_2 vanishes if the constant C_2 is replaced by the right-hand side of (13).

The inequality

$$\frac{N_1}{D_1} := \frac{(1-2\vartheta)\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{1}{2C_2} + \vartheta(1-\alpha)^2 - (1-2\vartheta)(1-\alpha)\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)}{(1-\alpha) - \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{1}{C_2}} < \frac{N_2}{D_2}$$
(17)

can be shown as follows. Due to (15) the denominator D_1 is positive. Therefore (17) is equivalent to the positivity of the term $N_2D_1 - N_1D_2$. The latter can be written as a product

$$N_2 D_1 - N_1 D_2 = \frac{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)^2 \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)}{C_2} \cdot \left(C_2 - \frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha + \vartheta - \sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{(1-\vartheta)\alpha + \vartheta + \sqrt{\vartheta}}{(1-\vartheta)(1-\alpha)} - C_2\right)$$

of three factors all of which are positive: the first one because $C_2 > 0$, the second one because of (12), and the third one because of (14). This shows (17). The inequalities (16) and (17) imply the existence of a number δ that satisfies the three conditions

$$\delta > 0, \qquad \delta > \frac{N_1}{D_1}, \qquad \delta < \frac{N_2}{D_2}, \tag{18}$$

which we refer to as (18_1) , (18_2) , and (18_3) . Condition (18_1) is nothing but (9), condition (18_2) yields (8), and condition (18_3) yields

$$\vartheta \alpha \left(5\alpha - 2\right) + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(\left(1 - 2\vartheta\right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}C_2\right) - 4\vartheta \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right)$$
$$- \left(\alpha + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)C_2\right)\delta > 0.$$

This inequality shows that the choice $C_1 = 1$ —impossible because it contradicts (6)—would satisfy (7). Hence for continuity reasons, there is some constant $0 < C_1 < 1$ such that (7) holds. This completes the proof.

References

- 1. Cattabriga, L.: Su un problema al contorno relativo al sistema di equazioni di Stokes. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova **31**, 308–340 (1964)
- Heywood, J., Rannacher, R.: Finite element approximation of the nonstationary Navier-Stokes problem. I. Regularity of solutions and second-order error estimates for spatial discretization. Siam J. Numer. Anal. 19(2), 275–311 (1982)
- Müller-Urbaniak, S.: Eine Analyse des Zwischenschritt-θ-Verfahrens zur Lösung der instationären Navier-Stokes-Gleichungen. Dissertation Universität Heidelberg (1994)
- 4. Sohr, H.: The Navier-Stokes Equations: An Elementary Functional Analytic Approach. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2001)
- 5. Temam, R.: Behaviour at time t = 0 of the solutions of semilinear evolution equations. J. Differ. Equ. **43**(1) 73–92 (1982)
- Temam, R.: Navier-Stokes equations and nonlinear functional analysis. CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia (1995)
- 7. Varnhorn, W.: Time stepping procedures for the nonstationary Stokes equations. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. **15**(1), 39–55 (1992)
- Varnhorn, W., Zanger, F.: Semidiscretization of nonstationary linear Stokes flow. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Topical Problems in Fluid Mechanics, Institute of Thermomech. Prague 133–136 (2011)
- Varnhorn, W., Zanger, F.: On approximation and computation of Navier-Stokes flow. J. Part. Differ. Equ. 26(2), 151–171 (2013)
- Zanger, F.: Sufficient conditions for second order L²-convergence of the fractional step theta method. Proc. Appl. Math. Mech. 12, 587–588 (2012)
- Zanger, F.: Time discretization of the SST-generalized Navier-Stokes equations. Dissertation Universität Kassel (2014). Available via KOBRA. http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:hebis: 34-2014112846541